Contents

Effective May 8, 2023	26
Institutional Statements	27
Vision	27
Mission	27
History	28
Philosophy	28
Values	29
Accreditation, Approvals, and State Authorization	29
Institutional Accreditation	29
Accredited Programs	29
American Psychological Association (APA)	29
Approved Programs	31
Transferability of Credit	
Affiliations and Recognitions	
Commitment to Diversity	
Faculty, Administration, and Governing Board Information	
Institutional Learning Outcomes	
Student Consumer Information	34
Student-Focused Learning	34
Academic Policies and Procedures	34
Academic Calendar	34
Definitions	34
Academic Honors	35
Undergraduate Programs	35
Graduate Programs	
Admission Requirements	
Undergraduate Admission	36
Graduate Admission	
International Admission	41
Attendance	44
Excused Absence	44
AAS-N and VN: Attendance, Tardy, and Leaving Early	44
Class Cancellation	45
Commencement	45
Participation Requirements	45
Participation Requirements by Campus	46

Credit Hour	46
Degree Completion	47
Degree Credit Hours	47
Concentration, Area of Focus/Study, Track, or Minor	47
Credit Hour Residency Requirement	47
Rigor	48
Degree Conferral	48
Applying for a Certificate or Master's Degree "Along the Way"	49
Manuscript Preparation Requirements for Degree Conferral	49
Diplomas and Certificate Awards	49
Good Standing	49
Academic and Financial Aid Good Standing	50
Programmatic Good Standing	50
Enrollment Change	50
Degree Program or Campus Location Transfer	50
Graduate Programs: Declaring and/or Changing an Area of Focus/Study, Track, or Concentration	51
Undergraduate Programs: Declaring and/or Changing a Minor	51
Enrollment in a New Degree Level	52
Grading Policies	52
Academic Grades	52
Administrative Grades	55
Drop/Withdrawal Schedule	58
Course Final Grade Appeal	61
Grade Change	62
Grade Point Average (GPA)	62
Repeating a Course	62
Leave of Absence (LOA)	63
Military Leave of Absence	65
Manuscript Preparation	65
Posthumous Degree	66
Registration	66
Continuous Enrollment	66
Registration Procedure	67
Add/Drop	67
Course Auditing	68
Cross Registration	68
Course Substitution	68
Course Waiver	69

Study Abroad	69
Late Registration Fee for Continuing Students	69
Research Extension Courses	69
Alternative Registration (SAL)	70
Returning Students	70
Readmission	70
Readmission of Dismissed Students	70
Readmission of Military Service Members	71
Reentry	72
California Graduate Institute of The Chicago School	72
International Students	73
Satisfactory Academic Progress.	73
SAP Standards	73
SAP Evaluation Period	75
Academic and Financial Aid Dismissal: Dismissal.	76
Service Learning	76
Student Classification	76
Dual Degree and Dual Enrollment	77
Enrollment Status	77
Training Courses	78
Repeating a Training Course	78
Transfer and Nontraditional Credit Hours	79
Articulation Agreements	79
Course Association	79
Exceptions to Transfer and Nontraditional Credit Hour Limits	80
Undergraduate Programs	81
Other Sources of Acceptable Nontraditional Credit Hours	83
Maximum Total Transfer and Nontraditional Credit Hours for Undergraduate Programs	84
Graduate Programs	85
Transfer Credit	85
Nontraditional Credit Hours	86
Transfer and Nontraditional Credit Hour Limits	87
Withdrawal	88
Official Withdrawal	89
Unofficial Withdrawal	89
Hardship Withdrawal (Illinois Only)	90
Iowa Military Withdrawal	90
Student Rights and Responsibilities	90

ADA: Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 Accommodations	9
Instructional Technology Accessibility	9
Service Animals	9
Anti-Discrimination, Anti-Harassment, and Title IX Policy	9
Course Evaluations	9
Course Evaluation Eligibility	9
Basic Evaluation Information	9
Student Questions	9
Instructor Information	9
Results	9
Criminal Background Check	9
Education Records	9
Student Rights	9
Intellectual Property Policy	10
Copyright Law	10
Policy Exception	10
Limitations	
Submitting a Petition	
Professional Licensure or Certification	
Nursing Programs Requiring Licensure	
Religious Accommodations	
Remediation	
Academic Development Plan (ADP)	
Students Affected by Declared Disaster or Emergency	
Student Complaints	
Informal Complaint Resolution	10
Formal Complaint Resolution	
Appeal Procedures	10
Recordkeeping	11
Student Learning Assessment	11
Student Policy on Pregnancy and Related Conditions	11
Student Discipline	
Student Affairs Committee (SAC)	
SAC Procedure	11
Appealing SAC Dismissal	11
Disciplinary Process for Sponsored International Programs	11
Student Profile	11

Legal Name and Personal Information	117
Chosen First Name	117
Contact Information	117
Emergency Contact	118
Text Messages	118
Technology	118
Access to Electronic Systems.	118
Audio and Visual Recordings	119
Electronic Signature	120
Tobacco, Drug, and Alcohol Regulations	120
Smoke-Free Environment	120
Drug-Free Environment	121
Counseling, Treatment, or Rehabilitation Programs	121
General State Laws of Alcohol Possession and Consumption	121
Health Risks Associated with Use of Illicit Drugs, the Misuse of Legal Drugs, and Alcohol Abuse	121
Institutional Policy on Alcohol Consumption	121
Legal Sanctions Under Federal and State Law	122
Sanctions to Be Imposed on Students Who Violate Regulations and Policies	122
University Community Norms and Standards	122
Code of Conduct	122
Academic Ethics, Integrity, and Responsibility	124
Professional Behavior	126
Technology Requirements	131
Misrepresentation of Records	131
Financial Aid and Student Account Policies	132
Financial Good Standing	132
Financial Aid	132
Determining Amount of Financial Aid	132
Disbursement of Financial Aid	133
Maintaining and Re-establishing Financial Aid Eligibility	133
Minimum Application Requirements	133
Financial Aid Eligibility for Repeated Courses	134
State-Specific Financial Aid Resources for Online Campus Students	134
Student Classification	134
institutional Aid	134
Fellowships	134
Grants	
Scholarships	135

Special Tuition Rates	
Institutional Withdrawal	135
Payment Plans and Tuition Reimbursements	
In-Term Payment Plan (Standard)	136
Deferred Tuition Payment Plan	136
Direct Bill Payment Plan	136
Out of School Payment Plan	137
Refund Policies	137
Refund Schedule	137
Military Refund Policy	138
State-Specific Refund Policies	
Study Abroad and Field Experience Program Fees	142
Student Employment	143
Federal Work Study (FWS)	143
College Work Study (CWS)	143
Assistantship Positions	143
Student Reimbursement	145
Military Benefits	145
AAS-N and VN Programs	146
Campus Posting	146
Career Services	146
Sponsored International Travel	147
Global Distinction	147
Health and Wellness	147
F-1 and J-1/J-2 Health Insurance Requirement	147
Immunizations	147
Student Solutions	148
School Safety	148
Crime Awareness and Campus Security Information	
Emergency Text Messaging	
Minors on Campus	
Student Advisement	
Faculty Advising	
Student Support Counseling	
Student Identification Cards	
Student Organizations	
Chicago School Student Association	
Use of Alcohol	

Student Training	153
Practicum and Internship Courses	154
Training Overview	154
Study Areas and Project Rooms	154
Chicago, Online Campus, Southern California, and Washington, D.C.	154
Dallas	155
The Chicago School@XULA	155
Transit Programs	155
Chicago Campus	155
Washington, D.C. Campus	155
University Library	156
Overview	156
Published and Effective July 10, 2020	157
Associate of Applied Sciences in Nursing (ADN)	157
Certificate in Vocational Nursing (VN)	157
True and Correct Statement	157
Faculty, Staff, and Board of Trustees	158
ADN and VN Advisory Board	158
Facilities	158
Campus and Program Operating Hours	158
Academic Calendar	158
Attendance Policy	158
Absence, Tardy, and Leaving Early	159
Cancellation Policy	159
Financial Aid Payment Periods and Disbursement Procedure (Clock Hour)	159
Make-Up Work	159
Satisfactory Academic Progress: Rate of Progress Tiers for VN Certificate Program	160
Student to Faculty Ratio	160
Tuition and Fee Schedule	161
Programs of Study	161
The Chicago School	161
Certificate in Behavioral Economics	161
Online	161
Program Overview	161
Certificate in Clinical Rotations for Clinical Psychopharmacology	163
Program Information - Louisiana, New Mexico, Armed Forces, and Indian Health Service Prescriptive Authority	
Track	164
Admissions Requirements - Illinois Prescriptive Authority Track	164
Licensure	165

Credit for Prior Learning	165
Certificate in Forensic Psychology - MA Non-Licensure Track to Licensure Bridge	166
Ethical Guidelines	169
Student Professional Evaluation and Student Review Process	169
Practicum/Internship for Professional Counselor Licensure Track Students	169
Forensic Competency Examination (FCE)	170
Counselor Preparation Comprehensive Examination (CPCE)	170
Certificate in Organizational Leadership	173
Certificate in Vocational Nursing	175
Child and Adolescent Psychology Certificate	179
Crisis-Informed Care for a Diverse, Globalized World Certificate	181
Graduate Certificate in Online Teaching and Learning	184
Policies	185
Graduate Certificate in Social and Community Psychology	186
Policies	187
ndustrial and Organizational Psychology Generalist Certificate	187
Policies	188
nstructional Design Certificate	189
Post-Bachelor's Certificate in Applied Behavior Analysis	191
Post-Master's Certificate in Applied Behavior Analysis	193
Suicide and Cyberbullying Prevention Certificate	197
Associate of Applied Science	199
AAS Nursing	199
Program Foundation and Delivery	199
Philosophy of Nursing	199
Philosophy of Healthcare Education	200
Program Mission	200
Program Learning Outcomes	200
icensure	201
Admission Requirements	201
Policies	202
Graduation Requirements	202
3A Criminology	204
Ethical Guidelines	206
Overview	206
General Education Learning Outcomes	207
General Education Capstone	207
General Education Required Core (44 Credit Hours)	207

BA Psychology	211
Articulation Agreements	213
Overview	215
General Education Learning Outcomes	215
General Education Capstone	215
General Education Required Core (44 Credit Hours)	216
BS Business Psychology	
Overview	222
General Education Learning Outcomes	222
General Education Capstone	222
General Education Required Core (44 Credit Hours)	223
BS Healthcare Management	
Admission Requirements	226
Policies	
Overview	
General Education Learning Outcomes	227
General Education Capstone	228
General Education Required Core (44 Credit Hours)	228
BS Nursing (RN-BSN)	230
Program Learning Outcomes	230
Admission Requirements	231
Capstone	232
Policies	232
MA Applied Behavior Analysis	233
Program Learning Outcomes	234
Licensure	234
Admission Requirements	235
Policies	235
Articulation Agreements	
Ethical Guidelines	235
Training	236
Degree Completion Requirements:	236
MA Behavioral Economics	237
Program Philosophy	237
Program Learning Outcomes	237
Admission Requirements	238
Articulation Agreements	239
Degree Completion Requirements	239

Policies	239
Ethical Guidelines	239
Residencies	239
Applied Research Project	239
MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling - Chicago	242
Program Philosophy	242
Program Learning Outcomes	242
Licensure	243
Admission Requirements	243
Degree Completion Requirements	244
Policies	244
Ethical Guidelines	244
Practicum and Internship	245
MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling	247
Mission	247
Program Philosophy	248
Program Learning Outcomes	248
Licensure	248
Admission Requirements	249
Degree Completion Requirements	250
Policies	250
Ethical Guidelines	250
Practicum and Internship	250
MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling	253
Program Philosophy	253
Program Learning Outcomes	253
Licensure	254
Admission Requirements	254
Degree Completion Requirements	255
Policies	255
Ethical Guidelines	255
Fieldwork	255
Residency	256
MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling	
Program Philosophy	
Program Learning Outcomes	
Licensure	
Admission Requirements	

Degree Completion Requirements	260
Policies	261
Ethical Guidelines	261
Practicum and Internship	261
MA Counseling Psychology	263
Program Philosophy	264
Program Learning Outcomes	264
Licensure	265
Admission Requirements	265
Articulation Agreements	266
Degree Completion Requirements	266
Policies	266
Student Professional Evaluation and Student Review Process:	266
Ethical Guidelines	267
Licensure (Chicago)	267
Practicum and Internship	267
Comprehensive Examination	267
Counseling Competency Examination (CCE)	267
MA Forensic Psychology - Chicago	271
Program Philosophy	272
Program Learning Outcomes	272
Licensure	272
Admission Requirements	272
Degree Completion Requirements	274
Policies	274
Ethical Guidelines	274
Student Professional Evaluation and Student Review Process	274
Professional Development Group and Academic Advisor Assignment	275
Concentrations	275
Practicum and Internship	275
Forensic Competency Examination (FCE)	276
Track Requirements	276
MA Forensic Psychology - Los Angeles - Anaheim	278
Program Philosophy	278
Program Learning Outcomes	
Licensure	
Admission Requirements	279
Degree Completion Requirements	

Articulation Agreements	280
Policies	281
Ethical Guidelines	281
Student Professional Evaluation and Student Review Process	281
Professional Development Group and Academic Advisor Assignment	282
Concentrations	282
Practicum and Internship	282
Forensic Competency Examination (FCE)	283
MA Forensic Psychology - Online	284
Program Philosophy	285
Program Learning Outcomes	285
Licensure	285
Admission Requirements	285
Degree Completion Requirements	287
Policies	287
Ethical Guidelines	287
Student Professional Evaluation and Student Review Process	288
Academic Advisor Assignment	288
Practicum and Internship for Professional Clinical Counselor Licensure Track Students	288
Forensic Competency Examination (FCE)	289
Counselor Preparation Comprehensive Examination (CPCE)	289
MA Forensic Psychology - Washington D.C.	292
Program Philosophy	292
Program Learning Outcomes	293
Licensure	293
Admission Requirements	293
Degree Completion Requirements	295
Policies	295
Ethical Guidelines	295
Student Professional Evaluation and Student Review Process	295
Practicum and Internship	296
Forensic Competency Examination (FCE)	296
Counselor Preparation Comprehensive Examination (CPCE)	296
MA Industrial and Organizational Psychology	298
Program Overview	298
Program Philosophy	298
Program Learning Outcomes	299
Admission Requirements	299

Policies	301
Degree Completion Requirements	302
Track Requirement	302
Internship/Thesis Track (On-Ground)	302
Applied Research Project Track (Online Only)	302
Ethical Guidelines	302
MA International Psychology	307
Program Philosophy	308
Program Learning Outcomes	308
Admission Requirements	309
Articulation Agreements	309
Degree Completion Requirements	309
Policies	310
Articulation Agreements	310
Academic Partnership with the Peace Corps	310
Earning a Certificate in Crisis-Informed Care for a Diverse, Globalized World	310
Ethical Guidelines	311
Capstone Project and Field Experience	311
MA Marriage, Couples, and Family Therapy	312
Program Overview	313
Program Philosophy	313
Program Mission	313
Program Learning Outcomes	313
Licensure	314
Admission Requirements	315
Applicant Notification	315
Articulation Agreements	315
Professional Performance Evaluation (PPE) Requirements	316
Degree Completion Requirements	316
Policies	316
Student Professional Evaluation and Student Review Process	316
Ethical Guidelines	316
Practicum	317
Clinical Competency Evaluation (CCE)	317
Written Comprehensive Examination (WCE)	317
MA Organizational Leadership	319
Program Philosophy	319
Program Learning Outcomes	319

Admission Requirements	
Degree Completion Requirements	
Policies	
Ethical Guidelines	
Capstone Project	
MA Psychology	
Program Mission	
Program Learning Outcomes	
Admission Requirements	
Articulation Agreements	
Degree Completion Requirements	
Policies	
Ethical Guidelines	
MA Psychopharmacology	
Program Description	
Program Learning Outcomes	
Admission Requirements	
Policies	
Online	
Program Overview	
Program Learning Outcomes	
Admission Requirements	
Degree Completion Requirements	
Policies	
Articulation Agreements	
Applied Practice Experience Requirements	
Master of Health Services Administration	
Program Overview	336
Program Philosophy	
Program Learning Outcomes	
Admission Requirements	
Degree Completion Requirement	
Policies	
Ethical Guidelines	
Practicum	
MS Applied Behavior Analysis - Anaheim	
Program Overview	
Program Philosophy	340

Program Learning Outcomes	340
Licensure	341
Admission Requirements	341
Degree Completion Requirements:	341
Policies	342
Articulation Agreements	342
Ethical Guidelines	342
Advanced Research Project OR Advanced Applied Project	342
Training	342
MS Applied Behavior Analysis - Chicago	344
Program Overview	344
Program Philosophy	345
Program Learning Outcomes	345
Licensure	346
Admission Requirements	346
Degree Completion Requirements:	347
Policies	347
Articulation Agreements	347
Ethical Guidelines	347
Advanced Research Project OR Advanced Applied Project	347
Training	348
MS Applied Behavior Analysis - Dallas	349
Program Overview	350
Program Philosophy	350
Program Learning Outcomes	351
Licensure	351
Admission Requirements	351
Degree Completion Requirements:	352
Policies	352
Articulation Agreements	352
Ethical Guidelines	352
Advanced Research Project OR Advanced Applied Project	352
Training	353
MS Applied Behavior Analysis - Los Angeles	355
Program Overview	355
Program Philosophy	355
Program Learning Outcomes	356
Licensure	356

Admission Requirements	
Degree Completion Requirements:	357
Policies	357
Articulation Agreements	357
Ethical Guidelines	357
Advanced Research Project OR Advanced Applied Project	358
Fraining	358
MS Applied Behavior Analysis - Online	360
Program Overview	360
Program Philosophy	360
Program Learning Outcomes	361
Licensure	
Admission Requirements	362
Degree Completion Requirements:	
Policies	362
Articulation Agreements	362
Ethical Guidelines	363
Advanced Research Project OR Advanced Applied Project	363
Fraining	363
MS Applied Behavior Analysis - San Diego	
Program Overview	
Program Philosophy	
Program Learning Outcomes	366
Licensure	367
Admission Requirements	367
Degree Completion Requirements:	367
Policies	
Articulation Agreements	368
Ethical Guidelines	368
Advanced Research Project OR Advanced Applied Project	368
Fraining	368
MS Applied Behavior Analysis - Washington, D.C	
Program Overview	
Program Philosophy	
Program Learning Outcomes	
Licensure	
Admission Requirements	
Degree Completion Requirements:	

Policies	
Articulation Agreements	
Ethical Guidelines	
Advanced Research Project OR Advanced Applied Project	
Training	
MS Clinical Psychopharmacology	
Program Overview	
Program Learning Outcomes	
Admission Requirements	
Policies	
Licensure for Prescriptive Authority	
MSN Nursing Education	
Program Overview	
Philosophy of Nursing	
Philosophy of Healthcare Education	
Program Learning Outcomes	
Admission Requirements	
Policies	
MSN Nursing Leadership and Administration	
Program Overview	
Philosophy of Nursing	
Philosophy of Healthcare Education	
Program Learning Outcomes	
Admission Requirements	
Policies	
EdS School Psychology	
Program Overview	
Program Philosophy	
Program Mission	
Program Learning Outcomes	
Licensure	386
Admission Requirements	386
Degree Completion Requirements	
Policies	
Ethical Guidelines	
Practicum and Internship	
School Psychology Exit Criteria	
EdD Educational Psychology and Technology	389

Program Overview	390
Program Learning Outcomes	390
Admission Requirements	390
Degree Completion Requirements	391
Policies	392
Ethical Guidelines	392
Residencies	392
Competency Examination	392
Dissertation	392
PhD Applied Behavior Analysis	395
Program Overview	395
Program Philosophy	396
Program Learning Outcomes	396
Licensure	397
Admission Requirements	397
Degree Completion Requirements	398
Policies	398
Earning a Master of Science in Applied Behavior Analysis	398
Ethical Guidelines	399
Professional Development Group	399
Comprehensive Examination	399
Dissertation	399
The Curriculum	399
PhD Behavior Analysis	402
Program Overview	402
Program Philosophy	403
Program Learning Outcomes	403
Licensure	404
Admission Requirements	404
Degree Completion Requirements	404
Policies	404
Ethical Guidelines	405
Professional Development Group	405
Comprehensive Examination	
Dissertation	
PhD Business Psychology: Consulting Track	
Program Overview	
Program Philosophy	

Program Learning Outcomes	408
Admissions Requirements	409
Degree Completion Requirements	410
Policies	410
Residency Requirements	410
Ethical Guidelines	410
Comprehensive Examination (CE)	411
Dissertation	411
PhD Business Psychology: I/O Track	413
Program Overview	413
Program Philosophy	413
Program Learning Outcomes	413
Admissions Requirements	414
Policies	415
Degree Completion Requirements	415
Internship (On-Ground)	416
Applied Research Project (Online)	416
Comprehensive Examination (CE)	416
Dissertation	416
The Curriculum: Internship/Thesis Track	419
PhD Counselor Education and Supervision	421
Program Overview	421
Program Mission	422
Program Philosophy	422
Program Learning Outcomes	422
Admission Requirements	423
Degree Completion Requirements	424
Policies	424
Dissertation	424
Residency	425
Internship	425
PhD International Psychology	427
Program Overview	427
Program Philosophy	427
Program Learning Outcomes	427
Admission Requirements	428
Degree Completion Requirements	430
Policies	430

Residency Requirements (Online Students Only)	431
Ethical Guidelines	431
Field Experience Requirements	431
Independent Internships	432
Comprehensive Examination	433
Dissertation	433
PhD Organizational Leadership	436
Program Overview	436
Program Philosophy	436
Program Learning Outcomes	436
Admission Requirements	437
Articulation Agreements	438
Degree Completion Requirements	438
Policies	438
Residency Requirements (Online Students Only)	439
Field Experience Requirements	439
Ethical Guidelines	439
Competency Examination	439
Dissertation	439
PsyD Applied Clinical Psychology	441
Program Overview	441
Program Philosophy	442
Program Learning Outcomes	442
Licensure	443
Admission Requirements	443
Degree Completion Requirements	443
Policies	444
Ethical Guidelines	444
Independent Practice	445
Self Disclosure of Personal Information	445
Practicum	445
Comprehensive Exam	446
Dissertation	446
Internship	446
PsyD Clinical Forensic Psychology	449
Program Overview	449
Program Philosophy	449
Program Learning Outcomes	449

Licensure	450
Admission Requirements	450
Degree Completion Requirements	451
Policies	452
Ethical Guidelines	452
Independent Practice	453
Practicum	453
Clinical Forensic Competency Examinations (CFCE)	453
Dissertation	454
Internship	454
PsyD Clinical Psychology - Anaheim	457
Accreditation	458
Licensure	458
Admission Requirements	458
Program Aims	459
Program Competencies	459
Clinical Training Overview	461
Foundation Courses	462
Enrollment Requirement	462
Additional Requirements for Academic Progress	462
Graduation Requirements	462
Program Requirements	463
Professionalization Group Requirements	463
Practicum and Practicum Seminar Requirements	463
Practicum Eligibility	464
Diagnostic Practicum	464
Advanced Practicum Prerequisites	465
Practicum Seminar Requirements	466
Types of Practicum	466
Clinical Competency Examination Requirements	466
Comprehensive Examinations Requirements	466
Comprehensive Examination Prerequisites: Clinical and Research Exam	467
Comprehensive Examination Prerequisites: Scientific Foundations Exam	467
Dissertation Requirements	467
Dissertation Overview	467
Internship Requirements	467
Internship Application Requirements	
Forensic Psychology Concentration Requirements	470

PsyD Clinical Psychology - Chicago	472
Program Overview	472
Program Accreditation	473
Vision	473
Mission	473
Aim	473
Program Competencies:	473
Licensure	474
Admission Requirements	474
Articulation Agreements	475
Degree Completion Requirements	476
Policies	476
Ethical Guidelines	476
Independent Practice	477
Professional Development Group and Academic Advisor Assignment	477
Applied Professional Practice	478
Student Disclosure of Personal Information	478
Practicum	478
Clinical Competency Evaluation (CCE)	478
Statistics	478
Dissertation	479
Internship	479
The Curriculum	479
PsyD Clinical Psychology - Dallas	485
Program Overview	486
Program Accreditation	486
Program Philosophy	486
Program Mission	486
Program Aim	486
Program Learning Outcomes	487
Licensure	487
Admission Requirements	487
Degree Completion Requirements	488
Policies	489
Ethical and Professional Behavior	489
Professional Performance Evaluation (PPE) Requirements	490
Professional Development Group and Academic Advisor Assignment	490
Student Disclosure of Personal Information	491

Practicum	491
Examinations	491
Dissertation	492
Internship	492
PsyD Clinical Psychology - Los Angeles	496
Program Overview	496
Program Accreditation	496
Program Philosophy	496
Program Mission	497
Program Aim	497
Program Learning Outcomes	497
Licensure	498
Admission Requirements	498
Degree Completion Requirements	499
Policies	499
Ethical and Professional Behavior	499
Professional Performance Evaluation (PPE) Requirements	500
Professional Development Group and Academic Advisor Assignment	501
Student Disclosure of Personal Information	501
Practicum	501
Comprehensive Examination (CE)	502
Dissertation	502
Internship	502
The following are required:	506
PsyD Clinical Psychology - Washington D.C	508
Program Overview	508
Program Accreditation	508
Philosophy	509
Aim	509
Program Learning Outcomes	509
Licensure	510
Admission Requirements	510
Articulation Agreements	511
Degree Completion Requirements	512
Policies	512
Ethical Guidelines	512
Independent Practice	513
Professional Development Group and Academic Advisor Assignment	513

Student Disclosure of Personal Information	513
Practicum	514
Competency Presentation Exams (CPEs) and Clinical Competency Evaluation (CCE)	514
Dissertation	514
Internship	515
PsyD Clinical Psychology - XULA	519
Program Overview	519
Program Philosophy	520
Program Mission	520
Profession Wide Competencies	520
Licensure	522
Admission Requirements	522
Degree Completion Requirements	523
Policies	523
Ethical Guidelines	523
Independent Practice	524
Professional Performance Evaluation (PPE) Requirements	524
Professional Development Group and Academic Advisor Assignment	524
Student Disclosure of Personal Information	525
Practicum and Internship	525
Clinical Qualifying Examination (CQE)	525
Clinical Competency Examination (CCE)	525
Dissertation	526
Internship	526
PsyD Marital and Family Therapy	530
Program Overview	530
Program Philosophy	531
Program Learning Outcomes	531
Licensure	532
Admission Requirements	532
Policies	533
Professional Performance Evaluation (PPE) Requirements	533
Degree Completion Requirements	533
Ethical Guidelines	533
Independent Practice	534
Student Disclosure of Personal Information	534
Dissertation	535
Comprehensive Examination	535

PsyD School Psychology	536
Program Overview	536
Program Accreditation	536
Program Learning Outcomes	537
Licensure	537
Admission Requirements	537
Degree Completion Requirements	538
Policies	539
Articulation Agreements	539
Ethical Guidelines	539
Practicum	539
Internship	540
Dissertation	540
Comprehensive Exam	540
Dual Enrollment: Master of Health Services Administration and Master of Public Health	543
Program Overview	544
Program Learning Outcomes	544
Admission Requirements	545
Policies	546
Fieldwork Requirements	546
Degree Conferral	546
Course Section Codes	548

Catalog Home

Effective May 8, 2023

Telephone: 800.721.8072

325 North Wells Street, Chicago, IL 60654 • 707 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 600, Los Angeles, CA 90017

2400 East Katella Avenue, Floor 12, Anaheim, CA 92806 • 901 15th Street NW, Washington, D.C. 20005

401 W. A Street at 1 Columbia Place, San Diego, CA 92101 • 2101 Waterview Parkway, Suite 100, Richardson, TX 75080

Programs also at:

Xavier University of Louisiana, 1 Drexel Drive, New Orleans, LA 70125

EDUCATION • INNOVATION • SERVICE • COMMUNI TY

Introduction

- Institutional Statements
 - Vision
 - Mission
 - History
 - o Philosophy
 - Values
- Accreditation, Approvals, and State Authorization
 - Accredited Programs
 - o Approved Programs
 - State Authorizations
 - Transferability of Credit

- Affiliations and Recognitions
- Commitment to Diversity
- Faculty, Administration, and Governing Board Information
- Institutional Learning Outcomes
- Student Consumer Information
- Student-Focused Learning

The Chicago School Academic Catalog and Student Handbook contains course offerings, policies, procedures, and other matters and is true and correct at the time of its publication. The Academic Catalog and Student Handbook contains information regarding the policies and procedures that govern both administrative and academic matters. Policies and procedures that are academic department or campus specific are so noted in this document. In addition, each academic department may promulgate policies and procedures to which a student enrolled in its programs are subject. Where appropriate, the student may be referred to another document or publication for further information. A student is responsible for adhering to all policies and procedures found in the Academic Catalog and Student Handbook and other institutional documents.

The provisions of the Academic Catalog and Student Handbook are intended to serve as an informative guide to the programs offered by The Chicago School. The Catalog neither constitutes a contract, either expressed or implied, between the school or any of its affiliates and any applicant, student, or faculty member of the school, nor does it provide any contractual rights to the courses or benefits stated herein. The Chicago School reserves the right to make modifications or exceptions to its academic requirements, course offerings, policies, procedures, tuition, fees, and other matters contained herein at any time and without prior notification. The Chicago School will make reasonable attempts to notify students promptly of any changes affecting them through communication methods deemed appropriate by Chicago School officials. All modifications or exceptions will be duly published in electronic or other form and will apply to students enrolled at The Chicago School at the time of notification or publication, whichever is earlier. Clarification of matters contained in this Academic Catalog and Student Handbook may be obtained from the directors of the appropriate academic and administrative departments and offices.

Michele Nealon, PsyD

President

Institutional Statements

Vision

The Chicago School of Professional Psychology strives to be the school of choice in professional psychology in the world and to realize its mission through innovation and quality.

Mission

Integrating theory, professional practice, and innovation, The Chicago School of Professional Psychology provides an excellent education for careers in psychology and related behavioral and health sciences. The school is committed to service and embraces the diverse communities of our society.

History

The Chicago School was founded in 1979 by a group of psychologists and educators committed to advancing the field and providing professional training in a nonprofit setting. The Clinical Psychology PsyD program in Chicago was awarded Provisional Accreditation by APA in 1987 and Full Accreditation by APA in 1992, a status that it retains. In 1985, The Chicago School was made a Full Member of the National Council of Schools and Programs of Professional Psychology (NCSPP).

By the mid-1990s, The Chicago School was earning a national reputation for its emphasis on diversity and multiculturalism in the psychology profession. It has twice been recognized by NCSPP for significant contributions, first in the area of diversity, and most recently for outstanding advocacy for the field of psychology.

By 2004, the institution grew through the addition of programs in applied fields including Applied Behavior Analysis, Counseling, Forensic Psychology, Industrial/Organizational Psychology, and School Psychology. Expanding the school's mission to new communities continued in 2006 with the addition of online programs and certificates.

The Chicago School in Los Angeles opened in summer 2008, and two more campuses in Southern California followed - one in Westwood and one in Irvine. In fall 2010, a Washington, D.C. campus was opened. In 2014, the school launched a PsyD in Clinical Psychology at Xavier University of Louisiana in New Orleans. The Chicago School closed its Westwood campus at the end of 2014 and turned its attention south to open a San Diego, California location in 2017. The Chicago School in Dallas opened in 2018, and the College of Nursing and Advanced Health Professions, located at Dallas, was launched in 2020. In 2021, The Chicago School relocated its Irvine-based academic programs to Anaheim, California.

Today, students study in more than 40 degree and certificate programs.

History of the College of Nursing and Advanced Health Professions

The College of Nursing and Advanced Health Professions (CONAHP), formerly Dallas Nursing Institute, originated as the E & K Vocational Nursing Program, Inc. It was founded in 1984 and offered Nurse Aide/Home Health Aide training. In May 1991, the organization was granted approval to offer Vocational Nurse Training (VN) by the Board of Vocational Nurse Examiners. The school received proprietary institute status from the Texas Workforce Commission, Career Schools and Colleges Division, in August 1999.

In 2009, Dallas Nursing Institute was granted Initial Approval status by the Board of Nursing to offer the Associate Degree of Nursing (ADN) and the Associate Degree of Nursing (ADN) - LVN to RN Transition program. In December 2013, Dallas Nursing Institute became an affiliate of TCS Education System, and in 2020, it was acquired by The Chicago School and organized as the College of Nursing and Advanced Health Professions, adding to the Healthcare degree programs already offered by the school.

Philosophy

The Chicago School educates professionals whose practices exemplify a commitment to understand and respect individual and cultural differences. The application of humane professional judgment is achieved through the integration of psychological theory, scientific research, and professional practice. The curriculum and training opportunities prepare graduates to deliver outstanding professional services emphasizing the need to understand diversity and the importance of working with underserved populations.

From this statement of purpose, the institution derives its institutional goals which are attained through individual programs of study. The school's consistent focus on student learning ensures that it provides excellent career

preparation. Each program regularly identifies learning expectations, determines the outcomes of these student-learning expectations across degree programs, and uses assessment results to improve student learning.

Values

Reflecting the systemic integration of our mission, our logo symbolizes our values:

Education • Innovation • Service • Community

Accreditation, Approvals, and State Authorization

Institutional Accreditation

The Chicago School is accredited by the Western Association of Schools and Colleges (WSCUC) Senior College and University Commission. Click here to view our Statement of Accreditation Status.

WASC Senior College and University Commission

985 Atlantic Avenue, Suite 100

Alameda, CA 94501

Phone: 510.748.9001

Fax: 510.748.9797

https://www.wscuc.org

Accredited Programs

Some of The Chicago School's degree programs are accredited by entities specific to their professions. These programspecific accreditations are typically associated with a particular degree program at a specific campus.

The institution's accredited programs are listed below. Where a campus is not referenced, program-specific accreditation has not been attained. To view the status of all Chicago School accreditation activity click here.

American Psychological Association (APA)

Office of Program Consultation and Accreditation

750 First Street, NE

Washington, DC 20002-4242

Phone: (202) 336-5979 / E-mail: apaaccred@apa.org Accreditation Website: www.apa.org/ed/accreditation

The Doctor of Psychology (PsyD) in Clinical Psychology program at Chicago, IL is accredited by the APA effective October 6, 1987.

The Doctor of Psychology (PsyD) in Clinical Psychology program at Washington, D.C. is accredited by the APA effective December 3, 2015.

The Doctor of Psychology (PsyD) in Clinical Psychology program at Los Angeles, CA is accredited by the APA effective July 22, 2018.

The Doctor of Psychology (PsyD) in Clinical Psychology program at XULA is accredited on contingency by the APA effective July 21, 2019.

The Doctor of Psychology (PsyD) in School Psychology program at Chicago, IL is accredited on contingency by the APA effective July 19,2020.

The Doctor of Psychology (PsyD) in Clinical Psychology program at Anaheim, CA is accredited by the APA effective April 11, 2021.

Association for Behavior Analysis-International (ABAI)

550 W. Centre Avenue

Portage, MI 49024

Phone: (269) 492-9310

Accreditation Website: https://www.abainternational.org/welcome.aspx

The Master of Science (MS) in Applied Behavior Analysis program at Chicago, IL is accredited by ABAI effective November 20, 2019.

The Master of Science (MS) in Applied Behavior Analysis program Online is accredited by ABAI effective July 22, 2022.

Council on Accreditation for Marriage and Family Therapy Education (COAMFTE)

112 South Alfred Street

Alexandria, VA 22314

Phone: (703) 838-9808

Accreditation Website: www.COAMFTE.org

The Master of Arts in Marriage, Couples, and Family Therapy program at Los Angeles, Anaheim, and San Diego is accredited by COAMFTE effective November 1, 2022.

Council on the Accreditation of Counseling and Related Educational Programs (CACREP)

1001 North Fairfax Street, Suite 510

Alexandria, VA 22314 Phone: (703) 535-5990

Accreditation Website: http://www.cacrep.org/value-of-accreditation/

The Master of Arts (MA) in Clinical Mental Health Counseling program in the Online Campus is accredited by CACREP effective January 19, 2018.

The Master of Arts (MA) in Clinical Mental Health Counseling program at Washington, D.C. is accredited by CACREP effective July 20, 2018.

The Master of Arts (MA) in Clinical Mental Health Counseling program at Chicago is accredited by CACREP effective February 7, 2020.

Master in Psychology and Counseling Accreditation Council (MPCAC)

595 New Loudon Road #265

Latham, NY 12110

Phone: (518) 369-1472

Accreditation Website: http://mpcacaccreditation.org/

The Master of Arts (MA) in Counseling Psychology program at Chicago, IL is accredited by MPCAC effective December 2018.

National Association of School Psychologists (NASP)

4340 East West Highway, Suite 402

Bethesda, MD 20814

Phone: (301) 657-0270

Approval Website: www.nasponline.org

The EdS School Psychology program at Chicago, IL is accredited by NASP effective 2023.

Approved Programs

Some of The Chicago School's degree programs, or course sequences within a degree program, have been approved by organizations that certify professionals in a particular field. These approvals are associated with a particular degree program at a specific campus.

The institution's approved programs are listed below. Where a campus is not referenced, program-specific approval has not been attained.

American Psychological Association (APA)

Office of Program Consultation and Accreditation

750 First Street, NE

Washington, DC 20002-4242

Phone (202) 336-5979 / Email: apaaccred@apa.org

Accreditation Website: https://accreditation.apa.org/

The Master of Science (MS) in Clinical Psychopharmacology program Online was granted program designation for a three-year period with APA/CoA effective February 5, 2022.

Behavior Analysis Certification Board (BACB)

7950 Shaffer Parkway

Littleton, CO 80127

Phone: (720) 438-4321

www.bacb.com

The Master of Science (MS) in Applied Behavior Analysis programs are approved by BACB effective 2014.

California Consortium of Addictions Programs and Professionals (CCAPP)

P.O. Box 214127

2400 Marconi Avenue, Suite C

Sacramento, CA 95821

Phone: (800) 564-5927

Approval Website: ccapp.us

The Bachelor of Arts (BA) in Psychology, Substance Abuse Minor program at Los Angeles, CA is approved by CCAPP effective 2018.

For current information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit this website.

Transferability of Credit

The transferability of credits earned at The Chicago School is at the discretion of the receiving college, university, or other educational institution. Students considering transferring to any institution should not assume that credits earned in any program of study at The Chicago School will be accepted by the receiving institution. Similarly, the ability of a degree, certificate, diploma, or other academic credential earned at The Chicago School to satisfy an admission requirement of another institution is at the discretion of the receiving institution. Accreditation does not guarantee credentials or credits earned at The Chicago School will be accepted by or transferred to another institution. To minimize the risk of having to repeat coursework, students should contact the receiving institution in advance for evaluation and determination of transferability of credits and/or acceptability of degrees, diplomas, or certificates earned.

Affiliations and Recognitions

The Chicago School is an affiliate of the non-profit The Community Solution Education System. The Community Solution Education System is a nonprofit system of colleges advancing student success and community impact. Other system schools include Pacific Oaks College and Children's School, The Colleges of Law, Saybrook University, Kansas Health Science Center, and University of Western States. Learn more at www.tcsedsystem.edu.

The Chicago School is an active member of the National Council of School and Programs of Professional Psychology (NCSPP), which has recognized the school for its distinguished service and outstanding contributions to cultural diversity.

Commitment to Diversity

The Chicago School is committed to be a learning community that fosters an environment of mutual respect and inclusion where diversity and human rights are valued and where the learning environment is enhanced by each community member. Using an intersectional lens, The Chicago School recognizes that members of our learning community hold memberships in various cultures and other diverse aspects of the human experience (e.g., race, gender, gender identity, age, religion, spirituality, sexual/affectional orientation, ability, class, and socioeconomic status, immigration) which enhances our understanding of contexts and promotes cultural competency.

As such, all members of the learning community are asked to embrace the school's Oath of Affirmation and Diversity:

"I hereby affirm that I shall discharge the responsibilities of my profession in a manner consistent with respect for the dignity and worth of individuals and communities and that I shall strive for the preservation and protection of fundamental human rights;

That I shall seek to increase knowledge of human behavior, cultures, and experiences to increase self-understanding and understanding of others, and that I shall use such knowledge for the promotion of dignity and human rights;

That I shall seek to embrace the profession's commitment to understand and respect individual, social, contextual, and cultural differences

That I shall diligently protect the human rights of those who seek my services, and that I shall use my skills only in the furtherance of human rights and the integrity of the individual;

That I shall strive to acknowledge and remove systemic barriers that prevent the ability of groups, individuals, and organizations to access services that promote the well-being of all;

And that I shall well and truly recognize the traditions, ethics, and boundaries of my profession, and that I shall subscribe to these traditions and ethics freely and upon my honor.

As a representative of The Chicago School Community, I hereby affirm to actively participate in this learning and professional community by embracing its commitment to understand and respect individual, social, contextual, and cultural differences. As such, I will seek to gain knowledge of human difference that I may increase my understanding of self and others, and I will seek to build an environment of mutual respect and inclusion where all are valued."

Faculty, Administration, and Governing Board Information

As an independent non-profit school, final authority for all matters is vested in the Board of Trustees. Dr. Michele Nealon is the President and CEO of the school. The board delegates to the President responsibility for daily operations of the institution. A list of the names of the school's senior leadership may be found here. A list of the names of the governing board of The Chicago School may be found here. A list of faculty may be found here.

Institutional Learning Outcomes

The institutional learning outcomes for students completing degree programs are:

Professional Practice: Graduates will be able to demonstrate attainment in the areas of competency (as reflected in knowledge, skills and attitudes) required by their area of education and training. Examples include evaluation, intervention, consultation, teaching, and supervision.

Diversity: Graduates will respect the value and dignity of individuals and groups across all cultural contexts, and advocate for inclusion and equity. They will demonstrate intercultural competence in domestic and international contexts with people who have ideas, beliefs, worldviews, experiences, and behaviors that are different from their own.

Professional Behavior: Graduates will be able to demonstrate by their values, beliefs and behaviors adherence to the highest ethical and professional standards in their personal and professional lives.

Scholarship: Graduates will be able to integrate scientific research and theory, as broadly defined, to enhance their scholarly and professional endeavors.

Student Consumer Information

A list of consumer disclosures may be found here.

Student-Focused Learning

To ensure an effective education experience, The Chicago School faculty members systematically monitor student learning to inform future planning and to generate creative, responsive initiatives to improve degree programs. Data is gathered, analyzed, and presented to the learning community for review. Based on these results, a degree program revises its student learning assessment plan, curriculum, and approach to learning in the classroom. Student learning assessment offers the school a critical opportunity to evaluate the effectiveness of its programs and to develop innovative, student-focused learning environments.

To optimize the learning environment, a student is strongly encouraged to be an active learner. An active learner reflects on the conditions and activities that engage their learning style and works independently and collaboratively, with peers and with faculty, to enhance their learning.

Academic Policies and Procedures

Academic Calendar

The Chicago School's Academic Calendar is built on a semester framework. The academic year includes two types of academic periods - the term and the semester. An academic year can consist of 15-week semesters (fall and spring), 8-week terms (fall I, fall II, spring I, spring II, summer I, and summer II), or a combination of both. A student is required to maintain continuous enrollment during the academic year per the Continuous Enrollment policy.

Definitions

- First Day of Instruction: Instructional activities officially begin on this day.
- Grading Period: The day(s) that fall between the Last Day of Instruction and the Grades Due date.
- <u>Last Day of Instruction</u>: The final instructional day of the academic period. This is the deadline by which all coursework must be completed, including final exams.
- Term: The "term" academic period and its corresponding courses are eight weeks in duration.
 - Official End of Term: The day on which the academic term closes.

- <u>Semester</u>: The "semester" academic period is 15 weeks in duration. Semester courses offered in the fall and spring are 15 weeks in duration.
 - Official End of Semester: The day on which the academic semester closes.

A student enrolled in the AAS-N or VN programs attends courses per the program-specific Academic Calendar. Details on term dates appear in the AAS-N and VN Academic Calendar documents.

Academic Honors

Undergraduate Programs

The Chicago School encourages students to challenge themselves intellectually, professionally, academically and personally. Academic honors acknowledge outstanding undergraduate students for academic excellence and scholastic achievement.

Term Honors

Dean's Honor List

An undergraduate student will be named to the Dean's Honor List if all of the following conditions are met:

- Enrolled at least half time
- Earns a term/semester grade point average (GPA) of 3.5 to 3.79
- Maintains Satisfactory Academic Progress (SAP)
- Does not earn any of the following grades: W, WF, IP, F, I
- Has all grades posted at the time term/semester evaluation is conducted

The Dean's Honor List will be noted on the student's transcript for the term/semester in which the honor is received.

President's Honor List

An undergraduate student will be named to the President's Honor List if all of the following conditions are met:

- Enrolled at least half time
- Earns a term/semester grade point average (GPA) of 3.80 to 4.00
- Maintains Satisfactory Academic Progress (SAP)
- Does not earn any of the following grades: W, WF, IP, F, I
- Has all grades posted at the time term/semester evaluation is conducted

The President's Honor List will be noted to the student's transcript for the term/semester in which the honor is received.

Degree Honors

An undergraduate student who earns a cumulative grade point average (CGPA) of 3.50 or higher will be recognized with degree honors. The honors will be awarded upon degree conferral and will be noted on the transcript and the diploma.

- Cum Laude: Student must earn a CGPA between 3.50 and 3.69
- Magna Cum Laude: Student must earn a CGPA between 3.70 and 3.85
- Summa Cum Laude: Student must earn a CGPA between 3.86 and 4.00

To be eligible for degree honors, an undergraduate student must meet the ethical, legal, and professional standards defined in this Academic Catalog and Student Handbook.

Graduate Programs

The Chicago School encourages students to challenge themselves intellectually, professionally, academically, and personally. Academic honors acknowledge outstanding academic excellence and scholastic achievement.

Honors are awarded upon degree conferral only to a degree-seeking graduate student who:

- Earns a CGPA of 4.00.
- Meets the ethical, legal, and professional standards defined in this Academic Catalog and Student Handbook.
- Has been in compliance with institutional policies and procedures.

Degree Honors will be noted on the student transcript.

Admission Requirements

Undergraduate Admission

This policy addresses the admission requirements for an applicant to undergraduate degree programs at The Chicago School. The school accepts international students into select ground campus-based degree programs.

An applicant to an undergraduate degree program is required to submit a completed application, application fee, and proof of qualifying conferral. Information on admission requirements by degree program is available in the Programs of Study descriptions in this Catalog.

Once admission has been offered, an applicant must pay the tuition deposit to reserve a spot in their program. The tuition deposit is nonrefundable.

Qualifying Conferral for Undergraduate Admission

The qualifying conferral is defined as the conferral that qualifies an applicant for admission to an undergraduate-level academic program. The qualifying conferral must occur on a date prior to the Add/Drop deadline of the term/semester of entry. A student must submit proof of the qualifying conferral (see options below) by day 9 of the term/semester of entry. Proof of qualifying conferral must be provided in one of the following ways:

Transcripts

- Official or unofficial high school transcript showing an earned high school diploma and date of graduation.
- Official or unofficial Associate degree transcript from a regionally-accredited institution showing degree earned and date conferred.
- Official or unofficial post-high school/post-secondary transcript from a regionally-accredited institution showing education completed.
- Official or unofficial college transcript from a regionally-accredited institution that contains the high school name and date of graduation.
- Official or unofficial transcript of a state-approved home school program showing the date of graduation.

High School Equivalency Test

- Official or unofficial General Educational Development (GED) document, High School Equivalency Test (HiSET), or Test Assessing Secondary Completion (TASC) document.
- Official or unofficial documentation showing a passing score on a state-authorized exam that the state recognizes as equivalent to high school graduation.

Other Document Types

- A copy of a high school diploma (select programs only).
- Letter showing the date of graduation written on high school letterhead and signed by a high school administrator with an academic title sent directly to The Chicago School from the awarding school.
- Military Form DD214 showing the high school date of graduation.

International Documents

Official or unofficial evaluation of an international transcript, international high school equivalency, or post-high school/post-secondary education. The evaluation must be completed by either a National Association of Credential Evaluations Services (NACES) or Association of International Credential Evaluators, Inc. (AICE)-approved service and include the conferral date, program level, and type of diploma, degree, or equivalency conferred. The evaluation must indicate U.S. degree equivalency.

A student who fails to submit proof of qualifying conferral as outlined above by the day 9 of the term/semester will be placed in either Withdrawal or No Show status. The student will be placed in Withdrawal status if they posted attendance in any course, or the student will be placed in No Show status if they did not post attendance. In both cases, the student does not qualify for financial aid disbursement. Refer to Financial Aid and Student Account Policies for information.

Official Proof of Qualifying Conferral

A student who submits unofficial proof of qualifying conferral must submit official proof of qualifying conferral prior to the Add/Drop deadline of the second semester/third term of enrollment. A student who fails to submit official proof of qualifying conferral prior to the applicable Add/Drop deadline will be withdrawn.

Unofficial proof of qualifying conferral may qualify a student for financial aid. See Financial Aid and Student Account Policies for information.

Proof of Qualifying Conferral Extension for Undergraduate Admission

A student facing extenuating circumstances may be eligible for additional time to submit their official proof of qualifying conferral. A term-based student may be eligible for a two-term extension, and a semester-based student may be eligible for a one-semester extension. To request an extension, a student must submit a Proof of Qualifying Conferral Extension request to the Responsible Leader or designee.

A student with an approved extension will have a hold placed on their account preventing disbursement of financial aid funding, where applicable. The hold will be removed and financial aid disbursed to a qualified student once an approved form of qualifying conferral is received and verified.

Failure to meet this extension deadline will result in administrative withdrawal from the institution, and the withdrawn student does not qualify for financial aid disbursement. Refer to the Financial Aid and Student Account Policies section for information.

International Transcript Requirements for Undergraduate Admission

An applicant holding an international transcript or international high school equivalency must have it evaluated as part of the admissions process. A course-by-course evaluation of the official transcript or official equivalency from the international institution where the qualifying conferral was obtained may be required. The evaluation must indicate the equivalent U.S. credential and grade point average (GPA).

While a student may submit documentation listed above to prove qualifying conferral, submission of the official transcript evaluation is required for all students who attended an institution outside of the U.S.

Language Requirement for Undergraduate Admission

An applicant who indicates that English is not their primary language must submit official scores from the Test of English as a Foreign Language (TOEFL), the International English Language Testing System (IELTS), Pearson Test of English (PTE), Duolingo English Test, or at a partner ESL institution. This requirement does not apply to applicants whose qualifying conferral is completed in a program that uses English as the language of instruction. The minimum scores are: TOEFL - 500 paper based, 173 computer based, 61 internet based; PTE - 44; IELTS - 5.5; Duolingo - 95. Valid scores are required. TOEFL, PTE, IELTS, and Duolingo scores are valid for two years after the test date.

Undergraduate Admission Contingencies

For admission contingencies other than proof of qualifying conferral, all documents must be submitted prior to the Add/Drop deadline of the following semester for a semester-based student and by the Add/Drop deadline of the third term for a term-based student. Such items may include but are not limited to a letter of recommendation and Criminal Background Check. A student facing extenuating circumstances may request an extension using the policy exception process.

If documents are missing after a student begins classes, the student's record will be placed on hold, prohibiting future course registration. If unresolved, the semester-based student will be withdrawn on the Add/Drop deadline of the second semester of enrollment, and the term-based student will be withdrawn on the Add/Drop deadline of the third term of enrollment.

Graduate Admission

This policy addresses the admission requirements for an applicant to a graduate program at The Chicago School. An international applicant who requires sponsorship for a student visa should refer to the International Admission policy below.

An applicant who has earned a qualifying degree from a regionally-accredited institution or who holds an equivalent international degree and who meets other admission requirements as required by the desired degree program may be considered for admission. Information on admission requirements by degree program is available in the Programs of Study descriptions in this Catalog.

An applicant to a graduate program at The Chicago School is required to submit a completed application, application fee, and proof of qualifying degree conferral.

Once admission has been offered, an applicant must pay the tuition deposit to reserve a spot in their program. The tuition deposit is nonrefundable.

Qualifying Degree for Graduate Admission

The qualifying degree is defined as the degree that qualifies an applicant for admission to a graduate-level academic program. The qualifying degree must be conferred on a date prior to the Add/Drop deadline of the term/semester of entry. A student must provide proof of qualifying degree conferral by day 9 of the term/semester of entry.

Proof must be provided in one of the following ways:

 Official transcript showing qualifying degree. An official transcript is printed on official transcript paper and bears the embossed or raised college seal, date, and the Registrar's signature. An official transcript is delivered in a sealed envelope with the Registrar's signature stamped across the seal. An official transcript can also be sent electronically directly from a transcript vendor. See the International Transcript Requirements policy for international transcripts.

- 2. Unofficial transcript showing qualifying degree. An unofficial transcript is printed on plain paper and does not bear a college seal or registrar's signature or is an opened transcript submitted by a student, marked as a student copy or stamped unofficial. An unofficial transcript must document: student name, institution name, courses completed with grades earned, specific degree conferred, and the conferral date.
- 3. An official letter on school letterhead from the qualifying degree granting institution's Office of the Registrar that includes the specific conferral date, degree level, and name of degree conferred.
- 4. An evaluation of an official or unofficial transcript of an international degree that includes the specific conferral date, degree level, and name of degree conferred, along with U.S. equivalency. See the International Transcript Requirements policy for international transcripts.

If an applicant has earned a graduate degree from a regionally-accredited institution, an exception to the qualifying degree requirement may be considered. An exception must be approved by the Department Chair and documented in the student's record.

Unless granted an extension under the Proof of Qualifying Degree Extension for Graduate Admission section below, a student who fails to submit proof of qualifying degree by day 9 will be placed in either Withdrawal or No Show status. The student will be placed in Withdrawal status if they posted attendance in any course, or the student will be placed in No Show status if they did not post attendance. In both cases, the student does not qualify for financial aid disbursement. Refer to the Financial Aid and Student Account Policies section for information.

Official Proof of Qualifying Degree

A student who submits unofficial proof of qualifying degree must submit official proof of qualifying degree prior to the Add/Drop deadline of the second semester/third term of enrollment. A student who fails to submit official proof of qualifying degree prior to the applicable Add/Drop deadline will be withdrawn.

Unofficial proof of qualifying degree may qualify a student for financial aid. See Financial Aid and Student Account Policies for information.

Proof of Qualifying Degree Extension for Graduate Admission

A student facing extenuating circumstances may be eligible for additional time to submit their proof of qualifying degree. A term-based student may be eligible for a two-term extension, and a semester-based student may be eligible for a one-semester extension. To request an extension, a student must submit a Proof of Qualifying Degree Extension request to the Responsible Leader or designee.

A student with an approved extension will have a hold placed on their account preventing disbursement of financial aid funding, where applicable. The hold will be removed and financial aid disbursed to a qualified student once an approved form of qualifying degree is received and verified.

Failure to meet this extension deadline will result in administrative withdrawal from the institution, and the withdrawn student does not qualify for financial aid disbursement. Refer to the Financial Aid and Student Account Policies section for information.

International Transcript Requirements for Graduate Admission

An applicant holding an international transcript must have it evaluated as part of the admissions process. A course-by-course evaluation of the official transcript from the international institution where the qualifying degree was earned may be required. The evaluation must include a general evaluation showing U.S. degree equivalency and grade point average (GPA).

If a student earned an international degree from Canada, the United Kingdom, Bologna Signatory countries, or India, the transcript may be evaluated by The Chicago School. For an international degree from Canada showing credit hours and grading systems equivalent to the U.S. credit hours and grading system, a general evaluation may be performed by the school.

If the international degree does not meet the aforementioned conditions, it must be evaluated by a NACES or AICE-approved agency. Transcript evaluations are not required from U.S. universities operating internationally, provided the institution is recognized by a U.S. regional accrediting body and with grades reported on a U.S. 4-point scale.

Language Requirement for Graduate Admission

An applicant who indicates that English is not their primary language must submit official scores from the Test of English as a Foreign Language (TOEFL), Pearson Test of English (PTE), International English Language Testing System (IELTS), Duolingo English Test, or at a partner ESL institution. This requirement does not apply to an applicant who either earned an undergraduate or graduate degree or who earned at least 60 credit hours from a university in which the language of instruction was English. The minimum scores are: TOEFL - 550 paper based, 213 computer based, 79 internet based; PTE - 53; IELTS - 6.5; Duolingo - 110. Valid scores are required. TOEFL, PTE, IELTS, and Duolingo scores are valid for two years after the test date.

Evaluation of Other Degree Types for Graduate Admission

A degree type that differs from a standard U.S. bachelor or master's degree will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis. The following conditions will be considered:

- 1. The degree is recognized by a country's Ministry of Education
- 2. The NACES or AICE-evaluation shows the degree as equivalent to the U.S. qualifying degree required by the program

Final decisions regarding exceptions to this policy will be made by the Chief Academic Officer.

Graduate Admission Contingencies

For admission contingencies other than proof of the qualifying degree, all documents must be submitted prior to the Add/Drop deadline of the following semester for a semester-based student and prior to the Add/Drop deadline of the third term for a term-based student. Such items may include but are not limited to letters of recommendation, Criminal Background Check, or GRE scores. A student facing extenuating circumstances may request an extension using the policy exception process.

If documents are missing after a student begins classes, the student's record will be placed on hold, prohibiting future course registration. If unresolved, the semester-based student will be withdrawn on the Add/Drop deadline of the second semester of enrollment, and the term-based student will be withdrawn on the Add/Drop deadline of the third term of enrollment.

Preparatory Coursework for Graduate Admission

Preparatory coursework refers to course(s) an applicant is required to take in order to enroll in an eligible graduate degree program. Preparatory courses are required for admission to the intended graduate program and do not count toward the requirements for the intended degree program.

An otherwise eligible applicant who must successfully complete preparatory coursework required for admission to a specific graduate program may attend The Chicago School in a Preparatory Student classification.

An applicant who takes preparatory coursework for admission into a graduate program may apply to receive federal Direct Loans for one 12-consecutive month period. The student must be enrolled at least half-time to be eligible for loans. The student must complete the standard financial aid application process and meet all federal eligibility requirements. Only the courses listed in the applicable Programs of Study Admission Requirements section may be used for calculation of loan eligibility. Preparatory coursework that exceeds the 12-consecutive month period will not be eligible for financial aid.

An applicant may review the individual Programs of Study Admission Requirements to view the specific courses required for admission to the intended graduate program. Once all preparatory coursework is successfully completed, the student may be admitted to the intended degree program.

Graduate Progression Requirements

Progression requirements are academic requirements that a student must successfully complete to remain enrolled in the degree program. An applicant may review their Program of Study to view the specific courses required. Failure to successfully complete a progression requirement will result in administrative withdrawal from the degree program.

International Admission

This policy addresses the admission requirements for an international applicant to a degree program or certificate on a Chicago School ground campus located in the United States. An international applicant to a graduate degree program or certificate who has earned a qualifying degree from a regionally-accredited institution or who holds an equivalent international degree and who meets other admission requirements as required by the desired degree program or certificate may be considered for admission. An international applicant to an undergraduate program who holds a qualifying conferral and who meets other admission requirements as required by the desired degree program may be considered for admission. Information on admission requirements by degree program and certificate is available in the Programs of Study descriptions in this Catalog.

An international applicant is required to submit a completed application, application fee, and proof of qualifying degree (graduate) or qualifying conferral (undergraduate).

An international student who desires to study in a ground campus degree program or certificate in the United States must be enrolled fulltime to be eligible for a student visa. A student in a non-immigrant status is not eligible for federal financial aid but may be eligible for institutional aid. Contact International Admissions for more information.

Upon acceptance, an international applicant requesting sponsorship for a student visa must submit a New Student Information Form and supporting documentation before a Certificate of Eligibility for Non-Immigrant Students (I-20) can be issued. For current information on minimum financial requirements and obtaining the I-20, please visit the International Student Services website.

Once admission has been offered, an applicant must pay the tuition deposit to reserve a spot in their program. The tuition deposit is nonrefundable.

Qualifying Conferral or Degree for International Admission

The qualifying conferral is defined as the conferral that qualifies an applicant for admission to an undergraduate-level academic program, and the qualifying degree is defined as the degree that qualifies an applicant for admission to a graduate-level academic program. The qualifying degree (graduate) or qualifying conferral (undergraduate) must be conferred on a date prior to the Add/Drop deadline of the semester of entry. An international student must provide proof of qualifying degree (graduate) or qualifying conferral (undergraduate) by day 9 of the first semester of enrollment. Failure to meet this requirement will result in removal from all courses and withdrawal from the institution. Proof must be provided as detailed in the Undergraduate Admission and Graduate Admission polices above.

Proof of Qualifying Degree (Graduate) or Qualifying Conferral (Undergraduate) Extension for International Admission

An international student facing extenuating circumstances may be eligible for a one-semester extension to submit their proof of qualifying degree (graduate) or qualifying conferral (undergraduate). To request an extension, a student must submit a Proof of Qualifying Degree (graduate) or Qualifying Conferral (undergraduate) Extension request to the Responsible Leader or designee.

An international student with an approved extension will have a hold placed on their account. The hold will be removed once required documentation is received and verified. Failure to meet the extension deadline will result in administrative withdrawal from the institution.

Undergraduate Programs

Undergraduate: International Transcript or Equivalent Requirements

An applicant holding an international transcript or international high school equivalency must have it evaluated as part of the admissions process. A course-by-course evaluation of the official transcript from the international institution where the qualifying conferral was completed or an official equivalency may be required. The evaluation must indicate the equivalent U.S. credential and grade point average (GPA).

Undergraduate: Admission Contingencies

For admission contingencies other than proof of qualifying conferral, all documents must be submitted prior to the Add/Drop deadline of the following semester. Such items may include but are not limited to a letter of recommendation and Criminal Background Check. A student facing extenuating circumstances may request an extension using the policy exception process.

If documents are missing after a student begins classes, the student's record will be placed on hold, prohibiting future course registration. If unresolved, the student will be withdrawn on the Add/Drop deadline of the second semester of enrollment.

Undergraduate: Language Requirement

An applicant to an undergraduate program who indicates that English is not their primary language must submit official scores from the Test of English as a Foreign Language (TOEFL), the International English Language Testing System (IELTS), Pearson Test of English (PTE), Duolingo English Test, or at a partner ESL institution. This requirement does not apply to applicants whose qualifying conferral is completed in a program that uses English as the language of instruction. The minimum scores are: TOEFL - 500 paper based, 173 computer based, 61 internet based; PTE - 44; IELTS - 5.5; Duolingo - 95. Valid scores are required. TOEFL, PTE, IELTS, and Duolingo scores are valid for two years after the test date.

Graduate Programs

Graduate: Evaluation of Other Degree Types for International Admission

A degree type that differs from a standard U.S. bachelor or master's degree will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis. The following conditions will be considered:

- 1. The degree is recognized by a country's Ministry of Education
- The NACES or AICE-evaluation shows the degree as equivalent to the U.S. qualifying degree required by the degree program

Final decisions regarding exceptions to this policy will be made by the Chief Academic Officer.

Graduate: Admission Contingencies

For admission contingencies other than proof of the qualifying degree, all documents must be submitted prior to the Add/Drop deadline of the following semester for a semester-based student and prior to the Add/Drop deadline of the third term for a term-based student. Such items may include but are not limited to letters of recommendation, Criminal Background Check, or GRE scores. A student facing extenuating circumstances may request an extension using the policy exception process.

If documents are missing after a student begins classes, the student's record will be placed on hold, prohibiting future course registration. If unresolved, the semester-based student will be withdrawn on the Add/Drop deadline of the second semester of enrollment, and the term-based student will be withdrawn on the Add/Drop deadline of the third term of enrollment.

Graduate: Language Requirement

An applicant to a graduate program or certificate who indicates that English is not their primary language must submit official scores from the Test of English as a Foreign Language (TOEFL), Pearson Test of English (PTE), International English Language Testing System (IELTS), Duolingo English Test, or at a partner ESL institution. This requirement does not apply to an applicant who either earned an undergraduate or graduate degree or who earned at least 60 credit hours from a university in which the language of instruction was English. The minimum scores are: TOEFL - 550 paper based, 213 computer based, 79 internet based; PTE - 53; IELTS - 6.5; Duolingo - 110. Valid scores are required. TOEFL, PTE, IELTS, and Duolingo scores are valid for two years after the test date.

Graduate: Preparatory Coursework for International Admission

Preparatory coursework refers to course(s) an applicant is required to take in order to enroll in an eligible graduate degree program. Preparatory courses are required for admission to the intended graduate program and do not count toward the requirements for the intended degree program.

An otherwise eligible applicant who must successfully complete preparatory coursework required for admission to a specific graduate program may attend the school in a Preparatory Student classification.

An applicant may review the individual Programs of Study Admission Requirements to view the specific courses required for admission to the intended graduate program. Once all preparatory coursework is successfully completed, the student may be admitted to the intended degree program.

Graduate: Progression Requirements

Progression requirements are an academic requirement that a student must successfully complete to remain enrolled in the degree program. An applicant may review the individual Programs of Study to view the specific courses required. Failure to successfully complete a progression requirement will result in administrative withdrawal from the degree program.

Concurrent enrollment is not permitted. A current student must complete all degree requirements and have the degree conferred to be eligible to start another degree program. Degree conferral must occur either on or prior to the Add/Drop deadline of the first term/semester in the new degree program.

Attendance

All students are expected to attend and participate in their courses. All students in all delivery modalities (on-ground, online, and blended such as executive style or weekend programs) are recorded as either present or absent for each course during the first week of the term/semester based on participation in an online assigned academic activity. Assigned academic activities include posting an introduction, posting in a discussion forum, or submitting a quiz or assignment. A student cannot post attendance in any course prior to the start of any term/semester.

In addition to completing the online assigned academic activity, a ground campus-based student must attend face-to-face class meetings. Failure to attend face-to-face class meetings will have academic consequences as defined in the course syllabus.

A student who does not submit the assigned academic activity in an individual course during the first week of the term/semester will be administratively withdrawn from the course. A student who does not submit assigned academic activities during the first week of the term/semester in all courses will be administratively withdrawn from the institution.

Excused Absence

Should a student experience extenuating circumstances that necessitate absence from class during the first week of the term/semester, the student must notify the instructor of record for the course in advance. It is within the instructor of record for the course's discretion to determine whether an absence is excused or unexcused. Reasons for granting an excused absence may include but are not limited to:

- a) Student illness or injury;
- b) Death, injury, or serious illness of an immediate family member;
- c) Religious observance;
- d) Jury duty or other government obligation.

The instructor of record for the course must notify the Student Support Counselor in writing when granting an excused absence. Attendance must be posted for the student upon return to the course. A student is required to provide written documentation substantiating an excused absence. Acceptable forms of documentation include medical documentation, copy of a jury summons, or a copy of a memorial service program. Documentation must be submitted to the Student Support Counselor.

Also, a student must inform the instructor of record for the course(s) in writing of the intent to stay enrolled in the course. The student is responsible for making arrangements to complete coursework missed due to an excused absence. An excused absence does not meet attendance requirements. However, a student's request for an excused absence indicates the intent to remain enrolled in the course and at the institution.

Failure to attend 60% of the term/semester may result in a prorated refund of financial aid. Any refund of tuition due to the student will be based on the applicable Refund Policies.

Questions about disability accommodations for short-term impairments that limit a student's ability to attend class must be directed to the Student Support.

AAS-N and VN: Attendance, Tardy, and Leaving Early

The AAS-N and VN programs take attendance over the duration of the academic period. A student is required to attend all class meetings, laboratory sessions, and clinical rotations. Instructors record a student's attendance for each class meeting, laboratory session, and clinical rotation. A student who fails to attend a class meeting, laboratory session, or

clinical rotation will be marked absent regardless of the reason for absence. A student will be marked tardy if they arrive for class, laboratory, or clinical rotations after the scheduled start time.

Absence, tardiness, and leaving class early become part of a student's permanent attendance record. Work missed due to absence is subject to the Make-Up Work policy. Missed clinical rotation hours may be eligible for make up in limited circumstances. A student who arrives for class after a quiz has been initiated may enter the classroom and use the remaining allotted time to complete the quiz.

A student who fails to attend 90% of their cumulative program time will be administratively withdrawn from school. A student who misses more than 10 consecutive scheduled school days will be administratively withdrawn from school for non-attendance. A student who misses two clinical rotations within one academic period may be required to repeat the associated course along with any co-requisite course(s) or may be subject to administrative withdrawal from the program. A student who is administratively withdrawn due to unsatisfactory attendance may request readmission for the next scheduled term start.

Class Cancellation

In cases of extreme weather, emergencies, or special events, The Chicago School may temporarily close a campus and/or cancel classes. Campus closure is at the discretion of the responsible Leader. Information on campus closures will be sent in the following ways:

- Rave, the school's emergency message notification system. Register for Rave at this link: http://www.getrave.com/login/tcsedsystem
- The Chicago School email address
- An alert message on the school's Community website

Information on class make-up will be available from the academic department.

Commencement

Commencement is a ceremony. Participation in the commencement ceremony is voluntary, and neither confers a degree nor releases a student from the obligation to satisfactorily complete curricular or other degree program requirements. Degree conferral will occur upon completion of all program requirements, and diploma issuance is contingent upon meeting all other obligations to the institution. See the Degree Completion policy for more information.

All vocational, associate, bachelor, master, education specialist, and doctoral-level students are invited to participate in a commencement ceremony. A student may participate in only one commencement ceremony per degree earned. A student completing a certificate program may not participate in commencement.

To be considered for participation, a student must submit the Intent to Participate in Commencement form by the deadline.

Participation Requirements

Undergraduate Students

A vocational, associate, or bachelor student may be eligible to participate in a commencement ceremony if one of the following conditions are met:

- 1. All program requirements are completed.
- 2. Program requirements will be completed during the term/semester in which the ceremony occurs as determined by the academic department.

Master and Education Specialist Students

A master or education specialist student may be eligible to participate in a commencement ceremony if **one** of the following conditions is met:

- 1. All degree requirements are completed.
- 2. All degree requirements will be completed during the term/semester in which the ceremony occurs as determined by the academic department.
- 3. All degree requirements including thesis (where applicable) will be substantially completed as determined by the academic department in the term/semester following the ceremony.

Doctoral Students

A doctoral student may be eligible to participate in a commencement ceremony if **one** of the following conditions is met:

- 1. All degree requirements including dissertation, manuscript preparation/copy editing, and clinical training (where applicable) are completed.
- 2. All degree requirements including dissertation, manuscript preparation/copy editing, and clinical training (where applicable) are substantially completed as determined by the academic department.

Participation Requirements by Campus

The Chicago School holds commencement ceremonies at these locations:

- Southern California
- Chicago
- Dallas
- New Orleans
- Washington, D.C.

A ground campus-based student may only participate in the home campus commencement ceremony.

A student enrolled in the Online Campus may participate in the commencement ceremony of their choosing. The student must select a specific ceremony when completing the Intent to Participate in Commencement form. Once a ceremony has been selected, the Online Campus student may not switch to another ceremony.

Credit Hour

All courses offered at The Chicago School, irrespective of varying credits, durations, and modalities, define one credit hour as:

- One hour of in-class instructional time and a minimum of out-of-class student preparation time for 15 weeks
 for one semester, or the equivalent amount of work over a different amount of time. Out-of-class student
 preparation time increases with each degree level: Two hours for undergraduate level courses, three hours for
 master level courses, and three hours plus additional dissertation preparation time for doctoral level courses.
- The amount of learning required to progress toward completion of learning outcomes as defined by the rigor, complexity, and content of the degree level and the expectations of the profession. Student learning is verified by evidence in student achievement.
- For courses offered in alternative timeframes or modalities, credit hour assignment shall be the equivalent of in-class instructional time per week combined with the appropriate out-of-class student preparation time.

A credit hour is a minimum of a 53-minute period. For courses offered in alternative timeframes or modalities, credit hour assignment shall be the equivalent of the in-class instructional time per week combined with the appropriate out-of-class student preparation time. Information on expected student work is included in the course syllabus. The course syllabus indicates course credit hours and the amount of work required to earn those credit hours.

Degree Completion

Degree Credit Hours

Each degree program defines the number of credit hours required for degree completion. Where a student needs time beyond the coursework required to complete the degree program, they may be required to enroll in an extension course as defined in their Program of Study. An extension course is counted as part of a student's degree program and may be eligible for financial aid. Tuition and fees may apply. A student who successfully completes their degree program requirements within the published program of study is not required to enroll in extension courses.

Concentration, Area of Focus/Study, Track, or Minor

Some graduate degree programs require a student to complete a concentration, area of focus/study, or track to meet degree requirements. Some undergraduate degree programs offer optional minors. A concentration is a specific area of emphasis within the student's chosen degree program, an area of focus/study is the emphasis on a conceptual area within the degree program, and a track is a designated set of courses that lead to a specialized outcome. A minor is a secondary area of study comprised of a set of specialized courses. See the Program of Study pages for more information.

To change a concentration, area of study/focus, track, or minor, a student must submit the Enrollment Change Request form. See the Enrollment Change policy for details.

Credit Hour Residency Requirement

The Credit Hour Residency Requirement is defined as the minimum number of credit hours a degree-seeking student must complete at The Chicago School in order to graduate. It is required that a matriculated student fulfill all degree requirements through courses offered at the institution. Degree programs with external approving or accrediting agencies must align credit hour residency requirements with the guidelines of those bodies.

A student who enters a degree program via an articulation agreement will be held to the requirements stated in the agreement.

• <u>Undergraduate Programs</u>

A student entering an undergraduate degree program is permitted transfer up to 65% of the required credit hours for the program. A student is required to complete a minimum of 35% of required credit hours at The Chicago School. Refer to the Transfer and Nontraditional Credit Hours policy for details including information on exceptions.

AAS-N and VN Programs

The AAS-N program does not accept transfer credit for nursing core courses. The VN program does not accept transfer credit. Refer to the Transfer and Nontraditional Credit Hours policy for more details.

BSN Program

A student entering the BSN program is permitted to transfer up to 60% of the required credit hours for the program. A student is required to complete a minimum of 40% of required credit hours at The Chicago School. Refer to the Transfer and Nontraditional Credit Hours policy for details.

• Graduate Programs

Credit Hour Residency Requirements for each degree program are defined in the Transfer and Nontraditional Credit Hours policy. A student is required to complete the remaining credit hours at The Chicago School.

Exceptions to this requirement must be clearly defined in specific agreements or degree programs, i.e., articulation agreements or dual degree/enrollment programs, approved by the institution. As a guideline, transfer credits should not exceed 25% of the graduate degree. In no case will the number of allowed transfer credits under an agreement or degree program exceed 50% of the graduate degree except as detailed in the Exception to Transfer and Nontraditional Credit Hour Limits. Existing articulation agreements for graduate-level programs that exceed the 50% transfer credits limit and that were in effect prior to the implementation of this policy will be honored. Restrictions on transfer credit placed by regional, state, or programmatic accreditors, where they exist, will take precedence over this policy.

Requests for transfer credit (and course waiver when initiated by the academic department) must be submitted prior to the end of the first semester of enrollment for a semester-based student or second term of enrollment for a term-based student. Refer to the Transfer and Nontraditional Credit Hours policy for details.

Rigor

To qualify for degree conferral, a student must:

- Be in Academic and Financial Aid Good Standing,
- Be in University Good Standing,
- Have final grades posted in all courses as defined by the degree program, and
- Complete all degree program components including training requirements, competency exam(s), residencies, and the capstone project, thesis, or dissertation as defined by the degree program.

The Chicago School reserves the right to withhold a student's degree conferral if the student has an active Student Affairs Committee (SAC) referral or if the student is being investigated under the Anti-Discrimination, Anti-Harassment, and Title IX Policy, inclusive of the appeal period.

Additional Requirements

Once a degree is conferred, a student must meet the requirements below to be eligible to receive a diploma:

- Resolve all financial debts to the institution,
- Return all library books, test kits, or other school-owned materials, and
- Complete financial aid exit counseling.

Degree Conferral

A student declares their intent to graduate by submitting the online Petition for Degree Conferral within the deadlines published on the Office of the Registrar website. A degree conferral fee is assessed to degree-seeking students either at the time of petition or upon conferral if the student fails to petition.

A degree is considered earned once the degree conferral date is posted on a student's transcript. The degree conferral date will appear on the student's record no more than 15 business days after the eligible conferral date. The Chicago School confers degrees on the following days (see the Academic Calendar for specific dates):

- Official end of term/semester
- Last working day of the month, unless the month contains the end of the term/semester
- September 15

The Chicago School reserves the right to confer a degree and/or certificate for a student who meets completion requirements but fails to submit a Petition for Degree Conferral.

Applying for a Certificate or Master's Degree "Along the Way"

A student enrolled in a program that contains an embedded certificate or master's degree may be eligible to apply for conferral of the credential. Certificate or master's degree requirements are published in the Program of Study. A student should refer to the Academic Catalog year under which they enrolled to review credential requirements.

The student must submit a Petition for Degree Conferral at the beginning of the term/semester in which they expect to be eligible for the certificate or master's degree. An audit to determine eligibility will be conducted, and the credential will be conferred, if earned.

The petition must be submitted within one year of completing the final certificate or master's degree requirements. A student who files a Petition for Degree Conferral for an "along the way" master's degree is charged a fee. There is no fee for certificates.

A student who earns a master's degree "along the way" may be eligible to participate in Commencement. Additional information is available on the Community website.

Manuscript Preparation Requirements for Degree Conferral

A student engaged in manuscript preparation of their thesis or dissertation while enrolled in a corresponding extension course will have their degree conferred when manuscript preparation is completed, even if during an active term/semester. Once manuscript preparation is completed, the Office of the Registrar will be notified, the corresponding course grade will be posted, and the degree will be conferred per the schedule above.

Institutional fees apply regardless of the duration of a student's enrollment in the corresponding extension course. A student enrolled in any thesis or dissertation course who does not make timely progress as defined by the thesis or dissertation chair will be referred to the Student Affairs Committee for disciplinary action.

Accumulating Postdoctoral Hours

Information on accumulating postdoctoral hours is available from local, state, or regional licensing agencies.

Diplomas and Certificate Awards

Diplomas and certificates will be available six to eight weeks after all degree requirements have been verified by the Office of the Registrar. Expedited requests cannot be honored.

All diplomas and certificates are issued in the student's name of record with the school, and all diplomas and certificates are mailed to a student's address of record with the institution. The student is responsible for the diploma or certificate replacement cost if it carries an incorrect name or if mailed to the incorrect address. To change the name of record with The Chicago School, the student must submit a Student Personal Information Change Request form.

Diploma and Certificate Replacement

A lost or damaged diploma or certificate may be replaced for a fee. The replacement diploma or certificate will bear the signatures of current school officials but carry the original degree awarded date and degree title. The diploma or certificate will indicate that the document has been reissued. To order, a graduate must complete the Duplicate Diploma Request form. A fee is assessed at the time of order.

Good Standing

The Chicago School defines Good Standing along three dimensions - Academic and Financial Aid Good Standing, Programmatic Good Standing, and University Good Standing.

Academic and Financial Aid Good Standing

Academic and Financial Aid Good Standing is the minimum and necessary level of academic performance required of all students at The Chicago School.

- a. A graduate student is considered in good academic and financial aid standing if the student has earned a cumulative GPA of 3.0 or above. An undergraduate student is considered in good academic and financial aid standing if the student has earned a cumulative GPA of 2.0 or above.
 - i. The student must maintain the minimum cumulative grade point average to remain in this status.
 - ii. The cumulative GPA is reviewed at the end of every term/semester.
- b. A student is meeting the Rate of Progress (ROP) requirement for their program.
 - i. A student must progress to ensure degree program completion within the maximum timeframe.
 - ii. ROP is measured at the end of every term/semester.
 - iii. ROP is calculated as a period of time during which a student attempts 1.5 times the number of credit hours required to complete the program.
 - iv. For instance, if the published length of a program is 60 credit hours, then the student must complete their program by the time the student reaches 90 attempted credit hours (60 credit hours X 150% = 90 credit hours). Therefore, in order for a student to complete their program within the maximum timeframe, a student must complete a minimum of 66.67% of all credit hours attempted (60 credit hours ÷ 90 credit hours = 66.67%).
 - All credit hours attempted or transferred in from another college are considered, even for periods in which the student did not receive financial aid.
- c. A student is not on Academic and Financial Aid Warning or Academic and Financial Aid Probation.

Programmatic Good Standing

A degree program may set forth academic, ethical, and performance requirements due to licensure and accreditation standards and professional responsibility in individual disciplines. These programs may create a standard of performance referred to as Programmatic Good Standing.

- a. Programmatic Good Standing must include the above standard for Academic and Financial Aid Good Standing as the minimum for academic performance but may exceed this standard. Programmatic Good Standing may also include other metrics of performance.
- b. Programmatic Good Standing must be published by the academic department and must be clearly explained to the students in a timely and appropriate manner. All standards must be fully accessible by students, faculty, and staff.
- c. In the absence of a formal and published policy of Programmatic Good Standing, Academic and Financial Aid Good Standing shall serve as the default definition of standing for all Chicago School students.

A student who is subject to Student Affairs Committee (SAC) action or who is a responding party to an Anti-Discrimination, Anti-Harassment, and Title IX investigation is not in University Good Standing. This is inclusive of the appeal period defined by the applicable policy. The Chicago School reserves the right to withhold a student's degree conferral if the student has an active SAC referral or is being investigated under the Anti-Discrimination, Anti-Harassment, and Title IX Policy.

Enrollment Change

Degree Program or Campus Location Transfer

A student who desires to transfer to a different degree program or campus location may do so using the procedure outlined in this policy. Degree program or location transfer options are:

- Campus Location Transfer (Same Degree Program): A student who wishes to transfer to another Chicago School campus location while remaining in the same degree program.
- Degree Program Transfer (Same Degree Level): A student who wishes to transfer to a different degree program at the same degree level on the same campus.
- Degree Program and Campus Location Transfer: A student who wishes to transfer to a different degree program at the same degree level AND transfer to another campus location.
- Dual Enrollment Degree Program Transfer (Same Degree Level): A student who wishes to transfer from a Dual Enrollment Program to a non-Dual Enrollment program at the same degree level.
- Dual Degree Program Transfer (Same Degree Level): A student who wishes to transfer from a Dual Degree Program to non-Dual Degree program at the same degree level.

To qualify for degree program or campus location transfer, a student must meet all of the following requirements both at the time of the request and upon enrollment into the new degree program and/or campus location:

- Be in good Academic and Financial Aid Good Standing under SAP requirements.
- Be in Financial Good Standing.
- Meet the admission requirements of the new degree program and any affiliated campus location requirements, if transferring to a different campus location.

To initiate a degree program or campus location transfer, a student must:

- Consult with their Student Support Counselor to determine next steps based on desired program selection.
- Discuss their intent to transfer with their current Department Chair and the Department Chair of the desired program, if applicable.
- Contact the Office of Financial Aid to determine financial aid implications including program change timing considerations.
- Submit an Enrollment Change Request Form to their Student Support Counselor.

Degree programs may have different degree completion requirements, depending on campus location. A student may be required to take additional courses to satisfy the new degree program requirements. Coursework from the original degree program that applies to the new degree program will be associated, where possible. Associated coursework will be calculated into SAP. All transfer credit accepted during a student's enrollment cannot be removed from the student's permanent record, even where the transfer credit does not meet degree program requirements.

A student seeking entry into a degree program that leads to licensure or certification or a degree program that has or is seeking programmatic accreditation or specialized approval must apply through the Office of Admissions.

An International student must obtain their Designated School Official (DSO) approval to transfer degree programs or campus locations prior to submitting the Enrollment Change Request Form.

Graduate Programs: Declaring and/or Changing an Area of Focus/Study, Track, or Concentration

Some graduate programs require a student to select an area of focus/study, track, or concentration. In those programs, a student declares their area of focus/study, track, or concentration at the point of application. A student who chooses undeclared at the point of application must use the Enrollment Change Request Form when they are ready to declare their area of focus/study, track, or concentration.

A student who wishes to change their area of focus/study, track, or concentration must complete the Enrollment Change Request Form and submit it to their Student Support Counselor. Changing an area of focus/study, track, or concentration is subject to Department Chair approval and availability of courses, and it may extend the student's time to completion and increase program cost. See the Programs of Study pages for details.

Undergraduate Programs: Declaring and/or Changing a Minor

Some undergraduate programs offer optional minors. In those programs, a student may declare their minor at the point of application. A student who wishes to declare and/or change their minor after enrollment must complete the

Enrollment Change Request Form and submit it to their Student Support Counselor. Changing a minor is subject to Department Chair approval and availability of courses, and it may extend the student's time to completion and increase program cost. See the Programs of Study pages for details.

Enrollment in a New Degree Level

A student who wishes to enroll in a degree program at a different degree level (e.g., Associate to Bachelor, Bachelor to Master, Master to Bachelor, Certificate to Master, Master to Doctoral, or Doctoral to Master) must apply through the Office of Admissions.

To qualify for enrollment in a new degree level, a student must meet all of the following requirements both at the time of the request and upon enrollment into the new degree program:

- Be in good Academic and Financial Aid Good Standing under SAP requirements.
- Be in Financial Good Standing.
- Meet the admission requirements of the new degree program.

Transcripts from prior schools remain on file and need not be resubmitted, but a Chicago School transcript and other admissions documentation must be submitted as required. Documentation requirements may vary under an articulation agreement.

Once awarded, transfer credit remains on a student's permanent record and cannot be removed from the academic transcript.

Grading Policies

A student must make Satisfactory Academic Progress (SAP) toward a degree by maintaining a cumulative grade point average of 2.0 for undergraduate programs or 3.0 for graduate programs. Final grades for a term/semester in which a student has an outstanding financial balance will be withheld until the financial balance for the term/semester is paid.

All academic grades are assigned by an Instructor of Record for the Course and are noted on the student's permanent record.

Academic Grades

Academic Grades for AAS-N and VN Courses				
	Assigned by	Instructor of Record f	or the Course	
Grade	Percentage	Quality Points	Credit Earned	Classification
A	93 - 100%	4.00	Full Course Credits Earned	Excellent
В	83 - 92%	3.00	Full Course Credits Earned	Above Average
С	75 - 82%	2.00	Full Course Credits Earned	Average
F	0 - 74 %	0.00	0 Credits Earned, Does Not Count Toward Degree Requirements	Unacceptable, Failing Grade

AU	Not Applicable	Not Applicable	Not Applicable	Audit
I	Not Applicable	Not Applicable	Not Applicable	Incomplete, Temporary Grade

<u>Full Course Credits Earned</u>: This indication means that the course credits will count toward both the Earned Credits and Attempted Credits Rate of Progress Calculation. At the course level, this will equate to a 100% completion rate. See SAP for more information.

<u>0 Credits Earned</u>: This indication means that 0 credits will be counted toward the Earned Credits in the Rate of Progress Calculation, while the course credits will count toward the Attempted Credits in the Rate of Progress Calculation. At the course level, this will equate to a 0% completion rate. See SAP for more information.

<u>Audit (AU)</u>: The AU grade is assigned to a student who audits a course. This grade is not calculated into the GPA or rate of progress.

<u>Incomplete (I)</u>: The I grade is a temporary grade assigned when a student has an authorized incomplete. See the Incomplete Grade policy for more information. This grade is assigned by the instructor of record for the course and recorded by the Registrar.

	Academic Grades for Undergraduate Courses					
	Assigned by Instructor of Record for the Course					
Grade	Percentage	Quality Points	Credit Earned	Classification		
A	94 - 100%	4.00	Full Course Credits Earned	Superior		
A-	90 - 93%	3.67	Full Course Credits Earned	Outstanding		
B+	87 - 89%	3.33	Full Course Credits Earned	Very Excellent		
В	83 - 86%	3.00	Full Course Credits Earned	Excellent		
B-	80 - 82%	2.67	Full Course Credits Earned	Marginally Excellent		
C+	77 - 79%	2.33	Full Course Credits Earned	Very Satisfactory		
С	73 - 76%	2.00	Full Course Credits Earned	Satisfactory		
C-	70 - 72%	1.67	Full Course Credits Earned	Marginally Satisfactory		
D+	67 - 69%	1.33	Full Course Credits Earned	Acceptable		
D	60 - 66%	1.00	Full Course Credits Earned	Marginally Acceptable		
F	59 and below	0.00	0 Credits Earned, Does Not Count Toward Degree Requirements	Unacceptable, Failing Grade		

AU	Not Applicable	Not Applicable	Not Applicable	Audit
I	Not Applicable	Not Applicable	Not Applicable	Incomplete, Temporary Grade
IP	Not Applicable	Not Applicable	Not Applicable	In Progress, Temporary Grade

<u>Full Course Credits Earned:</u> This indication means that the course credits will count toward both the Earned Credits and Attempted Credits Rate of Progress Calculation. At the course level, this will equate to a 100% completion rate. See SAP policy for more information.

<u>0 Credits Earned:</u> This indication means that 0 credits will be counted toward the Earned Credits in the Rate of Progress Calculation, while the course credits will count toward the Attempted Credits in the Rate of Progress Calculation. At the course level, this will equate to a 0% completion rate. See SAP policy for more information.

<u>Audit (AU):</u> The AU grade is assigned to a student who audits a course. This grade is not calculated into the GPA or rate of progress.

<u>Incomplete (I)</u>: The I grade is a temporary grade assigned when a student has an authorized incomplete. See Incomplete Grade policy for more information. This grade is assigned by the instructor of record for the course and recorded by the Registrar.

<u>In Progress (IP):</u> The IP grade is a temporary grade assigned in a course that extends beyond the end of a term/semester. See In Progress Grade policy for more information.

	Academic Grades for Graduate Courses				
	Ass	igned by Instructor of	Record for the Course		
Grade	Percentage	Quality Points	Credit Earned	Classification	
A	94 - 100%	4.00	Full Course Credits Earned	Superior	
A-	90 - 93%	3.67	Full Course Credits Earned	Excellent	
B+	88 - 89%	3.33	Full Course Credits Earned	Very Satisfactory	
В	83 - 87%	3.00	Full Course Credits Earned	Satisfactory	
В-	80 - 82%	2.67	Full Course Credits Earned	Marginally Satisfactory	
С	70 - 79%	2.00	Full Course Credits Earned, Does Not Count Toward Degree Requirements	Unacceptable, Failing Grade	
F	69 and below	0.00	0 Credits Earned, Does Not Count Toward Degree Requirements	Unacceptable, Failing Grade	

CR	Not Applicable	Not Applicable	Full Course Credits Earned	Credit, Passing Grade
NC	Not Applicable	Not Applicable	0 Credits Earned, Does Not Count Toward Degree Requirements	No Credit, Failing Grade
AU	Not Applicable	Not Applicable	Not Applicable	Audit
I	Not Applicable	Not Applicable	Not Applicable	Incomplete, Temporary Grade
IP	Not Applicable	Not Applicable	Not Applicable	In Progress, Temporary Grade

<u>Full Course Credits Earned</u>: This indication means that the course credits will count toward both the Earned Credits and Attempted Credits Rate of Progress Calculation. At the course level, this will equate to a 100% completion rate. A course grade of C and below does not count toward degree requirements. Courses in which a grade of C and below is earned must be repeated or replaced. See SAP policy for more information.

<u>0 Credits Earned</u>: This indication means that 0 credits will be counted toward the Earned Credits in the Rate of Progress Calculation, while the course credits will count toward the Attempted Credits in the Rate of Progress Calculation. At the course level, this will equate to a 0% completion rate. See SAP policy for more information.

<u>Audit (AU)</u>: The AU grade is assigned to a student who audits a course. This grade is not calculated into the GPA or rate of progress.

<u>Credit (CR)</u>: The CR grade is assigned to a student who performs at a level that is marginally satisfactory (equivalent to a B- or higher grade) or has successfully completed a 0 credit course (e.g. Competency Exam, Dissertation Extension). This grade is not calculated into the GPA. It is included in the rate of progress calculation.

<u>In Progress (IP)</u>: The IP grade is a temporary grade assigned in a course that extends beyond the end of a term/semester. See In Progress Grade policy for more information.

<u>Incomplete (I)</u>: The I grade is a temporary grade assigned when a student has an authorized incomplete. See the Incomplete Grade policy for more information. This grade is assigned by the instructor of record for the course and recorded by the Registrar.

<u>No Credit (NC)</u>: The NC is assigned to a student who performs at a level below marginally satisfactory (equivalent to C and below) or who does not meet the deliverables required in a course description. This grade is not calculated into the GPA. It is included in the rate of progress calculation.

Administrative Grades

Administrative grades are issued by the Office of the Registrar. Administrative grades cannot be issued by faculty.

	Administrative Grades for AAS-N and VN Courses				
Grade	Quality Points	Credit Earned	Classification		
CE	Not Applicable	Full Course Credits Earned	Credit by Examination		

N/A	Not Applicable	0 Credits Earned	Not Applicable
TR	Not Applicable	Full Course Credits Earned	Transfer Credit
W*	Not Applicable	0 Credits Earned	Withdrawal
WF*	0.00	0 Credits Earned, Does Not Count Toward Degree Requirements	Withdrawal

^{*} Deadlines may vary. See the relevant Academic Calendar for details.

<u>Credit by Examination (CE)</u>: At the discretion of the department faculty and the approval of the Department Chair, credit by examination may be awarded for designated courses within a bachelor's program under certain circumstances. Credits earned by examination will be recorded as CE on the student's permanent record and will be counted toward the total number of credits required for the degree program. The CE grade will not impact GPA or a student's enrollment status, but it will count as credit earned and positively impact rate of progress.

<u>Not Applicable (N/A)</u>: The N/A grade is issued when a student who has posted attendance in a course drops that course during the Add/Drop period. The grade is assigned only to preserve the record of attendance and does not impact SAP. This grade does not appear on a student's official transcript.

<u>Transfer Credit (TR)</u>: The TR grade is issued to a student who receives transfer credit from an external institution. The TR grade is issued to an AAS-N or VN student who earns credit through CLEP or who is considered advanced placement. This grade is not calculated into the GPA. It is included in the rate of progress calculation.

<u>Withdrawal (W)</u>: The W grade is issued when a student drops or is administratively withdrawn from a course before the deadline as listed in the Drop/Withdrawal Schedule. This grade is not calculated into the GPA. It is included in the rate of progress calculation as credits attempted, but not earned.

<u>Withdrawal Fail (WF)</u>: The WF grade is issued when a student drops or is administratively withdrawn from a course after the deadline as listed in the Drop/Withdrawal Schedule. This grade is calculated into the GPA and rate of progress.

	Administrative Grades for Undergraduate Courses					
Grade	Quality Points	Credit Earned	Classification			
CE	Not Applicable	Full Course Credits Earned	Credit by Examination			
N/A	Not Applicable	0 Credits Earned	Not Applicable			
TR	Not Applicable	Full Course Credits Earned	Transfer Credit			
W*	Not Applicable	0 Credits Earned	Withdrawal			
WF*	0.00	0 Credits Earned, Does Not Count Toward Degree Requirements	Withdrawal			

^{*} Deadlines may vary. See the relevant Academic Calendar for details.

Definitions

<u>Credit by Examination (CE)</u>: At the discretion of the department faculty and with the approval of the Department Chair, credit by examination may be awarded for designated courses within a bachelor's program under certain circumstances. Credits earned by examination will be recorded as CE on the student's permanent record and will be counted toward the total number of credits required for the degree program. The CE grade will not impact GPA or a student's enrollment status but it will count as credit earned and positively impact rate of progress.

Not Applicable (N/A): The N/A grade is issued when a student who has posted attendance in a course drops the course during the Add/Drop period. The grade is assigned only to preserve the record of attendance and does not impact SAP. This grade does not appear on a student's official transcript.

<u>Transfer Credit (TR)</u>: The TR grade is issued to a student who receives transfer credit from an external institution. The TR grade is issued to an AAS-N or VN student who earns credit through CLEP or who is considered advanced placement. This grade is not calculated into the GPA. It is included in the rate of progress calculation.

<u>Withdrawal (W)</u>: The W grade is issued when a student drops or is administratively withdrawn from a course before the deadline as listed in the Drop/Withdrawal Schedule. This grade is not calculated into the GPA. It is included in the rate of progress calculation as credits attempted, but not earned.

<u>Withdrawal Fail (WF)</u>: The WF grade is issued when a student drops or is administratively withdrawn from a course after the deadline as listed in the Drop/Withdrawal Schedule. This grade is calculated into the GPA and rate of progress.

	Administrative Grades for Graduate Courses					
Grade	Quality Points	Credit Earned	Classification			
CE	Not Applicable	Full Course Credits Earned	Credit by Examination			
N/A	Not Applicable	0 Credits Earned	Not Applicable			
TR	Not Applicable	Full Course Credits Earned	Transfer Credit			
WA	Not Applicable	0 Credits Earned	Course Waiver			
W*	Not Applicable	0 Credits Earned	Withdrawal			
WF*	0.00	0 Credits Earned, Does Not Count Toward Degree Requirements	Withdrawal			
WNC*	Not Applicable	0 Credits Earned, Does Not Count Toward Degree Requirements	Withdrawal			

^{*} Deadlines may vary by instructional delivery modalities. See the Academic Calendar for details.

Definitions

<u>Credit by Examination (CE)</u>: At the discretion of the department faculty and the approval of the Department Chair, credit by examination may be awarded for designated courses within a master's program under certain circumstances. Credits earned by examination will be recorded as CE on the student's permanent record and will be counted toward the total number of credits required for the degree program. The CE grade will not impact GPA or a student's enrollment status but it will count as credit earned and positively impact rate of progress.

Not Applicable (N/A): The N/A grade is issued when a student who has posted attendance in a course drops that course during the Add/Drop period. The grade is assigned only to preserve the record of attendance and does not impact SAP. This grade does not appear on a student's official transcript.

<u>Transfer Credit (TR)</u>: The TR grade is issued to a student who receives transfer credit from an external institution. This grade is not calculated into the GPA. It is included in the rate of progress calculation.

<u>Withdrawal (W)</u>: The W grade is issued when a student drops or is administratively withdrawn from a course before the deadline as listed in the Drop/Withdrawal Schedule. This grade is not calculated into the GPA. It is included in the rate of progress calculation as credits attempted, but not earned.

<u>Waiver (WA)</u>: The WA grade is issued to a student who receives a waiver of a program requirement at the request of the academic department. Course waiver does not meet the credit hour requirement for any course; a student must take other courses to earn the number of credit hours required for the degree.

<u>Withdrawal Fail (WF)</u>: The WF grade is issued when a student drops or is administratively withdrawn from a course after the deadline as listed in the Drop/Withdrawal Schedule. This grade is calculated into the GPA and rate of progress.

<u>Withdrawal No Credit (WNC)</u>: The WNC grade is issued when a student drops or is administratively withdrawal from a Credit/No Credit course after the deadline as listed in the Drop/Withdrawal Schedule. This grade is not calculated into the GPA. It is included in the rate of progress calculation.

Drop/Withdrawal Schedule

15-week Semester

Drop/Withdrawal	Transcript Notation
Before Start of Semester	No record of enrollment
Week 1 of Semester	No record of enrollment
Week 2 through Week 10	"W" grade posted
Week 11 through End of Semester	"WF/WNC" grade posted

12-week Semester

Drop/Withdrawal	Transcript Notation
Before Start of Semester	No record of enrollment
Week 1 of Semester	No record of enrollment
Week 2 through Week 8	"W" grade posted
Week 9 through End of Semester	"WF/WNC" grade posted

8-week Semester (Summer Only)

Drop/Withdrawal	Transcript Notation
Before Start of Semester	No record of enrollment
Week 1 of Semester	No record of enrollment
Week 2 through Week 5	"W" grade posted
Week 6 through End of Semester	"WF/WNC" grade posted

8-week Term

Drop/Withdrawal	Transcript Notation
Before Start of Term	No record of enrollment
Week 1 of Term	No record of enrollment
Week 2 through Week 5	"W" grade posted
Week 6 through End of Term	"WF/WNC" grade posted

See the Academic Calendar for specific dates.

The Chicago School has two temporary grades - In Progress (IP) and Incomplete (I). The IP grade is a temporary grade assigned in a specific type of course that extends beyond the end of a term/semester. The I grade is a temporary grade assigned to allow a student more time to complete final course requirements in any course if the student is facing an unforeseeable and unexpected circumstance that prohibits them from being able to complete course requirements. Additional restrictions are detailed in the policy below. If either the IP grade or the I grade are not resolved by the stated deadlines, a failing grade will be assigned.

Under the SAP policy, In Progress and Incomplete grades are calculated as credits attempted, but not earned during a given term/semester. This means that these grades will count against a student's rate of progress for the purpose of determining academic progress and financial aid eligibility.

In Progress (IP) Grade

A course is not considered complete until all course requirements have been met and the final course grade has been assigned. The IP grade may be used only in practicum, internship, field experience, and study abroad courses.

A student who has completed their final term/semester in their academic program <u>must have all IP grade(s) resolved</u> <u>within 30 calendar days of the official end of the term/semester</u> as published on the Academic Calendar or be enrolled in a corresponding extension course in order to remain in Active status. A student who does not meet those requirements will be withdrawn from the institution. This rule supersedes the 12-week timeframe for practicum and internship courses described below.

Practicum and Internship Courses

A student is required to complete the following steps in order to receive a grade for practicum and/or internship:

- 1. Turn in a completed and signed Training Agreement on the Office of Placement and Training (OPT) database by the second week of the term/semester.
- 2. Submit an hour log signed by the primary supervisor by the end of each term/semester.
- 3. Submit a site supervisor evaluation.
- 4. Submit a seminar leader evaluation.
- 5. Complete a site evaluation by the end of the term/semester.
- 6. Complete a consolidated report in the OPT database.
- Submit any additional documentation required by academic department policy and/or state or governing board forms.

A student who fails to complete any of the above steps will be assigned an IP grade in the practicum and/or internship course. Following the 12 weeks of the IP grade, the grade will be changed to No Credit (NC) or Fail (F), and the student may be required to repeat the practicum or internship placement and seminar course.

A student who needs to complete practicum or internship hours to satisfy degree requirements and who will be actively engaged in training on site after the add/drop date of the subsequent term/semester must be enrolled in an extension course.

Study Abroad and Field Experience Courses

For study abroad, and field experience courses, an IP grade will be changed to a failing grade four weeks after the end of the term/semester in which the grade was assigned if the student does not submit the required course deliverables. If the student successfully completes course requirements, the instructor of record for the course must submit a grade change to the Office of the Registrar. If the student does not successfully complete course requirements, a failing grade will be assigned.

Incomplete (I) Grade

It is expected that a student will complete all coursework by the end of the term/semester in which a course is taken. In cases where a student faces an unforeseeable and unexpected circumstance that prohibits them from being able to complete final course requirements, they may request an Incomplete grade. An Incomplete grade cannot be granted as a means of extending the standard amount of time given to complete a course.

An Incomplete grade request may be initiated by a student, the instructor of record for the course, a faculty advisor, or a Department Chair. In all cases, the student must be passing the course at the time of request, and the request must be made prior to the Grades Due date for the term/semester as published on the Academic Calendar. Where initiated by the instructor of record for the course, faculty advisor, or Department Chair, the student must agree to the Incomplete grade in writing prior to the grade being awarded.

An instructor of record for the course is not required to grant a request for an Incomplete grade. In considering the request, an instructor of record for the course determines what work will be required to resolve the Incomplete grade. Alternative assignments may be required in lieu of final group projects or peer-dependent activities.

If approved, an Incomplete Grade Request form must be submitted to the Office of the Registrar by the Grades Due date as published on the Academic Calendar. Note that this date occurs before the Official End of Term/Semester. The Incomplete grade is recorded by the Registrar.

The student will receive written instructions for completing final course requirements from the instructor of record for the course. For semester-based courses, the deadline for completion of all outstanding coursework must be seven or more calendar days before the Add/Drop deadline of the subsequent semester. For term-based courses, the deadline for completion of all outstanding coursework may not extend beyond the Wednesday of Week 1 of the subsequent term.

Once final coursework is evaluated, the instructor of record for the course must submit a Grade Change Request to the Office of the Registrar by the Add/Drop deadline of the subsequent term/semester. A failing grade will be assigned in the course if either the student fails to complete all final course requirements or the instructor of record for the course fails to submit the Grade Change Request by the deadline.

A student carrying an Incomplete grade into a subsequent term/semester may proceed with taking courses. However, if the course for which the Incomplete grade was issued is a prerequisite for a subsequent course(s), the requisite course cannot be taken until the Incomplete grade is resolved.

A student that is called into active duty by the U.S. Military or National Guard or who is experiencing economic hardship as a result of war, military operation, state or national emergency should consult the Military Leave of Absence Policy for guidance on coursework.

Course Final Grade Appeal

A student who desires to appeal a course final grade must do so by the deadlines stated in this policy. A course final grade may be appealed only when the grading criteria stated in the course syllabus and/or this Catalog have not been followed. A student must be able to present clear evidence of the misapplication of published grading criteria to have a course final grade appeal considered.

A change to a course final grade may be approved only by the instructor of record for the course who assigned the grade, a student's home Department Chair, or a committee of faculty selected by the Department Chair.

Informal Appeal

The student is required to appeal to the instructor of record for the course prior to submitting a formal appeal. A student is advised to initiate the course final grade appeal process as soon as the grade is posted. If a resolution cannot be reached through informal appeal, the student must complete the formal appeal process below.

Formal Appeal

The student is required to submit a completed Grade Appeal Request form by the deadlines below.

- Course Final Grade: To formally appeal a course final grade, a student must complete and submit a Grade
 Appeal Request form as soon as possible and no later than Monday of Week 1 of the term/semester
 immediately following the one in which the grade in question was earned. A formal appeal received after
 Monday of Week 1 will not be considered.
- 2. Course Final Grade earned via resolution of an Incomplete (I) Grade:
 - a. Semester-Based Student: A semester-based student must submit a completed Grade Appeal Request form as soon as possible and no later than Friday of Week 1 of the semester immediately following the one in which the grade in question was earned.
 - b. Term-Based Student: A term-based student must submit a completed Grade Appeal Request form as soon as possible and no later than Monday of Week 2 of the term immediately following the one in which the grade in question was earned.
- 3. <u>Course Final Grade earned via resolution of an In Progress (IP) Grade</u>: A student must submit a completed Grade Appeal Request form by the end of the term/semester immediately following the one in which the course was taken.

<u>Procedure</u>: The home Department Chair will make a decision on a formal appeal within four business days. They will attempt to resolve the appeal by consulting with the instructor of record for the course who assigned the course final grade and with the appealing student. It may also include a review of the appeal by another Department Chair or committee of faculty. If a decision on the appeal cannot be determined, the home Department Chair will consult with the Responsible Leader to formally review the grade appeal and make a decision.

<u>Notification</u>: Once a decision is made, the Department Chair will inform the instructor of record for the course and the student of the appeal outcome and return the finalized Grade Appeal Request form to the Office of the Registrar. The decision of the Department Chair is final and cannot be appealed.

Grade Change

A change to a posted course final grade assigned by a faculty member may be approved by the instructor of record for the course, Department Chair, or faculty committee appointed by a Department Chair. A posted course final grade may be considered for change under the following conditions:

- To correct an administrative error.
- To correct a calculation error.
- To change a temporary grade to a final grade.

A grade change form must be submitted by the Add/Drop deadline one semester for semester-based courses or two terms for term-based courses after the original course final grade was posted. For example, if a course final grade is awarded at the end of the fall semester/fall II term, a grade change form will be accepted until the Add/Drop deadline of the subsequent summer semester for semester-based courses or summer I term for term-based courses.

The Grade Change timeline does not apply to comprehensive exam courses, training courses (practicum and internship), and research project courses.

Grade Point Average (GPA)

The GPA is determined by dividing the total number of quality points earned by the total number of credit hours attempted. All quality points earned are counted equally on a 4.0 scale.

Calculating the GPA

- Multiply the point value of the letter grade by the number of credit hours. The result is the quality points earned.
- 2. Total the credit hours for the term/semester. Total the quality points for the term/semester.
- 3. Divide the total quality points by the total credit hours.

Repeating a Course

Failed Courses

A student who earns a failing grade in a course is required to repeat or replace the course as failing grades do not meet degree requirements.

- Undergraduate Courses: Courses in which grades of F, W, and WF are earned must be repeated or replaced.
- Graduate Courses: Courses in which grades of C, F, NC, W, WF and WNC are earned must be repeated or replaced.

The repeated failed course should be attempted when the next course offering is available. When the course is successfully completed, the new course grade will be computed in the CGPA; the quality points for the original grade will no longer be computed in the CGPA but will count toward credits attempted thereby affecting SAP. All final grades remain in the student's record and appear on the official transcript.

See the Financial Aid Eligibility for Repeated Courses policy for financial aid information.

Passed Courses

A student who earns a passing grade in a course may repeat the course one time with Department Chair approval and in one of the following circumstances:

- Improve a Course Final Grade: A student may be eligible to repeat a passed course if a higher grade is needed to meet degree conferral requirements, i.e. meeting Satisfactory Academic Progress standards.
- Satisfy Licensure Requirements: A student may be eligible to repeat a course needed for licensure in which a higher grade is required by the licensing agency or entity.
- Advance a Research Project: A student may be eligible to repeat a passed research extension course.
 Research extension courses include dissertation, thesis, or a thesis-like project such as an applied research project.
- Complete a Training Experience: A student may be eligible to repeat a required training course if necessary to complete a training experience.

The repeated passed course counts toward half-time or fulltime enrollment status only once. The new course grade will be computed in the CGPA; the quality points for the original grade will no longer be computed in the CGPA but will count toward credits attempted thereby affecting SAP. All final grades remain in the student's record and appear on the official transcript.

See the Financial Aid Eligibility for Repeated Courses policy for financial aid information.

The Chicago School has two types of research project courses:

- Required dissertation, thesis, applied research project, and advanced applied project courses, e.g. Dissertation I, Thesis II, Advanced Applied Project I, Advanced Research Project II.
- Research Extension Courses, e.g. Dissertation Extension, Thesis Extension, Project Extension.

A student may work on research project course deliverables when they are actively enrolled (not on Leave of Absence or Withdrawn) regardless of the type of course in which they are enrolled.

A student enrolled in a Research Extension Course must work with their research project chair or instructor to complete a Work Agreement for the course. If the student completes the deliverables listed in the Work Agreement, they will receive a CR grade in the Research Extension Course. If the student does not complete the deliverables listed in the Work Agreement, they will receive a NC grade in the extension course.

A student who meets the deliverable requirements of a required research project course after one failed attempt will receive a grade change for the required research project course. The academic department must submit a Grade Change Request to the Office of the Registrar to update the grade in the required research project course. In this circumstance, the one semester/two term grade change deadline is not applicable.

Leave of Absence (LOA)

A student is required to maintain continuous enrollment as defined in the Continuous Enrollment policy. A student who experiences an unforeseeable and unexpected circumstance that necessitates a break in enrollment may consider either LOA or withdrawal from the institution.

Should study be interrupted between terms/semesters or before the Add/Drop deadline of a term/semester, LOA may be considered. LOA allows a student to return to the same degree program under the requirements in effect when LOA began. LOA is granted only between terms/semesters or before the Add/Drop deadline of any term/semester. A LOA will not be granted after the Add/Drop deadline of an active term/semester.

An unforeseeable and unexpected circumstance is defined as a significant change in the student's health (severe illness or injury), financial situation, employment, or urgent personal matter. Course unavailability does not constitute an unforeseeable and unexpected circumstance so does not qualify a student for LOA. See the Withdrawal policy for information on a temporary withdrawal related to course unavailability.

The duration of LOA may not exceed 180 calendar days in any 12-month period. For this reason, students are limited to taking two terms/one semester of LOA in any 12-month period. A term-based student who desires an additional term of LOA must contact their Student Support Counselor for eligibility. A student is eligible for a maximum of six terms/three semesters of LOA over the duration of a degree program assuming all conditions set forth in this policy are

Failure to return to active status at the conclusion of LOA will result in administrative withdrawal from the school. Upon withdrawal, the grace period for a federal student loan recipient will begin with the last date of attendance recorded at the school prior to LOA.

Should study be interrupted during an active term/semester after the Add/Drop deadline, withdrawal from the institution may be requested. A withdrawn student may return to the institution following the guidelines in the Returning Students policy. See the Military Leave of Absence policy for information on service-related leave.

Eligibility for LOA

A student must work with their Student Support Counselor to determine their eligibility for LOA. A student must:

- Experience an unforeseeable and unexpected circumstance that leads to a significant change as described above:
- Expect to return from LOA for a subsequent term/semester that falls within the timeframe outlined above;
- Be in Academic and Financial Aid Good Standing per the Satisfactory Academic Progress (SAP) policy. A student who is not meeting SAP is not eligible for LOA;
- Be in Programmatic Good Standing per the Good Standing policy, if applicable;
- Meet with the Office of Financial Aid regarding financial impact;
- Clear any financial account hold, if applicable. A student with a financial account hold is not eligible for LOA;
- Be cleared of any disciplinary action, if applicable. A student with a pending Student Affairs Committee (SAC) hearing is not eligible for LOA;
- Have earned credit hours toward a degree requirement in at least two terms or one semester.

Requesting LOA

Before petitioning, a student considering LOA is strongly encouraged to consult with their Department Chair or faculty advisor to understand any programmatic impact. An international student in F-1 or J-1 status must consult with the Designated School Official (DSO) to understand the impact of a LOA on immigration status. A student engaged in practicum or internship is strongly advised to confer with the practicum or internship coordinator to understand any training implications.

To request LOA, a student must:

- Work with their SSC to complete the Leave of Absence Request in full, including obtaining all required signatures;
- Clearly state the unforeseeable and unexpected circumstance(s) for LOA and provide documentation that substantiates circumstance(s). The school may request additional information prior to evaluating a student's request;
- Specify the expected term/semester of return;
- Submit the completed document to the Office of the Registrar prior to the Add/Drop deadline of the requested term/semester.

Retroactive LOA is not permitted. Upon approval of LOA, the Office of the Registrar will unregister the student from all scheduled courses, if applicable. Submission of an Add/Drop form is not required.

A student on LOA is bound by The Chicago School's Code of Conduct and must adhere to the same professional standards as an active student. LOA does not extend the seven academic year degree completion timeframe for a PsyD in Clinical Psychology student.

Military Leave of Absence

Military Leave of Absence (MLOA) provides a no-penalty, time-unrestricted leave of absence for affected individuals, their spouses and dependents. MLOA provides relief of student charges based upon deployment notification and financial aid sources.

Affected individuals include the following, as well as their spouses and dependents:

- Active duty military personnel serving during a war, military operation, state or national emergency.
- Members of the National Guard performing a qualifying duty (e.g. called to active service by the Governor, President, Secretary of Defense for a period of more than 30 consecutive days) during a war, military operation, state or national emergency.
- Service Members who suffer economic hardship as a result of a war, military operation, state or national emergency.

A student who is called to active military duty should promptly notify the Office of the Registrar in writing via the Leave of Absence request form, including submitting the military orders with departure date. If military orders are classified and cannot be shared, a letter from the commanding officer regarding the date of deployment and confidentiality status will be accepted. MLOA does not count against program time to completion; however, repayment of Federal Financial Aid may be required after 180 days have expired. MLOA is available to a student who is deployed regardless of the student's SAP status.

If the student withdraws from current courses on or before week 5 of an 8-week term or on or before week 10 for a 15-week semester, the student will receive a full refund of tuition and fees, and be removed from all courses in progress, thereby removing them from the student's record. If the student withdraws from current courses on or after week 6 of an 8-week term or on or after week 11 of a 15-week semester, the student will receive full credit with grades earned at the time of MLOA. If a course relies on a final project and/or examination to determine satisfactory performance, no credit will be granted until all required work is completed. A student taking online courses may continue to be enrolled in those courses, if possible. A student wanting to complete their courses via independent study may do so with the consent of the instructor of record for the course(s).

Manuscript Preparation

A student who is required to write a thesis or dissertation must complete manuscript preparation (formerly copyediting). Documents are reviewed for APA format and grammar only. Thesis or dissertation contents are not reviewed.

Completion and approval of a dissertation by dissertation committee members is a requirement for graduation and receipt of the doctoral degree. Completion and approval of a thesis is a requirement for receipt of selected master's degrees. Before beginning manuscript preparation, a student must ensure that their manuscript contains all required components and revisions.

A student must remain continuously enrolled in their degree program throughout the manuscript preparation process. The manuscript preparation process takes on average 60 business days. The duration of the process is dependent on the timeliness of student response to feedback.

To initiate the manuscript preparation process, an academic department representative submits the Manuscript Preparation Tracking Form to Maxient. Once the tracking form is received, a student must submit their document to ProQuest.

A student will be enrolled in a manuscript preparation course if **both** of the following conditions are met:

- They do not complete manuscript preparation and submit their final document to ProQuest while enrolled in a dissertation course.
- 2. They are not enrolled in any other course(s).

A student enrolled in a manuscript preparation course will be assigned a Credit (CR) grade if their finalized document is submitted to ProQuest by the end of the term/semester. If the document is not submitted to ProQuest by the end of the term/semester, the student will be assigned a No Credit (NC) grade in the manuscript preparation course. A student's grade in the manuscript preparation course is assigned by the Manuscript Preparation Office.

A student who earns a NC grade will be required to enroll in a manuscript preparation course in the subsequent term/semester. A student who submits their final document to ProQuest prior to the Add/Drop deadline of the subsequent term/semester will have their most recent manuscript preparation course grade changed from NC to CR and will not be required to complete a subsequent manuscript preparation course. The Manuscript Preparation Office manages grade changes for students who complete the manuscript preparation process prior to the Add/Drop deadline of the subsequent term/semester.

Additional information is available on the Dissertation & Thesis Website.

Posthumous Degree

The Chicago School may grant a degree posthumously to recognize the achievement of a deceased student. A request for a posthumously-awarded degree must originate with the deceased's Department Chair and be submitted in writing to the Office of the Vice President of Academic Affairs.

The request should describe the deceased's academic standing and progress in the program at the time of passing. To be considered for a posthumous degree, the deceased student must have been:

- In the final stage of the degree program (e.g. completing the thesis or dissertation, practicum or internship, a final program capstone, or in the final term/semester of study as determined by the academic department);
- Expected to successfully complete all degree requirements;
- In good academic, disciplinary, and programmatic standing; and
- Enrolled at time of passing or on an approved leave of absence.

The Chief Academic Officer or designee will be responsible for evaluating the request against the criteria above in consultation with the Office of the Registrar. If the request is granted, the Office of the Registrar will be notified.

Registration

Continuous Enrollment

Continuous enrollment is defined as registration during each term or semester until the degree is attained or the student is withdrawn. A student is considered continuously enrolled when they are enrolled in a current course or when they are enrolled in a course that is scheduled to start in the subsequent academic period. If a student fails to commence the scheduled course by the Add/Drop deadline, they are no longer considered continuously enrolled and will be administratively withdrawn. If a student is not continuously enrolled, the student's status will be Withdrawn, and this status will be reported to external agencies as mandated by federal, state, or other regulatory bodies.

A student must be registered to attend classes. This includes a student with a registration hold for items including but not limited to a student account balance, admission contingencies, and library fines. All holds must be cleared prior to course registration.

A student may enroll at either their home campus (the location at which they are regularly enrolled) or a host campus (another Chicago School location or an institution with which Chicago School has an approved Dual Degree program). A student who is enrolled in a Dual Degree program must maintain continuous enrollment in at least one of the two academic programs in an academic period. A student taking courses in at least one of the Dual Degree programs is considered Active in both programs.

A student whose final degree program requirement is completion of practicum or internship must be enrolled in a corresponding course while actively engaged in training. A student whose final degree program requirement is a research project must be enrolled in a corresponding course.

Summer course schedules may vary by academic program. See the Academic Calendar for details.

Registration Procedure

Ground Programs: A student enrolled at a ground campus must self-register for courses during the designated registration period published on the Academic Calendar. Failure to do so may result in a late registration fee or administrative withdrawal. Courses are available on a first-come, first-served basis. Wait lists for closed courses are not maintained.

A student will be notified of their designated registration date(s) and times. A student may register for courses or modify their course schedule during the registration period. The registration period ends on the Sunday before the academic period begins at which time the Add/Drop period begins. See below for information on Add/Drop.

Information on registration for a new student is contained in the degree program Welcome Letter. The new student must register for courses in the Student Portal. A new student admitted during the Add/Drop period may work with Admissions to obtain the approval of the Department Chair to register for courses.

AAS-N and VN Programs: A student enrolled in the AAS-N or VN program is registered by the institution. Questions about registration may be directed to the Student Support Counselor.

Online Programs: A student enrolled in an online program is registered by the institution. The student is registered multiple terms in advance, and the course schedule is available in the Student Portal. A new student who is admitted during the Add/Drop period may need approval from the Department Chair or designee for registration.

Add/Drop

The Add/Drop period begins on the first day of the academic period and ends on the first Sunday of the academic period at 11:59pm local time. For new students, the Add/Drop period is the cancellation period.

During the Add/Drop period, a student may add or remove courses from the course schedule. Department Chair or designee approval is required to add courses during the Add/Drop period. A student may request to add or drop a course by completing and submitting the Add/Drop Form prior to the Add/Drop deadline. An Add/Drop fee may apply. After the Add/Drop deadline, courses may not be added to the course schedule.

After the Add/Drop deadline, a student who wishes to drop a course must complete and submit the Add/Drop Form. A student who drops a course after the Add/Drop deadline will receive a grade per the Administrative Grade policy. Dropping a course after the Add/Drop deadline may result in a prorated refund of tuition and may have financial aid implications. Contact Financial Aid for information prior to dropping a course after the Add/Drop deadline.

When a student withdraws, takes LOA, or is dismissed from the school, the Office of the Registrar will remove the student from their course(s) and assign administrative grades per the Drop/Withdrawal Schedule, where applicable. When a student withdraws, takes LOA, or is dismissed, they are not required to submit an Add/Drop Form. If the student is a financial aid recipient, being withdrawn or dismissed from the institution before 60% of the academic period has expired will result in a Return of Title IV funds calculation. This calculation will determine the percentage of the financial aid award earned and may result in returning funds to the student's lender. Such action may cause the student to owe a balance to the institution.

While every effort is made to ensure courses are offered frequently, course availability varies. Deviation from the standard progression of a program such as dropping a course, repeating a course, taking LOA, or reducing enrollment credit hours may result in an academic period when a needed course is not available. In such cases, a student will be

required to follow the Temporary Withdrawal policy. This may delay a student's graduation and impact their financial aid eligibility.

A student who drops all courses will be administratively withdrawn from the institution. If the student is a financial aid recipient, being withdrawn from the institution before 60% of the term/semester has expired will result in a Return of Title IV funds calculation. This calculation will determine the percentage of the financial aid award earned and may result in returning funds to the student's lender. Such action may cause the student to owe a balance to the institution.

Course Auditing

To audit a course, a student registers for the course as if taken for credit. After registering, the student must request to audit using the Add/Drop Form, being certain to identify the course(s) to be taken as an auditor. The student must obtain the approval of the Department Chair and submit the form by the Add/Drop deadline. Failure to follow this procedure will result in earning a grade in the course.

The faculty determines participation requirements for a course auditor. Any course that a student has previously identified as an audit course may not be changed to a credit-bearing course after the Add/Drop deadline. Any course identified as a credit-bearing course may not be changed as an audit course after the Add/Drop deadline.

No credit hours are earned from an audited course, and audited courses are not computed in the grade point average. Students who successfully complete an audited course are assigned the "AU" grade notation. An audited course does not count toward continuous enrollment and is not eligible for financial aid. A student enrolled in a certificate program may not audit courses. Study abroad courses are not eligible for auditing. Information on audit fees is available here.

Cross Registration

Cross Campus or Modality

A student may take a degree-required course on a different campus or in a different modality on a space available basis. To request approval for cross-campus or modality registration, the student must consult with their Department Chair. If the Department Chair supports the student's request, the student will work with their Student Support Counselor to complete and submit the Cross Campus Registration form prior to the Add/Drop deadline. A student enrolled at a California campus need not submit a Cross Campus Registration form to take a course at a different California location.

If the course meets a degree program requirement, it may be eligible for financial aid. If it does not meet a degree program requirement, it will not be eligible for financial aid.

Cross Program

A student may take a course in a different degree program on a space available basis. To request approval for cross-program registration, the student must consult with their Department Chair. If the Department Chair supports the student's request, the student will work with their Student Support Counselor to complete and submit the Course Substitution Petition prior to the Add/Drop deadline.

If the course meets a degree program requirement, it may be eligible for financial aid. If it does not meet a degree program requirement, it will not be eligible for financial aid.

Course Substitution

Course substitution may be available to a student who desires to take a course outside of the published program of study. A student works with their Faculty Advisor to select courses and to complete the Course Substitution Petition. If

the course meets a degree program requirement, it may be eligible for financial aid. If it does not meet a degree program requirement, it will not be eligible for use in a student's financial aid award calculation. Department Chair approval is required before registration is permitted.

Course Waiver

Course waiver provides an opportunity for a student in selected graduate degree-granting programs to have a selected course waived based on department acceptance of course content mastery. Course waiver may be available to a student in selected programs who provides documented evidence of specific competency attainment gained outside of traditional coursework such as through employment, specialized training, or licensure. Course waiver is not granted for training or research project courses. A student who believes they may be eligible for course waiver must make the request for waiver to their academic department.

The decision to grant waiver rests solely with the academic department. A waived course will be posted to the student's transcript after the student remains enrolled past the Add/Drop deadline. Should an approved course waiver result in a schedule change after the Add/Drop deadline, the student will be held to the refund schedule.

Course waiver does not reduce the overall number of credit hours required for degree completion. A student who waives a course must replace the credit hours with other Chicago School courses either within or outside of the enrolled program of study. A student may request to take courses in another Chicago School degree program via the Course Substitution Petition.

Study Abroad

A study abroad course may be used to meet a degree requirement if it is listed in the enrolled degree program, fulfills an elective requirement, or is approved as a substitution for a required course in the enrolled degree program. If it is determined that the study abroad course meets a degree requirement, it may be eligible for financial aid. If the study abroad course does not meet a degree requirement, it will not be eligible for financial aid.

To register for a study abroad course, the student must complete the Course Substitution Petition, obtain the Department Chair's approval, and submit the form to the Student Support Counselor. Upon approval, the student will be registered in the Study Abroad course, and the student's record will reflect the approved substitution.

Approval of a course substitution does not confirm a student's eligibility or enrollment in the course. A student must apply through International Programs and Services to be considered for and enrolled in a study abroad course. Click on this link for detailed information.

Late Registration Fee for Continuing Students

A late registration fee may be charged to a student whose initial registration activity occurs during the Add/Drop Period.

Research Extension Courses

A student completing a research project including a dissertation, thesis, applied research project, or advanced applied project may be enrolled in a corresponding Research Extension Course. A Research Extension Course increases a student's time to completion and cost of attendance and may be used only when necessary for the purposes described in this policy. A Research Extension Course may be used to maintain continuous registration for the purpose of completion a research project.

A student may only be enrolled in a Research Extension Course for one of the following purposes:

1. To provide an opportunity for a student to prepare academically before enrolling in a required research project course as deemed necessary by the academic department.

To allow a student to successfully complete course requirements after one failed attempt of a required research project course.

Select academic programs have designated specific research extension courses that are associated with corresponding required research project courses.

Alternative Registration (SAL)

Student-at-Large (SAL)

A SAL is a visiting student enrolled in courses outside of a certificate or degree program enrollment. A SAL is subject to department approval. Information on SAL enrollment is available from the Office of Admissions at 800.721.8072.

A SAL is required to provide an unofficial transcript documenting degree(s) earned and date(s) conferred to prove that they meet prerequisite requirements for the course(s) in which they desire to enroll. A SAL may complete a maximum of six credit hours of study with The Chicago School (maximum three credit hours per term/six credit hours per semester). A SAL who wishes to enroll in more than three credit hours per term/six credit hours per semester must have written approval from the Department Chair.

A SAL enrollment does not qualify for any enrollment status. A SAL is not eligible to audit courses. A SAL is not eligible for financial aid.

Student-at-Large - Preparatory (SAL-Prep)

A SAL-Prep is a student who must complete coursework prior to enrollment in their selected certificate or degree program as specified by their program's admission requirements. Information on SAL-Prep enrollment is available from the Office of Admissions at 800.721.8072.

A SAL-Prep enrollment may qualify a student for financial aid. Information on aid eligibility is available from Student Finance at 800.595.6938, Option 2.

Returning Students

Readmission

A former student who aims to return to The Chicago School 365 or more days after the date of withdrawal must reapply to the university. The former student must indicate a past academic history on the admission application. If readmitted, the student will return in the same Satisfactory Academic Progress status that was in effect on the date of withdrawal. Readmission is not guaranteed.

A former student must meet all admission, Academic Catalog, and degree requirements in effect at the time of reapplication. The former student must reapply through the Office of Admissions. This policy applies to all degree programs in all instructional delivery modalities. All holds must be resolved prior to registering for courses. All holds must be resolved prior to registering for courses. See the Registration policy for more information.

A former student who returns to the school 364 or fewer days after the date of withdrawal is governed by the Reentry policy.

Readmission of Dismissed Students

A former student in dismissal status may not return to The Chicago School until 365 or more days after the date of dismissal have passed. This applies to a former student dismissed due to not meeting all Satisfactory Academic Progress standards or due to a disciplinary action. The former student must indicate a past academic history on the admission application. Readmission is not guaranteed.

As part of the re-application process, a former student in dismissal status must submit supporting documentation that includes:

- 1. An explanation for previous unsatisfactory academic performance including any mitigating circumstances;
- 2. Evidence of the ability to succeed academically including new professional experience(s) or changed personal circumstances, and
- 3. Official documentation of any coursework completed while in dismissal status.

This documentation and the past academic history will be reviewed in considering the application for readmission. The passage of time alone does not substantiate eligibility for readmission or appeal for readmission. A former student in dismissal status is not eligible for auto admission.

If the former student is accepted by the admission committee of the desired department, the Department Chair will have the opportunity to review the admission file and render an independent decision. An offer of admission may be rescinded should it be discovered that a former student provided fraudulent information on the admission application.

Upon approval for readmission to the school, the student must work with the Department Chair and the Office of the Registrar to create a SAP Plan that will ensure the timely return to Good Standing, if followed. A former student who returns from a Student Affairs Committee (SAC) dismissal must work with the Department Chair to create an Academic Development Plan (ADP) to ensure academic success in the program.

A former student who was previously in Academic and Financial Aid Dismissal or Academic and Financial Aid Probation status who is re-admitted to the school will be placed on Academic and Financial Aid Probation and must follow the SAP Plan. If the student fails to meet the SAP Plan or SAP standards at the end of the Academic and Financial Aid Probation period, the student will be dismissed.

A former student dismissed from The Chicago School due to exceeding the Maximum Timeframe (MTF) for the enrolled program may not return to the same degree program.

Readmission of Military Service Members

In compliance with criteria established by the Higher Education Opportunity Act of 2008, a student whose absence from school is necessitated by reason of service in the uniformed services shall be entitled to readmission at the same academic status attained prior to such service provided the student (or an appropriate officer of the Armed Forces) gives advance notice of such service to the Office of the Registrar and the cumulative length of the absence and of all previous absences by reason of service in the uniformed services does not exceed five (5) years.

However, no advance notice is required if the giving of such notice is precluded by military necessity such as a mission, operation, exercise, or requirement that is classified; or a pending or ongoing mission, operation, exercise, or requirement that may be compromised or otherwise adversely affected by public knowledge.

These readmission requirements apply to a student who performs service in the uniformed services, whether voluntary or involuntary, in the Armed Forces, including service as a member of the National Guard or Reserve, on active duty, active duty for training, or fulltime National Guard duty under Federal authority (but not State authority), for a period of more than 30 consecutive days under a call or order to active duty of more than 30 consecutive days.

In order for a service member to qualify for these benefits by reason of service, a student must submit appropriate documentation to the school. Documents that might establish service member eligibility include but are not limited to:

• DD214 Certificate of Release or Discharge from Active Duty.

- Copy of duty orders prepared by the facility where the orders were fulfilled carrying an endorsement indicating completion of the described service.
- Letter from the commanding officer of a Personnel Support Activity or someone of comparable authority.
- Certificate of completion from military training school.
- Discharge certificate showing character of service.
- Copy of extracts from payroll documents showing periods of service.
- Letter from National Disaster Medical System (NDMS) Team Leader or Administrative Officer verifying dates and times of NDMS training or Federal activation.

If the student is readmitted to the same degree program, the student will be assessed <u>for the first academic year only</u> the same tuition and fee charges that the student was or would have been assessed for the academic year during which the student left the institution.

If the student is admitted to a different degree program and for subsequent academic years for a student admitted to the same program, the student will be assessed no more than the tuition and fee charges that other students in the program are assessed for that academic year.

Reentry

A reentry student is an individual who returns to their original Chicago School degree program 364 or fewer days after the date of withdrawal. Reentry is not guaranteed.

A reentry student must meet admission requirements that were in effect for the degree program in the Academic Catalog under which they were originally admitted. The reentry student will be required to complete all degree program requirements in effect at the time of withdrawal. A former student may request reentry through the Student Support Counselor.

A former student who returns to the school 365 or more days after the date of withdrawal or who aims to return but in a different degree program should refer to the Readmission policy.

A reentry student must submit the Reentry Petition, including the Reentry Letter of Intent. The Department Chair will review the Reentry Petition and Reentry Letter of Intent and consider previous performance in the degree program to make a decision on the request.

A student in temporary withdrawal status due to course unavailability will be reentered automatically. A student in temporary withdrawal status due to a significant change in their life should contact their Student Support Counselor regarding return.

If approved, the student will return to the same Satisfactory Academic Progress status in effect on the date of withdrawal. This policy applies to all degree programs in all instructional delivery modalities. All holds must be resolved prior to registering for courses. See the Registration policy for more information.

California Graduate Institute of The Chicago School

The Chicago School acquired the assets of the California Graduate Institute in 2008 and acts as the custodian of all CGI Westwood and CGI Irvine student records for any student who received a degree or became inactive prior to October 7, 2008.

Effective June 1, 2011, a former student of CGI who has not been actively enrolled at The Chicago School is eligible to apply only to programs being offered to new students. Details on current program offerings are available through the Office of Admissions.

Should a currently active CGI of TCS student be withdrawn from The Chicago School for any reason, the student may apply to reenter the enrolled degree program at the time of withdrawal once following the procedure outlined under Reentry above. If approved for reentry, stipulations will be placed upon the resumed enrollment which may include but

are not limited to assignment of an Academic Development Plan, a mandatory completion timeframe, and the requirement of maintaining continuous enrollment through degree completion while remaining in academic and programmatic good standing.

Failure to meet any stipulation determined at the point of reentry will result in dismissal from the institution. This policy may not be excepted.

International Students

Per U.S. immigration regulations, a former F-1 or J-1 international student has five (5) months from the SEVIS termination date to reenter a degree program and, thereby, reactivate their original immigration record. A former international student who wishes to return to The Chicago School after 5 months must reapply through the Office of International Admissions.

A former international student who wishes to return to The Chicago School after 5 months must meet all admission and Academic Catalog requirements in effect at the time of reapplication. If accepted, the international student must complete all degree requirements in effect at the time of readmission. All holds must be resolved prior to registering for courses. See the Registration policy for more information.

Note that returning to study in a new enrollment may delay an international student's eligibility for work authorization (CPT or OPT).

Satisfactory Academic Progress

A student is required to maintain Satisfactory Academic Progress (SAP) toward the completion of a degree or certificate. It is measured to ensure that a student is making satisfactory academic progress toward program completion. A student who meets SAP is considered to be in Academic and Financial Aid Good Standing.

A student enrolled in a Dual Degree program will be subject to the Satisfactory Academic Progress requirements for terms/semesters attended.

This SAP policy meets federal and accrediting agency regulations governing student eligibility for financial aid. This requirement applies to all students regardless of method of payment or enrollment status. Failure to meet SAP standards may result in the loss of financial aid eligibility.

SAP is measured qualitatively (grade-based) and quantitatively (time-based). The qualitative measure is cumulative grade point average. The quantitative measure is the percentage of attempted credit hours that are successfully completed which is rate of progress (ROP). A student must complete the required credit hours for the program of study within the maximum allowable credit hours attempted (150% of the required credit hours), referred to as the maximum time frame (MTF).

SAP Standards

Qualitative Standards

Cumulative Grade Point Average (CGPA)

The CGPA, the qualitative standard, includes all undergraduate and graduate level coursework attempted at The Chicago School except grades of Audit (AU), Credit (CR), Credit by Exam (CE), Course Waiver (WA), In Progress (IP), Incomplete (I), No Credit (NC), Transfer Credit (TR), Withdrawal (W), and Withdrawal No Credit (WNC), where applicable per the Grading Policies. Only the latter grade is counted in the CGPA for any repeated course.

• An undergraduate student must maintain a CGPA of 2.00 or above.

• A graduate student must maintain a CGPA of 3.00 or above.

Quantitative Standards

Rate of Progress (ROP)

ROP is the minimum percentage of attempted credit hours a student must successfully complete to remain in Academic & Financial Aid Good Standing. A student successfully completes a course and earns the credit hours attempted when the student's performance merits a passing grade. ROP is calculated by dividing the number of credit hours earned by the number of credit hours attempted.

Rate of Progress = Cumulative number of credit hours successfully completed / Cumulative number of credit hours attempted

Attempted credit hours is defined as all courses attempted at The Chicago School and recorded in the student's record including course repeats, withdrawals, and incompletes. Credits accepted and applied in transfer count as both credit hours attempted and credit hours completed in the ROP calculation. Grades that negatively impact ROP are Fail (F), Incomplete (I), No Credit (NC), Withdrawal (W), Withdrawal Fail (WF), and Withdrawal No Credit (WNC). Repeated courses negatively impact ROP since the original and repeated credit hours are counted as attempted credit hours. Grades included in the ROP calculation appear in the Grading Policies.

All undergraduate, graduate, and certificate students (excluding VN students) must maintain a minimum of 66.67% ROP for all attempted credit hours. A VN student is evaluated based on the progress tiers in the table below.

VN: Rate of Progress Tiers

Evaluation Point	ROP Required
End of Term 1	50%
End of Term 2	58%
End of Term 3	62%
End of Term 4	67%
End of any subsequent term up to 150%	67%

Maximum Timeframe (MTF)

MTF requires the successful completion of all program requirements within 150% of the published program length as measured in credit hours attempted for the program of study. Credit hours accepted and applied in transfer toward a current enrollment are included as attempted and earned credit hours in determining the MTF. A student's progress must ensure program completion within the MTF.

The number of credit hours required for program completion appear in the programs of study descriptions.

- Program length is measured based on required credit hours; therefore, a student may not attempt more than 150% of the number of required credit hours in the degree program.
 - For example, a degree program that requires 60 credit hours for completion may not extend beyond 90 attempted credit hours (60 credit hours X 150% = 90 credit hours). In order for the degree

program to be completed within the MTF, the student must complete a minimum of 66.67% of all credit hours attempted (60 credit hours \div 90 credit hours = 66.67%).

A student who exceeds the 150% MTF for a program of study or who cannot mathematically complete the program within the MTF will be deemed ineligible for financial aid and be dismissed from the institution.

SAP Evaluation Period

SAP is evaluated at the end of the payment period after all final grades are posted. A payment period is defined as one semester for semester-based students and two consecutive terms for term-based students. After evaluation, a student who does not meet SAP standards will be notified in writing by the Office of the Registrar. It is important for a student to check their school email frequently to respond to any communication regarding SAP status.

A student who wishes to transfer to a new campus or program must be in Academic and Financial Aid Good Standing. A degree program change may impact the SAP evaluation period. The SAP review will include only Chicago School coursework that is applicable to the new degree program.

Veteran Affairs (VA) benefit recipients are responsible for complying with the SAP requirements established by the U.S. Department of Veteran Affairs for benefit eligibility. When a recipient is placed on Academic and Financial Aid Probation, the school will report this status to the VA.

A student must meet SAP in order to be eligible for degree conferral.

Academic and Financial Aid Warning: SAP Not Met

A student who does not meet SAP will be placed in Academic and Financial Aid Warning. A student in this status has two terms or one semester to meet SAP. A student is eligible for financial aid while in Academic and Financial Aid Warning.

A student in Academic and Financial Aid Warning must:

- 1. Meet with their faculty advisor and/or Department Chair to discuss academic implications.
- 2. Repeat as soon as possible the course(s) in which a grade of "C" and below for graduate students or "F" for undergraduate students was earned.

At the conclusion of the Academic and Financial Aid Warning period, a student who meets SAP will be returned to Academic and Financial Aid Good Standing. A student who does not meet SAP will lose their financial aid eligibility and must petition to have it reinstated and to remain enrolled on Academic and Financial Aid Probation.

Academic and Financial Aid Probation: SAP Not Met 2

In order to be placed on Academic and Financial Aid Probation, a student must have their reinstatement appeal approved by their academic department. To appeal, a student must submit a Reinstatement Petition including supporting documentation indicating the circumstances that led to the student's academic difficulty to the Office of the Registrar immediately following email notification. A student who fails to submit the Reinstatement Petition will be dismissed from the school by the Add/Drop deadline.

Once received, the Reinstatement Petition will be reviewed by the student's Department Chair or designee within 3 business days. The petition will either be approved or denied by the reviewer. The Office of the Registrar will notify the student of the Department Chair or designee's decision.

Petition Approval

A student whose Reinstatement Petition is approved will be placed on Academic and Financial Aid Probation for the following two terms or one semester, depending on delivery modality. Should extenuating circumstances that

necessitate additional time to meet SAP be required, it is possible to grant a student a maximum of four terms or two semesters on Academic and Financial Aid Probation. This exception must be approved by the student's Department Chair or designee and be outlined in the SAP Plan.

If the petition is approved, the student will be placed on Academic and Financial Aid Probation and will be required to:

- Adhere strictly to requirements set forth in their SAP Plan. The academic department may also institute additional Academic Development Plan requirements that the student must meet.
- 2. Meet regularly with their faculty advisor regarding their SAP status.
- 3. Repeat as soon as possible the course(s) in which a grade of "C" and below for graduate students or "F" for undergraduate students was earned.

Failure to adhere to the SAP Plan will result in dismissal from The Chicago School. The SAP Plan cannot be revised during the terms/semesters stipulated in the plan.

At the conclusion of the Academic and Financial Aid Probation period, a student who meets SAP will be returned to Academic and Financial Aid Good Standing. A student who does not meet SAP will be dismissed from the institution as detailed in the Academic and Financial Aid Dismissal section below.

Petition Denial

A student whose Reinstatement Petition is denied will be dismissed from The Chicago School.

Academic and Financial Aid Dismissal: Dismissal

A student is academically dismissed if the student fails to meet the conditions of the SAP Plan or SAP standards at the end of an Academic and Financial Aid Probation period. Dismissal supersedes any other enrollment status. The dismissal will be noted permanently on the student's official transcript.

A student who has been awarded financial aid or Veterans' education benefits for the subsequent term/semester is advised that academic dismissal carries with it the cancellation of any financial aid or benefits. In-school loan deferment status ends as of the dismissal date. Financial aid previously received by a dismissed student may be returned to the lender by the institution depending on the date of dismissal. In such cases, the student may owe the institution for aid returned or outstanding charges.

A student who is re-admitted may be reconsidered for financial aid at that time. However, reinstatement does not necessarily mean that financial aid will be available for that term/semester or any future term/semester. A student who loses financial aid eligibility may be readmitted by improving their academic standing to meet the minimum standards of the SAP policy. Refer to the Re-admission Policy and Financial Aid and Student Account Policies for more information.

Service Learning

Service learning is a teaching methodology which promotes learning outside of the classroom and in the community. Local non-profit organizations and schools serve as co-educators and provide real world learning situations for students that meet a community need. Service learning activities inform, clarify, illustrate, and stimulate additional thought about academic topics covered in the classroom, as well as encourage students to develop or strengthen a habit of service and social responsibility to the community.

Student Classification

A student enrolled in a doctoral (PhD, PsyD, EdD), master or specialist (MA, MS, EdS) or graduate certificate programs is classified as a graduate-level student. A student enrolled in an associate (AAS-N) or bachelor (BA, BS) degree program or undergraduate certificate program is considered an undergraduate-level student.

Dual Degree and Dual Enrollment

When a student enrolls in Dual Degree Programs, they are admitted to two separate degree programs at two collaborating academic institutions. The Dual Degree Programs at the collaborating institutions will share some coursework, through previously agreed upon transfer credit, so that a student may pursue both degrees simultaneously and in an expeditious manner. Upon successful completion of each program, a student will be awarded separate degrees from the participating institutions. See the Programs of Study pages for active Dual Degree Programs.

When a student enrolls in Dual Enrollment Programs, they are admitted to two separate degree programs in two different Chicago School academic departments. Similar to the Dual Degree Programs, Dual Enrollment Programs will share some coursework, so that a student may pursue both degrees simultaneously and in an expeditious manner. Upon successful completion of each program, a student will be awarded two distinct degrees. See the Programs of Study pages for active Dual Enrollment Programs.

Undergraduate Grade Level

An undergraduate student is classified based on the number of semester credit hours earned, as follows:

Semester Credit Hours Earned	Grade
1 - 23 Credit Hours	Freshman
24 - 47 Credit Hours	Sophomore
48 - 71 Credit Hours	Junior
72+ Credit Hours	Senior

Enrollment Status

The Chicago School has established minimum credit hour thresholds for determining less than half-time (LHT), half-time (HT), 3/4 time (QT), and fulltime (FT) enrollment status per semester.

Degree Level	LHT/Semester	HT/Semester	QT/Semester	FT/Semester
Undergraduate	Less than 6 credit hours	6 credit hours	9 credit hours	12 credit hours
Graduate	Less than 3 credit hours	3 credit hours	NA	5 credit hours

These enrollment standards are used for the following purposes:

- To determine eligibility for financial aid
- To provide enrollment verification

One semester is equivalent to two online terms. A term-based student must be enrolled for two consecutive terms to be eligible for financial aid in the first of the two terms. A term-based student must be enrolled for the specified credit hours listed in the table above in two consecutive terms combined.

The financial aid cost of attendance is determined based on actual enrolled credit hours. For example, a one credit hour course that is classified at auto fulltime qualifies a student for fulltime enrollment status. In this example, the financial aid cost of attendance budget will include funding for one credit hour plus living and personal expenses. Taking two auto half-time courses does not qualify for fulltime enrollment status.

Auto fulltime courses qualify a student for immediate fulltime status for the purpose of determining financial aid and loan deferment eligibility. Auto half-time courses qualify a student for immediate half-time status for the purpose of determining financial aid and loan deferment eligibility. Courses are designated as auto full or half time on each program of study page.

The minimum credit hour threshold does not supersede degree program requirements regarding the pace at which a student must move through a degree program. A degree program may require a student to take more credit hours per term/semester in order to maintain adequate progress toward degree completion.

International students in F-1 or J-1 status must be enrolled fulltime each semester per immigration requirements, unless otherwise authorized.

An undergraduate student taking a 0 credit hour course that does not carry the auto fulltime or auto half-time designation (e.g. GEN010) must be enrolled in at least one other credit-bearing course to remain in active status.

A graduate student who is taking a 0 credit hour course that does not carry the auto fulltime or auto half-time designation (e.g. AS1, AS2) must be enrolled in at least one other credit-bearing course to remain in active status.

Reporting Enrollment Status

The Chicago School has authorized the National Student Clearinghouse to provide enrollment and degree verification for students and alumni. A current student may obtain enrollment verification through Student Self Service. A third party may obtain verification at www.degreeverify.org or by writing:

National Student Clearinghouse 2300 Dulles Station Boulevard, Suite 300 Herndon, VA 20171

The services provided by the National Student Clearinghouse are in full compliance with all applicable privacy laws including the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act of 1974 (FERPA). A student who is enrolled in a Dual Degree program will be reported to the National Student Clearinghouse based on their enrollment in both programs and institutions, where applicable.

The school does not provide degree or enrollment verification by email, telephone, or fax without with written consent of the student.

TCS courses (TCS380, TCS385, TCS390) are non-credit bearing, non-transferrable, and not eligible for financial aid.

Training Courses

A student participating in practicum, internship, or fieldwork (hereafter referred to as training) must be enrolled in an associated training course, where applicable. A student trainee must receive a passing evaluation from the training placement supervisor and must pass the associated seminar to progress on to the next training experience. Training hours accumulated during a term or semester are counted toward a student trainee's total training hour requirement only if the student passes the associated training course.

Repeating a Training Course

Should a student trainee fail any component of the training experience (training placement supervisor evaluation, seminar leader evaluation, and/or training course grade), they will be required to repeat either a portion of or the entire training experience depending on program requirements. This may include repeating training course(s) and/or training hours. A student is not permitted to count accrued training hours from a failed training experience unless extenuating circumstances are present as determined via policy exception.

Reasons that a student trainee may be required to repeat a training experience include, but are not limited to:

- Dismissal from a training site after unsuccessful remediation;
- Dismissal from a training site due to a serious, irremediable infraction;
- Lack of expected training competency including professional judgment;
- Transfer from another graduate program;
- Failure of the student trainee to submit required training documentation;
- Failure of the student trainee to successfully complete all requirements of the training seminar course sequence; and/or
- Leaving a training site without permission from the Director of Clinical Training.

A student who is displaced from training and must subsequently repeat a passed training course may be eligible to petition for policy exception related to tuition expense. Displacement is defined as being forced to cease training due to circumstances beyond the student's control. Dismissal from training does not qualify as displacement.

A student who must repeat a passed training course for a reason other than displacement will be responsible for repeating the training experience including retaking the training course and paying associated course costs.

Transfer and Nontraditional Credit Hours

Articulation Agreements

An internal articulation agreement allows a qualified student to begin study at a level above the enrolled degree program such as taking courses toward a master's degree while completing a bachelor's degree. An external articulation agreement identifies specific coursework completed at a collaborating institution that may be recognized as equivalent to Chicago School coursework. Click here for a list of entities with which the school has established articulation agreements.

All transfer credit will be based on an individual evaluation of a student's official transcripts and syllabi. Courses may vary depending upon the degree programs and how credits are applied toward degree completion. A student who enters a degree program via an articulation agreement will be held to the requirements stated in the agreement. Typically, a student who enrolls in a program under the terms and conditions of any articulation agreement is subject to the requirements outlined by the articulation agreement and all policies in the Academic Catalog & Student Handbook. In some cases, an articulation agreement may waive or amend the application of certain Chicago School admission policies or procedures.

For an internal articulation agreement, a student must consult with the home Department Chair four terms/two semesters prior to the completion of the enrolled degree program.

Course Association

Course association occurs when credit hours earned in one Chicago School enrollment are applied to a different Chicago School enrollment. Typically, this occurs when a student transfers from one academic program to another at the same degree level. Credit hours applied to the conferral of a previous degree may not be counted toward a subsequent enrollment unless the programs have an articulation agreement or dual credit for master's level courses described below.

A student who transfers to the same degree program at another Chicago School campus will have all applicable courses associated. A student who transfers to a new degree program within the school before completion of their current enrollment will have all applicable courses associated. The Department Chair of the new program determines courses to be associated.

Courses associated are subject to the following conditions:

- 1. Course is at or above the equivalent degree level. For doctoral programs that offer a nested master's degree, master-level courses as published in the Program of Study may be considered for course association.
- 2. Credit hours earned must be equivalent or higher.
- 3. Credit hours that duplicate an equivalent course/exam or similar course cannot be associated and those earned via an equivalent course or exam will not be accepted.
- 4. Course association may be subject to time limits depending on the course content and accreditation requirements

Courses associated to fulfill the requirements of the new degree program will count toward rate of progress as both credits attempted and credits earned. Course grades will be calculated into the student's cumulative grade point average when evaluating Satisfactory Academic Progress. The Department Chair will consult with the Office of the Registrar to determine impact on the student's academic standing.

Master's degree courses taken by a student enrolled in a bachelor's degree program that includes master's level courses as part of their curriculum may count toward the graduation requirements of both programs (bachelor's and master's) provided the grade received for the master's level course is a B- or higher (as required by the Academic Grade Policy for graduate courses) and provided that the course counts towards their degree specific course requirements (depending on a program's track and state licensure requirement, degree requirements may vary). A student who earns a grade below B- on a master's degree course that meets the school requirements of the Academic Grade Policy for a passing grade in an undergraduate course will have the course counted toward the bachelor's degree. For courses with a grade lower than B-, the student will be required to retake the course for master's degree level credit once enrolled in the master's degree program. Master's degree courses are graded according to the graduate-level grading policy.

Students completing a bachelor's degree within which master's level coursework is offered and who meet the master's degree admission requirements (including additional background check, if indicated by policy) may matriculate into the master's degree with no additional application fee or tuition deposit and may qualify for the Alumni Tuition Rate for the graduate program.

Exceptions to Transfer and Nontraditional Credit Hour Limits

The Chicago School may allow an exception to the Transfer and Nontraditional Credit Hour Limits for students negatively impacted by:

- 1. Loss of regional accreditation status at the previous institution.
- 2. Campus closure provided the previous institution was regionally accredited at the time of closing. All credit hours to be transferred are subject to the conditions outlined in this policy. A student may be eligible to transfer up to 75% of the total credit hours required for the degree program. The decision to impose a credit hour limit below the 75% institutional threshold lies with the Department Chair or Curriculum Chair, where applicable, and must be documented with the Office of the Chief Academic Officer and archived appropriately. This limit must be applied consistently across locations and modalities.

Certificate programs and programs actively seeking or holding accreditation by the APA will not permit exceptions to the Transfer and Nontraditional Credit Hour Limits above. Applicants to the Clinical Mental Health Counseling or Counselor Education and Supervision programs must come from a CACREP-accredited program for the credit hour limit exception to apply. Additionally, the Clinical Mental Health Counseling and Counselor Education and Supervision programs will not accept practicum and internship courses as transfer credit.

<u>Undergraduate Programs</u>

An undergraduate student may request to transfer in credit hours earned at another institution and may earn nontraditional credit hours through completion of a national testing program, military training, a national credit recommendation program, or credit by examination.

Transfer Credit

Transfer Credit is defined as the application of credit hours earned at a regionally-accredited institution other than The Chicago School that are counted toward Chicago School degree program requirements. Credit hours earned from an institution that is not regionally accredited are not eligible for transfer.

Credit hours may be awarded for college-level courses either in progress or completed prior to matriculation into the The Chicago School. Transfer credit will be calculated into rate of progress as both credit hours attempted and earned but will not be calculated into the Chicago School cumulative grade point average. All requests for transfer credit must be submitted prior to the start of the first term/semester of enrollment.

The student is responsible for ensuring that all transfer credit requests and required documentation including official transcripts are submitted for evaluation prior to the end of the second term/first semester of enrollment unless using the Post-Matriculation Transfer Credit procedure detailed below. An unofficial transcript may be used for review of transfer credit prior to matriculation. However, for transfer credit to be processed, an official transcript must be received. An official transcript is delivered in a sealed envelope with the Registrar's signature stamped across the seal. An official transcript can also be sent electronically directly from a transcript vendor. Requests for transfer credit are evaluated by the Office of the Registrar and the academic department, and the decision to accept transfer credit rests solely with the academic department. Approved transfer credit will be posted to the student's transcript after the student remains enrolled past the Add/Drop deadline.

Approved transfer credit will not be factored into a new student's registration time. All new students register during the same designated period regardless of transfer credit. Transfer credit may affect registration eligibility in subsequent terms.

Transfer credit is subject to the following conditions:

- Course is at the undergraduate level, degree applicable and not designated as developmental or remedial.
 Graduate-level credit hours cannot be applied to an undergraduate degree, and remedial or developmental credit hours are not transferable.
- Credit hours must be earned from a regionally-accredited institution or from an international institution that is
 fully accredited by a country's Ministry of Education or by the United States Department of Education.
 International transcripts must be evaluated by a NACES or AICE-approved transcript evaluation agency or,
 in some circumstances, by a Chicago School staff member trained in transcript evaluation. See the
 International Transcript Evaluation policy.
- Credit hours that duplicate those earned via an equivalent course or exam will not be accepted. Credit hours
 will not be accepted for selected courses that must be completed at The Chicago School. The student is fully
 responsible for all charges incurred for duplicate coursework taken at The Chicago School.
- 4. Upper-division courses will not be considered equivalent or duplicative of lower-division courses.
- 5. Course content is substantially equivalent to requested course.
- 6. Course grade is "C" or higher. Pass/Fail courses are eligible only if the pass grade is equivalent to a "C" or higher. Satisfactory/Unsatisfactory and Credit/No Credit grades are not eligible.*

7. Number of semester credit hours earned matches or exceeds the number of semester credit hours for the requested course. Two or more courses may be combined to meet the credit hour requirement if the combined course content is substantially equivalent to the requested course.

*COVID-19 Transfer Credit Exception: In response to COVID-19, courses in which a student earned a Pass, Satisfactory, Credit, or equivalent grade in the spring and summer 2020 academic periods may be considered for transfer. A grade of Pass, Satisfactory, Credit, or equivalent meets the grade threshold for transfer credit in spring and summer 2020 only. All other transfer credit requirements listed above must be met in order for a course to be considered for transfer. This policy will not apply to courses that requires a specific letter grade for licensure/certification or accreditation purposes.

Post-Matriculation Transfer Credit

A student may be permitted to transfer in general education credit hours completed after matriculation at Chicago School with the written permission of their Department Chair or designee. A student must submit the Undergraduate Transfer Credit Petition, general education course description, and general education course syllabus, if available, to their Department Chair for review and approval PRIOR to enrolling in a course outside of The Chicago School. If the request is approved and the student successfully completes the course, they must arrange to send an official transcript to the school. Transfer credit will not be posted to a student's record without an official transcript on file.

A request for transfer credit for a course taken AFTER matriculation at Chicago School is subject to the following conditions:

- 1. Only one course attempt per approved request is permitted. If the student fails to successfully complete the approved course, they will be required to retake the course at The Chicago School.
- 2. Only applied to general education courses.

Nontraditional Credit Hours

Nontraditional Credit Hours are credit hours earned by means other than through traditional coursework. These means include testing programs, military credit, and others outlined below.

National Testing Programs

Some undergraduate programs may award nontraditional credit hours for successful completion of national testing programs. An official score report must be submitted for evaluation. A score lower than the American Council on Education (ACE) recommendation will not be considered for transfer credit. National testing program scores are not factored into the Chicago School cumulative grade point average.

- **AP Exams:** A student who earned a score of 3 or higher on an Advanced Placement (AP) exam may have that score considered for college-level credit.
- CLEP Exams: A student who successfully passed a College-Level Examination Program (CLEP) exam may
 have that score considered for college-level credit. Information specific to the AAS-N Program appears
 below.
- DSST/DANTES Credit: A student who has successfully passed the DSST (DANTES Subject Standardized Tests) exam may have that score considered for college-level credit.
- **IB Exams**: A student who earned a score of 5 or higher on the International Baccalaureate (IB) exams may have that score considered for college-level credit.

CLEP for AAS-N Program

The AAS-N program at The Chicago School will consider College Level Examination Programs (CLEP) exams that have been successfully completed by a student, and the following guidelines will apply. An AAS-N student must submit their test scores prior to admission into the program.

- 1. Course for consideration is within the student's program of study and is considered equivalent to the CLEP exam.
- 2. Verification of a minimum score of 50 is indicated on the official copy of the CLEP scores.

The AAS-N program will accept the following CLEP tests for credit:

Course Equivalent	Examination	Minimum Passing Score
ENGL 1301	English Composition	50
PSYC 2301	Introductory Psychology	50
PSYC 2314	Human Growth and Development	50

Military

A student who has completed military credits may request to have their military transcript reviewed for transfer. Official military transcripts can be obtained via the Joint Service Transcript (JST) website and must be submitted to the Office of Admissions. Coursework recommended for nontraditional credit hours at the lower or upper division level by ACE will be considered if the coursework is applicable to the student's program of study.

Other Sources of Acceptable Nontraditional Credit Hours

Propero, SOPHIA, or Straighterline Courses: For general education or lower division elective credit hours, a student must successfully complete an ACE-recommended course and then submit an official transcript to The Chicago School. A student who wishes to pursue this option should contact Admissions.

Credit by Examination: The Chicago School awards credit by examination for selected bachelor's-level courses. Examinations for credit are created and administered by faculty at the direction of Department Chairs. An examination for credit is comprehensive and measures all course learning outcomes. Credit by examination is not available if a student has either attempted or completed the requested course at The Chicago School.

To be eligible to request credit by examination, a student:

- 1. Must be an active, degree-seeking student
- 2. Must be in Academic and Financial Aid Good Standing per SAP
- 3. Must not have previously audited, attempted, or completed the course for credit

To request credit by examination, a student must complete a Credit by Examination form and attach evidence of knowledge of the course learning outcomes, e.g., relevant work experience, to support the request and submit the completed form and supporting documentation to the Department Chair.

If the request is approved, the student must pay the associated fee. The fee is charged per credit hour. Refer to the Tuition and Fees Schedule for fee information. A denied Credit by Examination request cannot be appealed.

Credit by Examination Score Requirement

Degree Level	Minimum Score
Bachelor	75

The student cannot appeal a non-passing examination grade. Credit earned by examination will be recorded as CE on the student's permanent record and will be counted toward the total number of credit hours required for degree completion. The CE grade will not impact the student's GPA or enrollment status but will count as credit hours earned and positively impact rate of progress.

Combining credit by examination with other forms of nontraditional credit and transfer credit cannot exceed 65% of the total credit hours required by the degree program.

Maximum Total Transfer and Nontraditional Credit Hours for Undergraduate Programs

Maximum Total Transfer and Nontraditional Credit Hours are the combination of credit hours accepted in traditional and nontraditional credit hours. A student may not exceed the Maximum Total Transfer and Nontraditional Credit Hours listed below.

Programs	Total Required Credit Hours for Degree	Maximum Nontraditional Credit Hours	Maximum Total Transfer and Nontraditional Credit Hours
Certificate in Vocational Nursing (VN)	51	0	0
Associate of Applied Science - Nursing (AAS- N): Direct Track	69	9	9
Associate of Applied Science - Nursing (AAS- N): LVN to RN Track	61	9	9
Bachelor of Arts Criminology, Forensic Psychology Specialization Psychology	120	30, or 25% of total credit hours	78, or 65% of total credit hours
Bachelor of Science Business Psychology Healthcare Management	120	30, or 25% of total credit hours	78, or 65% of total credit hours
Bachelor of Science in Nursing (R.N. to BSN)	120	30, or 25% of total credit hours	72, or 60% of total credit hours

For all programs, a maximum of 25% of the total credit hours for the degree program may be earned in nontraditional credit hours.

A BA Psychology student may earn a limited number of transfer credit hours toward their minor. A student minoring in health science, ABA, or addiction studies may earn a maximum of 6 transfer credit hours toward the minor.

Graduate Programs

A graduate student may request to transfer in credit hours earned at another institution and may earn nontraditional credit hours through credit by examination for selected master's-level courses.

Transfer Credit

Transfer Credit is defined as the application of credit hours earned at a regionally-accredited institution other than The Chicago School that are counted toward Chicago School degree program requirements. To be eligible for transfer, credit hours must have been earned prior to matriculation into the Chicago School degree program. Credit hours earned from an institution that is not regionally accredited are not eligible for transfer of credit.

A Graduate Transfer Credit Petition per course must be submitted by the end of the first semester of enrollment (semester-based students) or second term of enrollment (term-based students). This petition must include the course details along with a course syllabus and official transcript documenting the grade earned in the course. The student is responsible for ensuring that all required documentation noted on the petition is submitted.

The Office of the Registrar evaluates each transfer credit request for eligibility using the criteria in this policy. If the transfer credit request meets all eligibility criteria, it is sent to the academic department for review. The academic department holds sole authority for accepting or denying transfer credit. An unofficial transcript may be used for review of transfer credit prior to matriculation. However, for transfer credit to be processed, an official transcript must be received. An official transcript is delivered in a sealed envelope with the Registrar's signature stamped across the seal. An official transcript can also be sent electronically directly from a transcript vendor.

The institution reserves the right to require satisfactory performance on an examination before granting transfer credit. Credit hours accepted in transfer will be calculated into rate of progress as both credit hours attempted and earned but will not be calculated into the Chicago School cumulative grade point average.

A student enrolled in Dual Degree Programs may transfer in coursework from the collaborating institution after they have matriculated, but only up to the credit limit articulated in the agreement between The Chicago School and the collaborating institution. A student enrolled in Dual Degree Programs need not submit a Graduate Transfer Credit/Course Waiver Petition as transfer credit is pre-determined by the articulation agreement between The Chicago School and the collaborating institution. See the Programs of Study listings for transfer credit hour limits. Certificate programs do not permit transfer credit except where indicated in the Program of Study.

Approved transfer credit will be posted to the student's transcript after the student remains enrolled past the Add/Drop deadline. A student who is granted transfer credit after the Add/Drop deadline due to late submittal that results in a schedule modification will be held to the refund schedule. The student will be charged a fee for each transfer credit hour awarded. The transfer credit fee is not charged for articulated courses in Dual Degree Programs. Please refer to the tuition and fees schedule for information.

Approved transfer credit will not be factored into a new student's registration time. All new students register during the same designated period regardless of transfer credit. Transfer credit may affect registration eligibility in subsequent terms.

Transfer credit is subject to the following conditions:

- 1. Course is at or above the equivalent degree level. For doctoral programs that offer a nested master's degree, master-level courses as published in the Program of Study may be considered for transfer credit.
- 2. Credit hours must be earned from a regionally-accredited institution or from an international institution that is fully accredited by a country's Ministry of Education or by the United States Department of Education. International transcripts must be evaluated by a NACES or AICE-approved transcript evaluation agency or, in some circumstances, by a Chicago School staff member trained in transcript evaluation. See the International Transcript Evaluation policy.
- Credit hours that duplicate those earned via an equivalent course or exam will not be accepted. Credit hours
 will not be accepted for selected courses that must be completed at The Chicago School. The student is fully
 responsible for all charges incurred for duplicate coursework taken at the school.
- 4. No regression. A student may not earn transfer credit for a course that represents a regression from previously completed coursework. In other words, a student may not transfer in or take Chicago School courses in an area in which they have already completed a course that is more advanced in content.
- 5. Course content is substantially equivalent to requested course. This is generally defined as greater than 80 percent equivalent. To be considered for transfer into programs that hold programmatic accreditation or recognition, the course must meet the accreditation guidelines as determined by the academic department. For licensure programs with or without programmatic accreditation, the transfer course (and/or letter grade) must meet or exceed requirements to apply for licensure.
- 6. Course grade is a "B-" or higher. Courses which carry Pass/Fail, Satisfactory/Unsatisfactory, or Credit/No Credit grades are not eligible.*
- 7. Credit not granted for practicum, internship, thesis, or dissertation courses.
- 8. Number of semester credit hours earned matches or exceeds the number of semester credit hours for the requested course. Two or more courses may be combined to meet the Chicago School credit hour requirement if the combined course content is substantially equivalent to the requested course.
- 9. No credit hours will be transferred for coursework that is more than 7 calendar years old. The PsyD in School Psychology program at Chicago and the PsyD in Clinical Psychology programs at Chicago, Anaheim, Dallas, Los Angeles, New Orleans, and Washington, D.C. do not permit transfer credit for coursework that is more than 5 calendar years old.

A Chicago School study abroad course may be used to satisfy a degree requirement if listed in the published program of study OR if approved for inclusion by the Department Chair. To ensure that a study abroad course will satisfy a degree requirement, a student must obtain written approval from the Department Chair *prior* to registration in the course. The student must submit the approved Course Substitution Petition to the Student Support Counselor.

*COVID-19 Transfer Credit Exception: In response to COVID-19, courses in which a student earned a Pass, Satisfactory, Credit, or equivalent grade in the spring and summer 2020 academic periods may be considered for transfer. A grade of Pass, Satisfactory, Credit, or equivalent meets the grade threshold for transfer credit in spring and summer 2020 only. All other transfer credit requirements listed above must be met in order for the course to be considered for transfer. This policy will not apply to courses that requires a specific letter grade for licensure/certification or accreditation purposes.

Nontraditional Credit Hours

Credit by Examination: The Chicago School awards credit by examination for selected master's-level courses. Examinations for credit are created and administered by faculty at the direction of Department Chairs.

Examinations for credit are comprehensive and measure all course learning outcomes. In cases where credit by examination is not compatible with the standards of accreditation for any program seeking or holding programmatic accreditation (e.g., APA, CACREP), the standards of the accrediting agency prevail.

To be eligible to request credit by examination, a student must:

- 1. Must be an active, degree-seeking student
- 2. Must be in Academic and Financial Aid Good Standing per SAP

3. Must not have previously audited, attempted, or completed the course for credit

To request credit by examination, a student must complete a Credit by Examination form and attach evidence of knowledge of the course learning outcomes, e.g., relevant work experience, to support the request and submit the completed form and supporting documentation to the Department Chair.

If the request is approved, the student must pay the associated fee. The fee is charged per credit hour. Refer to the Tuition and Fees Schedule for fee information. A denied Credit by Examination request cannot be appealed.

Credit by Examination Score Requirements

Degree Level	Minimum Score
Master	80

The student cannot appeal a non-passing examination grade. Credit hours earned by examination will be recorded as CE on the student's permanent record and will be counted toward the total number of credit hours required for degree completion. The CE grade will not impact the student's GPA or enrollment status but will count as credit hours earned and positively impact rate of progress.

Transfer and Nontraditional Credit Hour Limits

A student may not exceed the Transfer and Nontraditional Credit Hour Limits listed below.

Programs	Transfer and Nontraditional Credit Hour Limits
EdD Educational Psychology and Technology	9
EdS School Psychology	12
MA Applied Behavior Analysis	9
MA Behavioral Economics	12
MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling	12
MA Clinical Psychopharmacology	9
MA Counseling Psychology	12
MA Forensic Psychology	12
MA Industrial/Organizational Psychology	12
MA International Psychology	12
MA Marriage, Couples, and Family Therapy	12
MA Organizational Leadership	12
MA Psychology	12
MS Applied Behavior Analysis	12

MS Clinical Psychopharmacology	9
MS Speech-Language Pathology	9
Master of Health Services Administration	9
Master of Public Health	9
PhD Applied Behavior Analysis	15
PhD Behavior Analysis	15
PhD Business Psychology, Consulting Track	12
PhD Business Psychology, I/O Track	12
PhD Counselor Education and Supervision	12
PhD International Psychology	12
PhD Organizational Leadership	12
PhD Psychology, Behavior Analysis Specialization	15
PsyD Applied Clinical Psychology	15
PsyD Clinical Forensic Psychology	21
PsyD Clinical Psychology - Anaheim	21
PsyD Clinical Psychology - Chicago	21
Psy.D Clinical Psychology - Dallas	21
PsyD Clinical Psychology - Los Angeles	21
PsyD Clinical Psychology - New Orleans	21
PsyD Clinical Psychology - Washington, D.C.	21
PsyD Marital and Family Therapy	15
PsyD School Psychology	21
PsyD School Psychology, Post-Specialist Entry Point	0

Withdrawal

A student is required to maintain continuous enrollment as defined in the Continuous Enrollment policy. Withdrawal from The Chicago School during any period of enrollment has financial consequences and may necessitate the return of financial aid. All withdrawals are subject to the Refund Policies.

A student should refer to the Grading policies to understand the impact a withdrawal will have on their grades. Prior to submitting an official request, a student is strongly encouraged to take the following steps:

- Consult with the Department Chair or Faculty Advisor
- Consult with the Office of Placement and Training (OPT) and the practicum or internship site, if applicable
- Consult with the Office of Financial Aid and complete the exit interview
- Consult with Student Accounts regarding any financial obligations

An international student must consult with the Designated School Official (DSO) prior to making a withdrawal request as a change in enrollment status will impact immigration status. A student who wishes to return to school after withdrawal should refer to the Returning Students policy.

When a student withdraws, the Office of the Registrar will remove the student from their course(s) and assign appropriate administrative grades per the Drop/Withdrawal Schedule. After grades are assigned, SAP is evaluated. If the student is placed in SAP Dismissal status, their enrollment status will be changed to dismissal. Dismissal supersedes any other enrollment status. See the Refund Policies for information on tuition and fees.

Official Withdrawal

A student must submit a Withdrawal Request to their Student Support Counselor in order to officially withdrawal. A student's withdrawal date will be:

- 1. The date on which the Withdrawal Request form is submitted; or
- 2. Any earlier or later date that the institution documents as the last date of academic-related activity.

Unofficial Withdrawal

A student will be unofficially withdrawn from the school if the following conditions are not met by the Add/Drop deadline:

- A student does not resolve a registration hold;
- A student does not register for courses and/or attend classes; or
- A student does not return from an approved Leave of Absence as scheduled.

A student's withdrawal date will be:

- 1. The last day of the last term/semester attended; or
- 2. Any earlier or later date that the institution documents as the last date of academic-related activity.

A temporary withdrawal may be considered if one of the following conditions is met:

- A student faces an unforeseeable and unexpected circumstance (significant change in their health, financial situation, employment, or an urgent personal matter); or
- A student does not have a course to take as determined by the institution.

In addition to meeting one of the above conditions, the student must have an expected date of return. A student is limited to two terms/one semester of temporary withdrawal in any 12-month period. A term-based student who desires an additional term of temporary withdrawal must contact the Student Support Counselor for eligibility. A student in Pending Probation status who wishes to apply for temporary withdrawal must have their Reinstatement Petition approved by the Department Chair first. Once the approved petition is on file, the student will be returned to Academic & Financial Aid Probation status before having their temporary withdrawal request processed.

A student granted temporary withdrawal is not required to petition to return to school. Rather, they will be advanced through the reentry process automatically. See the Returning Students policy for details. A student who faces an unforeseeable and unexpected circumstance that leads to a significant change in their life and subsequent withdrawal from the school after the Add/Drop deadline may appeal for financial relief using the institutional policy exception process. See Policy Exception for details.

Hardship Withdrawal (Illinois Only)

The Illinois Hardship Withdrawal policy may be applied when a student seeks to withdraw based on one of the hardship reasons listed below <u>and</u> when the student's withdrawal occurs after the 100% tuition refund date has passed. A student who lives in Illinois or who attends an academic program on-ground in Illinois who faces a severe financial or physical hardship may be considered for hardship withdrawal. Types of hardship are:

- serious injury or illness of the student;
- chronic illness of the student;
- a serious medical issue of a family member (spouse or partner, child, parent or guardian, grandparent, or sibling) for which the student is a part-time or full-time caretaker of that family member;
- a mental health condition of the student;
- a sudden or consistent lack of transportation that prohibits student presence in class; and
- a significant, non-elective cost of living increase for the student.

A student who believes they may qualify for hardship withdrawal must contact their Student Support Counselor. Relevant, detailed supporting documentation proving the severe financial or physical hardship must be presented.

A student who withdraws pursuant to this policy should contact their Student Support Counselor regarding how the school may be able to assist if the student chooses to return to school. This policy does not address the impact of a hardship withdrawal on the student's academic record or ability to complete their degree program.

Iowa Military Withdrawal

A student who lives in Iowa who is a member of the Iowa National Guard or reserve forces of the United States who is ordered to National Guard duty or federal active duty may be eligible for Iowa Military Withdrawal. A student who lives in Iowa who is the spouse of a member with whom they have a dependent child may also be covered.

Upon verification of orders by Student Support, a qualified student may:

- 1. Withdraw from the entire registration and receive a full refund of tuition and fees. The student will be assigned a Withdrawal (W) grade in all courses.
- Arrange for temporary or final grades in all courses. In this case, the student's schedule of classes for the impacted term/semester will remain unchanged, and tutition and fees will be assessed. For courses in which a temporary grade is assigned, it will remain until the course is completed.
- Arrange for temporary or final grades in select courses. In this case, dropped courses will be assigned a W
 grade, and the student will be refunded tuition and fees for dropped courses. For courses in which a
 temporary grade is assigned, it will remain until the course is completed.

These rules comply with Iowa Code 261.9(1)9g).

Student Rights and Responsibilities

The Chicago School requires the highest standards of professional and personal conduct from all students. Each student must abide by the policies and procedures of the school and comply with its standards. Failure to comply with the standards of conduct may result in remediation and/or disciplinary action up to and including dismissal from the school.

Academic Freedom

It is the policy of The Chicago School to encourage freedom of inquiry, discourse, teaching, research, and publication and to protect members of the faculty against influences that would restrict the exercise of these academic freedoms in

areas of scholarly interest. As such, the school subscribes to the principles of academic freedom formulated by the American Association of University Professors (AAUP) as summarized below:¹

- Teachers² are entitled to full freedom in research and in the publication of the results, subject to the adequate performance of their other academic duties; but research for pecuniary return should be based upon an understanding with the authorities of the institution.
- Teachers are entitled to freedom in the classroom in discussing their subject, but they should be careful not to introduce into their teaching controversial matter that has no relation to their subject. Limitations of academic freedom because of religious or other aims of the institution should be clearly stated in writing at the time of the appointment.
 - College and university teachers are citizens, members of a learned profession, and officers of an educational institution. When they speak or write as a citizen, they should be free from institutional censorship or discipline, but their special position in the community imposes special obligations. As scholars and
- 3. educational officers, they should remember that the public may judge the profession and the institution by their utterances. Hence they should at all times be accurate, should exercise appropriate restraint, should show respect for the opinions of others, and should make every effort to indicate that they are not speaking for the institution.

ADA: Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 Accommodations

In pursuit of its mission and in accordance with Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 and the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA), The Chicago School is committed to providing all students with equal access to academic courses, programs, and school activities.

A student seeking accommodation for a disability should contact their ADA Liaison at their home campus upon enrollment. The student must provide materials from a healthcare provider who has the credentials to diagnose and treat the condition explaining and documenting the disability, the prognosis, the barriers the student faces given the disability, and suggestions for accommodations that are designed to overcome the barriers without imposing an undue burden on the school and/or fundamentally altering the nature of the service, program, or activity at issue.

In accordance with the ADA, the school will facilitate reasonable accommodations for a student with impairments that either substantially affect a major life function and/or are expected to last six or more months. Temporary impairments with an expected duration of fewer than six months will be reasonably accommodated if they impact a major life activity.

Accommodations will be granted on the basis of reasonableness and may not necessarily be the preferred accommodation expressed by the student. The reasonableness of an accommodation is dependent upon the objective reasonableness of the request under the circumstances and should meet the needs of the student to the extent that they are able to perform the essential portions of their classwork with the accommodation. Accommodations that create an undue hardship for the program or the student, or which fundamentally alter the nature of the program, are not considered reasonable.

Ultimately, the decision as to what accommodations, if any, will be provided lies with the school. Reasonable accommodations may include adaptations in the way specific course requirements are accomplished, the use of auxiliary equipment and support staff, and other modifications including testing procedures. Such aids and services are determined on a case-by-case basis in consultation with the student who has identified the need for accommodation.

¹ By adopting the AAUP statement regarding academic freedom, The Chicago School does not adopt or endorse AAUP interpretive statements or other policies.

² Teachers includes all categories of faculty members including but not limited to program faculty, clinical training directors, instructors, applied project instructors, and visting lecturers.

Accommodations are not retroactive and will be acted upon at the time the student presents said information to the institution.

Instructional Technology Accessibility

The Chicago School is committed to providing information technology ("IT"), including but not limited to digital academic resources, distance learning systems, and digital library materials, that has been designed, developed, or procured to be accessible to people with disabilities, including those who use assistive technologies. The Chicago School strives to ensure that people with disabilities have access to the same services and content available to people without disabilities. An accessible IT environment generally enhances usability for everyone.

This policy is a living document that will change over time as IT changes. It will be reviewed on a regular basis. Whenever this policy is updated or amended, the school will communicate those changes and amendments to the community.

To implement this policy, the school will offer training and resources to faculty, subject matter experts and all others in the community who design courses for students to provide guidance in how to make IT accessible. In addition, the school will consider accessibility issues and functionality in its procurement of new IT that will be used by students, faculty and others.

Definition:

Accessible: means a person with a disability is afforded the opportunity to acquire the same information, engage in the same interactions, and enjoy the same services as a person without a disability in an equally effective and equally integrated manner, with substantially equivalent ease of use. The person with a disability must be able to obtain the information as fully, equally, and independently as a person without a disability.

Service Animals

The Chicago School allows service animals on its campuses as a reasonable accommodation for students with disabilities. The student must be able to articulate whether the animal is a service animal and what function it serves in accommodating the disability.

Although not required, the school recommends that the student take the following steps when bringing a service animal on campus, so that the members of the Facilities Department can best support and accommodate them: 1) register the service animal and/or provide signage to designate its status, and 2) connect with Student Support Counseling Manager on the home campus in advance to discuss accommodation needs. The service animal must be continuously accompanied by the student and must not present a threat to other members of the community.

A student with an emotional support animal, which is not considered a service animal, should go through the accessibility accommodations request process outlined above.

Anti-Discrimination, Anti-Harassment, and Title IX Policy

The text below is a summary of The Chicago School's Anti-Discrimination, Anti-Harassment and Title IX Policy ("Policy"). For the full Policy click here. For additional resources, visit the Community Website.

Introduction

The Chicago School acknowledges its ethical and statutory responsibility to afford equal treatment and equal opportunity to all persons and thus complies with all applicable laws and directives regarding nondiscrimination and equality of opportunity. As required by Title VI, Title IX, Section 504 and all other applicable federal and state laws, the school does not discriminate and prohibits discrimination and harassment against its employees, students, and applicants based on race, ethnicity, color, sex, gender, gender identity, gender expression, genetic information, religion, creed, age (40 years or older), national origin or ancestry, sexual orientation, physical or mental disability, marital or parental status, pregnancy, military or veteran status, political activities/affiliations or any other impermissible reason in its programs and activities ("Protected Category" or "Protected Categories").

The Chicago School is committed to creating and maintaining a safe learning and working environment that is free from unlawful discrimination, harassment and retaliation. The Policy prohibits discrimination, harassment, and Sexual Misconduct, which includes Sexual Harassment, and all other forms of discrimination and harassment based on membership in any Protected Category. The Policy also prohibits retaliation against anyone who exercises their rights under the Policy.

The Policy applies to all employees, students, and other Community Members. The Chicago School has jurisdiction to investigate conduct occurring on it's campuses, in connection with its educational programs, activities, and services, or that puts Community Members at risk of serious harm or otherwise creates a hostile learning and/or working environment.

The Chicago School reserves the right to withhold a student's degree conferral if the student is under investigation per this policy, inclusive of the appeal period.

Discrimination

Discrimination is adverse action taken against or harassment of an individual based on membership in any Protected Category.

Harassment

Harassment refers to unwelcome behavior based on membership in any Protected Category. Harassment becomes impermissible where 1) enduring the offensive conduct becomes a condition for any academic-related purpose, or 2) the conduct is severe or pervasive enough to create an academic environment that a reasonable prudent person would consider intimidating, hostile, or abusive.

Sexual Harassment, as an umbrella category includes the offenses of sexual harassment, sexual assault, domestic violence, dating violence, and stalking, and is defined as:

Conduct on the basis of sex that satisfies one or more of the following: quid pro quo, sexual harassment, sexual assault, dating violence, domestic violence, stalking as defined in the full Policy. Sexual Harassment may fall within or outside of the Title IX definition of Sexual Harassment found in Appendix B of the full Policy.

Petty slights, annoyances, and isolated incidents will not rise to the level of violation of a Chicago School policy or rule. To be considered a violation, the conduct must create an environment that would be intimidating, hostile, or offensive to a reasonable person.

Offensive conduct may include but is not limited to jokes, slurs, epithets or name calling, physical assaults or threats, intimidation, ridicule or mockery, insults or put-downs, offensive objects or pictures, or interference with academic performance.

When discriminatory harassment rises to the level of creating a hostile environment, The Chicago School may also impose sanctions on the Respondent through the application of the appropriate grievance process set forth in the Policy.

The Policy includes a prohibition of online and cyber manifestations of any of the behaviors prohibited through this policy when those behaviors occur in or have an effect on the school's education program and activities or use the school networks, technology, or equipment.

Retaliation

The Chicago School bars retaliation against any person who exercises their rights under the Policy, including filing a good faith report of discrimination or harassment, participating in the complaint resolution procedures relating to the same, supporting a Complainant or Respondent, or assisting in providing information relevant to an investigation.

Reporting Complaints of Discrimination, Harassment or Retaliation

A student who believes they have been subject to unlawful discrimination, harassment or retaliation on the basis of a Protected Category, whether by faculty members, employees, training supervisors, visitors or other students, should report such matters to Jennifer Stripe Portillo, Dean for Student Success and Title IX Coordinator. Preparation of a written complaint may be required depending on the basis for the complaint. Complaints should include details of the incident or incidents, names of the individuals involved, names of any witnesses and any documents supporting the complaint.

For the full Policy click here. For additional resources, visit the Community Website.

Response to Complaints - Resolution Processes

When a complaint is received, it will be acted on promptly and appropriately. The process used to address the complaint will depend on the subject matter of the complaint. For complaints of Title IX Sexual Harassment, the Title IX Grievance Process, as described in Section C of the Policy, will be used. For all other complaints, the General Discrimination, Harassment and Retaliation Resolution Process, as described in Section B of the Policy, will be used. In some instances, an informal resolution process may be used, if deemed appropriate. Complaints and investigations will be handled on a confidential basis, to the extent possible, with regard for the rights of Complainants and Respondents. Information about the complaint and investigation will only be released on a need-to-know basis, or as otherwise required or permitted by law.

Other Reporting Options

A student may also decide to report to law enforcement, if applicable, although they are not required to do so. Reporting of sexual assault, domestic violence, dating violence, and stalking to the police does not commit the Complainant to further legal action. However, the earlier an incident is reported, the easier it will be for the police to investigate if the Complainant decides to proceed with criminal charges. Early reporting makes it more likely that the police will be able gather needed evidence before it is lost or destroyed, and that the Complainant will receive timely notice of potentially helpful survivor/witness services.

In addition, a student may contact a professional counselor, domestic violence counselor or pastoral counselor, not connected to the school, either through Student Solutions, or through other agencies or resources. Information about Student Solutions and other resources are available on the Community Website. The Chicago School encourages community members who have experienced sexual misconduct to immediately report the incident to the local police department or another area law enforcement agency.

Supportive Measures

Complainants and Respondents may request supportive measures, including but not limited to academic support, extensions of academic deadlines, class schedule modifications, withdrawals, leaves of absence, no-contact order, student financial aid counseling and referral to counseling, medical or other healthcare services and visa and immigration assistance, which shall be provided, as deemed appropriate, in accordance with the Policy. Supportive measures are non-disciplinary, non-punitive individualized services offered as appropriate, as reasonably available, and without fee or charge to the parties to restore or preserve access to the school's Education Program or Activity, including measures designed to protect the safety of all parties or the school's educational environment, and/or deter harassment, discrimination, and/or retaliation.

The Chicago School will maintain the privacy of the supportive measures, provided that privacy does not impair the school's ability to provide the supportive measures. The Chicago School will act to ensure as minimal an academic impact on the parties as possible. The Chicago School will implement measures in a way that does not unreasonably burden any party.

Emergency Removal

In certain circumstances, the Dean for Student Success/Title IX Coordinator may determine that an emergency removal is appropriate. If that decision is made, the Respondent will be notified of the decision and be given the option to meet with the Dean/Coordinator prior to such emergency removal being imposed or as soon thereafter as reasonably possible to show cause why the action should not be implemented or should be modified.

Title IX Advisors

The Complainant and Respondent are entitled to have a Title IX Advisor of their choosing accompany them to any meeting or proceeding within the Title IX Formal Grievance process, if they so choose. The parties may select whoever they wish to serve as their Title IX Advisor as long as the Title IX Advisor is eligible and available. At the hearing, cross-examination is required and must be conducted by the parties' Title IX Advisors. The parties are not permitted to directly cross-examine each other or any witnesses. If a party does not have a Title IX Advisor for a hearing, the school will appoint a trained Title IX Advisor for the limited purpose of conducting any cross-examination during the hearing. Contact the Title IX Coordinator to obtain a list of those individuals available to serve as a Title IX Advisor.

Sanctions and Remedial Action

If The Chicago School determines that the Policy was violated, sanctions may be imposed and effective remedial action will be taken. Individuals who violate the Policy will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including removal from the school. In addition, appropriate action will be taken to deter any future unlawful discrimination, harassment or retaliation.

For a student, the sanctions that may be imposed include:

- Formal written warning
- Professional Development Plan (a plan intended to require reflection and remediation of behavior found to be in violation of this policy)
- No contact order pertaining to certain Community Members or physical locations
- Referral to counseling and/or Student Solutions
- Required training or education
- Dismissal from The Chicago School

Withholding of degree conferral.

Appeals

The parties have the right to appeal a decision made, in certain circumstances. The details of the appeals process depend on the subject matter of the complaint. For appeals resulting from a report of Title IX Sexual Harassment, the Appeals process contained within the Title IX Grievance Process, as described in Section C of the Policy, will be used. For all other appeals, the General Discrimination, Harassment and Retaliation Resolution Process, as described in Section B of the Policy, will be used.

Course Evaluations

The purpose of this guide is to provide a basic overview of the course evaluation process, the types of courses that are evaluated, and the policies adhered to by the Office of Institutional Research.

The Office of Institutional Research (OIR) offers Chicago School students the opportunity to participate in online course evaluations each term/semester. These evaluations are intended to assist instructors in improving student learning on an ongoing basis. Evaluations are conducted online through an external vendor. All student responses are anonymous.

Course evaluations are the student's primary means of anonymous feedback on the quality of courses. They are used by instructors to improve courses for future students, to make them more relevant, and to improve their effectiveness as teachers. In addition, the Faculty Development and Promotion committee and the department chairs use the course evaluation results as one of the many data points for consideration during annual reviews and promotion hearings. A department chair also reviews the results of their own department quite closely, looking for ways to improve not only individual courses but also the programs offered by their departments. Lastly, because the base evaluation questions are the same for all courses, course evaluations allow us to compare courses delivered within and even across departments (when the results are statistically significant).

All results appear in aggregate form based only on submitted course evaluations. Results do not take into consideration the number of incomplete course evaluations.

Course Evaluation Eligibility

The following types of courses qualify as atypical student experiences and are NOT administered evaluations:

- Courses enrolling 3 or fewer students (to maintain student anonymity)
- Maintenance Courses
- Extension Courses
- Comprehensive Exam or Competency Exam Courses

Basic Evaluation Information

Students are notified through the school's email system at the beginning of each evaluation period. Each email includes instructions regarding how to complete the course evaluation process. Students use their assigned Chicago School email and Canvas password to login to the evaluation system. Any questions about login information should be directed to the IT Service Desk at 800.787.8367 or 312.467.8600.

Midterm Course Evaluations

Midterm course evaluations are administered to eligible classes (all 15 week courses that are not atypical) approximately the fifth week of the fall and spring terms (summer terms and term-based courses are not provided with midterm evaluations due to their length). Once launched, midterm course evaluations remain open for two weeks.

Final Course Evaluations

Final course evaluations are administered during the final two weeks of each term for all eligible courses (all 7 week or 15 week courses that are not atypical) with the exception of study abroad and field experience classes.

Study Abroad and Field Experience Courses

Final course evaluations for all study abroad and field experience classes must be completed within the first two weeks of the semester following the course experience. Students will have two weeks to complete the course evaluations which will begin on the first day of instruction of the following semester. Students enrolled in study abroad and/or field experience classes that occur in the fall, for example, should receive their evaluation the first day of instruction in the spring semester.

Student Questions

If an evaluation form is filled out incorrectly, and the evaluation period is still open, a student may email courseevaluations@thechicagoschool.edu to have the form reset. Course code, course number, and course section must be included in the email message when making a request to have a form reset.

Students should also contact OIR in the event of an incorrect course name or instructor listing so that appropriate changes can be made. Online course evaluations may not be completed once the evaluation period has ended and once closed online evaluations cannot be reopened.

Questions regarding the use of course evaluation results should be directed to program managers or Department Chairs.

Instructor Information

Instructors are notified through the school's email system a week prior to each evaluation period. At that time, instructors should log in to evaluation system to check that all courses are represented accurately. Instructors may also add custom questions to their evaluations at this time. If an instructor believes that not all of their courses are in the system then they should contact OIR, courseevaluations@thechicagoschool.edu with the course code, course number, and course section immediately.

Results

Evaluation results are released by OIR after grades are due. Results are available through the evaluation system.

Criminal Background Check

The Chicago School requires **all** degree-seeking students and all students enrolled in the Post-Bachelor's Certificate in Applied Behavior Analysis, Post-Master's Certificate in Applied Behavior Analysis, Certificate in Forensic Psychology - M.A. Non-Licensure Track to Licensure Bridge, and Certificate in Vocational Nursing to complete a Criminal Background Check (CBC). There are four reasons for this requirement:

- Protection of Public Safety: Individuals working in the professions served by The Chicago School are
 entrusted with the health, safety, and welfare of those with whom they work, have access to confidential and
 sensitive information, and operate in settings that require the exercise of ethical judgment and professional
 behavior. Thus, assuring the absence of serious criminal convictions in a student's background is imperative
 to promote the highest level of safety.
- 2. Compliance with Training & Community-Engaged Scholarship Partners: Applied learning experiences are essential elements of Chicago School degree programs. A student who cannot participate in such experiences due to serious criminal convictions may not be able to fulfill the requirements of the degree program. Therefore, it is in both the student's and school's interest to identify such restrictions upon entry.
- 3. Early Identification of Licensure or Certification Ineligibility: Similarly, serious criminal convictions may prevent a graduate's ability to attain a professional license or certification in their chosen field of study. Both the student and the school should quickly identify such limitations.
- Campus Safety: All members of the school community are entitled to work and study in a safe environment.
 Identification of violent backgrounds through CBCs reduces the possibility of criminal acts on or around campus.

For Texas students: An individual who has been convicted of an offense may be ineligible for issuance of an occupational license upon completion of the educational program.

- Behavior Analysts are licensed by the Texas Department of Licensing and Regulation (TDLR) and the current guidelines requiring successful completion of a state-approved criminal background check are available in the Behavior Analysts Law Section 506.252 and Administrative Rules Section 121.20. An individual may request a criminal history evaluation letter from TDLR regarding the person's eligibility for a license if the person: (1) is enrolled or planning to enroll in an educational program that prepares a person for an initial license or is planning to take an examination for an initial license; and (2) has reason to believe that the person is ineligible for the license due to a conviction or deferred adjudication for a felony or misdemeanor offense. The request must state the basis for the person's potential ineligibility.
- Nurses are licensed by the Texas Board of Nursing. An applicant may petition the Board of Nursing for a declaratory order concerning eligibility for a license if they have reason to believe that they are ineligible for licensure and are: (a) Enrolled or planning to enroll in an educational program that prepares them for an initial license as an RN or VN; or (b) An applicant for a license. The request must state the basis for the person's ineligibility. An applicant may download and print the Petition for Declaratory Order form from the Texas Board of Nursing website. For further information on the conditions that may disqualify individuals from licensure and about an applicant's rights to petition the Board for a Declaratory Order of Eligibility please review: Texas Occupations Code sections 301.252, 301.257 and 301.452-469; Texas Administrative Code sections 213.27 213.30 (relating to Good Professional Character, Licensure of Persons with Criminal Convictions, Criteria and Procedure Regarding Intemperate Use and Lack of Fitness in Eligibility and Disciplinary Matters, Declaratory Order of Eligibility for Licensure); Texas Administrative Code 215.8.

Completion of the CBC is required by the add/drop deadline of the second semester of enrollment for a semester-based student or the third term for a term-based student. A student will be placed on a registration hold during their first term/semester until the requirement is complete. Failure to complete the CBC by the designated deadline may result in a student being administratively withdrawn from their program.

The results of the CBC will generally be honored for the student's entire length of study so long as the student does not have a break in enrollment for more than 364 days.

The Chicago School reserves the right to require an additional CBC during the student's course of study, on a discretionary basis and at the student's expense. A student moving to a new degree program that leads to licensure or other professional credential will be required to complete an additional CBC if their results from a previous background check are 365 or more days old.

If a student is convicted of criminal activity while enrolled, the student is responsible for informing their Student Support Counselor. A conviction that is not reported by the student but becomes known to the institution may result in disciplinary action up to and including dismissal.

Permission to remain enrolled may be rescinded if CBC results are incompatible with eligibility to meet relevant degree, licensure, or certification requirements or if they increase risk to the school and its inhabitants and/or partner agencies and the people with whom they work. A student may submit a written statement explaining the circumstances of their CBC findings, if desired. School officials retain the right to refer questionable CBC findings to the student's academic department for review, hearings, deliberation, and issuance of supportive or disciplinary actions per existing policy, e.g. participating in an Academic Development Plan. A student who wishes to file an appeal or complaint for any actions taken as a result of the CBC report may do so under existing school policy.

The Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA), also known as the Buckley Amendment (20 USC S. 1232g), affords students certain rights with respect to their education records. FERPA rights begin upon the student's enrollment, which occurs when the student has been admitted to the university and attends any portion of a course. FERPA does not apply to records of applicants for admission who are denied acceptance or, if accepted, do not attend the institution.

For purposes of compliance with FERPA, The Chicago School considers all students independent. Questions about FERPA and education records may be directed to the Office of the Registrar.

Education Records

Education records contains information that personally identifies a student including the student's name, student identification number/social security number, student address, parent/family member names, and a list of personal characteristics. Education records are official and confidential. Education records include a range of information that is maintained in any recorded way such as handwriting, print, computer media, video or audio tape, film, microfilm, and microfiche. Education records include but are not limited to:

- Parent(s) and/or guardian addresses, and parent(s)/guardian contact information;
- Grades, test scores, courses taken, academic specializations and activities, and official letters regarding a student's status in school;
- Special education records;
- Disciplinary records;
- Medical and health records that the school creates or collects and maintains;
- Documentation of attendance, schools attended, courses taken, awards conferred, and degrees earned;
- Personal information such as a student's identification code, social security number, picture, or other information that would make it easy to identify or locate a student.

Personal notes made by school officials not shared with others are not considered part of the education records. Admissions documents become part of the education records once the student attends courses. Education records are permanently maintained and stored in the Office of the Registrar both electronically with a secure backup file and/or in secure fire-resistant file cabinets.

The Chicago school is the custodian of education records for the California Graduate Institute (CGI), Santa Barbara Graduate Institute (SBGI), and Dallas Nursing Institute (DNI). This includes all education records for individuals who either earned a degree from or became an inactive student of CGI (prior to October 7, 2008), or SBGI (prior to August 2010), or DNI (prior to January 2019). Information on records for all institutions is available from tcsppregistrar@thechicagoschool.edu.

Student Rights

Right to Inspect and Review

A student has the right to inspect and review their education records within forty-five (45) business days after the school receives a written request for access using the Request to Review/Amend Education Records form. The form must identify the education records to be inspected and must be submitted by the student to the Office of the Registrar. The University Registrar or designee will make arrangements for access and notify the student of next steps for

inspecting the record. If the Office of the Registrar does not retain the record requested, the student will be advised of the correct official to whom the request should be addressed.

The Chicago School will not issue a printed copy of the education records unless extenuating circumstances prevent viewing it in person. This determination will be made on a case-by-case basis.

Right to Request Amendments

A student has the right to request an amendment of education records if the student believes the record is inaccurate or misleading. To request an amendment, the student must submit the Request to Review/Amend Education Records and a formal letter clearly identifying the part of the record to be changed and specifying why the record is inaccurate or misleading.

Right to Request a Hearing

The institution has the right to decide whether to amend the education records as requested by the student. If the school decides not to amend the record as requested by the student, the school will notify the student of the decision and advise the student of the right to a hearing regarding the request for amendment. To request a hearing, the student submits a Request to Review/Amend Education Records form. The University Registrar will refer the request to the Chief Academic Officer who will either act as the hearing officer or appoint a designee to conduct a formal hearing according to the following procedures:

- The student will be permitted to present information and materials in support of the assertion that the education records are inaccurate, misleading, or otherwise erroneous.
- A representative of the school will be permitted to present information and materials that support the school's
 position.
- Each party will be present during the hearing and may challenge information and materials of the other party.
- If a student is unable to attend the hearing in person due to distance, the student may be offered the opportunity to participate via a phone conference or online meeting.
- The hearing officer will render a decision on the matter generally within five (5) business days after the conclusion of the hearing. FERPA does not provide a process to be used to question substantive judgments, which are correctly recorded. For example, the rights of challenge do not allow a student to contest a grade in a course because the student believes a higher grade should have been assigned.

Right to Consent to Disclosures

A student has the right to consent to disclosures of personally identifiable information contained in the education records, except to the extent that FERPA authorizes disclosure without consent. One exception that permits disclosure without consent is disclosure to school officials with legitimate educational interests. A school official is a person employed by the school in an administrative, supervisory, academic, research, or support staff position; a person or company with whom the school has contracted (such as an attorney, auditor, collection agent, or official of the U.S. Department of Education or other federal agency); a person serving on the Board of Trustees; or a student serving on an official committee or assisting another school official in performing tasks. A school official has a legitimate educational interest if the official needs to review the education records in order to fulfill professional responsibility.

The Chicago School may disclose education records in certain other circumstances:

- to comply with a judicial order or a lawfully issued subpoena
- to appropriate parties in a health or safety emergency
- to officials of another school, upon request and for purposes related to the student's enrollment, where
 a student seeks or intends to enroll or is already enrolled

- in connection with a student's request for or receipt of financial aid, as necessary to determine the eligibility, amount, or conditions of the financial aid, or to enforce the terms and conditions of the aid
- to certain officials of the U.S. Department of Education, the Comptroller General, to state and local educational authorities in connection with certain state or federally supported education programs
- to accrediting organizations to carry out their functions
- to organizations conducting certain studies for or on behalf of the school
- the results of an institutional disciplinary proceeding against the alleged perpetrator of a crime of violence may be released to the alleged victim of that crime with respect to that crime

Additionally, The Chicago School must, upon written request, disclose to the alleged victim of any crime of violence or a non-forcible sex offense, the results of any disciplinary proceeding conducted by the school against a student who is the alleged perpetrator of such crime or offense.

Alleged victims and perpetrators in sexual misconduct and sexual harassment incidents have a right to be informed of the outcome and sanctions of the hearing, in writing, without condition or limitation, and to be kept apprised of the status of investigations.

If the alleged victim is deceased as a result of the crime or offense, the information shall be provided, upon written request, to the next of kin of the alleged victim.

Right to File a Complaint

A student has the right to file a complaint with the U.S. Department of Education concerning alleged failures by the school to comply with the requirements of FERPA. The name and address of the office that administers FERPA is: Family Policy Compliance Office, U.S. Department of Education, 400 Maryland Avenue, SW, Washington, DC, 20202-5920.

Right to Restrict Directory Information

A student has the right to restrict the release of "directory information" except to school officials with legitimate educational interests and others as indicated above. To restrict the release of directory information, a student must make the request in writing to the Office of the Registrar. Once filed, this request becomes a permanent part of the student's record until the student instructs the school, in writing, to remove the request.

The Chicago School designates the following as public or "directory information":

- Student name
- Address(es)
- Email address(es)
- Telephone number(s)
- Date and place of birth
- Major field of study
- Photograph(s)
- Degree sought
- Expected date of completion of degree requirements and graduation
- Grade Level
- Degrees and awards received
- Dates of attendance
- Enrollment status (e.g., undergraduate or graduate, full-time or part-time)
- Previous educational agency or institution attended
- Participation in officially recognized activities
- Class rosters within the classroom

Release of a Deceased's Education Record

The Chicago School will release a deceased's record within one year of passing to the following individuals:

- The individual(s) named on a signed FERPA Student Authorization Release Form, if on file with the institution.
- The deceased's next of kin. The request must be accompanied by official documentation.
- The individual designated as the representative of the deceased's estate. The request must be accompanied by
 official documentation.
- In response to a subpoena or court order.
- To any other individual, if determined by the institution to be in the best interest of the deceased or the institution.

After one year has elapsed following the death of a student or alumni, the school may release the education record of the deceased at its discretion.

Intellectual Property Policy

The purpose of the Intellectual Property Policy is to provide the necessary incentives and protections to encourage the discovery and development of new knowledge, and its application and transfer for public benefit and to the benefit of The Chicago School. This policy applies to all students of The Chicago School and to all persons participating in a sponsored project and/or making significant use of Chicago School Resources and/or participating in teaching, research, or service projects. The Intellectual Property Policy is posted online.

Copyright Law

The photocopying or reproduction by other means of copyrighted materials is a right granted under the federal Copyright Act that defines the rights of a copyright holder and how they may be enforced against an infringer. The unauthorized reproduction and distribution of copyrighted material is strictly prohibited. Students identified as having violated this policy may be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including but not limited to dismissal from the institution, or legal action as appropriate, or both.

Copyright infringement is the act of exercising, without permission or legal authority, one or more of the exclusive rights granted to the copyright owner under Section 106 of the Copyright Act (Title 17 of the United States Code). These rights include the right to reproduce or distribute a copyrighted work. In the file-sharing context, downloading or uploading substantial parts of a copyrighted work without authority constitutes an infringement.

Penalties for copyright infringement include civil and criminal penalties. In general, anyone found liable for civil copyright infringement may be ordered to pay either actual damages or "statutory" damages affixed at not less than \$750 and not more than \$30,000 per work infringed. For "willful" infringement, a court may award up to \$150,000 per work infringed. A court can, in its discretion, also assess costs and attorneys' fees. For details, see Title 17, United States Code, Sections 504, 505.

Willful copyright infringement can also result in criminal penalties, including imprisonment of up to five years and fines of up to \$250,000 per offense.

All students of The Chicago School are subject to the restrictions imposed by the Copyright Act. The copyright law applies to all forms of photocopying, whether it is undertaken at a commercial copying center, at the school's copying facilities, or at a self-service machine.

Reproduction of copyrighted material without prior permission of the copyright owner is prohibited except as permitted under the doctrine of "fair use," an exception that must not be abused. The "fair use" doctrine allows, under certain conditions, the reproduction of copyrighted material for purposes such as criticism, comment, news reporting, teaching, scholarship, or research.

A student must exercise prudent judgment when reproducing the works of others so as to not violate the copyright law. Any concern about a student's reproduction of materials should be brought to the attention of the student's Department Chair or Campus Dean.

For more information, please visit U.S. Copyright Office website, especially their FAQ.

Acceptable Use of Online Services

The Chicago School provides students with access to online services such as the Internet. The school expects that students will use these services in a responsible way for education-related purposes. The Chicago School does not allow inappropriate use such as accessing, downloading from, or contributing to sites that contain gross, indecent, or sexually-oriented content, gambling activities and the like.

Digital Millennium Copyright Act (DMCA) Notification and Response Plan

In compliance with additional requirements of the Higher Education Opportunity Act (HEOA) of 2008 and the Digital Millennium Copyright Act (DMCA), the school prohibits unlawful file sharing of copyright materials. In particular, the school's plan requires students, employees and visitors using school networks or computers to comply with pertinent U.S. and international copyright laws. Failure to comply with the policies in the DMCA plan may result in disciplinary action as well as civil and criminal penalties.

Policy Exception

Exceptions to selected Chicago School policies may be granted on a discretionary basis after review by the Committee on Policy Exception. Should a current or former student (hereafter referred to as petitioner) face an extenuating circumstance that necessitates a request for exception to selected institutional policies, the petitioner may present a case for their desired exception using the Petition for Policy Exception. An extenuating circumstance is defined as a documented serious medical issue such as illness or injury of the petitioner; a documented death, serious injury, or severe illness of a primary family member (spouse or partner, child, parent or guardian, grandparent, or sibling); an institutional error; or other similar specified reason.

Submitting a petition does not guarantee that a policy exception will be granted. All decisions made by the Committee on Policy Exception are final. A denied request cannot be overturned, appealed, or petitioned again. The policy exception procedure is institutional not judicial, so there is no role for legal counsel.

Limitations

Policy Exception cannot be used to appeal a disciplinary decision, appeal a grade, change a curriculum or timeframe of a degree program, and/or request an exception to academic department policy. The petition may not be used for accessibility accommodation. A student requiring accommodation under the Americans with Disabilities Act must follow the process outlined in the Accessibility Accommodations section of this Catalog.

Submitting a Petition

A petitioner is encouraged to seek supporting signatures from their Course Instructor of Record, Faculty Advisor, Department Chair, or Campus Responsible Leader for all requests. Additional signatures may be required for specific types of requests. The petition must be signed by the Student Support Counselor who assisted the petitioner with their request. Signatures must be applied to the petition before it is submitted.

A petition must be signed, dated, and submitted by the petitioner. A petition submitted by another party will not be accepted except in cases where the petitioner is incapacitated. In such a case, the petitioner's Student Support Counselor must consult with the Dean for Student Success on whether they may submit the petition. A petition must be submitted

no later than the Add/Drop deadline two terms/one semester after the one in which the extenuating circumstance occurred. The Add/Drop deadline is posted on the Academic Calendar.

Outcomes granted through policy exception include but are not limited to tuition forgiveness, assignment of a "W" grade, or waiver of selected fees. Non-refundable institutional fees such as Add/Drop, Student Institutional Service, Payment Plan Enrollment, Late Payment, Late Registration, and Degree Conferral fees may not be petitioned. When requesting tuition forgiveness, courses dropped after 60% of the term/semester has expired are eligible for up to 50% maximum tuition forgiveness only. Tuition forgiveness may result in funds being returned to a lender or in a credit applied to the petitioner's Chicago School account. A petitioner should consult with Financial Aid, where applicable, prior to submitting a petition in order to determine which outcome is preferred.

Petitions that fail to comply with this policy may be rejected. The petitioner will receive written notification of this action. Additional information, including the petition form, is available from Student Support Services.

Professional Licensure or Certification

A student who is licensed or certified is expected to follow the professional expectations and mandated reporting requirements set forth by their credentialing entity.

A student who has voluntarily surrendered or had a professional license or certification suspended or revoked for any reason must disclose this information at the time of application to the institution. A regularly-enrolled student who has a license or certification suspended or revoked or who surrenders a license or certification must disclose this information to the Department Chair within 10 business days of the event occurring.

A student who fails to disclose revocation of a license or certification whether it occurred prior to or during their enrollment may be referred to the Student Affairs Committee for consideration of disciplinary action up to and including dismissal from the school.

Nursing Programs Requiring Licensure

A nursing student enrolled in a program that requires nursing licensure must maintain good standing with the Board of Nursing for the duration of their enrollment. A nursing student who does not maintain good standing must report this change to their Department Chair. Revocation of a nursing license will impact a student's ability to continue in the academic program.

Religious Accommodations

The Chicago School is committed to diversity and nondiscrimination in accordance with state and federal laws and regulations, and the institution supports all students in their religious affiliation or non-affiliation. As such, the school will reasonably accommodate a student's religious observance or practice unless such accommodation fundamentally alters the nature of a course or academic program or is deemed unreasonable.

A student who needs to miss a class meeting, examination, or other course or program requirement due to religious observance or practice must request an accommodation by the Add/Drop deadline using the Religious Reasonable Accommodation Request form. A form must be submitted to the instructor of record for the course for each impacted course.

Upon receiving a request form, the instructor of record for the course will work with the student to determine reasonable alternatives that would allow an opportunity to make up any missed work, without penalty, unless granting such an opportunity would fundamentally alter the nature of the course or academic program and/or create undue hardship for the institution or another student. An approved absence from a class meeting, examination, or other

requirement under this policy will not count against any mandatory attendance requirement. However, absence does not relieve a student from responsibility for any missed course requirements.

An approved accommodation must be documented on the request form.

Remediation

The Chicago School is committed to supporting student success. Where a student needs individualized support to remediate a behavioral or academic concern, an Academic Development Plan may be used.

Academic Development Plan (ADP)

An ADP is used to assist a student in the successful completion of a degree program. A student who is experiencing academic or professional behavior difficulties including a failure to progress according to academic standards or expectations may be placed on an ADP as deemed necessary by the faculty advisor, the Department Chair or designee, and/or the Student Affairs Committee. ADPs do not constitute disciplinary action; as such, they do not affect academic standing and cannot be appealed.

In the creation of an ADP, information may be solicited from any Chicago School employee, supervisor at practicum or internship or other community partner agency, supervisor of school-required workplace activity, and/or any other party involved in the student's education and training. In conversations with outside education and training partners, the school may inform supervisors about the student's ADP to assess the extent to which the concerns in question have affected the student's performance and to ensure continuity of training and education between a partner site and the school.

The development of an ADP requires involvement of the student, their Faculty Advisor, and the Department Chair or designee. Other school officials may be involved as deemed necessary and appropriate. The student is expected to actively participate in the development of the plan. Refusal to participate in creating an ADP or to complete required tasks may result in a referral to the Student Affairs Committee for consideration of disciplinary action.

An ADP must clearly identify the concern(s) in question and the steps necessary to resolve those concerns within a specified timeframe. The ADP must identify who is charged with overseeing the plan and when and how feedback will be delivered to all parties involved. Finally, the plan must clarify the consequences if the terms of the ADP are not fulfilled.

Depending upon the situation, the school may require a student to take immediate steps to address identified concerns before an ADP has been finalized. Based on the student's progress in meeting the requirements set forth, an ADP may be modified, including additional requirements or removing existing requirements. Such changes must be made in writing. The ADP is emailed to the student, and a copy is kept in the student's education record.

Should a student on an ADP transfer to a new degree program, the ADP will be forwarded to the new department's ADP Manager by the previous department's ADP Manager. As the ADP may contain program-specific requirements, the new academic department may opt to either discontinue the ADP or to revise it to account for program requirements and expectations. Components of the ADP that resulted from a SAC decision should be retained by the new academic department. Revision of the ADP will be managed by the new department's ADP Manager in consultation with the previous department's ADP Manager, where practicable.

Students Affected by Declared Disaster or Emergency

A student who resides in an area located with the United States that is declared a major disaster or emergency area as defined by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) of the U.S. Department of Homeland Security may be eligible for accommodations. A major disaster or emergency is defined by FEMA as:

Major disaster: Any natural catastrophe (including hurricane, tornado, storm, high water, wind-driven water, tidal wave, tsunami, earthquake, volcanic eruption, landslide, mud slide, snowstorm, or drought) or, regardless of cause, any fire, flood, or explosion, in any part of the United States, which in the determination of the Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act. 42 U.S.C. 5121 et seq., to supplement the efforts and available resources of states, local governments, and disaster relief organizations in alleviating the damage, loss, hardship, or suffering caused thereby.

Emergency: Any occasion or instance for which, in the determination of the President of the United States, federal assistance is needed to supplement state and local efforts and capabilities to save lives and to protect property and public health and safety, or to lessen or avert the threat of a catastrophe in any part of the United States.

A student affected by a declared disaster or emergency as defined above must contact their faculty advisor, Student Support Counselor, or Department Chair within 10 business days (term-based programs) or 20 business days (semester-based programs) to discuss circumstances and determine whether it is possible to continue with studies during that term/semester. The department representative will engage Student Support Counseling to determine how to best protect the student from potential academic or financial penalties, when possible.

Student Complaints

The Chicago School is committed to mutual respect and the effective resolution of student complaints through an efficient and fair procedure. The University seeks to maintain an environment that encourages all community members to work together to address student complaints using informal resolution. When informal resolution is not possible, The school is committed to a fair and reasonable resolution of issues through the formal complaint procedure articulated in this policy.

A student who believes they have been subject to unlawful discrimination or harassment whether by a faculty member, employee, supervisor, visitor, or other student, should direct their concern to the appropriate school official as articulated in the Anti-Discrimination, Anti-Harassment, and Title IX Policy.

What is a Complaint?

A complaint is an allegation of unfair treatment resulting in adverse effects caused by decisions, actions, or inactions that were made by employees or agents of the school. This includes all items deemed eligible for review as listed below.

<u>Issues Eligible for Review</u>: Issues eligible for review include the implementation of policies and procedures, and issues concerning transcripts, financial aid, classroom issues, course scheduling, personal hardship matters, student accounts, military benefits matters, access accommodation-related matters, and advising.

Issues Ineligible for Review: Issues ineligible for review include the substance of any duly adopted policy or procedure, the substance that forms the basis for student performance evaluation, academic performance, grade appeals, transfer credits, course content, decisions regarding a student's academic status (including SAP), content or quality of services that do not arise from a specific act or incident and/or where a student cannot show disadvantage or unfair treatment; comments about the general content or provision of a course or program, and general allegations of misconduct or inappropriate behavior by students.

The complaint procedure may be used by a current Chicago School student (hereafter referred to as the Reporting Party). The Reporting Party must be the alleged victim of unfair treatment. A complaint may not be filed by one party on behalf of another party.

Time Limits

A formal complaint must be received by the Responsible Leader, defined below, no later than 45 business days after the Reporting Party first became aware of the facts which gave rise to the complaint and must be submitted on the Student Complaint Intake Form. The time limit may be extended by the Responsible Leader if the Reporting Party requests an extension within the 45 business day period for good cause shown, e.g. an active effort at informal resolution.

Informal Complaint Resolution

Prior to invoking the formal complaint resolution procedure described below, the Reporting Party is strongly encouraged to make active efforts to resolve matters through professional and direct communication with the person or persons directly involved (hereafter referred to as the Responding Party). These efforts should take place as soon as the Reporting Party first becomes aware of the act or condition that is the basis of the complaint. If unsure of how to proceed, the Reporting Party may enlist the assistance of another member of the school community (faculty advisor, department chair) to help identify a proper course of action and/or to mediate problems, if necessary. The Reporting Party has the right to end the informal complaint resolution process at any time.

Formal Complaint Resolution

The student complaint procedure is an institutional process not a judicial one, so the presence of legal counsel, whether in person or virtual, is prohibited for any party to the complaint. This policy cannot be substituted for other appeal processes.

Filing a Formal Complaint

The submission of the Student Complaint Intake Form and supporting documentation is used to invoke a review of a formal complaint. The complaint filing must include a completed intake form and:

- Be in writing;
- State how the decision or action is unfair and harmful to the Reporting Party and list the school policies or state or federal laws that have been violated, if known;
- Name the Responding Party;
- State how the Responding Party is responsible for the action or decision; and
- State the requested remedy.

A formal complaint is managed by a campus-specific Responsible Leader. The Reporting Party must submit all documentation to the Responsible Leader of the home campus. If the Reporting Party has good cause to believe that the Responsible Leader is unable to be impartial, they may request the Dean for Student Success assign the complaint to another Responsible Leader.

The campus-specific Responsible Leaders responsible for complaints as of the date of publication of this Academic Catalog and Student Handbook are:

- Chicago: Michael Crawford, Associate Campus Dean, mcrawford2@thechicagoschool.edu, 312-467-2262
- Dallas, New Orleans, and College of Nursing and Advanced Health Professions (CONAHP): Lance Garrison, Campus Dean, lgarrison@thechicagoschool.edu, 469-941-8360
- Anaheim, Los Angeles, and San Diego: Margaret Martyn, Interim Campus Dean, mmartyn@thechicagoschool.edu, 312-467-2331
- Online: Alisha DeWalt, Campus Dean, adewalt@thechicagoschool.edu, 312-488-6012
- Washington, D.C.: Dorothy Collins, Campus Dean, dcollins4@thechicagoschool.edu, 202-706-5056

Current Responsible Leader information can be found here. Should an attorney file a complaint with the school on behalf of a Reporting Party, it will be referred to the Office of General Counsel.

Processing a Formal Complaint

The Responsible Leader must initiate the formal complaint resolution procedure within 10 business days of receipt of the formal complaint.

The Responsible Leader will determine whether the complaint may be reviewed in accordance with the criteria articulated in this policy. If the matter is deemed not eligible for review, it will be dismissed, and a letter will be submitted to the Reporting Party stating the same. If the matter is deemed reviewable, the Responsible Leader will appoint an ad hoc committee that will review the complaint.

Selecting the Ad Hoc Committee

The ad hoc committee is comprised of two faculty members and one student. The Responsible Leader will designate one of the two faculty members appointed to the ad hoc committee to serve as chairperson. At any time during the formal complaint review, the Responsible Leader and ad hoc committee may make further attempts to resolve the complaint informally.

If the Reporting Party has good cause to believe that a member of the ad hoc committee is unable to be impartial, they may request that the Responsible Leader disqualify that member. Such a disqualification shall be granted only upon the demonstration of a conflict of interest. The decision to alter or preserve the composition of the ad hoc committee rests solely with the Responsible Leader, and the Responsible Leader's decision is final.

Ad Hoc Committee Procedures

All proceedings of the ad hoc committee are confidential. The ad hoc committee chairperson must meet with Dean for Student Success to receive an overview of the procedure and obtain forms prior to the opening of the review.

- Within five business days of being appointed, the ad hoc committee chairperson will write a letter to the Reporting Party and the Responding Party to communicate the opening of the review and distribute the complaint documents.
 - a. The Responding Party has five business days to return a written response to the chairperson. The Responding Party must include any exhibits they wish to introduce as evidence, including the names of witnesses. The chairperson may extend the deadline for submitting a response upon a showing of good cause.
- 2. Upon receipt of the Responding Party's response, the chairperson will distribute all complaint documents to the Reporting Party, Responding Party, and committee members.
- 3. The complaint will be heard at a live/synchronous hearing that will include the Reporting Party, Responding Party, and any witnesses. During the live/synchronous hearing, each party will be permitted to hear the other party and any witnesses present information and will be permitted an opportunity to respond.
 - a. The Reporting Party may include one Chicago School faculty or staff member as a support person during the live hearing.
 - b. The hearing may be conducted using online meeting technology. All participants must appear on webcam for the duration of the hearing.

Ad Hoc Committee Deliberation and Decision

The ad hoc committee will be the final judge of what testimony or data is relevant. The committee will deliberate to evaluate the merits of the complaint and make findings of fact. Deliberations will be restricted to members of the ad hoc committee.

The committee's decision will be based solely on material presented in the review including written materials provided prior to the hearing and information presented during the hearing. A majority vote of the ad hoc committee will be required to make an affirmative decision on the complaint. The chairperson will have the right to vote.

Upon reaching a decision, the ad hoc committee will communicate its findings in writing to the Reporting Party, the Responding Party, the Responsible Leader, and to the appropriate institutional representative(s) who shall implement any actions recommended by the ad hoc committee within 30 business days after the close of the committee proceedings, if applicable.

Appeal Procedures

Reporting Party

The Reporting Party may appeal the committee's decision to the Vice President of Academic Affairs (VPAA). The appeal must:

- be in writing
- state the grounds for appeal including a list of alleged error(s) in the decision or decision-making process
- state the requested remedy
- include a copy of the decision being appealed
- be dated and signed.

An appeal received more than 10 business days after the ad hoc committee's decision was rendered will not be considered. The VPAA will notify the Responding Party of the appeal within two business days of its receipt.

The VPAA will communicate their decision on the appeal in writing within 10 business days of its receipt. The written decision will include the reason(s) for the decision, and it shall direct a remedy for the Reporting Party, if applicable. The decision on the appeal is final.

Neither the decision on the appeal nor the original committee decision can be appealed further.

Responding Party

The Responding Party may appeal the committee's decision to the Vice President of Academic Affairs (VPAA). If the Responding Party is a direct report of the VPAA, the appeal will be directed to the Vice President of Human Resources.

The appeal must:

- be in writing
- state the grounds for appeal including a list of alleged error(s) in the decision or decision-making process
- state the requested remedy
- include a copy of the decision being appealed
- be dated and signed.

An appeal received more than 10 business days after the ad hoc committee's decision was rendered will not be considered. The VPAA or VPHR will notify the Reporting Party of the appeal within two business days of its receipt.

The VPAA or VPHR will communicate their decision on the appeal in writing within 10 business days of its receipt. The written decision will include the reason(s) for the decision, and it shall direct a remedy for the Responding Party, if applicable. The decision on the appeal is final.

Neither the decision on the appeal nor the original committee decision can be appealed further.

Recordkeeping

The ad hoc committee chairperson will compile the official complaint record that will include a copy of all correspondence with all parties, all materials submitted to the committee, a summary of the committee's decision, and anything else considered by the committee in reaching its decision. The final report will be kept in the Reporting Party's education record and in the Responding Party's personnel file. The report will be retained for seven calendar years following the year in which the complaint was resolved.

A member of the Student Support Counseling team tracks formal complaints and reports activity to the Responsible Leader on a quarterly basis.

Complaints to External Agencies

A student is expected to follow the school's internal procedures before making a report to an external agency. A student who exhausts all internal complaint procedures and who is dissatisfied with the results may wish to raise the issue with the relevant state agency under which the institution operates.

Agency Name & Contact Information
Alabama Commission on Higher Education
http://ache.edu/ACHE_Reports/Forms/SARA/StudentComp.pdf
Alaska Commission on Postsecondary Education
https://acpe.alaska.gov/ConsumerProtection.
Arkansas Institutional Certification Advisory Committee, icac@adhe.edu.
https://www.adhe.edu/institutions/academic-affairs/institutional-certification-advisory-committee/.
Bureau for Private Postsecondary Education (BPPE) in the Department of Consumer Affairs
https://www.bppe.ca.gov/forms_pubs/complaint.pdf
Connecticut Office of Higher Education
http://www.ctohe.org/StudentComplaints.shtml.
Georgia Nonpublic Postsecondary Education Commission
2082 E. Exchange Pl. #220, Tucker, GA 30084-5334
https://gnpec.georgia.gov/student-complaints
Illinois Board of Higher Education
https://complaints.ibhe.org/
Indiana Board for Proprietary Education
https://www.in.gov/che/2744.htm
Iowa College Student Aid Commission

	The Commission accepts questions, concerns, and complaints from Iowa residents attending any postsecondary school in the United States.	
	https://www.iowacollegeaid.gov/StudentComplaintForm	
	(877) 272-4456 Kansas Board of Regents	
	1000 SW Jackson, Suite 520	
Kansas	Topeka, KS 66612-1368	
	(785)-430-4240	
	http://www.kansasregents.org/academic_affairs/private_out_of_state/complaint_process	
	Louisiana Board of Regents	
Louisiana	https://regents.la.gov/about/proprietary-schools/	
	https://www.regents.la.gov/assets/docs/2014/07/StudentComplaintProcedure.pdf	
	Maryland Higher Education Commission	
Maryland	http://mhec.maryland.gov/institutions_training/Pages/career/pcs/complaint.aspx	
Minnesota	Minnesota Office of Higher Education	
winnesota	http://www.ohe.state.mn.us/mPg.cfm?pageID=1078	
	Montana Department of Justice, Office of Consumer Protection	
Montana	https://www.mus.edu/MUS-statement-of-complaint-process.asp	
	New Mexico Higher Education Department	
New Mexico	http://www.hed.state.nm.us/students/hed-student-complaint-form.aspx	
	North Carolina Post-Secondary Education Complaints	
	The University of North Carolina System Offices	
North	Student Complaints	
Carolina	910 Raleigh Road, Chapel Hill, NC 27515-2688	
	(919) 962-4558	
	studentcomplaints@northcarolina.edu; http://www.northcarolina.edu/complaints	
Ohio	Ohio Department of Higher Education	
	https://www.ohiohighered.org/students/complaints	
Oregon	Students should attempt to resolve any grievances they may have with their school first. Should attempts to resolve these problems with appropriate school officials fail, or should the student be dissatisfied with the final outcome of the college complaint process, then the Higher Education Coordinating Commission (HECC), can respond to a formal complaint. Students may contact the HECC, 3225 25th St. SE, Salem,	

	OR 97302 or by sending an email to complaints@hecc.oregon.gov. Students may also access our complaints web page:
	https://www.oregon.gov/highered/institutions-programs/private/pages/private-postsecondary-complaints.aspx
D 1 :	Pennsylvania Department of Education - Postsecondary and Adult Education
Pennsylvania	https://www.education.pa.gov/Postsecondary-Adult/Pages/default.aspx
	Texas Workforce Commission
	https://twc.texas.gov/jobseekers/career-schools-colleges- students#howToSubmitAComplaintAgainstASchool
	Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board
Texas	For a description of the procedure for filing a complaint and required forms visit http://www.thecb.state.tx.us/studentcomplaints.
	Student complaints are governed by Title 19 of the Texas Administrative Code, Rules 1.110-1.120 accessible at
	http://texreg.sos.state.tx.us/public/readtac\$ext.ViewTAC?tac_view=5&ti=19&pt=1&ch=1&sch=E&rl=Y.
Utah	Utah Department of Commerce, Division of Consumer Protection
Ctan	https://consumerprotection.utah.gov/
Washington,	District of Columbia Higher Education Licensure Commission
D.C.	http://osse.dc.gov/service/education-licensure-commission-elc-public-complaints
Washington (state)	The Washington Student Achievement Council (WSAC) has authority to investigate student complaints against specific schools. WSAC may not be able to investigate every student complaint. Visit https://wsac.wa.gov/student-complaints for information regarding the WSAC complaint process.
West	West Virginia Higher Education Policy Commission
Virginia	http://www.wvhepc.edu/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/Student-Complaint-Process-revised.pdf
Wisconsin	Wisconsin Department of Safety and Professional Services, Educational Approval Program
W ISCOUSIU	https://dsps.wi.gov/pages/programs/educationalapproval/default.aspx
Wyoming	Wyoming Department of Education
w younng	https://edu.wyoming.gov/beyond-the-classroom/school-programs/private-school-licensing/
<u> </u>	no Poetry is advised to find the state of useidence. If the state of useidence is not listed, the state in which

^{*}The Reporting Party is advised to find the state of residence. If the state of residence is not listed, the state in which the home campus is located should be selected.

An external complaint may be directed to the Western Association of Colleges and Schools, Senior College and University Commission (WSCUC). WSCUC requires that a Reporting Party attempt to resolve an issue with the institution prior to filing a complaint. The Commission's complaint procedures are for the purpose of addressing significant non-compliance with the Standards of Accreditation and Commission policies. Thus, WSCUC will not interpose itself as an adjudicatory or complaint-resolving body in individual matters including admission, granting or

transfer of academic credit, grades, fees, student financial aid, student discipline, or collective bargaining, faculty or staff appointments, promotion, tenure, contractual rights and obligations, and dismissals or similar matters.

The Commission's staff will investigate a complaint in order to determine whether it appears that a standard or policy was violated and, if such is the case, it will take appropriate action within the range of options that are available to it under Commission Standards and Policies. The WSCUC complaint form and process can be found under "Resources" at www.wascsenior.org. Inquiries may be directed to: Western Association of Colleges and Schools, Senior College and University Commission, 985 Atlantic Avenue, Suite 100, Alameda, CA 94501, Phone: (510) 748-9001.

Student Learning Assessment

The Chicago School is committed to offering the highest quality academic programs in applied professional disciplines. To meet the school's standard for academic quality, program learning outcomes are aligned with course learning outcomes and guide assessment. Data collected from the results of student assessment and the aggregation of these data will inform how students are progressing towards achieving program outcomes.

All degree programs report annual assessments (and periodic self-studies) of student learning and other indicators of program effectiveness as part of the Academic Program Review process.

Student Policy on Pregnancy and Related Conditions

The Chicago School is committed to creating and maintaining a safe learning and working environment that is free from unlawful discrimination, harassment, exploitation, or intimidation. As such, the school prohibits sex discrimination, which can include discrimination based on pregnancy, family, marital, or parental status in admissions, educational programs and activities, hiring, leave policies, and employment policies.

Pregnancy is typically treated similarly to a temporary disability. Under this policy, a qualified student may be provided with appropriate accommodations including but not limited to: an opportunity to make up missed course work (e.g., papers, quizzes, tests, presentations, and other course assignments), extended deadlines, independent study, online course completion or virtual attendance, and assignment of Incomplete grade. To the extent possible, the school will take reasonable steps to ensure that a pregnant student who takes a leave returns to the same position of academic progress that they were in when the leave began, including access to the same Academic Catalog. The Title IX Coordinator or designee has the authority to determine that such accommodations are necessary and appropriate and to inform faculty members of the need to adjust academic parameters accordingly.

Click here for information and access to the Student Policy on Pregnancy and Related Conditions.

Student Discipline

The student discipline policy detailed below cannot be used as a substitution for the Course Final Grade Appeal policy, the Student Complaint policy, or the Anti-Discrimination, Anti-Harassment and Title IX Policy.

Student Affairs Committee (SAC)

The Student Affairs Committee (SAC) is the student conduct entity at The Chicago School. SAC supports a student's development of professional identity consistent with prevailing standards of conduct as outlined in this Catalog.

SAC hears conduct referrals for a student who has allegedly:

- Violated the University Community Norms and Standards policies including Academic Ethics, Integrity, and Responsibility and Professional Behavior.
- Violated the Code of Conduct.
- Failed to meet academic program expectations and standards including progress toward degree.

SAC is committed to ensuring that a student receives fair treatment while maintaining the integrity of the school's mission and philosophy. In the process of arriving at decisions, the committee strives to maintain respect for individual and cultural differences. All SAC proceedings are private and protected in accordance with FERPA. A student is required to comply with professional behavior standards throughout the SAC process.

SAC is configured as follows:

- 1. Campus SAC (C-SAC) hears referrals for students in all academic programs except where indicated below.
- 2. Clinical Psychology SAC (CP-SAC) hears referrals for students in a Psy.D. in Clinical Psychology program.
- 3. School Psychology SAC (SP-SAC) hears referrals for students in a School Psychology program.
- 4. College of Nursing and Advanced Health Professions SAC (CONAHP-SAC) hears referrals for students in the VN and AAS-N programs.

Typically, a SAC referral is heard by a panel on the student's home campus as listed in the student information system. Where a campus does not have SAC, a student's referral will be heard by a panel from another campus. SAC members may serve on panels across campuses. The Chicago School reserves the right to withhold a student's degree conferral if the student has an active SAC referral, inclusive of the appeal period.

SAC Procedure

Referral

A SAC referral may be submitted only by a student's Department Chair, Associate Department Chair, or Assistant Department Chair (hereafter referred to as referring party) and must be presented to SAC in writing. The referring party must notify the student of their referral before submitting it to SAC. The referral must include a referral letter including the date of student notification, the reason(s) for referral, an unofficial transcript, and all relevant supporting documentation. The referral should be submitted during the term/semester in which the referring party becomes aware of the reason(s) for referral.

SAC notifies the student of the referral by sending a SAC Hearing Notice (Notice) to their school email address. The Notice includes the hearing date, time, and location and a link to supporting documentation. A student who withdraws from the school after being referred to SAC will have their case heard upon their return to the school, where applicable.

Hearing Preparation

The referred student is responsible for several actions in preparation for their SAC hearing.

A. Response Deadline - Determined by SAC and communicated to the referred student in the Notice

- Written Response: A referred student has the right to present a written response to the referral that explicitly
 addresses its contents. If the referred student submits a written response after the deadline, SAC is not
 obligated to consider it.
- Hearing Attendance: A ground campus student is expected to attend their hearing in person. If the ground
 campus student faces extenuating circumstances that make in-person attendance impossible, the student
 must present those circumstances to SAC in writing by the response deadline.
- B. Two Business Days Before the Hearing
 - 1. Hearing Postponement: A referred student may request postponement of their hearing. The referred student must write to SAC with a detailed rationale for postponement. SAC has sole discretion to grant or deny a request for postponement and, if granted, to determine a new hearing date and time. SAC's decision regarding postponement is final.
 - 2. Recusal: A referred student may request the removal of a SAC member who they believe cannot be impartial. To do so, the student must write to SAC to detail the reasons why they believe the SAC member may be

- biased against them. Department representatives including the referring party are not eligible for recusal. SAC will evaluate the recusal request and make a final decision.
- Support Person: A referred student may include one Chicago School faculty member or one Chicago School non-student staff member in their hearing to provide advice and support. The student should provide the support person's name and position to SAC in writing.

C. Five Business Days Before the Hearing

1. A referred student with a qualified need who requires accommodation in order to participate in their hearing should submit a written request to SAC.

If time constraints impact hearing scheduling, the deadlines for the referred student will be adjusted.

Hearing

The SAC hearing provides time for all parties to present their perspectives on the referral. The hearing will be held within 30 business days of receipt of the referral.

A ground campus student is expected to attend their hearing in person, unless other arrangements are approved in accordance with A.2. above or have been determined by SAC. An online campus student is expected to attend their hearing using the provided online meeting technology. A student who participates using online meeting technology must appear on webcam for the duration of the hearing. If a student does not attend their scheduled hearing, the hearing will proceed without them.

Any person who is not an employee of The Chicago School may not attend the hearing in any capacity unless required as part of an approved disability accommodation. Since this procedure is institutional and not judicial, a student may not have an attorney present. Recording or transcription of any part of a SAC hearing is prohibited. Once the hearing begins, additional written material may not be distributed.

The referring party presents the referral to SAC. If the referral originated from a specific incident, the faculty or staff member who has primary knowledge of the facts may be present at the hearing. If the referral relates to training, an OPT representative may be present.

The student responds to the referral during the hearing. A student's failure or refusal to respond to the allegations set forth in the referral will be deemed an admission of the factual matters contained therein.

Once all material has been presented and all questions addressed, the referring party, referred student, support person, and any non-SAC member will leave hearing simultaneously. No additional information may be presented after this action.

Deliberation

Deliberation is restricted to SAC members who have neither been disqualified nor recused.

Hearing Outcome

A hearing outcome may include but is not limited to no action, an Academic Development Plan, or dismissal from The Chicago School. The referred student will be notified of the decision in writing within 10 business days of the hearing.

Typically, a dismissal decision is effective immediately. Dismissal supersedes any other enrollment status. A dismissal decision will impact the student's access to school facilities and technology, including email. The student's grade(s) may be impacted. See the Administrative Grades policy for information.

Appealing SAC Dismissal

A student has the right to appeal their SAC dismissal to the Responsible Leader of their home campus. A student in the VN or AAS-N program has the right to appeal their SAC dismissal to the Dean of Nursing. Responsible Leader and Dean of Nursing information is posted here.

If the home campus Responsible Leader or Dean of Nursing has had direct involvement in a disciplinary matter such that their ability to be impartial may be impacted, the appeal will be considered by another Responsible Leader. In such cases, the Dean for Student Success will reassign the appeal.

The student must submit their appeal as soon as possible and within 10 business days of being notified of their dismissal.

The appeal process is not an opportunity to have the dismissal reconsidered merely because of the student's dissatisfaction with the decision. Rather, an appeal must be based on one or more of the following:

- New evidence
- Evidence of improper procedure
- New arguments that could not be provided at the time of the original hearing

The student must submit their own written appeal; no one, including legal counsel, may submit an appeal on behalf of the student.

The written appeal must include:

- A specific statement of the decision that the student is appealing
- All information that the student wishes the Responsible Leader or Dean of Nursing to take into account in consideration of the appeal
- A statement regarding the basis or bases for the appeal, based on the three categories listed above (new
 evidence, evidence of improper procedure; or new arguments that could not be provided at the time of the
 original hearing) and supporting argument regarding the stated basis or bases.

The decision will be rendered as soon as possible and within 10 business days after receipt of the appeal.

If the appeal is denied, the dismissal will stand as final. This decision may not be appealed. If the appeal is granted, the case will be remanded to SAC for another hearing. This hearing must occur as soon as possible and within 10 business days after the appeal decision is issued. The hearing must be limited to the information supporting the granting of the appeal.

Disciplinary Process for Sponsored International Programs

A student is expected to adhere to the policies and procedures of The Chicago School and of their degree program at all times while engaged in activities related to the school including participation in a Sponsored International Program. The following procedure is used to address allegations that a student participating in a sponsored international program has violated the University Community Norms and Standards or the student's international education rights and responsibilities agreement (including this policy).

For first time allegations of a non-serious nature, the Faculty Lead of the program and/or other qualified school representative will attempt to address the allegations by meeting directly with student to resolve the violation. If no further conduct violations occur, the issue may be considered resolved.

For repeated allegations or an allegation of a serious nature, the Faculty Lead and/or other qualified school representative will send the student a written notice at their school email of the alleged infraction(s). The notice will describe the allegations and cite the policy or rule violated. If the Faculty Lead determines that the allegations pose a health or safety risk, the Faculty Lead may immediately dismiss the student from the program, resulting in a potential failure of the course and in creating non-reimbursable costs. The Faculty Lead will copy the student's Department Chair and the Dean for Student Success on all written notifications. The Department Chair may elect to refer the student to SAC for review and, if merited, sanctioning.

A student participating in any sponsored or endorsed education abroad opportunity, e.g., sponsored work, internship, volunteer, service-learning, co-sponsored programs, exchanges, or outside programs are subject to the disciplinary process of the host university/partner that may supersede that of the institution. The Chicago School will be notified when a warning has been issued and/or when a student is in the process of being dismissed. In the case of outside or non-sponsored programs, it may not be possible for the school to intervene on behalf of the student.

Student Profile

A student is responsible for keeping current with The Chicago School their personal information, contact information, and emergency contact information.

Legal Name and Personal Information

The Chicago School must protect the identity of a student and maintain the integrity of their record when changing their legal name, social security number, birthdate, or citizenship status. A student's legal name is defined as the name that appears on a legal or government-issued document such as a birth certificate, social security card, court order, or passport.

Changes to a student's legal name, social security number, birthdate, or citizenship status must be submitted using the Student Personal Information Change Request form. A student must include a copy of one of the documents below with their request:

- Government-issued identification card
- Birth Certificate
- Marriage License
- Divorce decree
- Court order
- Social Security Number/New Taxpayer ID Number

A student may change their legal sex, gender identity, sexual orientation, or pronouns on the Student Portal.

Chosen First Name

A student may identify themselves with a chosen first name that differs from their legal first name. A student's chosen first name may be used for class rosters, on student identification cards, and in student credentials including the school-issued email address. A student's chosen first name may also be disclosed as directory information unless the student declines to permit such disclosure.

Generally, students can use any chosen first name. The Chicago School reserves the right to deny or remove, with or without notice, a chosen first name if it is used for inappropriate purposes including but not limited to misrepresentation, avoiding legal obligation, offensive or derogatory language, or to perpetrate fraud. A chosen first name must consist of alphabetical characters, hyphens, and spaces.

A student's legal first name will be used for unofficial and official transcripts, enrollment reporting, financial aid and student account records, student employment records, student conduct files, external reporting, federal immigration documents, and other official records where a legal name is required by law or school policy.

To submit a chosen first name, visit the Student Portal.

Contact Information

A student is responsible for ensuring that their physical address (student location), mailing address, telephone number, and personal email address are kept current with the school. To update contact information, visit the Student Portal.

The Chicago School requires all students to provide the address where they will be located while enrolled and actively attending classes. Each student is required to provide address information in their enrollment application. P.O. Boxes will not be accepted. This address will be maintained as the "Student Location" and will be used to send official correspondence and ensure regulatory compliance. A student is responsible for keeping their Student Location current and for notifying the school of an address change. The Chicago School is not responsible for lost items mailed to an incorrect address.

A student who is relocating or planning to relocate and who intends to be licensed or certified in their new state of residence is stongly advised to review the licensure or certification requirements of the new state. Detailed information about licensure and certification is available on The Chicago School website.

A student who is considering relocating, or has relocated to another state, territory, or outside of the United States during their program, whether relocation is permanent or temporary, must submit new location information via the Student Portal. The request will be sent to the Registrar's Office to update the Student Location.

Emergency Contact

A student is responsible for providing the school with an emergency contact. The student must provide the emergency contact's name, relationship to the student, and telephone number. To update emergency contact information, visit the Student Portal. Failure to provide an emergency contact may impact a student's ability to register for courses.

Text Messages

A student may elect to receive text messages from the school. The school will not text message a student who does not opt into the service. To opt into this service, visit the Student Portal. The student must provide their mobile phone number and service provider and choose "Yes" to Receive SMS Alerts. A student may "opt out" of the service at any time using the link above. Mobile service provider standard messaging and data rates apply.

Technology

Access to Electronic Systems

Each Chicago School student is provided with a school-sponsored email account. The student is responsible for all information communicated through email in the same way and to the same extent as if published in hard copy and distributed by other means. The student must regularly check this account for information transmitted by various departments of the school. The school will not direct electronic correspondence from official school email accounts to personal email addresses; the student is expected to utilize the institutional email addresses for all electronic communication with school personnel and about school matters.

Files and email messages that travel using the school's network are not private. A user's privacy is superseded by the school's requirement to maintain the network's integrity and the rights of all network users. For example, should the security of the network be in danger, user files and messages may be examined by Information Technology. The school reserves its right, as owner of the network and the computers in question, to examine, log, capture, archive, and otherwise preserve or inspect any messages transmitted over the network and any data files stored on school-owned computers or systems and platforms provided by the school, should circumstances warrant such actions. All members of the community must recognize that electronic communications are not secure and that, during the course of ordinary management of computing and networking services, network administrators may inadvertently view user files or messages.

Should a student withdraw or be dismissed from The Chicago School, access to the institution's electronic systems including but not limited to the library databases, the Office of Placement and Training (OPT) database, the wireless network, the campus access control system, school-provided email, the Office 365 platform, Canvas, and other systems

will be suspended. This suspension will remain in place for at least one year from the dismissal or withdrawal date after which time the accounts may be deleted.

A Chicago School graduate is granted lifetime access to email. Access to other electronic systems including other Office 365 features and licensing for the Office Suite is removed after graduation. The user will be notified of the inaccessibility to One Drive files upon graduation and will be given a 90-day grace period to retrieve all files. Information Technology cannot recover lost files after the 90-day grace period has expired.

In cases where an alumnus is dismissed from a subsequent enrollment, The Chicago School reserves the right to revoke alumni benefits where necessary.

Audio and Visual Recordings

As a general policy, The Chicago School records important school events that will most benefit students, faculty, and staff. This policy applies to audio, video, or other electronic recordings of school events, including classes and non-class events.

Classes

Classes include regular and make-up sessions in all delivery modalities. It is the sole discretion of each instructor of record for the course whether to record regular and/or make-up class meetings. Recordings of class sessions are posted on Canvas and accessible only to the instructor of record for the course and enrolled students for the duration of the course. These recordings may be reproduced, edited, or distributed for educational purposes within The Chicago School.

When recording a class in either small sections or its entirety, the instructor of record for the course must provide students with prior notice through one or all of the following methods:

- Verbal announcement to students at start of the class session
- Attendance sign-in sheet with notice
- Placement of sign in classroom/lecture hall
- Syllabi notice
- Posting in Canvas Class Shell

A student who does not wish to be recorded must inform the instructor of record for the course verbally or in writing prior to the recording. The instructor of record for the course may continue to hold class without the student present as long as reasonable and adequate accommodations are made for the student to access class content. A student who opts not to be recorded will be assigned an "excused" absence which should not directly impact the student's performance in the course. Faculty members should never record classes where clinical case material might be discussed or presented. Class sessions that include discussion or presentation of identifying information about unknown third parties should not be recorded.

Non-Class Events

Non-class events, which may be simple or complex, include those sponsored or coordinated by The Chicago School or one of its departments such as:

- Career Services sessions or panels
- Academic success or faculty development workshops
- Events with guest speakers
- Faculty colloquia
- Keynote speakers

Presidential addresses

These recordings may be reproduced, edited, duplicated, or distributed for educational or marketing purposes.

When recording an event in either small sections or its entirety, the event organizer must provide the audience prior notice through one of the following methods:

- Verbal announcement to audience at the start of the event
- Attendance sign-in sheet with notice
- Placement of sign in room/lecture hall
- Notice in promotional materials

Further information on the recording of class and non-class events is available from the Communications Department. Private conversations and/or meetings may not be recorded without the informed consent of all parties involved. Failure to obtain permission to record may result in disciplinary action.

In order for The Chicago School to use a student's likeness or information in any advertising, publicity, commercials, displays, interactive publication or interactive student learning, the student must sign a "Photography and Recording Release Form". A student may revoke permission at any time. More information is available from the Communications Department

Electronic Signature

In June 2000, the Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act (E-Sign Act) was signed. The law provides that electronic signatures, contracts, and other records related to a transaction may not be denied legal effect, validity, or enforceability solely because it is an electronic form, or because an electronic signature or electronic record was used in its formation.

The Chicago School defines an electronic signature as any electronic process signifying an approval to terms, and/or ensuring the integrity of the document, presented in electronic format. An electronic signature identifies and authenticates an individual as the source of any electronic consent or process. In addition, the electronic signature indicates such person's approval of the information contained in the electronic consent.

An e-signature may be accepted in all situations if requirement of a signature/approval is stated or implied as prescribed under any other Chicago School policy. To the fullest extent permitted by law. The Chicago School accepts e-signatures as legally binding and equivalent to handwritten signatures to signify an agreement. The school also reserves the right to designate specific transactions that are to be conducted as e-transactions or maintained as e-records, and that are to be fulfilled by e-signature under this policy. However, this guideline does not supersede situations where laws specifically require a written signature or must meet specific requirements regarding e-signature.

A student may be asked to use electronic signatures to register for courses, accept financial aid awards, pay bills, obtain unofficial transcripts, complete electronic forms, etc. or to increase the efficiency of internal transactions that require authorization. The school may require that students use electronic signatures to conduct certain transactions that previously required handwritten signatures and approvals on paper documents.

It is a violation of this policy for an individual to sign a transaction on behalf of a student unless the student has been granted specific authority by the student. The student must report immediately any suspicious or fraudulent activities related to electronic signatures to any manager or supervisor in the appropriate administrative department or to the Department of Information Technology. A student who falsify electronic signatures or otherwise violate this policy are subject to disciplinary action under the Student Code of Conduct and criminal prosecution under applicable federal and state laws.

Tobacco, Drug, and Alcohol Regulations

Smoke-Free Environment

Smoking is prohibited, including within 15-feet of building entrances, exits, windows that open, and ventilation intakes. This smoke-free policy includes cigarettes and electronic cigarettes, and it covers all areas owned or operated by the school. If a local law or ordinance provides greater protection for the rights of non-smokers, it shall apply.

Drug-Free Environment

In compliance with the Drug Free Schools and Communities Act (DFSCA) of 1986 as amended in 1989, The Chicago School explicitly prohibits the unlawful possession, use, or distribution of illicit drugs by students or employees on school premises or as part of any of its activities. In addition, the school prohibits the misuse of legal drugs including alcohol.

Counseling, Treatment, or Rehabilitation Programs

Any student who fails to abide by the terms of the Tobacco, Drug, and Alcohol Regulations and Policies may be required to participate satisfactorily in a drug abuse assistance or rehabilitation program approved for such purposes by a federal, state or local health officials, law enforcement, or other appropriate agency. Specific programs of counseling or rehabilitation are available within the greater Chicago, Dallas, Southern California, New Orleans, and Washington, D.C. metropolitan areas.

General State Laws of Alcohol Possession and Consumption

Individuals younger than 21 years old may not purchase, accept as a gift, or possess alcoholic beverages on any street or highway or other public place. Consumption by minors is expressly prohibited. Licensees to sell alcoholic beverages are prohibited from selling, giving, or delivering alcoholic beverages to anyone under 21 years of age. It is unlawful for anyone of legal age to purchase or obtain alcoholic beverages and then sell, give, or deliver them to a minor.

Health Risks Associated with Use of Illicit Drugs, the Misuse of Legal Drugs, and Alcohol Abuse

There are health risks associated with the use of illicit drugs and abuse of legal drugs and alcohol including impaired functioning of the following major organs: liver, kidneys, brain, and other aspects of the central nervous system including impaired immune functioning and impaired lung and pulmonary functioning. The effects are both immediate and long-term. Immediate effects include impaired judgment, impaired attention span, and impaired gross and fine motor control. Long-term effects include the risk of premature death. The use of needles to inject drugs into the blood stream engenders the risk of contracting HIV or hepatitis. These health risks may affect one's daily life activities, as well as familial, social, and working relationships.

Drug and alcohol abuse causes physical and emotional dependence, in which users may develop a craving for a particular substance. Thus, their bodies may respond to the presence of such substances in ways that lead to increased drug and alcohol use.

Certain drugs, such as opiates, barbiturates, alcohol and nicotine create physical dependence. With prolonged use, these drugs become part of the body chemistry. When a regular user stops taking the drug, the body experiences the physiological trauma known as withdrawal.

Psychological dependence occurs when taking drugs becomes the center of the user's life. Drugs have an effect on the mind and body for weeks or even months after drug use has stopped. Drugs and alcohol can interfere with memory, sensation, and perception. They distort experiences and cause loss of self-control that can lead users to harm others as well as themselves.

Institutional Policy on Alcohol Consumption

Beverage alcohol may be served to and consumed by persons of legal drinking age on school premises or practicum and internships sites in conjunction with a specifically authorized function. Individuals consuming alcohol should do so in a responsible manner.

Legal Sanctions Under Federal and State Law

Federal penalties and sanctions for illegal possession of a controlled substance are as follow.

- First conviction: up to one-year imprisonment or a fine of at least \$1,000
- After one prior drug conviction: at least 15 days in prison, not to exceed two years, and a fine of at least \$2,500 but not more than \$250,000, or both
- After two or more prior drug convictions: at least 90 days in prison, not to exceed three years, and a fine of at least \$5,000
- Special sentencing provisions for possession of crack cocaine: mandatory sentencing of at least five years in prison, not to exceed 20 years, and a fine of up to \$250,000, or both, if the first conviction and amount of crack possessed exceeds five grams, the second crack conviction and the amount of crack possessed exceeds three grams, third or subsequent crack conviction and the amount of crack possessed exceeds one gram
- Forfeiture of personal property used to possess or to facilitate possession of a controlled substance, if that offense is punishable by more than a one-year imprisonment
- Forfeiture of vehicles, boats, aircraft, and any other conveyance used to transport or conceal a controlled substance
- Civil penalty of up to \$10,000
- Denial of federal benefits, such as student loans, grants, contracts, and professional and commercial licenses, for up to one year for first offense or up to five years for second and subsequent offenses
- Ineligibility to receive or purchase a firearm.
- Revocation of certain federal licenses and benefits, (for example, pilot licenses, public housing tenancy, and so on.) as vested within the authorities of individual federal agencies
- Any person convicted of drug trafficking occurring within 1,000 feet of an academic institution is subject to
 prison terms and fines twice as high as listed above with a mandatory prison sentence of one year for each
 offense.

This list has been included for reference purposes only. The most current information can be found on the website of the U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration.

Sanctions to Be Imposed on Students Who Violate Regulations and Policies

As a condition of matriculation to the school, a student agrees to abide by the terms of these regulations and policies and agrees to notify the school of any criminal drug statute conviction for a violation occurring on campus no later than five (5) business days after such conviction. The Chicago School, through the Student Affairs Committee or campus leadership, will take appropriate action (consistent with local, state, and federal law) against a student who violates the standards of conduct contained herein, up to and including dismissal from the institution and referral for prosecution.

University Community Norms and Standards

The Chicago School is committed to supporting the growth and development of all members of our learning community. Learning community members respect the value and dignity of individuals and groups across all cultural contexts, advocate for inclusion and equity, and adhere to the highest ethical and professional standards.

Code of Conduct

A student is required to behave in a manner that is suitable for professional study and practice. Violation of this standard includes, but is not limited to, conduct that contravenes the General Principles and Standards set forth in the Ethics Code promulgated by the American Psychological Association. Additionally, academic departments may require compliance with other discipline-specific ethical codes, e.g., the American Counseling Association's Ethical Code for Counselors, the Behavior Analyst Certification Board's Guidelines for Responsible Conduct for Behavior Analysts, the National Association of School Psychologists' Principles for Professional Ethics, and the Specialty Guidelines for Forensic Psychologists, American Association of Marriage and Family Therapy Code of Ethics. A student should consult with their academic department for clarification of all applicable ethical codes to which they are accountable.

Additionally, a student is prohibited from engaging in conduct that is detrimental to the University, poses a threat to the welfare of the University's employees or students, is prohibited by University policies, or is illegal. A Responsible Leader has the authority to remove a student partially or entirely from an education program or activity on an emergency basis if it is determined through an individualized safety and risk analysis that the student poses a significant risk to others. If that decision is made, the student will be notified of the decision and be given the option to meet with the Responsible Leader prior to such emergency removal being imposed or as soon thereafter as reasonably possible to show cause why the action should not be implemented or should be modified. A student may be restricted from campus or disciplined for improper or illegal conduct whether it occurs on-campus or off-campus, including cyberspace, and regardless of whether the conduct is specifically tied to a University activity.

While it is impossible to list all types of misconduct, the following illustrates the types of activities that will subject a student to disciplinary action:

- Violations of any policy, procedure, or regulation of The Chicago School
- Acts of dishonesty, including but not limited to, knowingly or recklessly furnishing false information to the school, forgery, and alteration or misuse of school documents, records, or identification and any materials submitted to employers (e.g. application, CV/résumé, cover letter, portfolio)
- Disorderly, indecent, or obscene conduct or expression, including inappropriate conduct in online environments such as abusive language toward or about faculty, classmates, staff members, and administration
- Obstruction or disruption of teaching, research, administration, disciplinary procedures, other Chicago School activities, or the freedom of expression of others
- Conduct that threatens or endangers the safety or welfare of any person, including threats of violence toward others and any action that unreasonably interferes with the psychological well-being of another
- Conduct that threatens or endangers the health of any person, including failure to comply with rules related to physical distancing, hand sanitizing, and mask wearing while on campus
- Unauthorized use, possession, or storage of any guns, weapons, or other unreasonably dangerous instruments
- Unauthorized entry into or use of the school's facilities or services
- Theft or conversion of property or services belonging to the school, members of the school community, or others
- Intentional or reckless destruction, damage, abuse, or misuse of school property or the property of others
- Illegal or unauthorized possession, use, sale, or distribution of narcotics, drugs, or other controlled substances defined as such by local, state, or federal law
- Violation of the school's published technology and computer use guidelines
- Failure to comply with directions of school officials acting in the performance of their duties including but
 not limited to a requirement to provide unprivileged testimony at a disciplinary hearing, refusal to comply
 with the provisions of academic and financial aid warning or with an academic development plan, or noncompliance with sanctions imposed by a Title IX Decision Maker or the Student Affairs Committee
- Violations of federal, state, or local laws, or any other conduct not included above, which unreasonably or
 unlawfully interferes with the operations of the school, or which renders a person unfit or unsuitable for
 practice within their profession

A student may be held independently accountable to both external authorities and to The Chicago School for acts that constitute violation of law and/or school policies, regulations, or procedures. Disciplinary action will not be subject to

challenge on the grounds that criminal charges involving the same incident have been dismissed, reduced, or are in process.

Academic Ethics, Integrity, and Responsibility

The Chicago School expects community members to function within an environment of honesty and credibility that leads to trust in each other. Academic ethics, integrity, and responsibility together are defined as producing original, truthful academic work and are a vital component of this trust. A student is expected to submit original work and to refrain from plagiarism, cheating, fabrication, or misrepresentation of academic record as each of these violates this policy and the school's principles.

A student who violates this policy may face multiple outcomes including, but not limited to, earning a failing grade on an assignment, earning a failing grade in a course, being subject to remediation, and/or being referred to the Student Affairs Committee (SAC) for disciplinary action up to and including dismissal from the school.

Cheating

Cheating is defined as acting dishonestly or unfairly to gain an advantage. Examples of cheating include but are not limited to:

- giving or receiving aid or collaborating on any coursework without instructor permission
- giving or receiving test materials prior to official test distribution
- submitting another student's coursework
- using notes during a closed book examination
- unauthorized use during an examination of any electronic device such as cell phones, computers or other technologies to retrieve or send information
- taking undue credit for group work when a student does not meet their obligation to the group
- copying another student's work with or without their permission and instructor permission including in instances where work was purchased from a third party
- allowing others to research and write assigned papers or do assigned projects including using work purchased from a third party
- using or attempting to use unauthorized materials, information, or study aids in any academic exercise including those available from third party sites and services, including Artificial Intelligence (AI)

Cheating includes providing another student with course, testing, evaluation, or other materials to which they otherwise would not have authorized access including through third party sites and services. This includes when a student permits another individual to use their identity and online credentials to participate in discussion forums and/or when a student allows another individual to complete and submit coursework on behalf of the student, thereby representing the work as that of the student. A student may be asked to provide proof of identity prior to exams.

Plagiarism and Self-Plagiarism

Plagiarism is defined as intentionally or unintentionally representing words, ideas, or data from any source as one's own original work. The use or reproduction of another's work without appropriate attribution in the form of complete, accurate, and properly formatted citations constitutes plagiarism. Examples of plagiarism include but are not limited to:

- copying the work of another verbatim without using quotation marks and a citation or reference
- revising the work of another by making only minor word changes without explanation, attribution, or citation
- paraphrasing the work of another without the appropriate citation or reference

A student is expected to produce all coursework as their own original work including but not limited to discussion posts, papers, case studies, quizzes and tests, thesis or dissertation, and other academic projects. Failure to properly follow appropriate rules governing source attribution, whether intentional or unintentional, is considered plagiarism.

Self-Plagiarism

Self-plagiarism is defined as submitting identical, substantially identical, or nearly identical portions of one's own work in multiple courses or when repeating a course without explicit expressed permission of the instructor. The Chicago School rarely accepts self-citation except for work authored and published in a peer-reviewed source by the student. Examples of self-plagiarism include but are not limited to:

- submitting the same work product, e.g., a paper in multiple courses.
- using a substantial amount of an assignment completed for one course in a different course

Fabrication, Misrepresentation, and False Attribution

Fabrication

Fabrication is defined as intentionally inventing information, data, or citations in any academic or clinical exercise. Examples of fabrication include but are not limited to:

- falsifying data or other findings
- · citing sources not actually used to complete coursework
- changing answers after an exam has been returned in an effort to increase a grade via appeal
- knowingly presenting material that will mislead listeners or readers

Misrepresentation

Misrepresentation is defined as a type of fabrication in which a student uses part of a quotation, statement, or body of literature to fit an argument when it is not what the author intended. Examples of misrepresentation include but are not limited to:

- including only the portion of a direct or indirect quotation that supports a position, leading to misrepresentation
- excluding portions of the literature that do not support a position
- using an author's words/data out of context in order to support a position
- skewing paraphrasing

False Attribution

False attribution is defined as a type of fabrication in which a student uses a citation or other attribution in an arbitrary or inaccurate manner. Examples of false attribution include but are not limited to:

- Inserting a citation to a source unassociated with the content of the content being cited
- Randomly inserting a citation for the sake of having a citation present

Research Ethics

Research ethics are vital to scholarly work and protection of the public. A student is responsible for understanding and abiding by federal regulations for human subjects research and their professional organization's code of ethics. Breach of research ethics is defined as intentionally acting in a manner which invalidates, fabricates, or negatively impacts the academic research process or findings. Examples of breach of research ethics include but are not limited to:

- Collecting data without Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval
- Providing incentives to participants without IRB approval
- Violating the provisions of the IRB approval letter including but not limited to:
 - Storing, retaining, or destroying data improperly
 - Failing to adequately complete informed consent forms
 - Making changes to protocols without resubmitting to IRB for approval
- Ignoring evidence that does not support a hypothesis or research question, whether in the form of results published by others or data gathered by the researcher
- Intentionally engaging in selective manipulation of data or statistical analyses to support work
- Failing to acknowledge when results contradict a preferred theory or research question

A student should report any known breaches of research ethics related to human subjects (informed consent, non-IRB approved protocol, etc.) to the IRB (irb@thechicagoschool.edu). For breaches related to academic work, reports should be made to the researcher's academic Department Chair.

Professional Behavior

Through professional behavior, Chicago School community members can embrace and enhance the institution's values: diversity, innovation, community, and service. Professional behavior is vital to a student's success inside and outside of the Chicago School classroom.

Faculty, training staff, supervisors, administrators, employees, and fellow students at The Chicago School have a duty and responsibility to evaluate the competence of students and trainees across multiple aspects of performance, development, and functioning. Students and trainees must understand and appreciate that their competence is defined and evaluated comprehensively. Academic programs are guided by the standards of their respective professional organizations.

Every student is an integral part of the school community, and their behavior has the potential to influence the entire community. As such, the interconnectedness of the community requires attention to the following standards of professional performance, development, and functioning:

- interpersonal and professional competence: consistently establishing and maintaining positive interpersonal
 relationships, demonstrating an active commitment to education and training, communicating professionally,
 and demonstrating integrity (honesty, truthfulness, personal responsibility);
- self-awareness and self-reflection: awareness of their role in diverse contexts, recognizing limitations (including unconscious bias) and training/learning needs, and awareness of their cultural values;
- openness to feedback and growth: demonstrating a willingness to receive and attend to constructive feedback and proactively engaging in resolutions of issues that may interfere with professional development or functioning;
- respect and concern for others: respecting the value and dignity of individuals and groups across all cultural
 contexts, engaging in respectful dialogue and being mindful of the impact of communication on others,
 demonstrating professional values of compassion and empathy, addressing, informally and formally, the
 ethics around peer/colleague impairment in classes and field work/training experiences, and showing respect
 and concern for others in the learning environment by practicing appropriate learning behaviors (engaging in
 courses, paying attention to lectures, etc.);
- appropriate use of technology and other resources: recognizing when and where technology use is appropriate
 and demonstrating professional virtual etiquette;
- academic and intellectual freedom: forming and expressing a student's opinions and ideas in a safe and appropriate manner, and understanding the limitations to these freedoms.

A student's professional performance, functioning, and development is evaluated both within and outside of the classroom, whether it occurs on- or off-campus including online, and regardless of whether it is specifically tied to a school activity. This includes how a student goes about obtaining information and solving problems. It is expected that a student will raise their question or concern first to their course instructor, faculty advisor, or student support counselor. If the issue is not resolved, the student may raise their question or concern to their department chair. If the issue is not resolved, the student may raise their questions or concern to the Campus Dean.

Electronic Communication and Social Media

The Chicago School recognizes that the Internet provides the community with unique opportunities to participate in interactive discussions and share information on topics using a wide array of social media platforms. A student is advised to use appropriate and professional judgment when using social media. The school expects a student to adhere to the following regulations and guidelines regarding use of social media. Furthermore, the school encourages open and transparent dialogue consistent with the ethical and professional behavior guidelines set forth in this Catalog.

When participating in any social media activity, a student is representing themselves and the school. Students should keep in mind that postings and other communications last forever on the internet and are reflective of the student today and as a future professional. This policy is not intended to restrict the ability of any individual to have an online presence or to mandate what a student can and cannot say or post. Social media is a valuable tool, and the school encourages each student to practice responsible involvement in this space. A student may share information or photos and video at their own risk and are personally and legally responsible for personal postings and online comments. The institution does not assume any liability or risk for a student's online activity.

Failure to adhere to the school's social media policy will be considered grounds for discipline, up to and including dismissal from the school. A former student in withdrawn or dismissed status may not claim to be an active student of The Chicago School on any social networking or media site.

A student is expected to follow the regulations below regarding electronic communication and social media.

Regulations. A student must:

- Use social media responsibly and in accordance with Chicago School policies.
- Ensure that their use of social media does not involve unlawful content or interfere with another student's learning.
- Use social media in compliance with the policies in the Academic Catalog and Student Handbook when required to use social media as part of classes or curriculum.
- Must refrain from posting to public or private groups any content, including photos and videos, that is
 harassing, discriminatory, defamatory, threatening, disparaging, libelous, or otherwise illegal or injurious to
 other students, client groups, or faculty or staff members of the school.
- Be respectful to other students, faculty, and staff and refrain from posting anything that violates school policy, including ethnic slurs, sexist comments, discriminatory comments, or obscenity.
- Not use trademarked Chicago School logos or other intellectual property without the school's written
 permission. The institution monitors the use of its name, copyright, trademarks, website, and other
 information on the Internet. Requests for permission to officially use The Chicago School's brand or
 intellectual property must be submitted to Student Support for marketing review.
- Be aware of and remain in compliance with applicable confidentiality rules and regulations, including as is directed in professional codes of ethics.
- Not transmit confidential information such as educational classifications, psychological diagnoses, psychological reports, and research data in such a way that clients and/or research participants can be identified.
- Forward inquiries related to the school from members of the media to the Communications Department.

- Obtain permission from the academic department in consultation with the school's communication staff prior to engaging in any form of social media on behalf of the school.
- Adhere to the same policy conditions as employees of the institution when representing the school in an
 official capacity via social media, i.e., Student Ambassadors, Community Moderators, or Blog authors.
- Not claim to be an active student of the school on any social networking site after withdrawing or being
 dismissed from the institution. A former student who fails to remove references to active status may be
 subject to a cease-and-desist order.
- Comply with all local social media laws when studying abroad (as long as the requirements do not violate
 United States law) and must be considerate of any subject matter that may be considered objectionable or
 inflammatory at a local or regional level, especially with regard to local culture, politics, or religion.

Electronic Communication Etiquette

Electronic communication is the posting or exchange of information via email, social media, discussion forums or other online course media, video conferencing, instant messaging, text messaging, phone, and other virtual means. A student is expected to demonstrate professional behavior when communicating electronically and is advised to follow the standards listed below in all interactions with school community members.

Email is the official means of communication at the school and should be treated as professional communication by all community members. The school will not direct electronic correspondence from official school email accounts to personal email addresses; the student is expected to utilize the institutional email addresses for all electronic communication with school personnel.

The guidelines below illustrate the types of behaviors that a student is expected to uphold regarding electronic communication.

General Electronic Communication Etiquette Guidelines. A student must:

- Be respectful, professional, and careful about what is said and how it is said.
- Be aware of the image being projected. Message recipients cannot read nonverbal cues or may not be able to
 interpret the tone of electronic communication, words and manners of expression must clearly indicate the
 intended meaning. This is particularly important when using humor, sarcasm, or similar techniques.
- Be concise and to the point.
- Be professional and collegial, even when disagreeing. Be respectful, avoiding name calling and obscenities, and support the opposing position with facts. If a student has an emotional reaction to a posting, it is recommended that the student wait before posting an impassioned response.
- Use the subject line appropriately on message boards or in discussion forums, employing meaningful and succinct labels so that recipients may immediately grasp the topic being advanced.
- Use clear writing and correct grammar including proper spelling and punctuation.
- Consider whether it is necessary to provide correction when someone else errs or does not follow proper
 protocol. If correction is in order, a student should be polite and, if discretion is advised, address the issue
 privately rather than in a public way.
- Avoid using ALL CAPS, especially when disagreeing. This is perceived as shouting and considered rude.
- Comply with all copyright laws.
- Be aware of issues that might arise due to cultural and language differences.
- Not violate the privacy of others. Do not send commercial advertisements or spam.

E-mail Communication Guidelines. A student should:

Use a meaningful subject, professional greeting, and appropriate closing signature. A student should start an
email with the appropriate salutation to set the tone for communication and choose a subject that accurately
describes the content of the email. A student's signature block should include their name, degree program,
and preferred contact information.

- Use a standard structure, font type and size, punctuation, and layout. Generally, writing in short paragraphs
 and inserting blank lines between each paragraph is appropriate. When making points, number them or mark
 each point by inserting a bullet in front of each item in a list. Limit the use of exclamation points, question
 marks, and other special punctuation.
- Avoid using abbreviations, emoticons, emojis, or non-standard characters. The use of such items is generally not appropriate in professional emails.
- Review an email before sending it to ensure that it is clearly written and error free. Consider asking another
 person to review the communication before sending, if appropriate. Include the contents of the original email
 message with a reply. Use the 'Reply All' function only when the message is relevant to all copied parties.
- Must avoid discussing confidential information such as protected health information, personally identifiable information, or privileged information via e-mail.
- Remember that a community member may not respond to an email immediately. When following up, do so in an appropriate time frame and in a professional manner.

Virtual Class and Meeting Guidelines. A student should:

- Remember that virtual classes and meetings are part of a student's education and training. A student is expected to demonstrate professional behavior by logging into a session prior to its start to ensure that they are ready to begin on time, returning from breaks on time, and ensuring that they are engaged by remaining seated and present. A student joining a class session more than 15 minutes after its start may be marked absent. A student who is unable to attend a scheduled meeting should notify the meeting organizer prior to the meeting start time.
- Treat the virtual classroom or meeting environment with the same level of professionalism and respect as an in-person interaction. Ensure that camera and screen sharing are appropriate. Use the chat function for relevant, professional, respectful communication.
- Limit distractions in the environment, when possible. A student can do this by muting their microphone when not speaking, wearing headphones to avoid echoes and background noises, and reducing possible interruptions within the environment.
- Work in a private space, when possible, to help avoid distractions and maintain confidentiality. A student should be conscious of protecting the privacy of classmates and content discussed in the classroom when a private space is not available.
- Not operate a moving vehicle during a class session.
- Use a computer instead of a mobile device, if possible, as this may allow for better connectivity and a steadier camera.
- Stay focused and engaged. If a student needs to step away from a class session or meeting to attend to an urgent matter, they should notify their faculty member or meeting organizer, mute themselves, and turn off their webcam. The student should return to the meeting including turning on their webcam as soon as possible.
- Use caution when sharing their screen or desktop and avoid using the chat feature in the online videoconferencing platform for personal communications. It is possible that chat dialogue sent via the videoconferencing software may be seen by the organizer or moderator.
- Position their webcam at eye level and/or move the meeting screen directly below their camera so that the
 student is almost making eye contact with others rather than having them look at the side of the student's face
 or top of the student's head. Look at the camera when speaking.
- Refrain from smoking cigarettes, drinking alcohol, or using other drugs during a class session or meeting as you would if attending in person.
- Follow classroom rules. If a student is unsure of the rules, they should communicate this uncertainty with the meeting organizer or professor.

Text Messaging Guidelines. A student must:

- Keep a professional tone.
- Ensure that their message is directed to the intended recipient. They should send an individual message unless a group text is necessary.

- Be conscious of time when sending a message. Avoid sending messages to faculty and staff outside of standard operating hours or when faculty and staff have indicated that they are unavailable. Be respectful of the fact that school community members live in various time zones and send messages accordingly.
- Avoid using text messaging to ask detailed questions or communicate about complex matters including advising. Use email or Canvas messaging to communicate about more complex matters.
- Not send confidential or protected information in a text message.
- Proofread text messages, particularly when messaging with faculty or staff. Avoid or minimize the use of emojis, acronyms (LOL, OMG, etc.), "text speak" ("u", "k", etc.), and all capital letters.
- Not send text messages during classes or meetings unless given permission.
- Keep messages brief. If what needs to be said cannot be summed up in a sentence or two, it may be better to call or email.

Use of Technology Resources

The Department of Information Technology (IT) provides and maintains the school network. The network consists of an institution-wide backbone network, wireless network, and many shared computers in addition to personal computers. It provides communication as well as academic and administrative functions.

The Chicago School provides students with access to online services such as the Internet. A student must use these services in a responsible way for education-related purposes.

- Improper Contact: While the school cannot control unwanted or unsolicited contact, network users who receive threatening or other improper communications should bring them to the attention of the Campus Dean. All electronic communications are treated in a similar fashion as voiced or written communications. If the threatening or other inappropriate message was sent by another student, the recipient should notify an appropriate staff member or faculty member or their Department Chair in addition to the Campus Dean.
- Privacy: Generally, data files and messages traversing the school's network are private. However, a user's privacy is superseded, for example, by the school's requirement to maintain the network's integrity and the rights of all network users. Should the security of the network be in danger, or for other good reason, user files and messages may be examined under the direction of the Information Technology management team. As owner of the network and computers in question, the school reserves the right to examine, log, capture, archive, inspect and preserve any messages transmitted over the network in all cases, as well as any data files stored on school owned computers, should circumstances warrant such actions. All members of the community must recognize that electronic communications are by no means secure and that during ordinary management of computing and networking services, network administrators may inadvertently view user files or messages.

A student is expected to use Chicago School-provided technology platforms, e.g. One Drive, Zoom, for coursework and other program-related activities and requirements including recording assignments, creating surveys, and document sharing. A student should not use personal platforms or accounts created outside of the school network.

The Chicago School may offer software to a student at no cost. While software may be provided at zero cost, it is not free. The school pays for the appropriate licensing in order to provide this software. As such, if a student chooses to install and use such software, the student is responsible for maintaining the integrity of the license by not sharing it or any activation/license key with anyone. By installing the software and the license key provided by the school, the student agrees to this responsibility. If the student does not protect the provided key, the school's licensing of the software will be at risk for everyone. Violations may make a student ineligible for future software installations provided by the school.

Computing and networking resources are provided to support the mission of the school. These resources may not be used for commercial purposes. All Chicago School computing and networking facilities are provided for use by faculty, staff, and students solely for relevant academic, research, or administrative use.

Violations of computer regulations and policies and information about potential loopholes in the security of any computer system or network at the school should be reported to the Campus Dean. Depending on the nature of any violations, the Campus Dean may notify the student's Department Chair.

Regulations. The following illustrates behaviors that a student is expected to uphold:

- Do not give anyone else access to a student's user IDs or computer accounts.
- Do not use the school's network resources to gain or attempt to gain unauthorized access to remote computers.
- Do not deliberately act in a way that will impair the operation of computers, terminals, peripherals, or the network.
- Do not run, install, or give another software program that could result in eventual damage to a file or computer system and/or the reproduction of itself on any of the institution's computer systems.
- Do not attempt to circumvent data protection schemes or exploit security loopholes.
- Abide by the terms of all software licensing agreements and copyright laws. The student may not make
 copies of, or make available on the network, copyrighted material, unless permitted by a license.
- Do not attempt to monitor another user's data communications, nor may any student read, copy, change, or delete another user's files or software, without permission of the owner.
- Withdrawal, dismissal, or otherwise leaving the institution disallows the use of school facilities, accounts, access codes, network privileges, or information for which they are not authorized in their new circumstances.
- Accessing, downloading from, or contributing to sites that contain violent content, sexually-oriented content, gambling activities, or other inappropriate content is not permitted.

Guidelines. A student should:

- Not monopolize on-campus computing resources.
- Install and update antivirus software on their device.
- Clear the cache by regularly rebooting the computer.

Technology Requirements

A student must have access to and maintain appropriate technology while enrolled at The Chicago School. Required specifications for a student's personal computer are posted on the Help Desk website. Technical training resources are available on the Technical Services website.

Multi-factor authentication (MFA) is enabled for all student accounts. MFA adds a layer of protection to the student sign-in process. When accessing accounts or applications, a student will be required to provide additional identity verification through their phone or other approved device.

Learning Management System Requirements

A student is required to maintain minimum technology to access the Learning Management System. To learn more, visit the Technical Services website.

Misrepresentation of Records

Misrepresentation of records is defined as tampering with or attempting to tamper with any academic or other document, either before or after enrollment at and graduation from the school. Examples of misrepresentation of records include, but are not limited to:

- creating or altering a Chicago School transcript, diploma, or other document
- submitting false records or other documents such as transcripts from another institution, tax forms for financial aid, medical forms for disability accommodations or immunization tracking, military deployment papers, or similar
- forgery, alteration, or misuse of official academic documents, such as petition forms, advising forms, practicum/internship logs, etc.

Professional Status

The use of the designation "Doctoral Candidate" or variants is only appropriate once a student has passed all comprehensive exams, successfully proposed the dissertation, and completed all practica (where required). The Chicago School discourages the use of this designation in the email signature and signature block, on the resume/CV, and on social media.

A student should only use an academic title (e.g., Dr., MA, PsyD, PhD) following notification of official degree conferral from the Office of the Registrar. Use of such a title prior to degree conferral could be considered an ethical violation of professional standards. Successful dissertation defense or participation in commencement neither confers a degree nor releases a student from their obligation to satisfactorily complete curricular or other degree program requirements.

Financial Aid and Student Account Policies

Financial Good Standing

At The Chicago School, a student is in financial good standing when they have no outstanding financial obligation to the institution. This means that all owed balances are paid in full, and/or the student is current on a valid Chicago School payment plan.

Financial Aid

A student at The Chicago School may fund their academic studies either through self-pay or through using financial aid. Financial aid is money in the form of grants, loans, scholarships, and/or student employment that is used to pay tuition, fees, housing, meals, and other school-related expenses. A course is eligible for financial aid <u>only</u> if it meets a degree requirement as published in the Academic Catalog.

The Office of Financial Aid's policies and procedures are subject to change based on federal regulations and guidelines or interpretations thereof. Changes will be published. It is the student's responsibility to remain informed of all changes. The Office of Financial Aid adheres to the guidelines of ethical conduct developed by the National Association of Student Financial Aid Administrators (NASFAA). The NASFAA Code of Conduct is posted on the Chicago School website here.

Determining Amount of Financial Aid

Total financial assistance from all sources cannot exceed the cost of attendance for the period in which an eligible student is enrolled. For Federal Financial Aid, the maximum eligibility for need-based aid is the difference between the cost of attendance and the federally-calculated Expected Family Contribution (EFC) obtained from the FAFSA application. Federal financial aid includes but is not limited to Federal Pell Grant, Federal Direct Subsidized Loan, Federal Direct Unsubsidized Loan, and Federal Work Study. Resources such as outside scholarships and loan programs such as the Direct PLUS Loan for parents or graduate students and other alternative student loans are forms of nonneed-based aid and are calculated in conjunction with federal need-based aid. Non-need-based aid may impact a student's eligibility for need-based aid.

The cost of attendance includes tuition, fees, and average costs of books, supplies, and living expenses. A student with unusual but necessary expenses such as childcare or medical expenses not covered by insurance, for example, may request an increase in the cost of attendance budget. Request must be submitted in writing to the Office of Financial Aid and are reviewed individually. Supporting documentation must accompany these requests. Qualification for a cost of attendance budget increase does not guarantee additional financial aid.

Disbursement of Financial Aid

Each semester, a student who earns institutional aid from The Chicago School will have the award credited to their student account. Federal Direct Loan funds are typically transmitted to the school via Electronic Fund Transfer (EFT). Refunds through direct deposit or checks are made available to students within 14 calendar days of the credit occurring on the student's account or within 14 calendar days of the student's endorsement of a paper loan check. A student not enrolled for the number of credit hours that were estimated at the time of financial aid packaging may have funds delayed due to the need to recalculate eligibility.

A student borrowing Federal Direct Loans for the first time at The Chicago School is required to complete an entrance counseling session prior to the release of funds. Loan entrance counseling sessions may be completed online. Refund checks will be automatically mailed to a student at address on file with The Chicago School. If the check is returned in the mail and a second mailing attempt is unsuccessful, the check will be voided and the funds returned.

AAS-N and VN: Payment Periods and Disbursement Procedure

Federal financial aid including Federal Pell Grants, Federal Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grant, Federal Direct Stafford Loans, and Federal Direct Parent PLUS Loans will be disbursed to a student in two or more payments depending on the number of academic years required by the student's academic program.

For a VN student, the first payment period begins at the start of a program and ends at the halfway point of the academic year. For ADN students, the payment period begins at the beginning of each semester and ends at the end of each semester. Depending on the program, there are two or more payment periods. A student must maintain satisfactory academic progress (SAP) in order to receive federal financial aid.

Federal financial aid payments are refunded when a credit balance is created unless an authorization to hold funds is on file.

Maintaining and Re-establishing Financial Aid Eligibility

A student must maintain satisfactory academic progress per the SAP policy in order to maintain financial aid eligibility. A student who lost financial aid eligibility may be reinstated by improving their academic standing to meet the minimum standards of SAP.

Minimum Application Requirements

To be eligible for financial aid, the following requirements must be completed by the student.

- Complete the Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA). The Chicago School's school code is B07022.
- 2. Review and approve financial aid on the Community Website.

A student borrowing loans at The Chicago School for the first time must also complete these requirements.

- 1. Complete and e-sign the Master Promissory Note (MPN) at studentloans.gov.
- 2. Complete Entrance Counseling at studentloans.gov.

A student or parents interested in a Direct PLUS Loan must complete a MPN and application. Additional information and requirements are available at studentloans.gov.

Financial Aid Eligibility for Repeated Courses

A course repeated more than once neither qualifies for financial aid nor is counted in a student's enrollment status when calculating credit hours to determine financial aid eligibility during a payment period. Typically, a student may be eligible to earn financial aid on a given course for two attempts only.

A student who fails a course on the first attempt and passes it on the second attempt may be eligible to earn financial aid on a third attempt under the Repeating a Course policy.

State-Specific Financial Aid Resources for Online Campus Students

For Washington State residents seeking information about student loan repayment or seeking to submit a complaint relating to your student loans or student loan servicer, please visit www.wsac.wa.gov/loan-advocacy or contact the Student Loan Advocate at loanadvocate@wsac.wa.gov

Student Classification

To receive Federal Financial Aid or to defer student loan repayment, a student must be enrolled in a degree or certificate-granting program at least half-time. Eligibility for institutional aid from The Chicago School generally requires fulltime enrollment. Enrollment requirements for other assistance programs such as outside scholarships and private student loans can vary and are reviewed on an individual basis, where applicable. See the Student Classification policy for additional information.

Institutional Aid

Fellowships

Fellowships are awarded to an eligible, full or half-time degree-seeking student based on the individual's potential to meet the requirements of the fellowship being sought. A fellowship is posted directly to a student's account. Fellowships cannot exceed a student's cost of attendance as defined by Title IV regulations. Certain fellowships require the completion of an application and are awarded on a competitive basis. Fellowships can be terminated based on unsatisfactory performance in meeting the requirements of the fellowship and/or not maintaining Programmatic Good Standing as defined by the student's degree program. The school will not attempt to reclaim monies already credited to a student's account; however, a student may be referred to the Department Chair if a fellowship is discontinued due to unprofessional behavior.

A student who enrolls in the MS Clinical Psychopharmacology program in fall 2017 or thereafter is eligible for the Fellowship in Clinical Psychopharmacology. The school created this fellowship to recognize students' pursuit of new and innovative training in the fields of psychology and integrated health care.

A student who receives outside fellowships will have those awards counted as part of the overall financial aid package. This may affect loan amounts, work study, and/or other financial aid eligibility.

Grants

The Chicago School allocates funds for grant aid to support students in degree completion. A limited number of institutional grants are available for students who meet certain criteria. To maintain grant eligibility, a student must remain in Good Standing.

A student who enrolls in the Psy.D. in Clinical Psychology program in spring 2015 or thereafter will be eligible for the Clinical Psychology grant.

An international student who enrolls at The Chicago School is eligible for the International Student Grant.

Additional information on grants is available from the Office of Admission at 1-800-721-8072.

Scholarships

Scholarships offered or administered by the school are based on merit and/or financial need for fulltime students. Scholarships cannot exceed the student's cost of attendance as defined by Title IV regulations.

Outside scholarships that are not based on merit or need will be counted as part of the overall financial aid package toward the cost of attendance. Outside assistance may affect loan amounts, work-study, and/or other financial aid eligibility.

Special Tuition Rates

The Chicago School offers special tuition rates to qualified students. Click here for more information.

Institutional Withdrawal

The Chicago School participates in Title IV programs including Federal Pell, Federal Direct Loans, Federal Work Study, and Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grant (SEOG).

The Office of Financial Aid is required to recalculate financial aid eligibility for students who officially withdraw, who are unofficially withdrawn, or who are dismissed. A student who wishes to withdraw from the institution is required to notify their Student Support Counselor. If a student does not officially withdraw and fails to register for the upcoming semester, the student will be unofficially withdrawn.

A student who receives Federal Financial Aid funding and who completely withdraws from the institution is subject to the Return of Title IV Funds policy. The amount of funding to be returned is based on the percentage of enrollment completed for the term/semester and the amount of financial assistance considered earned. Failure to attend 60% of the term/semester may result in a prorated refund of financial aid to the student's lender.

The Chicago School and the student are both responsible to return unearned funds to the appropriate Title IV program(s) in the order of Direct Unsubsidized, Direct Subsidized, Parent or Graduate PLUS, PELL, and SEOG, where applicable. It is recommended that a student who receives financial aid connect with the Office of Financial Aid prior to withdrawing to determine if they will leave the school with a balance on their student account. If a balance is owed to the school, the student must contact Student Accounts to make payment arrangements. Any refund of tuition due to the student will be based on the applicable Refund Policies.

When a student who receives Title IV grant or loan assistance withdraws from the institution during the payment period or period of enrollment in which the recipient began attendance, the institution must determine the amount of Title IV grant or loan assistance that the student earned as of the student's withdrawal date. This may result in the student owing a balance to the school.

A student's withdrawal date is determined in accordance with the Withdrawal policy.

Payment Plans and Tuition Reimbursements

The Chicago School offers three (3) possible payment options to assist active students. The standard In-Term Payment Plan is designed for all students. Two additional options, Deferred Tuition Payment Plan and the Direct-Bill Payment Plan, are available for students who receive employer or third-party-based tuition reimbursement or assistance. There is

no interest fee; however a late payment fee is incurred when payments are not made on time and will be charged monthly until the payment plan is current. A student wishing to pursue a payment plan must have all arrangements completed by the end of the first week of the term/semester. The school offers an Out of School Payment Plan for former students.

In-Term Payment Plan (Standard)

Available through the Office of Student Accounts, the In-Term Payment Plan allows a student to pay an outstanding tuition balance in up to four monthly installments per semester or two installments per term for term-based programs. All payment plans will be scheduled with a due date on the 15th of each month. There are no service charges for the payment plan option. A student who has not paid the full tuition or signed a payment plan by the end of the first week of classes will be assessed a late fee, unless the unpaid balance is due to approved financial aid funds that have not yet posted to the student's account. A late payment fee will be charged monthly until the balance is paid or payment plan is current. A registration hold will be placed on the account until the account is made current. A student who elects to reduce the student loans to an amount that does not cover the full tuition and fee balance is eligible for payment plans. All payment plans must be pre-approved by the Office of Student Accounts.

An account is considered delinquent if the student has an outstanding balance for tuition or fee payments and is not participating in an approved payment plan. A late payment fee will be charged monthly until the balance is paid in full. A student with a valid payment plan and no past due balance is considered in good standing once the first payment is received. The student will not be subject to a billing hold or assessed a late fee as long as the student continues making on-time payments on the payment plan. A student who is five (5) days late in making a payment on the payment plan will be assessed a late fee and will have a hold placed on the account until the account balance is paid in full. If tuition is not paid in full by the next registration period, the student will not be permitted to register for the next term/semester.

Tuition and Fee Schedule available on the school website.

Deferred Tuition Payment Plan

A student receiving employer-based tuition reimbursement may be eligible to participate in the Deferred Tuition Payment Plan. An eligible student must be in good financial standing with the school. This plan is for a student who has tuition reimbursement plans for which payment is dependent upon a grade or completion of a course.

The student is responsible for submitting the Deferred Tuition Payment Plan application each academic year of enrollment in order to participate. The application fee for the Deferred Tuition Payment Plan is indicated on the application. The application requires a copy of the employer's tuition reimbursement policy and a signed letter verifying the amount of the student's reimbursement eligibility and any restrictions.

The balance due must be paid by the end of the second week of the next term/semester, regardless of whether or not the student has received the employer reimbursement or grades have been received. A registration hold and late fees will be issued to the student's account if complete payment has not been made by the deferred tuition payment plan due date. Final grades for a term/semester in which a student has an outstanding financial balance will be withheld until the financial balance for the term/semester is paid.

The Office of Student Accounts will assist with necessary documentation required for employer or third party reimbursement or assistance purposes.

While a student must submit the Deferred Tuition Payment Plan application no later than the last day of the first week of the term/semester, early submission is the best course of action. The Chicago School reserves the right to deny participation in the Deferred Tuition Payment Plan.

Direct Bill Payment Plan

A student who is eligible for partial or full-tuition payment by a third-party source may apply for the Direct Bill Payment Plan. A Direct Bill Payment Plan is not contingent upon a grade and/or completion of a course and is payable directly to The Chicago School. A payment plan may be set up according to the employer policy.

Third-party billing sources may be: an employer, scholarship foundation, government (such as AmeriCorps or Upward Mobility program) or military tuition assistance. A student must submit a payment voucher or letter that includes the name of the student and program, amount to be paid, payment method (check or credit card), and term/semester for which tuition is to be paid.

All vouchers or letters must be submitted to the Office of Student Accounts no later than the end of the first week of each term/semester. The student is responsible for establishing a secured payment method by the first week of the term/semester for the remaining balance not being paid by the third-party source.

Payments are due from the third-party source within 30 calendar days of invoicing or else a registration hold and a late fee will be applied to the student's account. It is the student's responsibility to ensure that all required documents are received by the third party and that payment is submitted in a timely manner. Final grades for a term/semester in which a student has an outstanding financial balance will be withheld until the financial balance for the term/semester is paid.

Out of School Payment Plan

A former student no longer actively enrolled with the institution (inclusive of withdrawn, dismissed, or graduated) may owe a balance. If a balance remains on a student's account, a final statement will be mailed. A student's diploma will be released after the balance is paid in full.

The former student may be eligible for an Out of School Payment Plan, but missed payments may result in cancellation of the payment plan and prevent the former student from future participation in this payment plan option. A service fee will be assessed if a payment plan is established.

If the balance is not paid in full, a payment plan is not set up within 90 days of the withdrawal date, or the former student is past due on a payment plan, the balance will be sent to a collection agency. The institution reserves the right to deny or cancel the payment plan option for any individual.

Refund Policies

A course dropped during the Add/Drop period of the corresponding term/semester will be refunded 100% of tuition and course fees. A course dropped after the Add/Drop deadline will be subject to a partial refund of tuition only, according to the refund schedule below. Adding or dropping a course may change the student's enrollment status, which could result in changes to financial aid eligibility.

Refund Schedule

Week 1

The refund schedule week begins on Monday and ends on Sunday. Contact the Office of Student Accounts with questions.

15-Week Semester

Drop/Withdrawal Refund Schedule

Drop/Withdrawal Refund

Week 2	75%
Week 3	50%
Week 4	25%
Week 5 to Week 15	0%

8-Week Term/Semester

Drop/Withdrawal Refund Schedule

	Drop/Withdrawal	Refund
Week 1		100%
Week 2		50%
Week 3 to Week 8		0%

Military Refund Policy

U.S. Military personnel, U.S. Military Reservists, or National Guard members who are called into service and, as a result, are unable meet academic requirements prior to the completion of the term/semester will be entitled to receive a full refund of tuition and fees. This policy applies whether the call to service is voluntarily or involuntarily, but it does include active service for training. This same consideration may be available to spouses and dependents of active duty military personnel. A student who is drafted and must report for active duty during a term/semester is entitled to receive a full refund of tuition and fees. All refunds are subject to the presentation of official documentation. In the event a student receives any Title IV Federal Aid for education expenses, the institution will return those funds to the Department of Education. In those instances, if the student received funds in addition to those for tuition and fees, the student will be subject to the repayment of those funds. A student who volunteers for military service will be subject to the school's standard Refund Schedule.

Returning Unearned Tuition Assistance (TA) Funds

The Chicago School returns unearned TA funds on a proportional basis through at least the 60 percent portion of the term/semester for which the funds were awarded. TA funds are earned proportionally during a term/semester, with unearned funds returned based upon when a student stops attending school.

15-Week Semester

Drop/Withdrawal Refund Schedule

Drop/Withdrawal	Refund
Week 1	100%
Week 2	91%

Week 3	82%
Week 4	73%
Week 5	64%
Week 6	55%
Week 7	46%
Week 8	40%
Weeks 9 to 15	0%

8-Week Term/Semester

Drop/Withdrawal Refund Schedule

Drop/Withdrawal	Refund
Week 1	100%
Week 2	80%
Week 3	60%
Week 4	40%
Weeks 5 to 8	0%

State-Specific Refund Policies

Tuition refunds for students who reside in Maryland, New Mexico, Oregon, Texas, or Wisconsin will be issued in accordance with the policies required by the laws and regulations of those states. Tuition refunds for students enrolled in the AAS-N or VN program in Texas will be issued in accordance with regulations set forth by the Texas Workforce Commission. However, if the school's refund policy is more beneficial to those students, it will follow its refund policy and provide for refunds of tuition as provided in that policy.

Maryland Refund Policy

1. As required by the Maryland Higher Education Commission, the minimum refund that The Chicago School will pay to a Maryland student who withdraws or is terminated after completing only a portion of a course, program, or term within the applicable billing period is as follows:

Proportion of Total Course, Program, or Term Completed as of Date of Withdrawal or Termination	Tuition Refund

Less than 10%	90% refund
10% up to but not including 20%	80% refund
20% up to but not including 30%	60% refund
30% up to but not including 40%	40% refund
40% up to but not including 60%	20% refund
More than 60%	No refund

- 2. A refund due to a Maryland student will be based on the date of withdrawal or termination and paid within 60 days from the date of withdrawal or termination.
- 3. This refund policy must be disclosed to students upon enrollment, and documentation verifying student refunds in accordance with this policy must be maintained.

New Mexico Refund Policy

- Cooling off period. A student is entitled to a three day cooling off period after making an initial deposit or
 payment toward tuition and fees. During the cooling off period all payments shall be refunded. Evidence of
 personal appearance at the institution or deposit of a written statement of withdrawal for delivery by mail or
 other means shall be deemed as meeting the terms of the cooling off period.
- Registration charges. A student may withdraw after beginning instruction or submitting lesson materials,
 effective upon appearance at the institution or deposit of a written statement of withdrawal for delivery by
 mail or other means. The Chicago School will retain, as registration charges, no more than \$100 or 5% of
 tuition and fees, whichever is less.
- 3. Tuition and fees. The Chicago School will retain tuition and fees earned and state gross receipts taxes at a pro-rata amount according to the following schedule:

Date of student withdrawal as a % of the enrollment period for which the student was obligated	Portion of tuition and fees obligated and paid that are eligible to be retained by the institution
On 1st class day	0%
After 1st day; within 10%	10%
After 10%; within 25%	50%
After 25%; within 50%	75%
50% or thereafter	100%

- 4. Tuition/fee refunds must be made within 30 calendar days of the institution receiving written notice of a student's withdrawal or of the institution terminating enrollment of the student, whichever is earlier.
- 5. Upon request by a student or the department, the institution shall provide an accounting for such amounts retained under this standard within five workdays.

Oregon Refund Policy

Courses dropped during the Add/Drop period will be refunded 100% of tuition and course fees. Oregon students who withdraw from a course after the Add/Drop period are eligible for a partial refund through the middle week of the applicable term/semester.

Refunds are based on unused instructional time and are prorated on a weekly basis as detailed below.

8 Weeks

Drop/Withdrawal Refund Schedule

Drop/Withdrawal	Refund
Week 1	100%
Week 2	75%
Week 3	63%
Week 4	50%
Week 5-8	0%

Texas Refund Policy

Refund computations will be based on scheduled clock hours of class attendance through the last date of attendance. Leaves of absence and school holidays will not be counted as part of the scheduled class attendance.

- 1. The effective date of termination for refund purposes will be the earliest of the following:
 - a. The last day of attendance, if the student is terminated by the School;
 - b. The date of receipt of written notice from the student; or
 - c. Ten school days following the last date of attendance.
- 2. If tuition and fees are collected in advance of entrance, and if after expiration of the 72-hour cancellation privilege the student does not enter school, not more than \$100 in nonrefundable administrative fees shall be retained by the School for the entire residence program or synchronous distance education course.
- 3. If a student enters a residence program and withdraws or is otherwise terminated, the School may retain not more than \$100 in nonrefundable administrative fees for the entire program. The minimum refund of the remaining tuition and fees will be the pro rata portion of tuition, fees, and other charges that the number of hours remaining in the portion of the course or program for which the student has been charged after the effective date of the termination bears to the total number of hours in the portion of the course or program for which the student has been charged, except that a student may not collect a refund if the student has completed 75% or more of the total number of hours in the portion of the program for which the student has been charged on the effective date of termination. (Simplified, the refund is based on the precise number of clock hours the student has paid for, but not yet used, at the point of termination, up to the 75% completion mark, after which no refund is due. Form PS-1040 provides the precise calculation.)
- 4. A student who withdraws for a reason unrelated to the student's academic status after the 75% completion mark and requests a grade at the time of withdrawal shall be given a grade of "WF" and permitted to re-enroll in the course or program during the 12-month period following the date the student withdrew without payment of additional tuition for that portion of the course or program.
- 5. A full refund of all tuition and fees is due and refundable in each of the following cases:
 - a. The student is not accepted by the school or cancels enrollment within cancellation timeframes;
 - b. The student was solicited or enrolled by an unregistered representative;

- c. The student's enrollment was procured as a result of any misrepresentation in advertising, promotional materials of the school, or representations by the owner or representatives of the school:
- d. The student was solicited or admitted to an unapproved course of instruction;
- e. The school failed to establish that the admissions requirements were met for a student admitted to the program;
- f. Classes up to the entire program or course, if applicable, were taught by: (a) an instructor that was not approved, qualified, or for whom an application was not submitted properly for approval, as may be required for the course, or (b) a temporary instructor without proper notification to TWC;
- g. Class period(s) that had no instructor;
- h. The course of instruction is discontinued by the school, preventing the student from completing;
- i. The school moves to a location causing hardship for the student in completing training; and
- j. There are other program violations or deficiencies by the school.
- A full or partial refund may also be due in other circumstances of program deficiencies or violations of requirements for Career Schools and Colleges.

Wisconsin Refund Policy

A Wisconsin student enrolled in a program with the Online Campus will receive a full refund of all money paid if:

- 1. The student cancels enrollment within the three business day cancellation period under EAB 6.04;
- 2. The student accepted, was unqualified, and the school did not secure a disclaimer under EAB 9.04;
- 3. The school procured the student's enrollment as the result of any false representations in the written materials used by the school or in oral representations made by or on behalf of the school.

Refunds will be made within 10 business days of cancellation.

A Wisconsin student who withdraws or is dismissed after attending at least one class, but before completing 60% of the instruction in the current enrollment period, is entitled to a pro rata refund, as calculated below:

At Least	But Less Than	Refund of Tuition
1 credit hour/class	10%	90%
10%	20%	80%
20%	30%	70%
30%	40%	60%
40%	50%	50%
50%	60%	40%
60%	N/A	No Refund

As part of this policy, the school may retain a one-time application fee of no more than \$100. The school will make every effort to refund prepaid amounts for books, supplies, and other charges. A student will receive the refund within 40 days of the termination date. If a student withdraws after completing 60% of the instruction, The Chicago School may refund a pro rata amount if the withdrawal is due to mitigating circumstances beyond the student's control.

Study Abroad and Field Experience Program Fees

The study abroad program fee for courses is 100% non-refundable past the Add/Drop deadline of the term I/semester, even if the study abroad course is scheduled to run in the second term of the semester, i.e. fall II, spring II, summer II. The field experience fee is 100% non-refundable after the student signs a program agreement with their academic department, regardless of when the student may drop the course or withdraw from the program.

Student Employment

Student Employment provides on and off-campus assistantship opportunities for students. Many of these positions are paid in part by financial aid funding. Other positions are funded fully by the school. Assistantship positions may involve working in an operations area such as academic affairs, admissions, or facilities or working for a faculty member within an academic department. Assistantships typically require 10 to 20 hours of work per week.

A student is hired based upon their abilities to meet the requirements of the assistantship for which they apply. A student may not work more than 20 hours per week. A student may hold more than one position on campus so long as their cumulative work hours do not exceed 20 hours per week. However, it is not encouraged that a student holds more than two positions at the school.

To apply for an assistantship position, a student must file an application with the department offering the assistantship. If hired, the student is required to log work hours in the human resources information system. It is expected that a student assistant will comport themselves in a manner consistent with the professional expectations of their degree program. Failure to meet the expectation of an assistantship and/or unprofessional comportment may result in referral to the student's Department Chair for further review.

Because fellowships and scholarships do not constitute employment, a student who has these forms of aid may hold an assistantship and work up to 20 hours per week.

Federal Work Study (FWS)

A student eligible for Federal financial aid may be paid for assistantship work through the FWS program. A student must complete a Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA) and meet all qualifications set forth in the Federal Student Aid Handbook. The student must apply for FWS positions, which are not guaranteed.

At the beginning of each award year, a student applying for or already employed in a FWS position must submit a Student Employment Eligibility Form online to the Office of Financial Aid. If approved, the Student Employment Eligibility Form will confirm eligibility and indicate the specific dollar amount that can be earned within that academic year. Eligible first-time students using FWS must also complete new employee paperwork.

College Work Study (CWS)

A student who is not eligible for federal work study funding may be eligible to apply for a CWS assistantship. If hired, the student will be considered a part-time employee. Part-time employee's earnings are subject to appropriate income tax regulations. An international student in F-1 or J-1 status is eligible to apply for any on campus position that does not require Federal Work Study eligibility. An international student sponsored in another visa status should consult with the visa sponsor regarding employment.

Assistantship Positions

Student assistantships include the following position types:

- Teaching Assistantships
- Faculty Assistantships
- Professional Assistantships
- Community Assistantships

Teaching Assistantships

Teaching Assistantship (TA) positions are affiliated with a degree program. The primary responsibilities of these positions include assisting faculty members in the delivery of a course through a variety of activities, such as grading papers, presenting in class, hosting discussion groups, answering student questions, distributing class materials, and so on.

A student must have completed the course or its equivalent prior to being eligible to apply for a teaching assistant position. The student should work with the degree program's administration and human resources to apply for TA positions. TA positions are expected to work no more than ten (10) hours per week, but hours may vary based on the requirements of the course. TAs must coordinate their hours with the supervising faculty member.

Faculty Assistantships

Faculty Assistantships (FA) are positions designed to assist faculty members. In collaboration with Human Resources, FA's are hired and supervised by program or administrative faculty members. The primary responsibilities of these positions include assisting faculty members in the management of their offices and duties through a variety of clerical (filing, scheduling, typing, photocopying, data entry) and focused research activities (collecting/summarizing articles, gathering information). Faculty Assistants are paid on an hourly basis.

Research Assistantships

Research Assistantships are positions that may be affiliated with either a degree program or administrator in a nonacademic area of the school. In collaboration with Human Resources, Research Assistants are hired and supervised by the program faculty or administrator. The primary responsibilities of these positions include assisting faculty members in the design, execution, analysis, and dissemination of scholarly work.

Professional Assistantships

Professional Assistantships are positions affiliated with the administrative areas of the institution. In collaboration with Human Resources, Professional Assistants are hired and supervised by administrators and staff employed by one of the school's nonacademic departments or offices. The primary responsibilities for these positions include assisting in departmental operations through a variety of clerical (filing, scheduling, typing, photocopying, data entry), administrative (assist in managing the department or departmental projects), and focused research activities (collecting/summarizing articles, gathering information).

Community Assistantships

Community Assistantships are positions that support Community Service and Community-Based Research projects. In collaboration with Human Resources, Community Assistants are hired and supervised by faculty, administrators, or staff engaged in Community Service or Community-Based Research projects. For Community Service projects, a student works on designated assignments with partner agencies in the community. Common projects include working in literacy, mentorship, outreach, and other human service programs. Community-Based Research involves the generation of scholarship on topics important to the school's partner agencies. Under faculty leadership, the student seeks to discover new knowledge in order to improve the health and well-being of people in the community. Common Community-Based Research projects

include needs analyses, organizational assessments, program developments and evaluations, and critical reviews of literature.

Student Reimbursement

If a student is approved to spend money on behalf of the institution for school business, the reimbursement process will be managed through the student's University account. This process applies to reimbursements to students for all approved expenditures on behalf of a student organization, an academic or operations department, an approved professional development opportunity, or other entity.

A student who has received approval to spend money on behalf of the institution will coordinate with a representative of the approving entity (academic department, student organization, etc.) to complete the Student Reimbursement Form. Receipts for approved purchases must be presented with the request for reimbursement.

Tuition and fees are due in full for all students before the last day of the first week of a new term/semester. This requirement will be waived if a student intends to use financial aid (including loans) to pay tuition in full and has completed all financial aid paperwork required prior to the start of the term/semester. Students may reduce the amount of tuition due the first week of the term/semester by completing a payment plan agreement with a Student Accounts Advisor prior to the start of the term/semester. Accounts with outstanding balances not covered by financial aid or a payment plan will be considered delinquent after the last day of the first week of each term/semester within a five-day grace period. A late payment fee will be charged each month until the balance has been paid or if the student is past due on a planned payment.

The Tuition and Fee Schedule is available on the school website.

During any phase of an academic program, a student whose account is delinquent must make satisfactory arrangements for payment with a Student Accounts Advisor. In accordance with the Returning Students policies, a former student who wishes to return to Chicago School must first pay all outstanding tuition and fees in full before applying for readmission or reentry. See the Returning Students policy for information.

A student with a delinquent account may not engage in any of the following activities until tuition and fees are paid in full:

- Register for a subsequent term/semester,
- Attend classes,
- Begin or attend practicum or internship,
- Work with faculty on a dissertation or thesis,
- Defend a dissertation or thesis, and
- Have final grades posted for the term/semester in which a balance is owed.

If a student's practicum or internship is affected by a delinquent account, the student must notify the site supervisor and meet with a representative of the Office of Placement and Training to develop a plan to ensure that all clinical and professional responsibilities are addressed.

A student who wishes to review The Chicago School's Guaranty Bond may request to do so through the Chief Operating Officer.

Military Benefits

The Chicago School is authorized to award military benefits to eligible students. Information on the benefit programs available at the school is posted to the Community Website.

A qualified student is permitted to participate in the course of education during the period beginning on the date on which they provide a certificate of eligibility for benefits under chapter 31 or chapter 33 and ending on the earlier of the following dates:

- The date on which payment from VA is made to the school.
- Ninety days after the date the school certified tuition and fees following the receipt of the certificate of eligibility.

A qualified student facing delayed disbursement funding from VA under chapter 31 or chapter 33 will not be penalized by the school. A student will not incur delayed disbursement-related late fees, will not be denied access to courses, libraries, or other institutional facilities, and will not be required to borrow additional funds to cover their financial obligations while awaiting disbursement from VA.

AAS-N and VN Programs

The tuition and fees schedule for the AAS-N and VN programs is available on the school website. The AAS-N and VN programs total cost includes tuition, books, supplies, immunizations, physical examination, and two sets of scrubs.

Student Services, Health, and Safety

Campus Posting

The Chicago School permits the posting of materials within public areas and corridors of school buildings in adherence with the guidelines set in this policy. All displayed materials must relate to Chicago School-approved organizations, activities, programs, or services and have the sponsoring organization's name listed. Printed materials must be appropriately displayed on a bulletin board or easel in student lounges or classrooms and are permitted only on non-academic department bulletin boards in common areas of each school location.

Printed materials are permitted for posting only upon the specific approval of Student Life & Events. Department Chairs or their designees must approve posted materials on departmental bulletin boards. Postings deemed inappropriate, posted in areas other than on approved bulletin boards, or without approval will be removed.

Career Services

Career Services provides students and alumni with the resources and tools necessary to enter and thrive in their chosen area of employment. Career Services helps members of the learning community prepare for access and success in the professional world as practitioners and leaders by hosting relevant career-related activities and providing access to employment opportunities. Visit the Career Services website to learn about resources and services designed to support students and alumni in their career development and job search.

Career Services is committed to complying with the ethical standards of the National Association of Colleges and Employers and expects students and employers to be honest and professional in the job search process. A student is encouraged to notify Career Services if any perceived violation of ethical conduct by an employer occurs.

The Office of Global Engagement sponsors and coordinates international work and activities for students and visiting scholars, faculty, and alumni. Global Engagement advises international students and visiting scholars studying domestically, and it serves Chicago School students participating in international travel.

Global Engagement advises F-1 international students, J-1 students, and short-term visitors on immigration matters and provides cross-cultural adjustment support to students. Designated School Officials (DSO) can assist a student with immigration status questions, travel needs, cross-cultural adjustment, and employment (on-campus, Curricular Practical Training (CPT), Optional Practical Training (OPT), or STEM OPT Extension). Alternate Responsible Officers (ARO) assist a student or Exchange Visitor with immigration status, travel, or academic training questions.

Global Engagement manages all study abroad programs and provides some support to field experience programs. Please refer to the Study Abroad website or email Study Abroad for information on eligibility, registration, and incountry requirements.

Sponsored International Travel

The Chicago School defines sponsored international travel for students as travel that is authorized and administered by the institution. Typical sponsored travel programs for students include Study Abroad (optional), Field Experience (required by degree program), and other special programs that require international travel. Student-initiated, independent travel is not considered sponsored travel, even if the need for travel is school-based.

Study Abroad is an optional experience that provides an opportunity for in-depth study of a topic in the classroom and includes international travel. Study abroad courses are typically three credit hours and may be eligible to count toward a student's degree requirements. Field Experience is required for selected degree programs and includes both classroom study and international travel. Special programs such as Education Beyond Borders are non-credit bearing activities that include international travel.

A sponsored program or travel component of a sponsored program may be cancelled due to low enrollment, increased risk, or similar. A student may be dismissed from a program for violation of a school policy or a local law among other reasons. See the Disciplinary Process for Sponsored International Programs policy for more information.

Study Abroad

To qualify for Study Abroad, a student must:

- 1. Be in Academic and Financial Good Standing and have no account holds at the time of application.
- 2. Apply to the program, which can include submitting a written application, writing an essay, and/or interview with the faculty lead.
- 3. Sign and agree to abide by the International Travel Student Rights and Responsibility Agreement including all immunizations, vaccinations, and related testing and requirements as mandated by the institution and travel destination(s).
- 4. Abide by the school's Student Conduct policies stated in this Academic Catalog and Student Handbook.
- 5. Complete all portions of the International Travel Registration Form.
- 6. Participate in pre-departure orientation.

Global Distinction

Global Distinction is a voluntary program that recognizes a student for their commitment to developing a global perspective. A student who completes the program will receive a "Global Distinction" notation on their official transcript and be honored at commencement. Program information is available on the Community Website.

Health and Wellness

F-1 and J-1/J-2 Health Insurance Requirement

The Chicago School requires students and scholars in F-1 or J-1 visa statuses to have health insurance. A J-2 dependent must provide proof of health insurance coverage. A student or scholar in F-1 or J-1 visa status is required to purchase a health insurance plan from the school-designated health insurance carrier and will be enrolled by the school before their first semester begins. A student or scholar enrolled in the school-designated health insurance plan may show proof of comparable health insurance to waive out of the school-designated plan. Information on this program is available on the Community Website.

Immunizations

The Chicago School encourages all students to follow the Centers for Disease Control (CDC) guidelines for vaccinations. Recommendations on immunizations are available on the CDC website.

Washington, D.C.

A degree-seeking student under the age of 26 attending the Washington, D.C. campus must provide proof of immunization as detailed below. This D.C. Department of Health mandate requires compliance for a student who turns 26 either on or after their first day of attendance. This requirement is in addition to the COVID-19 requirement above.

The following immunizations or tests are required:

- Tetanus/Diphtheria (Td)
- Measles/Mumps/Rubella (MMR)
- Hepatitis B (Hep B)
- Varicella (Chicken Pox)

A student must submit a Certificate of Immunity along with proof of immunization as part of the enrollment process. The deadline for submitting the Certificate of Immunity is the Add/Drop date of the first semester of enrollment. Detailed student instructions are included on the Certificate of Immunity form.

A student who fails to provide required immunization records by the deadline will be removed from the institution.

Student Solutions

The Chicago School offers Student Solutions, a free, confidential, around-the-clock counseling service. Student Solutions resources may be accessed by calling 1-855-460-6668 or visiting www.guidanceresources.com (Web Identifier: TCSPP). The Student Solutions toll-free line is answered by counseling professionals and is strictly confidential, as mandated by law.

Counseling Providers

Student Solutions is available to students struggling with stress and anxiety, relationship issues, or legal and financial concerns. Should a student desire to access in-person care with a mental health provider in their local area, Student Solutions will make a referral, and the school will pay for the student's first three counseling sessions. Should a student choose to engage in ongoing treatment with the recommended provider, the student may have the opportunity to establish a sliding scale service rate or arrange for payment by a health insurance plan.

Legal and Financial Information

Through Student Solutions, a student has an attorney "on call" for questions about legal matters including divorce, custody, adoption, real estate, debt and bankruptcy, landlord/tenant issues, civil and criminal actions, and more. Additionally, financial advisors are available for consultation on budgeting, debt management, tax issues, and other money concerns.

School Safety

The Chicago School has a 24/7 recorded information line, 800.750.5579, and an Emergency Information webpage, that contains information, guidelines, and resource links. All of these outlets will accompany campus email as a means to help disseminate information in the event of a campus emergency, global class cancellation, or school closing. New Orleans campus closure information may be found on the XULA Emergency Website or by calling 866.520.9852.

All Chicago School campuses utilize security cameras at public entry points and throughout common areas on campus. This security camera system is not used for 24/7 monitoring, but as a tool for capturing and archiving footage to help law enforcement investigate a crime if one were to occur.

Chicago

If suspicious activity is observed on campus, it should be reported to the fourth-floor reception desk at 325 N Wells or by calling 312.329.6600. The security desk for 325 N Wells is located in the first floor lobby and can also be reached by calling 312.329.1392.

The Merchandise Mart security can be accessed via the reception desk in the lobby on the first floor. The security telephone number for the Merchandise Mart is 312.527.4141.

Dallas

If suspicious activity is observed on the Dallas Campus, it should be reported to the reception desk at 469.941.8366.

Anaheim

If suspicious activity is observed on the Anaheim Campus, it should be reported to the reception desk at 714.922.9600.

Los Angeles

If suspicious activity is observed on the Los Angeles Campus, it should be reported to the reception desk on the 6th floor by calling 213.615.7200. The security desk for the building can be reached at 213.614.5000.

San Diego

If suspicious activity is observed on the San Diego Campus, it should be reported to the reception desk by calling 619.541.4500. The security desk for the building can be reached at 619.232.4330.

The Chicago School at Xavier University of Louisiana

If suspicious activity is observed at The Chicago School at Xavier University of Louisiana, it should be reported to University Police, Xavier University of Louisiana, 3801 South Carrolton Avenue, New Orleans, LA 70125 or by calling 504.486.7402.

Washington, D.C.

If suspicious activity is observed at the 901 15th Street building, it should be reported to the second floor reception desk or by calling 202.706.5000. The security desk is located on the first floor and can be reached at 202.289.0749.

If suspicious activity is observed at the 1015 15th Street building, it should be reported to the security desk located on the first floor or by calling 202.289.7908.

Crime Awareness and Campus Security Information

The institution publishes an annual security report which includes information on the following:

- Campus policies on reporting criminal actions and other emergencies
- Security and access to campus facilities
- Campus law enforcement
- Crime prevention programs
- Policy on the possession, use, and sale of alcoholic beverages and illegal drugs
- Drug and alcohol abuse programs
- Crime statistics

To view a copy of the latest Crime Awareness and Campus Security Information Report, visit the Emergency Information page on the school website. A separate report is created for each campus as required by law.

Emergency Text Messaging

The Chicago School utilizes Rave, an emergency text messaging notification system, to reach members of the school community by rapidly transmitting short notifications to a cell phone. The Chicago School community members who have not yet registered are encouraged to visit http://www.getrave.com/login/tcsedsystem to submit contact information. Rave does not charge subscribers to send or receive SMS messages. Standard or other messaging charges apply depending upon the wireless carrier plan and subscription details. Once registered, community members may opt out of SMS messaging at any time by texting STOP to 67283 or 226787.

Minors on Campus

The Chicago School is committed to providing an educational space free from distractions and conducive to learning. The presence of minor children on site can be a disruptive factor for students, and it can also present safety and liability issues for the institution. Therefore, appropriate restrictions are placed on bringing minor children to school campuses, sites, and facilities (classrooms, offices, common areas, and grounds).

Unsupervised minors are not permitted in classrooms, research labs, facility grounds, offices or any other common areas. Authorized visits are permitted where minors are accompanied by an adult at all times.

For the purpose of this policy, an authorized visit is defined as:

- A "bring your child to school day" sponsored by the institution.
- A school-sponsored activity that explicitly includes children.
- A short visit, i.e. to pick up a book, drop off a form, meet with an Admissions representative, or tour the campus.
- A department or course event planned especially for minors.

In all of the above instances, a minor must be supervised by their parent, guardian, or a paid attendant, e.g., a nanny.

Anyone who observes an unattended minor child should alert a Facilities representative who will attempt to locate the parent, guardian, or paid attendant. If the responsible adult is unable to be located in a reasonable amount of time, the Police Department will be contacted so that local authorities may respond to the matter in accordance with the appropriate city, county, and/or state laws.

Student Advisement

Student advising is an integral part of a Chicago School education. All students are provided with a faculty advisor and a Student Support Counselor.

Faculty Advising

The faculty advisement relationship includes:

- Review and discussion of career planning in relation to past experiences, present needs, and future professional goals
- 2. Review of past coursework and advice concerning course selection
- 3. Review of grades, evaluations, and additional narratives commenting on past performance
- 4. Participation in the development and oversight of ADPs, where necessary
- 5. Availability for discussion of personal concerns that impact academic and professional progress
- 6. Referrals for additional help when necessary and appropriate

The following is expected of the student with regard to the faculty advising relationship:

- 1. Consultation with their faculty advisor regarding course selection prior to registration
- 2. Meeting with their faculty advisor at least twice per year to review academic and professional progress
- 3. Consultation with their faculty advisor before a problem or concern becomes serious

Student Review Meetings

The practice and frequency of Student Review meetings varies across academic departments. At Student Review meetings, faculty advisors present their advisees and solicit feedback from the faculty regarding a student's progress in the program. After reviewing a student's academic and professional progress, work samples, practicum, thesis, or internship feedback and evaluations, instructors of record for the courses forward written feedback to each student reviewed. First-year students are generally reviewed at the end of the fall, spring, and summer semesters. More advanced students are reviewed at least once per year. Permission to apply to or participate in practicum and internship is typically considered during Student Review meetings.

Selecting a New Faculty Advisor

A student who desires a new faculty advisor may make a change request to the Department Chair. The student must make their request in writing. If approved, the Department Chair will notify the Student Support Counselor of this change so that the student's records may be updated.

Student Support Counseling

All Chicago School students have a Student Support Counselor, a staff member who is available to assist with general questions, course registration, graduation requirements, and more. A student is encouraged to be in regular contact with their Student Support Counselor.

Student Identification Cards

An identification card is issued automatically to a ground campus student. This card permits student access to the campus buildings and allows for the use of materials and services in the library. The identification card should be displayed at all times. Identification cards of a student who withdraws or who is dismissed from the institution will be deactivated.

An online campus student or New Orleans student may obtain an identification card, if desired. Requests for information on identification cards, including how to provide a passport-ready head shot (jpg format) may be sent to facilities@thechicagoschool.edu.

A student must report to Facilities all lost, stolen, damaged, or misplaced cards. A replacement fee applies to all reissued cards.

Student Organizations

Student associations exist to meet the needs and serve the interests of all students at The Chicago School. The associations strive to provide meaningful opportunities for involvement that promote personal growth, professional development, and community engagement.

As organizations devoted to specific interests and activities are developed by students, they are required to become officially recognized. All new student organizations must first apply to become a Student Interest Group. After three months in Student Interest Group status, the organization may apply to become a Registered Student Organization. Once a group becomes a Registered Student Organization, it may request funding for approved events and activities. Information on this process is available from Student Life & Events.

For student groups sponsored by an academic department (i.e. student ambassadors, etc.), please see your academic department for funding options and availability.

Chicago School Student Association

The shared mission statement of The Chicago School Student Associations is:

"The Student Association exists to meet the needs and serve the interests of all students at The Chicago School. Recognizing that students' needs and interests go beyond the academic environment, the Student Association is committed to addressing various aspects of the student experience including personal and professional development, information resources, and social outlets. The Student Association advocates mutual respect and inclusion in support of students' educational goals, occupational development, and community engagement."

The association structure provides for the election of a student cabinet each year. The term of office is one year in duration. The purpose of the student association is to:

- Foster campus community and engagement through purposeful dialogue and events
- · Provide programs to enhance the students' social, professional, intellectual, and cultural development
- Serve as the student voice, both locally and across the institution, to administration
- Give students the opportunity to maintain and enhance their leadership skills

Representation on Committees of the Faculty

Where required, the student association works with faculty to appoint students to serve on committees.

Use of Alcohol

A student is expected to abide by all applicable state and federal laws, as well as all Chicago School policies and procedures, when consuming alcohol at school-recognized events sponsored by a student organization.

Alcohol may not be freely accessible, must be consumed in moderation, and must be served by a licensed vendor or trained professional. Food and non-alcoholic beverages must be provided and readily accessible. Ultimately, students are responsible for their own behavior and for providing a safe environment for all event attendees. All on- and off-campus events involving alcohol that are sponsored by a student organization must comply with this policy.

There is no guarantee that a student organization will be permitted to provide alcohol at school-recognized events, and permission to serve alcohol at a school-recognized event is granted on a case-by-case basis.

All venue contracts must be reviewed by the organization's advisor, Student Life & Events, and the Office of General Counsel prior to being signed. To request permission to serve alcohol at a school-recognized event, the student organization must first submit all applicable documentation including contracts at least 30 calendar days prior to the event. The budget for and marketing of all events that include alcohol must be pre-approved by Student Life & Events.

Once approvals are obtained, alcoholic beverages may be served at a student organization-sponsored event under the following conditions:

- a. Alcohol must be served in a controlled manner and not be freely accessible. Individuals under the age of 21 or who are visibly intoxicated may not be served. Alcohol must not leave the confines of the event.
- b. Non-alcoholic beverages and food must be available during the entire time alcohol is served. Water must be served for the duration of the event.
- c. The event has a primary purpose not directly related to the consumption of alcohol. Such purposes might include, but are not limited to, furtherance of the organization's mission and/or providing networking opportunities to students.
- d. At least two student members of the organization hosting the event shall attend the event as Student Sponsors. Student Sponsors are prohibited from consuming alcoholic beverages prior to or during the event, and must be present to ensure the alcohol policy and all other applicable institutional policies are being followed. In no event shall there be fewer than two Student Sponsors at an event regardless of the total number of attendees.
- e. All on-campus events must have a published end time, and the service of alcohol must stop at least 30 minutes prior to the published end time of the event.
- f. Organizations are prohibited from co-sponsoring an event with an alcohol distributor, charitable organization, or tavern (tavern defined as an establishment generating more than half of annual gross sales from alcohol) where alcohol is provided free-of-charge or heavily discounted by the distributor.
- g. While alcohol may be mentioned, any marketing of the event should not solely focus on alcohol promotion or service.
- h. Student organizations shall not use alcohol brands or logos as part of promotional materials for an event.

On-campus events:

- 1. Organizations must purchase alcohol by following all state and federal laws. Organizations must provide a trained bartender to serve alcohol and be in compliance with local liquor license requirements.
- Organizations may not collect supplemental funds from students solely for the purposes of purchasing alcohol. Organizations may require students to pay a portion of the overall event cost.

Off-campus events:

- 1. Alcohol may be sold on a cash bar basis if held at a venue which has a liquor license. Food must be available at the selected location. Two student sponsors are required for off-campus events.
- 2. Student organizations may not collect supplemental funds from students solely for the purposes of purchasing alcohol. Student organizations may require students to pay a portion of the overall event cost.

Student organizations and/or their representatives that fail to comply with this policy in full may be subject to disciplinary action, including but not limited to revocation of the student organization status, removal from the organization, or dismissal from the institution.

Student Training

A student enrolled in an academic program that requires training or fieldwork is supported by a department faculty member associated with the Office of Placement and Training (OPT). OPT is responsible for all aspects of training including guiding a student through site selection, helping a student secure a placement, and consulting on professional development and related issues.

Other areas of OPT responsibility include:

- Training site review and maintenance.
- Small group and personalized meetings for student trainees.
- Mentorship of student trainees including negotiating professional relationships, resolving conflicts, making ethical decisions, and displaying professional comportment.
- Student trainee training record collection and maintenance.
- Consultation with program directors and faculty about the training process.

Practicum and Internship Courses

A student trainee must be enrolled in an associated practicum or internship or fieldwork course. A student trainee must show proficiency in both clinical practice and in the associated course to pass and progress on to the next course in the training series. Training hours accumulated during a term or semester are counted toward a student trainee's total training hours requirement if the student passes the associated course. Typically, training hours accumulated during a term or semester are not counted toward a student trainee's total training hours requirement if the student fails the associated course.

Training Overview

A student trainee enters into an agreement with the site supervisor within the first two weeks of the placement and is expected to abide by all conditions detailed in said agreement including beginning and end dates. A student trainee must receive direct supervision for all clinical or supervisory activities that take place at the site. A student trainee who experiences a disruption in their supervision or required activities must notify OPT immediately.

A training site is expected to provide clear and timely performance feedback to a student trainee. A student trainee must notify OPT if they do not receive timely feedback or if they are placed on a remediation plan, warning, or a performance improvement plan by their site. A student trainee may be dismissed from training for reasons including but not limited to failure to function in a responsible and professional manner, failure to adhere to ethical guidelines and laws, or failure to adhere to site policy or procedures.

The Chicago School provides a student trainee with professional liability insurance. As long as a student trainee remains actively enrolled at The Chicago School, they are covered by the school's liability insurance. A student trainee may also be required to maintain their own professional liability insurance separate and distinct from the policy provided by the school.

For more information, please refer to the Office of Placement and Training website.

Study Areas and Project Rooms

Chicago, Online Campus, Southern California, and Washington, D.C.

In addition to the library, a student may study or meet in any classroom or project room that is not otherwise in use. A student is advised to reserve a room in advance for dissertation defense requirements; please see the local Facilities department for more information. Classroom schedules displaying regularly scheduled courses are posted outside all classrooms, and are subject to change without notice. Additionally, meetings and other events are scheduled in classrooms, conferences rooms, and project rooms and may not be listed outside of the door. Please respectfully

acknowledge and relocate if someone has a reservation for the space. In the event of any dispute over room reservations, please contact the campus Facilities department.

Dallas

Classrooms or the group study room reservation requests may be made by contacting Dr. Lance Garrison at lgarrison@thechicagoschool.edu or by calling 469-941-8360.

The Chicago School@XULA

Group study rooms are located on the 2nd and 3rd floor of the Library Resource Center and are available for checkout through the circulation desk on a first-come, first-served basis. Additional rooms can be reserved on campus by calling 504.520.5451 or e-mailing events@xula.edu.

Transit Programs

The Chicago School participates with local transportation agencies to provides transit benefits to students, where available.

Chicago Campus

The Chicago Campus participates in the Chicago Transit Authority (CTA) U-Pass program. The CTA U-Pass program provides a low-cost transit pass valid for unlimited rides on CTA buses and trains while school is in session. A full-time Chicago Campus student in a qualifying academic program is enrolled in the CTA U-Pass program. More information on the CTA U-Pass program is available on the Community Website.

Full-time status for CTA U-Pass eligibility is defined as follows:

- Fall and Spring Semesters: CTA U-Pass eligibility is determined based on the institutional definition of full-time enrollment status. To receive the CTA U-Pass benefit, a student must meet the minimum credit hour requirement for their degree level or be enrolled in a course granting auto full-time status.
- Summer Semester: To be eligible to receive the CTA U-Pass benefit in Summer, a student must be enrolled in 5 credit hours (graduate) or 6 credit hours (undergraduate) or a course granting auto full-time status.

Certain courses and programs of study at Chicago require minimal visits to campus. A student enrolled in the following programs is not eligible to receive the CTA U-Pass: PhD in Organizational Leadership, PhD in Business Psychology: Consulting Track, PhD in Applied Behavior Analysis, and full-time internship placements outside the City of Chicago.

Washington, D.C. Campus

The Washington, D.C. Campus participates in the Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Authority (WMATA) U-Pass program. The WMATA U-Pass program provides a low-cost transit pass valid for unlimited rides on Metro rail lines and buses and the Metro Airport Shuttle while school is in session. A full-time Washington, D.C. Campus student who lives in the D.C. Metro area in enrolled in the WMATA U-Pass program regardless of home address or course delivery modality. More information on the WMATA U-Pass program is available on the Community Website.

Full-time status for WMATA U-Pass eligibility is determined based on the enrollment status information in the Student Classification policy in this Catalog. A student must report a change in enrollment status within 45 days of the start of the semester to transit@thechicagoschool.edu.

A student assigned to a full-time internship outside the D.C. metro is not eligible for enrollment in the WMATA U-Pass program. Internship placement data is determined based on what is posted to the OPT database.

University Library

The Chicago School University Library provides service to all students at all campuses, with dedicated library spaces at the Chicago, Dallas, Southern California, and Washington, D.C. locations, with hours of operation varying according to the needs of the specific location. All of the librarians and library staff from all campuses offer bibliographic instruction and research assistance to all faculty, students, and staff and 24/7 access to online databases and other eresources.

A student enrolled at New Orleans may access both The Chicago School University Library resources and the XULA Library Resource Center.

Overview

The Chicago School Library provides access to information and materials that support the teaching, research, and public service programs of the school. The library supports these programs by acquiring and managing scholarly information related to the theory, teaching, and practice of professional psychology, providing access to information available elsewhere through the interlibrary loan service, providing reference and instruction, and exchanging information resources with other libraries around the world.

Electronic Resources

A student has access to over 20,000 full-text and abstract psychology-specific journals and APA-published books through the online research databases. The databases that are available from Ebsco and Proquest include Academic Search Complete, ABI/Inform, PsycINFO, PsycARTICLES, PsycBOOKS, PEP Archives, Tests in Print and Mental Measurements Yearbook, as well as the SAGE Premier Journal Collection. Also available are large collections of streaming video titles and e-books.

Dissertations by Chicago School graduate students and students from around the world can be accessed online through the ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database.

Interlibrary Loan Services

A student can request books, dissertations, and journal articles that are not available at a campus location or electronically through interlibrary loan. This library service is offered to students, staff, and faculty at no additional cost except as outlined in the University Library's policies. There are fines and fees for late or lost Interlibrary Loan items which are outlined in the University Library's schedule of due dates, fines, and fees.

Print Resources

The Library has books and videos that can be checked out for a limited period of time. In order to check out material, a student needs to bring a student ID card. For information on fines and fees, please refer to the University Library's schedule of schedule of due dates, fines and fees.

Psychological Test Materials

The University Library maintains an extensive range of psychological assessment materials in support of The Chicago School's degree programs. Professional guidelines set forth by the APA and assessment publishers limit the use of and access to materials to qualified individuals. The APA PsycTests and the Mental Measurements Yearbook databases are

available via the Library web site 24/7 to locate information about specific assessments. The University Library's full policy on Test Kit usage can be found on the library's website.

Fine and Fees

The University Library collects fines and fees for late and lost materials. The details of this policy can be found on the University Library's website. Additionally, a student can also refer to the fee schedule on The Chicago School's website.

Reference

Bibliographic instruction is provided at all Chicago School locations; in addition, Chicago School librarians work with all students by phone or virtual meeting. A student may ask questions through email 24 hours a day, seven days a week. Librarians are also available to answer questions via email or phone during normal business hours. The Chat the Library service is available via the University Library's website.

Reserves/Electronic Reserves

Whenever possible, the all required texts will be available from each of the University Library Branches' Circulation Desks. Course readings are made available in Canvas for all campuses.

Supplement for Nursing Programs Leading to Licensure in Texas

Published and Effective July 10, 2020

Associate of Applied Sciences in Nursing (ADN)

Certificate in Vocational Nursing (VN)

True and Correct Statement

The information contained in the Academic Catalog and Student Handbook and this Supplement for Nursing Programs Leading to Licensure in Texas is true and correct to the best of my knowledge.

-Lance Garrison, Ph.D.

Campus Dean, Dallas Campus

Faculty, Staff, and Board of Trustees

Information on faculty members responsible for the ADN and VN programs is available on this webpage.

Information on staff members responsible for the ADN and VN programs is available on this webpage.

Information on The Chicago School of Professional Psychology's Board of Trustees is available on this webpage.

ADN and VN Advisory Board

The ADN and VN Advisory Board is charged with ensuing the currency and relevance of the ADN and VN programs. The Advisory Board includes nursing experts who provide feedback and recommendations to the programs. Information on the ADN and VN Advisory Board is available on this webpage.

Facilities

The Chicago School of Professional Psychology at Dallas is located in Richardson, Texas, in a professional building at 2101 Waterview Parkway. TCSPP occupies approximately 30,000 square feet that contains administrative offices, student break rooms, clinical skills training labs, numerous classrooms, and an academic library. The building is handicap accessible and is located in an area that offers easy access to parking, public transportation, housing, and employment opportunities. Additionally, this location is near several major health care facilities that are utilized for clinical instruction sites for the Vocational Nursing (VN) and Associate Degree of Nursing (ADN) programs.

Campus and Program Operating Hours

Program Operating Hours, and Campus Hours of Operation are available on this webpage.

Academic Calendar

The Academic Calendar for the ADN and VN programs is posted on this webpage.

Attendance Policy

The ADN and VN programs take attendance. A student is expected to attend all classes and submit all assignments per each course's requirements. Each instructor will take and record each student's attendance in each class and clinical rotation. A student is required to be in their scheduled classes and clinical rotations every day and be on time for all classes and clinical rotations. A student who arrives for class after a quiz has been initiated may enter the classroom and use the remaining allotted time to complete the quiz.

A student who fails to attend 90% of their cumulative program time will be administratively withdrawn from the university. A student who misses more than 10 consecutive scheduled school days will be administratively withdrawn from the university for non-attendance. A student who misses two clinical rotations per term or semester will be disciplined and may be required to repeat the associate course along with any co-requisite course(s), or subject to administrative withdrawal from the program. A student who is administratively withdrawn due to unsatisfactory attendance may request readmission for the next scheduled term start.

Absence, Tardy, and Leaving Early

An absence is recorded each time a student fails to attend a regularly-scheduled class or clinical rotation regardless of the reason for absence. A student is considered tardy if they arrive for class, laboratory, or clinical rotations after the scheduled start time.

Absence, tardiness, and leaving class early become part of a student's permanent record and can never be made up. Work missed due to absence is subject to the Make-Up Work policy. Missed clinical rotation hours <u>cannot be made up</u>. A student who misses two clinical rotations within one semester may be required to repeat the associated course along with any co-requisite course(s) or may be subject to termination from the program.

Cancellation Policy

A full refund will be made to any student who cancels their enrollment agreement within 72 business hours (until midnight of the third day excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays) after the enrollment agreement is signed and a tour of the facilities and inspection of the equipment is made by the prospective student.

Financial Aid Payment Periods and Disbursement Procedure (Clock Hour)

Federal financial aid including Federal Pell Grants, Federal Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grant, Federal Direct Stafford Loans, and Federal Direct Parent PLUS Loans will be disbursed to a student in two or more payments depending on the number of academic years required by the student's academic program.

For a VN student, the first payment period begins at the start of a program and ends at the halfway point of the academic year. For ADN students, the payment period begins at the beginning of each semester and ends at the end of each semester. Depending on the program, there are two or more payment periods. A student must maintain satisfactory academic progress (SAP) in order to receive federal financial aid.

Federal financial aid payments are refunded when a credit balance is created unless an authorization to hold funds is on file.

Make-Up Work

Work eligible for make-up or late submission is limited to major tests, midterm or final exams, major projects, and skills check-offs. Quizzes and other homework may not be made up.

During the term, the student is responsible for initiating a request for make-up work due to absence. This must occur on the day the student returns from absence. All make-up work must be completed and submitted to the instructor within five business days of the granting of the make-up work request. All make-up work will be reduced one letter grade from the earned grade.

At the end of the term, a student may be assigned an Incomplete as a temporary grade and be required to complete make-up work to earn a final grade. If make-up work is not completed within five business days, the student will earn a zero on the make-up work, and the course grade will be recalculated. In some circumstances, a student may be permitted to make up hours upon approval by the Dean of Nursing. No more than 5% of the total course time hours for program shall be made up.

Make-up work shall:

- Be supervised by an instructor approved for the class being made up;
- Require the student to demonstrate substantially the same level of knowledge or competence expected of a student who attended the scheduled class session;
- Be completed within 5 business days after returning from an absence;
- Be documented by the School as being completed, recording the date, time, duration of the make-up session, and the name of the supervising instructor; and
- Be signed and dated by the student to acknowledge the make-up session.

Satisfactory Academic Progress: Rate of Progress Tiers for VN Certificate Program

Evaluation Point	ROP Required
End of Term 1	50%
End of Term 2	58%
End of Term 3	62%
End of Term 4	67%
End of any subsequent term up to 150%	67%

Student to Faculty Ratio

The Chicago School of Professional Psychology will maintain a proper ratio between faculty and students to allow adequate attention to each student in all class settings. The student to faculty ratio generally will not exceed these guidelines:

All Programs	Ratio	Minimum to Start
Didactic Courses	30:1	5

Labratory Courses	20:1	5
VN Certificate	Ratio	Minimum to Start
Clinical Rotations	10:1	5
ADN	Ratio	Minimum to Start
Clinical Rotations	10:1 OR 15:1	5

Minimum to Start provision: TCSPP reserves the right to cancel any course in which the census drops below the minimum to start up to the fourth class session. Students will be notified immediately and given the opportunity to change classes where possible. Schedule changes are processed in the Office of the Registrar. In the event of a course cancellation due to low enrollment, a student will not be charged for the course and the course will be removed from the student's education record.

Tuition and Fee Schedule

The tuition and fees schedule for the ADN and VN programs is available on this website. The total program cost includes tuition, books, supplies, immunizations, physical examination, and 2 sets of scrubs.

Programs of Study

The Chicago School

Offices of Admission Toll Free: 800.721.8072

Email: admissions@thechicagoschool.edu

Certificate

Certificate in Behavioral Economics

Online

Program Overview

The Certificate in Behavioral Economics program is designed for working adults interested in increasing their knowledge of psychological perspectives of human decision making, risk assessment, and consumer behavior. This program blends behavioral economics and business psychology to provide a unique alternative to a traditional MBA, with a foundation in advanced psychology that addresses broader business applications to decision making, negotiation, marketing, and consumer behavior. The curriculum begins with an introduction and overview to the fundamentals of behavioral economics. Students may then tailor their coursework by choosing two electives which best suit their professional goals.

Students may complete the Certificate in Behavioral Economics and apply the courses towards the MA Behavioral Economics degree, or the non-degree seeking student may take nine credits in order to enhance their knowledge and expertise in the field.

Learning Outcomes

Upon successful of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Generate solutions through the application of theory to the individual, group and organization including: the
 ability to interpret and synthesize research and theory using process consultation, assessment, and
 interventions.
- Relate information in Oral and Written communication that is grammatically correct, logical, succinct and of
 publishable quality.
- Manage relationships with others to enhance quality of work products rather than diminish work products including: managing conflict.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago Schoo is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's Certificate in Behavioral Economics program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors that are considered in admission include GPA from undergraduate schools. Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission. Students must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their application. Additional factors that are considered in admission include the following:

- Application Fee: \$50
- Resume or Curriculum Vitae
- Official College/University Transcripts
- Personal Statement/Essay answering the following two questions:
 - 1. How will your personal and professional accomplishments, academic background, and experience contribute to your success in this program?
 - 2. How will the successful completion of this program support your professional career goals?

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission, in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

The Curriculum

Required Core: 3 credit hours

Elective Courses: 6-7* credit hours

Program Total: 9-10* credit hours

*Students who choose IO519 Statistics and Lab as an elective will complete 7 total credit hours of electives, resulting in 10 credit hours total.

Required Core (3 credit hours)

BE 505 - Fundamentals of Behavioral Economics (3 credit hours)

Electives

Choose 2 from the below

- BE 510 Brain and Behavior (3 credit hours)
- BE 515 Social Cognition and Information Processing (3 credit hours)
- BE 520 Choice Architecture (3 credit hours)
- BE 540 Game Theory: Negotiation and Conflict Management (3 credit hours)
- IO 512 Organizational Consulting Skills (3 credit hours) (course fee \$50)
- IO 519 Statistics and Lab (4 credit hours)
- IO 561 Consumer Motivation (3 credit hours)
- IO 573 Reaching the Target Market: Qualitative Research Methods (3 credit hours)
- IO 574 Understanding Consumer Perceptions: Quantitative Research Methods (3 credit hours)

Certificate in Clinical Rotations for Clinical Psychopharmacology

Online

Program Information - Illinois Prescriptive Authority Track

Psychologists seeking licensure to prescribe psychotropic medications in Illinois must complete a 14-month full time (28 part-time) sequence of clinical rotations following the successful completion of the MS in Clinical Psychopharmacology academic course work to be eligible for prescriptive authority. During these clinical rotations, students integrate academic knowledge with clinical competencies and demonstrate the effective and ethical use of these competencies in clinical practice. Through intensive supervised training, students gain direct experience in applying their knowledge with clinical populations.

Psychologists will learn how to increase their current competency in assessment, diagnosis, and intervention, and engage in case-based learning that will enhance their collaborative practice skills. In addition to the 36-credit hour clinical rotations, the certificate program includes a Clinical Competency Examination and a research project.

Program Information - Louisiana, New Mexico, Armed Forces, and Indian Health Service Prescriptive Authority Track

Psychologists seeking licensure to prescribe psychotropic medications in Louisiana, New Mexico, on a United States Armed Forces Installation, or within federally recognized tribal communities of the Indian Health Service must complete six-term sequence of clinical rotations following the successful completion of the MS in Clinical Psychopharmacology academic course work to be eligible for prescriptive authority. During these clinical rotations, students integrate academic knowledge with clinical competencies and demonstrate the effective and ethical use of these competencies in clinical practice. Through intensive supervised training, students gain direct experience in applying their knowledge with clinical populations.

Psychologists will learn how to increase their current competency in assessment, diagnosis, and intervention, and engage in case-based learning that will enhance their collaborative practice skills. In addition to the clinical rotations, the certificate program includes a Clinical Competency Examination and a research project.

Students registered in either track of this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

Admissions Requirements - Illinois Prescriptive Authority Track

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's Certificate in Clinical Rotations for Clinical Psychopharmacology is open to any person who has

- An earned Master of Science degree in Clinical Psychopharmacology from an APA Designated program at a regionally accredited institution.
- A current license in good standing as a Clinical Psychologist in the State of Illinois or license eligibility as a Clinical Psychologist in the State of Illinois.

Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools graduate degrees were earned and proof of license eligibility. Additional factors that are considering in admission include the following:

- Application.
- Application Fee (\$50)
- Resume or curriculum vitae

Admissions Requirements - Louisiana, New Mexico, Armed Forces, and Indian Health Service Prescriptive Authority Track

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's Certificate in Clinical Rotations for Clinical Psychopharmacology is open to any person who has

- An earned Master of Science degree in Clinical Psychopharmacology from an APA Designated program at a regionally accredited institution.
- A current license in good standing as a Clinical Psychologist in Louisiana or New Mexico or license eligibility as a Clinical Psychologist in Louisiana or New Mexico.

Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools graduate degrees were earned and proof of license eligibility. Additional factors that are considering in admission include the following:

- Application.
- Application Fee (\$50)
- Resume or curriculum vitae

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Credit for Prior Learning

Students who have previously completed clinical rotations at a The Chicago School approved training site may petition for credit for prior learning (transcript as transfer credit at \$135 per unit providing this documentation to the Department Chair and Director of Clinical Training, who will make the final decision on accepting prior learning for course credit:

- Proof of completion of a clinical rotation in one of the required areas specified by Illinois regulation for Illinois Prescriptive Authority Track.
- Proof of completion of a clinical rotation in any clinical assessment area required by Louisiana or New Mexico for Louisiana, New Mexico, Armed Forces, or Indian Health Service Track.
- Supervisor evaluation of the skills of the student at the completion of the rotation.
- Documentation of clock hours completed in the clinical rotation.

Credit for Prior Learning is limited to 25% of the total requirements of the program per WSCUC Policy on Non-Traditional Credit.

Curriculum - Illinois Prescriptive Authority Track

Total Credit Hours: 37

- CP 690A Emergency Medicine Clinical Rotation A (2 credit hours)(\$150 course fee)
- CP 690B Emergency Medicine Clinical Rotation B (2 credit hours)(\$150 course fee)
- CP 691A Family Medicine Clinical Rotation A (2 credit hours)(\$150 course fee)
- CP 691B Family Medicine Clinical Rotation B (2 credit hours)(\$150 course fee)
- CP 692A Geriatrics Clinical Rotation A (2 credit hours)(\$150 course fee)
- CP 692B Geriatrics Clinical Rotation B (2 credit hours)(\$150 course fee)
- CP 693A Internal Medicine Clinical Rotation A (2 credit hours)(\$150 course fee)
- CP 693B Internal Medicine Clinical Rotation B (2 credit hours)(\$150 course fee)
- CP 694A Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinical Rotations A (2 credit hours)(\$150 course fee)
- CP 694B Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinical Rotations B (2 credit hours)(\$150 course fee)
- CP 695A Pediatrics Clinical Rotation A (2 credit hours)(\$150 course fee)
- CP 695B Pediatrics Clinical Rotation B (2 credit hours)(\$150 course fee)
- CP 696A Psychiatry Clinical Rotation A (2 credit hours)(\$150 course fee)
- CP 696B Psychiatry Clinical Rotation B (2 credit hours)(\$150 course fee)
- CP 697A Surgery Clinical Rotation A (2 credit hours)(\$150 course fee)
- CP 697B Surgery Clinical Rotation B (2 credit hours)(\$150 course fee)
- CP 698A Elective Clinical Rotation A (2 credit hours)(\$150 course fee)
- CP 698B Elective Clinical Rotation B (2 credit hours)(\$150 course fee)
- CP 670 Clinical Research Project (1 credit hour)(course fee \$1198)
- PS 700 Clinical Competency Examination (0 credit hours) (course fee \$150)

Curriculum - Louisiana, New Mexico, Armed Forces, or Indian Health Service Prescriptive Authority Track

Total Credit Hours: 1 - Track requires the completion of Clinical Competency Examination and Six Clinical Assessment Courses as listed.

- CP 675 Clinical Assessment and Pathophysiology (0 Credit Hours) (Course Fee \$150.00)
- CP 680 Clinical Rotation Assessment I (0 Credit Hours) (Course Fee:\$150.00)
- CP 681 Clinical Rotation Asessment II (0 Credit Hours) (Course Fee: \$150.00)
- CP 682 Clinical Rotation Assessment III (0 Credit Hours) (Course Fee: \$150.00)
- CP 683 Clinical Rotation Assessment IV (0 Credit Hours) (Course Fee: \$150.00)
- CP 684 Clinical Rotation Assessment V (0 Credit Hours) (Course Fee: \$150.00)
- CP 670 Clinical Research Project (1 credit hour)(course fee \$1198)
- PS 700 Clinical Competency Examination (0 credit hours) (course fee \$150)

Extension Courses

- CP 699A Clinical Rotation Extension A (0 credit hours)(\$150 course fee)
- CP 699B Clinical Rotation Extension B (0 credit hours)(\$150 course fee)

Certificate in Forensic Psychology - MA Non-Licensure Track to Licensure Bridge

Online - Chicago - Los Angeles - Anaheim- Washington D.C.

Program Overview

The rapidly growing field of Forensic Psychology focuses on the application of the science and profession of psychology to questions and issues relating to law and the legal system. The Chicago School's Certificate in Forensic Psychology - MA Non-Licensure Track to Licensure Bridge program will allow students having graduated from the MA Forensic Psychology Non-Licensure Track to return to The Chicago School, have appropriate courses affiliated from the Non-Licensure Track to the Licensure Track, and complete requirements for licensure eligibility. Returning students may associate up to 20 credits from the core curriculum and 10 credits from electives toward the certificate and meeting licensure requirements in their states.

Program Philosophy

The curriculum exposes students to the relevant psychological and counseling theoretical principles, scientific research, and practice skills that enable students to apply the science and practice of psychology to issues of law and the legal system, and to assume professional responsibilities in a variety of forensic settings. The program emphasizes critical thinking, sensitivity to ethical principles, the role of personal values, and cultural diversity and endeavors to be flexible in order to adapt course content to reflect developments in the field.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Demonstrate fundamental knowledge of psychometric theory, assessment techniques, and forensic literature to evaluate various dimensions of human experience, outcomes of interventions, and psycho-legal issues.
- Integrate a basic knowledge of theory, research, and professional literature to guide interventions and promote optimal mental health and well-being.

Diversity

Recognize and respect individual and group differences as well as practice with cultural competence.

Professional Behavior

- Organize professional activities by ethical and professional codes, standards, and guidelines; statutes, rules, and regulations; and relevant case law.
- Develop and maintain effective professional relationships with clients, peers, supervisors, faculty, and other professionals.

Scholarship

 Demonstrate an understanding of the research methods in the social and behavioral sciences, the benefits and limitations of research, and the scientific and professional literature relevant to the field of forensic psychology.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's Certificate in Forensic Psychology - MA Non-Licensure Track to Licensure Bridge is open to any person who has earned the Master's Degree in Forensic Psychology (Non-Licensure Track) or the Master's Degree in Applied Forensic Psychology from The Chicago School and who meet other admission requirements.

Some credit for coursework completed in the MA Forensic Psychology Non-Licensure Track may be applied to the requirements of the Certificate program, subject to the The Chicago School policy on Course Association which includes these stipulations:

- No credit hours will be transferred for coursework that is more than 7 calendar years old at the time of
 matriculation.
- The Department Chair of the program determines courses to be associated.

Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to successfully complete graduate work and clinical practice training. Factors and materials to be considered for admission will include:

- Application
- Application Fee: Waived
- Resume or Curriculum Vitae
- Graduate GPA 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 point scale
- Official The Chicago School Transcript

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and students will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of coursework requirements
- Successful completion of 100 hour practicum and 600 hour internship
- Successful completion of Forensic Competency Examination
- Successful completion of the Counselor Preparation Comprehensive Examination (CPCE)
- Successful completion of two mandatory residencies at one of The Chicago School ground campuses (Online students Only)

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Ethical Guidelines

Students are expected to adhere to the ethical and professional behavior guidelines as set by the American Counseling Association's (ACA) Code of Ethics.

Reference will be made to additional ethical codes, such as the American Psychological Association's (APA) Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct, the Specialty Guidelines for Forensic Psychologists (American Psychological Association, 2013), and international codes as applicable. Acceptable student conduct is derived in large part from these sources of information.

Please refer to the policies located in the Student Rights and Responsibilities and section of the Academic Catalog and Student Handbook.

Student Professional Evaluation and Student Review Process

The course content and experiential activities offered by the Certificate in Forensic Psychology - MA Non-Licensure Track to Licensure Bridge program are designed to afford students the opportunity to advance their intellectual and professional development and functioning. Throughout the program of study, students are given feedback concerning their personal, academic, and professional strengths, developmental needs, and performance. This feedback will come from a variety of sources and may include faculty, supervisors, peers, and/or clients. Students are expected to respond and incorporate this feedback in a mature and professional manner. Throughout their matriculation in the program, students are expected to explore and recognize the effects their personal beliefs, issues, emotions, and behaviors have on others and on their ability to function as a professional. Students are also formally evaluated with regard to their professional comportment at the end of specific courses in the curriculum. Additionally, all students are reviewed by program faculty and administration with respect to their overall program performance during the student review process.

Practicum/Internship for Professional Counselor Licensure Track Students

The Certificate in Forensic Psychology - MA Non-Licensure Track to Licensure Bridge program is committed to training highly competent and ethical clinicians who will ultimately contribute to the mental health field. Toward that end, students are required to complete relevant coursework in combination with clinical training for successful completion of this certificate program to the licensure requirements in a chosen aligned state. Full-time students traditionally complete their practicum and internship experience during the second year of the academic program. Part-time students work closely with their academic advisor, Department Chair, and Director of Clinical Training to determine the most appropriate time to complete training requirements. Students must receive and accept an official offer from a prospective practicum site per the timeline that the Director of Clinical training and site indicate.

Forensic practicum/internships are closely supervised educational and training experiences in which the knowledge, skills, and attitudes developed in the classroom can be directly applied to forensic and/or clinical populations. All sites are approved by the Office of Placement and Training (OPT) and allow students the opportunity to work with high-risk populations in an array of settings, such as prisons, jails, detention centers, police departments, special treatment units, state psychiatric hospitals, substance abuse facilities, and community-based programs for victims and offenders. These formative experiences integrate the science and practice of forensic psychology and counseling in real world situations. Through close supervision and mentorship, students continue to develop their professional identities, clarify their

professional strengths and weaknesses, and understand their roles as clinicians and/or providers of forensic psychology services to a broad range of populations within a variety of settings.

To complete the certificate, students must accrue 700 hours of clinical training under the supervision of a master's level licensed clinician or psychologist (e.g., LCSW, LPC, LCPC, LPCC, LMFT, or licensed psychologist). Please note that some states require 1000 hours of practicum/internship to be eligible for licensure. The Director of Clinical Training will advise students of the state's training requirements and students will learn to keep abreast of their state's licensure requirements. Students are expected to attend practicum between 16 to 24 hours per week and must participate in at least two hours of weekly individual supervision. In addition, students should dedicate at least 280 hours to direct client contact, which could include a variety of clinical activities such as diagnostic interviewing; individual, group, or family therapy; crisis intervention; intake interviews; and note taking. Students are also typically responsible for administrative and case management tasks, such as victim advocacy, consultation, applied research, and/or court attendance.

Students must express their intent to apply for practicum/internship. Faculty reviews each student's progress in the program to inform decisions regarding student's readiness to apply to practicum/internship.

Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

Forensic Competency Examination (FCE)

Students who complete a practicum and internship are required to pass the Forensic Competency Examination (FCE), a program capstone with the purpose of demonstrating proficiency in the core competencies of the program. The FCE is completed during the spring semester of the student's clinical training experience in order to fulfill program requirements. Students must pass at least one practice FCE prior to completing the final examination.

The objective of the FCE is for the student to demonstrate the ability to apply relevant theory, empirical literature, assessment, and intervention to a case formulation. In addition, the aim of the FCE is for the student to demonstrate an understanding of professional practice (e.g., ethical behavior), clinical dynamics (e.g., client/therapist relationship), broader systems (e.g., family, school, community, court, political, other treatment professionals/programs), and areas of diversity and difference (e.g., race, ethnicity, gender, age, sexual orientation, disability, socioeconomic status) as contextual variables.

More specific information is provided to students during the practicum and internship training experience.

Counselor Preparation Comprehensive Examination (CPCE)

All students are required to successfully complete The Center for Credentialing & Education (CCE)'s Counselor Preparation Comprehensive Exam (CPCE). CPCE scores are reported based on the core areas of the Council for Accreditation of Counseling & Related Educational Programs (CACREP) to help students study and prepare for the National Counselor Examination for Licensure and Certification (NCE). The CPCE test items measure a student's knowledge of the eight core curriculum standards defined by CACREP:

- Human Growth and Development
- Social and Cultural Diversity
- Counseling and Helping Relationships
- Group Counseling and Group Work
- Career Development
- Assessment and Testing

- Research and Program Evaluation
- Professional Counseling Orientation and Ethical Practice

The CPCE is administered at least twice a year and is taken during the last year of enrollment in academic coursework. Students must be in good academic standing to be eligible to take the CPCE. Students who have not successfully passed the CPCE are not eligible for degree conferral and must retake the exam during the next scheduled administration.

The Curriculum

Students will complete up to 51 credit hours of coursework. The total number of credit hours is dependent on transfer credits and desired state of licensure. Licensure requirements may change. Students should consult with their academic advisor about state specific coursework requirements.

Required Core Washington D.C. and Chicago Campuses

The total number of credit hours is dependent on transfer credits

- FO 611 Ethics and Professional Issues (3 credit hours)
- FO 612 Human Growth and Development (3 credit hours)
- FO 613 Psychopathology (3 credit hours)
- FO 614 Research Methods (3 credits)
- FO 617 Clinical and Diagnostic Interviewing (3 credits)
- FO 625 Assessment and Treatment of Substance-Related and Addictive Disorders (3 credits)
- FO 635 Group Processes of Therapy (3 credits)
- FO 636 Family Systems and Family Therapy (3 credits)
- FO 637 Theories of Counseling and Psychotherapy (3 credits)
- FO 638 Career Development and Counseling (3 credits)(course fee \$30 on ground only)
- FO 644 Practicum (3 credits)(auto full time)
- FO 645 Internship I (3 credits)(auto full time)
- FO 703 Social and Cultural Foundations in Counseling (3 credit hours)
- FO 707 Assessment in Counseling (3 credits)
- FO 715 Diagnosis and Treatment Planning (3 credit hours)
- FO 800 Counselor Preparation Comprehensive Exam (0 credit hours)

Required Core California Campuses

The total number of credit hours required is dependent on transfer credit

- FO 611 Ethics and Professional Issues (3 credit hours)
- FO 612 Human Growth and Development (3 credit hours)
- FO 613 Psychopathology (3 credit hours)
- FO 614 Research Methods (3 credits)
- FO 617 Clinical and Diagnostic Interviewing (3 credits)
- FO 625 Assessment and Treatment of Substance-Related and Addictive Disorders (3 credits)
- FO 635 Group Processes of Therapy (3 credits)
- FO 636 Family Systems and Family Therapy (3 credits)
- FO 637 Theories of Counseling and Psychotherapy (3 credits)
- FO 638 Career Development and Counseling (3 credits)(course fee \$30 on ground only)

- FO 677 Human Sexuality and Sexual Deviance (2 credits)
- FO 679 Family/Partner Violence (2 credits)
- FO 680 Clinical Practicum I (3 credits)(auto full time)
- FO 681 Clinical Practicum II (3 credits)(auto full time)
- FO 696 Introduction to Clinical Psychopharmacology (3 credits)
- FO 697 Advanced Forensic Counseling & Therapeutic Tools (3 credits)
- FO 698 Trauma Specific Interventions (1 credit)
- FO 703 Social and Cultural Foundations in Counseling (3 credit hours)
- FO 707 Assessment in Counseling (3 credits)
- FO 800 Counselor Preparation Comprehensive Exam (0 credit hours)

Required Core Online Campus

The total number of credit hours required is dependent on transfer credit

- FO 611 Ethics and Professional Issues (3 credit hours)
- FO 612 Human Growth and Development (3 credit hours)
- FO 613 Psychopathology (3 credit hours)
- FO 614 Research Methods (3 credits)
- FO 625 Assessment and Treatment of Substance-Related and Addictive Disorders (3 credits)
- FO 635 Group Processes of Therapy (3 credits)
- FO 636 Family Systems and Family Therapy (3 credits)
- FO 637 Theories of Counseling and Psychotherapy (3 credits)
- FO 638 Career Development and Counseling (3 credits)(course fee \$30 on ground only)
- FO 703 Social and Cultural Foundations in Counseling (3 credit hours)
- FO 707 Assessment in Counseling (3 credits)
- FO 717 Helping Relationships and Skill Development in Counseling (3 credit hours)
- FO 750 Residency I (auto half time) (0 credit hours)
- FO 760 Residency II (auto half time) (0 credit hours)
- FO 6000 Practicum Readiness A: Material Preparation (0 credit hours)
- FO 6001 Practicum Readiness B: Material Preparation (0 credit hours)
- FO 6002 Practicum Readiness C: Applying & Interviewing (0 credit hours)
- FO 6003 Practicum Readiness D: Applying & Interviewing (0 credit hours)
- FO 6004 Practicum Readiness E: Vetting & Securing Site Placements (0 credit hours)
- FO 6005 Practicum Readiness F: Vetting & Securing Site Placements (0 credit hours)
- FO 6100 Clinical Practicum IA (0 credit hours) (auto half time)
- FO 6101 Clinical Practicum IB (3 credit hours)
- FO 6200 Internship IA (0 credit hours) (auto half time)
- FO 6201 Internship IB (3 credit hours)
- FO 6202 Internship IIA (0 credit hours) (auto half time)
- FO 6203 Internship IIB (3 credit hours)
- FO 6300 Counselor Preparation Comprehensive Examination A (auto half time) (0 credit hours)
- FO 6301 Counselor Preparation Comprehensive Examination B (auto half time) (0 credit hours)

Additional Required Courses for Online Students

Required for licensure in certain states, identified below.

- FO 607 Trauma and Crisis Intervention (3 credit hours)
 FO 607 is required for students seeking licensure in Connecticut, Nevada, and Wisconsin.
- FO 617 Clinical and Diagnostic Interviewing (3 credits)
 FO 617 is required for students seeking licensure in Michigan, Montana, Nebraska, New Mexico, Ohio, Oklahoma, Rhode Island, South Dakota, Tennessee, Utah, Vermont, and West Virginia.
- FO 703 Social and Cultural Foundations in Counseling (3 credit hours)
 FO 703 may be substituted for FO 647 in certain states. Students should consult with their academic advisor.
- FO 704 Biological Bases of Behavior and Psychopharmacology (3 credit hours) FO 704 is required for students seeking licensure in Arkansas, New Mexico, Texas, and South Dakota.
- FO 715 Diagnosis and Treatment Planning (3 credit hours)
 FO 715 is required for students seeking licensure in Georgia, Indiana, Iowa, Maine, Maryland,
 Massachusetts, Michigan, Minnesota, New Mexico, Ohio, Rhode Island, South Carolina, South Dakota,
 Tennessee, Texas, Utah, Vermont, Virginia, Washington, D.C., West Virginia, and Wisconsin.
- FO 716 Advanced Internship (3 credit hours)
 FO 716 course is required for students seeking licensure in Florida, Idaho, Maine, Minnesota, New Mexico, Rhode Island, and Utah.
- FO 717 Helping Relationships and Skill Development in Counseling (3 credit hours)
 FO 717 may be substituted for FO 617 in certain states. Students should consult with their academic advisor.
- CM 536 Couples and Family Counseling (3 credit hours)
 CM 536 is required for students seeking licensure in Nevada.
- CM 592 Clinical Mental Health Counseling (3 credit hours)
 CM 592 is required for students seeking licensure in Florida, Indiana, Massachusetts, Michigan, South Dakota, Tennessee, and Wisconsin.
- CM 595 Human Sexuality (3 credit hours)
 CM 595 is required for students seeking licensure in Florida and Nevada.
- CM 691 Grief Counseling (3 credit hours)
 CM 691 is required for students seeking licensure in Nevada.
- CM 695 Advanced Ethics and Legal Considerations (3 credit hours)
 CM 695 is required for students seeking licensure in Texas.

Extension Courses

- FO 900 Internship Extension (0 credit hours)
- FO 996 Clinical Practicum Extension (0 credits)

Certificate in Organizational Leadership

Online

Program Overview

Graduates of the Certificate in Organizational Leadership choose courses that can prepare them to intervene upon and contribute to leadership endeavors in a variety of capacities that require sensitivity to diverse populations, whether as leaders or advisors to leadership. Graduates will be prepared to help define and communicate organizational objectives, ensure that business processes are as efficient as possible, manage organizational change, and develop teams and individual contributors.

Curriculum begins with an introduction and overview of organizational leadership fundamentals. Then students may tailor coursework by choosing two electives that best suit their professional goals. Students may complete the

Certificate in Organizational Leadership and apply the courses towards the MA Organizational Leadership degre or the MA Psychology degree, or the non-degree seeking student may take nine credits in order to enhance their knowledge and expertise in the field.

Learning Outcomes

Upon successful of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

Demonstrate oral and written communication that is grammatically correct, logical, succinct, and of
publishable quality and non-defensive, learning oriented responses to constructive feedback.

Diversity

 Demonstrate knowledge of the role of individual differences in the workplace and the ability to establish and benefit from collaborative professional relationships, regardless of differences in background, work roles, and points of view.

Professional Behavior

- Demonstrate personal integrity and ethical behavior in their leadership practice through leadership decisionmaking based on ethical considerations and guidelines.
- Demonstrate professional behavior through constructive and appropriate interactions with others.

Scholarship

- Apply the principles of social science research to the field of organizational leadership.
- Demonstrate comprehension of data and information presented in statistical reports and social science research articles.
- Critically review leadership scholarship including probing for more information, identifying logic flaws, and creating alternative solutions.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's Certificate in Organizational Leadership program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors that are considered in admission include GPA from undergraduate schools. Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission. Students must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their application. Additional factors that are considered in admission include the following:

- Application Fee: \$50
- Resume or Curriculum Vitae
- Official College/University Transcripts
- Personal Statement/Essay answering the following two questions:
 - 1. How will your personal and professional accomplishments, academic background, and experience contribute to your success in this program?
 - 2. How will the successful completion of this program support your professional career goals?

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission, in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

The Curriculum

Required Core: 3 credit hours

Elective Courses: 6-7* credit hours

Program Total: 9-10* credit hours

*Students who choose IO519 Statistics and Lab as an elective will complete 7 total credit hours of electives, resulting in 10 credit hours total.

Required Core (3 credit hours)

• IO 525 - Organizational Leadership (3 credit hours) (course fee \$45)

Electives

Choose 2 from the below

- IO 510 Organizational Behavior (3 credit hours)(course fee \$92)
- IO 519 Statistics and Lab (4 credit hours)
- IO 555 Work Team Dynamics (3 credit hours)
- IO 578 Beyond Compliance: Building Ethical Organizations (3 credit hours)
- IO 579 Promoting Diversity (3 credit hours)
- MP 525 Research Methods in Psychology (3 credit hours)
- MP 553 Emotional Intelligence and Leadership (3 credit hours)
- MP 611 Gender and Leadership Style (3 credit hours)

Certificate in Vocational Nursing

Dallas

Program Overview

The Certificate in Vocational Nursing program at The Chicago School is a four-term program that prepares the graduate with the skills and information necessary to pass the NCLEX-PN and practice as a competent vocational nurse. Students will learn proper patient care, medical terminology, medication administration, body systems, body growth and development, patient care assessment, and nursing procedures. Upon attaining their Vocational Nursing License, students can obtain employment in hospitals, nursing homes, doctors' offices, home health agencies, and correctional facilities. The VN program is 51 weeks full time and 68 weeks part time.

Program Foundation and Delivery

Educational foundations in the Vocational Nursing (VN) program are based upon the Differentiated Essential Competencies of Graduates of Texas Nursing Programs (DECs). Please use the following link to the Texas Board of Nursing's website to access additional information regarding DECs:

http://www.bon.texas.gov/pdfs/differentiated_essential_competencies-2010.pdf. Instruction in The Chicago School's programs may be delivered through residential, distance education, or a combination of both.

Philosophy of Nursing

The programs believe that nursing is a dynamic process in which the provider and the client (individual, family, or community) work together to achieve health promotion, disease prevention, and disease management for the client across the lifespan. Nursing has a holistic view of the client based on physiologic, psychosocial, and spiritual principles.

Nurses use clinical judgment, communication, and nursing skills to assist a diverse population of clients in meeting their needs and achieving optimal health. The nurse practices within an ethical and legal framework and embraces evidence-based practice.

The VN faculty believe that nursing is a dynamic profession that encompasses a global view of health for the individual from prevention through tertiary care within their cultural and spiritual beliefs.

Philosophy of Healthcare Education

The VN program is committed to providing excellent education to a diverse student population. Based on the belief that life-long learning is essential to continued competence, the programs strive to empower students to function independently and utilize critical thinking. Faculty members serve as facilitators and role models and expect students to function as adult learners.

The faculty of the VN program embrace current and future technology as a tool to be used appropriately for the enhanced learning experience of the individual student.

Program Philosophy

The conceptual framework for the vocational nursing program is based on the goal of enabling the individual student to learn and use skills essential to the achievement of a maximum level of health and functioning for each client. The core curriculum describes and teaches the basic biological, psychological, and sociological needs of man and progresses to the higher needs of dignity and well-being desired by all individuals. Holistic nursing practice combines art, skill, and science in utilizing the nursing process to meet the needs of each individual. A systematic approach involves the use of assessment skills, planning care, nursing interventions, and the evaluation of nursing interventions. The result for the individual is health and the ability to function at the highest level possible.

Program Mission

The mission of the Certificate in Vocational Nursing (VN) program at The Chicago School is to advance the art and science of nursing through academic excellence by integrating the knowledge, skills, values, and attitudes essential for entry-level and practicing nurses.

Program Learning Outcomes

The Certificate in Vocational Nursing Program focuses on the following four Essential Competencies of the nurse as described by the Texas Board of Nursing: Provider of Patient-Centered Care, Patient Safety Advocate, Member of the Health Care Team, and Member of the Profession. Holistic nursing practice combines art, skill, and science in utilizing the nursing process to meet the needs of each individual. A systematic approach involves the use of assessment skills, planning care, nursing interventions, and the evaluation of nursing interventions. The curriculum prepares students to take the National Council Licensure Examination for Practical Nurses (NCLEX-PN). Upon completion of the program, the graduate will:

Professional Practice

- Implement safe nursing skills for common patient needs in a variety of settings.
- Predict, plan, and implement comprehensive care plans utilizing critical thinking skills to care for patients as human beings with common requirements.
- Discuss therapeutic relationships through both verbal and nonverbal communication with clients, their significant others, and the multidisciplinary healthcare team.

Professional Behavior

- Practice within the designated scope of practice.
- Proceed with nursing care while maintaining accountability and professionalism within the legal and ethical standards of the nursing program.
- Meet eligibility requirements of the state licensing examination.

Scholarship

Develop an interest in pursuit and development of knowledge regarding the discipline of nursing.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

The Chicago School is not currently enrolling new students in this program.

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/accreditation/

The Certificate in Vocational Nursing admits, as regular students, applicants having a valid high school diploma, official General Educational Development (GED), or recognized equivalent.

All applicants must be at least 17 years of age. In accordance with Texas laws, if applicant is under 18, a parent or legal guardian signature is required prior to enrollment

- Standardized Test Requirements for Admission
 - An American College Test (ACT) score within the last five years with a composite score of 19 or above or
 - A Scholastic Aptitude Test (SAT) score within the last five years with a composite score of 1350 or above if taken before 2016 or a composite score of 990 or above if taken since 2016 or
- Passing of the Nursing School Admissions Test.
 - Applicants who fail one or more sections on their first attempt must wait 4 weeks before retaking the failed section or sections
 - Applicants who fail one or more sections on their second attempt must wait 12 months before retaking the failed section or sections
- Written essay to be scored by Dean of Nursing or designee.
- All applicants must pass a drug screen (Texas Board of Nursing 213.29 Criteria and Procedure Regarding Intemperate Use and Lack of Fitness in Eligibility and Disciplinary Matters).
- An applicant's background check must meet the Texas Board of Nursing 213.28 criteria regarding Licensure
 of Person with Criminal Offenses. Minor criminal offenses (Class C misdemeanor(s)) will be reviewed on a
 case-by-case basis. The decision of the Dean of Nursing is final.
- All applicants must be a U.S. citizen or a permanent resident of the U.S.

All applicants are required to submit a completed application, application fee (\$100), and official transcripts of any programmatically required diploma, degree, or credential. Official transcripts of schools listed in the application are required with a conferral date prior to the term of entry.

The Dean of Nursing must give final acceptance of each student to any program. The Chicago School reserves the right to decline any high school diploma, transcript, or equivalency documentation it deems as unacceptable.

Policies

Student to Faculty Ratio

The Certificate in Vocational Nursing Program will maintain a proper ratio between faculty and students to allow adequate attention to each student in all class settings. The student to faculty ratio generally will not exceed these guidelines:

pe of Course	Ratio	Minimum to Start
lactic Courses - ground campuses	30:1	5
lactic Courses - online campus	25:1	5
poratory Courses	20:1	5

nical Rotations - in a clinical setting, skill or simulation lab			
	10:1	5	
ere hands-on training occurs			

Minimum to Start provision: The Chicago School reserves the right to cancel any course in which the census drops below the minimum to start up to the fourth class session. Students will be notified immediately and given the opportunity to change classes where possible. Schedule changes are processed in the Office of the Registrar. In the event of a course cancellation due to low enrollment, a student will not be charged for the course and the course will be removed from the student's education record.

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer and Nontraditional Credit Hours.

Graduation Requirements

To meet the graduation requirements, a student must pass each course in their program of study with a grade of C or better maintain the minimum required CGPA of 2.0 or higher, and complete all program requirements within a period of time which does not exceed 1.5 times the program length. A VN student must pass the final exam in SBER 4020 State Board Exam Review to be eligible for graduation. If unsuccessful in passing the final exam, the student must repeat the entire course.

A student enrolled in their final term is solely responsible for all licensing and NCLEX testing fees.

The Curriculum

Total Required Core: 51 credit hours

- ANPH 1040 Anatomy and Physiology for Nurses (5 credit hours)
- BANU 2010 Fundamentals of Nursing (8 credit hours)
- ADNU 3010 Medical Surgical Nursing I (8 credit hours)
- ADNU 3011 Medical Surgical Nursing II (9 credit hours)
- ADNU 3012 Medical Surgical Nursing III (8.5 credit hours)
- OBST 3010 Obstetrical Nursing (3.5 credit hours)
- PENU 3020 Pediatric Nursing (3.5 credit hours)
- PHAR 2020 Pharmacology (4.5 credit hours)
- SBER 4020 State Board Exam Review (0.5 credit hours)
- VNSG 1019 Professional Development (0.5 credit hours)

Child and Adolescent Psychology Certificate

Online

Overview

Students in the Child and Adolescent Psychology certificate program learn approaches to helping young people who are struggling with mental health issues and other challenges, such as peer pressure, body image, drugs or alcohol, relationships, sexuality, trauma, or difficult life changes like parental divorce or death. They learn to enhance their psychological knowledge and understanding of issues faced by children and adolescents across a variety of settings and applications.

The Child and Adolescent Psychology certificate program is geared toward professionals in a variety of roles in educational, support and service settings who want to enhance their skills and gain the practical experience necessary to work with children and adolescents. Coursework addresses such topics as psychopathology and behavior disorders, trauma and crisis intervention, and evidence-based programs for children and adolescents. Graduates are equipped with knowledge of the biological, psychological, and social factors that impact children and adolescents' mental health while learning to develop practical approaches to well-being for this young population.

Students may complete the certificate in Child and Adolescent Psychology and apply the courses towards a M.A. Psychology degree, or the non-degree seeking student may take nine credits in order to enhance their knowledge and expertise in the field.

Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this certificate program students will be able to:

- Demonstrate acquired knowledge and respect for the psychological bases of behavior and developmental issues across the lifespan.
- Demonstrate knowledge of psychological theory and assessment techniques to evaluate various dimensions of human experience across a range of contexts.
- Integrate knowledge of psychological theory, research, and professional literature to choose activities that
 promote optimal health and well-being in individuals, groups, and systems.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to the Child and Adolescent Psychology Certificate program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors that are considered in admission are GPA from undergraduate and any graduate schools, successful work history after completion of the baccalaureate degree, and the admission essay. Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 2.8 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission. Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications.

Applicants to the Child and Adolescent Psychology Certificate must submit the following:

- Completed Application
- Application Fee: \$50
- Resume or Curriculum Vitae
- Essay Please answer the following question within three double spaced typed pages (approximately 500-750 words). Essay must specifically address the program/specialization for which you are applying.
 - O Psychology is a vast discipline with many career options. In an essay format, please describe:
 - Why you chose this particular program/specialization * Cite specific experiences and examples.

- Why it is important to you to study this discipline at a school that emphasizes cultural awareness, competence, and understanding of diversity (see our Commitment to Diversity statement).
- Your professional career goals as they relate to this specialization.
- Why you believe this program will assist you in reaching these goals.
- Official College/University Transcripts

•

Students must submit official transcripts from all schools where credit a degree has been earned. It
is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to
enhance their applications. The Chicago School requires that all schools be regionally accredited
higher education institutions.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission, in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Articulation Agreements

- Child and Adolescent Certificate to MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling
- Child and Adolescent Certificate to MA Marriage, Couples, and Family Therapy

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

The Curriculum

Required Core: 9 credit hours

Certificate in Child and Adolescent Psychology total: 9 credit hours

- MP 510 Psychology of the Life Span (3 credit hours)
- MP 541 Trauma and Crisis Intervention (3 credit hours)
- MP 604 Family Systems and Family Therapy (3 credit hours)

Crisis-Informed Care for a Diverse, Globalized World Certificate

Online

Overview

This certificate is a three-course sequence at the Master's level designed to provide a broad background in theory, research, and applied practice in Crisis-Informed Care. It targets a broad spectrum of students and professionals from the USA and in other countries working in the public and private sectors who seek to acquire or further develop the basic attitudes, knowledge, and skills essential for effective and ethical collaborative work to address crises and disasters that traumatize vulnerable populations in the USA and worldwide. The certificate provides didactic training and experiential learning for mental health professionals, such as psychologists, counselors, and social workers, as well as school teachers and school administrators. The course sequence leading to the certificate includes required courses along with an elective that will permit students to pursue their specific professional interests and objectives.

Learning Goals and Outcomes

Learning Goals for Mental Health Professionals (psychologists, counselors, social workers):

- Knowledge of Western and non-Western clinical perspectives and research on crisis- and disaster-induced trauma and resilience (e.g., acute stress disorder, complex bereavement disorder, post-traumatic stress disorder, post-traumatic growth)
- Knowledge of Western, non-Western, and hybrid approaches to the clinical treatment or prevention of crisisand disaster-induced trauma and promotion of resilience
- Knowledge of clinical assessment, design of clinical interventions and programs, and evaluation of the
 effectiveness of clinical interventions and programs for treating or preventing crisis- and disaster-informed
 trauma and for promoting resilience
- Knowledge of the ethical, cultural, and other contextual conditions (e.g., ageism, classism, racism, sexism) that bear upon crisis-informed clinical treatment for vulnerable domestic and international populations
- Acquisition of attitudes, knowledge, and skills needed to engage competently and ethically as mental health professionals in diverse national and cultural contexts

Learning Outcomes for Mental Health Professionals (psychologists, counselors, social workers):

- Understanding the cultural and contextual specificity, relevance, and suitability of Western psychological
 interventions and programs designed to treat or prevent crisis- and disaster-induced trauma in domestic and
 international agencies, clinics, hospitals, and refugee centers
- Collaboratively designing and evaluating culturally and contextually centered psychological interventions
 and programs to treat or prevent crisis- and disaster-induced trauma in domestic and international agencies,
 clinics, hospitals, and refugee centers
- Collaboratively designing and evaluating culturally and contextually informed media-based interventions and programs to enhance individual and community resilience in domestic and international populations vulnerable to crisis- and disaster-induced trauma
- Determining how different crisis-informed interventions and programs in domestic and international
 agencies, clinics, hospitals, and refugee centers comport with national ethics codes and laws that govern the
 professional practice of psychology, including APA's Ethical Principles and Code of Conduct; Universal
 Declaration of Ethical Principles for Psychologists; and international human rights conventions.
- Consulting with healthcare professionals across disciplines in developing, advocating, and evaluating
 culturally centered and empirically supported domestic and international policies and programs that address
 the psychosocial needs of individuals and communities which have experienced or are at risk for crisis- and
 disaster-induced trauma

Learning Goals for School Teachers and School Administrators:

- Knowledge of Western and non-Western psycho-educational perspectives and research on the effect of crisisor disaster-induced trauma and resilience on cognitive, emotional, and social development
- Knowledge of Western, non-Western, and hybrid psycho-educational approaches that address crisis- and disaster-induced trauma and promote resilience
- Knowledge of psycho-educational assessment, program development, and program evaluation that address crisis- and disaster-informed trauma and resilience

- Knowledge of ethical, cultural, and other contextual conditions (e.g., classism, racism, sexism) that bear upon
 the cognitive, emotional, and social development of domestic and international populations that have
 experienced or are at risk for crisis- and disaster-informed trauma
- Acquisition of attitudes, knowledge, and skills needed to engage competently and ethically as school teachers
 and administrators in nationally and culturally diverse educational contexts

Learning Outcomes for School Teachers and School Administrators:

- Recognizing the potential effects of crisis- and disaster-induced trauma on the school adjustment and performance as well as the cognitive, emotional, and social development students in domestic and international school settings
- Identifying students in domestic and international school settings in need of educational and/or personal
 assistance or referral due to crisis- and disaster induced trauma
- Collaboratively building trauma-responsive domestic and international educational/school environments
 through policies and programs that address the educational and psychosocial needs of students who have
 experienced or are at risk for crisis- or disaster-induced trauma as well as foster resilience in all students
- Collaboratively designing and promoting best practices in domestic and international educational/school settings that maximize students' safety and resilience, academic and personal development, and skills needed to function effectively in and out of school
- Consulting with families, child-welfare and multidisciplinary healthcare professionals, and communities to
 develop, strengthen, and advocate for of support networks for domestic migrant and refugee students who
 have experienced or are at risk for crisis- and disaster-induced trauma

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's Crisis-Informed Care for a Diverse, Globalized World Certificate is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution.

Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to successfully complete graduate work. Factors and materials to be considered for admission include:

- Application Fee: \$50
- Resume or Curriculum Vitae
- Graduate GPA 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale
- Official College/University Transcripts
- Work experience recommended
- Personal Statement/Essay
 - O How will your personal and professional accomplishments, academic background, and experience to date contribute to your success in the Crisis-Informed Care for a Diverse, Globalized World Certificate?
 - How will the successful completion of the Crisis-Informed Care for a Diverse, Globalized World Certificate support your professional career goals?

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission, in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver.

The Curriculum

Total Credit Hours: 9

Choose two courses from the following:

- IN 550 Process of Acculturation, Immigration and Refugee Status (3 credit hours)
- IN 535 Culture Centered Interventions Program Design and Evaluations (3 credit hours)
- IN 551 Crisis Response Trauma and Crisis Intervention (3 credit hours)
 OR
- IN 552 Building Community Resilience and Healing (3 credit hours)

Electives

Choose one of the following:

- IN 552 Building Community Resilience and Healing (3 credit hours)
- IN 560 Global Management Decision Making, Negotiation and Problem Solving (3 credit hours)
- IN 562 Communication in Global Organizations (3 credit hours)

Graduate Certificate in Online Teaching and Learning

Online

Program Overview

The Graduate Certificate in Online Teaching and Learning focuses on preparing educators, trainers, and other professionals to work effectively in online and remote settings. Students will experience transformative learning experiences in which they gain the expertise to:

- Implement best practices of online teaching and learning.
- Align their courses to learning outcomes.
- Incorporate Universal Design principles into their curriculum.
- Evaluate innovative technologies to integrate into their courses.
- Consider issues of accessibility and equity in underserved populations.

Students may complete the Graduate Certificate in Online Teaching and Learning and apply the courses towards the MA Psychology degree, or the non-degree seeking student may take nine credits in order to enhance their knowledge and expertise in the field.

Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- PLO 1 Assessment: Apply various tools and methods to assess and evaluate online student achievement.
- PLO 2 Educational Technology: Integrate innovative technologies into online learning environments.

Diversity

PLO 3 - Universal Design: Incorporate Universal Design for Learning and accessibility features to facilitate
effective online learning experiences.

Professional Behavior

PLO 4 - Pedagogy: Apply best practices in online pedagogy to facilitate active learning experiences.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's Certificate in Online Teaching and Learning program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements.

Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors that are considered in admission include:

- Application Fee: \$50
- Resume or Curriculum Vitae
- Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 2.8 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission.

Students must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission, in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

The Curriculum

Program total: 9 credit hours.

- MP 503 Online Learning Communities and Pedagogies (3 credit hours)
- MP 504 Online Course Design and Assessment (3 credit hours)
- MP 506 Online Technologies for Learning Engagement (3 credit hours)

Graduate Certificate in Social and Community Psychology

Online

Overview

Students in the Social and Community Psychology certificate program will gain a theoretical and experiential foundation in multicultural psychology. Students will explore the impact and social construction of culture, gender, ethnicity, religion/spirituality, class, race, ableness, and immigrant status. Dimensions of acculturation, and the interrelationship between gender and psychology - across different cultures - will also be analyzed. The coursework in this program is presented entirely in Spanish.

Students may complete the Graduate Certificate in Social and Community Psychology and apply the courses towards the MA Psychology degree, or the non-degree seeking student may take nine credits in order to enhance their knowledge and expertise in the field.

Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this certificate program, students will be able to:

- Demonstrate acquired knowledge of social, family and individual dynamics that affect acculturation.
- Evaluate social and community psychology from a cross-cultural perspective.
- Demonstrate knowledge of gendered topics in psychology, masculine ideology, postmodern feminist research, and cross-cultural perspectives on gender.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's Graduate Certificate in Social and Community Psychology is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution.

Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to successfully complete graduate work. Factors and materials to be considered for admission will include:

- Application Fee: \$50
- Resume or Curriculum Vitae
- Undergraduate or Graduate GPA of 2.8 or higher on a 4.0 Scale

- Evidence of fluency in Spanish at the graduate school level as evidenced by the performance on the essay.
- Essay Please answer the following question within three double spaced typed pages (approximately 500-750 words). Essay must be written in Spanish and must specifically address the program/specialization for which you are applying.
 - Psychology is a vast discipline with many career options. In an essay format, please describe:
 - Why you chose this particular program/specialization. Cite specific experiences and examples.
 - Why it is important to you to study this discipline at a school that emphasizes cultural awareness, competence, and understanding of diversity (see our Commitment to Diversity statement).
 - Your professional career goals as they relate to this certificate curriculum.
 - O Why you believe this program will assist you in reaching these goals.

Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to support their applications.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission, in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

The Curriculum

Program Total: 9 credit hours

- MP 530-ES Psicología Social de las Culturas (3 credit hours)
- MP 552-ES Psicología Internacional de Género: (3 credit hours)
- MP 614-ES Aculturación (3 credit hours)

Industrial and Organizational Psychology Generalist Certificate

Online - Anaheim - Dallas - Los Angeles - San Diego - Washington, DC

Overview

Professionals with an understanding of industrial and organizational psychology principles and approaches continue to be in high demand in the work place. Students in the Industrial and Organizational Psychology certificate program

acquire business and psychology skills to help them advance their career in management or human resources. Graduates learn valuable principles in organizational behavior, including how to adapt to organizational change, motivate organizational teams, and increase employee productivity. Coursework covers topics such as organizational behavior, organizational culture and design, and management and leadership. Graduates gain the knowledge, expertise, and confidence to grow professionally and take advantage of new career opportunities.

Students are required to take the IO 510 Oragnizational Behavior course which examines the factors that drive productivity and success in an organization and choose two electives from an array of options, including courses on training theory, performance evaluation, team dynamics, consumer motivation, and more. Under certain circumstances the IO 510 Organizational Behavior course may be waived with the approval of the Department Chair.

The program is offered in both online and on ground formats, which is convenient for working professionals. Participants earn nine graduate level credits and a certificate of completion. Completed credits are transferable to the MA Industrial and Organizational Psychology degree program.

Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this certificate program students will be able to develop organizational assessment, intervention, and evaluation strategies that are both:

- consistent with the pragmatic constraints and opportunities of a real-world situation and
- drawn from relevant research and theory in I/O psychology.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to the Industrial and Organizational Psychology Generalist Certificate program is open to any person who has earned an undergraduate degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors that are considered in admission are: GPA from undergraduate and any graduate schools, successful work history after completion of the baccalaureate degree, the admission essay, and letters of recommendation from academic professors or professional or volunteer experience supervisors. Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission. Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to support their applications. A completed application and the application fee (\$50) is required for consideration.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission, in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

The Curriculum

 IO 510 - Organizational Behavior (3 credit hours)(course fee \$92)
 Students choose any two three credit hours courses from the online MA Industrial and Organizational Psychology program, with the exception of ARP, Thesis, or courses with unfulfilled prerequisites.

Instructional Design Certificate

Online

Overview

The field of instructional design (ID) and educational technology is constantly evolving. As a result, employers in education (K-12 and higher education), businesses, and healthcare settings are continuously seeking employees who are able to demonstrate the ability to develop, design, and implement courses, trainings, and programs. More recently, the role of instructional designers has also expanded to include faculty consultation in areas such as pedagogy and course design and ensuring that course modifications are more inclusive of educational technology components. The Instructional Design Certificate Program offered through the Educational Psychology and Technology program at The Chicago School is designed to provide students with the theoretical and practical concepts, and expertise needed to design, develop, implement, and evaluate instructional interventions and programs for various learning contexts including higher education, K-12 school, and corporate institutions.

Given the variety of skills needed in the ID field, providing students with a wide range of competencies with in-depth knowledge is essential to certification programs. The EPT Instructional Design Certificate Program, as outlined below, not only promotes the essential ID skills but also provides choices for students to be specialized in areas key to the emerging nature of the field and to complete coursework that is relevant to their professional and academic interests. In the Instructional Design Certificate Program, students will develop expertise, knowledge, skills, and dispositions that are guided by the standards from the Association for Educational Communication and Technology (AECT), which reflect the knowledge base in the field. The domains of the field include design, development, implementation (utilization and management), and evaluation.

Students may complete the certificate in Instructional Design and apply the courses towards an EdD Educational Psychology degree, or the non-degree seeking student may take nine credits in order to enhance their knowledge and expertise in the field.

Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this certificate program students will be skilled in:

- **Design**: Design conditions for learning by applying principles of instructional systems design, message design, instructional strategies, and learner characteristics.
- **Development**: Develop instructional materials and experiences using print, audiovisual, computer-based, and integrated technologies.
- Implementation:

- Utilization: Use processes and resources for learning by applying principles and theories of media utilization, diffusion, implementation, and policy-making.
- Management: Plan, organize, coordinate, and supervise instructional technology by applying principles of project, resource, delivery system, and information management.
- **Evaluation**: Evaluate the adequacy of instruction and learning by applying principles of problem analysis, criterion-referenced measurement, formative and summative evaluation, and long-range planning.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's Instructional Design certificate is open to any person who has earned a master's degree from a regionally accredited institution.

Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to successfully complete graduate work. Factors and materials to be considered for admission will include:

- Application Fee: \$50
- Resume or Curriculum Vitae
- Graduate GPA 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale
- Official College/University Transcripts
- Personal Statement/Essay
 - Please describe your professional goals and how this certificate program will help you achieve those goals. Additionally, please address the following points in your essay:
 - What is your motivation for pursuing a certificate in instructional design?
 - What specific skills and/or competencies do you hope to master as a result of completing this program?

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission, in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

The Curriculum

Total Credits: 18

- EP 763 Development for Multimodal Learning (3 credit hours)
- EP 764 Instructional Design (3 credit hours)
- EP 765 Computational Thinking (3 credit hours)
- EP 628 The Theory and Profession of Educational Technology (3 credit hours)

- EP 732 Integrating Technology in Learning Systems (3 credit hours)
- EP 715 Action Research I (3 credit hours)

Post-Bachelor's Certificate in Applied Behavior Analysis

Chicago - Los Angeles - Online - San Diego

Program Overview

Applied Behavior Analysis is the ethical design, implementation, and evaluation of environmental changes to produce socially significant improvements in behavior.

The Post-Bachelor's Certificate in Applied Behavior Analysis develops mastery of the principles of behavior analysis and their application in clinical work and everyday life.

This program prepares students to become Board Certified Assistant Behavior Analysts® (BCaBAs®), which is an undergraduate-level certification in behavior analysis. Professionals who are certified at the BCaBA® must be supervised by someone certified at the BCBA/BCBA-D level, but BCaBAs can supervise the work of Registered Behavior Technicians, and others who implement behavior-analytic interventions.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of the program, graduates will be able to:

Diversity

Recognize, understand and respect sociocultural, international and cognitive diversity, especially in regard to
its impact on psychology.

Professional Behavior

Demonstrate an understanding of the ethical issues that frame the practice of psychology.

Scholarship

- Demonstrate an understanding of the major theories, empirical findings, and historical and current trends within the field of psychology.
- Read analytically, write clearly, using the APA Style Manual, and speak articulately about the study of psychology.
- Critically and creatively evaluate psychological concepts and research.
- Design research projects using quantitative, qualitative and mixed research methods.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's Post-Bachelor's Certificate in Applied Behavior Analysis program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. Applicants will be judged on their overall academic ability. Factors that are considered in admission are:

- GPA from undergraduate and any graduate schools, Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission.
- Successful work history after completion of the baccalaureate degree,
- The admission essay, and
- A letter of recommendation from academic professors or professional or volunteer experience supervisors.

Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications. A \$50.00 (USD) application fee is required for application processing.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver.

Training

The program contains three credits of field-based clinical training (practicum training, see BACB.com for supervision requirements) held at approved sites. Students registered in practicum incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

The Curriculum

Required Core: 17 credit hours

Optional Practicum: 3 credit hours

Program total: 17 credit hours, 20 credit hours with optional practicum

Required Core

 AB 540 - Concepts and Principles in Behavior Analysis I (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)

- AB 545 Measurement and Design in Behavior Analysis (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 565 Professional Ethics and Issues in Behavior Analysis (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- BBA 420 Functional Assessment (3 credit hours) (course fee \$98.75, online only)
- BBA 425 Technologies in Applied Behavior Analysis I (3 credit hours)
- BBA 430 Technologies in Applied Behavior Analysis II (2 credit hours)

Optional Practicum (On Ground)

- AB 615 Practicum I (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 616 Practicum II (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 617 Practicum III (1 credit hour)(auto half time)

Optional Practicum (Online)

- AB 630 Practicum I (0.5 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 631 Practicum II (0.5 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 632 Practicum III (0.5 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 633 Practicum IV (0.5 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 634 Practicum V (0.5 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 635 Practicum VI (0.5 credit hour)(auto half time)

Post-Master's Certificate in Applied Behavior Analysis

Online - Anaheim - Chicago - Dallas - Los Angeles - San Diego - Washington D.C.

Program Overview

The Post-Master's Certificate in Applied Behavior Analysis develops mastery of the principles of behavior analysis and their application in clinical work and everyday life. Applied Behavior Analysis is the ethical design, implementation, and evaluation of environmental changes to produce socially significant improvements in behavior.

Learning Outcomes

Upon completion of this certificate program students will be able to:

• Professional Practice

 Analyze behavior, design interventions, and evaluate interventions, by applying basic behavioral principles and assessment techniques to effect socially significant behavior change.

Diversity

 Evaluate the impact of diversity issues on individuals and society (as a whole in domestic or international settings,) and demonstrate sensitivity and competence while working with diverse populations.

Professional Behavior

- Evaluate and resolve ethical dilemmas in accordance with behavior-analytic and psychological ethical guidelines.
- Establish rapport and communicate effectively with clients, stakeholders, and other professionals.

Scholarship

 Conduct behavior-analytic research and evaluate behavior-analytic and other psychological research effectively and ethically.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admissions Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Applicants to the Post-Master's Certificate in Applied Behavior Analysis must possess a master's degree from a regionally accredited institution. Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications. Applicants to this program should ensure their resume illustrates relevant work experience. A letter of reference, preferably from a supervisor or manager, is required. An admission essay is required.

Prior to January 1st 2022, the Behavior Analysis Credentialing Board (BACB®) requires all exam applicants to possess a master's degree from a regionally accredited institution that was conferred in behavior analysis, education, or psychology, or a related degree as defined by the BACB®. If you are uncertain whether your degree qualifies, you can request a preliminary degree evaluation online prior to submitting a BCBA® Certification Application.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Philosophy

The mission of the ABA Department at The Chicago School is to provide state-of-the-art education and training in Applied Behavior Analysis that prepares graduates to be successful, committed, engaged scientist-practitioner colleagues who make a positive difference in our communities.

Applied Behavior Analysis (ABA) procedures and principles can facilitate remarkable progress and have improved quality of life for many people. In addition to being the foundational procedures for early intensive behavioral intervention (EIBI) in autism, ABA has been used to teach children to read, to improve safety, productivity, and employee satisfaction in organizations, to decrease challenging behaviors such as tantrums, aggression or self-injury in a range of populations, to increase communication, to decrease symptoms in individuals with brain injuries and has reduced human misery and improved functioning and quality of life in many other areas. Behavior-analytic principles and procedures are applicable to virtually any behavior. Because all ABA work is validated with data about its effectiveness, each clinician generates a data set, and tests what they do. As clinicians review their outcomes, they modify and test procedures to get the maximum beneficial results for their clients.

The goal of the ABA department is to facilitate this progress for many more people by training students to understand and implement behavior-analytic principles and procedures. This goal requires that the faculty measure students' performance and ensure that students implement procedures correctly and ethically, and forward competent students to the next steps in the profession.

Ethics and Professional Behavior

Students are expected to learn and to follow the ethical guidelines of the American Psychological Association and the Behavior Analysis Certification Board during and after their work at The Chicago School. A class in ethics is required, and student adherence to ethical codes is evaluated both formally and informally.

Practicum Criteria

Applicants in the Online and ground campus based programs are encouraged to gain experience in multiple sites and with multiple supervisors. Practicum courses are not required to earn the Certificate, so students can choose to either complete their experience independently or enroll in the university practicum courses to meet the experience requirements to sit for the certification exam. A student may start accumulating Fieldwork Hours after they have begun the coursework required to meet the BACB® requirements, but students at The Chicago School must have successfully completed AB540, AB545, in order to enroll in the Practicum courses. See www.bacb.com for appropriate experience activities and for more information about requirements. Students registered in practicum incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

Online Practicum

Practicum courses are not required to earn the Certificate, so students can choose to either complete their experience independently or enroll in the university practicum courses to meet the experience requirements to sit for the certification exam. A student may start accumulating Fieldwork Hours after they have begun the coursework required to meet the BACB® requirements, but students at The Chicago School must have successfully completed AB540, AB545, in order to enroll in the Practicum courses.

Ground Campus Based Practicum

Students in the ground campus based program who wish to complete the Fieldwork Hours through the Practicum option apply for a practicum position at an approved practicum site through the department's Clinical Training office. If the student does not have a supervisor on-site holding the BCBA® credential, the student must enroll in one additional 0.5-credit online courses per term for eight terms (Individual Supervision). Students complete up to four semesters of Practicum Seminar while accruing hours of Supervised Experience at their site. Similar to the requirement for the online students, an applicant may not start accumulating Supervised Experience hours until they have begun the coursework required to meet the BACB® coursework requirements. All students must follow BACB® regulations.

The Curriculum

Total Program Credits

Post-Master's Certificate in Applied Behavior Analysis: 21 credits

Post-Master's Certificate in Applied Behavior Analysis with Practicum and Individual Supervision: 29 credits

Post-Master's Certificate in Applied Behavior Analysis with Practicum: 25 credits

*Students will see a location code suffix affixed to courses on their transcripts (IR- Anaheim, LA- Los Angeles, SD-San Diego, TX-Dallas, CH-Chicago, ON-Online, DC-Washington, D.C.)

Required Core Courses

The following courses assign a \$56 course fee to Online students only

- AB 540 Concepts and Principles in Behavior Analysis I (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 541 Concepts and Principles in Behavior Analysis II (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 545 Measurement and Design in Behavior Analysis (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 556 Behavior Change Procedures I (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 557 Behavior Change Procedures II (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 564 Behavior Assessment (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 565 Professional Ethics and Issues in Behavior Analysis (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)

Optional Supervised Practicum - Online

Students wishing to complete Practicum Courses in the Online program must secure a practicum position at an approved site. Students must submit an application for site approval to the department for review and approval. Sites must meet BACB® criteria for approved activities and hours (see bacb.com). They then have two options. If the student has a supervisor holding the BCBA® credential on-site, and that supervisor is willing to provide individual BCBA® supervision to the student, they may complete Fieldwork under that individual. If the student does not have a supervisor on-site holding the BCBA® credential, the student must enroll in one additional 0.5-credit online courses per term for eight terms (Individual Supervision).

Field Supervision Option

5 eight week terms (approximately **30** hours per week of field supervised work)

• 4 credit hours (Online Practicum) or 8 credit hours (Online Practicum and Individual Supervision)

Field Supervision Option

- EBC 520 Individual Supervision (0.5 credit hours)(auto half time)
- EBC 521 Individual Supervision (0.5 credit hours)(auto half time)
- EBC 522 Individual Supervision (0.5 credit hours)(auto half time)
- EBC 523 Individual Supervision (0.5 credit hours)(auto half time)
- EBC 524 Individual Supervision (0.5 credit hours)(auto half time)
- EBC 525 Individual Supervision (0.5 credit hours)(auto half time)
- EBC 526 Individual Supervision (0.5 credit hours)(auto half time)

- EBC 527 Individual Supervision (0.5 credit hours)(auto half time)
- AB 630 Practicum I (0.5 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 631 Practicum II (0.5 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 632 Practicum III (0.5 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 633 Practicum IV (0.5 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 634 Practicum V (0.5 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 635 Practicum VI (0.5 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 636 Practicum VII (0.5 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 637 Practicum VIII (0.5 credit hour)(auto half time)

Optional Supervised Practicum - On-Ground

Students in the on-ground program who wish to complete the Fieldwork Hours through the Practicum option apply for a practicum position at an approved practicum site through the department's Clinical Training office. If the student does not have a supervisor on-site holding the BCBA® credential, the student must enroll in one additional 0.5-credit online courses per term for eight terms (Individual Supervision). Students complete up to four semesters of Practicum Seminar while accruing hours of Supervised Experience at their site. Similar to the requirement for the online students, an applicant may not start accumulating Supervised Experience hours until they have begun the coursework required to meet the BACB® coursework requirements. All students must follow BACB® regulations.

- AB 615 Practicum I (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 616 Practicum II (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 617 Practicum III (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 618 Practicum IV (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- EBC 560 Individual Supervision (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- EBC 561 Individual Supervision (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- EBC 562 Individual Supervision (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- EBC 563 Individual Supervision (1 credit hour)(auto half time)

Extension Courses

- AB 997A-D Practicum Extension (0 credit hours)(auto half time)
- EBC 567A-D Individual Supervision Extension (0 credit hours)(auto half time)

Suicide and Cyberbullying Prevention Certificate

Online

Program Overview

Students in the Suicide and Cyberbullying Prevention Certificate program will gain theoretical and practical knowledge in the prevention of suicide and cyberbullying. Students will discover how suicide impacts communities globally, and how other countries attempt to prevent suicide. Students will explore contemporary issues of how social media and cyberbullying influence suicide, and gain practical knowledge of evidence-based community prevention strategies. Students may complete the Suicide and Cyberbullying Prevention Certificate and apply the courses towards the MA Psychology degree, or the non-degree seeking student may take nine credits in order to enhance their knowledge and expertise in the field.

Learning Outcomes

Upon successful of this program students will be able to:

- Demonstrate acquired knowledge of global perspectives, research, and evidence-based prevention practices
 of suicide
- Analyze current research on the assessment and treatment of trauma and crisis intervention.
- Evaluate system-wide approaches to bullying prevention rooted in current research, including the Olweus model.
- Analyze trends in social media and the impact on suicide, bullying, and self-harm.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School of Professional Psychology is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to the Suicide and Cyberbullying Prevention Certificate program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements.

Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors that are considered in admission are GPA from undergraduate and any graduate schools, successful work history after completion of the baccalaureate degree, and the admission essay.

Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 2.8 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission.

Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School of Professional Psychology reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School of Professional Psychology does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission, in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

The Curriculum

Program Total: 9 credit hours

Required Core (9 credit hours)

- MP 541 Trauma and Crisis Intervention (3 credit hours)
- MP 546 Global Issues in Suicide (3 credit hours)
- MP 557 Social Media and Cyberbullying (3 credit hours)

Associate of Applied Science

AAS Nursing

Dallas

Program Overview

The Associate of Applied Science in Nursing Program at The Chicago School is a five-term program of study leading to an Associate of Applied Science Degree. This program is also referred to as the Associate Degree in Nursing (ADN). This program prepares the graduate for the NCLEX-RN, the licensing exam administered by the National Council for State Boards of Nursing (NCSBN).

The program design focuses on the following four roles of the nurse as described by the Texas Board of Nursing: Provider of Patient-Centered Care, Patient Safety Advocate, Member of the Health Care Team, and Member of the Profession. Health promotion, disease prevention, and disease management are major concepts that are incorporated into each course. A systematic approach is the framework that the nurse utilizes for assessment, planning, and evaluating the nursing care.

There are two entry points for the Associate Degree in Nursing (ADN). The Direct Track, which is 69 credit hours, is for students entering directly into the pathway to the RN with no previous nursing experience. The LVN to RN Track, which is 61 credit hours, is for students holding a current valid license in practical or vocational nursing. Both tracks of the ADN are 80 weeks full time.

Program Foundation and Delivery

Educational foundations in the Associate Degree of Nursing (ADN) are based upon the Differentiated Essential Competencies of Graduates of Texas Nursing Programs (DECs). Please use the following link to the Texas Board of Nursing's website to access additional information regarding DECs:

http://www.bon.texas.gov/pdfs/differentiated_essential_competencies-2010.pdf. Instruction in The Chicago School's programs may be delivered through residential, distance education, or a combination of both.

Philosophy of Nursing

The programs believe that nursing is a dynamic process in which the provider and the client (individual, family, or community) work together to achieve health promotion, disease prevention, and disease management for the client across the lifespan. Nursing has a holistic view of the client based on physiologic, psychosocial, and spiritual principles.

Nurses use clinical judgment, communication, and nursing skills to assist a diverse population of clients in meeting their needs and achieving optimal health. The nurse practices within an ethical and legal framework and embraces evidence-based practice.

The ADN faculty believe that nursing is a dynamic profession that encompasses a global view of health for the individual from prevention through tertiary care within their cultural and spiritual beliefs.

Philosophy of Healthcare Education

The ADN program is committed to providing excellent education to a diverse student population. Based on the belief that life-long learning is essential to continued competence, the programs strive to empower students to function independently and utilize critical thinking. Faculty members serve as facilitators and role models and expect students to function as adult learners.

The faculty of the ADN program embraces current and future technology as a tool to be used appropriately for the enhanced learning experience of the individual student.

Program Mission

The mission of the Associate Degree in Nursing (ADN) program at The Chicago School is to advance the art and science of nursing through academic excellence by integrating the knowledge, skills, values, and attitudes essential for entry-level and practicing nurses.

Program Learning Outcomes

The Associate Degree in Nursing program at The Chicago School focuses on the following four roles of the nurse as described by the Texas Board of Nursing: Provider of Patient-Centered Care, Patient Safety Advocate, Member of the Health Care Team, and Member of the Profession. Health promotion, disease prevention, and disease management are major concepts that are incorporated into each course. A systematic approach is the framework that the nurse utilizes for assessment, planning, and evaluating the nursing care. The curriculum prepares students to take the National Council Licensure Examination for Registered Nurses (NCLEX-RN). Upon completion of the program, the graduate will:

Professional Practice

- Utilize communication, critical thinking, and nursing skills to develop, implement, and evaluate a nursing care plan.
- Delegate appropriately according to the Texas Nurse Practice Act.
- Collaborate effectively with other healthcare professionals.

Diversity

Demonstrate caring behavior to a diverse client population.

Professional Behavior

- Utilize ethical/legal principles in the practice of nursing.
- Practice life-long learning, within the clinical environment, through continuing education, and within the four-year institution.
- Pass the National Council Licensure Examination for Registered Nurses NCLEX-RN.

Scholarship

• Embrace and incorporate evidence-based practice into nursing practice.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

The Chicago School is not currently enrolling new students in this program.

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

The Associate Degree of Nursing admits, as regular students, applicants having a valid high school diploma, official General Educational Development (GED), or recognized equivalent.

All applicants must be at least 17 years of age. In accordance with Texas laws, if applicant is under 18, a parent or legal guardian signature is required prior to enrollment.

Standardized Test Requirements for Admission

- An American College Test (ACT) score within the last five years with a composite score of 19 or above or
- A Scholastic Aptitude Test (SAT) score taken within the last five years with a composite score of 1350 if taken before 2016 or a composite score of 990 or above if taken since 2016 or
- Passing of the Nursing School Admissions Test.
 - Applicants who fail any section(s) on their first attempt must wait 4 weeks before retaking the failed section or sections
 - Applicants who fail any section(s) on their second attempt must wait 6 months before retaking the ADN entrance exam.
 - No student will be admitted to the ADN programs if he or she has failed two attempts at BIOL 2401 Human Anatomy & Physiology I, BIOL 2402 Human Anatomy & Physiology II, BIOL 2420, Microbiology for Non-Science Majors, HPRS 2300 Pharmacology, or HPRS 2301 Pathophysiology.
- All applicants must provide:
 - O Two professional letters of reference (non-family members).
 - Written essay to meeting the nursing program required score.
 - Associate Degree of Nursing LVN to RN Track students must also provide proof of licensure as a Vocational Nurse or Practical Nurse, current and in good standing, prior to enrollment.
- Applicants must pass a drug screen (Texas Board of Nursing 213.29 Criteria and Procedure Regarding Intemperate Use and Lack of Fitness in Eligibility and Disciplinary Matters).
- Applicant background check must meet the Texas Board of Nursing 213.28 criteria regarding Licensure of Person with Criminal Offenses.
- Applicant must be a U.S.citizen or a permanent resident of the U.S.
- All applicants must complete an admissions interview.

For transfer credit to be granted:

- Completion of the following general education courses must have been within the past 5 years: BIOL 2401
 Human Anatomy & Physiology I, BIOL 2402 Human Anatomy & Physiology II, and BIOL 2420
 Microbiology for Non-Science Majors
- Completion of the following general education courses must have been within the last 10 years: ENGL 1301 Composition I, PSYC 2301 General Psychology, and PSYC 2314 Lifespan Growth & Development.

No transfer credit will be accepted for HPRS 2300 Pharmacology, and HPRS 2301 Pathophysiology.
 All applicants are required to submit a completed application, application fee (\$100), and official transcripts of any programmatically required diploma, degree, or credential. Official transcripts of schools listed in the application are required with a conferral date prior to the term of entry.

The Dean of Nursing must give final acceptance of each student to any program. The Chicago School reserves the right to decline any high school diploma, transcript, or equivalency documentation it deems as unacceptable.

Policies

Student to Faculty Ratio

The Associate Applied Sciene in Nursing Program will maintain a proper ratio between faculty and students to allow adequate attention to each student in all class settings. The student to faculty ratio generally will not exceed these guidelines:

pes of Course	Ratio	Minimum to Start
dactic Courses-ground campuses	30:1	5
dactic-Online campus	25:1	5
poratory Courses	20:1	5
nical Rotations - in a clinical setting, skill, or similation lab ere hands-on training occurs	10:1	5
nical Rotations-in a clincal setting, skill or simulation lab	15:1	5
ere hands-on training occurs- with a teaching assistant		

Minimum to Start provision: The Chicago School reserves the right to cancel any course in which the census drops below the minimum to start up to the fourth class session. Students will be notified immediately and given the opportunity to change classes where possible. Schedule changes are processed in the Office of the Registrar. In the event of a course cancellation due to low enrollment, a student will not be charged for the course and the course will be removed from the student's education record.

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer and Nontraditional Credit Hours.

Graduation Requirements

To meet the graduation requirements, a student must pass each course in their program of study with a grade of C or better maintain the minimum required CGPA of 2.0 or higher, and complete all program requirements within a period of time which does not exceed 1.5 times the program length.

All Associate Degree of Nursing students must pass the final exam in RNSG 2443 Complex Concepts in Adult Health in order to be eligible for graduation. If unsuccessful in passing the final exam, a student must repeat the entire

course. All Associate Degree of Nursing students must complete 100% of all nursing courses at The Chicago School in order for the Associate Degree to be granted.

The ADN graduate who meets all requirements and is in good financial standing with The Chicago School will be awarded an Associate Degree which bears the graduate's name, the degree granted, and signatures of the Dean of Nursing, the Campus Dean, and the seal of the university.

A student enrolled in their final term is solely responsible for all licensing and NCLEX testing fees.

The Curriculum

General Education

Total Required General Education: 24 credit hours

- BIOL 2401 Human Anatomy and Physiology I (4 credit hours)
- BIOL 2402 Human Anatomy and Physiology II (4 credit hours)
- BIOL 2420 Microbiology for Non-Science Majors (4 credit hours)
- ENGL 1301 Composition I (3 credit hours)
- PHIL 2303 Introduction to Logic (3 credit hours)
- PSYC 2301 General Psychology (3 credit hours)
- PSYC 2314 Lifespan Growth and Development (3 credit hours)

Required Nursing Core

Total Required Nursing Core: 31 credit hours

- HPRS 1106 Essentials of Medical Terminology (1 credit hour)
- HPRS 2300 Pharmacology (3 credit hours)
- HPRS 2301 Pathophysiology (3 credit hours)
- RNSG 2144 Nursing Skills II (1 credit hour)
- RNSG 2160 Mental Health Nursing Clinical (1 credit hour)
- RNSG 2207 Jurisprudence (2 credit hours)
- RNSG 2213 Mental Health Nursing (2 credit hours)
- RNSG 2443 Complex Concepts of Adult Health (4 credit hours)
- RNSG 2460 Common Concepts of Adult Health Clinical (4 credit hours)
- RNSG 2541 Common Concepts of Adult Health (5 credit hours)
- RNSG 2560 Complex Concepts of Adult Health Clinical (5 credit hours)

ADN Direct Track (Total 69 credit hours)

Total Required Track Credit Hours: 14 credit hours

- RNSG 1360 Foundations for Nursing Practice Clinical (3 credit hours)
- RNSG 1413 Foundations for Nursing Practice (4 credit hours)
- RNSG 1105 Nursing Skills I (1 credit hour)
- RNSG 2161 Care of Children and Families Clinical (1 credit hour)

- RNSG 2201 Care of Children and Families (2 credit hours)
- RNSG 2162 Maternal/Newborn Nursing and Women's Health Clinical (1 credit hour)
- RNSG 2208 Maternal/Newborn Nursing and Women's Health (2 credit hours)

LVN to RN Track (Total 61 credit hours)

Total Required Track Credit Hours: 6 credit hours

- RNSG 1361 Transition to Professional Nursing Clinical (3 credit hours)
- RNSG 2307 Transition to Professional Nursing (3 credit hours)

Bachelor of Arts

BA Criminology

Online

Program Overview

The Bachelor of Arts in Criminology degree prepares students for a wide range of criminal justice related careers in the private sector, as well as with federal, state, and local government agencies. Graduates may use the degree to begin their career in law enforcement, criminal law, victim services, corrections, or social work. The curriculum in criminology provides students with a psychology-oriented multidisciplinary approach to crime and criminal behavior, specifically familiarizing students with the primary ways professionals use to explain, predict and prevent crime and victimization.

Students may choose from the Generalist Track or from two Specialization Tracks:

- Criminology Generalist Track
- Mental Health CounselorTrack
- Forensic Psychology Track

Graduate level coursework taken as part of the Forensic Track may also be counted in the MA Forensic Psychology program should a student wish to continue their education at The Chicago School in that program. The Mental Health Counselor Track may also be counted in the MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling program should a student wish to continue their education at The Chicago School in one of those graduate programs.

The curriculum of the BA in Criminology degree is based on the content areas outlined by the Academic of Criminal Justice Sciences (ACJS). The ACJS content areas are Administration of Justice, Corrections, Criminological Theory, Law Adjudication, Law Enforcement, Research and Analytic Methods, and Diversity in Criminal Justice.

Program Philosophy

The BA Criminology program is designed to provide students with a multi-disciplinary psychological approach to crime and prepares students for a wide range of criminal justice related careers in the private sector, as well with government based agencies. Students will be able to apply learned criminological theories, concepts, and best practices. The program is designed to accommodate those who seek to complete their degree while effectively maintaining both their professional and personal commitments. This program provides an optional gateway to graduate programs in the field of psychology for those who chose the Counseling or Forensic Psychology specializations by

preparing students to move into either the MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling program or the MA Forensic Psychology program.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of the criminology major coursework, students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Acquire knowledge about the correlates to crime are and how to exhibit those in statistics and data methodology.
- Demonstrate knowledge in the field of criminology and the process of adult and juvenile offenders.

Diversity

 Students will be able to apply the knowledge on diversity factors that are related to race, ethnicity, gender, socioeconomic status, age, religious belief, and ability, to recognize injustices within the criminal justice system.

Professional Behavior

- Students will be able to employ ethical perspectives and judgements in applying ethical standards related to the application of criminal justice science.
- Incorporate and demonstrate strategies/solutions regarding the criminal justice system learned in the program
 through oral presentations and written work.

Scholarship

Apply the principles of criminology research to the field of criminal justice and forensic
psychology. Students will critically evaluate issues that arise in the criminal and juvenile justice system and
discuss possible solutions.

Licensure

The BA Criminology program does <u>not</u> meet all of the requirements to be a licensed peace officer in the state of Minnesota.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to successfully complete an undergraduate degree program. Generally, a high school cumulative GPA of a 2.3 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission.

- Completed application and \$50 application fee
- Applicants must provide proof of the qualifying conferral high school graduation (or the equivalent) or proof of an earned Associate degree. Information about acceptable proof of qualifying conferral can be found here

Applicants with a cumulative high school or undergraduate GPA below 2.3 and applicants seeking admission with high school equivalency documentation that does not show a GPA (such as GED, homeschool, or testing) are required to submit additional documentation.

- Curriculum Vita/ Resume
- One Letter of recommendation (optional)

Essay of intent

SAT/ACT scores are not required for admission. However, applicants who have taken the SAT/ACT may submit their scores to enhance their application.

Applicants to the BA Criminology program who have earned an Associate of Arts Degree from a regionally accredited college or university in Criminology, Criminal Justice, Sociology, Psychology, or related social or behavioral discipline will receive "block transfer" of all credits in that degree toward the BA. The evaluation of transfer credit for this purpose is subject to The Chicago School's Transfer Credit Policy. Students may need to take additional General Education courses based on the regulatory requirements of their state of residence.

Students will be required to take all the courses in the major unless they receive transfer credit for a specific course (e.g., Social Problems); total credits must be at least 120 for graduation.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission, in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$100 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver.

Criminology Major Capstone

The CR 500 Capstone Project is designed to allow students the opportunity to integrate and apply learning from their undergraduate courses into a comprehensive presentation. The Capstone Course is an independent study project that consists of a formal research project, intended to demonstrate skill in research and critical thinking. The project is composed of a detailed research question and a literature review component. Students are encouraged to design projects that addresses a gap in the criminology literature as an important issue within the field of criminal justice, whether academic or professional. While no actual data is generated or data analyzed, the project is intended to incorporate and expand upon the depth of knowledge gained from previous years of study, and the student's personal educational and professional interest as it pertains to the areas of criminology.

Ethical Guidelines

Students are expected to learn and to follow the ethical guidelines of the American Psychological Association, APA's current Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct for Psychologists during and after their work at The Chicago School, as well as the professional norms, standards, and guidelines relevant to the profession. A class in ethics is required, and student adherence to ethical codes is evaluated both formally and informally.

General Education for Baccalaureate Programs

Overview

The Chicago School's bachelor's programs share a common core of 44 credit hours of general education requirements, including a capstone experience. The coursework is designed to meet general education requirements in all 50 states and the District of Columbia while providing the groundwork for success in the following years of study of the Bachelor's Degree.

General Education Courses are all delivered in online format.

General Education Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of the general education coursework, students will be able to:

Professional Practice

Interact and collaborate with others effectively

Diversity

 Demonstrate knowledge of individual and cultural difference with consideration for domestic and transnational diversity in a manner that promotes inclusion and understanding.

Professional Behavior

 Assess their own ethical values and the social context of problems, recognize ethical issues in a variety of settings, applying differing ethical perspectives to dilemmas, and consider the ramifications of alternative actions.

Scholarship

- Demonstrate basic knowledge of the fundamental theories and principles of their major (and chosen minor, if applicable) area of study.
- Deliver well organized oral and written presentations that include a central message with logical themes, using language and terminology appropriate to the topic and audience.
- Craft logical evidence-based arguments leading to solutions of practical problems.
- Acquire and utilize information through library research with the use of computer search engines and
 information databases, evaluate the reliability of the source, and identify peer-reviewed and scholarly
 sources
- Apply quantitative (mathematical) reasoning to solving practical problems.

General Education Capstone

The <u>CAP 200 Introduction to Research Methods</u> course serves as an introduction to various research methodologies and techniques. This course helps set a foundation for students to apply learned knowledge of research approaches in future program of study courses, the workforce, and their communities at large. During the course, students will demonstrate their knowledge by completing a research proposal signature assignment. All undergraduate students will complete this course except for those who transfer into the institution with an earned associate degree from an accredited institution.

General Education Required Core (44 Credit Hours)

Students residing in Louisiana are required to complete 9 credit hours of Life and Physical Science to meet graduation requirements.

Writing and Communication (9 Credit Hours)

- ENG 100 English Composition I (3 credit hours)
- ENG 105 Introduction to Communication (3 credit hours)
- ENG 200 English Composition II (3 credit hours)

Humanities and Fine Arts (9 Credit Hours)

- FNA 100 Art and Culture (3 credit hours)
- FNA 101 Music and Culture (3 credit hours)
- FNA 102 Introduction to Literature (3 credit hours)
- HUM 100 Understanding the Human Condition (3 credit hours)
- HUM 101 Sexuality and Gender Roles from a Humanities Perspective (3 credit hours)
- HUM 102 Humanities and Language (3 credit hours)
- HUM 104 Introduction to Logic (3 credit hours)

Mathematics (6 Credit Hours)

MATH 107 is required for BS Business Psychology and BS Healthcare Management students.

- MATH 100 Basic College Mathematics (3 credit hours)
- MATH 103 General Mathematics (3 credit hours)
- MATH 107 College Algebra (3 credit hours)

Physical and Life Sciences (8 Credit Hours)

Students are required to take at least one Life Science and one Physical Science course.

If a student resides in Louisiana, they are required to complete 9 credit hours of Life and Physical Science coursework to meet general education requirements.

PLS 100 is required for BS Business Psychology students.

- PLS 100 Introduction to Biology + Lab (4 credit hours)
- PLS 200 Biology II + Lab (4 credit hours)
- PLS 240 Physical Science I + Lab (4 credit hours)

Social and Behavioral Sciences (9 Credit Hours)

If a student resides in Arkansas, one of the three courses is required to be completed in US History or US Government.

BS Business Psychology students must take SBS100 Introduction to Psychology

- SBS 100 Introduction to Psychology (3 credit hours)
- SBS 101 Introduction to Sociology (3 credit hours)

- SBS 103 Social Justice and Psychology (3 credit hours)
- SBS 108 American Government (3 credit hours)

Capstone (3 Credit Hours)

CAP 200 - Introduction to Research Methods (3 credit hours)

The Curriculum

Criminology Major Required Core (39 credit hours)

General Education

- General Education: 44 credit hours
- Students entering with an AA or AS degree may have this requirement waived
- Total number of general education credits to be completed at The Chicago School depends on transfer credit
 as evaluated per The Chicago School transfer credit policy

General Electives

- 16 credit hours
- Total number of elected credits to be completed at The Chicago School depends on transfer credit as evaluated per The Chicago School Undergraduate Transfer Credit Policy
- General electives may be filled with courses from any undergraduate program where a student has met the
 necessary pre-requisites. Course lists can be found on each program's Program of Study page in the academic
 catalog. A list of programs The Chicago School offers can be found here.

Tracks

Students can select from one of the following tracks:

- Criminology Generalist Track (21 credit hours)
- Mental Health Counselor Track (21 credit hours)
- Forensic Psychology Track (21 credit hours)

Program Total:

120 Credit Hours

Criminology Major Required Core

60 credit hours

- CR 300 Law and Society (3 credit hours)
- CR 305 Pathways to Success (3 credit hours)
- CR 315 Juvenile Delinquency (3 credit hours)
- BA 340 Research Methods (3 credit hours)
- CR 350 Criminological Theory (3 credit hours)

- CR 375 Corrections (3 credit hours)
- BA 380 Statistics (3 credit hours)
- CR 400 Victimology (3 credit hours) Student must choose one of the following:
- CR 415 Religion and Crime (3 credit hours)
 Or
- CR 416 Race, Crime, and Punishment (3 credit hours)
- BA 425 Theories of Personality (3 credit hours)
- CR 450 Criminal and Juvenile Law (3 credit hours)
- CR 490 Contemporary Issues in Criminal Justice (3 credit hours)
- CR 500 Capstone Project (3 credit hours)

Criminology Generalist Track

Students will complete two core Criminology Track courses and select up to 15 credit hours from electives.

- BA 350 Abnormal Psychology (3 credit hours) Student must choose one of the following:
- BA 360 Neuropsychology (3 credit hours) or
- BA 360AS Neuropsychology for Addiction Studies (3 credit hours)

Electives

Criminology Generalist Track students must select up to 15 credit hours to complete their track. Students in the other two tracks can use these electives to meet their General Education Elective requirement.

- CR 316 Restorative Justice and Practices (3 credit hours)
- CR 317 Restorative Justice Facilitator Lab (1 credit hour)
- CR 351 Social Problems (3 credits hours)
- CR 352 Criminal Investigations (3 credit hours)
- CR 353 Sexual Crimes and Offenders (3 credit hours)
- CR 416 Race, Crime, and Punishment (3 credit hours)
- CR 417 Criminal Profiling (3 credit hours)
- CR 418 Behavioral Health Interventions in Criminal Justice (3 credit hours)
- CR 421 Special Topics in Criminology (1 credit hour)
- CR 422 Special Topics in Criminology (2 credit hours)
- CR 423 Special Topics in Criminology (3 credit hours)

Mental Health Counselor Track

- CM 500 Introduction to the Counseling Profession and Ethics (Course Fee Online Only \$40) (3 credit hours)
- CM 507 Theories of Counseling and Psychotherapy (3 credit hours)
- CM 514 Diagnosis of Mental Health Issues (3 credit hours)
- CM 521 Lifespan Development (3 credit hours)
- CM 592 Clinical Mental Health Counseling (3 credit hours)
 Students choose two of the following courses:

- CR 316 Restorative Justice and Practices (3 credit hours)
- CR 417 Criminal Profiling (3 credit hours)
- CR 418 Behavioral Health Interventions in Criminal Justice (3 credit hours)

Forensic Psychology Specialization

- FO 610 Introduction to Forensic Psychology (2 credit hours)
- FO 611 Ethics and Professional Issues (3 credit hours)
- FO 612 Human Growth and Development (3 credit hours)
- FO 613 Psychopathology (3 credit hours)
- FO 623 Psychology of Law Enforcement (2 credit hours)
- FO 658 Social Psychology and Aggression (2 credit hours)
- FO 660 Psychology of Terrorism (2 credit hours)
- FO 628 Special Topics I: Understanding Serial Killers (1 credit hour)
- FO 703 Social and Cultural Foundations in Counseling (3 credit hours)

BA Psychology

Chicago - Dallas - Los Angeles - San Diego - Online

Program Overview

The Chicago School's Bachelor of Arts in Psychology program is a 120 credit hour program consisting of a 44 credit hour General Education foundation, optional minors in health science, addiction studies, and applied behavior analysis, a variety of electives that are pre-requisites for The Chicago School graduate programs, and a 45 credit hour psychology major. Taught by practitioner faculty, the goal of this program is to provide strong preparation in the development of skills related to an understanding of human behavior in order to work within a variety of professional roles and professional settings, as well as to prepare students for graduate study in psychology, counseling, or health sciences.

Program Philosophy

The BA Psychology program is designed to provide students a basic foundation in psychology and research while deepening their ability to apply knowledge regarding principles of psychology to various settings. Students will be able to apply learned theories, concepts, and best practices absorbed from the various minors within the program including Health Science, Addiction Studies, and Applied Behavior Analysis. The program is designed to accommodate those who seek to complete their degree while effectively maintaining both their professional and personal commitments. This program provides a gateway to graduate programs in the field of psychology thereby further enhancing the student's psychological knowledge.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of the psychology major coursework, students will be able to:

Professional Practice

 Participate in their diverse communities through their knowledge of individual and group behaviors as well as their civic understanding.

- Apply psychological principles to individual, social and organizational issues.
- Demonstrate strong interpersonal communication skills that include effective speaking and listening skills.
- Interact and collaborate with others effectively.

Diversity

 Recognize, understand and respect sociocultural, international and cognitive diversity, especially in regard to its impact on psychology

Professional Behavior

- Analyze personal issues and questions by applying psychological and ethical principles.
- Demonstrate an understanding of the ethical issues that frame the practice of psychology.

Scholarship

- Demonstrate an understanding of the major theories, empirical findings, and historical and current trends within the field of psychology.
- Read analytically, write clearly, using the APA Style Manual, and speak articulately about the study of psychology.
- Critically and creatively evaluate psychological concepts and research.
- Acquire information through library research with the use of computer search engines and information databases.
- Design research projects using quantitative, qualitative and mixed research methods.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Admission to the BA Psychology program is open to any person who meets entrance requirements as outlined below. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to successfully complete an undergraduate degree program. Generally, a high school cumulative GPA of a 2.3 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission. However, applicants with a cumulative high school GPA below 2.3 or applicants seeking admission with a GED will be considered for admission with the submission of additional required documents. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all undergraduate schools where credit was received (and no degree was earned) to support their application and request for transfer credit. (See Undergraduate Transfer Credit Policy). The Chicago School does not accept transfer credit for BA300 Foundations of Psychology, BA340 Research Methods, BA380 Statistics, and BA400 Capstone.

Factors and materials to be considered for admission will include:

- Completed application and \$50 application fee
- Applicants must provide proof of the qualifying conferral high school graduation (or the equivalent) or
 proof of an earned Associate degree. Information about acceptable proof of qualifying conferral can be found
 here

Applicants with a cumulative high-school or undergraduate GPA below 2.3 and applicants seeking admission with high school equivalency documentation that does not show a GPA (such as GED, home school, or testing) are required to submit additional documentation.

- Curriculum Vitae/ Resume
- One Letter of recommendation (optional)
- Essay of intent
- Please compose a written essay to answer the questions below. Your essay should be typed, double-spaced, and three pages (approximately 500-750 words) while clearly addressing the program for which you are applying.
- Psychology is a vast discipline with many career options:
 - Why are you interested in this particular program to earn your undergraduate degree in psychology? Cite specific experiences and examples.
 - O What are your professional career goals as they relate to this degree? Why do you believe this program will assist you in reaching these goals?
 - O Why is it important to you to study this discipline at a school that emphasizes cultural awareness, competence, and understanding of diversity (see our Commitment to Diversity Statement)?
 - o If you are a first generation undergraduate degree student, please integrate this into your essay.
- SAT/ACT scores are not required for admission, however applicants who have taken the SAT/ACT may submit their scores to enhance their application.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission, in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$100 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Articulation Agreements

The Chicago School has established agreements between the BA Psychology program and the programs listed below to allow qualified students to enroll in master's level courses while completing their bachelor's degree that will then count toward the master's degree. Click on the link of the program that interests you for details.

- Early Acceptance into EdS School Psychology
- Early Acceptance into Master of Public Health
- Early Acceptance into MA Applied Behavior Analysis
- Early Acceptance into MA Behavioral Economics
- Early Acceptance into MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling
- Early Acceptance into MA Counseling Psychology
- Early Acceptance into MA Forensic Psychology (Non-Licensure Track)
- Early Acceptance into MA Forensic Psychology (Licensure Track)
- Early Acceptance into MA Industrial and Organizational Psychology
- Early Acceptance into MA International Psychology
- Early Acceptance into MA Marriage, Couples, and Family Therapy
- Early Acceptance into MA Organizational Leadership
- Early Acceptance into MA Psychology
- Early Acceptance into MS Applied Behavior Analysis

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver.

Pathways to Success

Students must enroll in and successfully pass BA305 Pathways to Success in their first term in the BA program. Students who do not pass the seminar will be re-enrolled every term until they earn a Satisfactory grade (pass).

Psychology Major Capstone

The BA 400 Capstone Course is designed to allow students the opportunity to integrate and apply learning from their undergraduate courses into a comprehensive presentation. The Capstone Course is an independent study project that consists of a formal research project, intended to demonstrate skill in research and critical thinking. The project is composed of a detailed research question and a literature review component. Students are encouraged to design projects that prepare them to achieve their next goal, whether academic or professional. While no actual data is generated or data analyzed, the project is intended to incorporate and expand upon the depth of knowledge gained from previous years of study, and the student's personal educational and professional interest.

Ethical Guidelines

Students are expected to learn and to follow the ethical guidelines of the American Psychological Association, APA's current Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct for Psychologists during and after their work at The Chicago School, as well as the professional norms, standards, and guidelines relevant to the profession. A class in ethics is required, and student adherence to ethical codes is evaluated both formally and informally.

The Curriculum

Psychology Major (must equal at least 45 credit hours)

- Psychology Major Required Core: 33 credit hours
- Psychology Major Upper Division Required Electives: minimum 12 credit hours

Upper Division General Electives: 15 credit hours students may fill general electives with courses from any undergraduate program where a student has met the necessary pre-requisites. Course lists can be found on each program's Program of Study page in the academic catalog. A list of programs The Chicago School offers can be found here.

Lower Division General Electives: 16 credit hours (students having completed 48 credit hours of lower division courses may substitute upper division general electives for lower division general electives with advisor approval).

General Education

Required General Education: 44 credit hours

Optional Minors (replaces 15 credit hours of General Elective requirements, including at least 6 Upper Division)

- Health Science (15 credit hours, 6 credit hours must be Upper Division)
- Addiction Studies Minor (15 credit hours, must take BA350AS and BA417AS)
- Applied Behavior Analysis Minor (24 credit hours, replaces 3 additional credit hours of required major upper division electives, must take BA427 or BA455)

B.A. Psychology total program: 120 credit hours

General Education for Baccalaureate Programs

Overview

The Chicago School's bachelor's programs share a common core of 44 credit hours of general education requirements, including a capstone experience. The coursework is designed to meet general education requirements in all 50 states and the District of Columbia while providing the groundwork for success in the following years of study of the Bachelor's Degree.

General Education Courses are all delivered in online format.

General Education Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of the general education coursework, students will be able to:

Professional Practice

Interact and collaborate with others effectively

Diversity

• Demonstrate knowledge of individual and cultural difference with consideration for domestic and transnational diversity in a manner that promotes inclusion and understanding.

Professional Behavior

 Assess their own ethical values and the social context of problems, recognize ethical issues in a variety of settings, applying differing ethical perspectives to dilemmas, and consider the ramifications of alternative actions.

Scholarship

- Demonstrate basic knowledge of the fundamental theories and principles of their major (and chosen minor, if applicable) area of study.
- Deliver well organized oral and written presentations that include a central message with logical themes, using language and terminology appropriate to the topic and audience.
- Craft logical evidence-based arguments leading to solutions of practical problems.
- Acquire and utilize information through library research with the use of computer search engines and information databases, evaluate the reliability of the source, and identify peer-reviewed and scholarly sources.
- Apply quantitative (mathematical) reasoning to solving practical problems.

General Education Capstone

The <u>CAP 200 Introduction to Research Methods</u> course serves as an introduction to various research methodologies and techniques. This course helps set a foundation for students to apply learned knowledge of research approaches in future program of study courses, the workforce, and their communities at large. During the course, students will demonstrate their knowledge by completing a research proposal signature assignment. All undergraduate students will complete this course except for those who transfer into the institution with an earned associate degree from an accredited institution.

General Education Required Core (44 Credit Hours)

Students residing in Louisiana are required to complete 9 credit hours of Life and Physical Science to meet graduation requirements.

Writing and Communication (9 Credit Hours)

- ENG 100 English Composition I (3 credit hours)
- ENG 105 Introduction to Communication (3 credit hours)
- ENG 200 English Composition II (3 credit hours)

Humanities and Fine Arts (9 Credit Hours)

- FNA 100 Art and Culture (3 credit hours)
- FNA 101 Music and Culture (3 credit hours)
- FNA 102 Introduction to Literature (3 credit hours)
- HUM 100 Understanding the Human Condition (3 credit hours)
- HUM 101 Sexuality and Gender Roles from a Humanities Perspective (3 credit hours)
- HUM 102 Humanities and Language (3 credit hours)
- HUM 104 Introduction to Logic (3 credit hours)

Mathematics (6 Credit Hours)

MATH 107 is required for BS Business Psychology and BS Healthcare Management students.

- MATH 100 Basic College Mathematics (3 credit hours)
- MATH 103 General Mathematics (3 credit hours)
- MATH 107 College Algebra (3 credit hours)

Physical and Life Sciences (8 Credit Hours)

Students are required to take at least one Life Science and one Physical Science course.

If a student resides in Louisiana, they are required to complete 9 credit hours of Life and Physical Science coursework to meet general education requirements.

PLS 100 is required for BS Business Psychology students.

- PLS 100 Introduction to Biology + Lab (4 credit hours)
- PLS 200 Biology II + Lab (4 credit hours)
- PLS 240 Physical Science I + Lab (4 credit hours)

Social and Behavioral Sciences (9 Credit Hours)

If a student resides in Arkansas, one of the three courses is required to be completed in US History or US Government.

BS Business Psychology students must take SBS100 Introduction to Psychology

- SBS 100 Introduction to Psychology (3 credit hours)
- SBS 101 Introduction to Sociology (3 credit hours)
- SBS 103 Social Justice and Psychology (3 credit hours)
- SBS 108 American Government (3 credit hours)

Capstone (3 Credit Hours)

CAP 200 - Introduction to Research Methods (3 credit hours)

Psychology Major Required Core (33 credit hours)

- BA 300 Fundamentals of Psychology (3 credit hours)
- BA 305 Pathways to Success (3 credit hours)
- BA 310 Philosophical Grounding in Ethics (3 credit hours)
- BA 320 Developmental Psychology (3 credit hours)
- BA 330 Behavioral Psychology (3 credit hours)
- BA 340 Research Methods (3 credit hours)
- BA 350 Abnormal Psychology (3 credit hours)
- BA 360 Neuropsychology (3 credit hours)
- BA 360AS Neuropsychology for Addiction Studies (3 credit hours)
 *this course is required for Addiction Studies Minors
- BA 370 Educational Psychology (3 credit hours)
- BA 380 Statistics (3 credit hours)
- BA 400 Capstone Course (3 credit hours)

Psychology Major Upper Division Electives (minimum 12 credit hours)

May also be used as Upper Division General Electives.

- BA 405 Transformational Leadership (3 credit hours)
- BA 406 The Psychology of Business Management (3 credit hours)
- BA 407 Cross-Cultural Leadership (3 credit hours)
- BA 408 Team Process Facilitation (3 credit hours)
- BA 409 Psychology in an International Context (3 credit hours)
- BA 415 Social Work and Social Problems (3 credit hours)
- BA 416 Social Welfare Policy and Provisions (3 credit hours)
- BA 417 Social Work Practice, Ethics, and Issues (3 credit hours)
- BA 417AS Social Work Practice, Ethics, and Issues for Addiction Studies (3 credit hours)
 *this course is required for Addiction Studies Minor students
- BA 418 Social Work and a Global Perspective (3 credit hours)
- BA 425 Theories of Personality (3 credit hours)
 *this elective course is required for Addiction Studies Minor students in: IN
- BA 426 Abnormal Child and Adolescent Psychology (3 credit hours)

- BA 427 Learning and Cognition in Children and Adolescents (3 credit hours)
 *Applied Behavior Analysis Minor students must take either this course or BA455.
- BA 428 Training and Development with Exceptional Children (3 credit hours)
- BA 435 Organizational Development (3 credit hours)
- BA 436 Workplace Motivation and Satisfaction (3 credit hours)
- BA 437 Models of Leadership and Leadership Development (3 credit hours)
- BA 438 Human Resource Development and Management (3 credit hours)
- BA 445 International Negotiation and Conflict Resolution (3 credit hours)
- BA 446 Social Psychology and Culture (3 credit hours)
 - *this elective course is required for Addiction Studies Minor students in: AZ, CA, CT, FL, MT, NE, NY, ND, OR, SD, WA, D.C.
- BA 447 Cultural Impact of Assimilation and Acculturation (3 credit hours)
- BA 448 Managing a Globally Diverse Organization (3 credit hours)
- BA 449 Co-Occurring Disorders (3 credit hours)
 *this elective course is required for Addiction Studies Minor students in: AZ, CA, FL, IL, IN, KS, MD, MT, NY, OK, OR, SD, WY, D.C.
- BA 450 Special Topics in Psychology (1 credit hour)
- BA 451 Special Topics in Psychology (2 credit hours)
- BA 452 Special Topics in Psychology (3 credit hours)
- BA 455 Introduction to Applied Behavior Analysis (3 credit hours)
 *Applied Behavior Analysis Minor students must take either this course or BA427.
- BA 460 Cultural Behavior Change (3 credit hours)

Lower Division Electives

- PLS 200 Biology II + Lab (4 credit hours)
- PLS 210 Medical Terminology (3 credit hours)
- PLS 230 Healthcare Policy (3 credit hours)
- PLS 235 Anatomy and Physiology + Lab (4 credit hours)
- PLS 245 Physical Science II + Lab (4 credit hours)

Optional Health Science Minor (15 credit hours)*

*This minor is only offered to Online Students.

Students take 15 credit hours from this list, at least 6 credit hours must be Upper Division from the Health Science Minor (300 or 400 level).

Health Science Minor Lower Division (may also be taken as Lower Division General Electives)

- PLS 210 Medical Terminology (3 credit hours)
- PLS 230 Healthcare Policy (3 credit hours)
- PLS 235 Anatomy and Physiology + Lab (4 credit hours)
- PLS 240 Physical Science I + Lab (4 credit hours)
- PLS 245 Physical Science II + Lab (4 credit hours)
 Health Science Minor Upper Division (may also be taken as Upper Division General Electives)
- PLS 300 Human Physiology + Lab (4 credit hours)
- NURS 320 Nursing Informatics (3 credit hours)
- PLS 305 Cell and Molecular Biology (3 credit hours)
- PLS 310 Pathophysiology (3 credit hours)

PLS 315 - Kinesiology (3 credit hours)

Optional Addiction Studies Minor (21 credit hours)*

* This minor is only offered to Chicago, Online and Los Angeles Campuses students

Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

Students completing coursework for licensure may have state specific coursework requirements.

All Addiction Studies Minor students must complete BA360AS as a part of the Core Psychology courses and BA417AS as a part of the Psychology Electives. Addiction Studies Minor courses must be passed with a grade of C or higher, which includes any course with the "AS" prefix or suffix and BA 350 Abnormal Psychology. Students earning a grade below C will be required to retake the course.

The 6 credit hour practicum sequence replaces 6 credits of Upper Division General Electives to meet degree completion requirements

- AS 400 Alcohol and Other Drugs in Our Society: Introduction to Chemical Dependency (3 credit hours)
- AS 405 Signs and Symptoms of Substance Abuse: Education, Prevention, Intervention, Treatment and Recovery (3 credit hours)
- AS 410 Case management, Crisis Intervention, and Referrals (3 credit hours)
- AS 415 Group & Family Dynamics in Addiction Counseling (3 credit hours)
- AS 420 Basic Counseling Skills in Addiction Studies and Treatment (3 credit hours)
 Online Practicum
- AS 450 Addiction Studies Practicum I: Field Instruction and Seminar A (1.5 credit hours)
- AS 451 Addiction Studies Practicum I: Field Instruction and Seminar B (1.5 credit hours)
- AS 452 Addiction Studies Practicum II: Field Instruction and Seminar A (1.5 credit hours)
- AS 453 Addiction Studies Practicum II: Field Instruction and Seminar B (1.5 credit hours)
 Optional Course for Online Students
- AS 490 Special Topics in Addiction Studies, Independent Study Option (1.5 credit hours)
 On-Ground Practicum
- AS 460 Addiction Studies Practicum I: Field Instruction and Seminar (3 credit hours)
- AS 461 Addiction Studies Practicum II: Field Instruction and Seminar (3 credit hours)

Optional Applied Behavior Analysis Minor (24 credit hours)

All Applied Behavior Analysis Minor students must complete BA427 or BA455 as a part of the Psychology Major Upper Division Electives. Three additional units of credit hours taken in the ABA Minor replaces required Major Upper Division Electives to meet degree requirements.

- BBA 400 Principles of Behavior Analysis (3 credit hours) (course fee \$98.75, online only)
- BBA 405 Ethical Application of Applied Behavior Analysis (3 credit hours) (course fee \$98.75, online only)
- BBA 410 Measurement and Evaluation (3 credit hours) (course fee \$98.75, online only)
- BBA 415 Learning and Behavior (3 credit hours)
- BBA 420 Functional Assessment (3 credit hours) (course fee \$98.75, online only)
- BBA 425 Technologies in Applied Behavior Analysis I (3 credit hours)
- BBA 430 Technologies in Applied Behavior Analysis II (2 credit hours)

- BA 450 Special Topics in Psychology (1 credit hour)
 Students will take either BA427 or BA455:
- BA 427 Learning and Cognition in Children and Adolescents (3 credit hours)
- BA 455 Introduction to Applied Behavior Analysis (3 credit hours)

Bachelor of Science

BS Business Psychology

Online

Program Overview

The BS Business Psychology program prepares students for a career in business, applying psychological principles to create lasting solutions to tough problems and unlock an organization's potential. Graduates will be prepared to use their education to further their professional careers in various settings through the program's three distinctive tracks in Industrial/Organizational Psychology, Organizational Leadership, or Behavioral Economics, earning graduate program credit while completing their BS Business Psychology degree.

Students in their final year will choose one of three tracks of master's level program coursework, which will count for 15 credits toward the BS Business Psychology Program, as well as toward the related MA program. Students completing the graduate courses while enrolled in the BS Business Psychology program will also earn the graduate certificate related to their chosen track;

- Industrial/Organizational Psychology
- Organizational Leadership
- Behavioral Economics.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Synthesize relevant psychological research into strategies for addressing complex workplace problems.
- Collaborate effectively and fulfill various leadership functions in a team environment, to include managing projects and supporting the development of practical workplace solutions.
- Apply business and human resource management principles to maintain the operations of an organization.
- Analyze data typically collected in the measurement of organizational behavior and workforce dynamics.

Diversity

• Advocate for diversity, equity, and inclusion when developing workforce initiatives.

Professional Behavior

- Make ethical decisions in the application of psychological principles to workforce initiatives.
- Communicate effectively in oral presentations and written reports, translating scientific research and statistical findings to both professional and layperson audiences.

Scholarship

- Search scientific literature to identify foundational psychological principles and theories.
- Analyze statistical data and apply logical reasoning to explain human, organizational, and workforce behaviors.

Admission Requirements

Admission to the BS Business Psychology program is open to any person who meets entrance requirements as outlined below. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to successfully complete an undergraduate degree program. Generally, a high school cumulative GPA of a 2.3 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all undergraduate schools where credit was received (and no degree was earned) to support their application and request for transfer credit. (See Undergraduate Transfer and Nontraditional Credit Hours Policy). The Chicago School does not accept transfer credit for BA300 Foundations of Psychology, BA340 Research Methods, BA380 Statistics, BA448 Managing a Globally Diverse Organization and BUS305 Pathways to Success. Factors and materials to be considered for admission will include:

- Application Fee (\$50)
- Applicants must provide proof of the qualifying conferral high school graduation (or the equivalent) or proof of an earned Associate degree. Information about acceptable proof of qualifying conferral can be found here.
- Curriculum Vitae/ Resume
- One Letter of recommendation (optional)
- Essay of intent
- SAT/ACT scores are not required for admission, however applicants who have taken the SAT/ACT may submit their scores to enhance their application.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission, in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$100 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver.

The Curriculum

Business Psychology Major: 55 Credit hours

General Education: 44 Credit Hours

- Students entering with an A.A.S. or A.A. degree may have this requirement waived
- Total number of general education credits to be completed at The Chicago School depends on transfer credit as evaluated per The Chicago School transfer credit policy
- All BS Business Psychology students must complete SBS 100 Introduction to Pychology, MATH 107 Algebra, and PLS 100 Introduction to Biology with Lab or their equivalent.

Specilized Track: 21 Credit Hours

- Industrial/Organizational Psychology
- Organizational Leadership
- Behavioral Economics

Program Total: 120 credit hours

General Education for Baccalaureate Programs

Overview

The Chicago School's bachelor's programs share a common core of 44 credit hours of general education requirements, including a capstone experience. The coursework is designed to meet general education requirements in all 50 states and the District of Columbia while providing the groundwork for success in the following years of study of the Bachelor's Degree.

General Education Courses are all delivered in online format.

General Education Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of the general education coursework, students will be able to:

Professional Practice

• Interact and collaborate with others effectively

Diversity

• Demonstrate knowledge of individual and cultural difference with consideration for domestic and transnational diversity in a manner that promotes inclusion and understanding.

Professional Behavior

 Assess their own ethical values and the social context of problems, recognize ethical issues in a variety of settings, applying differing ethical perspectives to dilemmas, and consider the ramifications of alternative actions.

Scholarship

- Demonstrate basic knowledge of the fundamental theories and principles of their major (and chosen minor, if applicable) area of study.
- Deliver well organized oral and written presentations that include a central message with logical themes, using language and terminology appropriate to the topic and audience.
- Craft logical evidence-based arguments leading to solutions of practical problems.
- Acquire and utilize information through library research with the use of computer search engines and
 information databases, evaluate the reliability of the source, and identify peer-reviewed and scholarly
 sources.
- Apply quantitative (mathematical) reasoning to solving practical problems.

General Education Capstone

The <u>CAP 200 Introduction to Research Methods</u> course serves as an introduction to various research methodologies and techniques. This course helps set a foundation for students to apply learned knowledge of research approaches in future program of study courses, the workforce, and their communities at large. During the course, students will

demonstrate their knowledge by completing a research proposal signature assignment. All undergraduate students will complete this course except for those who transfer into the institution with an earned associate degree from an accredited institution.

General Education Required Core (44 Credit Hours)

Students residing in Louisiana are required to complete 9 credit hours of Life and Physical Science to meet graduation requirements.

Writing and Communication (9 Credit Hours)

- ENG 100 English Composition I (3 credit hours)
- ENG 105 Introduction to Communication (3 credit hours)
- ENG 200 English Composition II (3 credit hours)

Humanities and Fine Arts (9 Credit Hours)

- FNA 100 Art and Culture (3 credit hours)
- FNA 101 Music and Culture (3 credit hours)
- FNA 102 Introduction to Literature (3 credit hours)
- HUM 100 Understanding the Human Condition (3 credit hours)
- HUM 101 Sexuality and Gender Roles from a Humanities Perspective (3 credit hours)
- HUM 102 Humanities and Language (3 credit hours)
- HUM 104 Introduction to Logic (3 credit hours)

Mathematics (6 Credit Hours)

MATH 107 is required for BS Business Psychology and BS Healthcare Management students.

- MATH 100 Basic College Mathematics (3 credit hours)
- MATH 103 General Mathematics (3 credit hours)
- MATH 107 College Algebra (3 credit hours)

Physical and Life Sciences (8 Credit Hours)

Students are required to take at least one Life Science and one Physical Science course.

If a student resides in Louisiana, they are required to complete 9 credit hours of Life and Physical Science coursework to meet general education requirements.

PLS 100 is required for BS Business Psychology students.

- PLS 100 Introduction to Biology + Lab (4 credit hours)
- PLS 200 Biology II + Lab (4 credit hours)
- PLS 240 Physical Science I + Lab (4 credit hours)

Social and Behavioral Sciences (9 Credit Hours)

If a student resides in Arkansas, one of the three courses is required to be completed in US History or US Government.

BS Business Psychology students must take SBS100 Introduction to Psychology

- SBS 100 Introduction to Psychology (3 credit hours)
- SBS 101 Introduction to Sociology (3 credit hours)
- SBS 103 Social Justice and Psychology (3 credit hours)
- SBS 108 American Government (3 credit hours)

Capstone (3 Credit Hours)

• CAP 200 - Introduction to Research Methods (3 credit hours)

Business Psychology Major (55 Credit Hours)

- BA 300 Fundamentals of Psychology (3 credit hours)
- BA 310 Philosophical Grounding in Ethics (3 credit hours)
- BA 330 Behavioral Psychology (3 credit hours)
- BA 340 Research Methods (3 credit hours)
- BA 380 Statistics (3 credit hours)
- BA 406 The Psychology of Business Management (3 credit hours)
- BA 407 Cross-Cultural Leadership (3 credit hours)
- BA 408 Team Process Facilitation (3 credit hours)
- BA 425 Theories of Personality (3 credit hours)
- BA 435 Organizational Development (3 credit hours)
- BA 438 Human Resource Development and Management (3 credit hours)
- BA 448 Managing a Globally Diverse Organization (3 credit hours)
- BUS 100 Introduction to Finance (3 credit hours)
- BUS 105 Accounting 1 (3 credit hours)
- BUS 106 Principles of Business Operations (3 credit hours)
- BUS 316 Business Intelligence (3 credit hours)
- BUS 317 Introduction to Industrial/Organizational Psychology (3 credit hours)
- SBS 102 Psychology Lab (1 credit hour)
- BUS 305 Pathways to Success (3 credit hours)

Industrial Organizational Psychology Track (21 Credit Hours)

Courses with the IO prefix are graduate level courses and may be also applied toward the MA Industrial/Organizational Psychology program providing the student meets the admission requirements for that program. Students successfully completing the Industrial/Organizational Psychology Track may petition for conferral of the Industrial and Organizational Psychology Generalist Certificate upon completion of IO 510 Organizational Behavior and any two of the remaining courses with the IO prefix.

- BA 370 Educational Psychology (3 credit hours)
- BA 436 Workplace Motivation and Satisfaction (3 credit hours)

- IO 525 Organizational Leadership (3 credit hours) (course fee \$45)
- IO 510 Organizational Behavior (3 credit hours)(course fee \$92)
- IO 511 Organizational Culture and Design (3 credit hours)
- IO 522 Performance Appraisal (3 credit hours)
- IO 523 Job Analysis and Employee Selection (3 credit hours)

Organizational Leadership Track (21 Credit Hours)

Courses with the IO and MP prefixes are graduate level courses and may be also applied toward the MA Organizational Leadership program providing the student meets the admission requirements for that program. Students successfully completing the Industrial/Organizational Psychology Track may petition for conferral of the Certificate in Organizational Leadership upon completion of IO 525 Organizational Leadership and any two of the remaining courses with the IO or MP prefix.

- BA 405 Transformational Leadership (3 credit hours)
- BA 437 Models of Leadership and Leadership Development (3 credit hours)
- IO 578 Beyond Compliance: Building Ethical Organizations (3 credit hours)
- IO 555 Work Team Dynamics (3 credit hours)
- IO 525 Organizational Leadership (3 credit hours) (course fee \$45)
- IO 510 Organizational Behavior (3 credit hours)(course fee \$92)
- MP 553 Emotional Intelligence and Leadership (3 credit hours)

Behavioral Economics Track (21 Credit Hours)

Courses with the IO and BE prefixes are graduate level courses and may be also applied toward the MA Behavioral Economics program providing the student meets the admission requirements for that program. Students successfully completing the Industrial/Organizational Psychology Track may petition for conferral of the Certificate in Behavioral Economics s upon completion of BE 505 Fundamentals of Behavioral Economics and any two of the remaining courses with the IO or BE prefix.

- BA 360 Neuropsychology (3 credit hours)
- BA 446 Social Psychology and Culture (3 credit hours)
- BE 505 Fundamentals of Behavioral Economics (3 credit hours)
- BE 510 Brain and Behavior (3 credit hours)
- BE 515 Social Cognition and Information Processing (3 credit hours)
- BE 520 Choice Architecture (3 credit hours)
- IO 561 Consumer Motivation (3 credit hours)

BS Healthcare Management

Online

Program Overview

The BS in Healthcare Management (BS HCM) program helps prepare students to work in a multitude of varying health professions as entry-level managers and leaders. Additionally, this degree will prepare students academically to sit for the credentialing examination to become a certified case manager by the Commission for Case Manager Certification. The "4+1" degree incorporates 18 credits of the Master of Health Services Administration program into the senior year

of the BS curriculum. Students who meet the admission criteria for the Master of Health Services Administration program will be eligible to apply and complete the remaining degree completion requirements to earn their MHSA degree. Students who meet the the admission criteria for the Master of Public Health program will also have the option to continue with 9 credit hours completed toward the MPH degree.

Program Learning Outcomes

Professional Practice

- Acquire knowledge about the correlates to crime are and how to exhibit those in statistics and data methodology.
- Demonstrate knowledge in the field of criminology and the process of adult and juvenile offenders.

Diversity

 Students will be able to apply the knowledge on diversity factors that are related to race, ethnicity, gender, socioeconomic status, age, religious belief, and ability, to recognize injustices within the criminal justice system.

Professional Behavior

- Students will be able to employ ethical perspectives and judgments in applying ethical standards related to the application of criminal justice science.
- Incorporate and demonstrate strategies/solutions regarding the criminal justice system learned in the program
 through oral presentations and written work.

Scholarship

Apply the principles of criminology research to the field of criminal justice and forensic
psychology. Students will critically evaluate issues that arise in the criminal and juvenile justice system and
discuss possible solutions.

Admission Requirements

The Chicago School is not currently enrolling new students in this program.

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Admission to the BS Healthcare Management program is open to any person who meets entrance requirements as outlined below. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to successfully complete an undergraduate degree program. Generally, a high school cumulative GPA of a 2.3 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission.

- Application Fee (\$50)
- Proof of the qualifying conferral high school graduation (or the equivalent) or proof of an earned Associate degree (as below). Information about acceptable proof of qualifying conferral can be found here.
- Admission Essay (if incoming is GPA below 2.3)

Applicants to the BS Healthcare Management program who have earned an Associate of Arts (AA) Degree, an Associate of Science (AS) Degree, or an Associate of Applied Science (AAS) Degree from a regionally accredited institution in the following, but not limited to: Human Services, Public Health, Social Work, Medical Office Management, Human Resource Management or related field, Allied Health to include Emergency Medical Technician, Physical Therapy Assistant, Respiratory Therapist, Pharmacy Technician, Psychiatric Technician, Radiology/X-Ray Technician, Surgical Technician, or related field, or an Associate's Applied Science Nursing (ADN) will receive "block transfer" of all credits in that degree toward the BS in Healthcare Mangement. The evaluation of degrees transfer credit for this purpose is subject to The Chicago School's Transfer Credit Policy.

Students will be required to take all the courses in the major unless they receive transfer credit for a specific course (e.g., Social Problems); total credits must be at least 120 for graduation.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission, in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$100 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver.

The Curriculum

Healthcare Management Major: 66 credit hours* inlcudes MATH107 (3 credit hours)

General Education: 44 credit hours* includes MATH107 (3 credit hours)

- Students entring with an A.A. or A.A. degree may have this requirement waived
- Total number of general education credits to be completed at The Chicago School depends on transfer credit
 as evaluated per The Chicago School transfer credit policy

General Electives: 13 credit hours

- Students may fulfill general elective requirements with any course from a bachelor's degree program if they
 meet the pre-requistes for that course.
- Total number of elected credits to be completed at The Chicago School depends on transfer credit as evaluated per The Chicago School transfer credit policy

Program Total: 120 credit hours

General Education for Baccalaureate Programs

Overview

The Chicago School's bachelor's programs share a common core of 44 credit hours of general education requirements, including a capstone experience. The coursework is designed to meet general education requirements in all 50 states and the District of Columbia while providing the groundwork for success in the following years of study of the Bachelor's Degree.

General Education Courses are all delivered in online format.

General Education Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of the general education coursework, students will be able to:

Professional Practice

• Interact and collaborate with others effectively

Diversity

• Demonstrate knowledge of individual and cultural difference with consideration for domestic and transnational diversity in a manner that promotes inclusion and understanding.

Professional Behavior

 Assess their own ethical values and the social context of problems, recognize ethical issues in a variety of settings, applying differing ethical perspectives to dilemmas, and consider the ramifications of alternative actions.

Scholarship

- Demonstrate basic knowledge of the fundamental theories and principles of their major (and chosen minor, if applicable) area of study.
- Deliver well organized oral and written presentations that include a central message with logical themes, using language and terminology appropriate to the topic and audience.
- Craft logical evidence-based arguments leading to solutions of practical problems.
- Acquire and utilize information through library research with the use of computer search engines and information databases, evaluate the reliability of the source, and identify peer-reviewed and scholarly sources.
- Apply quantitative (mathematical) reasoning to solving practical problems.

General Education Capstone

The <u>CAP 200 Introduction to Research Methods</u> course serves as an introduction to various research methodologies and techniques. This course helps set a foundation for students to apply learned knowledge of research approaches in future program of study courses, the workforce, and their communities at large. During the course, students will demonstrate their knowledge by completing a research proposal signature assignment. All undergraduate students will complete this course except for those who transfer into the institution with an earned associate degree from an accredited institution.

General Education Required Core (44 Credit Hours)

Students residing in Louisiana are required to complete 9 credit hours of Life and Physical Science to meet graduation requirements.

Writing and Communication (9 Credit Hours)

- ENG 100 English Composition I (3 credit hours)
- ENG 105 Introduction to Communication (3 credit hours)
- ENG 200 English Composition II (3 credit hours)

Humanities and Fine Arts (9 Credit Hours)

- FNA 100 Art and Culture (3 credit hours)
- FNA 101 Music and Culture (3 credit hours)
- FNA 102 Introduction to Literature (3 credit hours)
- HUM 100 Understanding the Human Condition (3 credit hours)
- HUM 101 Sexuality and Gender Roles from a Humanities Perspective (3 credit hours)
- HUM 102 Humanities and Language (3 credit hours)
- HUM 104 Introduction to Logic (3 credit hours)

Mathematics (6 Credit Hours)

MATH 107 is required for BS Business Psychology and BS Healthcare Management students.

- MATH 100 Basic College Mathematics (3 credit hours)
- MATH 103 General Mathematics (3 credit hours)
- MATH 107 College Algebra (3 credit hours)

Physical and Life Sciences (8 Credit Hours)

Students are required to take at least one Life Science and one Physical Science course.

If a student resides in Louisiana, they are required to complete 9 credit hours of Life and Physical Science coursework to meet general education requirements.

PLS 100 is required for BS Business Psychology students.

- PLS 100 Introduction to Biology + Lab (4 credit hours)
- PLS 200 Biology II + Lab (4 credit hours)
- PLS 240 Physical Science I + Lab (4 credit hours)

Social and Behavioral Sciences (9 Credit Hours)

If a student resides in Arkansas, one of the three courses is required to be completed in US History or US Government.

BS Business Psychology students must take SBS100 Introduction to Psychology

- SBS 100 Introduction to Psychology (3 credit hours)
- SBS 101 Introduction to Sociology (3 credit hours)
- SBS 103 Social Justice and Psychology (3 credit hours)
- SBS 108 American Government (3 credit hours)

Capstone (3 Credit Hours)

• CAP 200 - Introduction to Research Methods (3 credit hours)

Healthcare Management Major Required Core (63 Credit Hours)

BUS 100 - Introduction to Finance (3 credit hours)

- BUS 105 Accounting 1 (3 credit hours)
- BUS 120 Principles of Management (3 credit hours)
- BA 340 Research Methods (3 credit hours)
- HCM 315 Reimbursement Methods in Healthcare Delivery (3 credit hours)
- HCM 325 Quality and Outcomes Evaluation and Measurement (3 credit hours)
- HCM 320 Rehabilitation Concepts and Strategies (3 credit hours)
- HCM 305 Medical and Technical Writing (3 credit hours)
- HCM 310 Communication in the Context of Patient Care Management (3 credit hours)
- HCM 410 Culture Centered Care (3 credit hours)
- HCM 405 Physical, Psychosocial, and Vocational Well Being (3 credit hours)
- NURS 410 Introduction to Case Management (3 credit hours)
- HCM 307 Pathways to Success (3 credit hours)
- BA 417 Social Work Practice, Ethics, and Issues (3 credit hours)
- HS 500 Health Services Administration (3 credit hours)
- HS 505 Healthcare Law and Ethics (or PH507) (3 credit hours)
- HS 515 Evidence-Based Practice (3 credit hours)
- HS 520 Economics and Policy in Healthcare (3 credit hours)
- HS 525 Healthcare Access and Payment Systems (3 credit hours)
- HS 530 Leadership and Communication in Health Services (3 credit hours)
- HCM 400 Interdisciplinary Capstone (3 credit hours)

BS Nursing (RN-BSN)

Online

Program Overview

The Bachelor of Science in Nursing RN to BSN Program is a 120 credit-hour program of study leading to a Bachelor of Science Degree in Nursing (BSN). Up to 72 credit hours can be transferred. 60 of these credits may be transferred in as an Associate's Degree. The program design focuses on transiting RNs to Professional Registered Nurses by learning advanced concepts such as health promotion, disease prevention, evidence-based practice, research methodologies, nursing informatics, nursing leadership, patient advocacy, policy development, and community/public health nursing.

The exclusively online program is designed to accommodate those who seek to complete their degree while effectively maintaining both their professional and personal commitments.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice:

Practice professional nursing in designing, managing, and coordinating patient care, within the context of
culturally congruent, theory-based, competent, ethical, and holistic patient-centered care.

- Apply competencies of leadership and management to provide safe, culturally congruent, ethical, and holistic
 patient-centered care.
- Improve the health of individuals, groups, aggregates, communities, and populations across the lifespan by utilizing health promotion and disease prevention strategies.
- Provide holistic care to individuals, families, or groups with common, acute or chronic mental health problems.

Diversity:

 Engage self in existing or proposed health policy and legislation that impact nursing and health care at the local, state, national, and international level.

Professional Behavior:

- Utilize patient care information technology to communicate and collaborate with inter-professional team members to deliver culturally-congruent, competent, ethical, and holistic patient-center care.
- Examine ethical decision-making by meeting ethical obligations of professional nurses' roles as members of a profession, providers of care, and designers and managers of care.

Scholarship:

 Use theory-based and evidence-based practice to provide culturally congruent, ethical, and holistic patientcentered care.

Admission Requirements

The Chicago School is not currently enrolling new students in this program.

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to the BSN program is open to any nurse who has earned an associate's degree or diploma in nursing from a regionally accredited nursing program, holds an active Registered Nursing License (RN) in good standing, and who meets The Chicago School general admission entrance requirements.

Students may request transfer credit for up to 72 credits of undergraduate coursework. Up to 60 credit hours of coursework already completed as part of an Associate Degree in Nursing will be accepted without course-by-course transfer credit evaluation. Coursework beyond or in addition to a completed ADN, or coursework related to a Diploma in Nursing will be subject to course-by-course evaluation for transfer credit. This is a completion program and is not open to students who have not completed undergraduate coursework in preparation for licensure as registered nurses. 120 total credit hours, including transfer credits, are required for the conferral of the BSN degree. Additional requirements:

- Proof of licensure as a Registered Nurse in Good Standing
- Completed application form
- Application fee of \$50
- Official transcripts from all post-secondary schools attended for which transfer credit is desired
- Cumulative GPA for transferring credits of 2.0 or above on a 4.0 scale
- Current resume
- Statement of professional goals

• Two (2) letters of professional reference

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Capstone

Students must successfully complete the Capstone course to graduate. The Capstone course is an opportunity to display learned knowledge, skills, and competencies learned throughout the program and apply them to a real-life scenario.

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

The Curriculum

Nursing Core Courses

Total Required Nursing Core Courses: 29 credit hours

- NURS 305 Transition to Professional Nursing (3 credit hours)
- NURS 310 Health Assessment and Promotion Across the Lifespan (4 credit hours)
- NURS 315 Concepts of Nursing Theory and Research (4 credit hours)
- NURS 320 Nursing Informatics (3 credit hours)
- NURS 325 Ethical Issues and National and Global Health Policy (4 credit hours)
- NURS 330 Nursing Leadership and Management (3 credit hours)
- NURS 335 Concepts in Community and Public Health Nursing (4 credit hours)
- NURS 400 Professional Capstone (4 credit hours)

Electives

Elective courses: 3 credit hours

Choose one of the following:

- BA 300 Fundamentals of Psychology (3 credit hours)
- BA 320 Developmental Psychology (3 credit hours)

- PHIL 315 Transcultural Philosophy (3 credit hours)
- SBS 350 Social and Political Context of Human Development (3 credit hours)
- NURS 410 Introduction to Case Management (3 credit hours)
- NURS 430 Financial Management in Nursing (3 credit hours)

Upper Division General Education

Total General Education Courses: 12 credit hours

- BA 330 Behavioral Psychology (3 credit hours)
- BA 380 Statistics (3 credit hours)
- ENG 303 Advanced English Composition (3 credit hours)
- HCM 305 Medical and Technical Writing (3 credit hours)

Nursing Concentration

Psychiatric Mental Health

Total Concentration: 16 credit hours

- NURS 450 Theoretical Foundation of Psychiatric Mental Health Nursing Across the Lifespan (3 credit hours)
- NURS 455 The Role of the Psychiatric Mental Health Nurse in Transcultural Settings (3 credit hours)
- NURS 460 Application of Evidence in Psychiatric Mental Health Nursing (3 credit hours)
- NURS 465 Interprofessional Communication and Integration (3 credit hours)
- NURS 470 Psychiatric Mental Health Nursing: Experiential Seminar (4 credit hours)

Master of Arts

MA Applied Behavior Analysis

Dallas - Washington DC

Program Overview

Applied Behavior Analysis (ABA) is the ethical evaluation, design, and implementation of environmental changes to produce socially significant improvements in behavior. The MA Applied Behavior Analysis is a practitioner-oriented degree that includes an Association of Behavior Analysts International (ABAI) Verified Course Sequence (VCS) and practicum to help become a Board Certified Behavior Analyst® (BCBA®).

The program prepares students for a rewarding career in the rapidly growing field of Applied Behavior Analysis. Graduates serve many different populations including children, adults, and seniors and may work in organizations, residential, school, and community-based settings. Individuals served may have no diagnoses (e.g., school children in a general education class or teachers seeking to be more effective) or may have diagnoses such as autism, developmental disabilities, or mental illness. The MA Applied Behavior Analysis program develops students into professionals who can support individuals and organizations as well as select, implement, and manage effective systems to improve outcomes across a variety of settings.

The program requires 34 credit hours, which include 28 core credit hours and 6 credit hours in practicum. Practicum courses are designed to meet the fieldwork requirements of the BACB®.

Program Philosophy

The program provides training to students related to all four domains of Behavior Analysis (i.e., Theory & Philosophy, Experimental Analysis of Behavior, Applied Behavior Analysis, and Service Delivery). Further, the programs and curricula are designed to infuse the scientist-practitioner model across these domains and teach students to be consumers of new research findings, as well as evaluators of their own interventions and programs using empirical methods.

The program's mission is to provide students with the scientific, analytical, and conceptual tools they need to provide effective, ethical, and practical behavior-analytic interventions to the diverse populations that they serve. The program emphasizes not only knowledge of the assessment and intervention techniques, but sound understanding of the basic concepts and principles of behavior analysis, so that students will have the conceptual and scientific underpinnings necessary to understand why interventions work, how to measure their effects, and to make appropriate program modifications when they do not. Because ABA is based on a rapidly developing and evolving behavioral technology grounded in research, the knowledge base is constantly changing. It is the program's mission to remain at the forefront of the development of this field.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

 Understand behavior-analytic terminology, conduct behavioral assessments, design evidence-based interventions, and evaluate intervention effectiveness, by applying conceptually sound behavioral principles to socially meaningful behavior.

Diversity

 Evaluate cultural, societal, and social influences on assessment and intervention strategies used in behavioranalytic practices.

Professional Behavior

- Adhere to standards of practice in behavior-analytic codes of conduct and recognize potential violations to avoid ethical conflicts and dilemmas.
- Use effective written and verbal communication techniques to promote engagement, collaboration, and supportive interactions among professionals, parents, and consumers.

Scholarship

 Be informed consumers of effective assessment and intervention by demonstrating an understanding of the attitudes, assumptions and practices that underlie scholarly inquiry in behavior-analytic research.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's MA Applied Behavior Analysis program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors that are considered in admission are: GPA from undergraduate and any graduate schools, successful work history after completion of the baccalaureate degree, the admission essay, and letters of recommendation from academic professors or professional or volunteer experience supervisors. Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission. Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications.

- Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. The Chicago School requires that all schools be regionally accredited higher education institutions.
- Resume or Curriculum Vitae.
- Admission essays
- Three letters of recommendation
- \$50.00 (USD) application fee.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver.

Articulation Agreements

The Chicago School has also established agreements between the MA Applied Behavior Analysis program and the programs listed below to allow qualified students to receive transfer credit for courses taken in other The Chicago School programs that can be counted toward degree completion requirements for either program. Click on the link of the program that interests you for details.

MS Applied Behavior Analysis and MA Applied Behavior Analysis

Ethical Guidelines

Students are expected to learn and to follow the ethical guidelines of the American Psychological Association and the Behavior Analyst Certification Board® during and after their work at The Chicago School. A class in ethics is required, and student adherence to ethical codes is evaluated both formally and informally.

Training

The program requires six credits of field-based clinical training (practicum training, see BACB.com for supervision requirements) held at approved sites. Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

Degree Completion Requirements:

- Successful completion of 28 credit hours of core coursework
- Successful completion of 6 credit hours of practicum

The Curriculum

Required Core: 34 credit hours

Program Total

M.A. Applied Behavior Analysis: 34 credit hours

*Students will see a location code suffix affixed to courses on their transcripts (TX-Dallas, DC-Washington D.C.)

Required Core (34 credit hours)

- AB 537 Introduction to the Experimental Analysis of Behavior (3 credit hours)
- AB 540 Concepts and Principles in Behavior Analysis I (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 541 Concepts and Principles in Behavior Analysis II (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 545 Measurement and Design in Behavior Analysis (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 546 Diversity in Clinical Practice (3 credit hours)
- AB 556 Behavior Change Procedures I (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 557 Behavior Change Procedures II (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 564 Behavior Assessment (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 565 Professional Ethics and Issues in Behavior Analysis (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 577 Professional Development for Practitioners (1 credit hour)
- AB 578 Comprehensive Examination (auto half time) (course fee \$155) (0 credit hours)
- AB 640 Practicum: Verbal Behavior (2 credit hours)(auto half time)
- AB 641 Practicum: Skills Acquisition (2 credit hours)(auto half time)
- AB 642 Practicum: Lifespan Development (2 credit hours)(auto half time)
 These term-based practicum courses are offered only during the summer semester and replace corresponding practicum courses as indicated in the course descriptions. Both the A and the B term-based courses must be taken to replace a semester-based course.

- AB 650 Practicum: Verbal Behavior I (1 credit hour)(auto half-time)
- AB 651 Practicum: Verbal Behavior II (1 credit hour)(auto half-time)
- AB 652 Practicum: Skills Acquisition I (1 credit hour)(auto half-time)
- AB 653 Practicum: Skills Acquisition II (1 credit hour) (auto half-time)
- AB 654 Practicum: Lifespan Development I (1 credit hour)(auto half-time)
- AB 655 Practicum: Lifespan Development II (1 credit hour)(auto half-time)

Extension Courses

AB 997A-D - Practicum Extension (0 credit hours)(auto half time)

MA Behavioral Economics

Online

Program Overview

The MA Behavioral Economics program is designed for working adults interested in psychological perspectives of human decision making, risk assessment, and consumer behavior. This program provides students an alternative to the traditional MBA by offering a curriculum with a foundation in advanced psychology that addresses broader business applications to decision making, negotiation, marketing, and consumer behavior. The program is a unique program that utilizes a competency-based model grounded in: consumer, social, cognitive, and consulting psychology and political science and infuses multicultural perspectives from a diversity of market audiences. The curriculum integrates elements of economics and financial literacy including: consumer psychology, public policy, and theories of decision-making to generate a richer understanding of human behavior. Graduates are prepared to deliver professional services, perform research, excel as leaders and policy advisors, and to sensitively and inclusively serve diverse populations in business, marketing, and politics.

The program is 40 credit hours and includes classwork in: consulting, social, cognitive, and consumer psychology, statistics, public policy, economics and finance, and game theory. Faculty will lead students in online discussions, group activities, quizzes, and reflective writing assignments.

Program Philosophy

Students will use scientific research and theory to inform their practices and contribute to the body of work extending the reach of their specialties in professional psychology. Students will apply theoretical and practical knowledge about ethnic, racial, gender, sexual, cultural and religious differences (among other individual and group demographic factors) into their professional work. Students will be able to conduct assessments, develop appropriate interventions, and implement interventions in their specialty areas of professional psychology and function in a professional and ethical manner in classroom, off-site training, and work-settings.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Generate solutions through the application of theory to the individual, group and organization including: the
 ability to interpret and synthesize research and theory using process consultation, assessment, and
 interpretations
- Relate information in Oral and Written communication that is grammatically correct, logical, succinct and of publishable quality.
- Manage relationships with others to enhance quality of work products rather than diminish work products including: managing conflict.

Diversity

 Assess differences in judgment and choice with regard to diverse populations and work cooperatively with members of different identity groups including individuals from different ethnicities, religion, sexual orientation, ability level, age, and different educational backgrounds in multidisciplinary teams.

Professional Behavior

 Develop self-awareness, self-management, and professional and psychological maturity as exhibited by the ability to accept feedback and the willingness to change behavior as needed.

Scholarship

- Construct and interpret research studies including: hypothetical choices, experiments with actual observations, and field research.
- Evaluate information using techniques such as: identifying, observing through inductive or deductive reasoning, and inferring.
- Compare and contrast elements of Behavioral Economics including: market fluctuations, public policy, and
 economic/hedonic decision-making. Interpret research/theories of judgment and choice including: rationality,
 uncertainty/risk, social trends and Neuro-economics. Explain and summarize the foundations of Behavioral
 Economics including: social and cognitive psychology, sociology and political science.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's MA Behavioral Economics program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors that are considered in admission include GPA from undergraduate schools. Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission. Students must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications. Additional factors that are considering in admission include the following:

- Application Fee: \$50
- Resume or Curriculum Vitae
- Official College/University Transcripts
- Personal Statement/Essay answering the following two questions:
 - 1. How will your personal and professional accomplishments, academic background, and experience contribute to your success in this program?
 - 2. How will the successful completion of this program support your professional career goals?

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission, in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Articulation Agreements

The Chicago School has established an agreement between the MA Behavioral Economics and the B.A. Psychology programs to allow qualified students to enroll in master's level courses while completing their bachelors degree that will then count toward the master's degree.

Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of 40 credit hours of coursework
- Successful completion of the Applied Research Project

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Ethical Guidelines

Students are expected to engage in all graduate work, including but not limited to course work, research, and scholarship, with a high degree of integrity and professionalism. It is essential that students approach professional working relationships, collegial relationships, and client/partner-contact with respect. Further, students are expected to adhere to the American Psychological Association's (APA) Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct as well as the "evolving universal code of ethics" (Gauthier, 2005). Students who choose to seek employment in the field of psychology shall not work beyond their level of competence and shall not use titles governed by credentialing statutes and/or regulations unless authorized by the relevant jurisdictional authority. Students who fail to comply with ethical and professional behavior guidelines are subject to department remediation and/or referral to the Student Affairs Committee for disciplinary action and possible dismissal.

Residencies

There are no residency requirements for this program.

Applied Research Project

Students in the Applied Research Project complete classwork over the course of their studies that guide them through the process of writing the Applied Research Project. A faculty member will approve and supervise the project through these courses.

The MA Behavioral Economics Curriculum

Required Core: 34 credit hours

Electives: 6 credit hours

Program Total

M.A. Behavioral Economics: 40 credit hours

Required Core

- BE 505 Fundamentals of Behavioral Economics (3 credit hours)
- BE 510 Brain and Behavior (3 credit hours)
- BE 515 Social Cognition and Information Processing (3 credit hours)
- BE 520 Choice Architecture (3 credit hours)
- IO 512 Organizational Consulting Skills (3 credit hours) (course fee \$50)
- IO 519 Statistics and Lab (4 credit hours)
- IO 561 Consumer Motivation (3 credit hours)
- IO 573 Reaching the Target Market: Qualitative Research Methods (3 credit hours)
- IO 574 Understanding Consumer Perceptions: Quantitative Research Methods (3 credit hours)
- IO 611 The Applied Research Project: Intro to ARP and ARP Needs Assessment (1 credit hour)(auto full time)
- IO 612 The Applied Research Project: Literature Review (1 credit hour)(auto full time)
- IO 613 The Applied Research Project: Intervention and Program Evaluation (1 credit hour)(auto full time)
- IO 614 The Applied Research Project: Professional Ethics (1 credit hour)(auto full time)
- IO 615 The Applied Research Project: Final Deliverable and Showcase Preparation (1 credit hour)(auto full time)
- IO 616 The Applied Research Project: ARP Showcase Defense (1 credit hour) (auto full time)

Electives

- PB 535 Business and Financial Literacy (3 credit hours)
- BE 540 Game Theory: Negotiation and Conflict Management (3 credit hours)
 Any three credit course from the MA Industrial and Organizational Psychology or MA Psychology program.

Extension Courses

- IO 952A-L Applied Research Project Extension (.5 credit hours) auto half-time
- IO 953A-L Applied Research Project Extension (.5 credit hours) auto full-time

Earning a Certificate in Behavioral Economics

A student in the MA Behavioral Economics program may earn a Certificate in Behavioral Economics following the successful completion of required coursework and specific program requirements. At the beginning of the semester in which a student expects to be eligible for the certificate, they may submit the Petition for Degree Conferral to the Office of the Registrar. The petition is a request to conduct an audit to determine eligibility for the certificate and, is required for conferral. Eligibility guidelines for the certificate are contained in the catalog under which the student was admitted.

The Specific requirements are as follows:

- Financial/Financial Aid Good Standing.
- Academic Good Standing at the time the requirements for the certificate were completed.
- Cumulative GPA for the coursework required for the certificate must meet the graduation requirements of the
 certificate.
- Successful completion of all certificate coursework.
- The Petition for Degree Conferral must be submitted within 1 year from the date the final certificate requirement was completed.
- All SAC referrals for behavioral misconduct or issues of professional comportment must be deemed as fully remediated by the SAC committee before the certificate can be conferred.

The Curriculum

Required Core: 3 credit hours

Elective Courses: 6-7* credit hours

Program Total: 9-10* credit hours

*Students who choose IO519 Statistics and Lab as an elective will complete 7 total credit hours of electives, resulting in 10 credit hours total.

Required Core

Required Core: 3 credit hours

BE 505 - Fundamentals of Behavioral Economics (3 credit hours)

Electives

Choose 2 from below:

- BE 510 Brain and Behavior (3 credit hours)
- BE 515 Social Cognition and Information Processing (3 credit hours)
- BE 540 Game Theory: Negotiation and Conflict Management (3 credit hours)
- IO 512 Organizational Consulting Skills (3 credit hours) (course fee \$50)
- IO 519 Statistics and Lab (4 credit hours)
- IO 561 Consumer Motivation (3 credit hours)
- IO 573 Reaching the Target Market: Qualitative Research Methods (3 credit hours)
- IO 574 Understanding Consumer Perceptions: Quantitative Research Methods (3 credit hours)

MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling - Chicago

Chicago

Program Overview

The MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling program consists of 60 credit hours of course work and supervised clinical training experiences. Students learn to promote mental wellness, prevention, and resilience in individuals and communities.

Students in the MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling program gain experience and training in general counseling competencies including ethics, research, program evaluation, diagnosis, theories, career development, assessment, and counseling interventions. Students receive specialized training that focuses on community, prevention, and early intervention in community settings.

Students are prepared in the requisite knowledge, skills, multicultural competence, and self-awareness required of professional counselors.

The MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling program in Chicago is accredited by The Council of Accreditation of Counseling and Related Educational Programs (CACREP), effective February 7, 2020. The program also incorporates the eight content areas outlined by the National Board of Certified Counselors (NBCC) to prepare those students seeking professional counselor licensure and desiring to begin professional practice at the master's level.

Acknowledged for its commitment to diversity, The Chicago School recognizes that service to a diverse community plays a vital role in mental health services. Through its programs, the Counselor Education Department embraces this commitment through the integration of multicultural education and diversity across its curriculum; successful students demonstrate an appreciation for and competency in this area. Likewise, the faculty reflects experience in graduate level teaching and counseling practice with diverse clinical populations. This program seeks to serve a diverse student body.

Program Mission

The Clinical Mental Health Counseling program at The Chicago School is a Transformational, Community-Based Counseling Program committed to educational experiences that provide training in mental health counseling for a variety of clinical settings, such as: couples/family counseling, social service and mental health agencies, college counseling centers, non-profit organizations, and private practice. Focusing on three core areas of ethical practice, multiculturalism/social justice, and advanced clinical practice, the program prepares students to work in a variety of settings, especially those in underserved communities.

Program Philosophy

The MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling program is dedicated to preparing students to become professional counselors for clinical mental health practice in a wide range of settings. The program focuses on students developing a professional identity as a practitioner-scholar; an awareness of diversity and advocacy; and strong helping relationship, diagnosis, and assessment skills. The core belief of the counseling program is that clients have the ability to heal from within a therapeutic environment.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Students will demonstrate contextual knowledge and application of the principles of mental health, wellness, and human development including prevention, education, consultation, intervention, and advocacy.
- Students will demonstrate knowledge and application of strategies for addressing diverse clients' career development and employment opportunities in a global economy.
- Students will demonstrate knowledge and application of the helping process with diverse clients; counseling
 theories and techniques; prevention, education, and consultation; wellness models; counselor selfunderstanding; and the change process.
- Students will demonstrate knowledge and application of group development, dynamics, theories, techniques, therapeutic factors, and how they contribute to the design and facilitation of groups in a culturally relevant manner
- Students will demonstrate knowledge and application of culturally and developmentally appropriate clinical
 assessment, diagnosis, and evaluation practices for diverse mental health service recipients in mental health
 service settings.

Diversity

 Students will demonstrate an intersectional lens of cultural competence in counseling with individuals, groups, and families from diverse cultural backgrounds as well as the ability to advocate for equity and social justice in the promotion of mental health on the behalf of clients, the community, and the profession of counseling.

Professional Behavior

 Students will demonstrate knowledge and application related to ethical professional counseling practice, establish a professional counselor identity, and engage in effective interdisciplinary practice.

Scholarship

• Students will critically evaluate and utilize research, evidence-based practices, and program evaluation to inform the practice of clinical mental health counseling with diverse client populations.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors that are considered in admission include GPA from undergraduate schools. Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission. Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications. Additional factors that are considering in admission include the following:

Application

- Application Fee (\$50)
- Essay: The mission of the program is to equip students with the knowledge, skills, practices, and values of
 the counseling profession: empowerment, resilience, optimal development, multicultural competence, and
 holism, in order to promote the well-being of individuals, families, and the diverse systems that support them.
 In a two-page essay address the following:
 - How you would contribute to the fulfillment of the program's mission given your personal and professional characteristics and accomplishments, your academic background, and your experience, and
 - Upon successful completion of the program, how do you see yourself contributing to the profession as a clinical mental health counselor?
- Resume
- Three Letters of Recommendation
- Admissions Interview
- Bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited university

Each applicant is reviewed holistically, taking factors such as personal and professional experience and accomplishments into consideration. Applicants are encouraged to contact the Office of Admissions to discuss their unique qualifications.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of 60 credit hours of coursework
- Successful completion of supervised practicum experience at an approved site with an approved clinical supervisor for a minimum of 100 hours.
- Successful completion of supervised internship experience at an approved site with an approved clinical supervisor, for a minimum of 600 hours.

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Ethical Guidelines

Students are expected to develop a working knowledge of the ethical and legal issues pertaining to, but not limited to, American Counseling Association's Code of Ethics (2014); relevant federal, state, and local laws, statutes, regulations, and legal precedents (e.g., the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission's *Uniform Guidelines on Employee Selection Procedures*, 1978) as well as the professional norms, standards, and guidelines relevant to the profession.

Practicum and Internship

Practicum and internship, sometimes referred to as field training or applied professional practice experiences, provides for the application of theory and the development of counseling skills under supervision. These experiences offer opportunities for students to counsel and provide other professional services to diverse clientele in their communities. Each student is responsible for identifying potential practicum/internship sites. Students are encouraged first to assess their counseling and professional interests, training needs, and goals (e.g., populations, settings, clinical presentations, and professional activities of interest). Then, students will tap into their existing personal and professional networks to learn of sites that provide clinical mental health counseling services. In addition, they may: conduct internet searches; consult the websites of local, state and national professional organizations; network with other human services organizations in their communities; and/or talk with the CMHC Director of Clinical Training to brainstorm additional routes to site development.

Typically, students complete their practicum and internship at the same site. During the practicum course, students complete a supervised practicum experience at an approved site with an approved clinical supervisor for a minimum of 100 hours. The practicum course is comprised of the on-site clinical counseling supervised experience, and students must participate in group supervision, which meets weekly throughout the entirety of the semester, as well as coursework. Students will practice foundational counseling skills and, over time, integrate more advanced skills through practice in classes, supervised recorded sessions, and direct service at their sites. Moreover, the practicum experience often focuses on the personal qualities needed to develop genuine and effective counseling relationships with a wide range of clientele. As such, students learn self-assessment skills as well as how to understand clients' worldviews.

After successfully completing the practicum course, students will enroll in Internship I. During the fourteen-week Internship I course, students complete the next level of supervised internship experience at an approved site with an approved clinical supervisor, for a minimum of 300 hours to further develop their individual and group counseling skills. The Internship I course is comprised of the on-site clinical counseling supervised experience, and students must participate in site and group supervision, which meets weekly throughout the semester, as well as coursework.

Following successful completion of Internship I, students will enroll in Internship II. During the fourteen-week Internship II course, students complete a more advanced level of supervised Internship experience at an approved site with an approved clinical supervisor, for a minimum of 300 hours to further develop their individual and group counseling skills. The Internship II course is comprised of the on-site clinical counseling supervised experience, and students must participate in site and group supervision, which meets weekly throughout the semester, as well as coursework. The internship is intended to reflect the comprehensive work experience of a clinical mental health counselor, and students will participate in the full range of roles and responsibilities available at their sites.

Note the practicum and internship experiences are conducted under the direction of a qualified on-site supervisor, and the minimum total number of hours accrued is 700 (i.e. 100 practicum hours + 300 Internship I hours + 300 Internship II hours = 700 total hours). An advanced internship course is available to students needing a full year of field work or 900 hours of internship to complete the necessary course work for counseling licensure in certain states.

Transfer of credit for the practicum/internship is not granted and practicum/internship requirements are never waived. Further details regarding practicum and internship are available from the CMHC Director of Clinical Training.

Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

The Curriculum

Required Cores: 54 credit hours

Electives: 6 credit hours

Program Total

M.A. Clinical Mental Health Counseling: 60 credit hours

Required Core Courses

- CM 500 Introduction to the Counseling Profession and Ethics (Course Fee Online Only \$40) (3 credit hours)
- CM 507 Theories of Counseling and Psychotherapy (3 credit hours)
- CM 514 Diagnosis of Mental Health Issues (3 credit hours)
- CM 521 Lifespan Development (3 credit hours)
- CM 528 Helping Relationships & Skill Development in Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 530 Treatment Planning (3 credit hours)
- CM 536 Couples and Family Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 543 Group Theories and Processes of Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 550 Diversity & Multiculturalism (3 credit hours)
- CM 564 Career Development & Counseling (3 credit hours) (Lab Fee: \$10.25 Online Campus students only)
- CM 571 Assessment of Individuals (3 credit hours)
- CM 578 Methods of Research & Program Evaluation (3 credit hours)
- CM 585 Addictions and Substance Abuse (3 credit hours)
- CM 592 Clinical Mental Health Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 599 Trauma and Crisis Counseling: Causes, Effects, & Contexts (3 credit hours)
- CM 800 Capstone (0 credit hours)
- CM 604 Practicum Readiness Assessment (0 credit hours)
- CM 626 Counseling Practicum A (0 credit hours) (auto half time)
- CM 627 Counseling Practicum B (3 credit hours)
 Students enrolled in Internship I during Fall or Spring Semesters will enroll in
- CM 614 Internship in Counseling I (3 credit hours)
 Students enrolled in Internship I during Summer Semester (one course each term) will enroll in
- CM 620 Internship in Counseling 1A (0 credit hours)(auto half-time)
- CM 621 Internship in Counseling 1B (3 credit hours) (auto half-time)
- CM 623 Internship in Counseling 2B (3 credit hours) (auto half-time)
 Students enrolled in Internship II during Fall or Spring Semesters will enroll in
- CM 619 Internship in Counseling II (3 credit hours)
 Students enrolled in Internship II during Summer Semester (one course each term) will enroll in
- CM 622 Internship in Counseling 2A (0 credit hours)(auto half-time)

Electives

- CM 595 Human Sexuality (3 credit hours)
- CM 597 Telebehavioral Health (3 credit hours)
- CM 598 Psychopathology (3 credit hours)
- CM 616 Advanced Internship (3 credit hours)
- CM 650 Counseling Children & Adolescents (3 credit hours)
- CM 655 Counseling: A Global Perspective (3 credit hours)
- CM 670 Professional Military Ethics and Culture (3 credit hours)
- CM 671 Forensic Mental Health Counseling (3 credit hours)

- CM 680 Military Psychological Assessment (3 credit hours)
- CM 690 Military Psychological Interventions (3 credit hours)
- CM 691 Grief Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 693 Behavioral Health Care Strategies for the Care and Management of Severe Mental Illness (3 credit hours)
- CM 697 Psychopharmacology (3 credit hours)
- CM 700 Gerontological Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 710 Cognitive-Behavioral Approaches to Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 720 Current Topics in Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 730 Advanced Psychological Assessment (3 credit hours)

Extension Courses

- CM 608 Clinical Practicum Extension (0 credit hours)
- CM 625 Internship Extension (0 credit hours)
- CM 630 Internship Extension II (0 credit hour) (auto full-time)

MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling

Dallas

Program Overview

The MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling program consists of 60 credit hours of course work and supervised clinical training experiences. Students learn to promote mental wellness, prevention, and resilience in individuals and communities.

Students in the MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling program gain experience and training in general counseling competencies including ethics, research, program evaluation, diagnosis, theories, career development, assessment, and counseling interventions. Students receive specialized training that focuses on community, prevention, and early intervention in community settings.

Students are prepared in the requisite knowledge, skills, multicultural competence, and self-awareness required of professional counselors.

Acknowledged for its commitment to diversity, The Chicago School of Professional Psychology recognizes that service to a diverse community plays a vital role in mental health services. Through its programs, the Counseling Department embraces this commitment through the integration of multicultural education and diversity across its curriculum; successful students demonstrate an appreciation for and competency in this area. Likewise, the faculty reflects experience in graduate level teaching and counseling practice with diverse clinical populations. This program seeks to serve a diverse student body.

Mission

The TCSPP-Dallas counseling department seeks to prepare Clinical Mental Health Counselors (CMHC), representative of the communities we serve, to work in diverse trauma-informed interdisciplinary team environments applying core counseling skills in traditional and integrated care contexts utilizing both clinic based and telehealth service delivery

methods to positively impact community members' mental health and wellness needs across the lifespan, particularly those in mental health provider shortage areas.

Program Philosophy

The MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling program is dedicated to preparing students to become professional counselors for clinical mental health practice in a wide range of settings. The program focuses on students developing a professional identity as a practitioner-scholar; an awareness of diversity and advocacy; and strong helping relationship, diagnosis, and assessment skills. The core belief of the counseling program is that clients have the ability to heal from within a therapeutic environment.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Students will demonstrate contextual knowledge and application of the principles of mental health, wellness, and human development including prevention, education, consultation, intervention, and advocacy.
- Students will demonstrate knowledge and application of strategies for addressing diverse clients' career development and employment opportunities in a global economy.
- Students will demonstrate knowledge and application of the helping process with diverse clients; counseling
 theories and techniques; prevention, education, and consultation; wellness models; counselor selfunderstanding; and the change process.
- Students will demonstrate knowledge and application of group development, dynamics, theories, techniques, therapeutic factors, and how they contribute to the design and facilitation of groups in a culturally relevant manner.
- Students will demonstrate knowledge and application of culturally and developmentally appropriate clinical
 assessment, diagnosis, and evaluation practices for diverse mental health service recipients in mental health
 service settings.

Diversity

Students will demonstrate an intersectional lens of cultural competence in counseling with individuals,
groups, and families from diverse cultural backgrounds as well as the ability to advocate for equity and social
justice in the promotion of mental health on the behalf of clients, the community, and the profession of
counseling.

Professional Behavior

• Students will demonstrate knowledge and application related to ethical professional counseling practice, establish a professional counselor identity, and engage in effective interdisciplinary practice.

Scholarship

• Students will critically evaluate and utilize research, evidence-based practices, and program evaluation to inform the practice of clinical mental health counseling with diverse client populations.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School of Professional Psychology meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School of Professional Psychology is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School of Professional Psychology's MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors that are considered in admission include GPA from undergraduate schools. Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission. Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications. Additional factors that are considered in admission include the following:

- Application
- Application Fee (\$50)
- Essay: The mission of the program is to prepare Clinical Mental Health Counselors (CMHC), representative
 of the communities we serve, to work in diverse trauma-informed interdisciplinary team environments
 applying core counseling skills in traditional and integrated care contexts utilizing both clinic based and
 telehealth service delivery methods to positively impact community members' mental health and wellness
 needs across the lifespan, particularly those in mental health provider shortage areas. In a two-page essay
 address the following:
 - How you would contribute to the fulfillment of the program's mission given your personal and professional characteristics and accomplishments, your academic background, and your experience, and
 - O Upon successful completion of the program, how do you see yourself contributing to the profession as a clinical mental health counselor?
- Resume
- Three Letters of Recommendation from professionals familiar with your academic ability or work or vounteer efforts
- Admissions Interview
- Bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited university

Each applicant is reviewed holistically, taking factors such as personal and professional experience and accomplishments into consideration. Applicants are encouraged to contact the Office of Admissions to discuss their unique qualifications.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School of Professional Psychology reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School of Professional Psychology does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of 60 credit hours of coursework
- Successful completion of supervised practicum experience at an approved site with an approved clinical supervisor for a minimum of 100 hours.
- Successful completion of supervised internship experience at an approved site with an approved clinical supervisor, for a minimum of 600 hours.
- Successful completion of a comprehnsive exam and capstone project.

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Ethical Guidelines

Students are expected to develop a working knowledge of the ethical and legal issues pertaining to, but not limited to, American Counseling Association's Code of Ethics (2014); relevant federal, state, and local laws, statutes, regulations, and legal precedents (e.g., the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission's Uniform Guidelines on Employee Selection Procedures, 1978) as well as the professional norms, standards, and guidelines relevant to the profession.

Practicum and Internship

Practicum and internship, sometimes referred to as field training or applied professional practice experiences, provides for the application of theory and the development of counseling skills under supervision. These experiences offer opportunities for students to counsel and provide other professional services to diverse clientele in their communities. Each student is responsible for identifying potential practicum/internship sites. Students are encouraged first to assess their counseling and professional interests, training needs, and goals (e.g., populations, settings, clinical presentations, and professional activities of interest). Then, students will tap into their existing personal and professional networks to learn of sites that provide clinical mental health counseling services. In addition, they may: conduct internet searches; consult the websites of local, state and national professional organizations; network with other human services organizations in their communities; and/or talk with the CMHC Director of Clinical Training to brainstorm additional routes to site development.

Typically, students complete their practicum and internship at the same site. During the fourteen-week practicum course, students complete a supervised practicum experience at an approved site with an approved clinical supervisor for a minimum of 100 hours. The practicum course is comprised of the on-site clinical counseling supervised experience, and students must participate in both on-site individual supervision and on-campus group supervision, which meets weekly throughout the entirety of the semester, as well as coursework. Campus faculty offer consistent oversight and ongoing communication with the site, during the student's practicum experience about the student's performance and works with the site and student to remediate any concerns, as early as possible in the training experience. Students will practice foundational counseling skills and, over time, integrate more advanced skills through practice in classes, supervised recorded sessions, and direct service at their sites. Moreover, the practicum experience often focuses on the personal qualities needed to develop genuine and effective counseling relationships with a wide range of clientele. As such, students learn self-assessment skills as well as how to understand clients' worldviews.

After successfully completing the practicum course, students will enroll in Internship I. During the fourteen-week Internship I course, students complete the next level of supervised internship experience at an approved site with an approved clinical supervisor, for a minimum of 300 hours to further develop their individual and group counseling skills. The Internship I course is comprised of the on-site clinical counseling supervised experience, and students must participate in both on-site individual supervision and on-campus group supervision, which meets weekly throughout the semester, as well as coursework. Campus faculty offer consistent oversight and ongoing communication with the site, during the student's internship experience about the student's performance and works with the site and student to remediate any concerns, as early as possible in the training experience.

Following successful completion of Internship I, students will enroll in Internship II. During the fourteen-week Internship II course, students complete a more advanced level of supervised Internship experience at an approved site with an approved clinical supervisor, for a minimum of 300 hours to further develop their individual and group counseling skills. The Internship II course is comprised of the on-site clinical counseling supervised experience, and students must participate in both on site individual supervision and on campus group supervision, which meets weekly throughout the semester, as well as coursework. Campus faculty offer consistent oversight and ongoing communication with the site, during the student's internship experience about the student's performance and works with the site and student to remediate any concerns, as early as possible in the training experience. The internship is intended to reflect the comprehensive work experience of a clinical mental health counselor, and students will participate in the full range of roles and responsibilities available at their sites.

Note the practicum and internship experiences are conducted under the direction of a qualified on-site supervisor, and the minimum total number of hours accrued is 700 (i.e. 100 practicum hours + 300 Internship I hours + 300 Internship II hours = 700 total hours). An advanced internship course is available to students needing a full year of field work or 900 hours of internship to complete the necessary course work for counseling licensure in certain states. Students must obtain at least 40% (280 hours) of their 700 hours as direct client contact hours providing counseling services.

Transfer of credit for the practicum/internship is not granted and practicum/internship requirements are never waived. Further details regarding practicum and internship are available from the CMHC Director of Clinical Training.

Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

The Curriculum

Required Core: 57 credit hours

Electives: 3 credit hours

Program Total

60 credit hours

Required Core (57 Credit Hours)

- CM 500 Introduction to the Counseling Profession and Ethics (Course Fee Online Only \$40) (3 credit hours)
- CM 507 Theories of Counseling and Psychotherapy (3 credit hours)
- CM 514 Diagnosis of Mental Health Issues (3 credit hours)
- CM 521 Lifespan Development (3 credit hours)
- CM 528 Helping Relationships & Skill Development in Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 530 Treatment Planning (3 credit hours)
- CM 536 Couples and Family Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 543 Group Theories and Processes of Counseling (3 credit hours)

- CM 550 Diversity & Multiculturalism (3 credit hours)
- CM 564 Career Development & Counseling (3 credit hours) (Lab Fee: \$10.25 Online Campus students only)
- CM 571 Assessment of Individuals (3 credit hours)
- CM 578 Methods of Research & Program Evaluation (3 credit hours)
- CM 585 Addictions and Substance Abuse (3 credit hours)
- CM 592 Clinical Mental Health Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 599 Trauma and Crisis Counseling: Causes, Effects, & Contexts (3 credit hours)
- CM 695 Advanced Ethics and Legal Considerations (3 credit hours)
- CM 604 Practicum Readiness Assessment (0 credit hours)
- CM 603 Practicum Readiness Extension (0 credit hour) (auto half-time)
- CM 620 Internship in Counseling 1A (0 credit hours)(auto half-time)
- CM 621 Internship in Counseling 1B (3 credit hours) (auto half-time)
- CM 622 Internship in Counseling 2A (0 credit hours)(auto half-time)
- CM 623 Internship in Counseling 2B (3 credit hours) (auto half-time)
- CM 626 Counseling Practicum A (0 credit hours) (auto half time)
- CM 627 Counseling Practicum B (3 credit hours)
- CM 800 Capstone (0 credit hours)
- CM 801 Capstone Extension (0 credit hour) (auto half-time)

Electives (3 Credit Hours)

- CM 595 Human Sexuality (3 credit hours)
- CM 597 Telebehavioral Health (3 credit hours)
- CM 598 Psychopathology (3 credit hours)
- CM 616 Advanced Internship (3 credit hours)
- CM 650 Counseling Children & Adolescents (3 credit hours)
- CM 655 Counseling: A Global Perspective (3 credit hours)
- CM 670 Professional Military Ethics and Culture (3 credit hours)
- CM 671 Forensic Mental Health Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 680 Military Psychological Assessment (3 credit hours)
- CM 690 Military Psychological Interventions (3 credit hours)
- CM 691 Grief Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 693 Behavioral Health Care Strategies for the Care and Management of Severe Mental Illness (3 credit hours)
- CM 697 Psychopharmacology (3 credit hours)
- CM 700 Gerontological Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 710 Cognitive-Behavioral Approaches to Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 720 Current Topics in Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 730 Advanced Psychological Assessment (3 credit hours)

Extension Courses

- CM 608 Clinical Practicum Extension (0 credit hours)
- CM 625 Internship Extension (0 credit hours)

MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling

Online

Program Overview

The MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling (CMHC) program consists of 60 credit hours of course work and supervised clinical training experiences. Students learn to promote mental wellness, prevention, and resilience in individuals and communities.

Students in the MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling program gain experience and training in general counseling competencies including ethics, research, program evaluation, diagnosis, theories, career development, assessment, and counseling interventions. Students receive specialized training that focuses on community, prevention, and early intervention in community settings.

Students are prepared in the requisite knowledge, skills, multicultural competence, and self-awareness required of professional counselors.

The Online MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling program is accredited by The Council of Accreditation of Counseling and Related Educational Programs (CACREP) effective January 19, 2018. More information about CACREP accreditation is available here. The program also incorporates the eight content areas outlined by the National Board of Certified Counselors (NBCC) to prepare those students seeking professional counselor licensure and desiring to begin professional practice at the master's level.

Acknowledged for its commitment to diversity, The Chicago School recognizes that service to a diverse community plays a vital role in mental health services. Through its programs, the Counseling Department embraces this commitment through the integration of multicultural education and diversity across its curriculum; successful students demonstrate an appreciation for and competency in this area. Likewise, the faculty reflects experience in graduate level teaching and counseling practice with diverse clinical populations. This program seeks to serve a diverse student body.

Program Philosophy

The MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling program is dedicated to preparing students to become professional counselors for clinical mental health practice in a wide range of settings. The program focuses on students developing a professional identity as a practitioner-scholar; an awareness of diversity and advocacy; and strong helping relationship, diagnosis, and assessment skills. The core belief of the counseling program is that clients have the ability to heal from within a therapeutic environment.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Students will demonstrate contextual knowledge and application of the principles of mental health, wellness, and human development including prevention, education, consultation, intervention, and advocacy.
- Students will demonstrate knowledge and application of strategies for addressing diverse clients' career development and employment opportunities in a global economy.

- Students will demonstrate knowledge and application of the helping process with diverse clients; counseling
 theories and techniques; prevention, education, and consultation; wellness models; counselor selfunderstanding; and the change process.
- Students will demonstrate knowledge and application of group development, dynamics, theories, techniques, therapeutic factors, and how they contribute to the design and facilitation of groups in a culturally relevant manner
- Students will demonstrate knowledge and application of culturally and developmentally appropriate clinical
 assessment, diagnosis, and evaluation practices for diverse mental health service recipients in mental health
 service settings.

Diversity

 Students will demonstrate an intersectional lens of cultural competence in counseling with individuals, groups, and families from diverse cultural backgrounds as well as the ability to advocate for equity and social justice in the promotion of mental health on the behalf of clients, the community, and the profession of counseling.

Professional Behavior

 Students will demonstrate knowledge and application related to ethical professional counseling practice, establish a professional counselor identity, and engage in effective interdisciplinary practice.

Scholarship

 Students will critically evaluate and utilize research, evidence-based practices, and program evaluation to inform the practice of clinical mental health counseling with diverse client populations.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors that are considered in admission include GPA from undergraduate schools. Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission. Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications. Additional factors that are considering in admission include the following:

- Application
- Application Fee (\$50)
- Essay: The mission of the program is to equip students with the knowledge, skills, practices, and values of the counseling profession: empowerment, resilience, optimal development, multicultural competence, and holism, in order to promote the well-being of individuals, families, and the diverse systems that support them. In a two-page essay address the following:

- How you would contribute to the fulfillment of the program's mission given your personal and professional characteristics and accomplishments, your academic background, and your experience, and
- Upon successful completion of the program, how do you see yourself contributing to the profession as a clinical mental health counselor?
- Resume
- Three Letters of Recommendation
- Admissions Interview
- Bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited university

Each applicant is reviewed holistically, taking factors such as personal and professional experience and accomplishments into consideration. Applicants are encouraged to contact the Office of Admissions to discuss their unique qualifications.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of 60 credit hours of coursework
- Successful completion of supervised practicum experience at an approved site with an approved clinical supervisor for a minimum of 100 hours.
- Successful completion of supervised internship experience at an approved site with an approved clinical supervisor, for a minimum of 600 hours.
- Successful completion of residency requirements.

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Ethical Guidelines

Students are expected to develop a working knowledge of the ethical and legal issues pertaining to, but not limited to, American Counseling Association's Code of Ethics (2014); relevant federal, state, and local laws, statutes, regulations, and legal precedents (e.g., the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission's Uniform Guidelines on Employee Selection Procedures, 1978) as well as the professional norms, standards, and guidelines relevant to the profession.

Fieldwork

Practicum and internship, sometimes referred to as fieldwork or applied professional practice experiences, provides for the application of theory and the development of counseling skills under supervision. These experiences offer opportunities for students to counsel and provide other professional services to diverse clientele in their communities. Each student is responsible for identifying potential practicum/internship sites. Students are encouraged first to assess their counseling and professional interests, training needs, and goals (e.g., populations, settings, clinical presentations, and professional activities of interest). Then, students will tap into their existing personal and professional networks to learn of sites that provide clinical mental health counseling services. In addition, they may: conduct internet searches; consult the websites of local, state and national professional organizations; network with other human services organizations in their communities; and/or talk with the CMHC Director of Applied Professional Practice to brainstorm additional routes to site development.

Typically, students complete their practicum and internship at the same site. During the fourteen-week practicum course, students complete a supervised practicum experience at an approved site with an approved clinical supervisor for a minimum of 100 hours. The practicum course is comprised of the on-site clinical counseling supervised experience, and students must participate in group supervision, which meets weekly throughout the entirety of the semester, as well as coursework. Students will practice foundational counseling skills and, over time, integrate more advanced skills through practice in classes, supervised recorded sessions, and direct service at their sites. Moreover, the practicum experience often focuses on the personal qualities needed to develop genuine and effective counseling relationships with a wide range of clientele. As such, students learn self-assessment skills as well as how to understand clients' worldviews.

After successfully completing the practicum course, students will enroll in Internship 1. During the fourteen-week Internship 1 course, students complete the next level of supervised internship experience at an approved site with an approved clinical supervisor, for a minimum of 300 hours to further develop their individual and group counseling skills. The Internship 1 course is comprised of the on-site clinical counseling supervised experience, and students must participate in site and group supervision, which meets weekly throughout the semester, as well as coursework.

Following successful completion of Internship 1, students will enroll in Internship 2. During the fourteen-week Internship 2 course, students complete a more advanced level of supervised Internship experience at an approved site with an approved clinical supervisor, for a minimum of 300 hours to further develop their individual and group counseling skills. The Internship 2 course is comprised of the on-site clinical counseling supervised experience, and students must participate in site and group supervision, which meets weekly throughout the semester, as well as coursework. The internship is intended to reflect the comprehensive work experience of a clinical mental health counselor, and students will participate in the full range of roles and responsibilities available at their sites.

Note the practicum and internship experiences are conducted under the direction of a qualified on-site supervisor, and the minimum total number of hours accrued is 700 (i.e. 100 practicum hours + 300 Internship 1 hours + 300 Internship 2 hours = 700 total hours). An advanced internship course is available to students needing a full year of field work or 900 hours of internship to complete the necessary course work for counseling licensure in certain states.

Transfer of credit for the practicum/internship is not granted and practicum/internship requirements are never waived. Further details regarding practicum and internship are available from the CMHC Director of Clinical Training.

Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

Residency

Students in the online MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling program attend two, in-person, mandatory residencies. Each residency takes place during four and one-half at a The Chicago School university ground campus. Students must successfully complete in-person residencies as a requirement of their respective academic program. The first on ground residency occurs during the first year of the program. The second residency occurs during the second year of the program. Additionally, courses require mandatory weekly synchronous components and asynchronous modules,

assignments, and assessments with instructors. The two residency courses prepare students for the programmatic fieldwork courses.

The Curriculum

Required Core: 51 credit hours

Electives: 9 credit hours

Program Total

M.A. Clinical Mental Health Counseling: 60 credit hours

Required Core

- CM 500 Introduction to the Counseling Profession and Ethics (Course Fee Online Only \$40) (3 credit hours)
- CM 507 Theories of Counseling and Psychotherapy (3 credit hours)
- CM 514 Diagnosis of Mental Health Issues (3 credit hours)
- CM 521 Lifespan Development (3 credit hours)
- CM 528 Helping Relationships & Skill Development in Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 530 Treatment Planning (3 credit hours)
- CM 536 Couples and Family Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 543 Group Theories and Processes of Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 550 Diversity & Multiculturalism (3 credit hours)
- CM 564 Career Development & Counseling (3 credit hours) (Lab Fee: \$10.25 Online Campus students only)
- CM 571 Assessment of Individuals (3 credit hours)
- CM 578 Methods of Research & Program Evaluation (3 credit hours)
- CM 592 Clinical Mental Health Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 598 Psychopathology (3 credit hours)
- CM 604 Practicum Readiness Assessment (0 credit hours)
- CM 626 Counseling Practicum A (0 credit hours) (auto half time)
- CM 627 Counseling Practicum B (3 credit hours)
- CM 620 Internship in Counseling 1A (0 credit hours)(auto half-time)
- CM 621 Internship in Counseling 1B (3 credit hours) (auto half-time)
- CM 622 Internship in Counseling 2A (0 credit hours)(auto half-time)
- CM 623 Internship in Counseling 2B (3 credit hours) (auto half-time)
- CM 800 Capstone (0 credit hours)

Electives

- CM 585 Addictions and Substance Abuse (3 credit hours)
- CM 595 Human Sexuality (3 credit hours)
- CM 597 Telebehavioral Health (3 credit hours)
- CM 599 Trauma and Crisis Counseling: Causes, Effects, & Contexts (3 credit hours)
- CM 616 Advanced Internship (3 credit hours)
- CM 650 Counseling Children & Adolescents (3 credit hours)

- CM 655 Counseling: A Global Perspective (3 credit hours)
- CM 670 Professional Military Ethics and Culture (3 credit hours)
- CM 671 Forensic Mental Health Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 680 Military Psychological Assessment (3 credit hours)
- CM 690 Military Psychological Interventions (3 credit hours)
- CM 691 Grief Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 693 Behavioral Health Care Strategies for the Care and Management of Severe Mental Illness (3 credit hours)
- CM 695 Advanced Ethics and Legal Considerations (3 credit hours)
- CM 697 Psychopharmacology (3 credit hours)
- CM 700 Gerontological Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 710 Cognitive-Behavioral Approaches to Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 720 Current Topics in Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 730 Advanced Psychological Assessment (3 credit hours)

Extension Courses

- CM 608 Clinical Practicum Extension (0 credit hours)
- CM 625 Internship Extension (0 credit hours)
- CM 801 Capstone Extension (0 credit hour) (auto half-time)
- CM 603 Practicum Readiness Extension (0 credit hour) (auto half-time)

MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling

Washington D.C.

Program Overview

The MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling program consists of 60 credit hours of course work and supervised clinical training experiences. Students learn to promote mental wellness, prevention, and resilience in individuals and communities.

Students in the MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling program gain experience and training in general counseling competencies including ethics, research, program evaluation, diagnosis, theories, career development, assessment, and counseling interventions. Students receive specialized training that focuses on community, prevention, and early intervention in community settings.

Students are prepared in the requisite knowledge, skills, multicultural competence, and self-awareness required of professional counselors.

The MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling program in Washington D. C. is accredited by The Council of Accreditation of Counseling and Related Educational Programs (CACREP), effective July 20, 2018. More information about CACREP accreditation is available here. The program also incorporates the eight content areas outlined by the National Board of Certified Counselors (NBCC) to prepare those students seeking professional counselor licensure and desiring to begin professional practice at the master's level.

Acknowledged for its commitment to diversity, The Chicago School recognizes that service to a diverse community plays a vital role in mental health services. Through its programs, the Counseling Department embraces this commitment through the integration of multicultural education and diversity across its curriculum; successful students

demonstrate an appreciation for and competency in this area. Likewise, the faculty reflects experience in graduate level teaching and counseling practice with diverse clinical populations. This program seeks to serve a diverse student body.

Program Philosophy

The MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling program is dedicated to preparing students to become professional counselors for clinical mental health practice in a wide range of settings. The program focuses on students developing a professional identity as a practitioner-scholar; an awareness of diversity and advocacy; and strong helping relationship, diagnosis, and assessment skills. The core belief of the counseling program is that clients have the ability to heal from within a therapeutic environment.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Students will demonstrate contextual knowledge and application of the principles of mental health, wellness, and human development including prevention, education, consultation, intervention, and advocacy.
- Students will demonstrate knowledge and application of strategies for addressing diverse clients' career development and employment opportunities in a global economy.
- Students will demonstrate knowledge and application of the helping process with diverse clients; counseling
 theories and techniques; prevention, education, and consultation; wellness models; counselor selfunderstanding; and the change process.
- Students will demonstrate knowledge and application of group development, dynamics, theories, techniques, therapeutic factors, and how they contribute to the design and facilitation of groups in a culturally relevant manner.
- Students will demonstrate knowledge and application of culturally and developmentally appropriate clinical
 assessment, diagnosis, and evaluation practices for diverse mental health service recipients in mental health
 service settings.

Diversity

 Students will demonstrate an intersectional lens of cultural competence in counseling with individuals, groups, and families from diverse cultural backgrounds as well as the ability to advocate for equity and social justice in the promotion of mental health on the behalf of clients, the community, and the profession of counseling.

Professional Behavior

• Students will demonstrate knowledge and application related to ethical professional counseling practice, establish a professional counselor identity, and engage in effective interdisciplinary practice.

Scholarship

• Students will critically evaluate and utilize research, evidence-based practices, and program evaluation to inform the practice of clinical mental health counseling with diverse client populations.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors that are considered in admission include GPA from undergraduate schools. Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission. Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications. Additional factors that are considering in admission include the following:

- Application
- Application Fee (\$50)
- Essay: The mission of the program is to equip students with the knowledge, skills, practices, and values of the counseling profession: empowerment, resilience, optimal development, multicultural competence, and holism, in order to promote the well-being of individuals, families, and the diverse systems that support them. In a two-page essay address the following:
 - How you would contribute to the fulfillment of the program's mission given your personal and professional characteristics and accomplishments, your academic background, and your experience, and
 - O Upon successful completion of the program, how do you see yourself contributing to the profession as a clinical mental health counselor?
- Resume
- Three Letters of Recommendation
- Admissions Interview
- Bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited university

Each applicant is reviewed holistically, taking factors such as personal and professional experience and accomplishments into consideration. Applicants are encouraged to contact the Office of Admissions to discuss their unique qualifications.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Degree Completion Requirements

Successful completion of 60 credit hours of coursework

- Successful completion of supervised practicum experience at an approved site with an approved clinical supervisor for a minimum of 100 hours.
- Successful completion of supervised internship experience at an approved site with an approved clinical supervisor, for a minimum of 600 hours.

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Ethical Guidelines

Students are expected to develop a working knowledge of the ethical and legal issues pertaining to, but not limited to, American Counseling Association's Code of Ethics (2014); relevant federal, state, and local laws, statutes, regulations, and legal precedents (e.g., the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission's Uniform Guidelines on Employee Selection Procedures, 1978) as well as the professional norms, standards, and guidelines relevant to the profession.

Practicum and Internship

Practicum and internship, sometimes referred to as field training or applied professional practice experiences, provides for the application of theory and the development of counseling skills under supervision. These experiences offer opportunities for students to counsel and provide other professional services to diverse clientele in their communities. Each student is responsible for identifying potential practicum/internship sites. Students are encouraged first to assess their counseling and professional interests, training needs, and goals (e.g., populations, settings, clinical presentations, and professional activities of interest). Then, students will tap into their existing personal and professional networks to learn of sites that provide clinical mental health counseling services. In addition, they may: conduct internet searches; consult the websites of local, state and national professional organizations; network with other human services organizations in their communities; and/or talk with the CMHC Director of Clinical Training to brainstorm additional routes to site development.

Typically, students complete their practicum and internship at the same site. During the fourteen-week practicum course, students complete a supervised practicum experience at an approved site with an approved clinical supervisor for a minimum of 100 hours. The practicum course is comprised of the on-site clinical counseling supervised experience, and students must participate in both on-site individual supervision and on-campus group supervision, which meets weekly throughout the entirety of the semester, as well as coursework. Students will practice foundational counseling skills and, over time, integrate more advanced skills through practice in classes, supervised recorded sessions, and direct service at their sites. Moreover, the practicum experience often focuses on the personal qualities needed to develop genuine and effective counseling relationships with a wide range of clientele. As such, students learn self-assessment skills as well as how to understand clients' worldviews.

After successfully completing the practicum course, students will enroll in Internship I. During the fourteen-week Internship I course, students complete the next level of supervised internship experience at an approved site with an approved clinical supervisor, for a minimum of 300 hours to further develop their individual and group counseling skills. The Internship I course is comprised of the on-site clinical counseling supervised experience, and students must participate in both on-site individual supervision and on-campus group supervision, which meets weekly throughout the semester, as well as coursework.

Following successful completion of Internship I, students will enroll in Internship II. During the fourteen-week Internship II course, students complete a more advanced level of supervised Internship experience at an approved site

with an approved clinical supervisor, for a minimum of 300 hours to further develop their individual and group counseling skills. The Internship II course is comprised of the on-site clinical counseling supervised experience, and students must participate in both on site individual supervision and on campus group supervision, which meets weekly throughout the semester, as well as coursework. The internship is intended to reflect the comprehensive work experience of a clinical mental health counselor, and students will participate in the full range of roles and responsibilities available at their sites.

Note the practicum and internship experiences are conducted under the direction of a qualified on-site supervisor, and the minimum total number of hours accrued is 700 (i.e. 100 practicum hours + 300 Internship I hours + 300 Internship II hours = 700 total hours). An advanced internship course is available to students needing a full year of field work or 900 hours of internship to complete the necessary course work for counseling licensure in certain states.

Transfer of credit for the practicum/internship is not granted and practicum/internship requirements are never waived. Further details regarding practicum and internship are available from the CMHC Director of Clinical Training.

Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

The Curriculum

Required Core: 54 credit hours

Electives: 6 credit hours

Program Total

M.A. Clinical Mental Health Counseling: 60 credit hours

Required Core

- CM 500 Introduction to the Counseling Profession and Ethics (Course Fee Online Only \$40) (3 credit hours)
- CM 507 Theories of Counseling and Psychotherapy (3 credit hours)
- CM 514 Diagnosis of Mental Health Issues (3 credit hours)
- CM 521 Lifespan Development (3 credit hours)
- CM 528 Helping Relationships & Skill Development in Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 530 Treatment Planning (3 credit hours)
- CM 536 Couples and Family Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 543 Group Theories and Processes of Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 550 Diversity & Multiculturalism (3 credit hours)
- CM 564 Career Development & Counseling (3 credit hours) (Lab Fee: \$10.25 Online Campus students only)
- CM 571 Assessment of Individuals (3 credit hours)
- CM 578 Methods of Research & Program Evaluation (3 credit hours)
- CM 585 Addictions and Substance Abuse (3 credit hours)
- CM 592 Clinical Mental Health Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 599 Trauma and Crisis Counseling: Causes, Effects, & Contexts (3 credit hours)
- CM 604 Practicum Readiness Assessment (0 credit hours)
- CM 605 Counseling Practicum (3 credit hours)
- CM 800 Capstone (0 credit hours)
 Students enrolled in Internship I during Fall or Spring Semesters will enroll in
- CM 614 Internship in Counseling I (3 credit hours)

- Students enrolled in Internship I during Summer Semester (one course each term) will enroll in
- CM 620 Internship in Counseling 1A (0 credit hours)(auto half-time)
- CM 621 Internship in Counseling 1B (3 credit hours) (auto half-time) Students enrolled in Internship II during Fall or Spring Semesters will enroll in
- CM 619 Internship in Counseling II (3 credit hours)
 Students enrolled in Internship II during Summer Semester (one course each term) will enroll in
- CM 622 Internship in Counseling 2A (0 credit hours)(auto half-time)
- CM 623 Internship in Counseling 2B (3 credit hours) (auto half-time)

Electives

- CM 595 Human Sexuality (3 credit hours)
- CM 597 Telebehavioral Health (3 credit hours)
- CM 598 Psychopathology (3 credit hours)
- CM 599 Trauma and Crisis Counseling: Causes, Effects, & Contexts (3 credit hours)
- CM 616 Advanced Internship (3 credit hours)
- CM 650 Counseling Children & Adolescents (3 credit hours)
- CM 655 Counseling: A Global Perspective (3 credit hours)
- CM 670 Professional Military Ethics and Culture (3 credit hours)
- CM 671 Forensic Mental Health Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 680 Military Psychological Assessment (3 credit hours)
- CM 690 Military Psychological Interventions (3 credit hours)
- CM 691 Grief Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 693 Behavioral Health Care Strategies for the Care and Management of Severe Mental Illness (3 credit hours)
- CM 695 Advanced Ethics and Legal Considerations (3 credit hours)
- CM 697 Psychopharmacology (3 credit hours)
- CM 700 Gerontological Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 710 Cognitive-Behavioral Approaches to Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 720 Current Topics in Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 730 Advanced Psychological Assessment (3 credit hours)

Extension Courses

- CM 608 Clinical Practicum Extension (0 credit hours)
- CM 625 Internship Extension (0 credit hours)
- CM 630 Internship Extension II (0 credit hour) (auto full-time)

MA Counseling Psychology

Chicago

Program Overview

The MA Counseling Psychology program is a counselor training program that equips students with essential diagnostic, therapeutic and consultative skills in preparation to work with a variety of clinical populations ranging from children to the elderly with a variety of emotional, intellectual, and psychological symptoms and conditions.

Graduates will be trained to work in a variety of clinical settings that serve various populations. The program adopts the practitioner-scholar model predicated on the belief that a competent mental health practitioner must have both a broad knowledge of the scientific and theoretical principles in the clinical practice of counseling psychology and the ability to apply that knowledge to specific clinical situations. The program also incorporates the 8 content areas outlined by the National Board of Certified Counselors to prepare students seeking professional counselor licensure and desiring to begin professional practice at the master's level. Please see further information about professional licensure below.

The MA Counseling Psychology program at the Chicago Campus is accredited by the Masters in Psychology and Counseling Accreditation Council (MPCAC) for the period of December, 2018 through December, 2028.

We acknowledge the significance of promoting an academic environment that is sensitive to difference and to the preparation of clinicians who actively develop multicultural sensitivity, responsivity, and competence. As such, the program seeks to engage faculty and students in the preparation of mental health clinicians who meet the needs of diverse and underserved communities "from the broader view of innovators, transformers, and problem solvers; and use their discipline to make positive and lasting impacts on the World" (Aspirations Report, 2011, p.5).

Program Philosophy

The mission of the MA Counseling Psychology program is to prepare mental health professionals for the counseling psychology profession through professional competence, personal integrity and academic excellence with an emphasis on promoting culturally-sensitive, responsive, and conscious clinical practice. This is realized through a curriculum that integrates the theoretical foundations of counseling psychology, essential diagnostic, clinical and consultative skills, and field placement experience in a variety of settings and with diverse populations. Recognizing that our students are intrinsically motivated to help others, we acknowledge the significance of promoting an environment that is sensitive to difference and preparing future clinicians to develop self-awareness and the necessary skills to continue to strive toward attaining multicultural competence. Thus, the program seeks to engage faculty and students in the preparation of clinicians who meet the needs of diverse communities.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Conduct assessments within the field of counseling psychology.
- Effectively engage and establish therapeutic relationships with clients and implement appropriate and evidenced-based interventions within the mental health field.
- Knowledge of theoretical approaches, techniques, and best practices within the mental health field and ability
 to apply appropriate interventions based on client presentation and identified needs.

Diversity

 Demonstrate self-awareness of their own cultural identities and how they may influence their perspective, knowledge of other cultures and aspects of a client's identity which includes but is not limited to race, ethnicity, age, religion, sexuality identity, gender expression, socioeconomic status, and physical ability as it applies to their professional work and skills to adapt treatment accordingly.

Professional Behavior

- Demonstrate professional and ethical behavior consistent with professional standards and code of ethics. Scholarship
 - Use scientific research, evidence based practice and theory to inform their practice.
 - Effectively utilize consultation and demonstrate academic knowledge through oral and written presentations.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's MA Counseling Psychology program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. Applicants will be evaluated on their overall ability to complete graduate work. Factors considered prior to admission include: GPA from undergraduate and any graduate schools, successful work history after completion of the baccalaureate degree, relevant experience, the required admission essay, and letters of recommendation from academic professors or professional or volunteer experience supervisors. An undergraduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is expected for admission. Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications.

The Graduate Record Examination (GRE) is not required; however, students who have taken the exam may submit their scores to enhance their application. Scores should be sent directly to the school (GRE School Code: 1119) for consideration. Please see the application for detailed instructions and information regarding application requirements, application deadlines, and letters of recommendation. Applications must be submitted with a \$50.00 (USD) application fee in order to be evaluated.

The program also requires applicants to have successfully completed at least one (1) undergraduate course in psychology and one (1) undergraduate course in research methods with an earned grade of 'C' or better. Applicants without these psychology courses must be complete them in accordance with the policies outlined in the Progression Requirements section below.

MA Counseling Psychology Progression Requirements

This program requires applicants to have successfully completed at least one (1) undergraduate course in psychology and one (1) undergraduate course in research methods with an earned grade of 'C' or better by the end of their first semester (second online term) of study. Students must successfully meet this progression requirement through one of the following options:

- A grade of "C" or higher in TCS 380 Introduction to Psychology and TCS 385 Introduction to Research Methods:
- A grade of "C" or higher in a comparable course at the Chicago School; or
- A grade of "C" or higher in a comparable course at another regionally accredited institution

Applicants accepted who have not successfully completed one (1) undergraduate course in psychology and one (1) undergraduate course in research methods will be required to register for applicable TCS courses in their first ground semester or online term. All students must meet this progression requirement by the end of their first semester of study.

Students who do not successfully fulfill this requirement will not be allowed to register for any future coursework in the program of study until this requirement is met. Extensions can be granted by the Program Chair or designee when extenuating circumstances prevent completion of the requirement in the specified timeframe. Requests for an extension must be submitted in writing to the Program Chair for consideration.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Articulation Agreements

The Chicago School has also established agreements between the MA Counseling program and the programs listed below to allow qualified students to receive transfer credit for courses taken in other The Chicago School programs that can be counted toward degree completion requirements for both programs. Click on the link of the program that interests you for details.

MA Counseling and Post Master's Certificate in Applied Behavior Analysis

Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of 60 credit hours
- Successful completion of a minimum of a 9-month placement experience and complete at least 700 hours with 280 direct service hours
- Successful completion of Counselor Preparation Comprehensive Exam (CPCE)
- Successful completion of Counseling Competency Examination (CCE)

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Student Professional Evaluation and Student Review Process:

The course content and experiential activities offered by the MA Counseling Psychology program are designed to afford students the opportunity to advance their intellectual and professional development. Throughout the program of study, students are given feedback concerning their personal, academic, and professional strengths, developmental needs, and overall progress. This feedback will come from a variety of sources including faculty, training staff, supervisors, peers, and clients. Students are expected to respond and incorporate this feedback in a mature and professional manner. Throughout their matriculation in the program students are expected to explore and recognize the

effects their personal beliefs, issues, emotions, and behaviors have on others and on their ability to function as a mental health practitioner. Students are formally evaluated with regard to their professional comportment throughout their program of study as well as in specifically designated courses within the curriculum using the Student Professional Evaluation form. Additionally, all students are reviewed, at minimum, twice annually by program faculty, staff, and administration with respect to their overall program performance during the Student Review Process.

Ethical Guidelines

The Chicago School expects that all counseling students will be knowledgeable of and adhere to the "ACA Code of Ethics" of the American Counseling Association, in addition to the "Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct," as published by the American Psychological Association. Furthermore, no student shall obtain part- or full-time employment that is beyond the scope of their cumulative training in the field of counseling psychology and shall not use titles governed by licensure statutes, unless so licensed by the state. A student who fails to adhere to this policy or otherwise fails to demonstrate the appropriate ethics required for practice in the field of counseling psychology is subject to discipline and possible dismissal.

Licensure (Chicago)

The MA Counseling Psychology (Chicago) program at The Chicago School meets the degree and coursework requirements to be eligible for licensure as a Licensed Professional Counselor (LPC) in Illinois.

Practicum and Internship

The practicum and internship placement experiences serve to integrate the theoretical and practical aspects of the education of a professional counselor. Students have the opportunity during the practicum and internship experiences to synthesize their knowledge, techniques and skills learned in the classroom. These supervised field placements allow students to provide direct services to clients and demonstrate their understanding of key concepts in professional counseling in a clinical setting. Students are able to apply to a wide variety of training sites that include community mental health centers, child welfare and family service agencies, substance abuse programs, college counseling centers, as well as private group practices. The sites available for the training experience are chosen based on their ability to serve diverse populations that will offer the best possible experience to equip students for working in the counseling field. Students are required to complete a minimum of a 9-month placement experience and complete at least 700 hours with 280 direct service hours during the placement. Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

Comprehensive Examination

All students are required to successfully complete the Counselor Preparation Comprehensive Exam (CPCE). The information tested by the exam covers the eight competencies outlined by the Council for Accreditation of Counseling and Related Educational Programs (CACREP) as defined by their Standards for Preparation. The CPCE is administered at least twice a year and is typically taken during the final year of study. Students must be in good academic standing to be eligible to take the CPCE. Students who have not successfully passed the CPCE are not eligible for degree conferral and must retake the exam during the next scheduled administration.

Counseling Competency Examination (CCE)

The Counseling Competency Examination (CCE) is a program capstone and is comprised of three (3) distinct components with the purpose of demonstrating proficiency in the core competencies of the academic program. This examination illustrates that a student has acquired the clinical skills necessary to graduate from the program. The final CCE is completed during the Spring semester within the Internship and Seminar course (CC598). The student must successfully pass the CCE in order to fulfill the requirements of the course as well as the internship placement experience. Students must pass the Fall semester practice CCE in order to pass the course CC597 Practicum and Seminar. Students must pass CC597 and CC598 to be eligible for degree conferral.

The Curriculum

Required Core: 48 credit hours

Elective or Concentration: 12 credit hours

Program Total

M.A. Counseling Psychology: 60 credit hours

Required Core Courses

- CC 502 Professional Development I (1 credit hour)
- CC 503 Professional Development II (1 credit hour)
- CC 504 Professional Development III (1 credit hour)
- CC 505 Theories of Counseling and Psychotherapy (3 credit hours)
- CC 510 Psychopathology and Introduction to Psychopharmacology (3 credit hours)
- CC 512 Psychology of the Lifespan (3 credit hours)
- CC 524 Interviewing and Basic Counseling Skills (3 credit hours)
- CC 525 Counseling Interventions and Treatment Planning (3 credit hours)
- CC 528 Foundations of Family Therapy (3 credit hours)
- CC 530 Group Processes of Therapy and Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CC 546 Diversity in Clinical Practice (3 credit hours)
- CC 547 Professional Ethics and Issues (3 credit hours)
- CC 550 Career Development and Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CC 551 Introduction to Clinical Assessment (3 credit hours)
- CC 556 Methods of Research and Program Evaluation (3 credit hours)
- CC 559 Introduction to Addictions (3 credit hours)
- CC 597 Practicum and Internship Seminar (3 credit hours)(auto full time)
- CC 598 Internship Seminar (3 credit hours)(auto full time)
- CC 680 Counselor Preparation Comprehensive Exam (0 credit hours)

Concentration Options

Child and Adolescent Treatment Concentration

The Child & Adolescent Treatment concentration is designed to provide specific education in the area of the assessment and treatment of children and adolescents. The emphasis is on developing a conceptual and experiential background in working with the mental health needs of these vulnerable populations within a wide range of familial and cultural life styles. The goal of this concentration is to prepare entry-level practitioners to work with children

representing the full age spectrum, from early childhood through adolescence. All students in this concentration must take CC 640, and choose two from the remaining three courses below.

All students in this concentration must take:

CC 640 - Assessment and Treatment Planning of Children and Adolescents (3 credit hours)

Students choose two of the following courses:

- CC 569 Advanced Family and Couples Therapy (3 credit hours)
- CC 644 Psychotherapy of Children (3 credit hours)
- CC 645 Psychotherapy with Adolescents (3 credit hours)

Health Psychology Concentration

Health psychology focuses on the application of psychological and counseling principles and techniques to problems related to health and illness. The concentration prepares students to gain knowledge on the psychological and counseling techniques aimed at helping clients prevent, adjust, recover, and/or manage difficulties related to health problems across the lifespan to promote functioning. The concentration also addresses issues related to health disparities with members from historically disenfranchised groups (e.g., ethnic minorities, gay, lesbian, bisexual, transgender) and ways to improve systems that promote and maintain health.

- CC 656 Wellness, Health, and Prevention (3 credit hours)
- CC 660 Biopsychosocial Aspects of Medical Conditions (3 credit hours)
- CC 662 Psychology of Aging (3 credit hours)

Latinx Mental Health Concentration

The Latinx Mental Health Concentration is designed to provide formalized training and specific education in the areas of assessment and treatment of Latinx clients and their families. A strong emphasis is placed on the socio-historical factors that impact the mental health of Latinxs in the United States. Students develop competencies essential for the understanding and provision of culturally congruent care to Latinx clients.

- CC 610 Cultural Foundations: The Latinx Experience (3 credit hours)
- CC 614 Treatment Issues and Interventions with Latinx (3 credit hours)
- CC 615 Community Interventions with Latinx (3 credit hours)

Marriage and Family Concentration

Students in the Marriage and Family concentration learn knowledge, skills, and in depth issues that will prepare them to work with families and couples. Key areas of family and couples work - domestic violence, divorce, sexual relations - are presented and explored in the classroom setting with the use of didactic material and real case vignettes.

Assessment of family dynamics is covered through a systems perspective.

- CC 567 Intimate Relations in the Couple System (3 credit hours)
- CC 568 Counseling Diverse Families (3 credit hours)
- CC 569 Advanced Family and Couples Therapy (3 credit hours)

Marriage and Family Concentration with Optional Coursework for LMFT (IL) Licensure Preparation

Students in this concentration learn in-depth skills and knowledge that will prepare them to work more effectively with families and couples. Specific and key areas of family and couples work - domestic violence, divorce, sexual relations - are presented and explored in the classroom setting with the use of didactic material and real case vignettes.

Assessment of family dynamics is covered through a systems perspective.

- CC 567 Intimate Relations in the Couple System (3 credit hours)
- CC 568 Counseling Diverse Families (3 credit hours)
- CC 569 Advanced Family and Couples Therapy (3 credit hours)
- CC 640 Assessment and Treatment Planning of Children and Adolescents (3 credit hours)

Trauma and Crisis Intervention Concentration

Students in this concentration have an opportunity to develop knowledge and skills for the assessment and treatment of trauma, both for its acute and longer-term effects. Disaster response, psychological first aid, and evidence-based treatment models will be examined and applied. Students will explore perspectives on the etiology and prevention of trauma as it applies to the individual, family, local, national and international community. The role of power and oppression in the experience of trauma within family, socio-political and ethno-cultural systems is integral. This concentration will prepare students with requisite skills to work with trauma related populations.

- CC 670 Traumatic Stress: Causes, Contexts, and Effects (3 credit hours)
- CC 673 Assessment and Treatment of Trauma: Children and Adolescents (3 credit hours)
- CC 675 Assessment and Treatment of Adults with Traumatic Disorders (3 credit hours)

Treatment of Addiction Disorders Concentration

The Treatment of Addiction Disorders concentration is designed to provide specific education in the area of assessment, intervention/prevention, and treatment of Alcohol and Other Drug Abuse (AODA) and behavioral addictions. This concentration strives to prepare individuals to provide effective services for a wide range of addictions in community-based environments.

For Chicago Campus ONLY: In addition to completing the degree and coursework requirements to be eligible for licensure as a Licensed Professional Counselor (LPC) in Illinois, students who complete the treatment of addictions disorder concentration and complete their internship experience at an approved Division of Alcoholism and Substance Abuse (DASA) site complete the degree, coursework, and supervised experience requirements for certification as a Certified Alcohol and Drug Counselor (CADC). All candidates are required to complete the Alcohol and Other Drug Abuse examination, along with the certification application process. For further information about alcohol and drug counselor certification in Illinois, please visit the Illinois Alcohol and Other Drug Abuse Professional Certification Association.

- CC 650 Biological Bases and Psychopharmacology of Addiction (3 credit hours)
- CC 652 Historical and Legal Developments in Addictions Disorders (3 credit hours)
- CC 655 Evaluation and Treatment of Addictions (3 credit hours)

Generalist Concentration/Electives (All students)

Students choose any four of the courses below:

- CC 527 Cognitive Behavioral Psychotherapy (3 credit hours)
- CC 566 Existential-Humanistic Psychotherapy (3 credit hours)
- CC 569 Advanced Family and Couples Therapy (3 credit hours)
- CC 632 Introduction to Supervision (3 credit hours)
- CC 635 The Supervisory Relationship (3 credit hours)
- CC 637 Professional Practice in Community Mental Health (3 credit hours)
- CC 640 Assessment and Treatment Planning of Children and Adolescents (3 credit hours)
- CC 644 Psychotherapy of Children (3 credit hours)
- CC 645 Psychotherapy with Adolescents (3 credit hours)
- CC 650 Biological Bases and Psychopharmacology of Addiction (3 credit hours)
- CC 652 Historical and Legal Developments in Addictions Disorders (3 credit hours)
- CC 655 Evaluation and Treatment of Addictions (3 credit hours)
- CC 656 Wellness, Health, and Prevention (3 credit hours)
- CC 660 Biopsychosocial Aspects of Medical Conditions (3 credit hours)
- CC 662 Psychology of Aging (3 credit hours)
- CC 663 Human Sexuality (3 credit hours)
- CC 664 Psychology of Grief and Loss (3 credit hours)
- CC 665 Interpersonal Violence (3 credit hours)
- CC 670 Traumatic Stress: Causes, Contexts, and Effects (3 credit hours)
- CC 673 Assessment and Treatment of Trauma: Children and Adolescents (3 credit hours)
- CC 675 Assessment and Treatment of Adults with Traumatic Disorders (3 credit hours)
 The program also offers a number of electives as CC 521 "Special Topics" that may be offered at different times. Check with your specific campus for additional information about these electives.

Extension Courses

- CC 600 Field Placement Extension (0 credits)(auto full time)
- CC 601 Practicum Extension (0 credit hours)(auto full time)

MA Forensic Psychology - Chicago

Chicago

Program Overview

The MA Forensic Psychology: Professional Counselor Licensure Track program is a counselor training program that equips students with essential diagnostic, therapeutic and consultative skills in preparation to work with a variety of forensic populations across the lifespan with a variety of emotional, intellectual, and psychological symptoms and conditions.

Graduates will be trained to work in a variety of forensic settings that serve various populations. The program adopts the practitioner-scholar model predicated on the belief that a competent mental health practitioner must have both a broad knowledge of the scientific and theoretical principles in the clinical practice of psychology and counseling and the ability to apply that knowledge to specific clinical situations, with an emphasis on forensic settings. The program also incorporates the 8 content areas outlined by the National Board of Certified Counselors to prepare students seeking professional counselor licensure and desiring to begin professional practice at the master's level.

Program Philosophy

The mission of the MA Forensic Psychology: Professional Counselor Licensure Track program is to prepare students to become mental health professionals through competence, personal integrity and academic excellence with an emphasis on promoting culturally-sensitive, responsive, and conscientious clinical practice. The curriculum integrates the theoretical foundations of forensic psychology; issues related to the law and the legal system; scientific research; counseling skills; essential diagnostic, clinical and consultative skills; sensitivity to ethical principles; and field placement experience in a variety of forensic settings and with diverse populations. Recognizing that our program is structured to promote postive student transformation to be intrinsically motivated to help others, we acknowledge the significance of promoting an environment that is sensitive to difference and preparing future clinicians to develop self-awareness and the necessary skills to continue to strive toward attaining multicultural competence. Thus, the program seeks to engage faculty and students in the preparation of clinicians who meet the needs of diverse communities.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Demonstrate fundamental knowledge of psychometric theory, assessment techniques, and forensic literature to evaluate various dimensions of human experience, outcomes of interventions, and psycho-legal issues.
- Integrate a basic knowledge of theory, research, and professional literature to guide interventions and promote optimal mental health and well-being.

Diversity

Recognize and respect individual and group differences as well as practice with cultural competence.

Professional Behavior

- Organize professional activities by ethical and professional codes, standards, and guidelines; statutes, rules, and regulations; and relevant case law.
- Develop and maintain effective professional relationships with clients, peers, supervisors, faculty, and other professionals.

Scholarship

 Demonstrate an understanding of the research methods in the social and behavioral sciences, the benefits and limitations of research, and the scientific and professional literature relevant to the field of forensic psychology.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to the MA Forensic Psychology program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors that are considered in admission are: undergraduate and any graduate coursework, GPA from undergraduate and any graduate schools, successful work history, the admission essay, and letters of recommendation. Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission. Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications. Please see the application for detailed instructions and information regarding application requirements, application deadlines, and letters of recommendation.

The program also requires applicants to have successfully completed at least one undergraduate course in either statistics or research methods with a grade earned of 'C' or better. Applicants without one of these courses must complete them in accordance with the policies outlined in the Progression Requirements section below.

Professional Counselor Licensure Progression Requirements

Applicants are required to have successfully completed (with a grade earned of 'C' or better) at least one undergraduate course in either statistics or research methods by the end of their first semester. Students must successfully meet this progression requirement through one of the following options:

- A grade of "C" or higher in TCS 390 Introduction to Statistics or TCS 385 Introduction to Research Methods;
- A grade of "C" or higher in a comparable course at the Chicago School; or
- A grade of "C" or higher in a comparable course at another regionally accredited institution.

Applicants accepted with no previous statistics or research methods coursework will be required to register for TCS 385 or TCS 390 in their first semester. All students must meet this progression requirement by the end of their first semester. Students who do not successfully fulfill this requirement will not be allowed to register in any future coursework within the program of study until this requirement is met. Failure to register may result in the student being administratively withdrawn from the program. Extensions can be granted by the Program Chair or designee when extenuating circumstances prevent completion of the requirement in the specified timeframe. Requests for an extension must be submitted in writing to the Program Chair for consideration.

Because the coursework utilizes online learning platforms, students must have access to a computer that is less than three years old, a broadband Internet connection, and the Microsoft Office Suite including Word, Excel, Outlook, and at minimum, the following computing skills:

- A comfort with basic Internet technology
- The ability to open and attach files from and to email
- The ability to send and receive email
- The ability to save documents

Standardized Testing

The Graduate Record Examination (GRE) is not required for admission in either the Licensure or Non-Licensure Tracks; however, students who have taken the exam may submit their scores to enhance their application. Scores should be sent directly to the school (GRE School Code: 1119) for consideration.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and students will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of coursework requirements
- Successful completion of 100 hour practicum and 600 hour internship for at total of 700 hours
- Successful completion of Forensic Competency Examination
- Successful completion of the Counselor Preparation Comprehensive Examination (CPCE)

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Ethical Guidelines

Students are expected to adhere to the ethical and professional behavior guidelines as set by the American Counseling Association's (ACA) Code of Ethics.

Reference will be made to additional ethical codes, such as the American Psychological Association's (APA) Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct, the Specialty Guidelines for Forensic Psychologists (American Psychological Association, 2013), and international codes as applicable. Acceptable student conduct is derived in large part from these sources of information.

Please refer to the policies located in the Student Rights and Responsibilities and section of the Academic Catalog and Student Handbook.

Student Professional Evaluation and Student Review Process

The course content and experiential activities offered by the MA Forensic Psychology program are designed to afford students the opportunity to advance their intellectual and professional development and functioning. Throughout the program of study, students are given feedback concerning their personal, academic, and professional strengths, developmental needs, and performance. This feedback will come from a variety of sources and may include faculty, supervisors, peers, and/or clients. Students are expected to respond and incorporate this feedback in a mature and professional manner. Throughout their matriculation in the program, students are expected to explore and recognize the effects their personal beliefs, issues, emotions, and behaviors have on others and on their ability to function as a professional. Students are also formally evaluated with regard to their professional comportment at the end of specific courses in the curriculum. Additionally, all students are reviewed by program faculty and administration with respect to their overall program performance during the student review process

The course content and experiential activities offered by the MA Forensic Psychology program are designed to afford students the opportunity to advance their intellectual and professional development and functioning. Throughout the program of study, students are given feedback concerning their personal, academic, and professional strengths, developmental needs, and performance. This feedback will come from a variety of sources and may include faculty, supervisors, peers, and/or clients. Students are expected to respond and incorporate this feedback in a mature and professional manner. Throughout their matriculation in the program, students are expected to explore and recognize the effects their personal beliefs, issues, emotions, and behaviors have on others and on their ability to function as a

professional. Students are also formally evaluated with regard to their professional comportment at the end of specific courses in the curriculum. Additionally, all students are reviewed by program faculty and administration with respect to their overall program performance during the student review process at least tiwce per academic year.

A multi-tiered support system is in place for students within the program, including support from the student support counselor, academic advisor, faculty, and department chair. Students are advised to discuss their ongoing development within this support system. Students wishing to change academic advisors may petition to do so upon completion of their first semester in the program.

Professional Development Group and Academic Advisor Assignment

All students are required to enroll in Professional Development Group during their first semester in the program. A student's Professional Development Group instructor may serve as his/her academic advisor throughout their duration in the program. Students wishing to change academic advisors may petition to do so upon completion of their first semester in the program.

A multi-tiered support system is in place, including support from the academic advisor, department chair, and student support counselor.

Concentrations

All students in the Chicago-based Professional Counselor Licensure Track have the option of selecting a concentration in Applied Forensic Community Services. Students must officially declare the concentration during their first semester of study. This declaration will outline the course of study for each subsequent semester. Students who complete this concentration will increase their total program credit hour from 60 to 63 credits

Practicum and Internship

The MA Forensic Psychology: Professional Counselor Licensure Track program is committed to training highly competent and ethical clinicians who will ultimately contribute to the mental health field. Toward that end, students are required to complete relevant coursework in combination with clinical training for successful completion of their master's degree. Full-time students traditionally complete their practicum and internship experience during the second year of the academic program. Part-time students work closely with their academic advisor to determine the most appropriate year to complete training requirements.

Forensic practicum/internships are closely supervised educational and training experiences in which the knowledge, skills, and attitudes developed in the classroom can be directly applied to forensic and/or clinical populations. All sites are approved by the Office of Placement and Training (OPT) and allow students the opportunity to work with high-risk populations in an array of settings, such as prisons, jails, detention centers, police departments, special treatment units, state psychiatric hospitals, substance abuse facilities, and community-based programs for victims and offenders. These formative experiences integrate the science and practice of forensic psychology and counseling in real world situations. Through intensive supervision and mentorship, students begin to develop their professional identities, clarify their professional strengths and weaknesses, and understand their roles as clinicians and/or providers of forensic services to a broad and diverse range of populations within a variety of settings.

Students must accrue a minimum of 700 hours of clinical training over the course of a 9-to-12-month practicum and internship under the supervision of a master's level licensed clinician or psychologist (e.g., LCSW, LPC, LCPC, LPCC, LMFT, licenced psychologist or psychiatrist). Students are expected to attend practicum between 16 to 24 hours per

week and must participate in at least one hour of weekly individual supervision. In addition, students will complete at least 280 hours to direct client contact, which may include a variety of clinical activities such as diagnostic and/or intake interviewing; individual, group, or family therapy; crisis intervention; and milieu therapy. Students are also responsible for administrative and case management tasks, including, but not limited to victim advocacy, consultation, applied research, and/or court attendance.

Faculty reviews each student's progress in the program to inform decisions regarding student's readiness to apply to practicum/internship.

Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

Forensic Competency Examination (FCE)

Students who complete a practicum and internship are required to pass the Forensic Competency Examination (FCE), a program capstone with the purpose of demonstrating proficiency in the core competencies of the program. The FCE is completed while students are accuring their internship hours in order to fulfill program requirements. Students must pass at least one practice FCE prior to completing the final examination.

The FCE is a summative assessment of the program learning outcomes used to measure a student's knowledge of assessment, diagnosis, case conceptualization, and self-evaluation based on an actual case from the student's internship experience.

More specific information related to the FCE is provided to students during the practicum and internship seminar courses.

Counselor Preparation Comprehensive Examination (CPCE)

All students are required to successfully complete The Center for Credentialing & Education (CCE)'s Counselor Preparation Comprehensive Exam (CPCE). The CPCE test items measure a student's knowledge of the 8 content areas outlined by the National Board of Certified Counselors:

- Human Growth and Development
- Social and Cultural Diversity
- Counseling and Helping Relationships
- Group Counseling and Group Work
- Career Development
- Assessment and Testing
- Research and Program Evaluation
- Professional Counseling Orientation and Ethical Practice

The CPCE is taken prior to graduation and students must be in good academic standing to be eligible. The CPCE is a graduation requirement and students must retake the exam until they achieve a passing score.

The Curriculum

Track Requirements

M.A. Forensic Psychology Professional Counselor Licensure Track: 60 credit hours; 63 credit hours with Applied Forensic Community Services Concentration

Required Core (56 Credit Hours)

- FO 608 Professional Development Group (1 credit hour)
- FO 610 Introduction to Forensic Psychology (2 credit hours)
- FO 611 Ethics and Professional Issues (3 credit hours)
- FO 612 Human Growth and Development (3 credit hours)
- FO 613 Psychopathology (3 credit hours)
- FO 614 Research Methods (3 credits)
- FO 617 Clinical and Diagnostic Interviewing (3 credits)
- FO 618 Violence and Risk Assessment (2 credits)
 - Students choose either:
- FO 619 Evaluation and Treatment of the Adult Offender (2 credits) or
- FO 620 Evaluation and Treatment of the Juvenile Offender (2 credits)
- FO 621 Trauma and Crisis Intervention (2 credits)
- FO 622 Mental Health Law (2 credits)
- FO 625 Assessment and Treatment of Substance-Related and Addictive Disorders (3 credits)
- FO 627 Forensic Documentation, Report Writing, and Testifying (3 credits)
- FO 635 Group Processes of Therapy (3 credits)
- FO 636 Family Systems and Family Therapy (3 credits)
- FO 637 Theories of Counseling and Psychotherapy (3 credits)
- FO 638 Career Development and Counseling (3 credits)(course fee \$30 on ground only)
- FO 703 Social and Cultural Foundations in Counseling (3 credit hours)
- FO 707 Assessment in Counseling (3 credits)
- FO 644 Practicum (3 credits)(auto full time)
- FO 645 Internship I (3 credits)(auto full time)
- FO 800 Counselor Preparation Comprehensive Exam (0 credit hours)

Electives (4 Credit Hours)

- FO 623 Psychology of Law Enforcement (2 credit hours)
- FO 624 Correctional Counseling and Rehabilitation (2 credit hours)
- FO 630 Forensic Mediation and Dispute Resolution (2 credits)
- FO 633 Evaluating and Treating the Sex Offender (2 credits)
- FO 634 Hostage Negotiations (2 credits)
- FO 660 Psychology of Terrorism (2 credit hours)
- FO 609 Special Topics I (1 credit hour)
- FO 639 Special Topics II (2 credits)
- FO 643 Special Topics III (3 credits)
- FO 651 Independent Study I (1 credit)
- FO 652 Independent Study II (2 credits)
- FO 653 Independent Study III (3 credits)
- FO 706 Mental Health Issues in Jails and Prisons (2 credits)
- FO 708 Sex Offenders (2 credit hours)

Applied Forensic Community Services Concentration (7 Credit Hours)

- FO 664 Community Engagement (1 credit)
- FO 665 Community Interventions in Forensic Mental Health I (2 credits) Students choose one of the following:
- FO 666 Community Interventions in Forensic Mental Health II (2 credits)
- FO 709 Program Evaluation/ Community Based Research (2 credit hours)
 Students choose two additional elective credit hours.

Extension Courses

• FO 650 - Internship II (0 credits)(auto full time)

MA Forensic Psychology - Los Angeles - Anaheim

Los Angeles - Anaheim

Program Overview

The MA Forensic Psychology: Professional Counselor Licensure Track program is a counselor training program that equips students with essential diagnostic, therapeutic and consultative skills in preparation to work with a variety of forensic populations across the lifespan with a variety of emotional, intellectual, and psychological symptoms and conditions.

Graduates will be trained to work in a variety of forensic settings that serve various populations. The program adopts the practitioner-scholar model predicated on the belief that a competent mental health practitioner must have both a broad knowledge of the scientific and theoretical principles in the clinical practice of psychology and counseling and the ability to apply that knowledge to specific clinical situations, with an emphasis on forensic settings. The program also incorporates the 8 content areas outlined by the National Board of Certified Counselors to prepare students seeking professional counselor licensure and desiring to begin professional practice at the master's level.

Program Philosophy

The mission of the MA Forensic Psychology: Professional Counselor Licensure Track program is to prepare students to become mental health professionals through competence, personal integrity and academic excellence with an emphasis on promoting culturally-sensitive, responsive, and conscientious clinical practice. The curriculum integrates the theoretical foundations of forensic psychology; issues related to the law and the legal system; scientific research; counseling skills; essential diagnostic, clinical and consultative skills; sensitivity to ethical principles; and field placement experience in a variety of forensic settings and with diverse populations. Recognizing that our program is structured to promote postive student transformation to be intrinsically motivated to help others, we acknowledge the significance of promoting an environment that is sensitive to difference and preparing future clinicians to develop self-awareness and the necessary skills to continue to strive toward attaining multicultural competence. Thus, the program seeks to engage faculty and students in the preparation of clinicians who meet the needs of diverse communities.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Demonstrate fundamental knowledge of psychometric theory, assessment techniques, and forensic literature to evaluate various dimensions of human experience, outcomes of interventions, and psycho-legal issues.
- Integrate a basic knowledge of theory, research, and professional literature to guide interventions and promote optimal mental health and well-being.

Diversity

Recognize and respect individual and group differences as well as practice with cultural competence.

Professional Behavior

- Organize professional activities by ethical and professional codes, standards, and guidelines; statutes, rules, and regulations; and relevant case law.
- Develop and maintain effective professional relationships with clients, peers, supervisors, faculty, and other professionals.

Scholarship

 Demonstrate an understanding of the research methods in the social and behavioral sciences, the benefits and limitations of research, and the scientific and professional literature relevant to the field of forensic psychology.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to the MA Forensic Psychology program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors that are considered in admission are: undergraduate and any graduate coursework, GPA from undergraduate and any graduate schools, successful work history, the admission essay, and letters of recommendation. Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission. Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications. Please see the application for detailed instructions and information regarding application requirements, application deadlines, and letters of recommendation.

The program also requires applicants to have successfully completed at least one undergraduate course in either statistics or research methods with a grade earned of 'C' or better. Applicants without one of these courses must complete them in accordance with the policies outlined in the Progression Requirements section below.

Professional Counselor Licensure Progression Requirements

Applicants are required to have successfully completed (with a grade earned of 'C' or better) at least one undergraduate course in either statistics or research methods by the end of their first semester. Students must successfully meet this progression requirement through one of the following options:

A grade of "C" or higher in TCS 390 Introduction to Statistics or TCS 385 Introduction to Research Methods;

- A grade of "C" or higher in a comparable course at the Chicago School; or
- A grade of "C" or higher in a comparable course at another regionally accredited institution.

Applicants accepted with no previous statistics or research methods coursework will be required to register for TCS 385 or TCS 390 in their first semester. All students must meet this progression requirement by the end of their first semester. Students who do not successfully fulfill this requirement will not be allowed to register in any future coursework within the program of study until this requirement is met. Failure to register may result in the student being administratively withdrawn from the program. Extensions can be granted by the Program Chair or designee when extenuating circumstances prevent completion of the requirement in the specified timeframe. Requests for an extension must be submitted in writing to the Program Chair for consideration.

Because the coursework utilizes online learning platforms, students must have access to a computer that is less than three years old, a broadband Internet connection, and the Microsoft Office Suite including Word, Excel, Outlook, and at minimum, the following computing skills:

- A comfort with basic Internet technology
- The ability to open and attach files from and to email
- The ability to send and receive email
- The ability to save documents

Standardized Testing

The Graduate Record Examination (GRE) is not required for admission in either the Licensure or Non-Licensure Tracks; however, students who have taken the exam may submit their scores to enhance their application. Scores should be sent directly to the school (GRE School Code: 1119) for consideration.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and students will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of coursework requirements
- Successful completion of 100 hour practicum and 600 hour internship for at total of 700 hours
- Successful completion of Forensic Competency Examination
- Successful completion of the Counselor Preparation Comprehensive Examination (CPCE)

Articulation Agreements

The Chicago School has also established agreements between the M.A. in Forensic Psychology program and the programs listed below to allow qualified students to enroll in doctoral level courses while completing their master's degree that will count toward the doctoral degree.

MA Forensic Psychology to PsyD Forensic Psychology

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Ethical Guidelines

Students are expected to adhere to the ethical and professional behavior guidelines as set by the American Counseling Association's (ACA) Code of Ethics.

Reference will be made to additional ethical codes, such as the American Psychological Association's (APA) Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct, the Specialty Guidelines for Forensic Psychologists (American Psychological Association, 2013), and international codes as applicable. Acceptable student conduct is derived in large part from these sources of information.

Please refer to the policies located in the Student Rights and Responsibilities and section of the Academic Catalog and Student Handbook.

Student Professional Evaluation and Student Review Process

The course content and experiential activities offered by the MA Forensic Psychology program are designed to afford students the opportunity to advance their intellectual and professional development and functioning. Throughout the program of study, students are given feedback concerning their personal, academic, and professional strengths, developmental needs, and performance. This feedback will come from a variety of sources and may include faculty, supervisors, peers, and/or clients. Students are expected to respond and incorporate this feedback in a mature and professional manner. Throughout their matriculation in the program, students are expected to explore and recognize the effects their personal beliefs, issues, emotions, and behaviors have on others and on their ability to function as a professional. Students are also formally evaluated with regard to their professional comportment at the end of specific courses in the curriculum. Additionally, all students are reviewed by program faculty and administration with respect to their overall program performance during the student review process

The course content and experiential activities offered by the MA Forensic Psychology program are designed to afford students the opportunity to advance their intellectual and professional development and functioning. Throughout the program of study, students are given feedback concerning their personal, academic, and professional strengths, developmental needs, and performance. This feedback will come from a variety of sources and may include faculty, supervisors, peers, and/or clients. Students are expected to respond and incorporate this feedback in a mature and professional manner. Throughout their matriculation in the program, students are expected to explore and recognize the effects their personal beliefs, issues, emotions, and behaviors have on others and on their ability to function as a professional. Students are also formally evaluated with regard to their professional comportment at the end of specific courses in the curriculum. Additionally, all students are reviewed by program faculty and administration with respect to their overall program performance during the student review process at least twice per academic year.

A multi-tiered support system is in place for students within the program, including support from the student support counselor, academic advisor, faculty, and department chair. Students are advised to discuss their ongoing development within this support system. Students wishing to change academic advisors may petition to do so upon completion of their first semester in the program.

Professional Development Group and Academic Advisor Assignment

All students are required to enroll in Professional Development Group during their first semester in the program. A student's Professional Development Group instructor may serve as his/her academic advisor throughout their duration in the program. Students wishing to change academic advisors may petition to do so upon completion of their first semester in the program.

A multi-tiered support system is in place, including support from the academic advisor, department chair, and student support counselor.

Concentrations

All students in the Los Angeles and Anaheim-based Professional Counselor Licensure Track have the option of selecting a concentration in Police Psychology. Students must officially declare the concentration during their first semester of study. This declaration will outline the course of study for each subsequent semester. Students who complete this concentration will increase their total program credit hour from 65 to 71 credits.

Practicum and Internship

The MA Forensic Psychology: Professional Counselor Licensure Track program is committed to training highly competent and ethical clinicians who will ultimately contribute to the mental health field. Toward that end, students are required to complete relevant coursework in combination with clinical training for successful completion of their master's degree. Full-time students traditionally complete their practicum and internship experience during the second year of the academic program. Part-time students work closely with their academic advisor to determine the most appropriate year to complete training requirements.

Forensic practicum/internships are closely supervised educational and training experiences in which the knowledge, skills, and attitudes developed in the classroom can be directly applied to forensic and/or clinical populations. All sites are approved by the Office of Placement and Training (OPT) and allow students the opportunity to work with high-risk populations in an array of settings, such as prisons, jails, detention centers, police departments, special treatment units, state psychiatric hospitals, substance abuse facilities, and community-based programs for victims and offenders. These formative experiences integrate the science and practice of forensic psychology and counseling in real world situations. Through intensive supervision and mentorship, students begin to develop their professional identities, clarify their professional strengths and weaknesses, and understand their roles as clinicians and/or providers of forensic services to a broad and diverse range of populations within a variety of settings.

Students must accrue a minimum of 700 hours of clinical training over the course of a 9-to-12-month practicum and internship under the supervision of a master's level licensed clinician or psychologist (e.g., LCSW, LPC, LCPC, LPCC, LMFT, licenced psychologist or psychiatrist). Students are expected to attend practicum between 16 to 24 hours per week and must participate in at least one hour of weekly individual supervision. In addition, students will complete at least 280 hours to direct client contact, which may include a variety of clinical activities such as diagnostic and/or intake interviewing; individual, group, or family therapy; crisis intervention; and milieu therapy. Students are also responsible for administrative and case management tasks, including, but not limited to victim advocacy, consultation, applied research, and/or court attendance.

Faculty reviews each student's progress in the program to inform decisions regarding student's readiness to apply to practicum/internship.

Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

Forensic Competency Examination (FCE)

Students who complete a practicum and internship are required to pass the Forensic Competency Examination (FCE), a program capstone with the purpose of demonstrating proficiency in the core competencies of the program. The FCE is completed while students are accuring their internship hours in order to fulfill program requirements. Students must pass at least one practice FCE prior to completing the final examination.

The FCE is a summative assessment of the program learning outcomes used to measure a student's knowledge of assessment, diagnosis, case conceptualization, and self-evaluation based on an actual case from the student's internship experience.

More specific information related to the FCE is provided to students during the practicum and internship seminar courses.

Counselor Preparation Comprehensive Examination (CPCE)

All students are required to successfully complete The Center for Credentialing & Education (CCE)'s Counselor Preparation Comprehensive Exam (CPCE). The CPCE test items measure a student's knowledge of the 8 content areas outlined by the National Board of Certified Counselors:

- Human Growth and Development
- Social and Cultural Diversity
- Counseling and Helping Relationships
- Group Counseling and Group Work
- Career Development
- Assessment and Testing
- Research and Program Evaluation
- Professional Counseling Orientation and Ethical Practice

The CPCE is taken prior to graduation and students must be in good academic standing to be eligible. The CPCE is a graduation requirement and students must retake the exam until they achieve a passing score.

The Curriculum

Required Core: 65 Credit Hours, 71 credit hours with optional Police Psychology Concentration

Required Core (65 credit hours)

- FO 608 Professional Development Group (1 credit hour)
- FO 610 Introduction to Forensic Psychology (2 credit hours)
- FO 611 Ethics and Professional Issues (3 credit hours)
- FO 612 Human Growth and Development (3 credit hours)
- FO 613 Psychopathology (3 credit hours)
- FO 614 Research Methods (3 credits)
- FO 617 Clinical and Diagnostic Interviewing (3 credits)
- FO 618 Violence and Risk Assessment (2 credits)
- FO 621 Trauma and Crisis Intervention (2 Credits)
- FO 622 Mental Health Law (2 credits)

- FO 625 Assessment and Treatment of Substance-Related and Addictive Disorders (3 credits)
- FO 627 Forensic Documentation, Report Writing, and Testifying (3 credits)
- FO 635 Group Processes of Therapy (3 credits)
- FO 636 Family Systems and Family Therapy (3 credits)
- FO 637 Theories of Counseling and Psychotherapy (3 credits)
- FO 638 Career Development and Counseling (3 credits)(course fee \$30 on ground only)
- FO 677 Human Sexuality and Sexual Deviance (2 credits)
- FO 679 Family/Partner Violence (2 credits)
- FO 696 Introduction to Clinical Psychopharmacology (3 credits)
- FO 697 Advanced Forensic Counseling & Therapeutic Tools (3 credits)
- FO 698 Trauma Specific Interventions (1 credit)
- FO 703 Social and Cultural Foundations in Counseling (3 credit hours)
- FO 707 Assessment in Counseling (3 credits)
- FO 680 Clinical Practicum I (3 credits)(auto full time)
- FO 681 Clinical Practicum II (3 credits)(auto full time)
- FO 800 Counselor Preparation Comprehensive Exam (0 credit hours)

Police Psychology Concentration (6 Credit Hours)

- FO 700 Psychology and Operational Policing (2 credits)
- FO 701 Tactical and Field Psychology (2 credits)
- FO 702 Police Organization and Administration (2 credits)

Extension Courses

FO 996 - Clinical Practicum Extension (0 credits)

MA Forensic Psychology - Online

Online

Program Overview

The rapidly growing field of Forensic Psychology focuses on the application of the science and profession of psychology to questions and issues relating to law and the legal system. The Chicago School's MA Forensic Psychology program offers two distinct tracks: one Professional Clinical Counselor Licensure Track that offers all classes in an online format with two residencies (in-person or virtual), and one Non-Licensure Track that offers all classes in an online format. Each track is designed so that students will gain a mastery of forensic psychology, enabling them to bring psychology into the legal and public policy arenas in an ethical, academically informed, and research-based manner. The two online tracks are as follows:

MA Forensic Psychology: Non-Licensure Track - Online Campus

The 37-credit-hour Online campus track is designed for students who are employed in related field in the legal and public policy arenas and where law integrates with psychology. Students must complete an applied research project that integrates and applies program learning to an authentic workplace situation. This track does not enable students to apply for licensure.

MA Forensic Psychology: Professional Clinical Counselor Licensure Track - Online Campus

The 60 credit online track option includes practicum and internship experience specific to the state in which the student intends to pursue licensure (subject to restrictions). This track is intended for students who wish to provide mental health services and seek professional counseling licensure in most states and the District of Columbia (see list of states covered under Licensure).

Program Philosophy

The curriculum exposes students to the relevant psychological and counseling theoretical principles, scientific research, and practice skills that enable students to apply the science and practice of psychology to issues of law and the legal system, and to assume professional responsibilities in a variety of forensic settings. The program emphasizes critical thinking, sensitivity to ethical principles, the role of personal values, and cultural diversity and endeavors to be flexible in order to adapt course content to reflect developments in the field.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Demonstrate fundamental knowledge of psychometric theory, assessment techniques, and forensic literature to evaluate various dimensions of human experience, outcomes of interventions, and psycho-legal issues.
- Integrate a basic knowledge of theory, research, and professional literature to guide interventions and promote optimal mental health and well-being.

Diversity

Recognize and respect individual and group differences as well as practice with cultural competence.

Professional Behavior

- Organize professional activities by ethical and professional codes, standards, and guidelines; statutes, rules, and regulations; and relevant case law.
- Develop and maintain effective professional relationships with clients, peers, supervisors, faculty, and other professionals.

Scholarship

 Demonstrate an understanding of the research methods in the social and behavioral sciences, the benefits and limitations of research, and the scientific and professional literature relevant to the field of forensic psychology.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

There are separate admission requirements and application procedures for the Licensure and the Non-Licensure Tracks. Applicants interested in the MA Forensic Psychology program should inquire about the specific admission requirements at www.thechicagoschool.edu under "Prospective Students" and must apply directly at www.thechicagoschool.edu

Application to the MA Forensic Psychology program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors that are considered in admission are: undergraduate and any graduate coursework, GPA from undergraduate and any graduate schools, successful work history, the admission essay, and letters of recommendation. Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission. Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications. Please see the application for detailed instructions and information regarding application requirements, application deadlines, and letters of recommendation.

The program also requires applicants to have successfully completed at least one undergraduate course in either statistics or research methods with a grade earned of 'C' or better. Applicants without one of these courses must complete them in accordance with the policies outlined in the Progression Requirements section below. An interview may also be conducted by the Program Chair.

Professional Clinical Counselor Licensure Track and Non-Licensure Track Progression Requirements

Both tracks require applicants to have successfully completed (with a grade earned of 'C' or better) at least one undergraduate course in either statistics or research methods by the end of their first semester for Professional Clinical Counselor Licensure Track students and 2nd term for Non-Licensure Track students. Students must successfully meet this progression requirement through one of the following options:

- A grade of "C" or higher in TCS 390 Introduction to Statistics or TCS 385 Introduction to Research Methods;
- A grade of "C" or higher in a comparable course at the Chicago School; or
- A grade of "C" or higher in a comparable course at another regionally accredited institution.

Applicants accepted with no previous statistics or research methods coursework will be required to register for TCS 385 or TCS 390 in their first ground semester or two online terms. All students enrolled in either of these tracks must meet this progression requirement by the end of their first semester for Professional Clincal Counselor Licensure Track students and 2nd term for Non-Licensure Track students. Students who do not successfully fulfill this requirement will not be allowed to register in any future coursework within the program of study until this requirement is met. Failure to register may result in the student being administratively withdrawn from the program. Extensions can be granted by the Program Chair or designee when extenuating circumstances prevent completion of the requirement in the specified timeframe. Requests for an extension must be submitted in writing to the Program Chair for consideration.

In addition to the admission criteria currently in place, applicants to the Non-Licensure Track should have three or more years of full-time, related, post-baccalaureate relevant work experience. Because the coursework for the Non-Licensure Track is offered via distance learning format, and because both tracks utilize online learning platforms, students within both tracks must have access to a computer that is less than three years old, a broadband Internet connection, and the Microsoft Office Suite including Word, Excel, Outlook, and PowerPoint at minimum, in addition to the following computing skills:

- A comfort with basic Internet technology
- The ability to open and attach files from and to email
- The ability to send and receive email
- The ability to save documents

Non-Licensure Track applicants who do not have the required undergraduate coursework, but who have sufficient relevant work experience may be granted a waiver of one or more of these requirements for admission by making a request to the Program Chair or designee.

Standardized Testing

The Graduate Record Examination (GRE) is not a requirement for admission in either the Licensure or Non-Licensure Tracks; however, students who have taken the exam may submit their scores to enhance their application. Scores should be sent directly to the school (GRE School Code: 1119) for consideration.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once the review of an application begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and students will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of coursework requirements (track specific details below)
- Successful completion of Applied Research Project (Non-Licensure Track students only)
- Successful completion of 100 hour practicum and 600 hour internship (Professional Clinical Counselor Licensure Track students only)
- Successful completion of Forensic Competency Examination (Professional Clinical Counselor Licensure Track students only)
- Successful completion of the Counselor Preparation Comprehensive Examination (CPCE) (Professional Clinical Counselor Licensure Track students only)
- Successful completion of two mandatory residencies at one of The Chicago School ground campuses or virtual options (Professional Clinical Counselor Licensure Track students only)

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Ethical Guidelines

Students are expected to adhere to the ethical and professional behavior guidelines as set by the American Counseling Association's (ACA) Code of Ethics.

Reference will be made to additional ethical codes, such as the American Psychological Association's (APA) Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct, the Specialty Guidelines for Forensic Psychologists (American Psychological Association, 2013), and international codes as applicable. Acceptable student conduct is derived in large part from these sources of information.

Please refer to the policies located in the Student Rights and Responsibilities and section of the Academic Catalog and Student Handbook.

Student Professional Evaluation and Student Review Process

The course content and experiential activities offered by the MA Forensic Psychology program are designed to afford students the opportunity to advance their intellectual and professional development and functioning. Throughout the program of study, students are given feedback concerning their personal, academic, and professional strengths, developmental needs, and performance. This feedback will come from a variety of sources and may include faculty, supervisors, peers, and/or clients. Students are expected to respond and incorporate this feedback in a mature and professional manner. Throughout their matriculation in the program, students are expected to explore and recognize the effects their personal beliefs, issues, emotions, and behaviors have on others and on their ability to function and provide services as a professional. Students are also formally evaluated with regard to their professional comportment at the end of specific courses in the curriculum. Additionally, all students are reviewed by program faculty and administration with respect to their overall program performance during the student review process

Academic Advisor Assignment

An academic advisor is assigned to each student and student progress is tracked and addressed through informal meetings or more formal Academic Development Plans (ADPs) depending on the presenting needs. A multi-tiered support system is in place, including support from the academic advisor, department chair, and student support counselor.

Practicum and Internship for Professional Clinical Counselor Licensure Track Students

The MA Forensic Psychology: Professional Clinical Counselor Licensure Track program is committed to training highly competent and ethical clinicians who will ultimately contribute to the mental health field. Toward that end, students are required to complete relevant coursework in combination with clinical training for successful completion of their master's degree. Full-time students traditionally complete their practicum and internship experience during the second year of the academic program. Part-time students work with their academic advisor to determine the most appropriate year to complete training requirements.

Forensic practicum/internships are closely supervised educational and training experiences in which the knowledge, skills, and attitudes developed in the classroom can be directly applied to forensic and/or clinical populations. Each student is responsible for identifying potential practicum/internship sites. All sites are approved by the Office of Placement and Training (OPT) and allow students the opportunity to work with clinical populations in an array of settings, such as prisons, jails, detention centers, police departments, special treatment units, state psychiatric hospitals, substance abuse facilities, and community-based programs for victims and offenders. These formative experiences integrate the science and practice of forensic psychology and counseling in real world situations. Through intensive supervision and mentorship, students begin to develop their professional identities, clarify their professional strengths and weaknesses, and understand their roles as clinicians and/or providers of forensic services to a broad and diverse range of populations within a variety of settings.

Students must accrue a minimum of 700 hours of clinical training over the course of a 9-to-12-month practicum and internship under the supervision of a licensed professional that is approved by the state in which the student hopes to be

licensed. These may include, but are not limited to, a master's level licensed clinician or psychologist (e.g. LCPC, LCSW, LPC, LPCC, LMFT, licensed psychologist or psychiatrist). Students are expected to attend practicum between 16 to 24 hours per week and must participate in at least one hour of weekly individual supervision. In addition, students will complete at least 280 hours to direct client contact, which may include a variety of clinical activities such as diagnostic and/or intake interviewing; individual, group, or family therapy; crisis intervention; and milieu therapy. Students are also responsible for administrative and case management tasks, including, but not limited to victim advocacy, consultation, applied research, and/or court attendance. Some states require additional hours for licensure. The Director of Clinical Training will work with students to understand their individual state licensure requirements.

Faculty reviews each student's progress in the program to inform decisions regarding student's readiness to apply to practicum/internship. Students are not allowed to contact or engage with a site formally until the Director of Clinical Training has formalized the relationship and approved the student to move forward.

Throughout their training experience, students will be enrolled in a readiness seminar (FO6000 series courses). These seminar courses include a one and a half hour synchronous group meeting every week. This time is used to consult about the training experience as well as prepare for and complete their Forensic Competency Exam (FCE). This exam includes a written clinical report as well as an oral presentation.

Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

Forensic Competency Examination (FCE)

Students who complete a practicum and internship are required to pass the Forensic Competency Examination (FCE), a program capstone with the purpose of demonstrating proficiency in the core competencies of the program. The FCE is completed while students are accuring their internship hours in order to fulfill program requirements. Students must pass at least one practice FCE prior to completing the final examination.

The FCE is a summative assessment of the program learning outcomes used to measure a student's knowledge of assessment, diagnosis, case conceptualization, and self-evaluation based on an actual case from the student's internship experience.

More specific information related to the FCE is provided to students during the practicum and internship seminar courses.

Counselor Preparation Comprehensive Examination (CPCE)

All students are required to successfully complete The Center for Credentialing & Education (CCE)'s Counselor Preparation Comprehensive Exam (CPCE). The CPCE test items measure a student's knowledge of the 8 content areas outlined by the National Board of Certified Counselors:

- Human Growth and Development
- Social and Cultural Diversity
- Counseling and Helping Relationships
- Group Counseling and Group Work
- Career Development
- Assessment and Testing

- Research and Program Evaluation
- Professional Counseling Orientation and Ethical Practice

The CPCE is taken prior to graduation, typically during internship when registered for FO800, and students must be in good academic standing to be eligible. The CPCE is a graduation requirement.

The Curriculum

M.A. Forensic Psychology Non-Licensure Track: 37 credit hours

M.A. Forensic Psychology Licensure Track: 60 credit hours

Non-Licensure Track Core (31 credit hours)

- FO 610 Introduction to Forensic Psychology (2 credit hours)
- FO 611 Ethics and Professional Issues (3 credit hours)
- FO 612 Human Growth and Development (3 credit hours)
- FO 613 Psychopathology (3 credit hours)
- FO 617 Clinical and Diagnostic Interviewing (3 credits)
- FO 622 Mental Health Law (2 credits)
- FO 625 Assessment and Treatment of Substance-Related and Addictive Disorders (3 credits)
- FO 621 Trauma and Crisis Intervention (2 Credits)
- FO 703 Social and Cultural Foundations in Counseling (3 credit hours)
 Students take FO 619 OR FO 620
- FO 619 Evaluation and Treatment of the Adult Offender (2 credits)
- FO 620 Evaluation and Treatment of the Juvenile Offender (2 credits)
- FO 614 Research Methods (3 credits)
- FO 713 The Applied Research Project: Ethics and Showcase Preparation (1 credit)
- FO 714 The Applied Research Project: ARP Showcase Defense (1 credit)

Non-Licensure Track Elective Courses (6 credit hours)

Students may also take courses from the Licensure Track as elective courses.

- CM 536 Couples and Family Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CM 691 Grief Counseling (3 credit hours)
- FO 618 Violence and Risk Assessment (2 credits)
- FO 623 Psychology of Law Enforcement (2 credit hours)
- FO 624 Correctional Counseling and Rehabilitation (2 credit hours)
- FO 633 Evaluating and Treating the Sex Offender (2 credits)
- FO 634 Hostage Negotiations (2 credits)
- FO 658 Social Psychology and Aggression (2 credit hours)
- FO 660 Psychology of Terrorism (2 credit hours)
 If not chosen as a core course, students may take the following as electives
- FO 619 Evaluation and Treatment of the Adult Offender (2 credits)
- FO 620 Evaluation and Treatment of the Juvenile Offender (2 credits)
- IN 551 Crisis Response Trauma and Crisis Intervention (3 credit hours)

Licensure Track Core (51 Credit Hours)

- FO 607 Trauma and Crisis Intervention (3 credit hours)
- FO 611 Ethics and Professional Issues (3 credit hours)
- FO 612 Human Growth and Development (3 credit hours)
- FO 613 Psychopathology (3 credit hours)
- FO 614 Research Methods (3 credits)
- FO 625 Assessment and Treatment of Substance-Related and Addictive Disorders (3 credits)
- FO 635 Group Processes of Therapy (3 credits)
- FO 636 Family Systems and Family Therapy (3 credits)
- FO 637 Theories of Counseling and Psychotherapy (3 credits)
- FO 638 Career Development and Counseling (3 credits)(course fee \$30 on ground only)
- FO 703 Social and Cultural Foundations in Counseling (3 credit hours)
- FO 704 Biological Bases of Behavior and Psychopharmacology (3 credit hours)
- FO 707 Assessment in Counseling (3 credits)
- FO 717 Helping Relationships and Skill Development in Counseling (3 credit hours)
- FO 750 Residency I (auto half time) (0 credit hours)
- FO 760 Residency II (auto half time) (0 credit hours)
- FO 6000 Practicum Readiness A: Material Preparation (0 credit hours)
- FO 6001 Practicum Readiness B: Material Preparation (0 credit hours)
- FO 6002 Practicum Readiness C: Applying & Interviewing (0 credit hours)
- FO 6003 Practicum Readiness D: Applying & Interviewing (0 credit hours)
- FO 6004 Practicum Readiness E: Vetting & Securing Site Placements (0 credit hours)
- FO 6005 Practicum Readiness F: Vetting & Securing Site Placements (0 credit hours)
- FO 6100 Clinical Practicum IA (0 credit hours) (auto half time)
- FO 6101 Clinical Practicum IB (3 credit hours)
- FO 6200 Internship IA (0 credit hours) (auto half time)
- FO 6201 Internship IB (3 credit hours)
- FO 6202 Internship IIA (0 credit hours) (auto half time)
- FO 6203 Internship IIB (3 credit hours)
- FO 6300 Counselor Preparation Comprehensive Examination A (auto half time) (0 credit hours)
- FO 6301 Counselor Preparation Comprehensive Examination B (auto half time) (0 credit hours)

Licensure Track Electives (9 credit hours)

Students may choose 9 credits of elective coursework from the following options. *Note some states require students to complete specified coursework in order to meet licensure requirements.

- CM 536 Couples and Family Counseling (3 credit hours)

 Ch 536 Couples and Family Counseling (3 credit hours)
 - CM 536 is required for students seeking licensure in Nevada.
- CM 592 Clinical Mental Health Counseling (3 credit hours)
 CM 592 is required for students seeking licensure in Florida, Indiana, Massachusetts, Michigan, South Dakota, Tennessee, and Wisconsin.
- CM 595 Human Sexuality (3 credit hours)
 - CM 595 is required for students seeking licensure in Florida and Nevada.
- CM 691 Grief Counseling (3 credit hours)
 - CM 691 is required for students seeking licensure in Nevada.
- CM 695 Advanced Ethics and Legal Considerations (3 credit hours)
 CM 695 is required for students seeking licensure in Texas.
- FO 610 Introduction to Forensic Psychology (2 credit hours)

- FO 617 Clinical and Diagnostic Interviewing (3 credits)
 FO 617 is required for students seeking licensure in Michigan, Montana, Nebraska, New Mexico, Ohio, Oklahoma, Rhode Island, South Dakota, Tennessee, Utah, Vermont, and West Virginia.
- FO 618 Violence and Risk Assessment (2 credits)
- FO 619 Evaluation and Treatment of the Adult Offender (2 credits)
- FO 620 Evaluation and Treatment of the Juvenile Offender (2 credits)
- FO 622 Mental Health Law (2 credits)
- FO 623 Psychology of Law Enforcement (2 credit hours)
- FO 624 Correctional Counseling and Rehabilitation (2 credit hours)
- FO 628 Special Topics I: Understanding Serial Killers (1 credit hour)
- FO 633 Evaluating and Treating the Sex Offender (2 credits)
- FO 658 Social Psychology and Aggression (2 credit hours)
- FO 660 Psychology of Terrorism (2 credit hours)
- FO 715 Diagnosis and Treatment Planning (3 credit hours)
 FO 715 is required for students seeking licensure in Georgia, Indiana, Iowa, Maine,
 Maryland, Massachusetts, Michigan, Minnesota, New Mexico, Ohio, Rhode Island, South Carolina, South Dakota, Tennessee, Texas, Utah, Vermont, Virginia, Washington, D.C., West Virginia, and Wisconsin.
- FO 716 Advanced Internship (3 credit hours)
 FO 716 is required for students seeking licensure in Florida, Idaho, Maine, Minnesota, Nevada, New Mexico, Rhode Island, and Utah.
- FO 722 Telehealth in Counseling and Forensic Settings 3 credits
 FO722 is required for students seeking licensure in Arkansas.
- IN 551 Crisis Response Trauma and Crisis Intervention (3 credit hours)

Extension Courses

• FO 900 - Internship Extension (0 credit hours)

MA Forensic Psychology - Washington D.C.

Washington D.C.

Program Overview

The MA Forensic Psychology: Professional Counselor Licensure Track program is a counselor training program that equips students with essential diagnostic, therapeutic and consultative skills in preparation to work with a variety of forensic populations across the lifespan with a variety of emotional, intellectual, and psychological symptoms and conditions.

Graduates will be trained to work in a variety of forensic settings that serve various populations. The program adopts the practitioner-scholar model predicated on the belief that a competent mental health practitioner must have both a broad knowledge of the scientific and theoretical principles in the clinical practice of psychology and counseling and the ability to apply that knowledge to specific clinical situations, with an emphasis on forensic settings. The program also incorporates the 8 content areas outlined by the National Board of Certified Counselors to prepare students seeking professional counselor licensure and desiring to begin professional practice at the master's level.

Program Philosophy

The mission of the MA Forensic Psychology: Professional Counselor Licensure Track program is to prepare students to become mental health professionals through competence, personal integrity and academic excellence with an emphasis on promoting culturally-sensitive, responsive, and conscientious clinical practice. The curriculum integrates the theoretical foundations of forensic psychology; issues related to the law and the legal system; scientific research; counseling skills; essential diagnostic, clinical and consultative skills; sensitivity to ethical principles; and field placement experience in a variety of forensic settings and with diverse populations. Recognizing that our program is structured to promote postive student transformation to be intrinsically motivated to help others, we acknowledge the significance of promoting an environment that is sensitive to difference and preparing future clinicians to develop self-awareness and the necessary skills to continue to strive toward attaining multicultural competence. Thus, the program seeks to engage faculty and students in the preparation of clinicians who meet the needs of diverse communities.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Demonstrate fundamental knowledge of psychometric theory, assessment techniques, and forensic literature to evaluate various dimensions of human experience, outcomes of interventions, and psycho-legal issues.
- Integrate a basic knowledge of theory, research, and professional literature to guide interventions and promote optimal mental health and well-being.

Diversity

Recognize and respect individual and group differences as well as practice with cultural competence.

Professional Behavior

- Organize professional activities by ethical and professional codes, standards, and guidelines; statutes, rules, and regulations; and relevant case law.
- Develop and maintain effective professional relationships with clients, peers, supervisors, faculty, and other professionals.

Scholarship

 Demonstrate an understanding of the research methods in the social and behavioral sciences, the benefits and limitations of research, and the scientific and professional literature relevant to the field of forensic psychology.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to the MA Forensic Psychology program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. Applicants will be judged on their overall

ability to do graduate work. Factors that are considered in admission are: undergraduate and any graduate coursework, GPA from undergraduate and any graduate schools, successful work history, the admission essay, and letters of recommendation. Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission. Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications. Please see the application for detailed instructions and information regarding application requirements, application deadlines, and letters of recommendation.

The program also requires applicants to have successfully completed at least one undergraduate course in either statistics or research methods with a grade earned of 'C' or better. Applicants without one of these courses must complete them in accordance with the policies outlined in the Progression Requirements section below.

Professional Counselor Licensure Progression Requirements

Applicants are required to have successfully completed (with a grade earned of 'C' or better) at least one undergraduate course in either statistics or research methods by the end of their first semester. Students must successfully meet this progression requirement through one of the following options:

- A grade of "C" or higher in TCS 390 Introduction to Statistics or TCS 385 Introduction to Research Methods;
- A grade of "C" or higher in a comparable course at the Chicago School; or
- A grade of "C" or higher in a comparable course at another regionally accredited institution.

Applicants accepted with no previous statistics or research methods coursework will be required to register for TCS 385 or TCS 390 in their first semester. All students must meet this progression requirement by the end of their first semester. Students who do not successfully fulfill this requirement will not be allowed to register in any future coursework within the program of study until this requirement is met. Failure to register may result in the student being administratively withdrawn from the program. Extensions can be granted by the Program Chair or designee when extenuating circumstances prevent completion of the requirement in the specified timeframe. Requests for an extension must be submitted in writing to the Program Chair for consideration.

Because the coursework utilizes online learning platforms, students must have access to a computer that is less than three years old, a broadband Internet connection, and the Microsoft Office Suite including Word, Excel, Outlook, and at minimum, the following computing skills:

- A comfort with basic Internet technology
- The ability to open and attach files from and to email
- The ability to send and receive email
- The ability to save documents

Standardized Testing

The Graduate Record Examination (GRE) is not required for admission in either the Licensure or Non-Licensure Tracks; however, students who have taken the exam may submit their scores to enhance their application. Scores should be sent directly to the school (GRE School Code: 1119) for consideration.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and students will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of coursework requirements
- Successful completion of 100 hour practicum and 600 hour internship for at total of 700 hours
- Successful completion of Forensic Competency Examination
- Successful completion of the Counselor Preparation Comprehensive Examination (CPCE)

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Ethical Guidelines

Students are expected to adhere to the ethical and professional behavior guidelines as set by the American Counseling Association's (ACA) Code of Ethics.

Reference will be made to additional ethical codes, such as the American Psychological Association's (APA) Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct, the Specialty Guidelines for Forensic Psychologists (American Psychological Association, 2013), and international codes as applicable. Acceptable student conduct is derived in large part from these sources of information.

Please refer to the policies located in the Student Rights and Responsibilities and section of the Academic Catalog and Student Handbook.

Student Professional Evaluation and Student Review Process

The course content and experiential activities offered by the MA Forensic Psychology program are designed to afford students the opportunity to advance their intellectual and professional development and functioning. Throughout the program of study, students are given feedback concerning their personal, academic, and professional strengths, developmental needs, and performance. This feedback will come from a variety of sources and may include faculty, supervisors, peers, and/or clients. Students are expected to respond and incorporate this feedback in a mature and professional manner. Throughout their matriculation in the program, students are expected to explore and recognize the effects their personal beliefs, issues, emotions, and behaviors have on others and on their ability to function as a professional. Students are also formally evaluated with regard to their professional comportment at the end of specific courses in the curriculum. Additionally, all students are reviewed by program faculty and administration with respect to their overall program performance during the student review process at least tiwce per academic year.

A multi-tiered support system is in place for students within the program, including support from the student support counselor, academic advisor, faculty, and department chair. Students are advised to discuss their ongoing development within this support system. Students wishing to change academic advisors may petition to do so upon completion of their first semester in the program.

.

Practicum and Internship

The MA Forensic Psychology: Professional Counselor Licensure Track program is committed to training highly competent and ethical clinicians who will ultimately contribute to the mental health field. Toward that end, students are required to complete relevant coursework in combination with clinical training for successful completion of their master's degree. Full-time students traditionally complete their practicum and internship experience during the second year of the academic program. Part-time students work closely with their academic advisor to determine the most appropriate year to complete training requirements.

Forensic practicum/internships are closely supervised educational and training experiences in which the knowledge, skills, and attitudes developed in the classroom can be directly applied to forensic and/or clinical populations. All sites are approved by the Office of Placement and Training (OPT) and allow students the opportunity to work with high-risk populations in an array of settings, such as prisons, jails, detention centers, police departments, special treatment units, state psychiatric hospitals, substance abuse facilities, and community-based programs for victims and offenders. These formative experiences integrate the science and practice of forensic psychology and counseling in real world situations. Through intensive supervision and mentorship, students begin to develop their professional identities, clarify their professional strengths and weaknesses, and understand their roles as clinicians and/or providers of forensic services to a broad and diverse range of populations within a variety of settings.

Students must accrue a minimum of 700 hours of clinical training over the course of a 9-to-12-month practicum and internship under the supervision of a master's level licensed clinician or psychologist (e.g., LCSW, LPC, LCPC, LPCC, LMFT, licenced psychologist or psychiatrist). Students are expected to attend practicum between 16 to 24 hours per week and must participate in at least one hour of weekly individual supervision. In addition, students will complete at least 280 hours to direct client contact, which may include a variety of clinical activities such as diagnostic and/or intake interviewing; individual, group, or family therapy; crisis intervention; and milieu therapy. Students are also responsible for administrative and case management tasks, including, but not limited to victim advocacy, consultation, applied research, and/or court attendance.

Faculty reviews each student's progress in the program to inform decisions regarding student's readiness to apply to practicum/internship.

Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

Forensic Competency Examination (FCE)

Students who complete a practicum and internship are required to pass the Forensic Competency Examination (FCE), a program capstone with the purpose of demonstrating proficiency in the core competencies of the program. The FCE is completed while students are accuring their internship hours in order to fulfill program requirements. Students must pass at least one practice FCE prior to completing the final examination.

The FCE is a summative assessment of the program learning outcomes used to measure a student's knowledge of assessment, diagnosis, case conceptualization, and self-evaluation based on an actual case from the student's internship experience.

More specific information related to the FCE is provided to students during the practicum and internship seminar courses.

Counselor Preparation Comprehensive Examination (CPCE)

All students are required to successfully complete The Center for Credentialing & Education (CCE)'s Counselor Preparation Comprehensive Exam (CPCE). The CPCE test items measure a student's knowledge of the 8 content areas outlined by the National Board of Certified Counselors:

- Human Growth and Development
- Social and Cultural Diversity
- Counseling and Helping Relationships
- Group Counseling and Group Work
- Career Development
- Assessment and Testing
- Research and Program Evaluation
- Professional Counseling Orientation and Ethical Practice

The CPCE is taken prior to graduation and students must be in good academic standing to be eligible. The CPCE is a graduation requirement and students must retake the exam until they achieve a passing score.

The Curriculum

Required Core: 45 credit hours

Electives: 15 credit hours

Program total: 60 Credit hours

Required Core (45 Credit Hours)

- FO 607 Trauma and Crisis Intervention (3 credit hours)
- FO 611 Ethics and Professional Issues (3 credit hours)
- FO 612 Human Growth and Development (3 credit hours)
- FO 613 Psychopathology (3 credit hours)
- FO 614 Research Methods (3 credits)
- FO 625 Assessment and Treatment of Substance-Related and Addictive Disorders (3 credits)
- FO 635 Group Processes of Therapy (3 credits)
- FO 636 Family Systems and Family Therapy (3 credits)
- FO 637 Theories of Counseling and Psychotherapy (3 credits)
- FO 638 Career Development and Counseling (3 credits)(course fee \$30 on ground only)
- FO 703 Social and Cultural Foundations in Counseling (3 credit hours)
- FO 707 Assessment in Counseling (3 credits)
- FO 717 Helping Relationships and Skill Development in Counseling (3 credit hours)
- FO 680A Practicum Readiness (0 credit hours)
- FO 644 Practicum (3 credits)(auto full time)
- FO 645 Internship I (3 credits)(auto full time)
- FO 800 Counselor Preparation Comprehensive Exam (0 credit hours)

Electives (15 Credit Hours)

- FO 600 Violence and Risk Assessment (3 credit hours)
- FO 601 Evaluation and Treatment of the Adult Offender (3 credit hours)
- FO 602 Evaluation and Treatment of the Juvenile Offender (3 credit hours)

- FO 603 Mental Health Law (3 credit hours)
- FO 604 Psychology of Law Enforcement (3 credit hours)
- FO 605 Correctional Counseling and Rehabilitation (3 credit hours)
- FO 606 Evaluating and Treating the Sex Offender (3 credit hours)
- FO 617 Clinical and Diagnostic Interviewing (3 credits)
- FO 627 Forensic Documentation, Report Writing, and Testifying (3 credits)
- FO 715 Diagnosis and Treatment Planning (3 credit hours)
- FO 718 Hostage Negotiations (3 credit hours)
- FO 719 Psychology of Terrorism (3 credit hours)
- FO 720 Human Sexuality (3 credit hours)
- FO 721 Family and Partner Violence (3 credit hours)
- FO 609 Special Topics I (1 credit hour)
- FO 639 Special Topics II (2 credits)
- FO 643 Special Topics III (3 credits)
- FO 651 Independent Study I (1 credit)
- FO 652 Independent Study II (2 credits)
- FO 653 Independent Study III (3 credits)

Extension Courses

FO 650 - Internship II (0 credits)(auto full time)

MA Industrial and Organizational Psychology

Anaheim - Chicago - Dallas - Los Angeles - Online - San Diego - Washington DC

Program Overview

The 40 credit hour MA Industrial and Organizational Psychology (I/O) program trains students in the essential diagnostic and consultative skills to help organizations and the individuals within them solve problems and leverage strengths to perform effectively and efficiently. Students not only learn how to design and implement I/O assessments and solutions, but they also benefit by participating in these very same practices to identify their own strengths and to improve developmental areas.

The program is comprised of two tracks: Internship/Thesis and Applied Research Project (ARP). The ARP Track is designed for students with a minimum of three years relevant post baccalaureate work experience.

The Internship/Thesis Track is offered in Anaheim, Chicago, Los Angeles, Dallas, San Diego, and Washington D.C.

The Human Resources Concentration is offered in Chicago only.

The Applied Research Project Track is offered Online only.

Program Philosophy

The MA Industrial and Organizational Psychology program has adopted the Society of Industrial and Organizational Psychologists' (SIOP) recommended areas of study as the basis for its curriculum. It provides students with a broad knowledge of the scientific literature and theoretical principles of organizational and industrial psychology and the application of these principles to the variety of work settings in which I/O psychologists are employed. Students develop an understanding of the way organizations operate, gain the essential assessment, intervention, and consultation skills to help organizations and the individuals within them solve problems, enhance performance, and manage the complexities of today's work environment. The emphasis is on training students to assume professional responsibilities in human resources, consulting, management positions, and organizational-development.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Develop assessment, intervention, and evaluation strategies and convey these I/O principles in language appropriate for the audience.
- Demonstrate the ability to form effective professional relationships based on attitudes and communication skills that foster respect, trust, open dialogue, and collaboration, regardless of differences in background, education, points of view or position in the organization.
- Demonstrate oral and written communication that is grammatically correct, logical, succinct, consumeroriented and of professional quality. Students will demonstrate non-defensive, learning-oriented, responses to constructive feedback.

Diversity

 Demonstrate knowledge of the role of individual differences in the workplace and the ability to establish and benefit from collaborative professional relationships with others, regardless of differences in background, work roles, and points of view.

Professional Behavior

• Demonstrate personal integrity and ethical behavior in their professional practice.

Scholarship

- Demonstrate their knowledge of I/O theories, their ability to apply these theories and their appreciation for scientific knowledge.
- Demonstrate the ability to critically review the work of others, including probing for more information, searching for logic flaws, and the creation of alternative solutions to problems.
- Demonstrate ability to comprehend of data and information presented in research articles and apply to organizational problems.
- Demonstrate their knowledge of test development, descriptive statistics, data management, basic statistical procedures, and program evaluation principles.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to the MA Industrial and Organizational Psychology program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors that are considered in admission are: GPA from undergraduate and any graduate schools, successful work history after completion of the baccalaureate degree, the

admission essay, and letters of recommendation from academic professors or professional or volunteer experience supervisors. Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission. Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to support their applications. Students must choose their track (Internship/Thesis or Applied Research Project) upon admission.

There are separate applications for the campus-based and online format tracks of the MA in Industrial/Organizational Psychology. Those interested in the online Applied Research Project (ARP) tracks should refer to the ARP tracks admissions section below and must apply directly at http://www.thechicagoschool.edu/apply/

The Graduate Record Examination (GRE) is not required for our MA Industrial and Organizational Psychology program; however, we encourage students to submit their scores to enhance their application. Please note that you must have your official scores sent to The Chicago School (School Code 1119). Please see the application for detailed instructions and information regarding application requirements, deadlines, and letters of recommendation.

Additional Thesis/Internship Track Admission Requirements

Aside from general admission requirements, the Thesis/Internship Track requires an applicant to have successfully completed (with a grade earned of "C" or better) two (2) specific undergraduate courses:

- 1. one course in psychology, and
- 2. one course in statistics or quantitative psychology.

Applicants in the Thesis/Internship Track who have not previously successfully completed an undergraduate statistics or quantitative psychology course with The Chicago School will be enrolled according to the policies outlined in the Student at Large section of this Catalog prior to be admitted to the program. Applicants in the Thesis/Internship Track who have not previously successfully completed an undergraduate course in psychology must complete the course in accordance with the policies outlined in the Thesis/Internship Track Progression Requirements section below.

Additional ARP Track and Certificate Admission Requirements

Aside from general admission requirements, the ARP track requires an applicant to have successfully completed (with a grade earned of "C" or better) three (3) specific undergraduate courses:

- one course in psychology,
- one course in statistics or quantitative psychology; and
- one course in research methods or experimental psychology.

Applicants in the ARP Track who have not previously successfully completed an undergraduate course in psychology, statistics or quantitative psychology, and in research methods or experimental psychology must complete any remaining required courses in accordance with the policies outlined in the ARP Track Progression Requirements section below.

In addition to the admission criteria currently in place, applicants to this track should also have three or more years of full-time, related, post-baccalaureate relevant work experience or five (5) years or more of full-time unrelated work experience. Because the coursework for this track is offered via distance learning format, students within this track or certificate must have access to a computer that is less than three years old, a broadband internet connection, and the Microsoft Office Suite including Word, Excel, and Outlook and, at minimum, the following computing skills:

- A basic level of comfort with Internet technology
- The ability to open and attach files from and to email
- The ability to send and receive email
- The ability to save documents

Thesis/Internship Track Progression Requirements

This program requires applicants to have successfully completed (with a grade earned of 'C' or better) at least one (1) undergraduate course in psychology by the end of their first semester (second term for online students) of study. Students must successfully meet this progression requirement through one of the following options:

- A grade of "C" or higher in TCS 380 Introduction to Psychology
- A grade of "C" or higher in a comparable course at The Chicago School
- A grade of "C" or higher in a comparable course at another regionally accredited institution

Applicants accepted with no previous undergraduate psychology coursework will be required to register for TCS 380 in their first ground semester or online term. All students must then meet this progression requirement by the end of their first semester (second term for online students) of study. Students who do not successfully fulfill this requirement will not be allowed to register in any future coursework in the program of study until this requirement is met. Extensions can be granted by the Program Chair or designee when extenuating circumstances prevent completion of the requirement in the specified timeframe. Requests for an extension must be submitted in writing to the Program Chair for consideration.

Applied Research Project (ARP) Track Progression Requirements

The ARP and Certificate tracks require applicants to have successfully completed (with a grade earned of 'C' or better) at least one (1) undergraduate course in psychology, one (1) course in statistics or quantitative psychology, and one (1) course in research methods or experimental psychology by the end of their first semester (two terms) of study. Students must successfully meet this progression requirement through one of the following options:

- A grade of "C" or higher in TCS 380 Introduction to Psychology, TCS 385 Introduction to Research Methods, and TCS 390 - Introduction to Statistics;
- A grade of "C" or higher in a comparable course(s) at The Chicago School; or
- A grade of "C" or higher in a comparable course(s) at another regionally accredited institution

Applicants accepted who are missing one or more of these three (3) required undergraduate courses will be required to register for the applicable TCS course(s) in their first ground semester or online term. All students must meet this progression requirement by the end of their first semester (second online term) of study. Students who do not successfully fulfill this requirement will not be allowed to register in any future coursework in the program of study until this requirement is met. Extensions can be granted by the Program Chair or designee when extenuating circumstances prevent completion of the requirement in the specified timeframe. Requests for an extension must be submitted in writing to the Program Chair for consideration.

An ARP Track student who has sufficient relevant work experience may apply for waiver of one or more these progression requirements.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of 40 credits hours of coursework OR successful completion of 46 credit hours of coursework (Chicago campus students completing HR Concentration)
- Successful completion of 600 hour internship pre-approved by the faculty internship supervisor (Internship Track Students Only)
- Successful completion of Thesis (Thesis Track Students Only)
- Successful completion of Applied Research Project (Applied Research Project Track Students Only)

Track Requirement

Students must choose their track (internship/thesis or applied research project) upon admission.

Internship/Thesis Track (On-Ground)

Internship Option

Students who choose the internship option complete two 300 hour internships (for a total of 600 hours of internship experience). The internship should involve the student in learning specific, transferable, I/O-relevant or HR-relevant professional skills. All internship must be pre-approved by the faculty internship supervisor. Students registered in the Internship Track incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

Thesis Option

Students may choose to complete a thesis instead of completing the internship requirements. The thesis option is comprised of two courses, Thesis I and Thesis II. The student must get approval from the Business Psychology Department Chair to enroll in these courses. The student must also select a faculty member to serve as thesis advisor. This faculty member will supervise the thesis.

Note: Students pursuing this option do not have an option for a general elective but will take a diversity elective.

Applied Research Project Track (Online Only)

Students with sufficient work experience in the field may qualify to enroll in the Applied Research Project (ARP) Track. Students in the ARP track complete classwork over the course of their studies that guide them through the process of writing the Applied Research Project. A faculty member will approve and supervise the project through these courses.

Ethical Guidelines

Students are expected to develop a working knowledge of the ethical and legal issues pertaining to work in the domain of I/O psychology including, but not limited to, APA's current Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct for Psychologists; relevant federal, state, and local laws, statutes, regulations, and legal precedents (e.g., the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission's Uniform Guidelines on Employee Selection Procedures, 1978) as well as the professional norms, standards, and guidelines relevant to the profession (e.g., Specialty Guidelines for the Delivery of

Services by Industrial-Organizational Psychologists, 1981; Principles for the Validation and Use of Personnel Selection Procedures, 1987; and Standards for Educational and Psychological Tests, 1985, see www.siop.org).

Human Resources Concentration Option (Chicago Campus only, Internship Track Only, Total Program Credits with HR Concentration: 46 Credit)

On the Chicago campus only (and only for students in the Internship Track), students may choose to declare a concentration in Human Resources. The MA Industrial and Organizational Psychology with an HR Concentration has been endorsed by the Society of Human Resources Management (SHRM). An analysis of the MA Industrial and Organization Psychology curriculum was conducted to determine the degree of overlap between program competencies and the Society of Human Resource Management (SHRM) content areas and competencies. Consequently, students who obtain the MA Industrial and Organizational Psychology with a concentration in Human Resources will be prepared to sit for the Society Human Resource Management - Certified Professional (SHRM-CP) assuming any experiential requirements have been met for the examination. Aligning ourselves with an organization like SHRM enhances our ability to prepare our students to be successful human resources professionals.

The concentration in Human Resources will offer our students additional training and education to become successful human resources professionals. The IO training will provide students will the skills to develop, create, and implement assessments, interventions, and process to improve organizational effectiveness, while the Human Resources training will provide them with a solid foundation in the management of human resources.

The Curriculum: Internship/Thesis Track

Required Core: 13 credit hours

Track: 7 credit hours

Seminar: 12 credit hours

Internship Option: 2 credit hours

Thesis Option (replaces Internship I and II and one elective (3 credit hours) when approved by Chair): 5 credit hours

Electives: 6 credit hours (3 credit hours must be Diversity Elective)

Program Total

M.A. Industrial and Organizational Psychology (Internship and Thesis Tracks): 40 credit hours

Required Core

- IO 510 Organizational Behavior (3 credit hours)(course fee \$92)
- IO 511 Organizational Culture and Design (3 credit hours)
- IO 512 Organizational Consulting Skills (3 credit hours) (course fee \$50)
- IO 519 Statistics and Lab (4 credit hours)

Seminars (Choose Four Courses)

- IO 522 Performance Appraisal (3 credit hours)
- IO 523 Job Analysis and Employee Selection (3 credit hours)
- IO 524 Training: Theory, Design, and Evaluation (3 credit hours)

- IO 525 Organizational Leadership (3 credit hours) (course fee \$45)
- IO 531 Organizational Attitudes and Survey Development (3 credit hours)

Track Courses

- IO 400 Professional Development Seminar (3 credit hours)
- IO 520 Personnel Psychology (3 credit hours)
- IO 591 Ethics (1 credit hour)

Internship Option Courses

- IO 593 Internship I (1 credit hour)(auto full time)
- IO 599 Internship II (1 credit hour)(auto full time)

Thesis Option Courses

- IO 584 Thesis I (2 credit hours)(auto full time)
- IO 594 Thesis II (3 credit hours)(auto full time)

Electives*

Students in the Internship Option choose one.

- IO 540 Special Topics in I/O Psychology (2 credit hours)
- IO 541 Special Topics (3 credit hours)
- IO 550 Compensation and Benefits Administration (3 credit hours)
- IO 551 Legal Issues (3 credit hours)
- IO 552 Professional Coaching (3 credit hours)
- IO 554 Data Management (3 credit hours)
- IO 555 Work Team Dynamics (3 credit hours)
- IO 556 Strategic Human Resource Management (3 credit hours)
- IO 558 Negotiation and Conflict Resolution (3 credit hours)
- IO 559 Talent Management and Succession Planning (3 credit hours)
- IO 560 Training Facilitation and Instructional Design (3 credit hours)
- IO 561 Consumer Motivation (3 credit hours)
- IO 562 Critical Thinking and Business Writing (3 credit hours)
- IO 563 Project Management (3 credit hours)
- IO 571 Development and Deployment of Employee Surveys (3 credit hours)
- IO 572 Productive Labor Relations (3 credit hours)
- IO 573 Reaching the Target Market: Qualitative Research Methods (3 credit hours)
- IO 574 Understanding Consumer Perceptions: Quantitative Research Methods (3 credit hours)
- IO 575 Legal Issues in Healthcare Leadership (3 credit hours)
- IO 576 Strategic Planning in Healthcare Diversity (3 credit hours)
- IO 581 Independent Study I (1 credit hour)
- IO 582 Independent Study II (2 credit hours)
- IO 583 Independent Study III (3 credit hours)
- IO 588 Strategic and Organizational Planning (3 credit hours)

- IO 589 Survey of Quality Management and Process Control (3 credit hours)
- IO 696 Special Topics I (1 credit hour)
- IO 697 Special Topics II (2 credit hours)
- IO 698 Special Topics III (3 credit hours)

Diversity Electives

- IO 557 Managing Organizational Diversity (3 credit hours)
- IO 564 Managing Changes in Global HR Management (3 credit hours)
- IO 566 Global Business, An Introduction (3 credits)
- IO 578 Beyond Compliance: Building Ethical Organizations (3 credit hours)
- IO 579 Promoting Diversity (3 credit hours)
 - * Not all Electives are offered every term or semester.

Concentration Option (Internship/Thesis Track Students Only)

Human Resource Concentration

The Human Resource concentration incorporates the Diversity Course requirement by making the Managing Changes in Global HR Diversity course a required course. In addition, 3 other courses must be completed to receive the Human Resources Concentration: Business & Financial Literacy, SHRM-CP/SPC Certification Preparation Course, and Strategic Human Resource Management. Each of these four courses is 3 credit hours each.

- IO 534 Business and Financial Literacy for HR Professionals (3 credit hours)
- IO 535 SHRM-CP/SPC Certification Preparation Course (3 credit hours)(course fee \$522)
- IO 556 Strategic Human Resource Management (3 credit hours)
- IO 564 Managing Changes in Global HR Management (3 credit hours)

The Curriculum: Applied Research Project Track (Online Only)

Required Core: 13 credit hours

Seminar: 12 credit hours

ARP Sequence: 6 credit hours

Electives: 9 credit hours (3 credit hours must be Diversity Elective)

Total Program

M.A. Industrial and Organizational Psychology: 40 credit hours

Required Core

- IO 510 Organizational Behavior (3 credit hours)(course fee \$92)
- IO 511 Organizational Culture and Design (3 credit hours)
- IO 512 Organizational Consulting Skills (3 credit hours) (course fee \$50)
- IO 519 Statistics and Lab (4 credit hours)

Seminars

- IO 522 Performance Appraisal (3 credit hours)
- IO 523 Job Analysis and Employee Selection (3 credit hours)
- IO 524 Training: Theory, Design, and Evaluation (3 credit hours)
- IO 525 Organizational Leadership (3 credit hours) (course fee \$45)

ARP Sequence

- IO 611 The Applied Research Project: Intro to ARP and ARP Needs Assessment (1 credit hour)(auto full time)
- IO 612 The Applied Research Project: Literature Review (1 credit hour)(auto full time)
- IO 613 The Applied Research Project: Intervention and Program Evaluation (1 credit hour)(auto full time)
- IO 614 The Applied Research Project: Professional Ethics (1 credit hour)(auto full time)
- IO 615 The Applied Research Project: Final Deliverable and Showcase Preparation (1 credit hour)(auto full time)
- IO 616 The Applied Research Project: ARP Showcase Defense (1 credit hour) (auto full time)

Electives

- IO 540 Special Topics in I/O Psychology (2 credit hours)
- IO 541 Special Topics (3 credit hours)
- IO 550 Compensation and Benefits Administration (3 credit hours)
- IO 551 Legal Issues (3 credit hours)
- IO 555 Work Team Dynamics (3 credit hours)
- IO 559 Talent Management and Succession Planning (3 credit hours)
- IO 561 Consumer Motivation (3 credit hours)
- IO 571 Development and Deployment of Employee Surveys (3 credit hours)
- IO 572 Productive Labor Relations (3 credit hours)
- IO 573 Reaching the Target Market: Qualitative Research Methods (3 credit hours)
- IO 574 Understanding Consumer Perceptions: Quantitative Research Methods (3 credit hours)
- IO 575 Legal Issues in Healthcare Leadership (3 credit hours)
- IO 576 Strategic Planning in Healthcare Diversity (3 credit hours)
- IO 577 Quality Management in Healthcare Organizations (3 credit hours)
- IO 581 Independent Study I (1 credit hour)
- IO 582 Independent Study II (2 credit hours)
- IO 583 Independent Study III (3 credit hours)
- IO 588 Strategic and Organizational Planning (3 credit hours)
- IO 589 Survey of Quality Management and Process Control (3 credit hours)
- IO 696 Special Topics I (1 credit hour)
- IO 697 Special Topics II (2 credit hours)
- IO 698 Special Topics III (3 credit hours)

Diversity Electives

• IO 557 - Managing Organizational Diversity (3 credit hours)

- IO 564 Managing Changes in Global HR Management (3 credit hours)
- IO 568 International Business Skills (3 credit hours)
- IO 578 Beyond Compliance: Building Ethical Organizations (3 credit hours)
- IO 579 Promoting Diversity (3 credit hours)

Extension Courses

- IO 950A-F Thesis Extension (1 credit hour) auto half-time
- IO 951A-F Thesis Extension (1 credit hour) auto full-time
- IO 952A-L Applied Research Project Extension (.5 credit hours) auto half-time
- IO 953A-L Applied Research Project Extension (.5 credit hours) auto full-time
- IO 767 Internship Extension (0 credit hours)(auto full time)

Earning an Industrial and Organizational Psychology Generalist Certificate

A student in the MA Industrial/Organizational Psychology program may earn an Industrial and Organizational Psychology Generalist Certificate following the successful completion of required coursework and specific program requirements. At the beginning of the semester in which a student expects to be eligible for the certificate, they may submit the Petition for Degree Conferral to the Office of the Registrar. The petition is a request to conduct an audit to determine eligibility for the certificate and, is required for conferral. Eligibility guidelines for the certificate are contained in the catalog under which the student was admitted.

The Specific requirements are as follows:

- Financial/Financial Aid Good Standing.
- Academic Good Standing at the time the requirements for the certificate were completed.
- Cumulative GPA for the coursework required for the certificate must meet the graduation requirements of the
 certificate.
- Successful completion of IO 510 Organizational Behavior (3 credit hours)
- Successful completion of any two additional three credit hours courses from the MA Industrial and Organizational Psychology program, with the exception of ARP, Thesis, or courses with unfulfilled prerequisites.
- The Petition for Degree Conferral must be submitted within 1 year from the date the final certificate requirement was completed.
- All SAC referrals for behavioral misconduct or issues of professional comportment must be deemed as fully remediated by the SAC committee before the certificate can be conferred.
- IO 510 Organizational Behavior (3 credit hours)(course fee \$92)
 Students choose any two three credit hours courses from the online MA Industrial and Organizational Psychology program, with the exception of ARP, Thesis, or courses with unfulfilled prerequisites.

MA International Psychology

Online

Program Overview

The MA International Psychology program is designed for adults who are interested in starting to work in the international psychology field or individuals that are already working in the international field and would like to have an additional master's degree that could potentially make a difference in their ability to participate in global mental health, international organizations and environmental fields. This program will bring a unique perspective of age-old global challenges in order to encourage the promotion of new solutions offering students the ability to apply a continuum of theoretical psychological concepts from Western to non-Western dimensions to further understand global practices and explore behaviors across cultures and diverse groups. Throughout the program students will learn and develop a personal paradigm to understand globalization, the principles of humanitarianism including the universality of human rights, and will be encouraged to develop a fundamental sense of belonging and interconnectedness, with the global community to advocate for social justice, social responsibility and the respect and dignity of all living-organisms and peoples adopting actions shaped by universal ethical principles.

The MA International psychology is a 36 credit hour program, consisting of core courses totaling 27 credits, (including a capstone project and field experience course) and 9 credits of elective courses that will ensure graduates are well prepared to work as international psychologists and respond to the needs of current and future demands in the field. This degree program offers the opportunity to acquire and build knowledge and abilities through the completion of a comprehensive core of courses.

Program Philosophy

The MA International Psychology introduces the philosophy of psychology as a transformational field supporting the development of agents of change who are able to critically reflect about their identity, as cultural beings that promote social justice, and to identify and understand their impact on others. International psychology is a new paradigm that facilitates the integration of psychological theory, research and practice that is context and culture specific on an attempt to respond to of current global challenges such as trauma generated by poverty, migration, abuses inter-group conflicts, and matters pertaining to the process of globalization and environment change.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program student will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Design and evaluate ethical domestic/international programs and interventions based upon national and
 global theories, research, and the scientific professional literature to guide the development and evaluation of
 interventions in global mental health, international, organizational, and environmental fields.
- Develop professional bridges within and across borders to facilitate culturally competent verbal and written communication, scholarship, and shared knowledge.

Diversity

 Effectively evaluate the process of economic and political globalization and its impact in diverse populations, socio-cultural identity construction, systems of power, human rights, provision of assistance to humankind and environmental threats.

Professional Behavior

Evaluate ethical principles endorsed by the Universal Declaration of Ethical Principles for Psychologists and
the American Psychological Association to choose actions that are shaped by universal ethics, respect, and
care for the rights of all life.

Scholarship

- Evaluate major Western and Non-Western theories influencing the development of the field of international psychology, life-span development and psychopathologies, supported by empirical findings, including historical and current trends.
- Analyze variations in International, Cross-Cultural and Multicultural research, and master research methodology and techniques of data collection and analysis.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's MA International Psychology program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors that are considered in admission include GPA from undergraduate schools. Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission. Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications. Additional factors that are considering in admission include the following:

- Application
- Application Fee (\$50)
- Resume or Curriculum Vitae
- Work experience recommended
- Personal statement/essay answering the following:
 - How will your personal and professional accomplishments, academic background, and experience to date, contribute to your success in this Program?
 - O How will the successful completion of this Program support your professional career goals?

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago Schol does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Articulation Agreements

The Chicago School has established an agreement between the MA International Psychology and the PhD International Psychology programs to allow qualified students to enroll in doctoral level courses while completing their master's degree that will count toward the doctoral degree.

• Early Acceptance into PhD International Psychology

Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of 36 credit hours
- Successful completion of Capstone Project

Successful completion an approximately nine-day international field experience.

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Articulation Agreements

The Chicago School has also established an agreement between the MA International Psychology and the PhD International Psychology programs to allow qualified students to enroll in doctoral level courses while completeing their master's degree that will then count toward the doctoral degree. Click on the link for details.

Academic Partnership with the Peace Corps

The Chicago School signed a Memorandum of Agreement with the Peace Corps to offer the Paul D. Coverdell Fellows Program to returned Peace Corps Volunteers applying to The Chicago School's MA in International Psychology. For information about the Coverdell Fellows Program, including program eligibility and student benefits, please visit the program webpage: http://www.thechicagoschool.edu/online/peace-corps-fellowship-program/

Earning a Certificate in Crisis-Informed Care for a Diverse, Globalized World

Students may petition for degree conferral of the Certificate in Crisis-Informed Care for A Diverse, Globalized World upon successful completion of 3 the following courses. For some students completion of certificate requirements may add 3 credit hours to total program credit hours.

IN550	Process of Acculturation, Immigration and Refugee Status		
OR	OR	3	
IN535	Culture Centered Interventions - Program Design and Evaluations		
IN551	Crisis Response - Trauma and Crisis Intervention		
OR	OR	3	
IN552	Community Resilience and Healing		
One of the following			
IN552	Community Resilience and Healing	3	

IN560	Global Management - Decision Making, Negotiation and Problem Solving	3
IN562	Communication in Global Organizations	3

All students seeking conferral of the Certificate in Crisis-Informed Care for a Diverse, Globalized World must meet the additional requirements listed below:

- Student meets Financial/Financial Aid Good Standing.
- Student meets Academic Good Standing at the time the requirements for the certificate (or degree) were completed.
- Student's cumulative GPA for the coursework required for the certificate must meet the graduation requirements of the certificate.
- The petition for Degree Conferral must be submitted within 1 year from the date the final certificate requirement was completed.
- All SAC referrals for behavioral misconduct or issues of professional comportment must be deemed as fully remediated by the SAC committee before the certificate can be conferred.

Ethical Guidelines

Students are expected to engage in all graduate work, including but not limited to course work, field placement and scholarship, with a high degree of integrity and professionalism. It is essential that students approach professional working relationships, collegial relationships, and client/partner-contact with respect. Further, students are expected to adhere to the Universal Declaration of Ethical Principles for Psychologists and the American Psychological Association's (APA) *Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct* as well as the "evolving universal code of ethics" (Gauthier, 2005). Students who choose to seek employment in the field of psychology shall not work beyond their level of competence and shall not use titles governed by credentialing statutes and/or regulations unless authorized by the relevant jurisdictional authority. Students who fail to comply with ethical and professional behavior guidelines are subject to department remediation and/or referral to the Student Affairs Committee for disciplinary action and possible dismissal.

Capstone Project and Field Experience

This program culminates in a capstone project and field experience that is a collaborative participatory action project with an identified local community service agency who engages in delivery of services supporting a social justice/human rights on an international or global scale. Agencies will specifically address underserved, marginalized and vulnerable populations. Preparation for the capstone project and field experience on-ground work will begin in the following courses: Introduction to International Psychology, Universal Ethics and Professional Development (IN500), International Psychology and Diversity (IN528), and Culture Centered Interventions - Program Design and Evaluations (IN535). The capstone project will require the integration and synthesis of knowledge and abilities gained in previous coursework to develop a culturally sensitive project. Students will develop the project based on the needs expressed by the community agencies or organizations. The participatory action projects will be grounded in an existing theoretical or conceptual framework in the field of international psychology. Supporting literature and recommendations for best practices and evidence-based strategies will be identified in international peer reviewed journals.

Students will participate in an approximately nine-day field experience at an international destination to develop a more complex understanding of the socio-cultural, historical, political and economic practices and structures affecting the dynamics of people, organizations, and environments. The goal is to facilitate the development of interculturally competent skills for interaction, and an understanding of how to engage in respectful and ethical relations with global

populations. Students will consider the impact of their own culture on global cultures. They will also analyze cross-cultural theories and research in order to design appropriate interventions.

The capstone project and field experience form the summative assessment component of this program and they are designed as a culminating experience to satisfy the requirements of the competencies of the MA in International Psychology.

The Curriculum

Required Core: 27 credit hours

Electives: 9 credit hours

Program Total

M.A. International Psychology: 36 credit hours

Required Core

- IN 500 Introduction to International Psychology, Universal Ethics and Professional Development (3 credit hours)
- IN 507 Global Perspectives of Psychopathology (3 credit hours)
- IN 514 An International Analysis of Life Span Development (3 credit hours)
- IN 521 Global Mental Health and Human Rights (3 credit hours)
- IN 528 International Psychology and Diversity (3 credit hours)
- IN 535 Culture Centered Interventions Program Design and Evaluations (3 credit hours)
- IN 542 Statistics (3 credit hours)
- IN 549 International, Cross-Cultural and Multicultural Research Methods (3 credit hours)
- IN 595 Capstone/Field Experience (3 credit hours)(course fee)

Electives

- IN 550 Process of Acculturation, Immigration and Refugee Status (3 credit hours)
- IN 551 Crisis Response Trauma and Crisis Intervention (3 credit hours)
- IN 552 Building Community Resilience and Healing (3 credit hours)
- IN 560 Global Management Decision Making, Negotiation and Problem Solving (3 credit hours)
- IN 561 International Entrepreneurship (3 credit hours)
- IN 562 Communication in Global Organizations (3 credit hours)
- IN 570 Environment and Globalization Process (3 credit hours)
- IN 571 Environmental Global Strategies Social Responsibility, Social Change and Public Action (3 credit hours)
- IN 572 Growing Global Relationship of Society and Environment (3 credit hours)
- IN 553 Digital Transformation I: Disruptive Innovations (3 credit hours)
- IN 554 Digital Transformation II: Disruptive Corporations (3 credit hours)
- IN 555 Digital Transformation III: Change Management (3 credit hours)

MA Marriage, Couples, and Family Therapy

Los Angeles - Anaheim - San Diego

Program Overview

The MA Marriage, Couples, and Family Therapy (MA MCFT) program provides strong preparation in the development of essential diagnostic, therapeutic, and consultative skills from a systemic and relational context. Students are prepared to work with a variety of clinical populations, including individuals, couples, families, children, and groups that span the developmental spectrum, as well as with a variety of emotional, intellectual, and psychological conditions and disorders. The program has adopted the practitioner-scholar model, based on the belief that a competent mental health practitioner must have both a broad knowledge of the scientific and theoretical principles in the clinical practice of Marriage and Family Therapy and the ability to apply that knowledge to specific clinical situations. The Master of Arts in Marriage, Couples, and Family Therapy program at Los Angeles, Anaheim, and San Diego is accredited by The Council on Accreditation for Marriage and Family Therapy Education (COAMFTE) effective November 1, 2022.

Program Philosophy

The mission of the MA Marriage, Couples, and Family Therapy program is to prepare therapists and professional counselors who serve the mental health profession through competence, personal integrity and academic excellence. This is realized through a curriculum that integrates the theoretical foundations of psychotherapy and clinical psychology, essential diagnostic, clinical and consultative skills, and clinical field placement into appropriate practice in a variety of settings and with diverse populations. Recognizing that our students are intrinsically motivated to help others, we acknowledge the significance of promoting an environment that is sensitive to difference and preparing clinicians, who actively develop their multicultural competence. Thus, the program seeks to engage faculty and students in the preparation of therapists and counselors who meet the needs of diverse communities.

Program Mission

The MA Marriage, Couples and Family Therapy department is committed to training ethical Marriage & Family Therapists to serve the diverse communities in Southern California through a systemic lens that emphasizes family systems, recovery, and resilience.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Foundational Knowledge. Graduates will be able to apply foundational and contemporary family theories
 and therapy models in the treatment of individuals, couples, and families across treatment settings.
 - Student learning outcome: Students will demonstrate a knowledge of family systems and social
 constructionist theories and be able to successfully apply systemic theories in clinical practice.
 - Student learning outcome: Students will qualify for state MFT Associate status necessary for continued progression toward MFT Licensure, consistent with AAMFT and CAMFT guidelines.
 - Student learning outcome: Students will demonstrate knowledge or recovery-orientated care and effective practices in community mental health.

- Assessment and Diagnosis. Graduates will be able to provide effective diagnostic and assessment services to
 a diverse set of clients experiencing major mental health issues as well as common presenting problems
 utilizing a biopsychosocial, systems approach to family-oriented mental health care.
 - O Student learning outcome: Students will demonstrate the ability to identify the optimal entry point for intervention within a larger systemic framework.
- **Intervention**. Graduates will demonstrate efficacy in providing evidence based practices with a diverse range of individuals, couples, and families, with a focus on developing competencies in evolving contemporary challenges, problems, and/or recent developments.
 - Student learning outcome: Students will demonstrate the ability to select appropriate interventions to address relational difficulties within a systemic framework.
 - Student learning outcome: Students will demonstrate awareness of social responsibility, becoming
 agents of relational change through an understanding of their own role as therapist within the larger
 community.

Diversity

- Individual and Cultural Differences. Students will develop competencies in understanding and applying
 knowledge of diversity, power, privilege and oppression across all cultural contexts in domestic and
 international settings. This will facilitate the practice of marriage and family therapy in a culturally competent
 frame.
 - Student learning outcome: Students will demonstrate an awareness of diversity and social justice issues, as well as demonstrate competence in working with diverse clinical populations.

Professional Behavior

- Ethics: Graduates will exhibit professional and ethical behavior and understand legal responsibilities
 consistent with professional standards and code of ethics in Marriage and Family therapy.
 - Student learning outcome: Students will be knowledgeable of and successfully apply appropriate state legal guidelines necessary for the competent practice of marriage and family therapy.
 - Student learning outcome: Students will become AAMFT and CAMFT members, abiding by the Code of Ethics for each.
- Professional Relationships: Graduates will identify as Marriage and Family Therapists and demonstrate skills necessary to effectively communicate with interdisciplinary colleagues to coordinate client care utilizing a systemic, integrative perspective.
 - Student learning outcome: Students will demonstrate knowledge of their legal and ethical
 obligations within the context of the larger healthcare system and an associated understanding of
 their role within it.

Scholarship

- Research and Evaluation: Graduates will have an understanding of foundational and current knowledge in
 marriage and family therapy research and evaluation methods, especially within the context of
 biopsychosocial health across the lifespan in families, couples, and individuals.
 - Student learning outcome: Students will demonstrate knowledge of MFT effectiveness research including evidenced based practices, empirically supported treatments, and outcome-based evaluation.
 - O Student learning outcome: Students will demonstrate knowledge of the systemic changes across the lifespan and ability to apply that knowledge to effect change within the associated systems.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's MA Marriage, Couples, and Family Therapy program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. Students applying to the MA in Marriage, Couples, and Family Therapy program must submit the following:

- Application
- Application Fee: \$50
- Resume or Curriculum Vitae
- Essay
- Official College/University Transcripts
 - Students must submit official transcripts from all schools where degrees have been earned. The
 Chicago School requires that all schools be regionally accredited higher education institutions.
 Official transcripts may be sent directly from the institution or with your application for admission
 as long as they are official, sealed, and signed across the envelope flap when they arrive.
- Three Letters of Recommendation
 - Appropriate recommendations are from professors and/or supervisors from significant work or volunteer experiences, who can appraise your academic or professional performance. If you are mailing in your letters, they should arrive in a sealed envelope, signed across the seal. You can also submit the letters online via the applicant portal.
- The Graduate Record Examination (GRE) is not required, however students who have taken the exam may submit their scores to enhance their application. Scores should be sent directly to the school (GRE School Code: 1119) for consideration. Please see the application for detailed instructions and information regarding application requirements, application deadlines, and letters of recommendation.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Articulation Agreements

The Chicago School has also established agreements between the MA Marriage, Couples, and Family Therapy program and the programs listed below to allow qualified students to enroll in doctoral level courses while completing their master's degree that will count toward the doctoral degree. Click on the link of the program that interests you for details.

Early Acceptance into PsyD Marriage and Family Therapy

Professional Performance Evaluation (PPE) Requirements

PPEs are completed at the end of the Summer semester for all first-year students, reflecting the faculty's consensus regarding each student's performance throughout their first year in the MA Marriage, Couples, and Family Therapy program. It may also be completed for any students for whom a faculty member has grade/performance related comments related to attainment of competencies, progress and comportment that should be included in the academic file for consideration in student advising and review. PPEs may be submitted at any time concerns arise. The recording of PPEs is an important way that faculty and others assist in the comprehensive evaluation of the students' progress towards the degree requirements. PPEs also provide essential feedback to students and advisors about areas for attention and focus in advising and remediation. Any PPE score below 3 is cause for concern and may result in action up to and including a referral to the Student Affairs Committee, placement on academic warning/probation, or dismissal. The department chair and Academic Advisor will be notified when students receive a PPE score below 3.

Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of 60 credit hours (63 credit hours for LPCC Track students)
- Successful completion of 300 hours of face to face supervised clinical experience in a mental health setting.
- Successful completion of Clinical Competency Evaluation (CCE)
- Successful completion of Written Comprehensive Exam (WCE)

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Student Professional Evaluation and Student Review Process

The course content and experiential activities offered by the MA Marriage, Couples, and Family Therapy program at The Chicago School are designed to afford students the opportunity to advance their intellectual and professional development and functioning. Throughout the program of study, students are given feedback concerning their personal, academic, and professional strengths, developmental needs, and performance. This feedback will come from a variety of sources including faculty, supervisors, peers, and clients. Students are expected to respond and incorporate this feedback in a mature and professional manner. Throughout their matriculation in the program students are expected to explore and recognize the effects their personal beliefs, issues, emotions, and behaviors have on others and on their ability to function as a therapist or counselor and practicing clinician. Additionally, all students are reviewed annually by program faculty and administration with respect to their overall program performance during the Student Review Process.

Ethical Guidelines

The Chicago School expects that all students will be knowledgeable of and adhere to the "Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct", as published by the California Association of Marriage and Family Therapists, as well as the "Code of Ethics" of the American Association of Marriage and Family Therapists. In addition, no student shall obtain part- or full-time employment that is beyond the scope of their cumulative training in the field of psychology or MCFT and shall not use titles governed by licensure statutes, unless so licensed by the state. A student who fails to adhere to this policy or otherwise fails to demonstrate the appropriate ethics required for practice in the field of psychotherapy or professional counseling is subject to discipline and possible removal.

Practicum

The practicum experience is designed to meet licensure requirements as well as to enhance the learning experience of the student through practical application of didactic classroom instruction. The practicum requires a total of eight credit hours over four semesters during which time the student participates in a clinical training field placement where the student accumulates a minimum of 300 face-to-face contact hours of supervised clinical experience in a mental health setting, at least 100 of which shall be with couples and families. In addition, the student is required to attend a regularly scheduled practicum seminar during which students will participate in clinical case consultation, case presentations, and complete a clinical case report.

At the end of the fourth practicum seminar, students will complete a Clinical Competency Evaluation (CCE) which consists of a full clinical case report, tape, and transcripts, as well as a presentation of this case to the class and instructor. The CCE provides an important assessment of a student's competency in meeting key programmatic outcomes. Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

Clinical Competency Evaluation (CCE)

During the practicum seminar, students will conduct a formal case presentation and submit a 10-minute transcript and tape of an actual client session. In MM575 Practicum I, a clinical case presentation outline will be completed and turned into the instructor along with the tape and transcript. For MM 578 Practicum IV, students will complete a Clinical Competency Evaluation (CCE) which consists of a Clinical Case Report (CCR,) a tape and transcript as well as a formal oral presentation of the case to the class and instructor. The CCE results will determine if a student successfully passes practicum. If a student does not pass the first time, the student will be able to submit a second CCE, tape and transcript using a different interview. Students are advised to meet with their seminar instructor to review the first CCE and prepare to pass the CCE the next time. Failure to pass a second CCE means that the student has failed practicum and the student will need to complete practicum again.

Written Comprehensive Examination (WCE)

All students are required to successfully complete the Written Comprehensive Exam. The information tested by the exam covers the program competencies. The comprehensive examination is generally administered twice a year and taken during the last year of enrollment in academic coursework. Students must be in good academic standing to be eligible to take the Written Comprehensive Examination. Additional information regarding registering, qualifying, format and dates of the exam can be obtained from the Department Chair of the program. Students who are unable to pass the Written Comprehensive Examination will be allowed to retake the exam a maximum of two additional times. The exam may be retaken during the next scheduled administration of the exam. Students will receive information from their faculty advisor concerning their performance on the examination. Assistance from faculty in constructing additional experiences and instruction aimed at enabling them to pass this program requirement can be offered. Any student who fails the Comprehensive Examination a third time will be referred to the Student Affairs Committee (SAC).

The Curriculum

Required Core: 60 credit hours

Licensed Professional Clinical Counselor Track: 3 credit hours

Program Totals:

Coursework Only: 60 credit hours

LPCC Track: 63 credit hours

Required Core

60 credit hours

- MM 508 Introduction to Counseling Skills in Systemic Therapy. (2 credit hours)
- MM 515 Psychopathology in the Family Context (3 credit hours)
- MM 518 Advanced Application of Marriage and Family Therapy (3 credit hours)
- MM 521 Child and Adolescent Treatment (3 credit hours)
- MM 523 Couples Therapy, Theory, and Techniques (3 credit hours) (Course fee \$125)
- MM 526 Diagnosis and Treatment of Mental and Emotional Disorders in Family Systems (3 credit hours)
- MM 528 Diversity in Family Therapy (3 credit hours)
- MM 532 Sexual Issues in Marriage and Family Therapy (3 credit hours)
- MM 538 Individual and Family Development Across the Lifespan (3 credit hours)
- MM 543 Models and Techniques of Family Therapy (2 credit hours)
- MM 545 Professional, Legal, and Ethical Issues in Marriage and Family Therapy (3 credit hours)
- MM 547 Assessment in Marriage and Family Therapy (3 credit hours)
- MM 549 Psychopharmacology and Collaborative Care (3 credit hours)
- MM 555 Research Methods in Marriage and Family Therapy (3 credit hours)
- MM 557 Recovery, Trauma, and Crisis Counseling within the Community (3 credit hours)(course fee \$80)
- MM 560 Group Counseling and Systems (3 credit hours)
- MM 563 Systems Theory and Family Therapy (3 credit hours)
- MM 566 Treatment of Addictions in Family Systems (3 credit hours)
- MM 569 Practicum Readiness Assessment (0 credit hours)
- MM 575 Marriage and Family Therapy Practicum I (2 credit hours)(auto full time)
- MM 576 Marriage and Family Therapy Practicum II (2 credit hours)(auto full time)
- MM 577 Marriage and Family Therapy Practicum III (2 credit hours)(auto full time)
- MM 578 Marriage and Family Therapy Practicum IV (2 credit hours)(auto full time)
- MM 590 Comprehensive Examination (auto half time) (0 credit hours)(course fee \$45)

Licensed Professional Clinical Counselor Track

Students enrolled in the Licensed Professional Clinical Counselor track will choose one of these two courses:

- MM 652 Career Assessment (3 credit hours)
- FO 638 Career Development and Counseling (3 credits)(course fee \$30 on ground only)

Optional Advanced Practicum

MM 628 - Advanced Practicum (1 credit hour) (auto full time)

Extension Courses

MM 619 - Practicum Extension (0 credit hours)(auto half time)

MA Organizational Leadership

Online

Program Overview

The MA Organizational Leadership program is designed for working adults interested in making a difference in organizations through ethical leadership, informed by an evidence-based psychological perspective. The curriculum offers the knowledge and skills drawn from psychological research and is aligned with an established contemporary taxonomy of leadership competencies based on social psychological theories. Graduates are prepared to excel as ethical leaders and managers, be sensitive to and understand diverse populations, and contribute to education, research, and policy-making in a variety of organizational environments.

The MA Organizational Leadership is a 40 credit hour program, consisting of a core of 34 credits, including capstone, and 6 credits of an emphasis area. To ensure graduates are well prepared for present and future leadership roles and demands, this degree program offers the opportunity to build knowledge and skills through the completion of a comprehensive core of courses as well as having the ability to deepen an area of interest through the selection of courses from electives in general or industrial/organizational psychology. This program prepares students for advancement into PhD programs in Organizational Leadership or Business Psychology.

Program Philosophy

This program examines field of psychology from an organizational leadership perspective. It is intended to develop professionals who can apply knowledge about principles of psychology and leadership to work more effectively with specific populations. The program includes coursework in leadership, research, ethics, interpersonal dynamics, and a variety of electives to support each student's unique career goals-preparing graduates to apply the principles of psychology and leadership theory in a broad range of settings, to more effectively lead individuals and organizations to success.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

Demonstrate oral and written communication that is grammatically correct, logical, succinct, and of
publishable quality and non-defensive, learning oriented responses to constructive feedback.

Diversity

 Demonstrate knowledge of the role of individual differences in the workplace and the ability to establish and benefit from collaborative professional relationships, regardless of differences in background, work roles, and points of view.

Professional Behavior

- Demonstrate personal integrity and ethical behavior in their leadership practice through leadership decisionmaking based on ethical considerations and guidelines.
- Demonstrate professional behavior through constructive and appropriate interactions with others.

Scholarship

- Apply the principles of social science research to the field of organizational leadership.
- Demonstrate comprehension of data and information presented in statistical reports and social science research articles
- Critically review leadership scholarship including probing for more information, identifying logic flaws, and creating alternative solutions.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's MA Organizational Leadership program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors that are considered in admission include GPA from undergraduate schools. Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission. Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications. Additional factors that are considering in admission include the following:

- Application
- Application Fee (\$50)
- Resume or Curriculum Vitae
- Essay
 - How will your personal and professional accomplishments, academic background, and experience contribute to your success in this Program?
 - O How will the successful completion of this Program support your professional career goals?

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of 40 credit hours of coursework
- Successful completion of Capstone Project

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Ethical Guidelines

Students are expected to engage in all graduate work, including but not limited to course work, research, and scholarship, with a high degree of integrity and professionalism. It is essential that students approach professional working relationships, collegial relationships, and client/partner-contact with respect. Further, students are expected to adhere to the American Psychological Association's (APA) *Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct* as well as the "evolving universal code of ethics" (Gauthier, 2005). Students who choose to seek employment in the field of psychology shall not work beyond their level of competence and shall not use titles governed by credentialing statutes and/or regulations unless authorized by the relevant jurisdictional authority. Students who fail to comply with ethical and professional behavior guidelines are subject to department remediation and/or referral to the Student Affairs Committee for disciplinary action and possible dismissal.

Capstone Project

The MA Organizational Leadership program culminates in a capstone project that is a critical analysis of a best-selling popular management non-fiction book selected from the list provided. This analysis intends to identify the evidence-based theories that would support the assertions made by the author. Based on theory and its supporting literature, the student will identify strengths and shortcomings of the author's approach, explaining (based on theory) why the approach would succeed or fail, and under what conditions. This project focuses on developing critical thinking, expanding awareness of diversity and ethics, applying theory to practice, and developing information literacy skills.

Additionally, this capstone project forms the summative assessment of the program, and is designed to satisfy the requirements of the competencies of the MA Organizational Leadership program for a culminating experience.

The Curriculum

Required Core: 34 credit hours

Electives: 6 credit hours

Program Total

M.A. Organizational Leadership: 40 credit hours

Required Core

- IO 510 Organizational Behavior (3 credit hours)(course fee \$92)
- IO 519 Statistics and Lab (4 credit hours)

- IO 525 Organizational Leadership (3 credit hours) (course fee \$45)
- MP 525 Research Methods in Psychology (3 credit hours)
- MP 553 Emotional Intelligence and Leadership (3 credit hours)
- IO 555 Work Team Dynamics (3 credit hours)
- IO 578 Beyond Compliance: Building Ethical Organizations (3 credit hours)
- IO 579 Promoting Diversity (3 credit hours)
- ML 600 Change Management for Leaders (3 credit hours)
- ML 601 Capstone I (1 credit hour)
- ML 602 Capstone II (1 credit hour)
- ML 603 Capstone III (1 credit hour)
- MP 611 Gender and Leadership Style (3 credit hours)

Electives

Students choose 6 credit hours of coursework in the MA Industrial and Organizational Psychology or MA Psychology program.

Earning a Certificate in Organizational Leadership

A student in the MA Organizational Leadership program may earn a Certificate in Organizational Leadership following the successful completion of required coursework and specific program requirements. At the beginning of the semester in which a student expects to be eligible for the certificate, they may submit the Petition for Degree Conferral to the Office of the Registrar. The petition is a request to conduct an audit to determine eligibility for the certificate and, is required for conferral. Eligibility guidelines for the certificate are contained in the catalog under which the student was admitted.

The Specific requirements are as follows:

- Financial/Financial Aid Good Standing.
- Academic Good Standing at the time the requirements for the certificate were completed.
- Cumulative GPA for the coursework required for the certificate must meet the graduation requirements of the
 certificate.
- Successful completion of all certificate coursework as identified on the program of study page.
- The Petition for Degree Conferral must be submitted within 1 year from the date the final certificate requirement was completed.
- All SAC referrals for behavioral misconduct or issues of professional comportment must be deemed as fully remediated by the SAC committee before the certificate can be conferred.

The Curriculum

Required Core: 3 credit hours

Elective Courses: 6-7* credit hours

Program Total: 9-10* credit hours

*Students who choose IO519 Statistics and Lab as an elective will complete 7 total credit hours of electives, resulting in 10 credit hours total.

- IO 525 Organizational Leadership (3 credit hours) (course fee \$45) Choose two from below:
- IO 510 Organizational Behavior (3 credit hours)(course fee \$92)

- IO 519 Statistics and Lab (4 credit hours)
- IO 555 Work Team Dynamics (3 credit hours)
- IO 578 Beyond Compliance: Building Ethical Organizations (3 credit hours)
- IO 579 Promoting Diversity (3 credit hours)
- MP 611 Gender and Leadership Style (3 credit hours)
- MP 553 Emotional Intelligence and Leadership (3 credit hours)
- MP 525 Research Methods in Psychology (3 credit hours)

MA Psychology

Online

Program Overview

Multicultural Insight, Global Experience, Practical Scholarship

The MA Psychology program is a non-licensure program designed to extend students' knowledge by providing a thorough understanding of the principles, theories, and applications of psychology. The program boasts an accomplished and highly supportive faculty, who bring their clinical, applied research, and community-based expertise to each course. The program provides a multicultural curriculum and the opportunity to apply concepts of psychology in a practical, real-world context. MA Psychology students also have opportunities to study abroad at destinations specifically chosen by faculty to ground a deeper understanding of psychological principles in a global context.

The Applied Research Project, the capstone of the MA Psychology curriculum, emphasizes the application of learning directly to the workplace or other life-context, using assessments, projects, and other measures to ensure application-based research and learning.

The MA Psychology program prepares students to apply psychology principles and multicultural understanding across sectors, roles, and organizations. Students utilize the general master's degree to access promotional and leadership opportunities in fields such as human services, government, business, education, nonprofits, criminal justice, and healthcare. The program can also be a strong stepping-stone to doctoral study.

The curriculum is 30 semester credit hours, and includes fifteen semester credit hours in general psychology, six semester hours in the Applied Research Project, and nine credit hours taken within a concentration. The MA Psychology program currently offers ten concentrations: Applied Behavior Analysis; Child and Adolescent Psychology; Forensic Psychology; Generalist; International Psychology; Online Teaching and Learning; Organizational Leadership; Public Health; Social and Community Psychology; and Suicide and Cyberbullying Prevention. The Social and Community Psychology concentration is offered in Spanish.

Program Mission

Through integration of theory and practice, students in the MA Psychology non-licensure program at The Chicago School will gain broad knowledge that will enhance their professional behavior and practice across cultures in the social and behavioral sciences. The students will set themselves apart through the creation of an Applied Research Project that will highlight their area of concentration in a real-life application of scholarly theory and practice.

Program Learning Outcomes

Program Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Integrate knowledge of psychological theory, research, and professional literature to choose professional
 activities that promote optimal health and well-being in individuals, groups, and systems.
- Demonstrate knowledge of psychological theory and assessment techniques to evaluate various dimensions of human experience across a range of contexts.
- Compose grammatically correct papers, reports, and discussion posts of a professional quality, using style
 and formatting consistent with the most recent APA Style publication manual.

Diversity

Respond ethically and effectively to individual and group differences across racial, ethnic, gender, age, social
class, disability, sexual orientation, and religious boundaries.

Professional Behavior

• Demonstrate the knowledge, skills, and practices of ethical decision-making and behavior.

Scholarship

- Demonstrate understanding of research, research methodology, techniques of data collection and analysis, as well as ability to apply scientifically derived knowledge.
- Demonstrate acquired understanding of and respect for scientifically derived knowledge of the psychological bases of behavior and developmental issues across the lifespan.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to the MA Psychology program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors that are considered in admission are GPA from undergraduate and any graduate schools, successful work history after completion of the baccalaureate degree, and the admission essay. Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 2.8 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission. Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications.

The Graduate Record Examination (GRE) is not required; however, students who have taken the exam may submit their scores to enhance their application. Scores should be sent directly to the school (GRE School Code: 1119) for consideration. Please see the application for detailed instructions and information regarding application requirements, deadlines.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Articulation Agreements

The Chicago School has also established agreements between the MA Psychology program and the programs listed below to allow qualified students to enroll in doctoral level courses while completing their master's degree that will count toward the doctoral degree. Click on the link of the program that interests you for details.

Early Acceptance into PhD International Psychology

Early Acceptance into PhD Organizational Leadership

Early Acceptance into EdD Educational Psychology and Technology

The Chicago School has also established agreements between the MA Psychology program and the programs listed below to allow qualified students to enroll in courses in other The Chicago School programs while completing their MA Psychology that can be counted toward both programs. Click on the link of the program that interests you for details.

MA Psychology and Post-Master's Certificate in Applied Behavior Analysis

MA Psychology and MA Forensic Psychology

MA Psychology and Instructional Design Certificate

The Chicago School has agreements between MA Psychology programs and the programs listed below to allow students to affiliate credits from the listed program to MA Psychology.

MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling to MA Psychology

MA Counseling Psychology to MA Psychology

MA Marriage, Couples, and Family Therapy to MA Psychology

Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of 30 credit hours of coursework
- Successful completion of Applied Research Project

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Ethical Guidelines

Students are expected to develop a working knowledge of the ethical and legal issues pertaining to, but not limited to, APA's current Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct for Psychologists; relevant federal, state, and local laws, statutes, regulations, and legal precedents (e.g., the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission's *Uniform*

Guidelines on Employee Selection Procedures, 1978) as well as the professional norms, standards, and guidelines relevant to the profession.

The Curriculum

Required Core: 21 credit hours

Concentration: 9 credit hours

Program Total

MA Psychology: 30 credit hours

Required Core

MP 502 - Professional Ethics in Psychology (3 credit hours)

- MP 505 Diversity and Psychology (3 credit hours)
- MP 510 Psychology of the Life Span (3 credit hours)
- MP 525 Research Methods in Psychology (3 credit hours)
- MP 527 Theories of Personality (3 credit hours)
- MP 615A Applied Research Project I Information Literacy & Proposal (1.5 credit hours)(auto full time)
- MP 615B Applied Research Project II Literature Review (1.5 credit hours)(auto full time)
- MP 620A Applied Research Project III Planning and Development (1.5 credit hours)(auto full time)
- MP 620B Applied Research Project IV Completion and Defense (1.5 credit hours)(auto full time)
 The following required courses may also be offered in Spanish.
- MP 525-ES Métodos de Investigaciones en Psicología (3 credit hours)
- MP 615A-ES Proposal-Proyecto de Investigaciones Aplicadas (1.5 credit hours)
- MP 615B-ES Proyecto de Investigaciones Aplicadas 2: Revisión de la Literatura (1.5 credit hours)
- MP 620A-ES Proyecto de Investigaciones Aplicadas 3: Planificación y Desarrollo (1.5 credit hours)
- MP 620B-ES Proyecto de Investigaciones Aplicadas 4: Defensa Final (1.5 credit hours)

Concentration Options

Applied Behavior Analysis

- AB 540 Concepts and Principles in Behavior Analysis I (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 545 Measurement and Design in Behavior Analysis (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 565 Professional Ethics and Issues in Behavior Analysis (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)

Child and Adolescent Psychology

• MP 541 - Trauma and Crisis Intervention (3 credit hours)

- MP 604 Family Systems and Family Therapy (3 credit hours)
- MP 642 Evidence Based Programs for Children and Adolescents (3 credit hours)

Forensic Psychology

- FO 611 Ethics and Professional Issues (3 credit hours)
- FO 617 Clinical and Diagnostic Interviewing (3 credits)
- FO 625 Assessment and Treatment of Substance-Related and Addictive Disorders (3 credits)

International Psychology

- IN 521 Global Mental Health and Human Rights (3 credit hours)
- IN 535 Culture Centered Interventions Program Design and Evaluations (3 credit hours)
- IN 550 Process of Acculturation, Immigration and Refugee Status (3 credit hours)

Online Teaching and Learning

- MP 503 Online Learning Communities and Pedagogies (3 credit hours)
- MP 504 Online Course Design and Assessment (3 credit hours)
- MP 506 Online Technologies for Learning Engagement (3 credit hours)

Organizational Leadership

- IO 510 Organizational Behavior (3 credit hours)(course fee \$92)
- MP 553 Emotional Intelligence and Leadership (3 credit hours)
- MP 611 Gender and Leadership Style (3 credit hours)

Public Health

The following course are required:

- PH 500 Foundations of Public Health and Public Health Policy (3 credit hours)
- PH 507 Public Health Law, Regulation, and Ethics (3 credit hours) Students choose one of the following:
- PH 535 Dimensions of Community Assessment, Environmental, and Occupational Health (3 credit hours)
- PH 543 Public Policy Development: Essentials of Communication, Collaboration, Advocacy (3 credit hours)
- PH 550 Healthcare Access and U.S. Payment Systems (3 credit hours)

Social and Community Psychology Concentration

This concentration is taught in Spanish.

- MP 530-ES Psicología Social de las Culturas (3 credit hours)
- MP 552-ES Psicología Internacional de Género: (3 credit hours)
- MP 614-ES Aculturación (3 credit hours)

Suicide and Cyberbullying Prevention

- MP 541 Trauma and Crisis Intervention (3 credit hours)
- MP 546 Global Issues in Suicide (3 credit hours)
- MP 557 Social Media and Cyberbullying (3 credit hours)

Generalist

- Student choice: three courses from any of the concentrations, with the exception of ABA concentration, and can include the courses listed below for a total of 9 credit hours
- MP 529 Psychopathology and Behavior Disorders (3 credit hours)
- MP 540 Community and Environmental Psychology (3 credit hours)

Earning a Graduate Certificate in Online Teaching and Learning

A student in the MA Psychology program may earn a Graduate Certificate in Online Teaching and Learning following the successful completion of required coursework and specific program requirements. At the beginning of the semester in which a student expects to be eligible for the certificate, they may submit the Petition for Degree Conferral to the Office of the Registrar. The petition is a request to conduct an audit to determine eligibility for the certificate and, is required for conferral. Eligibility guidelines for the certificate are contained in the catalog under which the student was admitted.

The Specific requirements are as follows:

- Financial/Financial Aid Good Standing.
- Academic Good Standing at the time the requirements for the certificate were completed.
- Cumulative GPA for the coursework required for the certificate must meet the graduation requirements of the
 certificate.
- Successful completion of all certificate coursework.
- The Petition for Degree Conferral must be submitted within 1 year from the date the final certificate requirement was completed.
- All SAC referrals for behavioral misconduct or issues of professional comportment must be deemed as fully remediated by the SAC committee before the certificate can be conferred.

Graduate Certificate in Online Teaching and Learning Curriculum

Required Core: 9 Credit hours

- MP 503 Online Learning Communities and Pedagogies (3 credit hours)
- MP 504 Online Course Design and Assessment (3 credit hours)
- MP 506 Online Technologies for Learning Engagement (3 credit hours)

Earning a Child and Adolescent Psychology Certificate

A student in the MA Psychology program may earn a Child and Adolescent Psychology Certificate following the successful completion of required coursework and specific program requirements. At the beginning of the semester in which a student expects to be eligible for the certificate, they may submit the Petition for Degree Conferral to the Office of the Registrar. The petition is a request to conduct an audit to determine eligibility for the certificate and, is required for conferral. Eligibility guidelines for the certificate are contained in the catalog under which the student was admitted.

The Specific requirements are as follows:

- Financial/Financial Aid Good Standing.
- Academic Good Standing at the time the requirements for the certificate were completed.
- Cumulative GPA for the coursework required for the certificate must meet the graduation requirements of the
 certificate.
- Successful completion of all certificate coursework
- The Petition for Degree Conferral must be submitted within 1 year from the date the final certificate requirement was completed.
- All SAC referrals for behavioral misconduct or issues of professional comportment must be deemed as fully remediated by the SAC committee before the certificate can be conferred.

Child and Adolescent Psychology Certificate Curriculum

Required Core: 9 Credit hours

- MP 510 Psychology of the Life Span (3 credit hours)
- MP 541 Trauma and Crisis Intervention (3 credit hours)
- MP 604 Family Systems and Family Therapy (3 credit hours)

Earning an Organizational Leadership Certificate

A student in the MA Psychology program may earn an Organizational Leadership Certificate following the successful completion of required coursework and specific program requirements. At the beginning of the semester in which a student expects to be eligible for the certificate, they may submit the Petition for Degree Conferral to the Office of the Registrar. The petition is a request to conduct an audit to determine eligibility for the certificate and, is required for conferral. Eligibility guidelines for the certificate are contained in the catalog under which the student was admitted.

The Specific requirements are as follows:

- Financial/Financial Aid Good Standing.
- Academic Good Standing at the time the requirements for the certificate were completed.
- Cumulative GPA for the coursework required for the certificate must meet the graduation requirements of the
 certificate.
- Successful completion of all certificate coursework as identified below. MA Psychology students may substitute IO 510 Organizational Behavior for IO 525 Organizational Leadership to earn the Organizational Leadership Certificate.
- The Petition for Degree Conferral must be submitted within 1 year from the date the final certificate requirement was completed.
- All SAC referrals for behavioral misconduct or issues of professional comportment must be deemed as fully remediated by the SAC committee before the certificate can be conferred.

The Organizational Leadership Certificate Curriculum

Required Core: 3 credit hours

Elective Courses: 6-7* credit hours

Program Total: 9-10* credit hours

*Students who choose IO519 Statistics and Lab as an elective will complete 7 total credit hours of electives, resulting in 10 credit hours total.

IO 525 - Organizational Leadership (3 credit hours) (course fee \$45)

Electives:

Choose 2 from below:

- IO 510 Organizational Behavior (3 credit hours)(course fee \$92)
- IO 519 Statistics and Lab (4 credit hours)
- IO 555 Work Team Dynamics (3 credit hours)
- IO 578 Beyond Compliance: Building Ethical Organizations (3 credit hours)
- IO 579 Promoting Diversity (3 credit hours)
- MP 525 Research Methods in Psychology (3 credit hours)
- MP 533 Anxiety and Energy Management (3 credits)
- MP 611 Gender and Leadership Style (3 credit hours)

Earning a Graduate Certificate in Social and Community Psychology

A student in the MA Psychology program may earn a Graduate Certificate in Social and Community Psychology following the successful completion of required coursework and specific program requirements. At the beginning of the semester in which a student expects to be eligible for the certificate, they may submit the Petition for Degree Conferral to the Office of the Registrar. The petition is a request to conduct an audit to determine eligibility for the certificate and, is required for conferral. Eligibility guidelines for the certificate are contained in the catalog under which the student was admitted.

The Specific requirements are as follows:

- Financial/Financial Aid Good Standing.
- Academic Good Standing at the time the requirements for the certificate were completed.
- Cumulative GPA for the coursework required for the certificate must meet the graduation requirements of the
 certificate.
- Successful completion of all certificate coursework as identified.
- The Petition for Degree Conferral must be submitted within 1 year from the date the final certificate requirement was completed.
- All SAC referrals for behavioral misconduct or issues of professional comportment must be deemed as fully remediated by the SAC committee before the certificate can be conferred.

Graduate Certificate in Social and Community Psychology Curriculum

Required Core: 9 Credit hours

- MP 530-ES Psicología Social de las Culturas (3 credit hours)
- MP 552-ES Psicología Internacional de Género: (3 credit hours)
- MP 614-ES Aculturación (3 credit hours)

Earning a Suicide and Cyberbullying Prevention Certificate

A student in the MA Psychology program may earn a Suicide and Cyberbullying Prevention Certificate following the successful completion of required coursework and specific program requirements. At the beginning of the semester in which a student expects to be eligible for the certificate, they may submit the Petition for Degree Conferral to the Office of the Registrar. The petition is a request to conduct an audit to determine eligibility for the certificate and, is required for conferral. Eligibility guidelines for the certificate are contained in the catalog under which the student was admitted.

The Specific requirements are as follows:

• Financial/Financial Aid Good Standing.

- Academic Good Standing at the time the requirements for the certificate were completed.
- Cumulative GPA for the coursework required for the certificate must meet the graduation requirements of the certificate.
- Successful completion of all certificate coursework.
- The Petition for Degree Conferral must be submitted within 1 year from the date the final certificate requirement was completed.
- All SAC referrals for behavioral misconduct or issues of professional comportment must be deemed as fully remediated by the SAC committee before the certificate can be conferred.

Suicide and Cyberbullying Prevention Certificate

Required Core: 9 credit hours

- MP 541 Trauma and Crisis Intervention (3 credit hours)
- MP 546 Global Issues in Suicide (3 credit hours)
- MP 557 Social Media and Cyberbullying (3 credit hours)

MA Psychopharmacology

Online

Program Description

The MA Psychopharmacology program is program designed to provide general knowledge of psychopharmacology and medical conditions that are relevant to mental health care. It is designed for practitioners and leaders who are not psychologists or doctoral psychology students, but who have undergraduate/graduate degrees in related fields. Program students may include licensed clinical social workers, hospital staff, nurses, and related fields in psychology (e.g., Mental Health Counseling, Marriage and Family Therapy, Applied Behavior Analysis). Participants will learn how to increase their current competency in assessment, diagnosis, and intervention, and engage in case-based learning that will enhance their collaborative practice skills. The MA in Psychopharmacology does <u>not</u> lead to prescriptive licensure.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful of this program students will be experienced in the following program competencies:

Professional Practice

• **Patient Assessment**: Students will be able to evidence knowledge of skills needed to conduct a reliable and valid assessment, diagnosis and provide psychopharmacological treatment options.

Diversity

Diversity: Students will be able to show knowledge of the role of ethnic, racial and other individual
differences in human physiology (e.g. single nucleotide
polymorphisms) that may affect therapeutic and adverse responses to psychopharmacological agents.

Professional Behavior

 Ethics: Students will be knowledgeable of the importance of personal integrity and ethical behavior in psychopharmacology practice through sound decision making based on ethical considerations and guidelines Professionalism: Students will be able to show professional behavior through constructive and appropriate
interactions with others.

Scholarship

- Science: Students will be able to evidence competency in the fundamental concepts in psychopharmacology such as pharmacodynamics, pharmacokinetics and drug interactions.
- Research: Students will be able to evidence comprehension of data and information presented in the
 psychopharmacology research literature including meta-analysis studies of drug efficacy, and produce an
 applied research project (ARP).

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's Master of Arts in Psychopharmacology online degree program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree in psychology or related field (e.g., nursing) from a regionally-accredited institution, and, who meets The Chicago School entrance requirements.

- Completed application
- Resume or Curriculum Vitae
- \$50 application fee
- An undergraduate (or graduate, if applicable) GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is expected for admission.
- Completion of the following two prerequisites in prior undergraduate or graduate coursework (3 semester credits or quarter credit equivalent for each course) with a grade of "B" or better:
 - o Abnormal Psychology
 - o Research Methods or Basic Statistics
- Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended
 that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

The Curriculum

Required Core: 31 credit hours

Required Core

- PS 500 Anatomy I: Medical Anatomy and Physiology (2 credit hours)
- PS 507 Anatomy II: Functional Neuroanatomy & Neurophysiology (2 credit hours)
- PS 514 Capstone Examination: Applied Research Project (1 credit hour)
- PS 521 Psychiatric Procedural Skills (2 credit hours)
- PS 528 Clinical Medicine Across the Lifespan (3 credit hours)
- PS 535 Fundamentals of Biochemistry & Neurochemistry (2 credit hours)
- PS 607 Advanced Pathophysiology (2 credit hours)
- PS 540 Psychopharmacology I: General Principles (3 credit hours)
- PS 545 Psychopharmacology II: Evidence-Based Patient Treatment and Management (2 credit hours)
- PS 625 Advanced Physical Assessment (2 credit hours)
- PS 635 Diagnostic Methods (2 credit hours)
- PS 650 Substance Abuse & Chronic Pain Management (2 credit hours)
- PS 655 Pharmacology (3 credit hours)
- PS 665 Special Populations: Pediatric & Geriatric Psychopharmacology (2 credit hours)
- PS 675 Professional, Ethical & Legal Issues in Psychopharmacology Practice (1 credit hour)

Master of Public Health

Master of Public Health

Online

Program Overview

The Chicago School's 21st Century curriculum embraces the evolving U.S. healthcare landscape, which has seen dramatic change following the implementation of The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act while developing a global mindset to respond to the challenges of a highly interconnected world. The rigorous, interdisciplinary curriculum integrates theory, scientific research, professional practice and innovation - all framed by career-focused community engagement - offering the knowledge and skills required by a changing healthcare marketplace.

The Chicago School's Master of Public Health (MPH) consists of 42-credit hours including 27 credits of core courses, 9 credits in a chosen concentration, and 6 credits of applied practice experience culminating in a capstone project. All students participate in a required international field experience, for an average of 7-10 days, which typically will not exceed 12 days, including travel time, allowing them to examine the unique and common health challenges of a diverse, yet interconnected world.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Compare and contrast the structure, function, and organization of public health and healthcare systems in the
 United States and globally; and apply systems thinking tools to understand public health issues.
- Identify public health needs, design and execute interventions to promote, preserve and protect the communities' health.
- Assess the impact of public health programs, ensuring community partnerships are built and sustained in the process.
- Apply principles and practices of ethics, leadership, and management to empower stakeholders as they
 collaborate throughout the process of evidence based decision making to improve health behaviors and
 outcomes

Diversity

- Drawing from the literature on the social determinants of health, students will create culturally competent
 solutions for public health concerns keeping in mind the cultural norms, values and practices of diverse
 populations, as well as the inequities experienced by those groups.
- Advocate for policies, and programs whose goals include improving health outcomes and health equity among diverse communities.

Professional Behavior

- Determine appropriate communication strategies and modalities to communicate public health content based on need of the audience and environment.
- Public health professionals will engage ethically and professionally with the communities they serve and on interprofessional teams.

Scholarship

- Apply epidemiological methods that use both quantitative and qualitative research methods to examine public
 health challenges and utilize tools and techniques of biostatistics, informatics, computer programming to
 interpret findings that inform further research, policy and practice.
- Evaluate the public health impact of policy and understand the process associated with policy-making.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to the MPH Program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements.

Factors that are considered in admission to the MPH Program are:

- Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission. Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned.
- Application fee: \$50
- Resume or Curriculum Vitae
- Interview with Program Chair of Faculty Designee (by phone or GTM)
- Two-page personal statement/essay answering the following questions:
 - 1. How will your personal and professional accomplishments, academic background, and experience contribute to your success in the MPH Program?
 - 2. How will the successful completion of the MPH Program support your professional career goals?

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School of does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of 42 credit hours of coursework
- Successful completion of 75 hours of applied practice experience over an 8-week semester

On average, a student who progresses successfully through the academic program should expect to complete the Master of Public Health degree in 27 months. A student must complete all degree requirements within 39 months.

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Articulation Agreements

The Chicago School has established agreements between the Master of Public Health program and the B.A. Psychology program to allow qualified students to students to enroll in master's level courses while completing their bachelors degree that will then count toward the master's degree. Click on this link for details.

Applied Practice Experience Requirements

MPH students complete a minimum of 75 hours of fieldwork over an 8-week semester. Through supervised applied practice experience, students apply public health principles to real-world challenges. Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

The Curriculum

Required Core: 33 credit hours

Electives/Concentration: 9 credit hours

Program Total

Master of Public Health: 42 credit hours

Required Core

PH 500 - Foundations of Public Health and Public Health Policy (3 credit hours)

- PH 507 Public Health Law, Regulation, and Ethics (3 credit hours)
- PH 516 Research Methods in Public Health (3 credit hours)
- PH 521 Fundamentals of Epidemiology (3 credit hours)
- PH 529 Global Issues of Culture, Health and Wellness (3 credit hours)(course fee)
- PH 535 Dimensions of Community Assessment, Environmental, and Occupational Health (3 credit hours)
- PH 543 Public Policy Development: Essentials of Communication, Collaboration, Advocacy (3 credit hours)
- PH 550 Healthcare Access and U.S. Payment Systems (3 credit hours)
- PH 557 Public Health Assessment, Program Design, and Evaluation (3 credit hours)
- PH 677 Applied Practice Experience (3 credit hours)
- PH 684 Integrative Learning Experience (3 credit hours)

Concentrations

Mental Health and Behavioral Aspects of Public Health

Students gain an understanding of the psychological aspects of health and wellness and develop effective community public health interventions to support mental health.

- PH 690 Psychological Context of Health and Healthy Behaviors (3 credit hours)
- PH 691 Essentials of Risk Management (3 credit hours)
- PH 692 Holistic Wellness: Populations and Community (3 credit hours)

Public Policy Development and Advocacy

Students develop skills essential to community engagement, collective policy development and advocacy at the local, state, and national levels.

- PH 700 Health Policy Analysis: Overview to Implementation (3 credit hours)
- PH 701 Seminar in Legislation Advocacy and Public Policy Development (3 credit hours)
- PH 702 International Healthcare Policy (3 credit hours)

Master of Health Services Administration

Master of Health Services Administration

Online

Program Overview

The 36 credit hour Master of Health Services Administration degree prepares students to effectively manage health service institutions to include hospitals, clinics, group physician practices, nursing homes, outpatient care centers, mental health organizations, and specialty care facilities. Though not accredited by the Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Management Education (CAHME), the program is built to the standards of CAHME and based on The Leadership Competency Model established by the National Center for Healthcare Leadership (2012).

Program Philosophy

The Master of Health Services Administration department strives to provide professionals with the skills necessary for leadership roles in an evolving and multifarious environment of health services administration. With an unwavering commitment to ethical practice and in support of the The Chicago School's Values and Philosophy, the department endeavors to provide students the abilities to serve in the health services community. Utilizing innovative educational methods to achieve its educational goals through advanced research, scholarship, and the development of administrative skills and knowledge, students can further their careers with a commitment to improving the health of the communities they serve.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Have knowledge of the healthcare system and administrative/management roles in in health services.
- Successfully negotiate the challenges between business practices and evidence based findings in health services administration.
- Combine leadership skills, logic, initiative, and innovation to prepare for organizational transformation.

Diversity

 Evaluate the impact of diversity issues on individuals and society and demonstrate awareness and competence while working with diverse populations.

Professional Behavior

- Apply oral and written communication skills through collaboration and relationship management.
- Recognize and assess self-development, problem solving skills, and self-reflection in service.
- Operate with integrity, accountability and achievement orientation by practicing from a code of ethics and professional values and beliefs.

Scholarship

- Select and use statistical and financial data to monitor and drive organizational success, financial health, payment processes, and to support decision making.
- Analyze and design organizational processes, develop solutions and best practices.

Admission Requirements

The Chicago School is not currently enrolling new students in this program.

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's Master of Health Services Administration program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements.

- Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is expected for admission.
- Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned.
- Application fee: \$50

- Resume or Curriculum Vitae
- Two-page personal statement/essay answering the following questions:
 - How will your personal and professional accomplishments, academic background, and experience contribute to your success in the MHSA Program?
 - O How will the successful completion of the MHSA Program support your professional career goals?
- Health Services background recommended but not required.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission, in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Degree Completion Requirement

- Successful completion of 36 credit hours of coursework
- Successful completion of 100 hour practicum

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Ethical Guidelines

Students are expected to develop a working knowledge of the ethical and legal issues pertaining to, but not limited to, American college of Healthcare executives, National Association for Healthcare Quality, relevant federal, state, and local laws, statutes, regulations, and legal precedents (e.g., the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission's Uniform Guidelines on Employee Selection Procedures, 1978) as well as the professional norms, standards, and guidelines relevant to the profession.

Practicum

The Practical capstone is a real-world opportunity for the student to demonstrate skills and concepts in health services administration and apply these through a planned and supervised practical experience.

MHSA students participate in two Practical Capstone courses over the final two terms of their Program, with each seminar course occurring over an eight-week term schedule. The first, two-credit seminar course, requires a minimum 80 hours of fieldwork; the second one-credit seminar course requires a minimum of 20 hours of fieldwork. In each seminar students conduct their fieldwork and also complete online course requirements related to fieldwork challenges and achievements, focusing specifically on the application of MHSA program principles to a health-services related work environment.

Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

The Curriculum

Program Total

Master of Health Services Administration: 36 credit hours

Required Core

- HS 500 Health Services Administration (3 credit hours)
- HS 505 Healthcare Law and Ethics (or PH507) (3 credit hours)
- HS 515 Evidence-Based Practice (3 credit hours)
- HS 520 Economics and Policy in Healthcare (3 credit hours)
- HS 525 Healthcare Access and Payment Systems (3 credit hours)
- HS 530 Leadership and Communication in Health Services (3 credit hours)
- HS 535 Principles in Healthcare Finance and Accounting (3 credit hours)
- HS 540 Personnel and Human Resource Management (3 credit hours)
- HS 545 Quality and Process Improvement (3 credit hours)
- HS 550 Business and Technology in Health Services (3 credit hours)
- HS 555 Strategic Management & Marketing (3 credit hours)
- HS 560 Capstone/ Practicum I (2 credit hours)
- HS 561 Capstone/Practicum II (1 credit hour)

Master of Science

MS Applied Behavior Analysis - Anaheim

Anaheim

Program Overview

Applied Behavior Analysis (ABA) is the ethical evaluation, design, and implementation of environmental changes to produce socially significant improvements in behavior. The MS Applied Behavior Analysis program incorporates the content areas and practicum requirements for eligibility to become a Board Certified Behavior Analyst® (BCBA®) by the Behavior Analyst Certification Board® (BACB®) in addition to providing a solid foundation in the philosophy, science, and application of behavior analysis. Please see further information about professional licensure and certification below.

The aim of the program is to prepare students for a rewarding career in the rapidly growing field of Applied Behavior Analysis. Graduates serve many different populations including children, adults, and seniors and may work in residential, school, and community-based settings. Individuals served may have no diagnoses (e.g., school children in a regular education class or teachers seeking to be more effective) or may have diagnoses such as autism, behavioral difficulties, developmental disabilities, mental illness, and a variety of geriatric conditions.

The MS Applied Behavior Analysis program develops students into professionals who can support individuals and organizations as well as select, implement, and manage effective systems to improve outcomes across a variety of settings. The program provides students with a solid understanding of the science and philosophy of Behavior Analysis

as the foundation that informs applied behavior analysis, the experimental analysis of behavior, and service delivery domains to produce graduates who rely on the science of behavior to contribute to the betterment of society.

The program requires 49 credit hours, which include 46 core credit hours and 3 credit hours in elective coursework. Within core coursework students are required to complete 4 credit hours of practicum. Practicum courses are designed to meet the requirements of the BACB®.

Program Philosophy

The program is designed to prepare students in a wide variety of specialization areas within ABA. Although it is common for lay people to assume that ABA is relevant only to individuals with autism or other developmental and/or intellectual disabilities, behavior analysis can be applied to any population or problem. Thus, students can focus not only on issues related to the assessment and treatment of Autism Spectrum Disorders, but also on the assessment and treatment of severe behavior problems, instructional design, organizational behavior management, and applications with non-traditional populations such as geriatric, individuals with traumatic brain injury, and regular and special education. Thus, while ABA techniques are typically associated with application to individuals with disabilities, they are also invaluable to individuals in the general population and in solving societal problems that require behavior change.

The program provides training to students related to all four domains of Behavior Analysis (i.e., Theory & Philosophy, Experimental Analysis of Behavior, Applied Behavior Analysis, and Service Delivery). Further, the programs and curricula are designed to infuse the scientist-practitioner model across these domains and teach students to be consumers of new research findings, evaluators of their own interventions and programs using empirical methods, and researchers, producing new data from their own settings and reporting these data to the applied and scientific community.

In summary, the program's mission is to provide students with the scientific, analytical, and conceptual tools they need to provide effective, ethical, and practical behavior-analytic interventions to the diverse populations that they serve. The vision of the program is to provide the most comprehensive and effective graduate training in ABA, and to that end, the faculty provide the students with the most up-to-date information and research, and encourage critical analysis of the research with an emphasis on using it to drive practice. The program emphasizes not only knowledge of the research and assessment and intervention techniques, but sound understanding of the basic concepts and principles of behavior analysis, so that students will have the conceptual and scientific underpinnings necessary to understand why interventions work, how to measure their effects, and to make appropriate program modifications when they do not. Because ABA is based on a rapidly developing and evolving behavioral technology grounded in research, the knowledge base is constantly changing. It is the program's mission to remain at the forefront of the development of this field

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

Analyze behavior, design interventions, and evaluate interventions, by applying basic behavioral principles
and assessment techniques to effect socially significant behavior change.

Diversity

 Evaluate the impact of diversity issues on individuals and society (as a whole in domestic or international settings,) and demonstrate sensitivity and competence while working with diverse populations.

Professional Behavior

- Evaluate and resolve ethical dilemmas in accordance with behavior-analytic and psychological ethical guidelines.
- Establish rapport and communicate effectively with clients, stakeholders, and other professionals.

Scholarship

 Conduct behavior-analytic research and evaluate behavior-analytic and other psychological research effectively and ethically.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's MS Applied Behavior Analysis program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors that are considered in admission are: GPA from undergraduate and any graduate schools, successful work history after completion of the baccalaureate degree, the admission essay, and letters of recommendation from academic professors or professional or volunteer experience supervisors. Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission. Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications.

Standardized Testing

The Graduate Record Examination (GRE) is not required for master's level applicants. Scores should be sent directly to the school (GRE School Code: 1119) for consideration. Please see the application for detailed instructions and information regarding application requirements, application deadlines, and letters of recommendation.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Degree Completion Requirements:

- Successful completion of 49 credit hours of coursework
- Successful completion of Advanced Research Project or Advanced Applied Project

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver.

Articulation Agreements

The Chicago School has also established agreements between the MS Applied Behavior Analysis program and the programs listed below to allow qualified students to receive transfer credit for courses taken in other The Chicago School programs that can be counted toward degree completion requirements for either program. Click on the link of the program that interests you for details.

MS Applied Behavior Analysis and MA Applied Behavior Analysis

Ethical Guidelines

Students are expected to learn and to follow the ethical guidelines of the American Psychological Association and the Behavior Analyst Certification Board® during and after their work at The Chicago School. A class in ethics is required, and student adherence to ethical codes is evaluated both formally and informally.

Advanced Research Project OR Advanced Applied Project

Students are also required to complete a thesis (Advanced Research Project) or a non-thesis option (Advanced Applied Project). The thesis must be a data-based empirical evaluation, but does not necessarily need to mark an original contribution to the published literature (it may be a replication and extension). The primary function of the Master's thesis is to demonstrate that students are actively learning to function as scientist-practitioners who are continually engaged in making data-based assessment and treatment decisions. The applied project is a demonstration that the student can assess and treat a client effectively and ethically from start to finish. The applied project process is as stringent as the thesis option and demonstrates similar skills but focuses on application rather than research. The course sequence facilitates student completion of theses and applied projects with a carefully designed course sequence that has the necessary steps toward thesis and project completion embedded into the required coursework. Any student considering going on to a Ph.D. program should choose the thesis option.

Training

The program requires four credits of field-based clinical training (practicum training, see BACB.com for supervision requirements) held at approved sites. Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

MS ABA On-Ground

The Curriculum

Required Core: 46 credit hours

Electives: 3 credit hours

Program Total

M.S. Applied Behavior Analysis: 49 credit hours

*Students will see a location code suffix affixed to courses on their transcripts (TX-Dallas, CH-Chicago, ON-Online, DC-Washington, D.C., LA-Los Angeles, IR-Anaheim, SD-San Diego)

Required Core

- AB 540 Concepts and Principles in Behavior Analysis I (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 541 Concepts and Principles in Behavior Analysis II (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 569 Clinical Skills (2 credit hours)
- AB 537 Introduction to the Experimental Analysis of Behavior (3 credit hours)
- AB 539 Science and Human Behavior (3 credit hours)
- AB 546 Diversity in Clinical Practice (3 credit hours)
- AB 556 Behavior Change Procedures I (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 557 Behavior Change Procedures II (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 545 Measurement and Design in Behavior Analysis (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 563 Verbal Behavior (3 credit hours)
- AB 564 Behavior Assessment (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 565 Professional Ethics and Issues in Behavior Analysis (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 576 Scientific Writing (3 credit hours)
- AB 590 Professional Development Group (1 credit hour)
- AB 615 Practicum I (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 616 Practicum II (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 617 Practicum III (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 618 Practicum IV (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
 Student choose either Advanced Research Project OR Advanced Applied Project Series
- AB 566 Advanced Applied Project I (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- AB 567 Advanced Applied Project II (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- AB 568 Advanced Applied Project III (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- AB 560 Advanced Research Project I (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- AB 561 Advanced Research Project II (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- AB 562 Advanced Research Project III (1 credit hour) (auto full time)

Electives

- AB 510 Psychopathology (3 credit hours)
- AB 512 Psychology of the Lifespan (3 credit hours)
- AB 525 Precision Teaching (2 credit hours)
- AB 526 Relational Frame Theory (2 credit hours)

- AB 527 Instructional Consultation I (2 credit hours)
- AB 528 Instructional Consultation II (2 credit hours)
- AB 529 Seminal Writings in Behavior Analysis (2 credit hours)
- AB 532 Behavioral Pharmacology (3 credit hours)
- AB 533 Advanced Intervention: Behavioral (2 credit hours)
- AB 534 Radical Behaviorism (2 credit hours)
- AB 535 Introduction to Instructional Design (2 credit hours)
- AB 572 Organizational Behavior Management (2 credit hours)
- AB 581 Special Topics I (1 credit hour)
- AB 582 Special Topics II (2 credit hours)
- AB 583 Special Topics III (3 credit hours)
- AB 584 Publications: Writing and the Peer Review Process (1 credit hour)
- AB 587 Advanced Verbal Behavior (2 credit hours)

Optional Supervision Courses

- EBC 560 Individual Supervision (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- EBC 561 Individual Supervision (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- EBC 562 Individual Supervision (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- EBC 563 Individual Supervision (1 credit hour)(auto half time)

Extension Courses

- AB 950A-F Thesis Extension (1 credit hour) auto half-time
- AB 951A-F Thesis Extension (1 credit hour) auto full-time
- AB 954A-F Project Extension (1 credit hour) auto half-time
- AB 955A-F Project Extension (1 credit hour) auto full-time
- AB 940A Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- AB 940B Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- AB 997A-D Practicum Extension (0 credit hours)(auto half time)
- EBC 567A-D Individual Supervision Extension (0 credit hours)(auto half time)

MS Applied Behavior Analysis - Chicago

Chicago

Program Overview

Applied Behavior Analysis (ABA) is the ethical evaluation, design, and implementation of environmental changes to produce socially significant improvements in behavior. The MS Applied Behavior Analysis program incorporates the content areas and practicum requirements for eligibility to become a Board Certified Behavior Analyst® (BCBA®) by the Behavior Analyst Certification Board® (BACB®) in addition to providing a solid foundation in the philosophy, science, and application of behavior analysis. Please see further information about professional licensure and certification below.

The aim of the program is to prepare students for a rewarding career in the rapidly growing field of Applied Behavior Analysis. Graduates serve many different populations including children, adults, and seniors and may work in residential, school, and community-based settings. Individuals served may have no diagnoses (e.g., school children in a regular education class or teachers seeking to be more effective) or may have diagnoses such as autism, behavioral difficulties, developmental disabilities, mental illness, and a variety of geriatric conditions.

The MS Applied Behavior Analysis program develops students into professionals who can support individuals and organizations as well as select, implement, and manage effective systems to improve outcomes across a variety of settings. The program provides students with a solid understanding of the science and philosophy of Behavior Analysis as the foundation that informs applied behavior analysis, the experimental analysis of behavior, and service delivery domains to produce graduates who rely on the science of behavior to contribute to the betterment of society.

The program requires 49 credit hours, which include 46 core credit hours and 3 credit hours in elective coursework. Within core coursework students are required to complete 4 credit hours of practicum. Practicum courses are designed to meet the requirements of the BACB®.

The Master of Science (MS) in Applied Behavior Analysis program at Chicago, IL is accredited by ABAI effective November 20, 2019.

Program Philosophy

The program is designed to prepare students in a wide variety of specialization areas within ABA. Although it is common for lay people to assume that ABA is relevant only to individuals with autism or other developmental and/or intellectual disabilities, behavior analysis can be applied to any population or problem. Thus, students can focus not only on issues related to the assessment and treatment of Autism Spectrum Disorders, but also on the assessment and treatment of severe behavior problems, instructional design, organizational behavior management, and applications with non-traditional populations such as geriatric, individuals with traumatic brain injury, and regular and special education. Thus, while ABA techniques are typically associated with application to individuals with disabilities, they are also invaluable to individuals in the general population and in solving societal problems that require behavior change.

The program provides training to students related to all four domains of Behavior Analysis (i.e., Theory & Philosophy, Experimental Analysis of Behavior, Applied Behavior Analysis, and Service Delivery). Further, the programs and curricula are designed to infuse the scientist-practitioner model across these domains and teach students to be consumers of new research findings, evaluators of their own interventions and programs using empirical methods, and researchers, producing new data from their own settings and reporting these data to the applied and scientific community.

In summary, the program's mission is to provide students with the scientific, analytical, and conceptual tools they need to provide effective, ethical, and practical behavior-analytic interventions to the diverse populations that they serve. The vision of the program is to provide the most comprehensive and effective graduate training in ABA, and to that end, the faculty provide the students with the most up-to-date information and research, and encourage critical analysis of the research with an emphasis on using it to drive practice. The program emphasizes not only knowledge of the research and assessment and intervention techniques, but sound understanding of the basic concepts and principles of behavior analysis, so that students will have the conceptual and scientific underpinnings necessary to understand why interventions work, how to measure their effects, and to make appropriate program modifications when they do not. Because ABA is based on a rapidly developing and evolving behavioral technology grounded in research, the knowledge base is constantly changing. It is the program's mission to remain at the forefront of the development of this field.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

Analyze behavior, design interventions, and evaluate interventions, by applying basic behavioral principles
and assessment techniques to effect socially significant behavior change.

Diversity

 Evaluate the impact of diversity issues on individuals and society (as a whole in domestic or international settings,) and demonstrate sensitivity and competence while working with diverse populations.

Professional Behavior

- Evaluate and resolve ethical dilemmas in accordance with behavior-analytic and psychological ethical guidelines.
- Establish rapport and communicate effectively with clients, stakeholders, and other professionals.

Scholarship

Conduct behavior-analytic research and evaluate behavior-analytic and other psychological research
effectively and ethically.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's MS Applied Behavior Analysis program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors that are considered in admission are: GPA from undergraduate and any graduate schools, successful work history after completion of the baccalaureate degree, the admission essay, and letters of recommendation from academic professors or professional or volunteer experience supervisors. Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission. Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications.

Standardized Testing

The Graduate Record Examination (GRE) is not required for master's level applicants. Scores should be sent directly to the school (GRE School Code: 1119) for consideration. Please see the application for detailed instructions and information regarding application requirements, application deadlines, and letters of recommendation.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Degree Completion Requirements:

- Successful completion of 49 credit hours of coursework
- Successful completion of Advanced Research Project or Advanced Applied Project

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Articulation Agreements

The Chicago School has also established agreements between the MS Applied Behavior Analysis program and the programs listed below to allow qualified students to receive transfer credit for courses taken in other The Chicago School programs that can be counted toward degree completion requirements for either program. Click on the link of the program that interests you for details.

MS Applied Behavior Analysis and MA Applied Behavior Analysis

Ethical Guidelines

Students are expected to learn and to follow the ethical guidelines of the American Psychological Association and the Behavior Analyst Certification Board® during and after their work at The Chicago School. A class in ethics is required, and student adherence to ethical codes is evaluated both formally and informally.

Advanced Research Project OR Advanced Applied Project

Students are also required to complete a thesis (Advanced Research Project) or a non-thesis option (Advanced Applied Project). The thesis must be a data-based empirical evaluation, but does not necessarily need to mark an original contribution to the published literature (it may be a replication and extension). The primary function of the Master's thesis is to demonstrate that students are actively learning to function as scientist-practitioners who are continually engaged in making data-based assessment and treatment decisions. The applied project is a demonstration that the student can assess and treat a client effectively and ethically from start to finish. The applied project process is as stringent as the thesis option and demonstrates similar skills but focuses on application rather than research. The course sequence facilitates student completion of theses and applied projects with a carefully designed course sequence that has the necessary steps toward thesis and project completion embedded into the required coursework. Any student considering going on to a Ph.D. program should choose the thesis option.

Training

The program requires four credits of field-based clinical training (practicum training, see BACB.com for supervision requirements) held at approved sites. Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

MS ABA On-Ground

The Curriculum

Required Core: 46 credit hours

Electives: 3 credit hours

Program Total

M.S. Applied Behavior Analysis: 49 credit hours

*Students will see a location code suffix affixed to courses on their transcripts (TX-Dallas, CH-Chicago, ON-Online, DC-Washington, D.C., LA-Los Angeles, IR-Anaheim, SD-San Diego)

Required Core

- AB 540 Concepts and Principles in Behavior Analysis I (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 541 Concepts and Principles in Behavior Analysis II (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 569 Clinical Skills (2 credit hours)
- AB 537 Introduction to the Experimental Analysis of Behavior (3 credit hours)
- AB 539 Science and Human Behavior (3 credit hours)
- AB 546 Diversity in Clinical Practice (3 credit hours)
- AB 556 Behavior Change Procedures I (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 557 Behavior Change Procedures II (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 545 Measurement and Design in Behavior Analysis (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 563 Verbal Behavior (3 credit hours)
- AB 564 Behavior Assessment (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 565 Professional Ethics and Issues in Behavior Analysis (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 576 Scientific Writing (3 credit hours)
- AB 590 Professional Development Group (1 credit hour)
- AB 615 Practicum I (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 616 Practicum II (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 617 Practicum III (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 618 Practicum IV (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
 Student choose either Advanced Research Project OR Advanced Applied Project Series
- AB 566 Advanced Applied Project I (1 credit hour) (auto full time)

- AB 567 Advanced Applied Project II (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- AB 568 Advanced Applied Project III (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- AB 560 Advanced Research Project I (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- AB 561 Advanced Research Project II (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- AB 562 Advanced Research Project III (1 credit hour) (auto full time)

Electives

- AB 510 Psychopathology (3 credit hours)
- AB 512 Psychology of the Lifespan (3 credit hours)
- AB 525 Precision Teaching (2 credit hours)
- AB 526 Relational Frame Theory (2 credit hours)
- AB 527 Instructional Consultation I (2 credit hours)
- AB 528 Instructional Consultation II (2 credit hours)
- AB 529 Seminal Writings in Behavior Analysis (2 credit hours)
- AB 532 Behavioral Pharmacology (3 credit hours)
- AB 533 Advanced Intervention: Behavioral (2 credit hours)
- AB 534 Radical Behaviorism (2 credit hours)
- AB 535 Introduction to Instructional Design (2 credit hours)
- AB 572 Organizational Behavior Management (2 credit hours)
- AB 581 Special Topics I (1 credit hour)
- AB 582 Special Topics II (2 credit hours)
- AB 583 Special Topics III (3 credit hours)
- AB 584 Publications: Writing and the Peer Review Process (1 credit hour)
- AB 587 Advanced Verbal Behavior (2 credit hours)

Optional Supervision Courses

- EBC 560 Individual Supervision (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- EBC 561 Individual Supervision (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- EBC 562 Individual Supervision (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- EBC 563 Individual Supervision (1 credit hour)(auto half time)

Extension Courses

- AB 950A-F Thesis Extension (1 credit hour) auto half-time
- AB 951A-F Thesis Extension (1 credit hour) auto full-time
- AB 954A-F Project Extension (1 credit hour) auto half-time
- AB 955A-F Project Extension (1 credit hour) auto full-time
- AB 940A Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- AB 940B Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- AB 997A-D Practicum Extension (0 credit hours)(auto half time)
- EBC 567A-D Individual Supervision Extension (0 credit hours)(auto half time)

MS Applied Behavior Analysis - Dallas

Dallas

Program Overview

Applied Behavior Analysis (ABA) is the ethical evaluation, design, and implementation of environmental changes to produce socially significant improvements in behavior. The MS Applied Behavior Analysis program incorporates the content areas and practicum requirements for eligibility to become a Board Certified Behavior Analyst® (BCBA®) by the Behavior Analyst Certification Board® (BACB®) in addition to providing a solid foundation in the philosophy, science, and application of behavior analysis. Please see further information about professional licensure and certification below.

The aim of the program is to prepare students for a rewarding career in the rapidly growing field of Applied Behavior Analysis. Graduates serve many different populations including children, adults, and seniors and may work in residential, school, and community-based settings. Individuals served may have no diagnoses (e.g., school children in a regular education class or teachers seeking to be more effective) or may have diagnoses such as autism, behavioral difficulties, developmental disabilities, mental illness, and a variety of geriatric conditions.

The MS Applied Behavior Analysis program develops students into professionals who can support individuals and organizations as well as select, implement, and manage effective systems to improve outcomes across a variety of settings. The program provides students with a solid understanding of the science and philosophy of Behavior Analysis as the foundation that informs applied behavior analysis, the experimental analysis of behavior, and service delivery domains to produce graduates who rely on the science of behavior to contribute to the betterment of society.

The program requires 49 credit hours, which include 46 core credit hours and 3 credit hours in elective coursework. Within core coursework students are required to complete 4 credit hours of practicum. Practicum courses are designed to meet the requirements of the BACB®.

Program Philosophy

The program is designed to prepare students in a wide variety of specialization areas within ABA. Although it is common for lay people to assume that ABA is relevant only to individuals with autism or other developmental and/or intellectual disabilities, behavior analysis can be applied to any population or problem. Thus, students can focus not only on issues related to the assessment and treatment of Autism Spectrum Disorders, but also on the assessment and treatment of severe behavior problems, instructional design, organizational behavior management, and applications with non-traditional populations such as geriatric, individuals with traumatic brain injury, and regular and special education. Thus, while ABA techniques are typically associated with application to individuals with disabilities, they are also invaluable to individuals in the general population and in solving societal problems that require behavior change.

The program provides training to students related to all four domains of Behavior Analysis (i.e., Theory & Philosophy, Experimental Analysis of Behavior, Applied Behavior Analysis, and Service Delivery). Further, the programs and curricula are designed to infuse the scientist-practitioner model across these domains and teach students to be consumers of new research findings, evaluators of their own interventions and programs using empirical methods, and researchers, producing new data from their own settings and reporting these data to the applied and scientific community.

In summary, the program's mission is to provide students with the scientific, analytical, and conceptual tools they need to provide effective, ethical, and practical behavior-analytic interventions to the diverse populations that they serve. The vision of the program is to provide the most comprehensive and effective graduate training in ABA, and to that end, the faculty provide the students with the most up-to-date information and research, and encourage critical analysis of the research with an emphasis on using it to drive practice. The program emphasizes not only knowledge of the

research and assessment and intervention techniques, but sound understanding of the basic concepts and principles of behavior analysis, so that students will have the conceptual and scientific underpinnings necessary to understand why interventions work, how to measure their effects, and to make appropriate program modifications when they do not. Because ABA is based on a rapidly developing and evolving behavioral technology grounded in research, the knowledge base is constantly changing. It is the program's mission to remain at the forefront of the development of this field.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

Analyze behavior, design interventions, and evaluate interventions, by applying basic behavioral principles
and assessment techniques to effect socially significant behavior change.

Diversity

 Evaluate the impact of diversity issues on individuals and society (as a whole in domestic or international settings,) and demonstrate sensitivity and competence while working with diverse populations.

Professional Behavior

- Evaluate and resolve ethical dilemmas in accordance with behavior-analytic and psychological ethical guidelines.
- Establish rapport and communicate effectively with clients, stakeholders, and other professionals.

Scholarship

 Conduct behavior-analytic research and evaluate behavior-analytic and other psychological research effectively and ethically.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's MS Applied Behavior Analysis program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors that are considered in admission are: GPA from undergraduate and any graduate schools, successful work history after completion of the baccalaureate degree, the admission essay, and letters of recommendation from academic professors or professional or volunteer experience supervisors. Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission. Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications.

Standardized Testing

The Graduate Record Examination (GRE) is not required for master's level applicants. Scores should be sent directly to the school (GRE School Code: 1119) for consideration. Please see the application for detailed instructions and information regarding application requirements, application deadlines, and letters of recommendation.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Degree Completion Requirements:

- Successful completion of 49 credit hours of coursework
- Successful completion of Advanced Research Project or Advanced Applied Project

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Articulation Agreements

The Chicago School has also established agreements between the MS Applied Behavior Analysis program and the programs listed below to allow qualified students to receive transfer credit for courses taken in other The Chicago School programs that can be counted toward degree completion requirements for either program. Click on the link of the program that interests you for details.

MS Applied Behavior Analysis and MA Applied Behavior Analysis

Ethical Guidelines

Students are expected to learn and to follow the ethical guidelines of the American Psychological Association and the Behavior Analyst Certification Board® during and after their work at The Chicago School. A class in ethics is required, and student adherence to ethical codes is evaluated both formally and informally.

Advanced Research Project OR Advanced Applied Project

Students are also required to complete a thesis (Advanced Research Project) or a non-thesis option (Advanced Applied Project). The thesis must be a data-based empirical evaluation, but does not necessarily need to mark an

original contribution to the published literature (it may be a replication and extension). The primary function of the Master's thesis is to demonstrate that students are actively learning to function as scientist-practitioners who are continually engaged in making data-based assessment and treatment decisions. The applied project is a demonstration that the student can assess and treat a client effectively and ethically from start to finish. The applied project process is as stringent as the thesis option and demonstrates similar skills but focuses on application rather than research. The course sequence facilitates student completion of theses and applied projects with a carefully designed course sequence that has the necessary steps toward thesis and project completion embedded into the required coursework. Any student considering going on to a Ph.D. program should choose the thesis option.

Training

The program requires four credits of field-based clinical training (practicum training, see BACB.com for supervision requirements) held at approved sites. Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

MS ABA On-Ground

The Curriculum

Required Core: 46 credit hours

Electives: 3 credit hours

Program Total

M.S. Applied Behavior Analysis: 49 credit hours

*Students will see a location code suffix affixed to courses on their transcripts (TX-Dallas, CH-Chicago, ON-Online, DC-Washington, D.C., LA-Los Angeles, IR-Anaheim, SD-San Diego)

Required Core

- AB 540 Concepts and Principles in Behavior Analysis I (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 541 Concepts and Principles in Behavior Analysis II (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 569 Clinical Skills (2 credit hours)
- AB 537 Introduction to the Experimental Analysis of Behavior (3 credit hours)
- AB 539 Science and Human Behavior (3 credit hours)
- AB 546 Diversity in Clinical Practice (3 credit hours)
- AB 556 Behavior Change Procedures I (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 557 Behavior Change Procedures II (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 545 Measurement and Design in Behavior Analysis (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 563 Verbal Behavior (3 credit hours)
- AB 564 Behavior Assessment (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 565 Professional Ethics and Issues in Behavior Analysis (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 576 Scientific Writing (3 credit hours)

- AB 590 Professional Development Group (1 credit hour)
- AB 615 Practicum I (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 616 Practicum II (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 617 Practicum III (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 618 Practicum IV (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
 - Student choose either Advanced Research Project OR Advanced Applied Project Series
- AB 566 Advanced Applied Project I (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- AB 567 Advanced Applied Project II (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- AB 568 Advanced Applied Project III (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- AB 560 Advanced Research Project I (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- AB 561 Advanced Research Project II (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- AB 562 Advanced Research Project III (1 credit hour) (auto full time)

Electives

- AB 510 Psychopathology (3 credit hours)
- AB 512 Psychology of the Lifespan (3 credit hours)
- AB 525 Precision Teaching (2 credit hours)
- AB 526 Relational Frame Theory (2 credit hours)
- AB 527 Instructional Consultation I (2 credit hours)
- AB 528 Instructional Consultation II (2 credit hours)
- AB 529 Seminal Writings in Behavior Analysis (2 credit hours)
- AB 532 Behavioral Pharmacology (3 credit hours)
- AB 533 Advanced Intervention: Behavioral (2 credit hours)
- AB 534 Radical Behaviorism (2 credit hours)
- AB 535 Introduction to Instructional Design (2 credit hours)
- AB 572 Organizational Behavior Management (2 credit hours)
- AB 581 Special Topics I (1 credit hour)
- AB 582 Special Topics II (2 credit hours)
- AB 583 Special Topics III (3 credit hours)
- AB 584 Publications: Writing and the Peer Review Process (1 credit hour)
- AB 587 Advanced Verbal Behavior (2 credit hours)

Optional Supervision Courses

- EBC 560 Individual Supervision (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- EBC 561 Individual Supervision (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- EBC 562 Individual Supervision (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- EBC 563 Individual Supervision (1 credit hour)(auto half time)

Extension Courses

- AB 950A-F Thesis Extension (1 credit hour) auto half-time
- AB 951A-F Thesis Extension (1 credit hour) auto full-time
- AB 954A-F Project Extension (1 credit hour) auto half-time
- AB 955A-F Project Extension (1 credit hour) auto full-time
- AB 940A Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time

- AB 940B Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- AB 997A-D Practicum Extension (0 credit hours)(auto half time)
- EBC 567A-D Individual Supervision Extension (0 credit hours)(auto half time)

MS Applied Behavior Analysis - Los Angeles

Los Angeles

Program Overview

Applied Behavior Analysis (ABA) is the ethical evaluation, design, and implementation of environmental changes to produce socially significant improvements in behavior. The MS Applied Behavior Analysis program incorporates the content areas and practicum requirements for eligibility to become a Board Certified Behavior Analyst® (BCBA®) by the Behavior Analyst Certification Board® (BACB®) in addition to providing a solid foundation in the philosophy, science, and application of behavior analysis. Please see further information about professional licensure and certification below.

The aim of the program is to prepare students for a rewarding career in the rapidly growing field of Applied Behavior Analysis. Graduates serve many different populations including children, adults, and seniors and may work in residential, school, and community-based settings. Individuals served may have no diagnoses (e.g., school children in a regular education class or teachers seeking to be more effective) or may have diagnoses such as autism, behavioral difficulties, developmental disabilities, mental illness, and a variety of geriatric conditions.

The MS Applied Behavior Analysis program develops students into professionals who can support individuals and organizations as well as select, implement, and manage effective systems to improve outcomes across a variety of settings. The program provides students with a solid understanding of the science and philosophy of Behavior Analysis as the foundation that informs applied behavior analysis, the experimental analysis of behavior, and service delivery domains to produce graduates who rely on the science of behavior to contribute to the betterment of society.

The program requires 49 credit hours, which include 46 core credit hours and 3 credit hours in elective coursework. Within core coursework students are required to complete 4 credit hours of practicum. Practicum courses are designed to meet the requirements of the BACB®.

Program Philosophy

The program is designed to prepare students in a wide variety of specialization areas within ABA. Although it is common for lay people to assume that ABA is relevant only to individuals with autism or other developmental and/or intellectual disabilities, behavior analysis can be applied to any population or problem. Thus, students can focus not only on issues related to the assessment and treatment of Autism Spectrum Disorders, but also on the assessment and treatment of severe behavior problems, instructional design, organizational behavior management, and applications with non-traditional populations such as geriatric, individuals with traumatic brain injury, and regular and special education. Thus, while ABA techniques are typically associated with application to individuals with disabilities, they are also invaluable to individuals in the general population and in solving societal problems that require behavior change.

The program provides training to students related to all four domains of Behavior Analysis (i.e., Theory & Philosophy, Experimental Analysis of Behavior, Applied Behavior Analysis, and Service Delivery). Further, the programs and curricula are designed to infuse the scientist-practitioner model across these domains and teach students to be consumers of new research findings, evaluators of their own interventions and programs using empirical methods, and

researchers, producing new data from their own settings and reporting these data to the applied and scientific community.

In summary, the program's mission is to provide students with the scientific, analytical, and conceptual tools they need to provide effective, ethical, and practical behavior-analytic interventions to the diverse populations that they serve. The vision of the program is to provide the most comprehensive and effective graduate training in ABA, and to that end, the faculty provide the students with the most up-to-date information and research, and encourage critical analysis of the research with an emphasis on using it to drive practice. The program emphasizes not only knowledge of the research and assessment and intervention techniques, but sound understanding of the basic concepts and principles of behavior analysis, so that students will have the conceptual and scientific underpinnings necessary to understand why interventions work, how to measure their effects, and to make appropriate program modifications when they do not. Because ABA is based on a rapidly developing and evolving behavioral technology grounded in research, the knowledge base is constantly changing. It is the program's mission to remain at the forefront of the development of this field.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

Analyze behavior, design interventions, and evaluate interventions, by applying basic behavioral principles
and assessment techniques to effect socially significant behavior change.

Diversity

• Evaluate the impact of diversity issues on individuals and society (as a whole in domestic or international settings,) and demonstrate sensitivity and competence while working with diverse populations.

Professional Behavior

- Evaluate and resolve ethical dilemmas in accordance with behavior-analytic and psychological ethical guidelines.
- Establish rapport and communicate effectively with clients, stakeholders, and other professionals.

Scholarship

 Conduct behavior-analytic research and evaluate behavior-analytic and other psychological research effectively and ethically.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's MS Applied Behavior Analysis program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. Applicants will

be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors that are considered in admission are: GPA from undergraduate and any graduate schools, successful work history after completion of the baccalaureate degree, the admission essay, and letters of recommendation from academic professors or professional or volunteer experience supervisors. Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission. Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications.

Standardized Testing

The Graduate Record Examination (GRE) is not required for master's level applicants. Scores should be sent directly to the school (GRE School Code: 1119) for consideration. Please see the application for detailed instructions and information regarding application requirements, application deadlines, and letters of recommendation.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Degree Completion Requirements:

- Successful completion of 49 credit hours of coursework
- Successful completion of Advanced Research Project or Advanced Applied Project

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver.

Articulation Agreements

The Chicago School has also established agreements between the MS Applied Behavior Analysis program and the programs listed below to allow qualified students to receive transfer credit for courses taken in other The Chicago School programs that can be counted toward degree completion requirements for either program. Click on the link of the program that interests you for details.

MS Applied Behavior Analysis and MA Applied Behavior Analysis

Ethical Guidelines

Students are expected to learn and to follow the ethical guidelines of the American Psychological Association and the Behavior Analyst Certification Board® during and after their work at The Chicago School. A class in ethics is required, and student adherence to ethical codes is evaluated both formally and informally.

Advanced Research Project OR Advanced Applied Project

Students are also required to complete a thesis (Advanced Research Project) or a non-thesis option (Advanced Applied Project). The thesis must be a data-based empirical evaluation, but does not necessarily need to mark an original contribution to the published literature (it may be a replication and extension). The primary function of the Master's thesis is to demonstrate that students are actively learning to function as scientist-practitioners who are continually engaged in making data-based assessment and treatment decisions. The applied project is a demonstration that the student can assess and treat a client effectively and ethically from start to finish. The applied project process is as stringent as the thesis option and demonstrates similar skills but focuses on application rather than research. The course sequence facilitates student completion of theses and applied projects with a carefully designed course sequence that has the necessary steps toward thesis and project completion embedded into the required coursework. Any student considering going on to a Ph.D. program should choose the thesis option.

Training

The program requires four credits of field-based clinical training (practicum training, see BACB.com for supervision requirements) held at approved sites. Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

MS ABA On-Ground

The Curriculum

Required Core: 46 credit hours

Electives: 3 credit hours

Program Total

M.S. Applied Behavior Analysis: 49 credit hours

*Students will see a location code suffix affixed to courses on their transcripts (TX-Dallas, CH-Chicago, ON-Online, DC-Washington, D.C., LA-Los Angeles, IR-Anaheim, SD-San Diego)

Required Core

- AB 540 Concepts and Principles in Behavior Analysis I (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 541 Concepts and Principles in Behavior Analysis II (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 569 Clinical Skills (2 credit hours)
- AB 537 Introduction to the Experimental Analysis of Behavior (3 credit hours)
- AB 539 Science and Human Behavior (3 credit hours)
- AB 546 Diversity in Clinical Practice (3 credit hours)
- AB 556 Behavior Change Procedures I (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 557 Behavior Change Procedures II (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)

- AB 545 Measurement and Design in Behavior Analysis (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 563 Verbal Behavior (3 credit hours)
- AB 564 Behavior Assessment (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 565 Professional Ethics and Issues in Behavior Analysis (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 576 Scientific Writing (3 credit hours)
- AB 590 Professional Development Group (1 credit hour)
- AB 615 Practicum I (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 616 Practicum II (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 617 Practicum III (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 618 Practicum IV (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
 Student choose either Advanced Research Project OR Advanced Applied Project Series
- AB 566 Advanced Applied Project I (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- AB 567 Advanced Applied Project II (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- AB 568 Advanced Applied Project III (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- AB 560 Advanced Research Project I (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- AB 561 Advanced Research Project II (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- AB 562 Advanced Research Project III (1 credit hour) (auto full time)

Electives

- AB 510 Psychopathology (3 credit hours)
- AB 512 Psychology of the Lifespan (3 credit hours)
- AB 525 Precision Teaching (2 credit hours)
- AB 526 Relational Frame Theory (2 credit hours)
- AB 527 Instructional Consultation I (2 credit hours)
- AB 528 Instructional Consultation II (2 credit hours)
- AB 529 Seminal Writings in Behavior Analysis (2 credit hours)
- AB 532 Behavioral Pharmacology (3 credit hours)
- AB 533 Advanced Intervention: Behavioral (2 credit hours)
- AB 534 Radical Behaviorism (2 credit hours)
- AB 535 Introduction to Instructional Design (2 credit hours)
- AB 572 Organizational Behavior Management (2 credit hours)
- AB 581 Special Topics I (1 credit hour)
- AB 582 Special Topics II (2 credit hours)
- AB 583 Special Topics III (3 credit hours)
- AB 584 Publications: Writing and the Peer Review Process (1 credit hour)
- AB 587 Advanced Verbal Behavior (2 credit hours)

Optional Supervision Courses

- EBC 560 Individual Supervision (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- EBC 561 Individual Supervision (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- EBC 562 Individual Supervision (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- EBC 563 Individual Supervision (1 credit hour)(auto half time)

Extension Courses

- AB 950A-F Thesis Extension (1 credit hour) auto half-time
- AB 951A-F Thesis Extension (1 credit hour) auto full-time
- AB 954A-F Project Extension (1 credit hour) auto half-time
- AB 955A-F Project Extension (1 credit hour) auto full-time
- AB 940A Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- AB 940B Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- AB 997A-D Practicum Extension (0 credit hours)(auto half time)
- EBC 567A-D Individual Supervision Extension (0 credit hours)(auto half time)

MS Applied Behavior Analysis - Online

Online

Program Overview

Applied Behavior Analysis (ABA) is the ethical evaluation, design, and implementation of environmental changes to produce socially significant improvements in behavior. The MS Applied Behavior Analysis program incorporates the content areas and practicum requirements for eligibility to become a Board Certified Behavior Analyst® (BCBA®) by the Behavior Analyst Certification Board® (BACB®) in addition to providing a solid foundation in the philosophy, science, and application of behavior analysis. Please see further information about professional licensure and certification below.

The aim of the program is to prepare students for a rewarding career in the rapidly growing field of Applied Behavior Analysis. Graduates serve many different populations including children, adults, and seniors and may work in residential, school, and community-based settings. Individuals served may have no diagnoses (e.g., school children in a regular education class or teachers seeking to be more effective) or may have diagnoses such as autism, behavioral difficulties, developmental disabilities, mental illness, and a variety of geriatric conditions.

The MS Applied Behavior Analysis program develops students into professionals who can support individuals and organizations as well as select, implement, and manage effective systems to improve outcomes across a variety of settings. The program provides students with a solid understanding of the science and philosophy of Behavior Analysis as the foundation that informs applied behavior analysis, the experimental analysis of behavior, and service delivery domains to produce graduates who rely on the science of behavior to contribute to the betterment of society.

The program requires 49 credit hours, which include 46 core credit hours and 3 credit hours in elective coursework. Within core coursework students are required to complete 4 credit hours of practicum. Practicum courses are designed to meet the requirements of the BACB®.

The Master of Science (MS) in Applied Behavior Analysis Online program is accredited by ABAI effective July 2022.

Program Philosophy

The program is designed to prepare students in a wide variety of specialization areas within ABA. Although it is common for lay people to assume that ABA is relevant only to individuals with autism or other developmental and/or intellectual disabilities, behavior analysis can be applied to any population or problem. Thus, students can focus not only on issues related to the assessment and treatment of Autism Spectrum Disorders, but also on the assessment and

treatment of severe behavior problems, instructional design, organizational behavior management, and applications with non-traditional populations such as geriatric, individuals with traumatic brain injury, and regular and special education. Thus, while ABA techniques are typically associated with application to individuals with disabilities, they are also invaluable to individuals in the general population and in solving societal problems that require behavior change.

The program provides training to students related to all four domains of Behavior Analysis (i.e., Theory & Philosophy, Experimental Analysis of Behavior, Applied Behavior Analysis, and Service Delivery). Further, the programs and curricula are designed to infuse the scientist-practitioner model across these domains and teach students to be consumers of new research findings, evaluators of their own interventions and programs using empirical methods, and researchers, producing new data from their own settings and reporting these data to the applied and scientific community.

In summary, the program's mission is to provide students with the scientific, analytical, and conceptual tools they need to provide effective, ethical, and practical behavior-analytic interventions to the diverse populations that they serve. The vision of the program is to provide the most comprehensive and effective graduate training in ABA, and to that end, the faculty provide the students with the most up-to-date information and research, and encourage critical analysis of the research with an emphasis on using it to drive practice. The program emphasizes not only knowledge of the research and assessment and intervention techniques, but sound understanding of the basic concepts and principles of behavior analysis, so that students will have the conceptual and scientific underpinnings necessary to understand why interventions work, how to measure their effects, and to make appropriate program modifications when they do not. Because ABA is based on a rapidly developing and evolving behavioral technology grounded in research, the knowledge base is constantly changing. It is the program's mission to remain at the forefront of the development of this field.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

Analyze behavior, design interventions, and evaluate interventions, by applying basic behavioral principles
and assessment techniques to effect socially significant behavior change.

Diversity

 Evaluate the impact of diversity issues on individuals and society (as a whole in domestic or international settings,) and demonstrate sensitivity and competence while working with diverse populations.

Professional Behavior

- Evaluate and resolve ethical dilemmas in accordance with behavior-analytic and psychological ethical guidelines.
- Establish rapport and communicate effectively with clients, stakeholders, and other professionals.

Scholarship

 Conduct behavior-analytic research and evaluate behavior-analytic and other psychological research effectively and ethically.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's MS Applied Behavior Analysis program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors that are considered in admission are: GPA from undergraduate and any graduate schools, successful work history after completion of the baccalaureate degree, the admission essay, and letters of recommendation from academic professors or professional or volunteer experience supervisors. Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission. Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications.

Standardized Testing

The Graduate Record Examination (GRE) is not required for master's level applicants. Scores should be sent directly to the school (GRE School Code: 1119) for consideration. Please see the application for detailed instructions and information regarding application requirements, application deadlines, and letters of recommendation.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Degree Completion Requirements:

- Successful completion of 49 credit hours of coursework
- Successful completion of Advanced Research Project or Advanced Applied Project

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver.

Articulation Agreements

The Chicago School has also established agreements between the MS Applied Behavior Analysis program and the programs listed below to allow qualified students to receive transfer credit for courses taken in other The Chicago

School programs that can be counted toward degree completion requirements for either program. Click on the link of the program that interests you for details

MS Applied Behavior Analysis and MA Applied Behavior Analysis

Ethical Guidelines

Students are expected to learn and to follow the ethical guidelines of the American Psychological Association and the Behavior Analyst Certification Board® during and after their work at The Chicago School. A class in ethics is required, and student adherence to ethical codes is evaluated both formally and informally.

Advanced Research Project OR Advanced Applied Project

Students are also required to complete a thesis (Advanced Research Project) or a non-thesis option (Advanced Applied Project). The thesis must be a data-based empirical evaluation, but does not necessarily need to mark an original contribution to the published literature (it may be a replication and extension). The primary function of the Master's thesis is to demonstrate that students are actively learning to function as scientist-practitioners who are continually engaged in making data-based assessment and treatment decisions. The applied project is a demonstration that the student can assess and treat a client effectively and ethically from start to finish. The applied project process is as stringent as the thesis option and demonstrates similar skills but focuses on application rather than research. The course sequence facilitates student completion of theses and applied projects with a carefully designed course sequence that has the necessary steps toward thesis and project completion embedded into the required coursework. Any student considering going on to a Ph.D. program should choose the thesis option.

Training

The program requires four credits of field-based clinical training (practicum training, see BACB.com for supervision requirements) held at approved sites. Each student is responsible for identifying potential practicum/internship sites. Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

The Curriculum

Required Core: 46 credit hours

Electives: 3 credit hours

Program Total

M.S. Applied Behavior Analysis: 49 credit hours

Required Core

- AB 540 Concepts and Principles in Behavior Analysis I (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 541 Concepts and Principles in Behavior Analysis II (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)

- AB 569 Clinical Skills (2 credit hours)
- AB 537 Introduction to the Experimental Analysis of Behavior (3 credit hours)
- AB 539 Science and Human Behavior (3 credit hours)
- AB 546 Diversity in Clinical Practice (3 credit hours)
- AB 556 Behavior Change Procedures I (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 557 Behavior Change Procedures II (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 545 Measurement and Design in Behavior Analysis (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 563 Verbal Behavior (3 credit hours)
- AB 564 Behavior Assessment (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 565 Professional Ethics and Issues in Behavior Analysis (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 576 Scientific Writing (3 credit hours)
- AB 590 Professional Development Group (1 credit hour)
- AB 630 Practicum I (0.5 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 631 Practicum II (0.5 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 632 Practicum III (0.5 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 633 Practicum IV (0.5 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 634 Practicum V (0.5 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 635 Practicum VI (0.5 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 636 Practicum VII (0.5 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 637 Practicum VIII (0.5 credit hour)(auto half time)
 Student choose either Advanced Research Project OR Advanced Applied Project Series
- AB 560 Advanced Research Project I (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- AB 561 Advanced Research Project II (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- AB 562 Advanced Research Project III (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- AB 566 Advanced Applied Project I (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- AB 567 Advanced Applied Project II (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- AB 568 Advanced Applied Project III (1 credit hour) (auto full time)

Electives

- AB 510 Psychopathology (3 credit hours)
- AB 512 Psychology of the Lifespan (3 credit hours)
- AB 525 Precision Teaching (2 credit hours)
- AB 526 Relational Frame Theory (2 credit hours)
- AB 527 Instructional Consultation I (2 credit hours)
- AB 528 Instructional Consultation II (2 credit hours)
- AB 529 Seminal Writings in Behavior Analysis (2 credit hours)
- AB 532 Behavioral Pharmacology (3 credit hours)
- AB 533 Advanced Intervention: Behavioral (2 credit hours)
- AB 534 Radical Behaviorism (2 credit hours)
- AB 535 Introduction to Instructional Design (2 credit hours)
- AB 572 Organizational Behavior Management (2 credit hours)
- AB 581 Special Topics I (1 credit hour)
- AB 582 Special Topics II (2 credit hours)
- AB 583 Special Topics III (3 credit hours)
- AB 584 Publications: Writing and the Peer Review Process (1 credit hour)

AB 587 - Advanced Verbal Behavior (2 credit hours)

Option for Online M.S. Applied Behavior Analysis students to complete individual supervision through the following courses:

- EBC 520 Individual Supervision (0.5 credit hours)(auto half time)
- EBC 521 Individual Supervision (0.5 credit hours)(auto half time)
- EBC 522 Individual Supervision (0.5 credit hours)(auto half time)
- EBC 523 Individual Supervision (0.5 credit hours)(auto half time)
- EBC 524 Individual Supervision (0.5 credit hours)(auto half time)
- EBC 525 Individual Supervision (0.5 credit hours)(auto half time)
- EBC 526 Individual Supervision (0.5 credit hours)(auto half time)
- EBC 527 Individual Supervision (0.5 credit hours)(auto half time)

Extension Courses

- AB 940A Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- AB 941A Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto half-time
- AB 952A-L Thesis Extension (.5 credit hours) auto half-time
- AB 953A-L Thesis Extension (.5 credit hours) auto full-time
- AB 956A-L Project Extension (.5 credit hours) auto half-time
- AB 957A-L Project Extension (.5 credit hours) auto full-time
- AB 997A-D Practicum Extension (0 credit hours)(auto half time)
- EBC 567A-D Individual Supervision Extension (0 credit hours)(auto half time)

MS Applied Behavior Analysis - San Diego

San Diego

Program Overview

Applied Behavior Analysis (ABA) is the ethical evaluation, design, and implementation of environmental changes to produce socially significant improvements in behavior. The MS Applied Behavior Analysis program incorporates the content areas and practicum requirements for eligibility to become a Board Certified Behavior Analyst® (BCBA®) by the Behavior Analyst Certification Board® (BACB®) in addition to providing a solid foundation in the philosophy, science, and application of behavior analysis. Please see further information about professional licensure and certification below.

The aim of the program is to prepare students for a rewarding career in the rapidly growing field of Applied Behavior Analysis. Graduates serve many different populations including children, adults, and seniors and may work in residential, school, and community-based settings. Individuals served may have no diagnoses (e.g., school children in a regular education class or teachers seeking to be more effective) or may have diagnoses such as autism, behavioral difficulties, developmental disabilities, mental illness, and a variety of geriatric conditions.

The MS Applied Behavior Analysis program develops students into professionals who can support individuals and organizations as well as select, implement, and manage effective systems to improve outcomes across a variety of settings. The program provides students with a solid understanding of the science and philosophy of Behavior Analysis

as the foundation that informs applied behavior analysis, the experimental analysis of behavior, and service delivery domains to produce graduates who rely on the science of behavior to contribute to the betterment of society.

The program requires 49 credit hours, which include 46 core credit hours and 3 credit hours in elective coursework. Within core coursework students are required to complete 4 credit hours of practicum. Practicum courses are designed to meet the requirements of the BACB®.

Program Philosophy

The program is designed to prepare students in a wide variety of specialization areas within ABA. Although it is common for lay people to assume that ABA is relevant only to individuals with autism or other developmental and/or intellectual disabilities, behavior analysis can be applied to any population or problem. Thus, students can focus not only on issues related to the assessment and treatment of Autism Spectrum Disorders, but also on the assessment and treatment of severe behavior problems, instructional design, organizational behavior management, and applications with non-traditional populations such as geriatric, individuals with traumatic brain injury, and regular and special education. Thus, while ABA techniques are typically associated with application to individuals with disabilities, they are also invaluable to individuals in the general population and in solving societal problems that require behavior change.

The program provides training to students related to all four domains of Behavior Analysis (i.e., Theory & Philosophy, Experimental Analysis of Behavior, Applied Behavior Analysis, and Service Delivery). Further, the programs and curricula are designed to infuse the scientist-practitioner model across these domains and teach students to be consumers of new research findings, evaluators of their own interventions and programs using empirical methods, and researchers, producing new data from their own settings and reporting these data to the applied and scientific community.

In summary, the program's mission is to provide students with the scientific, analytical, and conceptual tools they need to provide effective, ethical, and practical behavior-analytic interventions to the diverse populations that they serve. The vision of the program is to provide the most comprehensive and effective graduate training in ABA, and to that end, the faculty provide the students with the most up-to-date information and research, and encourage critical analysis of the research with an emphasis on using it to drive practice. The program emphasizes not only knowledge of the research and assessment and intervention techniques, but sound understanding of the basic concepts and principles of behavior analysis, so that students will have the conceptual and scientific underpinnings necessary to understand why interventions work, how to measure their effects, and to make appropriate program modifications when they do not. Because ABA is based on a rapidly developing and evolving behavioral technology grounded in research, the knowledge base is constantly changing. It is the program's mission to remain at the forefront of the development of this field

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

Analyze behavior, design interventions, and evaluate interventions, by applying basic behavioral principles
and assessment techniques to effect socially significant behavior change.

Diversity

 Evaluate the impact of diversity issues on individuals and society (as a whole in domestic or international settings,) and demonstrate sensitivity and competence while working with diverse populations.

Professional Behavior

- Evaluate and resolve ethical dilemmas in accordance with behavior-analytic and psychological ethical guidelines.
- Establish rapport and communicate effectively with clients, stakeholders, and other professionals.

Scholarship

Conduct behavior-analytic research and evaluate behavior-analytic and other psychological research
effectively and ethically.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's MS Applied Behavior Analysis program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors that are considered in admission are: GPA from undergraduate and any graduate schools, successful work history after completion of the baccalaureate degree, the admission essay, and letters of recommendation from academic professors or professional or volunteer experience supervisors. Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission. Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications.

Standardized Testing

The Graduate Record Examination (GRE) is not required for master's level applicants. Scores should be sent directly to the school (GRE School Code: 1119) for consideration. Please see the application for detailed instructions and information regarding application requirements, application deadlines, and letters of recommendation.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Degree Completion Requirements:

- Successful completion of 49 credit hours of coursework
- Successful completion of Advanced Research Project or Advanced Applied Project

Policies

The following policies are located underAcademic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver.

Articulation Agreements

The Chicago School has also established agreements between the MS Applied Behavior Analysis program and the programs listed below to allow qualified students to receive transfer credit for courses taken in other The Chicago School programs that can be counted toward degree completion requirements for either program. Click on the link of the program that interests you for details.

MS Applied Behavior Analysis and MA Applied Behavior Analysis

Ethical Guidelines

Students are expected to learn and to follow the ethical guidelines of the American Psychological Association and the Behavior Analyst Certification Board® during and after their work at The Chicago School. A class in ethics is required, and student adherence to ethical codes is evaluated both formally and informally.

Advanced Research Project OR Advanced Applied Project

Students are also required to complete a thesis (Advanced Research Project) or a non-thesis option (Advanced Applied Project). The thesis must be a data-based empirical evaluation, but does not necessarily need to mark an original contribution to the published literature (it may be a replication and extension). The primary function of the Master's thesis is to demonstrate that students are actively learning to function as scientist-practitioners who are continually engaged in making data-based assessment and treatment decisions. The applied project is a demonstration that the student can assess and treat a client effectively and ethically from start to finish. The applied project process is as stringent as the thesis option and demonstrates similar skills but focuses on application rather than research. The course sequence facilitates student completion of theses and applied projects with a carefully designed course sequence that has the necessary steps toward thesis and project completion embedded into the required coursework. Any student considering going on to a Ph.D. program should choose the thesis option.

Training

The program requires four credits of field-based clinical training (practicum training, see BACB.com for supervision requirements) held at approved sites. Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

MS ABA On-Ground

The Curriculum

Required Core: 46 credit hours

Electives: 3 credit hours

Program Total

M.S. Applied Behavior Analysis: 49 credit hours

*Students will see a location code suffix affixed to courses on their transcripts (TX-Dallas, CH-Chicago, ON-Online, DC-Washington, D.C., LA-Los Angeles, IR-Anaheim, SD-San Diego)

Required Core

- AB 540 Concepts and Principles in Behavior Analysis I (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 541 Concepts and Principles in Behavior Analysis II (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 569 Clinical Skills (2 credit hours)
- AB 537 Introduction to the Experimental Analysis of Behavior (3 credit hours)
- AB 539 Science and Human Behavior (3 credit hours)
- AB 546 Diversity in Clinical Practice (3 credit hours)
- AB 556 Behavior Change Procedures I (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 557 Behavior Change Procedures II (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 545 Measurement and Design in Behavior Analysis (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 563 Verbal Behavior (3 credit hours)
- AB 564 Behavior Assessment (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 565 Professional Ethics and Issues in Behavior Analysis (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 576 Scientific Writing (3 credit hours)
- AB 590 Professional Development Group (1 credit hour)
- AB 615 Practicum I (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 616 Practicum II (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 617 Practicum III (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 618 Practicum IV (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
 Student choose either Advanced Research Project OR Advanced Applied Project Series
- AB 566 Advanced Applied Project I (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- AB 567 Advanced Applied Project II (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- AB 568 Advanced Applied Project III (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- AB 560 Advanced Research Project I (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- AB 561 Advanced Research Project II (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- AB 562 Advanced Research Project III (1 credit hour) (auto full time)

Electives

- AB 510 Psychopathology (3 credit hours)
- AB 512 Psychology of the Lifespan (3 credit hours)
- AB 525 Precision Teaching (2 credit hours)
- AB 526 Relational Frame Theory (2 credit hours)

- AB 527 Instructional Consultation I (2 credit hours)
- AB 528 Instructional Consultation II (2 credit hours)
- AB 529 Seminal Writings in Behavior Analysis (2 credit hours)
- AB 532 Behavioral Pharmacology (3 credit hours)
- AB 533 Advanced Intervention: Behavioral (2 credit hours)
- AB 534 Radical Behaviorism (2 credit hours)
- AB 535 Introduction to Instructional Design (2 credit hours)
- AB 572 Organizational Behavior Management (2 credit hours)
- AB 581 Special Topics I (1 credit hour)
- AB 582 Special Topics II (2 credit hours)
- AB 583 Special Topics III (3 credit hours)
- AB 584 Publications: Writing and the Peer Review Process (1 credit hour)
- AB 587 Advanced Verbal Behavior (2 credit hours)

Optional Supervision Courses

- EBC 560 Individual Supervision (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- EBC 561 Individual Supervision (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- EBC 562 Individual Supervision (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- EBC 563 Individual Supervision (1 credit hour)(auto half time)

Extension Courses

- AB 950A-F Thesis Extension (1 credit hour) auto half-time
- AB 951A-F Thesis Extension (1 credit hour) auto full-time
- AB 954A-F Project Extension (1 credit hour) auto half-time
- AB 955A-F Project Extension (1 credit hour) auto full-time
- AB 940A Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- AB 940B Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- AB 997A-D Practicum Extension (0 credit hours)(auto half time)
- EBC 567A-D Individual Supervision Extension (0 credit hours)(auto half time)

MS Applied Behavior Analysis - Washington, D.C.

Washington, D.C.

Program Overview

Applied Behavior Analysis (ABA) is the ethical evaluation, design, and implementation of environmental changes to produce socially significant improvements in behavior. The MS Applied Behavior Analysis program incorporates the content areas and practicum requirements for eligibility to become a Board Certified Behavior Analyst® (BCBA®) by the Behavior Analyst Certification Board® (BACB®) in addition to providing a solid foundation in the philosophy, science, and application of behavior analysis. Please see further information about professional licensure and certification below.

The aim of the program is to prepare students for a rewarding career in the rapidly growing field of Applied Behavior Analysis. Graduates serve many different populations including children, adults, and seniors and may work in residential, school, and community-based settings. Individuals served may have no diagnoses (e.g., school children in a regular education class or teachers seeking to be more effective) or may have diagnoses such as autism, behavioral difficulties, developmental disabilities, mental illness, and a variety of geriatric conditions.

The MS Applied Behavior Analysis program develops students into professionals who can support individuals and organizations as well as select, implement, and manage effective systems to improve outcomes across a variety of settings. The program provides students with a solid understanding of the science and philosophy of Behavior Analysis as the foundation that informs applied behavior analysis, the experimental analysis of behavior, and service delivery domains to produce graduates who rely on the science of behavior to contribute to the betterment of society.

The program requires 49 credit hours, which include 46 core credit hours and 3 credit hours in elective coursework. Within core coursework students are required to complete 4 credit hours of practicum. Practicum courses are designed to meet the requirements of the BACB®.

Program Philosophy

The program is designed to prepare students in a wide variety of specialization areas within ABA. Although it is common for lay people to assume that ABA is relevant only to individuals with autism or other developmental and/or intellectual disabilities, behavior analysis can be applied to any population or problem. Thus, students can focus not only on issues related to the assessment and treatment of Autism Spectrum Disorders, but also on the assessment and treatment of severe behavior problems, instructional design, organizational behavior management, and applications with non-traditional populations such as geriatric, individuals with traumatic brain injury, and regular and special education. Thus, while ABA techniques are typically associated with application to individuals with disabilities, they are also invaluable to individuals in the general population and in solving societal problems that require behavior change.

The program provides training to students related to all four domains of Behavior Analysis (i.e., Theory & Philosophy, Experimental Analysis of Behavior, Applied Behavior Analysis, and Service Delivery). Further, the programs and curricula are designed to infuse the scientist-practitioner model across these domains and teach students to be consumers of new research findings, evaluators of their own interventions and programs using empirical methods, and researchers, producing new data from their own settings and reporting these data to the applied and scientific community.

In summary, the program's mission is to provide students with the scientific, analytical, and conceptual tools they need to provide effective, ethical, and practical behavior-analytic interventions to the diverse populations that they serve. The vision of the program is to provide the most comprehensive and effective graduate training in ABA, and to that end, the faculty provide the students with the most up-to-date information and research, and encourage critical analysis of the research with an emphasis on using it to drive practice. The program emphasizes not only knowledge of the research and assessment and intervention techniques, but sound understanding of the basic concepts and principles of behavior analysis, so that students will have the conceptual and scientific underpinnings necessary to understand why interventions work, how to measure their effects, and to make appropriate program modifications when they do not. Because ABA is based on a rapidly developing and evolving behavioral technology grounded in research, the knowledge base is constantly changing. It is the program's mission to remain at the forefront of the development of this field

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

Analyze behavior, design interventions, and evaluate interventions, by applying basic behavioral principles
and assessment techniques to effect socially significant behavior change.

Diversity

 Evaluate the impact of diversity issues on individuals and society (as a whole in domestic or international settings,) and demonstrate sensitivity and competence while working with diverse populations.

Professional Behavior

- Evaluate and resolve ethical dilemmas in accordance with behavior-analytic and psychological ethical guidelines.
- Establish rapport and communicate effectively with clients, stakeholders, and other professionals.

Scholarship

 Conduct behavior-analytic research and evaluate behavior-analytic and other psychological research effectively and ethically.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's MS Applied Behavior Analysis program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors that are considered in admission are: GPA from undergraduate and any graduate schools, successful work history after completion of the baccalaureate degree, the admission essay, and letters of recommendation from academic professors or professional or volunteer experience supervisors. Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission. Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications.

Standardized Testing

The Graduate Record Examination (GRE) is not required for master's level applicants. Scores should be sent directly to the school (GRE School Code: 1119) for consideration. Please see the application for detailed instructions and information regarding application requirements, application deadlines, and letters of recommendation.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Degree Completion Requirements:

- Successful completion of 49 credit hours of coursework
- Successful completion of Advanced Research Project or Advanced Applied Project

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver.

Articulation Agreements

The Chicago School has also established agreements between the MS Applied Behavior Analysis program and the programs listed below to allow qualified students to receive transfer credit for courses taken in other The Chicago School programs that can be counted toward degree completion requirements for either program. Click on the link of the program that interests you for details.

MS Applied Behavior Analysis and MA Applied Behavior Analysis

Ethical Guidelines

Students are expected to learn and to follow the ethical guidelines of the American Psychological Association and the Behavior Analyst Certification Board® during and after their work at The Chicago School. A class in ethics is required, and student adherence to ethical codes is evaluated both formally and informally.

Advanced Research Project OR Advanced Applied Project

Students are also required to complete a thesis (Advanced Research Project) or a non-thesis option (Advanced Applied Project). The thesis must be a data-based empirical evaluation, but does not necessarily need to mark an original contribution to the published literature (it may be a replication and extension). The primary function of the Master's thesis is to demonstrate that students are actively learning to function as scientist-practitioners who are continually engaged in making data-based assessment and treatment decisions. The applied project is a demonstration that the student can assess and treat a client effectively and ethically from start to finish. The applied project process is as stringent as the thesis option and demonstrates similar skills but focuses on application rather than research. The course sequence facilitates student completion of theses and applied projects with a carefully designed course sequence that has the necessary steps toward thesis and project completion embedded into the required coursework. Any student considering going on to a Ph.D. program should choose the thesis option.

Training

The program requires four credits of field-based clinical training (practicum training, see BACB.com for supervision requirements) held at approved sites. Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

MS ABA On-Ground

The Curriculum

Required Core: 46 credit hours

Electives: 3 credit hours

Program Total

M.S. Applied Behavior Analysis: 49 credit hours

*Students will see a location code suffix affixed to courses on their transcripts (TX-Dallas, CH-Chicago, ON-Online, DC-Washington, D.C., LA-Los Angeles, IR-Anaheim, SD-San Diego)

Required Core

- AB 540 Concepts and Principles in Behavior Analysis I (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 541 Concepts and Principles in Behavior Analysis II (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 569 Clinical Skills (2 credit hours)
- AB 537 Introduction to the Experimental Analysis of Behavior (3 credit hours)
- AB 539 Science and Human Behavior (3 credit hours)
- AB 546 Diversity in Clinical Practice (3 credit hours)
- AB 556 Behavior Change Procedures I (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 557 Behavior Change Procedures II (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 545 Measurement and Design in Behavior Analysis (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 563 Verbal Behavior (3 credit hours)
- AB 564 Behavior Assessment (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 565 Professional Ethics and Issues in Behavior Analysis (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 576 Scientific Writing (3 credit hours)
- AB 590 Professional Development Group (1 credit hour)
- AB 615 Practicum I (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 616 Practicum II (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 617 Practicum III (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 618 Practicum IV (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
 Student choose either Advanced Research Project OR Advanced Applied Project Series
- AB 566 Advanced Applied Project I (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- AB 567 Advanced Applied Project II (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- AB 568 Advanced Applied Project III (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- AB 560 Advanced Research Project I (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- AB 561 Advanced Research Project II (1 credit hour) (auto full time)

AB 562 - Advanced Research Project III (1 credit hour) (auto full time)

Electives

- AB 510 Psychopathology (3 credit hours)
- AB 512 Psychology of the Lifespan (3 credit hours)
- AB 525 Precision Teaching (2 credit hours)
- AB 526 Relational Frame Theory (2 credit hours)
- AB 527 Instructional Consultation I (2 credit hours)
- AB 528 Instructional Consultation II (2 credit hours)
- AB 529 Seminal Writings in Behavior Analysis (2 credit hours)
- AB 532 Behavioral Pharmacology (3 credit hours)
- AB 533 Advanced Intervention: Behavioral (2 credit hours)
- AB 534 Radical Behaviorism (2 credit hours)
- AB 535 Introduction to Instructional Design (2 credit hours)
- AB 572 Organizational Behavior Management (2 credit hours)
- AB 581 Special Topics I (1 credit hour)
- AB 582 Special Topics II (2 credit hours)
- AB 583 Special Topics III (3 credit hours)
- AB 584 Publications: Writing and the Peer Review Process (1 credit hour)
- AB 587 Advanced Verbal Behavior (2 credit hours)

Optional Supervision Courses

- EBC 560 Individual Supervision (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- EBC 561 Individual Supervision (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- EBC 562 Individual Supervision (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- EBC 563 Individual Supervision (1 credit hour)(auto half time)

Extension Courses

- AB 950A-F Thesis Extension (1 credit hour) auto half-time
- AB 951A-F Thesis Extension (1 credit hour) auto full-time
- AB 954A-F Project Extension (1 credit hour) auto half-time
- AB 955A-F Project Extension (1 credit hour) auto full-time
- AB 940A Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- AB 940B Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- AB 997A-D Practicum Extension (0 credit hours)(auto half time)
- EBC 567A-D Individual Supervision Extension (0 credit hours)(auto half time)

MS Clinical Psychopharmacology

Online

Program Overview

The The Chicago School Master of Science in Clinical Psychopharmacology is a 10 term (20 month) to 24 term (48 month) program, depending on the track selected designed to educate clinical psychology practitioners and leaders who wish to expand their knowledge base in psychopharmacology and medical conditions that are relevant to mental health care. Participants will learn how to increase their competency in psychological and physical assessment, diagnosis, and intervention relative to working with persons who are prescribed psychotropic medications, and engage in case-based learning that will enhance their collaborative practice skills.

The program uses online teaching methods and applied case-based learning to train psychologists to integrate medical approaches into their client care. The Coursework Only track consists of 31 credit hour didactic courses, and includes a research project. The Coursework Only track will take 10 terms (20 months) to complete.

The Illinois Prescriptive Authority Preparation Track is 67 credit hours and consists of all the courses from the Coursework Only Track, with the addition of 18 clinical rotation courses and a Clinical Competency Examination. Depending on the hours for clinical rotations the students will enter into part-time or full-time rotations. Students in the Illinois Prescriptive Authority Preparation Track completing clinical rotations Part-time (a minimum of 20 hours per week) will take an additional 14 terms (28 months) beyond the Coursework Only Track. Students in the Illinois Prescriptive Authority Preparation Track completing clinical rotations Full-time (approximately 40 hours per week) will take an additional 7 terms (14 months) beyond the coursework only track. Students registered in the Illinois Prescriptive Authority Track incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

The Master of Science in Clinical Psychopharmacology program has been granted designation by the American Psychological Association (APA) Designation Committee for Postdoctoral Education and Training Programs in Psychopharmacology for Prescriptive Authority.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Be able to perform a reliable, valid and clinically sound assessment, formulate a clinical diagnosis and generate treatment options individualized to the specific characteristics and therapeutic goals of the patient.
- Accepts and evaluates feedback and supervision from both medical and mental health professionals nondefensively and actively seeks to modify his/her behavior appropriately.

Diversity

- Collaborate with people differing from the student in terms of age, gender, race, ethnicity, cultural
 background, religious difference, sexual orientation, or differing ability. The student will be able to listen to
 and learn from the perspectives of others who differ from him/herself.
- Apply the knowledge on identity related to race, ethnicity, gender, sexual orientation, socioeconomic status, age, religious belief, and ability, to promote more accurate and individualized clinical psychopharmacology assessment and treatment interventions.

Professional Behavior

- Able to perform a competent clinical assessment, formulate a diagnosis and generate treatment options that delineate ethical practices.
- Able to show ethical professional behavior according to a code of ethics.
- Able to show collaborative and team-oriented professional relationships with other medical and mental health professionals.

Scholarship

Apply the theories of clinical psychopharmacology to assessment, diagnosis and treatment management.

- Able to use descriptive statistics and statistical procedures common to clinical psychopharmacology such as meta-analysis in a clinical research project.
- Evaluate and apply research findings to clinical psychopharmacological practice.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's Master of Science in Clinical Psychopharmacology program is open to any person who has completed or has been admitted to a doctoral degree program in clinical psychology from a regionally accredited institution, and meets other entrance requirements.

- Completed application
- \$50 application fee
- Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended
 that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications.
- Applicants who have not yet completed a doctoral degree program in clinical psychology or who have been admitted to a doctoral degree program in clinical psychology must submit a transcript of any coursework completed. If no courses have yet been completed, applicants must submit an official letter of admission.

For the Illinois Prescriptive Authority Preparation Track, applicants must also be licensed or eligible for licensure as a Clinical Psychologist in the State of Illinois.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Licensure for Prescriptive Authority

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

The Curriculum

Program Totals

M.S. Clinical Psychopharmacology Illinois Prescriptive Authority Preparation Track: 67 credit hours

Coursework Only Track

Total Credit Hours: 31

- PS 600 Clinical Anatomy and Integrated Science (2 credit hours)
- PS 607 Advanced Pathophysiology (2 credit hours)
- PS 615 Clinical Biochemistry & Neurochemistry (2 credit hours)
- PS 620 Clinical Neuroscience: Neuroanatomy, Neurophysiology (2 credit hours)
- PS 625 Advanced Physical Assessment (2 credit hours)
- PS 630 Clinical and Procedural Skills (2 credit hours)
- PS 635 Diagnostic Methods (2 credit hours)
- PS 640 Clinical Medicine & Patient Evaluation (3 credit hours)
- PS 645 Problem Based Clinical Learning (2 credit hours)
- PS 650 Substance Abuse & Chronic Pain Management (2 credit hours)
- PS 655 Pharmacology (3 credit hours)
- PS 660 Clinical Psychopharmacology (3 credit hours)
- PS 665 Special Populations: Pediatric & Geriatric Psychopharmacology (2 credit hours)
- PS 670 Clinical Research Project (1 credit hour)
- PS 675 Professional, Ethical & Legal Issues in Psychopharmacology Practice (1 credit hour)

Illinois Prescriptive Authority Preparation Track

Students complete all 31 credit hours from the Coursework Only Track in addition to the 36 credit hours below.

Total Credit hours: 67

- PS 690A Emergency Medicine Clinical Rotation A (2 credit hours)(auto full time)(course fee \$27.50)
- PS 690B Emergency Medicine Clinical Rotation B (2 credit hours) (auto full time) (course fee \$27.50)
- PS 691A Family Medicine Clinical Rotation A (2 credit hours) (auto full time) (course fee \$27.50)
- PS 691B Family Medicine Clinical Rotation B (2 credit hours) (auto full time) (course fee \$27.50)
- PS 692A Geriatrics Clinical Rotation A (2 credit hours) (auto full time) (course fee \$27.50)
- PS 692B Geriatrics Clinical Rotation B (2 credit hours) (auto full time) (course fee \$27.50)
- PS 693A Internal Medicine Clinical Rotation A (2 credit hours) (auto full time) (course fee \$27.50)
- PS 693B Internal Medicine Clinical Rotation B (2 credit hours) (auto full time) (course fee \$27.50)
- PS 694A Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinical Rotation A (2 credit hours) (auto full time) (course fee \$27.50)
- PS 694B Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinical Rotation B (2 credit hours) (auto full time) (course fee \$27.50)
- PS 695A Pediatrics Clinical Rotation A (2 credit hours) (auto full time) (course fee \$27.50)
- PS 695B Pediatrics Clinical Rotation B (2 credit hours) (auto full time) (course fee \$27.50)
- PS 696A Psychiatry Clinical Rotation A (2 credit hours) (auto full time) (course fee \$27.50)
- PS 696B Psychiatry Clinical Rotation B (2 credit hours) (auto full time) (course fee \$27.50)
- PS 697A Surgery Clinical Rotation A (2 credit hours) (auto full time) (course fee \$27.50)

- PS 697B Surgery Clinical Rotation B (2 credit hours) (auto full time) (course fee \$27.50)
- PS 698A Elective Clinical Rotation A (2 credit hours) (auto full time) (course fee \$27.50)
- PS 698B Elective Clinical Rotation B (2 credit hours) (auto full time) (course fee \$27.50)
- PS 700 Clinical Competency Examination (0 credit hours) (course fee \$150)

Extension Courses

- PS 699A Clinical Rotation Extension A (0 credit hours)
- PS 699B Clinical Rotation Extension B (0 credit hours)(auto full time)

MSN Nursing Education

Online

Program Overview

The 36-credit hour Master's of Science Nursing: Nursing Education program provides students with knowledge, skills, and expertise to become leaders in the field of nursing in diverse healthcare environments. Graduates will be prepared to facilitate learners' development and socialization, interpretation, analysis, and translation of evidence to guide student learning and assessment strategies. Students will be prepared upon graduation to apply for the certified nurse educator examination administered by NLN and to sit for the American Association of Colleges of Nursing (AACN) exam.

Philosophy of Nursing

The programs believe that nursing is a dynamic process in which the provider and the client (individual, family, or community) work together to achieve health promotion, disease prevention, and disease management for the client across the lifespan. Nursing has a holistic view of the client based on physiologic, psychosocial, and spiritual principles.

Nurses use clinical judgment, communication, and nursing skills to assist a diverse population of clients in meeting their needs and achieving optimal health. The nurse practices within an ethical and legal framework and embraces evidence-based practice.

The faculty believe that nursing is a dynamic profession that encompasses a global view of health for the individual from prevention through tertiary care within their cultural and spiritual beliefs.

Philosophy of Healthcare Education

The program is committed to providing excellent education to a diverse student population. Based on the belief that life-long learning is essential to continued competence, the programs strive to empower students to function independently and utilize critical thinking. Faculty members serve as facilitators and role models and expect students to function as adult learners.

The faculty of the program embrace current and future technology as a tool to be used appropriately for the enhanced learning experience of the individual student.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Students will be able to implement specialist-nursing roles to promote quality improvement of patientcentered care in accordance with professional practice standards that transform health outcomes for diverse populations.
- Students will be able to integrate science and theories from nursing and other health related disciplines to
 provide holistic and quality healthcare solutions for diverse population groups
- Students will be able apply systems and organizational leadership concepts to the management of human, fiscal, and physical healthcare resources within the context of culturally congruent, theory-based, evidence-based, ethical, and holistic patient-centered in a variety of settings.

Diversity

Students will be able to evaluate healthcare policy, regulatory, legal, economic and sociocultural
environments to advocate for patients and effect change in the healthcare system at the local, state, national,
and international level within the context of culturally congruent, theory-based, evidence-based, ethical, and
holistic patient- centered care in a variety of settings.

Professional Behavior

- Students will be able to collaborate and coordinate as a member of an interdisciplinary team strategies and resources to improve the health of patients, populations, and communities in which they work and live.
- Students will be able to evaluate health-care policy, regulatory, legal, economic and sociocultural
 environments to advocate for patients and effect change in the healthcare system at the local, state, national,
 and international level within the context of culturally congruent, theory-based, evidence-based, ethical, and
 holistic patient- centered in a variety of settings.

Scholarship

- Students will be able to synthesize scholarship from a variety of sources and translate to promote
 implementation of evidence-based practice, and critique evidence-based literature drawing from diverse
 theoretical perspectives and pertinent research to guide decision making that demonstrates best practices for
 specialist nursing practice in a global society.
- Students will be able to justify teaching methodologies that support adult learning. Design and deliver
 evidenced based Design curricula and programs that facilitate the learning of nursing students, colleagues,
 patients and other healthcare professionals Plan curriculum to meet the current regulatory requirements,
 accreditation standards, and industry standards.
- Students will be able to evaluate processes, systems, and utilize current technology to support continuous quality improvement and improve patient outcomes across the care continuum in collaboration with interprofessional team members to deliver theory-based, evidence-based, culturally-congruent, competent, ethical, and holistic patient-center care. Design tools that evaluate formative and summative student learning.

Admission Requirements

The Chicago School is not currently enrolling new students in this program.

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

General Pre-Admission Requirements

- Completed application form
- Non-refundable application fee (\$50 USD)
- Official transcripts from all post-secondary schools where a degree was earned

Specific Pre-Admission Educational Requirements

- Bachelor of Science in Nursing from a regionally accredited institution with a cumulative grade point average (CGPA) of 3.0 or higher
- Registered Nursing (RN) license in the US in good standing
- Current resume
- Statement of professional goals
- Two (2) letters of professional reference
- Admission Interview

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver.

The Curriculum

Required Core: 36 credit hours

Program Total: 36 credit hours

Required Core (36 credit hours)

- MSNC 500 Theoretical Basis for Nursing Practice (3 credit hours)
- MSNC 501 Advanced Research Methods and Evidence Based Practice (3 credit hours)
- MSNC 502 Nursing Informatics in Advance Nursing Practice (3 credit hours)
- MSNE 500 Advanced Pathophysiology (3 credit hours)
- MSNE 501 Advanced Pharmacology (3 credit hours)
- MSNE 502 Advanced Health Assessment and Diagnostic Reasoning (3 credit hours)
- MSNE 503 Simulation Application in Nursing (3 credit hours)
- MSNE 504 Curriculum Development: Process and Innovation (3 credit hours)
- MSNE 505 Educational Assessment and Evaluation (3 credit hours)
- MSNE 506 Facilitating Engaged Learners (3 credit hours)
- MSNE 507 Foundational Skills for Nurse Educators (3 credit hours)
- MSNE 508 Nursing Education Capstone Practicum (3 credit hours)

MSN Nursing Leadership and Administration

Online

Program Overview

The 33 credit hour Master of Science in Nursing; Nursing Leadership and Administration program provides students with knowledge, skills, and expertise to become leaders in the field of nursing in diverse healthcare environments. Students will be eligible upon graduation to apply for the ANCC Nurse Executive Certification Examination as well as optional certification as a Nurse Manager and Leader and Executive Nursing Practice through the American Organization of Nurse Executives (AONE).

Philosophy of Nursing

The programs believe that nursing is a dynamic process in which the provider and the client (individual, family, or community) work together to achieve health promotion, disease prevention, and disease management for the client across the lifespan. Nursing has a holistic view of the client based on physiologic, psychosocial, and spiritual principles.

Nurses use clinical judgment, communication, and nursing skills to assist a diverse population of clients in meeting their needs and achieving optimal health. The nurse practices within an ethical and legal framework and embraces evidence-based practice.

The faculty believe that nursing is a dynamic profession that encompasses a global view of health for the individual from prevention through tertiary care within their cultural and spiritual beliefs.

Philosophy of Healthcare Education

The program is committed to providing excellent education to a diverse student population. Based on the belief that life-long learning is essential to continued competence, the programs strive to empower students to function independently and utilize critical thinking. Faculty members serve as facilitators and role models and expect students to function as adult learners.

The faculty of the program embrace current and future technology as a tool to be used appropriately for the enhanced learning experience of the individual student.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Students will be able to analyze organizational behavior among individuals, teams and departments and lead
 the improvement of care processes, outcomes and the patient experience within the context of ethical and
 legal principles when making decisions regarding healthcare delivery
- Students will be able to integrate science and theories from nursing and other health related disciplines to
 provide holistic and quality healthcare solutions for diverse population groups

Students will be able to plan, implement, and evaluate strategies to guide and lead diverse teams within an
organization or healthcare system toward successful outcomes

Diversity

Students will be able to implement the role of the nurse leader or nurse administrator within the context of
culturally congruent, theory-based, evidence-based, ethical, and holistic patient- centered in a variety of
settings.

Professional Behavior

- Students will be able to collaborate with other interdisciplinary professionals on strategies and resources to use to improve the health of patients and communities in which they work and live.
- Students will be able to evaluate healthcare policy, regulatory, legal, economic and sociocultural
 environments to advocate for patients and effect change in the healthcare system at the local, state, national,
 and international level within the context of culturally congruent, theory-based, evidence-based, ethical, and
 holistic patient- centered in a variety of settings.

Scholarship

- Students will be able to synthesize and translate scholarship from a variety of sources to promote implementation of evidence-based practice.
- Students will be able to pursue academic research and critique evidence-based literature drawing from
 diverse theoretical perspectives and pertinent research to guide decision making that demonstrates best
 practices for specialist nursing practice in a global society
- Students will be able to evaluate processes, systems, and utilize current technology to support continuous
 quality improvement and improve patient outcomes across the care continuum in collaboration with interprofessional team members to deliver theory-based, evidence-based, culturally-congruent, competent, ethical,
 and holistic patient-center care.

Admission Requirements

The Chicago School is not currently enrolling new students in this program.

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

General Pre-Admission Requirements

- Completed application form
- Non-refundable application fee (\$50 USD)
- Official transcripts from all post-secondary schools where a degree was earned

Specific Pre-Admission Educational Requirements

- Bachelor of Science in Nursing from a regionally accredited institution with a cumulative grade point average (CGPA) of 3.0 or higher
- Registered Nursing (RN) license in the US in good standing
- Current resume
- Statement of professional goals
- Two (2) letters of professional reference
- Admission Interview

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver.

The Curriculum

Program Total: 33 credit hours

Required Core

- MSNC 500 Theoretical Basis for Nursing Practice (3 credit hours)
- MSNC 501 Advanced Research Methods and Evidence Based Practice (3 credit hours)
- MSNC 502 Nursing Informatics in Advance Nursing Practice (3 credit hours)
- MSNL 500 Health Care Policy and Advocacy (3 credit hours)
- MSNL 501 Interprofessional Organization and Leadership (3 credit hours)
- MSNL 502 Leadership in Nursing and Healthcare (3 credit hours)
- MSNL 503 Strategic and Operational Planning and Management (3 credit hours)
- MSNL 504 Financial Management in Healthcare Organizations (3 credit hours)
- MSNL 505 Managing Human Resources (3 credit hours)
- MSNL 506 Organizational Behavior in Complex Healthcare Systems (3 credit hours)
- MSNL 507 The Nursing Leadership and Administration Capstone (3 credit hours)

Education Specialist

EdS School Psychology

Chicago

Program Overview

The EdS School Psychology will educate well-rounded specialist-level graduates who will fill the increasingly varied roles of today's school psychologist. The school psychologist is called upon to help students, teachers, administrators, and parents overcome obstacles to learning and personal development which include, but are not limited to, family disruptions, mental health problems and disabilities, inadequate exposure to instruction (i.e., medical illness, poor attendance, etc.), and academic difficulties. The program is fully accredited by the National Association of School Psychologists (NASP).

Program Philosophy

The department's philosophy embraces the premise that the creation of humane and effective learning environments requires the application of professional judgment acquired through the integration of educational and psychological theory, scholarship, and professional practice. Further, the department endorses a deep commitment to understanding and respecting individual and cultural differences, while considering the systems in which the individual functions. The curriculum and training opportunities are based on the practitioner-scholar model which specifies a competency-based approach and is integrated with a standards-based approach to learning. The expected outcome of this method is consistent with the role of the "master" school psychologist who is able to treat and empower students, families, and communities to bring about positive change, plan preventive services, and enhance both educational and psychological problem-solving at all levels.

A competency-based education philosophy permeates every element of The Chicago School and the EdS School Psychology program. Graduates of the EdS School Psychology program will demonstrate the knowledge, skills, and dispositions consistent with those recognized by the National Council for Accreditation of Teacher Education (NCATE), and the knowledge and performance bases defined as the critical skills for school psychology professionals by the National Association of School Psychologists (NASP). These key competencies are articulated in the 2010 NASP Domains. This philosophical approach provides empirical evidence that instruction in the program addresses all of the NASP Domains, and that graduates have demonstrated their success in meeting each of the domains. The program curriculum and assessment system ensures that students will know the field of School Psychology and have a thorough understanding of the principles and concepts in the NASP Standards for the School Psychologist.

Program Mission

The mission of the program is to provide students with a broad-based education that promotes best practices, cultural sensitivity, and innovation to support the needs of children and families. We are committed to preparing graduates who transform our profession, schools, and communities.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Use psychological and educational assessment measures in a nondiscriminatory, valid, and reliable manner to make data based decisions.
- Select, design, implement, and evaluate effective multi-tiered evidence-based preventative and responsive academic, social and life skills practices and interventions for children and adolescents.
- Demonstrate knowledge of supervision models and demonstrate effective supervision practices.
- Demonstrate knowledge of consultation and change models and will demonstrate effective consultation
 practices with families, schools, and systems, while respecting and collaborating with other roles and
 professions.
- Use positive and clear communication to develop and maintain effective relationships with a wide range of
 individuals, including children, families, peers, professionals and community members.

Diversity

 Apply an understanding of individual and cultural differences effectively in multicultural and pluralistic social contexts.

Professional Behavior

- Demonstrate a commitment to professional ethics and standards for School and Clinical Psychologists as
 defined by the National Association of School Psychologists and the American Psychological Association.
- Students will behave in ways that reflect the values and attitudes of psychology, demonstrate integrity, develop a professional identity, engage in self-reflection, and demonstrate openness and responsiveness to feedback and supervision

Scholarship

Plan, conduct, and evaluate applied psychological and educational research.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to the EdS School Psychology program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors that are considered in admission are:

- GPA from undergraduate and any graduate schools,
- successful work history after completion of the baccalaureate degree,
- an admission essay, and
- three letters of recommendation from academic professors or professional or volunteer supervisors.
- Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 3.2 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission.

Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications.

The EdS School Psychology program requires two undergraduate courses (a course in psychology and a course in either statistics or research methods) that must be completed prior to enrollment, with a grade earned of "C" or better.

The Graduate Record Examination (GRE) is not required, however it strongly encouraged that applicants who have taken the exam submit their scores to enhance their application. Scores should be sent directly to the school (GRE School Code: 1119) for consideration. Please see the application for detailed instructions and information regarding application requirements, application deadlines, and letters of recommendation. Applications must be submitted with the \$50.00 (USD) application fee in order to be evaluated.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and the student is quickly notified of the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of 68 credits of required coursework
- Successful completion of first year service learning project: 160 hours (embedded in professional development seminar)
- Successful completion of second year practicum (3rd year for students in the part-time blended programs): 600 hours total (6 credits)
- Successful completion of third year internship experience (4th year for students in the part-time blended programs): 1200 hours, full-time (4 credits)
- Successful completion of the Praxis Exam which measures the academic proficiency in school psychology, and passing the Illinois School Psychology Content Exam.

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Ethical Guidelines

Graduates will demonstrate commitment to the ethical guidelines adopted by the National Association of School Psychologists' Professional Conduct Manual, which contains "Principles for Professional Ethics" and the "Standards for the Provision of School Psychological Services" and those adopted by the American Psychological Association's (APA) Ethical Principles of Psychologists. For example, students shall not engage in employment beyond the scope of their training and may not use titles governed by certification and licensure statutes. Students that fail to adhere to ethical and legal guidelines appropriate for the practice of School Psychology are subject to discipline.

Practicum and Internship

The Chicago School requirements for school placements exceed the NASP Standards for Training and Field Placement Programs in School Psychology.

Three field experiences are required and earn a total of 12 academic credits:

- First year service learning project: 160 hours (embedded in professional development seminar)
- Second year practicum (3rd year for students in the part-time blended programs): 600 hours total (6 credits)
- Third year internship experience (4th year for students in the part-time blended programs): 1200 hours, full-time (4 credits)

Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

School Psychology Exit Criteria

Transitions points represent key assessments of knowledge, skills, and dispositions for each year of the school psychology training. Students may not proceed to the next level of training until proficiency is demonstrated in the knowledge, skills, and dispositions at each point. Only then is a student permitted to transition to the next level. Note that all years of training require students to demonstrate proficiency through capstone activities submitted in via an

electronic portfolio. Capstone activities are summative assignments that require the student to demonstrate knowledge, comprehension, application, integration, and synthesis in the content areas studied.

Prior to beginning any field placement, each student's progress is reviewed by a committee of program faculty through a student review process. First year review determines which students meet the requirements to qualify for a practicum. Following the completion of the majority of practicum hours, students may go through an internship qualifying review, using a similar format and process. At the midway point and at completion of field placements, student performance is evaluated on all dimensions of the NASP and Illinois standards by a committee including the School Psychology faculty and the Office of Placement and Training. A remediation plan may be designed, if needed, to help any student reach the required standards of performance. Students who are unsuccessful with remediation plans may be discharged from the program. To complete the program of study, the student must "pass" practicum and achieve overall supervisor rating of "competency" on the Internship Accomplishment Form-Final.

During the final year of the program, students will need to complete the Praxis Exam which measures the academic proficiency in school psychology, and pass the Illinois School Psychology Content Exam.

The EdS School Psychology Curriculum

Required Core: 68 credit hours

Total Program

Ed.S. School Psychology: 68 credit hours

*Students may take optional electives in addition to the required coursework. A total of 4 additional credit hours worth of coursework exist.

Required Core

- SP 410 Consulting in Schools (3 credit hours)
- SP 415 Professional Development and Beginning Practicum I (1 credit hour)
- SP 416 Professional Development and Beginning Practicum II (1 credit hour)
- SP 417 Professional Development III (2 credit hours)
- SP 430 Clinical and Diagnostic Interviewing (3 credit hours)
- SP 446 Ethics and Law in School Psychology (2 credit hours)
- SP 449 Biological and Cognitive Bases of Behavior (3 credit hours)
- SP 501 Behavioral Assessment (3 credit hours)
- SP 522 Crisis Prevention, Intervention and Trauma Informed Practice in Schools (3 credit hours)(course fee \$100)
- SP 509 Educational Assessment (3 credit hours)
- SP 517 Neurodiversity, Psychopathology & Intervention I (3 credit hours)
- SP 565 Statistics (3 credit hours)
- SP 524 School Based Interventions (3 credit hours)
- SP 528 Diversity in Clinical Practice (3 credit hours)
- SP 532 Psycho-educational Assessment I (3 credit hours)
- SP 536 Systems Theory and Practice (3 credit hours)
- SP 540 Intermediate Practicum and Seminar in School Psychology I (3 credit hours)
- SP 544 Intermediate Practicum and Seminar in School Psychology II (3 credit hours)
- SP 548 Applied Group and Individual Processes of Therapy (3 credit hours)
- SP 504 Affective & Social Bases of Behavior: Functioning and Assessment (3 credit hours)

- SP 556 Psycho-educational Assessment II (3 credit hours)
- SP 557 Neurodiversity, Psychopathology and Intervention II (3 credit hours)
- SP 550 Principles of Psychometrics (2 credit hours)
- SP 572 Infant to Preschool Assessment (2 credit hours)
- SP 620 Internship I (2 credit hours)(auto full time)
- SP 621 Internship II (2 credit hours)(auto full time)

Extension Courses

- SP 546 Practicum Extension (0 credit hours)(auto half time)
- SP 622 Internship III (2 credits)(auto full time)
- SP 625 Internship Extension (0 credit hours)(auto half time)

Earning an MEd Psychology Degree

A student in the EdS in School Psychology program may earn an MEd Psychology following the successful completion of required coursework and specific program requirements. At the beginning of the semester in which a student expects to be eligible for the degree, they are required to submit Petition for Degree Conferral to the Office of the Registrar. The petition is a request to conduct an audit to determine eligibility for the degree. A student who meets the requirements is eligible to participate in the next scheduled commencement. Eligibility guidelines are contained in the catalog under which the student was admitted. A student who files a Petition for Degree Conferral is charged a fee.

The specific requirements for the award of an MEd Psychology degree are as follows:

Academic and Financial Aid Good Standing

Successful Completion of the following courses:

- SP 415 Professional Development and Beginning Practicum I (1 credit hour)
- SP 416 Professional Development and Beginning Practicum II (1 credit hour)
- SP 430 Clinical and Diagnostic Interviewing (3 credit hours)
- SP 446 Ethics and Law in School Psychology (2 credit hours)
- SP 449 Biological and Cognitive Bases of Behavior (3 credit hours)
- SP 501 Behavioral Assessment (3 credit hours)
- SP 509 Educational Assessment (3 credit hours)
- SP 528 Diversity in Clinical Practice (3 credit hours)
- SP 532 Psycho-educational Assessment I (3 credit hours)
- SP 550 Principles of Psychometrics (2 credit hours)
- SP 556 Psycho-educational Assessment II (3 credit hours)
- SP 565 Statistics (3 credit hours)

Doctor of Education

EdD Educational Psychology and Technology

Online

Program Overview

The EdD Educational Psychology and Technology program focuses on educating students to become practitioners who are able to apply educational and psychological theories to practice and conduct evidence-based research to inform practice. The ultimate goal of an EdD program is to bridge the gap between research and practice, which is the overall focus of this program. At the end of the program, graduates will be agents of change. Specifically, graduates will be able to understand how people and organizations learn, and they will be able to use appropriate technology to improve individual learning outcomes and/or support organizational productivity and sustainability.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Apply psychological theory and technology to facilitate a variety of effective teaching and learning assessment and evaluation strategies.
- Act as a proactive agent of change to provide guidance at various levels of an organization to integrate the
 psychology of teaching and learning with technology.
- Effectively implement and instruct innovative application of multimedia technologies in learning environments.
- Implement practices inclusive of pedagogical methods and technological tools that influence crossdisciplinary opportunities for enhancing educational and organizational approaches and procedures.

Diversity

- Demonstrate reasoned, ethical, decision-making skills, recognizing the social, ethical, and legal issues surrounding technology. Respond to individual and group differences across racial, ethnic, gender, age, social class, sexual orientation and religious boundaries in the psychological theories of learning and educational backgrounds.
- Analyze issues of human rights and equality and how access to education, wealth, opportunities, and privileges differ within a society.

Professional Behavior

Evaluate individual values, strengths and weaknesses in order to further develop leadership styles and
improve leadership effectiveness within multiple learning systems and their use of technology to improve
performance.

Scholarship

- Design and conduct efficacious and original research to ethically and positively impact and advance the body of knowledge.
- Formulate theory-based and research-driven strategies for incorporating current technology with what is known about the psychology of learning, teaching and instructional design.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's EdD Educational Psychology and Technology program is open to any person who has earned a master's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements, including meeting at least one of the following requirements. Prospective students must enter with:

- A Master's degree in Psychology, Education, Educational Psychology, Educational Leadership, Curriculum and Instruction, Instructional Design/Technology or a related field, **OR**;
- At least 6 credit hours of Master's level courses related to Psychology, Education, Educational Psychology, Educational Leadership, Curriculum and Instruction, Instructional Design/Technology or a related field with a passing grade of B or higher, **OR**;
- At least three years of professional work experience in an educational field or setting. Prospective students
 may include but are not limited to teachers, school administrators, curriculum developers, school counselors,
 principals, corporate training directors, and professionals in related fields.

Applicants who otherwise meet the admissions requirements of the program, but who have not previously completed at least 6 credit hours of Master's level courses related to Psychology, Education, Educational Psychology, Educational Leadership, Curriculum and Instruction, Instructional Design/Technology or a related field with a passing grade of B or higher or who do not have a minimum of three years of professional work experience in an educational field or setting will be required to fulfill these admission requirements prior to enrolling in this program through the completion of Preparatory Coursework. Applicants should review the Preparatory Coursework policy for additional details.

Applicants who are required to complete Preparatory Coursework must satisfy the 6 credit hours requirement prior to enrolling in this program by successfully completing two (2) of the following courses:

- MP 505 Diversity and Psychology
- MP 510 Psychology of the Life Span
- MP 530 The Social Psychology of Cultures

Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to successfully complete graduate work. Factors and materials to be considered for admission will include:

- Application Fee: \$50
- Resume or Curriculum Vitae
- Graduate GPA 3.0 or higher on a 4 point scale
- Official College/University Transcripts
- Personal Statement/Essay
 - Please answer the following questions (approximately two pages, double-spaced in length):
 - o Provide a brief description of your professional goals. How will the knowledge, skills, and expertise that you gain from this program help you achieve these goals?
 - o EdD programs are often structured to prepare students to advocate for positive change in their professional settings. How might this program assist you in making informed changes in your future professional settings?

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission, in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of 60 credit hours of coursework
- Attendance at two residency meetings
- Successful completion of competency examination
- Successful completion of a dissertation study

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Ethical Guidelines

The Chicago School is committed to preparing professionals for work in a multicultural and diverse society. In keeping with this commitment, the content of all courses is informed by knowledge of individual and cultural differences (e.g., age, ethnicity, gender, physical and mental disability, race, religion, sexual orientation, and socioeconomic status), so that students develop the skills to serve individuals of diverse backgrounds and needs. Faculty and students convey attitudes respectful of these individual and cultural differences.

Residencies

Students enrolled in the EdD Educational Psychology and Technology Online program are required to attend two Residency sessions at The Chicago School (campus locations may vary). The Residency meetings focus on special topics in the field of Educational Psychology and Technology, current trends in emerging learning technologies, and research methodology. During Residency II, students will complete their competency examinations. Both Residencies provide in-depth learning and opportunities for face-to-face mentoring for action research, evaluation work, and program learning. By attending Residency meetings, students are able to build relationships with their peers and program faculty and staff. Failure to complete the Residency requirements will result in failure in the program.

Competency Examination

Students will create a professional ePortfolio for their competency examination requirement that includes a collection of their most meaningful coursework completed during their doctoral studies. The ePortfolio will be carefully constructed and organized to demonstrate students' development of skills needed to perform within their current or future career settings. Students will complete ePortfolio assignments in several EPT courses in order to prepare for the competency examination. Students can utilize their ePortfolio as part of their professional resumes to market their ability to perform specific job skills or to demonstrate interests in particular fields.

Dissertation

Successful completion of the dissertation is an essential aspect of Educational Psychology and Technology students' academic experiences and professional education. The dissertation requirement provides the university the opportunity to evaluate the student's ability to apply Educational Psychology and Technology theory and conduct research. Also, through the dissertation process, students are able to demonstrate their ability to think critically and creatively about relevant research issues in the profession.

Students must complete all program requirements, including the dissertation, within five years from their first date of enrollment. Prior to the end of their fifth year in the program, students may petition the Department Chair to request an extension to complete their dissertation. The Department Chair's decision regarding the request for an extension is final. If the Department Chair grants an extension to the student, the extended date is firm and will not be changed. The Educational Psychology and Technology Department expectations for dissertations are as follows:

- The dissertation must contribute to knowledge in the field of Educational Psychology and Technology.
- Peer-reviewed scholarly journals must be used with an emphasis on Educational Psychology and Technology and related disciplines such as Education, Psychology, Educational Technology, Instructional Design and Technology, and other relevant fields of study.
- The Dissertation Committee must be composed of a Dissertation Chair and two Readers. Students must submit appropriate documentation to the Department Manager and provide immediate notice of any necessary committee changes.
- The dissertation topic and committee members must be approved by the Department Chair and the Dissertation Chair.
- Students must receive approval from their Dissertation Chair in order to be enrolled in the next subsequent dissertation course.
- The Dissertation Committee must approve the student's dissertation proposal before he/she is able to submit an IRB application.

The Curriculum

Required Core: 51 credit hours

Electives/Concentration: 9 credit hours

Program Total

Ed.D. Educational Psychology & Technology: 60 credit hours

Required Core

- EP 600 The Psychology of Learning (3 credit hours)
- EP 607 Qualitative Methods in Educational Research (3 credit hours)
- EP 614 The Psychology of Motivation and Emotion in Learning (3 credit hours)
- EP 621 Quantitative Methods in Educational Research (3 credit hours)
- EP 628 The Theory and Profession of Educational Technology (3 credit hours)
- EP 635 Intermediate Statistics (3 credit hours)
- EP 705 Proseminar in Technology and Education (3 credit hours)
- EP 715 Action Research I (3 credit hours)
- EP 716 Action Research and Evaluation II (3 credit hours)
- EP 725 Cognition across the Lifespan and Technology's Impact (3 credit hours)
- EP 732 Integrating Technology in Learning Systems (3 credit hours)
- EP 739 Ethics and Standards in Educational Psychology and Technology (3 credit hours)
- EP 746 Culture's Place in Learning and Technology (3 credit hours)
- EP 750 Dissertation Development I: Proposal Development (3 credit hours)(auto full time)
- EP 751 Dissertation Development II: Proposal Defense/IRB (3 credit hours)(auto full time)
- EP 752 Dissertation Development III: Data Analysis (3 credit hours)(auto full time)
- EP 753 Dissertation Development IV: Dissertation Completion (3 credit hours)(auto full time)
- EP 799 Competency Examination (auto half time) (0 credit hours)(course fee \$40)

- EP 805 Residency I (auto half time) (0 credit hours)
- EP 810 Residency II (auto half time) (0 credit hours)

Instructional Design Concentration

- EP 763 Development for Multimodal Learning (3 credit hours)
- EP 764 Instructional Design (3 credit hours)
- EP 765 Computational Thinking (3 credit hours)

Higher Education Learning and Technology Concentration

- EP 767 Teaching with Technology in Higher Education (3 credit hours)
- EP 768 Uses of Technology in Curriculum Development in Higher Education (3 credit hours)
- EP 769 Online Learning Design and Practice (3 credit hours)

K-12 Education Learning and Technology Concentration

- EP 771 Teachers and Technology Based Changes (3 credit hours)
- EP 772 K-12 Education and Impact of Technology (3 credit hours)
- EP 773 Improvement and Sustainability of Online Education in K-12 Systems (3 credit hours)

Extension Courses

- EP 800 Competency Examination Extension (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- EP 950A-L Dissertation Extension (.5 credit hours) auto half-time
- EP 951A-L Dissertation Extension (.5 credit hours) auto full-time
- EP 952A Dissertation Extension (.5 credit hours) Not F.A. eligible.
- EP 952B Dissertation Extension (.5 credit hours) Not F.A. eligible.
- EP 953A Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto half-time
- EP 953B Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto half-time
- EP 954A Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- EP 954B Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time

Earning a Certificate in Instructional Design

Earning a Certificate in Instructional Design

A student in the EdD in Educational Psychology and Technology program may earn a Certificate in Instructional Design following the successful completion of required coursework and specific program requirements. At the beginning of the semester in which a student expects to be eligible for the certificate, they are required to submit Petition for Degree Conferral to the Office of the Registrar. The petition is a request to conduct an audit to determine eligibility for the certificate. Eligibility guidelines are contained in the catalog under which the student was admitted.

The specific requirements for award of a Certificate in Instructional Design are as follows:

- Academic and Financial Aid Good Standing
- Successful Completion of the following courses:

Core:

EP 628 The Theory and Profession of Educational Technology

EP 732 Integrating Technology in Learning Systems

EP 715 Action Research I

Concentration:

EP 763 Development for Multimodal Learning

EP 764 Instructional Design

EP 765 Computational Thinking

Doctor of Philosophy

PhD Applied Behavior Analysis

Chicago - Los Angeles - Washington D.C. - Online

Program Overview

Applied Behavior Analysis (ABA) is the ethical design, implementation, and evaluation of environmental changes to produce socially significant improvements in behavior. The MS Applied Behavior Analysis program incorporates the content areas and practicum requirements for eligibility to become a Board Certified Behavior Analyst® (BCBA®) by the Behavior Analyst Certification Board® (BACB®). Please see further information about professional licensure and certification below.

Through the integration of theory and practice, the ABA program provides a solid foundation in the philosophy, science, and application of behavior analysis, promoting an interdisciplinary and translational approach to clinical practice. At the PhD level, the program expands upon the knowledge and skills learned in the MS program by strengthening students' research, clinical, and leadership skills. The aim is to prepare students for a rewarding career in the rapidly growing field of Applied Behavior Analysis. Doctoral graduates are lead practitioners and researchers in educational, clinical, and business settings who can successfully respond to the diverse needs of consumers of behavioral interventions and therapies, and who can teach and mentor students of behavior analysis in university settings.

The Chicago School's PhD Applied Behavior Analysis program is offered in a variety of formats across the different campuses. Many students work (some full-time) but we advise students to consider carefully the balance between school, family, and work and make reasoned choices about time and resource allocation. Students at the MS level (the first two years of the doctoral program) generally invest a minimum of 20-30 hours of coursework per week excluding practicum. Each campus offers unique opportunities for students to expand their experiences. Once doctoral students become certified as BCBAs®, they are encouraged to provide BCBA® supervision, teaching and/or advisement to MS students in unique training opportunities that allow them to hone their supervision, teaching, research and management skills.

The goal of the PhD Applied Behavior Analysis program is to develop professionals who can help individuals and organizations, select, implement, and manage effective systems to improve outcomes across a variety of settings. The program provides students with a solid understanding of the Science and Philosophy of Behavior Analysis as the

foundation that informs the Applied Behavior Analysis, Experimental Analysis of Behavior, and Service Delivery domains to produce graduates who rely on the science of behavior to contribute to the betterment of society.

The objective of the PhD Applied Behavior Analysis program is to train individuals to contribute to applied practice settings in addition to the behavior-analytic scholarly and political communities. Doctoral-level ABA students gain a comprehensive understanding of Science and Philosophy, the Experimental Analysis of Behavior, Applied Behavior Analysis, and Service Delivery. Graduates are equipped with the repertoire to function as leaders in their respective positions (i.e., clinical, academic, etc.) and are prepared to address a range of issues and problems, and to design, implement, and test practical effective solutions that work in the real world.

Program Philosophy

The PhD Applied Behavior Analysis program is designed to prepare students in a wide variety of specialization areas within ABA. Although it is common for lay people to assume that ABA is relevant only to people with autism or other developmental disabilities, behavior analysis is applied to numerous populations and problems. Thus, in the program, students can focus not only on issues related to the assessment and treatment of Autism Spectrum Disorders, but also on the assessment and treatment of severe behavior problems, instructional design, organizational behavior management, and applications with non-traditional populations such as geriatrics, people with traumatic brain injury, and regular and special education. Thus, while ABA techniques apply to people with disabilities, they are just as useful to people in the general population.

The PhD Applied Behavior Analysis program provides training to students related to all four domains of Behavior Analysis (i.e., Philosophy, Experimental Analysis of Behavior, Applied Behavior Analysis, and Service Delivery). Further, the programs and curricula are designed to infuse the scientist-practitioner model across these domains and teach students to be consumers of new research findings, evaluators of their own interventions and programs using empirical methods, and researchers, producing new data from their own settings and reporting these data to the applied and scientific community.

In summary, the PhD Applied Behavior Analysis program's mission is to provide students with the scientific, analytical, and conceptual tools they need to provide effective, ethical, and practical behavior-analytic interventions and to contribute to the research agenda as applied to the diverse populations that they serve. The vision of the program is to provide the most comprehensive and effective graduate training in ABA, and to that end, the faculty provide the students with the most up-to-date information and research, and encourage critical analysis of the research with an emphasis on using it to drive practice. The ABA doctoral program emphasizes the investment in contributing to research and/or to become clinical leaders in our field. Because ABA is based on a rapidly developing and evolving behavioral technology grounded in research, the knowledge base is constantly changing. It is our Mission in the PhD Applied Behavior Analysis program at The Chicago School to remain at the forefront of the development of this field.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Develop and apply advanced techniques to assess and intervene on behavior.
- Evaluate systems and train others to design and conduct behavior-analytic interventions and research.
- Analyze complex behavior, interactions, and systems through a radical-behaviorist framework, and design interlocking contingencies to address complex cultural issues.

Diversity

• Evaluate the impact of diversity issues on individuals and society (as a whole in domestic or international settings,) and demonstrate sensitivity and competence while working with diverse populations.

Professional Behavior

- Evaluate ethical behavior and to arrange contingencies to establish and maintain ethical behavior in their individual work and at a systems level.
- Communicate effectively with clients, stakeholders, and other professionals; present research and other
 information to the professional community and the general public; and lead advocacy efforts for clients,
 agencies, and groups.

Scholarship

 Conduct original behavior-analytic research and to synthesize and evaluate behavior-analytic and other psychological research.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's PhD Applied Behavior Analysis program (post- Master's) is open to any person who has earned a master's degree as specified below from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements.

The school admits applicants whom it judges to possess sufficient academic aptitude, as well as the emotional and social maturity to function effectively as a professional behavior analyst. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to engage in graduate work. Factors considered in admission are: undergraduate and any graduate coursework, GPA from undergraduate and graduate schools; successful work history; admission essay(s); and letters of recommendation from academic professors or professional or volunteer experience supervisors. An undergraduate or graduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission to the school's Applied Behavior Analysis doctoral program. Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications.

Applicants for admission to the PhD post-master's must fall into one of these categories:

- Category A: Have a master's degree in Psychology, Education, Behavior Analysis, or other related degree
 recognized by the Behavior Analyst Certification Board (BACB®) and hold a current BCBA® certification
 in good standing.
- Category B: Have a master's degree in Psychology, Education, Behavior Analysis, or other related degree
 recognized by the Behavior Analyst Certification Board (BACB®) and have completed the BACB®
 approved courses required to qualify for the BCBA® credentialing examination (based on the Fourth Edition
 Task) list.

Based on the evaluation of these materials, selected candidates may be invited to interview for further consideration of their application. Applications must be submitted with the \$50.00 (USD) application fee in order to be evaluated.

For all students: In addition to the admission criteria, it is recommended that students have access to a computer that is less than three years old, a broadband or Internet connection, and the Microsoft Office Suite including Word, Excel, and Outlook and, at minimum, the following computing skills:

- A comfort with basic Internet technology
- The ability to open and attach files from and to email
- The ability to send and receive email
- The ability to save documents

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of required coursework (107 credit hours post-bachelor's; 58 credit hours post-masters; 87 credit hours post-master's credentialing track)
- Successful completion of Comprehensive Examination
- Successful completion of Dissertation

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Earning a Master of Science in Applied Behavior Analysis

A student in the post-bachelor PhD Applied Behavior Analysis program may earn a MS Applied Behavior Analysis following the successful completion of required coursework and specific program requirements. At the beginning of the semester in which a student expects to be eligible for the master's degree, they are required to submit a Petition for Degree Conferral to the Office of the Registrar. The petition is a request to conduct an audit to determine eligibility for the degree. A student who meets the requirements is eligible to participate in the next scheduled commencement. A student who files a Petition for Degree Conferral is charged a fee.

The specific requirements are as follows:

- Academic and Financial Aid Good Standing
- Successful completion of required coursework (49 credits)

Ethical Guidelines

Students are expected to learn and to follow the ethical guidelines of the American Psychological Association, the Association for Behavior Analysis International, and the Behavior Analyst Certification Board® during and after their work at The Chicago School. A class in ethics is required at the Masters level, and student adherence to ethical codes is evaluated both formally and informally.

Professional Development Group

All PhD Applied Behavior Analysis students are required to enroll in an Advanced Professional Development Group (PA602) during their first semester or term in the post-Masters program. Their instructor serves as their academic advisor until they select a dissertation chair.

Comprehensive Examination

Students are required to take and pass a written comprehensive examination and an oral defense before they are allowed to propose their dissertation research to the Institutional Review Board (IRB). Four 1-credit courses prepare students to take the exam and to defend their answers. Students have two chances to pass each component (a third attempt may be allowed under extenuating circumstances). When the written and oral components of the comprehensive exam are passed, the student becomes a Doctoral Candidate and can proceed to their dissertation research.

Dissertation

Students are also required to complete a dissertation. The dissertation must be a data-based empirical evaluation that marks an original contribution to the published literature. The PhD Applied Behavior Analysis course sequence facilitates student completion of the dissertation with a carefully designed course sequence that has the necessary steps toward dissertation completion embedded into the required coursework. Students receive detailed information about the dissertation process and related requirements during their first year in the program.

The Curriculum

Total Program: PhD Applied Behavior Analysis (post-bachelors): 107 credit hours

• Required Core: 50 credit hours

• Electives: 9 credit hours

• Qualifying Master's Degree: 49 credit hours

Total Program: PhD Applied Behavior Analysis (post-masters): 58 credit hours

Required Core: 49 credit hours

Electives: 9 credit hours

Total Program: PhD Applied Behavior Analysis with Credentialing Track Option* (post-masters): 83 credit hours

• Required Core: 49 credit hours

Electives: 9 credit hours

• Credentialing Track Option: 25 credit hours

*Students registered in the Credentialing Track Option incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

Post-Master's Required Core

- PA 602 Advanced Professional Development (1 credit hour)
- PA 620 Advanced Applied Behavior Analysis (3 credit hours)
- PA 621 Foundations of Behavioral Acquisition (3 credit hours)
- PA 649 Translational Research (3 credit hours)
- PA 650 Research in Psychology and Education (3 credit hours)
- PA 651 Advanced Behavioral Research (3 credits)
- PA 652 Statistical Analysis (3 credit hours)
- PA 670 Supervision and Consulting in ABA (2 credits)
- PA 673 Radical Behaviorism II (3 credit hours)
- PA 677 Essentials of Instructional Design (2 credit hours)
- PA 686 Critical Analysis of Research in Verbal Behavior (3 credit hours)
- PA 700 Proposal Development Seminar (3 credit hours)(auto full time)
- PA 714 Experimental Analysis of Behavior (3 credits)
- PA 730 Comprehensive I (auto half time) (1 credit hour)
- PA 731 Comprehensive II (auto half time) (1 credit hour)
- PA 732 Comprehensive III (auto half time) (1 credit hour)
- PA 733 Comprehensive IV (auto half time) (1 credit hour)
- PA 741 Dissertation Development I (2 credit hours)(auto full time)
- PA 742 Dissertation Development II (2 credit hours)(auto full time)
- PA 743 Dissertation Development III (2 credit hours)(auto full time)
- PA 744 Dissertation Development IV (2 credit hours)(auto full time)
- PA 745 Dissertation Development V (2 credit hours)(auto full time)
 The following Residency courses are required for Online students only.
- PA 800 Residency I (auto half time) (0 credit hours)
- PA 801 Residency II (auto half time) (0 credit hours)
- PA 802 Residency III (auto half time) (0 credits)

Electives

- PA 624 Seminal Writings in Behavior Analysis (2 credit hours)
- PA 625 Verbal Behavior (3 credit hours)
- PA 637 Introduction to Experimental Analysis of Behavior (3 credit hours)
- PA 639 Science and Human Behavior (3 credit hours)
- PA 653 Statistical Analysis II (3 credit hours)
- PA 658 Behavioral Development (2 credit hours)
- PA 660 Research Experience I (1 credit hour) (auto half time)
- PA 661 Research Experience II (1 credit hour) (auto half time)
- PA 662 Research Experience III (1 credit hour) (auto half time)
- PA 675 Canonical Writings of B.F. Skinner (2 credit hours)
- PA 676 Theoretical Foundations of Behavior Analysis (2 credit hours)
- PA 678 Conceptual Foundations of Instructional Design (2 credit hours)
- PA 679 Designing a Behaviorally Based Curriculum (2 credit hours)
- PA 680 Analysis and Treatment of Developmental Disabilities (2 credit hours)

- PA 684 Experimental Behavioral Pharmacology (2 credits)
- PA 687 Special Topics I (1 credit)
- PA 688 Special Topics II (2 credits)
- PA 689 Special Topics III (3 credits)
- PA 704 Advanced Ethics (1 credit)
- PA 705 Advanced Diversity (1 credit)
- PA 710 Traumatic Brain Injury (2 credits)
- PA 712 Advanced Organizational Behavior Management (2 credits)
- PA 713 Advanced Precision Teaching (2 credits)
- PA 810 Independent Study I (1 Credit Hour)
- PA 811 Independent Study II (2 credit hours)
- PA 812 Independent Study III (3 credit hours)

Credentialing Track Option

- AB 540 Concepts and Principles in Behavior Analysis I (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 541 Concepts and Principles in Behavior Analysis II (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 545 Measurement and Design in Behavior Analysis (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 556 Behavior Change Procedures I (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 557 Behavior Change Procedures II (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 564 Behavior Assessment (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
- AB 565 Professional Ethics and Issues in Behavior Analysis (3 credit hours)(course fee online only \$56)
 - On-Ground Practicum Sequence
- AB 615 Practicum I (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 616 Practicum II (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 617 Practicum III (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 618 Practicum IV (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
 Online Practicum Sequence
- AB 630 Practicum I (0.5 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 631 Practicum II (0.5 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 632 Practicum III (0.5 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 633 Practicum IV (0.5 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 634 Practicum V (0.5 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 635 Practicum VI (0.5 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 636 Practicum VII (0.5 credit hour)(auto half time)
- AB 637 Practicum VIII (0.5 credit hour)(auto half time)
 - Option for Online students to complete individual supervision through the following courses:
- EBC 520 Individual Supervision (0.5 credit hours)(auto half time)
- EBC 521 Individual Supervision (0.5 credit hours)(auto half time)
- EBC 522 Individual Supervision (0.5 credit hours)(auto half time)
- EBC 523 Individual Supervision (0.5 credit hours)(auto half time)
- EBC 524 Individual Supervision (0.5 credit hours)(auto half time)
- EBC 525 Individual Supervision (0.5 credit hours)(auto half time)
- EBC 526 Individual Supervision (0.5 credit hours)(auto half time)

EBC 527 - Individual Supervision (0.5 credit hours)(auto half time)

Extension Courses

On-Ground

- PA 950A-F Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) auto half-time
- PA 951A-F Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) auto full-time
- PA 952 Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) Not F.A. eligible
- PA 953 Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- PA 954 Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto half-time Online
- PA 955A-L Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) auto half-time
- PA 956A-L Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) auto full-time
- PA 957 Dissertation Extension (.5 credit hours) Not F.A. eligible.
- PA 958 Dissertation Extension (.5 credit hours) Not F.A. eligible.
- PA 959A Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto half-time
- PA 959B Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto half-time
- PA 960A Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- PA 960B Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time On-Ground
- PA 961A Research Experience Extension (1 credit hour) auto full-time
- PA 961B Research Experience Extension (1 credit hour) auto half-time Online
- PA 962A Research Experience Extension (.5 credit hours) auto full-time
- PA 962B Research Experience Extension (.5 credit hours) auto half-time
- AB 950A-F Thesis Extension (1 credit hour) auto half-time
- AB 951A-F Thesis Extension (1 credit hour) auto full-time
- AB 997A-D Practicum Extension (0 credit hours)(auto half time)
- EBC 567A-D Individual Supervision Extension (0 credit hours)(auto half time)

PhD Behavior Analysis

Chicago - Dallas - Los Angeles - Washington D.C. - Online

Program Overview

Through the integration of theory and practice, the 61 credit hour post-master's PhD in Behavior Analysis program provides a solid foundation in the philosophy, science, and application of behavior analysis, promoting an interdisciplinary and translational approach to clinical practice.

At the PhD level, the program expands upon the knowledge and skills learned in the MS program by strengthening students' research, clinical, and leadership skills. The aim is to prepare students for a rewarding career in the rapidly growing field of Applied Behavior Analysis. Doctoral graduates are lead practitioners and researchers in educational, clinical, and business settings who can successfully respond to the diverse needs of consumers of behavioral interventions and therapies, and who can teach and mentor students of behavior analysis in university settings.

In addition, students may specialize in the expanding field of Organizational Behavior Management and qualify for a credential in Culturo-Behavior Science.

Program Philosophy

The PhD Behavior Analysis program is designed to prepare students in a wide variety of specialization areas within ABA. Although it is common for lay people to assume that ABA is relevant only to people with autism or other developmental disabilities, behavior analysis is applied to numerous populations and problems. Thus, in the program, students can focus not only on issues related to the assessment and treatment of Autism Spectrum Disorders, but also on the assessment and treatment of severe behavior problems, instructional design, organizational behavior management, and applications with non-traditional populations such as geriatrics, people with traumatic brain injury, and regular and special education. Thus, while ABA techniques apply to people with disabilities, they are just as useful to people in the general population.

The PhD Behavior Analysis program provides training to students related to all four domains of Behavior Analysis (i.e., Philosophy, Experimental Analysis of Behavior, Applied Behavior Analysis, and Service Delivery). Further, the programs and curricula are designed to infuse the scientist-practitioner model across these domains and teach students to be consumers of new research findings, evaluators of their own interventions and programs using empirical methods, and researchers, producing new data from their own settings and reporting these data to the applied and scientific community.

In summary, the PhD Behavior Analysis program's mission is to provide students with the scientific, analytical, and conceptual tools they need to provide effective, ethical, and practical behavior-analytic interventions and to contribute to the research agenda as applied to the diverse populations that they serve. The vision of the program is to provide the most comprehensive and effective graduate training in behavior analysis, and to that end, the faculty provide the students with the most up-to-date information and research, and encourage critical analysis of the research with an emphasis on using it to drive practice. The behavior analysis doctoral program emphasizes the investment in contributing to research and/or to become clinical leaders in our field. Because behavior analysis is based on a rapidly developing and evolving behavioral technology grounded in research, the knowledge base is constantly changing. It is our Mission in the PhD Behavior Analysis program at The Chicago School to remain at the forefront of the development of this field.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Assess, design, and apply advanced behavior-analytic interventions.
- Train others to select, design, and conduct behavior-analytic assessments and interventions.

Diversity

Describe multicultural and diversity issues and the historical variables that contribute to them, and apply the
analysis to solving individual and social problems.

Professional Behavior

- Evaluate behavior to arrange contingencies that establish and maintain ethical behavior.
- Communicate and collaborate effectively with clients, stakeholders, and other professionals; disseminate
 research and information to the professional community and the general public; and lead advocacy efforts for
 clients, agencies, and groups.

Scholarship

• Design, conduct, synthesize, and evaluate original behavior-analytic research.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's PhD Behavior Analysis program is open to any person who has earned a master's degree as specified below from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements.

The school admits applicants whom it judges to possess sufficient academic aptitude, as well as the emotional and social maturity to function effectively as a professional behavior analyst. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to engage in graduate work. Factors considered in admission are: undergraduate and any graduate coursework, GPA from undergraduate and graduate schools; successful work history; admission essay(s); and letters of recommendation from academic professors or professional or volunteer experience supervisors. An undergraduate or graduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission to the school's Behavior Analysis doctoral program. Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications.

Applicants for admission to the PhD Behavior Analysis program must have a master's degree and hold a current Board Certified Behavior Analyst (BCBA®) certification in good standing, or be eligible to sit for the BCBA® credentialing examination.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of required coursework
- Successful completion of residency (Online Only)
- Successful completion of Comprehensive Examination
- Successful completion of Dissertation

Policies

The following policies are located underAcademic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Ethical Guidelines

Students are expected to learn and to follow the ethical guidelines of the American Psychological Association, the Association for Behavior Analysis International, and the Behavior Analyst Certification Board® during and after their work at The Chicago School. A class in ethics is required at the Masters level, and student adherence to ethical codes is evaluated both formally and informally.

Professional Development Group

All PhD Behavior Analysis students are required to enroll in an Advanced Professional Development Group during their first semester or term in the program. Their instructor serves as their academic advisor until they select a dissertation chair. The Advanced Professional Development Group class is graded on a pass/fail basis.

Comprehensive Examination

Students are required to take and pass a written comprehensive examination and an oral defense before they are allowed to propose their dissertation research to the Institutional Review Board (IRB). Students have two chances to pass the comprehensive examination (a third attempt may be allowed under extenuating circumstances). When the written and oral components of the comprehensive exam are passed, the student becomes a Doctoral Candidate and can proceed to their dissertation research.

Dissertation

Students are also required to complete a dissertation. The dissertation must be a data-based empirical evaluation that marks an original contribution to the published literature. The PhD Behavior Analysis course sequence facilitates student completion of the dissertation with a carefully designed course sequence that has the necessary steps toward dissertation completion embedded into the required coursework. Students receive detailed information about the dissertation process and related requirements during their first year in the program.

Students may not begin work on their dissertation unless they have completed a thesis either as part of a master's degree program or in Research Experience I-III (PA 660 PA 661 PA 662).

More specific information is located in the Program Guidebook.

The Curriculum

Required Core: 37 credit hours

Concentrations (choose one):

Generalist: 9 credit hours

• Organizational Behavior Management: 18 credit hours

Electives: Total number is dependent on concentration choice.

• Generalist: 15 credit hours

• Organizational Behavior Managment: 6 credit hours

Program Total: 61 credit hours

Required Core (37 credit hours)

- PA 602 Advanced Professional Development (1 credit hour)
- PA 603 History and Philosophy of Behaviorism (3 credit hours)
- PA 604 Essentials of Instructional Design (3 credit hours)
- PA 606 Ethics, Diversity, and Multiculturalism in Behavior Analysis (3 credit hours)
- PA 607 Comprehensive Exam (0 credit hours) (auto full time)
- PA 620 Advanced Applied Behavior Analysis (3 credit hours)
- PA 621 Foundations of Behavioral Acquisition (3 credit hours)
- PA 649 Translational Research (3 credit hours)
- PA 651 Advanced Behavioral Research (3 credits)
- PA 652 Statistical Analysis (3 credit hours)
- PA 686 Critical Analysis of Research in Verbal Behavior (3 credit hours)
- PA 714 Experimental Analysis of Behavior (3 credits)
- PA 756 Dissertation Development I (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- PA 757 Dissertation Development II (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- PA 758 Dissertation Development III (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- PA 759 Dissertation Development IV (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- PA 760 Dissertation Development V (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- PA 761 Dissertation Development VI (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
 Residency courses are required for students in the Online program only.
- PA 800 Residency I (auto half time) (0 credit hours)
- PA 801 Residency II (auto half time) (0 credit hours)
- PA 802 Residency III (auto half time) (0 credits)

Concentration Options

Generalist (9 credit hours)

- PA 608 Clinical Supervision (3 credit hours)
- PA 609 College Teaching (3 credit hours)
- PA 650 Research Methods in Psychology and Education (3 credit hours)

Organizational Behavior Management (18 credit hours)

- PA 610 Organizational Behavior Management (3 credit hours)
- PA 611 Behavioral Economics (3 credit hours)
- PA 612 Behavioral Systems Analysis (3 credit hours)
- PA 613 Research Methods in Organizational Behavior Management (3 credit hours)
- PA 614 Performance Management (3 credit hours)
- PA 615 Consultation (3 credit hours)

Electives

- PA 616 Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (3 credit hours)
- PA 617 Behavioral Interventions (3 credit hours)
- PA 625 Verbal Behavior (3 credit hours)
- PA 637 Introduction to Experimental Analysis of Behavior (3 credit hours)
- PA 639 Science and Human Behavior (3 credit hours)
- PA 642 Seminal Writings in Behavior Analysis (3 credit hours)
- PA 643 Canonical Writings of B.F. Skinner (3 credit hours)
- PA 644 Analysis and Treatment of Developmental Disabilities (3 credit hours)
- PA 645 Experimental Behavioral Pharmacology (3 credit hours)
- PA 646 Traumatic Brain Injury (3 credit hours)
- PA 647 Advanced Precision Teaching (3 credit hours)
- PA 640 Internship I (3 credit hours)
- PA 641 Internship II (3 credit hours)
- PA 660 Research Experience I (1 credit hour) (auto half time)
- PA 661 Research Experience II (1 credit hour) (auto half time)
- PA 662 Research Experience III (1 credit hour) (auto half time)
- PA 687 Special Topics I (1 credit)
- PA 688 Special Topics II (2 credits)
- PA 689 Special Topics III (3 credits)
- PA 810 Independent Study I (1 Credit Hour)
- PA 811 Independent Study II (2 credit hours)
- PA 812 Independent Study III (3 credit hours)

Extension Courses

On-Ground

- PA 950A-F Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) auto half-time
- PA 951A-F Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) auto full-time
- PA 953 Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- PA 954 Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto half-time
- PA 957 Dissertation Extension (.5 credit hours) Not F.A. eligible.
- PA 958 Dissertation Extension (.5 credit hours) Not F.A. eligible.
- PA 959A Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto half-time
- PA 959B Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto half-time
- PA 960A Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- PA 960B Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time On-Ground
- PA 961A Research Experience Extension (1 credit hour) auto full-time
- PA 961B Research Experience Extension (1 credit hour) auto half-time Online
- PA 962A Research Experience Extension (.5 credit hours) auto full-time
- PA 962B Research Experience Extension (.5 credit hours) auto half-time

PhD Business Psychology: Consulting Track

Chicago - Dallas - Los Angeles - Online - Washington D.C.

Program Overview

The PhD Business Psychology (Consulting Track) is a post-master's doctoral program that trains doctoral-level professionals for careers in academic research as well as corporate, consulting, and other work settings. The curriculum is a unique blend of business and organizational psychology that prepares students to conduct empirical research with a multi-disciplinary approach that contributes to new knowledge to the scholarly literature while addressing real-world individual, group and organizational problems. The program combines research skills with psychological theory to help graduates succeed in their roles as academicians, organizational leaders, or consultants.

Program Philosophy

The PhD Business Psychology program has adopted a distinctive blend of general psychology and business competencies, aimed at supporting the professional in a competitive market that demands both relational and performance success. It provides students with a broad knowledge of individual and organizational psychology together with a foundation in business principles to allow students to address the wide variety of work settings which leaders and consultants encounter.

The consulting track requires a master's degree in psychology or a related area. This track prepares students to apply the principles of business psychology in consulting environments, helping to improve individual, group, and organizational functioning in both for-profit and nonprofit settings.

The PhD Business Psychology program prepares students to build their careers and assume professional responsibilities as professional psychologists in the executive ranks, management consulting, strategic HR, and organizational effectiveness positions.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Produce written documents that are well researched, cited, and organized for easy reading and understanding.
 Students will be able to deliver presentations targeted to business and academic audiences.
- Describe and apply effective practices within the field of Business Psychology or Organizational Leadership.

Diversity

• Explain and build upon the role that individual and group differences play in the workplace (e.g., race, gender, age, national culture, cognitive style, socio-economic status, job title/power and etc.). Students will be able to demonstrate cross-cultural competence and operate within a framework of global diversity.

Professional Behavior

• Demonstrate personal integrity and ethical behavior in professional practice.

Form effective professional relationships based on attitudes and communication skills that foster trust, open
dialogue, and collaboration, regardless of differences in background, education, position in the organization,
points of view or other personal characteristics.

Scholarship

- Cite the theoretical knowledge and research integral to their fields of study. Students will be able to describe
 the philosophies of science underpinning their field's theoretical knowledge and research. Students will be
 able to apply published research to the development of new areas for scholarly study. Students will be able to
 design and conduct research studies. Students will be able to analyze and interpret the data produced by
 research.
- Analyze and evaluate the work of others, including probing for more information, searching for logic flaws, and creating alternative solutions to problems.

Admissions Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's Business Psychology doctoral program is open to any person who has earned a master's degree from a regionally accredited institution with 36 hours in psychology, behavioral science or management, and whom it judges to possess sufficient academic aptitude, as well as the emotional and social maturity to function effectively as a professional. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors considered in admission are: GPA from undergraduate and graduate schools; successful work history; admission essay(s); and letters of recommendation from academic professors or professional or volunteer experience supervisors. An undergraduate GPA of 3.0 or higher and a graduate GPA of 3.2 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission to the school's Business Psychology doctoral program. Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications. Based on the evaluation of these materials, selected candidates may be invited to interview for further consideration of their application. Applications must be submitted with the \$50.00 (USD) application fee in order to be evaluated.

If an applicant's qualifying master's degree is less than 36 credit hours, they may fulfill the missing hour requirements at the Chicago School through completing the Industrial and Organizational Generalist Certificate. Missing hour requirements can also be completed at the Chicago School by enrolling in comparable coursework following the policies outlined in the Student at Large section of this catalog.

This track also requires applicants to have successfully completed at least two (2) undergraduate courses, including a statistics course and an upper level undergraduate or master's level organizational behavior or psychology course with a grade earned of 'C' or better in the courses. These courses must be completed in accordance with the policies outlined in the Consulting Track Progression Requirements section below.

For Distance Learning Students: In additional to the admission criteria, it is recommended that students have access to a computer that is less than three years old, a broadband or Internet connection, and the Microsoft Office Suite including Word, Excel, and Outlook and, at minimum, the following computing skills:

- A basic level of comfort with Internet technology
- The ability to open and attach files from and to email
- The ability to send and receive email
- The ability to save documents

PhD Business Psychology: Consulting Track Progression Requirements

This program requires applicants to have successfully completed (with a grade earned of 'C' or better) two (2) undergraduate courses by the end of their first semester (second online term) of study. One (1) course must be in

statistics, and at least one (1) course must be an upper level undergraduate or master's level organizational behavior or psychology course. Students must successfully meet this progression requirement through the following options:

- A grade of "C" or higher in TCS 380 Introduction to Psychology and TCS 390 Introduction to Statistics;
- A grade of "C" or higher in a comparable course(s) at The Chicago School; or
- A grade of "C" or higher in a comparable course(s) at another regionally accredited institution

Applicants accepted who are missing either one or both of the two (2) courses will be required to register for the applicable TCS course(s) in their first ground semester or online term. All students must meet this progression requirement by the end of their first semester (second online term) of study. Students who do not successfully fulfill this requirement will not be allowed to register in any future coursework in the program of study until this requirement is met. Extensions can be granted by the Program Chair or designee when extenuating circumstances prevent completion of the requirement in the specified timeframe. Requests for an extension must be submitted in writing to the Program Chair for consideration.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of 61 credit hours of coursework
- Successful completion of Comprehensive Comptenecy Examination
- Successful completion of dissertation

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Residency Requirements

Online students are engaged in two brief residencies (roughly three and a half days each) at one of our campuses-providing an opportunity for face-to-face interaction and networking with fellow students from around the globe who bring a wealth of diverse business experiences and perspectives. At the first residency, students meet with their cohorts and faculty members and engage in focused seminars. At the second residency, students participate in their competency exam.

Ethical Guidelines

PhD Business Psychology program students are expected to develop a working knowledge of the ethical and legal issues pertaining to work in the domain of organizational psychology, including, but not limited to, the current APA

Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct for Psychologists; relevant federal, state, and local laws, statutes, regulations, and legal precedents (e.g., the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission's *Uniform Guidelines on Employee Selection Procedures*, 1978); as well as the professional norms, standards, and guidelines relevant to the profession (e.g., Specialty Guidelines for the Delivery of Services by Industrial-Organizational Psychologists, 1981; Principles for the Validation and Use of Personnel Selection Procedures, 1987; and Standards for Educational and Psychological Tests, 1985).

Comprehensive Examination (CE)

Every student is required to pass a comprehensive competency examination. The aim of this assessment exercise is to evaluate the student's knowledge of theory, research, and practice. This is also an opportunity to assess the student's ability to demonstrate this knowledge and skill in simulations of work scenarios in order to judge his or her abilities as a future business psychologist. The Comprehensive Examination is taken upon completion of the second year of doctoral courses.

Dissertation

Completion of the dissertation is an essential aspect of Business Psychology students' academic experience and professional education. It provides the school the opportunity to evaluate the student's ability to think critically and creatively about an applied issue in business psychology and to produce new research in the field. The dissertation should clearly and concisely demonstrate the student's command of the research in a specific area of business psychology. In the dissertation, will conduct empirical research using quantitative, qualitative, or mixed methods to produce new knowledge within the theoretical framework that comprises the PhD Business Psychology curriculum.

The Curriculum

Require Core: 58 credit hours

Electives: 3 credit hours

Program Total

Ph.D. Business Psychology: Consulting Track: 61 credit hours

Required Core

- IO 519 Statistics and Lab (4 credit hours)
- PB 400 Professional Development Seminar (3 credit hours)
- PB 451 Social Psychology/Behavioral Economics (3 credit hours)
- PB 455 Research Methods (3 credit hours)
- PB 530 Individual Interviewing and Assessment (3 credit hours)(course fee \$122.50)
- PB 534 Business Development for Consulting Psychologists (3 credit hours)
- PB 535 Business and Financial Literacy (3 credit hours)
- PB 536 Strategic and Organizational Planning (3 credit hours)
- PB 537 Change Management (3 credit hours)
- PB 538 Advanced Consulting Skills (3 credit hours)
- PB 552 Professional Coaching (3 credit hours)
- PB 565 Group Facilitation (3 credit hours)

- PB 566 Intergroup Conflict Resolution (3 credit hours)
- OL 621 Qualitative Research Methods (3 credit hours)
- PB 580 Residency I (auto half time) (0 credit hours)
- PB 620 Competency Examination (3 credit hours)(course fee \$12)
- PB 610 Dissertation Development I (3 credit hours)(auto full time)
- PB 611 Dissertation Development II (3 credit hours)(auto full time)
- PB 612 Dissertation Development III (3 credit hours)(auto full time)
 Student choose between one of the following two classes.
- PB 528 Advanced Statistics (3 credit hours)
- OL 623 Advanced Qualitative Research Methods (3 credit hours)

Electives

- PB 568 Large Group Methods (3 credit hours)
- PB 571 Inventories (3 credit hours)
- PB 572 Simulations (3 credit hours)
- PB 573 Advanced Interviewing and Assessment (3 credit hours)
- PB 574 Talent Management and Succession Planning (3 credit hours)
- PB 575 Psychometrics for I/O Psychologists (3 credit hours)
- PB 622 Special Topics I (1 credit hour)
- PB 623 Special Topics II (2 credit hours)
- PB 624 Special Topics III (3 credit hours)(course fee)
- OL 623 Advanced Qualitative Research Methods (3 credit hours)
- OL 634 Virtual and Global Leadership (3 credit hours)
- OL 637 Team Interventions (3 credit hours)
- OL 640 Governance in Non-profit (3 credit hours)
- OL 641 Supervising and Coaching Employees (3 credit hours)
- OL 642 Strategic Human Resources Effectiveness (3 credit hours)
- OL 643 Social Entrepreneurship (3 credit hours)
- OL 644 Leadership Ethics (3 credit hours)
- OL 645 Diversity (3 credit hours)
- OL 646 The Role of Technology in Organizations (3 credit hours)
- OL 647 Public Policy Leadership (3 credit hours)

Extension Courses

On-Ground

- PB 950A-F Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) auto half-time
- PB 951A-F Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) auto full-time
- PB 952 Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) Not F.A. eligible
- PB 953 Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- PB 954 Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto half-time Online
- PB 955A-L Dissertation Extension (.5 credit hours) auto half-time
- PB 956A-L Dissertation Extension (.5 credit hours) auto full-time
- PB 957A Dissertation Extension (.5 credit hours) Not F.A. eligible.
- PB 957B Dissertation Extension (.5 credit hours) Not F.A. eligible.

- PB 958A Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto half-time
- PB 958B Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto half-time
- PB 959A Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- PB 959B Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time

PhD Business Psychology: I/O Track

Los Angeles - Chicago - Washington D.C. - Online

Program Overview

The PhD Business Psychology (I/O Track) is a post-bachelors or post-master's doctoral program that trains doctoral-level professionals for a career in academic research as well as for corporate, consulting, and other work settings. The curriculum is a unique blend of business, industrial and organizational psychology that prepares students to conduct empirical research with a multi-disciplinary approach that contributes to new knowledge to the scholarly literature while addressing real-world individual, group and organizational problems. The program combines research skills with psychological theory to help graduates succeed in their roles as academicians, organizational leaders, or consultants.

Applicants can enter the program with either post-bachelors or post-masters. When entering with only a Bachelor's degree, the first two years of the program will work towards an I/O Master's degree. If the applicant has an I/O or equivalent Masters, then the applicant can enter the program for a three year post-masters doctoral program.

Program Philosophy

The PhD Business Psychology program has adopted a distinctive blend of general psychology and business competencies, aimed at supporting the professional in a competitive market that demands both relational and performance success. It provides students with a broad knowledge of individual and organizational psychology together with a foundation in business principles to allow students to address the wide variety of work settings which leaders and consultants encounter.

The PhD Business Psychology program prepares students to build their careers and assume professional responsibilities as professional psychologists in the executive ranks, management consulting, strategic HR, and organizational effectiveness positions.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Produce written documents that are well researched, cited, and organized for easy reading and understanding.
 Students will be able to deliver presentations targeted to business and academic audiences.
- Describe and apply effective practices within the field of Business Psychology or Organizational Leadership.

Diversity

• Explain and build upon the role that individual and group differences play in the workplace (e.g., race, gender, age, national culture, cognitive style, socio-economic status, job title/power and etc.). Students will be able to demonstrate cross-cultural competence and operate within a framework of global diversity.

Professional Behavior

- Demonstrate personal integrity and ethical behavior in professional practice.
- Form effective professional relationships based on attitudes and communication skills that foster trust, open
 dialogue, and collaboration, regardless of differences in background, education, position in the organization,
 points of view or other personal characteristics.

Scholarship

- Cite the theoretical knowledge and research integral to their fields of study. Students will be able to describe
 the philosophies of science underpinning their field's theoretical knowledge and research. Students will be
 able to apply published research to the development of new areas for scholarly study. Students will be able to
 design and conduct research studies. Students will be able to analyze and interpret the data produced by
 research.
- Analyze and evaluate the work of others, including probing for more information, searching for logic flaws, and creating alternative solutions to problems.

Admissions Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's PhD Business Psychology (I/O Track) program is open to applicants who have earned a bachelor or master's degree from a regionally accredited institution in Psychology, the Behavioral Sciences, or Management, and who meets other entrance requirements. For all applicants entering the I/O Track Post-Master's degree, the master's degree must be equivalent to 36 semester hours. Additionally, the Chicago School requires 21 hours of the following foundational IO Psychology graduate courses: principles of industrial psychology, selection, two internship courses or an Applied Project/Thesis equivalent, performance appraisal, training, and surveys.

Depending on the number of hours an applicant is missing, these prerequisite requirements can be fulfilled at the Chicago School prior to admission to the PhD Business Psychology (I/O Track) program by enrolling in the Industrial and Organizational Psychology Generalist Certificate. Prerequisites for admission may also be fulfilled at the Chicago School by successfully completing comparable coursework following the policies outlined in the Student at Large section of this catalog.

The school admits applicants whom it judges to possess sufficient academic aptitude, as well as the emotional and social maturity to function effectively as a professional. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors considered in admission are:

- GPA from undergraduate and graduate schools;
- successful work history;
- admission essay(s);
- 3 letters of recommendation from academic professors or professional or volunteer experience supervisors.
- Official GRE Score (Post-Bachelor's Only)
- An undergraduate or graduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission to the school's Business Psychology doctoral program.

Based on the evaluation of these materials, selected candidates may be invited to interview for further consideration of their application. Applications must be submitted with the \$50.00 (USD) application fee in order to be evaluated.

Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications.

For students completing online coursework: In additional to the admission criteria, it is recommended that students have access to a computer that is less than three years old. It is required that students have access to, a broadband or Internet connection, and the Microsoft Office Suite including Word, Excel, and Outlook and, at minimum, the following computing skills:

- A basic level of comfort with Internet technology
- The ability to open and attach files from and to email
- The ability to send and receive email
- The ability to save documents

This track also requires applicants to have successfully completed at least two (2) undergraduate courses, including a statistics course and an upper level undergraduate or master's level organizational behavior or psychology course with a grade earned of 'C' or better in the courses. These courses must be completed in accordance with the policies outlined in the I/O Track Progression Requirements section below.

PhD Business Psychology: I/O Track Progression Requirements

This program requires applicants to have successfully completed (with a grade earned of "C" or better) at least two (2) undergraduate courses by the end of their first semester (second online term) of study. One (1) course must be in statistics, and at least one (1) course must be an upper level undergraduate or master's level organizational behavior or psychology course. Students must successfully meet this progression requirement through the following options:

- A grade of "C" or higher in TCS 380 Introduction to Psychology and TCS 390 Introduction to Statistics;
- A grade of "C" or higher in a comparable course(s) at The Chicago School; or
- A grade of "C" or higher in a comparable course(s) at another regionally accredited institution

Applicants accepted who are missing one or both of the two (2) courses will be required to register for the applicable TCS course(s) in their first ground semester or online term. All students must meet this progression requirement by the end of their first semester (second online term) of study. Students who do not successfully fulfill this requirement will not be allowed to register in any future coursework in the program of study until this requirement is met. Extensions can be granted by the Program Chair or designee when extenuating circumstances prevent completion of the requirement in the specified timeframe. Requests for an extension must be submitted in writing to the Program Chair for consideration.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of 61 credit hours of coursework (post-master's entry) or 97 credit hours of coursework (post-baccalaureate)
- Successful completion of two 300 credit hour internships (post-baccalaureate only)
- Successful completion of the Applied Research Project course series (post-baccalaureate online only)
- Successful completion of comprehensive competency examination
- Successful completion of dissertation

Internship (On-Ground)

Students who enter the program post-baccalaureate will complete two 300 credit hour internships (for a total of 600 hours of internship experience). The internship should involve the student in learning specific, transferable, I/O-relevant or HR-relevant professional skills. All internship must be pre-approved by the faculty internship supervisor. Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

Applied Research Project (Online)

Students who enter the program post-baccalaureate will complete an Applied Research Project. Students with sufficient work experience in the field may qualify to enroll in the Applied Research Project (ARP) Track. Students in the ARP track complete classwork over the course of their studies that guide them through the process of writing the Applied Research Project. A faculty member will approve and supervise the project through these courses.

Comprehensive Examination (CE)

Every student is required to pass a comprehensive competency examination. The aim of this assessment exercise is to evaluate the student's knowledge of theory, research, and practice. This is also an opportunity to assess the student's ability to demonstrate this knowledge and skill in simulations of work scenarios in order to judge his or her abilities as a future business psychologist. The Comprehensive Examination is taken upon completion of the second year of doctoral courses.

Dissertation

Completion of the dissertation is an essential aspect of Business Psychology students' academic experience and professional education. It provides the school the opportunity to evaluate the student's ability to think critically and creatively about an applied issue in business psychology and to produce new research in the field. The dissertation should clearly and concisely demonstrate the student's command of the research in a specific area of business psychology. In the dissertation, will conduct empirical research using quantitative, qualitative, or mixed methods to produce new knowledge within the theoretical framework that comprises the PhD Business Psychology curriculum.

The Curriculum

I/O Track: 52 credit hours

Electives: 9 credit hours

Foundational Master's Level (I/O & ARP Tracks): 36 credit hours

Program Total

Ph.D. Business Psychology: I/O Track (post-baccalaureate entry): 97 credit hours

I/O Track - Required Core

- IO 519 Statistics and Lab (4 credit hours)
- PB 400 Professional Development Seminar* (3 credit hours)
- PB 439 Adult Development and Work (3 credit hours)
- PB 447 Cognitive Psychology (3 credit hours)
- PB 451 Social Psychology/Behavioral Economics (3 credit hours)
- PB 455 Research Methods (3 credit hours)
- PB 468 Systems Theory (3 credit hours)(course fee \$30)
- PB 535 Business and Financial Literacy (3 credit hours)
- PB 536 Strategic and Organizational Planning (3 credit hours)
- PB 537 Change Management (3 credit hours)
- PB 610 Dissertation Development I (3 credit hours)(auto full time)
- PB 611 Dissertation Development II (3 credit hours)(auto full time)
- PB 612 Dissertation Development III (3 credit hours)(auto full time)
- PB 530 Individual Interviewing and Assessment (3 credit hours)(course fee \$122.50)
- PB 580 Residency I (auto half time) (0 credit hours)
- PB 620 Competency Examination (3 credit hours)(course fee \$12)
 Students choose between one of the following two courses.
- PB 528 Advanced Statistics (3 credit hours)
- OL 621 Qualitative Research Methods (3 credit hours)

Electives

- PB 571 Inventories (3 credit hours)
- PB 572 Simulations (3 credit hours)
- PB 573 Advanced Interviewing and Assessment (3 credit hours)
- PB 574 Talent Management and Succession Planning (3 credit hours)
- PB 622 Special Topics I (1 credit hour)
- PB 623 Special Topics II (2 credit hours)
- PB 624 Special Topics III (3 credit hours)(course fee)
- OL 623 Advanced Qualitative Research Methods (3 credit hours)
- OL 634 Virtual and Global Leadership (3 credit hours)
- OL 637 Team Interventions (3 credit hours)
- OL 640 Governance in Non-profit (3 credit hours)
- OL 641 Supervising and Coaching Employees (3 credit hours)
- OL 642 Strategic Human Resources Effectiveness (3 credit hours)
- OL 643 Social Entrepreneurship (3 credit hours)
- OL 644 Leadership Ethics (3 credit hours)
- OL 645 Diversity (3 credit hours)
- OL 646 The Role of Technology in Organizations (3 credit hours)
- OL 647 Public Policy Leadership (3 credit hours)
- OL 675 Independent Study I (1 credit hour)

OL 676 - Independent Study II (2 credit hours)

Foundational Master's Level Courses (I/O Track)

- IO 400 Professional Development Seminar (3 credit hours)
- IO 510 Organizational Behavior (3 credit hours)(course fee \$92)
- IO 511 Organizational Culture and Design (3 credit hours)
- IO 512 Organizational Consulting Skills (3 credit hours) (course fee \$50)
- IO 520 Personnel Psychology (3 credit hours)
- IO 591 Ethics (1 credit hour)
- IO 593 Internship I (1 credit hour)(auto full time)
- IO 599 Internship II (1 credit hour)(auto full time) Choose four of the following five courses (12 credits)
- IO 522 Performance Appraisal (3 credit hours)
- IO 523 Job Analysis and Employee Selection (3 credit hours)
- IO 524 Training: Theory, Design, and Evaluation (3 credit hours)
- IO 525 Organizational Leadership (3 credit hours) (course fee \$45)
- IO 531 Organizational Attitudes and Survey Development (3 credit hours)
 Diversity Elective (3 credits) See M.A. I/O Catalog page for a complete list of offerings
 General Elective (3 credits) See M.A. I/O Catalog page for a complete list of offerings

Foundational Master's Level Courses (ARP Track)

- IO 510 Organizational Behavior (3 credit hours)(course fee \$92)
- IO 511 Organizational Culture and Design (3 credit hours)
- IO 512 Organizational Consulting Skills (3 credit hours) (course fee \$50)
- IO 522 Performance Appraisal (3 credit hours)
- IO 523 Job Analysis and Employee Selection (3 credit hours)
- IO 524 Training: Theory, Design, and Evaluation (3 credit hours)
- IO 525 Organizational Leadership (3 credit hours) (course fee \$45)
 Diversity Elective (3 credits) See MA Industrial and Organizational Psychology page for a complete list of offerings
 - General Elective (3 credits) See MA Industrial and Organizational Psychology page for a complete list of offerings
- IO 611 The Applied Research Project: Intro to ARP and ARP Needs Assessment (1 credit hour)(auto full time)
- IO 612 The Applied Research Project: Literature Review (1 credit hour)(auto full time)
- IO 613 The Applied Research Project: Intervention and Program Evaluation (1 credit hour)(auto full time)
- IO 614 The Applied Research Project: Professional Ethics (1 credit hour)(auto full time)
- IO 615 The Applied Research Project: Final Deliverable and Showcase Preparation (1 credit hour)(auto full time)
- IO 616 The Applied Research Project: ARP Showcase Defense (1 credit hour) (auto full time)

Extension Courses

IO 767 - Internship Extension (0 credit hours)(auto full time)
 On-Ground

- PB 950A-F Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) auto half-time
- PB 951A-F Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) auto full-time
- PB 952 Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) Not F.A. eligible
- PB 953 Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- PB 954 Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto half-time Online
- PB 955A-L Dissertation Extension (.5 credit hours) auto half-time
- PB 956A-L Dissertation Extension (.5 credit hours) auto full-time
- PB 957A Dissertation Extension (.5 credit hours) Not F.A. eligible.
- PB 957B Dissertation Extension (.5 credit hours) Not F.A. eligible.
- PB 958A Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto half-time
- PB 958B Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto half-time
- PB 959A Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- PB 959B Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time

Earning a Master of Arts in Industrial and Organizational Psychology

A student in the post-bachelor PhD Business Psychology (I/O Track) program may earn an MA in Industrial and Organizational Psychology following the successful completion of required coursework and specific program requirements. At the beginning of the semester in which a student expects to be eligible for the master's degree, they are required to submit a Petition for Degree Conferral to the Office of the Registrar. The petition is a request to conduct an audit to determine eligibility for the degree. A student who meets the requirements is eligible to participate in the next scheduled commencement. A student who files a Petition for Degree Conferral is charged a fee.

The specific requirements are as follows:

- Academic and Financial Aid Good Standing
- Successful completion of foundational required coursework.

The Curriculum: Internship/Thesis Track

Required Core: 13 credit hours

Track: 7 credit hours

Seminar: 12 credit hours

Internship Option: 2 credit hours

Thesis Option (replaces Internship I and II and one elective (3 credit hours) when approved by Chair): 5 credit hours

Electives: 6 credit hours (3 credit hours must be Diversity Elective)

Program Total

M.A. Industrial and Organizational Psychology (Internship and Thesis Tracks): 40 credit hours

Required Core

- IO 510 Organizational Behavior (3 credit hours)(course fee \$92)
- IO 511 Organizational Culture and Design (3 credit hours)
- IO 512 Organizational Consulting Skills (3 credit hours) (course fee \$50)
- IO 519 Statistics and Lab (4 credit hours)

Seminars

(Choose Four Courses)

- IO 522 Performance Appraisal (3 credit hours)
- IO 523 Job Analysis and Employee Selection (3 credit hours)
- IO 524 Training: Theory, Design, and Evaluation (3 credit hours)
- IO 525 Organizational Leadership (3 credit hours) (course fee \$45)
- IO 531 Organizational Attitudes and Survey Development (3 credit hours)

Track Courses

- IO 400 Professional Development Seminar (3 credit hours)
- IO 520 Personnel Psychology (3 credit hours)
- IO 591 Ethics (1 credit hour)

Internship Option Courses

Internship Option Courses

- IO 593 Internship I (1 credit hour)(auto full time)
- IO 599 Internship II (1 credit hour)(auto full time)

Thesis Option Courses

- IO 584 Thesis I (2 credit hours)(auto full time)
- IO 594 Thesis II (3 credit hours)(auto full time)

Electives*

Students in the Internship Option choose one.

- IO 552 Professional Coaching (3 credit hours)
- IO 554 Data Management (3 credit hours)
- IO 555 Work Team Dynamics (3 credit hours)
- IO 556 Strategic Human Resource Management (3 credit hours)
- IO 558 Negotiation and Conflict Resolution (3 credit hours)
- IO 540 Special Topics in I/O Psychology (2 credit hours)
- IO 550 Compensation and Benefits Administration (3 credit hours)
- IO 551 Legal Issues (3 credit hours)
- IO 559 Talent Management and Succession Planning (3 credit hours)
- IO 560 Training Facilitation and Instructional Design (3 credit hours)

- IO 561 Consumer Motivation (3 credit hours)
- IO 562 Critical Thinking and Business Writing (3 credit hours)
- IO 563 Project Management (3 credit hours)
- IO 571 Development and Deployment of Employee Surveys (3 credit hours)
- IO 572 Productive Labor Relations (3 credit hours)
- IO 573 Reaching the Target Market: Qualitative Research Methods (3 credit hours)
- IO 574 Understanding Consumer Perceptions: Quantitative Research Methods (3 credit hours)
- IO 575 Legal Issues in Healthcare Leadership (3 credit hours)
- IO 576 Strategic Planning in Healthcare Diversity (3 credit hours)
- IO 581 Independent Study I (1 credit hour)
- IO 582 Independent Study II (2 credit hours)
- IO 583 Independent Study III (3 credit hours)
- IO 588 Strategic and Organizational Planning (3 credit hours)
- IO 589 Survey of Quality Management and Process Control (3 credit hours)
- IO 696 Special Topics I (1 credit hour)
- IO 697 Special Topics II (2 credit hours)
- IO 698 Special Topics III (3 credit hours)

Diversity Electives

- * Not all Electives are offered every term or semester.
- IO 557 Managing Organizational Diversity (3 credit hours)
- IO 564 Managing Changes in Global HR Management (3 credit hours)
- IO 568 International Business Skills (3 credit hours)
- IO 578 Beyond Compliance: Building Ethical Organizations (3 credit hours)
- IO 579 Promoting Diversity (3 credit hours)

Concentration Option (Internship/Thesis Track Students Only) Human Resource Concentration

The Human Resource concentration incorporates the Diversity Course requirement by making the Managing Changes in Global HR Diversity course a required course. In addition, 3 other courses must be completed to receive the Human Resources Concentration: Business & Financial Literacy, SHRM-CP/SPC Certification Preparation Course, and Strategic Human Resource Management. Each of these four courses is 3 credit hours each.

- IO 534 Business and Financial Literacy for HR Professionals (3 credit hours)
- IO 535 SHRM-CP/SPC Certification Preparation Course (3 credit hours)(course fee \$522)
- IO 556 Strategic Human Resource Management (3 credit hours)
- IO 564 Managing Changes in Global HR Management (3 credit hours)

PhD Counselor Education and Supervision

Online

Program Overview

The purpose of the post master's PhD Counselor Education and Supervision program is to engage learners in the evaluation of the theoretical and practical aspects of counseling through both qualitative and quantitative research, and to prepare them to act as educators and leaders in the field of counseling. PhD Counselor Education and Supervision learners will be equipped with the knowledge and experiences necessary to assume leadership roles in both academic and professional settings, having been equipped with the highest degrees of professional and ethical standards.

While not accredited by The Council of Accreditation of Counseling and Related Educational Programs (CACREP), the program is aligned with the CACREP Standards as core learning outcomes. Ultimately, the objectives of the PhD Counselor Education and Supervision program are to ensure the development of professionals who apply knowledge about principles of counseling, education and supervision to work more effectively with specific populations. Graduates will be able to select, implement, and supervise educational methodologies to meet the individual, group and organizational needs of specific populations, including non-profit, for-profit and institutional and non-institutional settings.

Program Mission

The mission of the PhD Counselor Education and Supervision is to prepare mental health professionals as leaders who possess the skills to educate, motivate, advocate and innovate within the field of counseling, and foster the development of a robust professional identity for the counseling profession.

Program Philosophy

The purpose of the post master's PhD Counselor Education and Supervision program is to engage learners in the evaluation of the theoretical and practical aspects of counseling through both qualitative and quantitative research, and to prepare them to act as educators and leaders in the field of counseling. The program adopts a constructivist framework, promoting an academic environment that is sensitive to difference. Counselor Education and Supervision learners will be equipped with the knowledge and experiences necessary to assume leadership roles in both academic and professional settings, having been equipped with the highest degrees of professional and ethical standards.

The aims of the PhD Counselor Education and Supervision program are to ensure the development of professionals who apply knowledge about principles of counseling, education and supervision to work more effectively with specific populations. Graduates will be able to select, implement, and supervise educational methodologies to meet the individual, group and organizational needs of specific populations, including non-profit, for-profit and institutional and non-institutional settings.

Program Learning Outcomes

Professional Practice

- Apply the theories of leadership, teaching and supervision to counseling education; analyze learning
 outcomes assessed within the field of counselor education and supervision; design and implement
 instructional theory and teaching methods relevant to counselor education, and leadership theory, leadership
 roles and interprofessional collaboration, and advocacy; to design assessment of learning outcomes within the
 field of counselor education; evaluate assessment designs used in the examining learning outcomes within the
 field of counselor education.
- Utilize theoretical applications to the treatment of individuals and groups within the context of counselor
 education and supervision; analyze tools pertaining to the principles and practice of counseling, career
 development, group work, family systems, and consultation; design tools pertaining to the principles and
 practice of counseling, career development, group work, family systems, and consultation; evaluate tools

- pertaining to the principles and practice of counseling, career development, group work, family systems, and consultation.
- Demonstrate proficiency in the utilization of theoretical applications in the treatment of individuals and
 groups within the context of counselor education and supervision; the ability to analyze interviews, case
 histories, psychometric instruments, observations and related methods to generate best practices; generate
 reports through the interpretation of various data on individuals and groups in the context of counselor
 education and supervision; critique procedures used to select, administer, and interpret tests designed to
 assess individuals (i.e. intelligence, aptitudes, abilities, interests, etc.), and the ethical use and interpretation
 of data.

Diversity

Apply knowledge on identity related to race, ethnicity, gender, sexual orientation, socioeconomic status, age, religious belief, and ability, to issues in counselor education and supervision; the ability to select interventions that acknowledge, preserve and promote diversity of race, ethnicity, gender, sexual orientation, socio-economic status, age, religious belief and ability; the ability to revise existing interventions that are not inclusive and to compare and critique policies mindful of the impact of privilege, prejudice, oppression, culture and sociopolitical structures.

Professional Behavior

• Apply the ethical standards and guidelines of counseling, counselor education and counselor supervision to issues, cases and situations discussed in the classroom and at their practicum site; analyze professional ethical standards (e.g. ACA Code of Ethics, others relevant codes of ethics) and laws as they relate to the professional delivery of services in the field of counselor education and supervision; design activities, interventions, and research that take into consideration the demands imposed by professional ethics upon the field of counselor education and supervision; evaluate issues and research in the field of counselor education and supervision from the perspective of ethics.

Scholarship

Apply the principles of social science research to the field of counselor education and supervision; analyze
the strengths and limitations of using qualitative and quantitative research in the field of counselor education
and supervision; design research methodologies that may be used to further knowledge in the field of
counselor education and supervision; evaluate studies to identify gaps and opportunities to refine the existing
body of knowledge in the field of counselor education and supervision.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

The Chicago School's PhD Counselor Education and Supervision program will give primary consideration to applicants with a master's degree in counseling from a CACREP accredited institution who are licensed professional counselors (LCPC, LPC) or license-eligible), or other state equivalent license-eligible for professional licensure. Those not possessing a counseling degree from a CACREP accredited institution or not currently eligible for licensure will be evaluated on a case by case basis. It is preferred that applicants have one to two years of counseling experience prior to admission. Generally, a graduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work.

In order to be admitted into the PhD Counselor Education and Supervision program under these conditions, applicants must demonstrate successful completion of the following master's level core courses:

- Counseling Theory
- Human Growth and Development

- Counseling/Helping Skills
- Legal, Ethical and Professional Issues in Counseling
- Career Counseling
- Group Counseling, Group Work, Group Dynamics
- Multicultural Counseling
- Research and Evaluation
- Assessment, Appraisal, Diagnosis

Applicants requiring no more than two courses are eligible for admission and if admitted will be required to complete the missing coursework as a Progression Requirement.

- A grade of "B-" or higher in a comparable graduate course at The Chicago School.
- A grade of "B-" or higher in a comparable graduate course at another regionally accredited institution.

Progression Requirements must be completed by the end of the second semester in the program. Students who do not successfully fulfill their Progression Requirement will not be allowed to register in any further courses in the program until the requirement is met. Extensions may be requested from the Program Chair or designee, if extenuating circumstances prevent completion of the requirement in the specified timeframe. Requests for an extension must be submitted in writing to the Program Chair for consideration.

Applicants must submit the following as part of the application process:

- Resume or Curriculum Vitae
- Official transcripts from all regionally accredited graduate institutions where credit was earned
- Three Letters of Recommendation from current employer/supervisor or current/former faculty members
- Proctored Admission Essay
- Admission Interview

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of 60 credit hours of coursework
- Successful completion of 600 hour internship
- Successful completion of dissertation

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Dissertation

Doctoral students write a doctoral dissertation in the final year of their program of study, concurrent with their internship experiences. The dissertation utilizes measurement, data collection, and research design methods to address a problem of the student's choosing. The dissertation makes an original contribution to the field of counseling education or supervision, and is structured as a formal product using the American Psychological Association (APA) format. The literature review provides a complete statement of all issues relevant to the topic. Students may present dissertation data at conferences (e.g., the ABAI conference) and summarize dissertation data for publication in a scholarly journal.

Residency

Students in the online Ph.D. Counselor Education and Supervision Online program attend two, in-person, mandatory residencies. Each residency takes place during four and one-half days at The Chicago School university ground campus. Students must successfully complete in-person residencies as a requirement of their respective academic program. The first on ground residency occurs during the first year of the program. The second residency occurs during the second year of the program. Additionally, courses require mandatory weekly synchronous components and asynchronous modules, assignments, and assessments with instructors. The two residency courses prepare students for the programmatic fieldwork courses.

Internship

The PhD Counselor Education and Supervision program requires 100 hours of practicum. Students are responsible for finding their own practicum sites, which must be approved by the PhD Counselor Education and Supervision faculty and Department Chair. Students are allowed to earn income

during the practicum process The program entails 600 hours of Internship as outlined below:

- Mandatory 100 hours of teaching
- Mandatory 100 hours of supervision
- Additional internship hours will be developed in conjunction with program faculty, and may include:
 - Counseling
 - Consultation
 - o Research
 - Professional Leadership

Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

The Curriculum

Required Core: 54 credit hours

Electives: 6 credit hours

Program Total

Ph.D. Counselor Education and Supervision: 60 credit hours

- CE 549 Advanced Counseling Theories (3 credit hours)
- CE 550 Advanced Group Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CE 554 Telebehavioral Approaches in Counseling and Supervision (3 credit hours) (Course fee \$300)
- CE 555 Counseling Supervision (3 credit hours)
- CE 589 Teaching and Learning in Counselor Education (3 credit hours)

- CE 610 Professional Identity, Leadership, and Advocacy in Counselor Education and Supervision (3 credit hours)
- CE 618 Advanced Research Methods (3 credit hours)
- CE 619 Qualitative Research Methods (3 credit hours)
- CE 622 Quantitative Research and Statistics (3 credit hours)
 - Students either Advanced Quantitative or Advanced Qualitative Research:
- CE 625 Advanced Quantitative Research (3 credit hours)
- CE 626 Advanced Qualitative Research (3 credit hours)
- CE 630 Advanced Counseling Assessment and Program Evaluation (3 credit hours)
- CE 645 Advanced Multicultural/Diversity Issues in Counselor Education and Supervision (3 credit hours)
- CE 604 Practicum Readiness Assessment (0 credit hours)
- CE 646 Advanced Practicum I (1.5 credit hours)
- CE 647 Advanced Practicum II (1.5 credit hours)
- CE 770A Counselor Education and Supervision Internship I A (1.5 credit hours)
- CE 770B Counselor Education and Supervision Internship I B (1.5 credit hours)
- CE 771A Counselor Education and Supervision Internship II A (1.5 credit hours)
- CE 771B Counselor Education and Supervision Internship II B (1.5 credit hours)
- CE 772A Counselor Education and Supervision Internship III A (1.5 credit hours)
- CE 772B Counselor Education and Supervision Internship III B (1.5 credit hours)
- CE 700 Dissertation Proposal (3 credit hours)
- CE 704 Dissertation I (1 credit hour)
- CE 705 Dissertation II (1 credit hour)
- CE 706 Dissertation III (1 credit hour)
- CE 800 Capstone (auto half time) (0 credit hours)(course fee \$40)

Electives

- CE 551 Career Counseling (3 credit hours)
- CE 552 Advanced Teledelivery in Couselor Education and Supervision (3 credit hours)
- CE 553 Advanced Crisis and Trauma in Counseling and Supervision (3 credit hours)
- CE 760 Independent Study I (1 credit hour)
- CE 761 Independent Study II (2 credit hours)
- CE 765 Special Topics in Counselor Education and Supervision I (3 credit hours)
- CE 766 Special Topics in Counselor Education and Supervision II (3 credit hours)

Extension Courses

- CE 949A-F Fieldwork Extension (0 credit hours)
- CE 950A-F Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) auto half-time
- CE 951A-F Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) auto full-time
- CE 952 Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) Not F.A. eligible
- CE 953 Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- CE 954 Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto half

PhD International Psychology

Online and Washington D.C.

Program Overview

The Chicago School's PhD in International Psychology program attracts passionate and pragmatic learners who want to make a difference in an increasingly diverse and global world. It seeks to bring a rich variety of international perspectives into the field of psychology and to examine psychological phenomena from a global lens. The International Psychology program-the first of its kind in the nation-prepares graduates to assume leadership positions in multinational organizations or organizations with international missions. The program goal is to empower students and faculty to be advocates for international psychology initiatives.

Graduates are equipped with (a) advanced research and program evaluation skills; (b) a rich appreciation for the individual and group consequences of global events; (c) the ability to apply psychological principles in the development of policy; (d) the ability to assist individuals and organizations in understanding and collaborating with diverse cultural populations; (e) the ability to write grants, (f) the ability to design and evaluate the efficacy of international programs.

The curriculum offers excellent preparation to apply theories of international psychology to practice in the field. Students are required to choose a specialization to support their personal interests and career focus. The two concentrations available for specialization are: Organizations and Systems and Trauma Services.

The Ph.D. International Psychology program is taught in online and blended formats. This is a non-clinical, non-licensure, post-masters, 60 credit hour degree program, for individuals working in or desiring to work in the global arena. The program is designed for working professionals.

Program Philosophy

The program espouses the philosophy of psychology as a transformational discipline focusing on broad competencies rather than narrow skills or type of education. Graduates function as scholars, faculty, advocates and consultants in a wide variety of domestic/global settings and contexts. The program emphasizes theory, research, and scholarship from a global psychology perspective. The models of research and scholarship that are introduced and encouraged are culturally sensitive, multimodal and reflective of multiple ways of knowing. Graduates develop cultural competencies and are aware that behavior should always be considered within its specific context.

The program concentrations are predicated on the belief that a competent international psychologist must have both a broad knowledge of the scientific and theoretical principles of psychology from a global perspective and the ability to apply that knowledge in culturally sensitive ways and in diverse settings. The curriculum exposes students to a broad range of theoretical principles, international scientific research, and relevant practice skills in class assignments and in international settings. Finally, the program is structured to be flexible in order to adapt course content to reflect developments in the field and emphasizes critical thinking, social justice, willingness to comply with ethical principles, the role of personal values, and cultural diversity. As global transformational agents of change, students are expected to reflect critically on their identities as cultural beings, and to understand their impact on others. International psychology is a new field that facilitates the broadening of psychological theory, research, and practice to include global perspectives and cultural contexts.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

Demonstrate an understanding of the intellectual heritage of psychology and the historical and philosophical
underpinnings of the different traditions and concepts in psychology, including those with roots outside the
United States and Europe.

Diversity

 Demonstrate knowledge of individual differences and diversity (broadly defined to include culture, gender, sexual orientation, disability, etc.) and design and/or deliver competent psychological services to diverse populations across varied settings and engage in program management, program evaluation and scholarly work that is sensitive to issues of individual differences and diversity.

Professional Behavior

- Thoughtfully and skillfully engage in self-reflection and discover, recognize, describe, and manage the
 behaviors and perspectives that facilitate or impede effectiveness in communicating with individuals, groups
 or systems.
- Demonstrate an understanding of and a willingness to abide by the Universal Declaration of Ethical Principles for Psychologists and The American Psychological Association Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct in the areas of justice and respect for people's rights and dignity; and in their scholarly and professional activities, to demonstrate a deep understanding of social justice issues and a commitment to the development, empowerment, and well-being of all people.

Scholarship

Demonstrate competence in qualitative, quantitative, and mixed method research design, data analysis, and
data interpretation, as well as competence in the critical review and evaluation of the broad range
of research literature relevant to International Psychology. Graduates generate an original piece of research
and scholarship, and disseminate the results to the profession and broader community. They engage in
practice that reflects and is informed by the changing and expanding scientific knowledge base in the field.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's PhD International Psychology program is open to any person who has earned a master's degree from a regionally accredited institution in psychology, the behavioral sciences, or related field, and who meets additional entrance requirements. Students must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts be submitted from all schools where credit was earned to ensure a complete application.

Preferred candidates have three or more years of work experience prior to admission. The Graduate Record Examination is not required for admission. Letters of recommendation may be required on a case-by-case basis. Students will also be required to write a 500 word personal statement.

Ph.D. International Psychology, Trauma Services Concentration

An applicant to the Trauma Services concentration must enter with a master's degree in Psychology or a related field such as Counseling Psychology, Pastoral Counseling, Social Work, Psychiatric Nursing, and/or Marriage and Family Therapy, from a regionally accredited institution. Applicants with a master's degree in a field not listed may qualify if they demonstrate evidence of working in the field of trauma for at least 2 years (professional experience), and who

have successfully completed 10 credit hours of undergraduate psychology course work (beyond what is required below).

In addition, applicants must have completed an undergraduate or graduate course in Statistics, at least one course in graduate Abnormal Psychology/Psychopathology and one course in graduate Trauma or Trauma related content (with a grade of "C" or better), which may be met through progression requirements outlined below.

If a student only requires one course in Statistics, that may be completed at The Chicago School under the Progression Requirement policy described below, and must be completed by the end of the first semester (second term) of the program.

Progression Requirements for Trauma Services Concentration (1 course only):

Students requiring only one course in statistics may enroll in and must successfully complete TCS 390 - Statistics by the end of the first semester (second term) of the program.

Applicants with more than two or three courses to complete may fulfill the requirements at The Chicago School through the completion of Preparatory courses.

Progression Requirements must be completed by the end of the first semester (second term) in the program. Students who do not successfully fulfill their Progression Requirement will not be allowed to register in any further courses in the program until the requirement is met. If extenuating circumstances prevent completion of the requirement in the specified timeframe, one extension may be approved by the Program Chair or designee. Requests for an extension must be submitted in writing to the Program Chair for consideration. **Students must be concurrently enrolled in a required core course while completing progression requirements.**

Preparatory Coursework, Trauma Services Concentration (up to 3 Courses):

Students requiring two or three courses to qualify for enrollment in PhD International Psychology, Trauma Services Concentration may complete these requirements at The Chicago School prior to enrollment in the program. The requirements may be fulfilled through successful completion of two or three of the following The Chicago School courses:

- Statistics one of two courses
 - o IN 542 Statistics
 - O BA 380 Statistics
- IN 507 Global Perspectives of Psychopathology
- IN 551 Crisis Response Trauma and Crisis Intervention

Ph.D. International Psychology, Organizations and Systems Concentration

Students seeking admissions to the Organizations and Systems concentration must enter with a master's degree from a regionally accredited institution and show evidence of an undergraduate or graduate course in Statistics, and two (2) courses of undergraduate or graduate psychology coursework (with grade of "C" or better), which may be met through progression requirements outlined below.

If a student only requires one course in Statistics, that may be completed at The Chicago School under the Progression Requirement policy described below and must be completed by the end of the first semester (second term) of the program.

Progression Requirements (Organization and Systems Concentration):

Students requiring only one course in statistics may enroll in and must successfully complete TCS 390 - Statistics by the end of their first semester (second term) of the program.

Applicants with more than two or three to complete may fulfill the requirements at The Chicago School through the completion of Preparatory courses.

Progression Requirements must be completed by the end of the first semester (second term) in the program. Students who do not successfully fulfill their Progression Requirement will not be allowed to register in any further courses in the program until the requirement is met. If extenuating circumstances prevent completion of the requirement in the specified timeframe, one extension may be approved by the Program Chair or designee. Requests for an extension must be submitted in writing to the Program Chair for consideration. **Students must be concurrently enrolled in a required core course while completing progression requirements.**

Preparatory Coursework Organizations and Systems Concentration (up to 3 Courses):

Students requiring two or three courses to qualify for enrollment in PhD International Psychology, Organizations and Systems Concentration may complete these requirements at The Chicago School prior to enrollment in the program. The requirements may be fulfilled through successful completion of two or three the following The Chicago School courses:

- BA 300 Fundamentals of Psychology
- BA 320 Developmental Psychology
- BA 330 Behavioral Psychology
- BA 350 Abnormal Psychology
- BA 360 Neuropsychology
- BA 370 Educational Psychology
- BA 380 Statistics
- BA 406 The Psychology of Business Management
- BA 409 Psychology in an International Context
- BA 425 Theories of Personality
- BA 426 Abnormal Child and Adolescent Psychology
- BA 427 Learning and Cognition in Children and Adolescents
- BA 435 Organizational Development
- BA 446 Social Psychology and Culture

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of 60 credit hours of coursework
- Successful completion of dissertation to include completion of all manuscript preparation tasks
- Successful completion of Comprehensive Examinations
- Successful completion of two field experiences
- Attendance at two residences (Online Students only)

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Residency Requirements (Online Students Only)

Students enrolled in the Ph.D. International Psychology Online program must attend two Residency sessions at The Chicago School (campus locations may vary). The three-day residencies focus on special topics in international psychology and research methodology. Both residencies provide in-depth learning and opportunities for face-to-face mentoring for dissertation work and program learning. Residencies are also an opportunity for students to build relationships with their classmates/cohorts and program faculty. Students are required to attend two residencies. Failure to complete the residency requirements will result in failure in the program.

Ethical Guidelines

Students are expected to engage in all graduate work, including but not limited to course work, field experience trips, and scholarship, with a high degree of integrity and professionalism. It is essential that students approach professional working relationships, collegial relationships, and client/partner-contact with respect for individuals, groups, and cultures. Further, students are expected to adhere to the American Psychological Association's (APA) Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct and the "evolving universal code of ethics" (Gauthier, 2005). Students who choose to seek employment in the field of psychology shall not work beyond their level of competence and shall not use titles governed by credentialing statutes and/or regulations unless authorized by the relevant jurisdictional authority. Students who fail to comply with ethical and professional behavior guidelines are subject to department remediation and/or referral to the Student Affairs Committee for disciplinary action and possible dismissal.

Field Experience Requirements

All students participate in two required, minimum nine-day international Field Experiences at an international destination selected by the program (one in year two and the other in year three).

Field Experience I

All enrolled students will participate in a minimum nine-day field experience at an international destination selected by the program. Students should be aware of the following components of this experience

- Up to three of the nine days may be spent in travel.
- Students will be in the country for up to seven nights and will have five to six full days for the field/service
 learning experience. Coursework will be based on the number of students in the cohort, available
 opportunities level of international experience, and professional interests.
- The Chicago School creates professional agreements with one or more international organizations in the country in order to facilitate the course activities.
- A minimum of one full time The Chicago School faculty member will accompany students during this first international field experience.
- Students may not bring family or friends on Field Experience trips.

Field Experience II

Students are required to participate in a second field experience with their cohort, for a minimum of nine days. While most students will participate in the option developed by the program, some students may be approved to select another option.

All enrolled students will participate in a minimum nine-day field experience at an international destination selected by the program. Components of this experience include:

- Up to three of the nine days may be spent in travel to the destination country.
- Students will be in the assigned country for up to seven nights, with five to six full days of field/service-learning experience.
- The Chicago School will arrange an agreement with one or more international organizations in country in order to facilitate the course activities.
- A minimum of one full time The Chicago School faculty member will accompany students during this first international field experience.
- Students may not bring family or friends on the field experience trips.

Independent Field Experience

The second Field Experience requirement may include the option of an extended and independent opportunity for students who have obtained IRB approval and wish to collect dissertation data. This independent Field Experience 2 may only be conducted in countries where The Chicago School has an International Liaison Office (ILO), to ensure onground support and guidance. In order to apply for this option, students must complete the Independent Field

Experience Checklist and Application.

Prior to application, the student must obtain IRB approval for data collection.

The application includes:

Student development of a syllabus for the trip, consistent with typical Field Experience 2 requirements Approval from their Dissertation Chair Approval from the IP Department Chair Approval from International Liaison Office (see Resource Café for list)

If scheduled in advance, it may replace the cohort scheduled Field Experience 2. The Chicago School is not responsible for any of the planning or logistical components of the trip. All costs (including travel, accommodations, and study activities) are the responsibility of the student. In order to receive credit for Independent FE, students must register for an Independent Study or one of the existing FE courses.

Students are responsible for the tuition cost, creating and obtaining approval for the course material, IRB approval, and contacting the International Liaison Office. Logistics, travel arrangements and all costs associated with the FE 2-Independent Study are the sole responsibility of the student. Students should contact the office of Financial Aid officers to explore whether financial aid is available for this option.

Successful completion of both Field Experience courses is required for graduation from the program. Assessment of performance includes coursework and projects completed in the online course prior to the travel component, in addition to work assignments and projects conducted during travel (critical self-reflection). In addition to demonstrating integration of knowledge and concepts of the program, students are expected to demonstrate **appropriate professional and ethical behavior** on site during field experience.

Independent Internships

While the IP program does not currently offer or manage internships abroad, students may apply for internships independently. In order to obtain The Chicago School elective credit for an internship, the student must provide an official position offer letter with contact information for the agency, and details of the acceptance dates/terms of internship. The internship may not substitute for Field Experience courses. Students are responsible for the tuition cost, creating and obtaining approval for the course material. Logistics, travel arrangements, and all costs associated with the Internship are the sole responsibility of the student.

Comprehensive Examination

Every student is required to pass written and oral Comprehensive Examinations. The aim of the written examination is to evaluate the student's knowledge of Research Methods, Diversity, Foundational Literature, and Ethics in the field. The oral exam involves a presentation by the student of their Dissertation Proposal. Comprehensive Examinations are conducted during the second year of a student's doctoral study. Students must receive a grade of 80% or better on each exam to pass Comprehensive Exams.

Students who fail the first attempt at comprehensive exams are provided a second opportunity to take the exams. This may involve a schedule modification (as students who do not pass comprehensive exams are not eligible to complete IP903). Students who fail will be given a second opportunity to take the exam and may be placed on an Academic Development Plan (ADP) and required to prepare a plan for retaking the exam. After two failed attempts, students will be referred to the Student Affairs Committee (SAC), which may result in dismissal from the program.

Students who fail a section are required to retake that exam section. Students who pass only one of the four written sections will be required to retake the entire exam (all four sections) during the next scheduled Comprehensive Exam sitting. Students are required to use the new Study Guide for the next exam. Students who fail the Oral Exam (Dissertation Proposal Defense) are required to retake by or at the next exam session, and may not move forward with their dissertation until they pass. Online students may petition the Department Chair to request a virtual/video conference oral exam if travel to another Residency is not feasible.

Doctoral Candidacy:

In order to advance to candidacy and assume the title "doctoral candidate," a student must be in good standing in the program and have successfully completed the following:

- Dissertation Proposal Preparation (IP901 course)
- Completion of the first Field Experience Course
- Pass the Dissertation Proposal Defense
- Pass the Comprehensive Exams

Dissertation

Completion of an original dissertation research study is an essential and significant aspect of the doctoral student's academic experience and professional education. The dissertation represents the student's ability to examine the literature on a psychological phenomenon, identify a gap in the IP field, and conduct research that will address global issues. The dissertation represents the student's ability to think critically and creatively about relevant research issues in international psychology, and to contribute to global improvement.

The International Psychology program requirements for dissertation research are as follows:

- The dissertation must be international in nature and contribute to the overall international psychology literature (topic to be approved by the Department Chair, Departmental Dissertation Lead Faculty, and Dissertation Chair).
- The standard of references and resources used in the dissertation must be peer-reviewed journals and
 professional publications in psychology (or related fields such as social work, sociology, and organizational
 psychology). Additional resources may be incorporated at the discretion of the Dissertation Chair.
- Students are not eligible to apply for graduation/Commencement until they have passed the dissertation
 defense (without significant revisions). Participation in Commencement includes application deadlines please consult with Student Support Services for further information.

The Curriculum

Required Core: 50 credit hours

Concentration: 10 credit hours

Program Total

Ph.D. International Psychology: 60 credit hours

Required Core

- IP 790 Ethics and Professional Development (3 credit hours)
- IP 798 Foundations of International Psychology (3 credit hours)
- IP 800 Foundations of Global Mental Health (3 credit hours)
- IP 802 Psychological, Socio-Cultural and Political Dimensions of Organizations (3 credit hours)
- IP 803 Humanitarianism and Mental Health Care Delivery (3 credit hours)
- IP 805 Cultural Perspectives: Individuals, Families and Communities (3 credit hours)
- IP 820 Intermediate Statistics (3 credit hours)
- IP 822 Qualitative Design and Research Methods (3 credit hours)
- IP 824 Quasi-experimental and Applied Research Methods (3 credit hours)
- IP 825 Evaluation and Applied Research Methodology in Global Contexts (3 credit hours)
- IP 844 Theoretical Perspectives of Acculturation and Assimilation (3 credit hours)
- IP 690 Diversity in Psychology II: The Social Psychology of Cultures (Field Exp I) (3 credit hours)(course fee)
- IP 901 Dissertation Proposal Preparation (3 credit hours)
- IP 902 Dissertation 1: Proposal Completion and IRB (3 credit hours)(auto full time)
- IP 903 Dissertation 2: Data Reporting and Analysis (3 credit hours)(auto full time)
- IP 904 Dissertation 3: Final Draft Preparation and Defense (3 credit hours)(auto full time)
- IP 920 Residency I (auto half time) (0 credit hours)
- IP 925A Residency II (auto half time) (0 credit hours)
- IP 925B Written Comprehensive Exam (auto half time) (0 credit hours)
- IP 925C Dissertation Proposal Defense (Oral Comprehensive Exams) (auto half time) (0 credit hours)
 - Choose one of the following core courses:
- IP 801 International Perspectives in Disability and Rehabilitation Psychology (2 credit hours)
- IP 806 Organizational and Cultural Dynamics (2 credit hours)
- IP 815 Cultural Diversity in Communications and Social Marketing (2 credit hours)
- IP 896 Psychosocial Perspectives of Genocide, Democide and Politicide (2 credit hours)

Concentrations

Organizations & Systems Concentration

- IP 691 Organizations & Systems (Field Exp. II) (3 credit hours)(course fee)
- IP 840 Psychology of Organizations & Systems from a Global Perspective (2 credit hours)
- IP 842 Psychology of Decision-Making in a Global Context (2 credit hours)
- IP 897 Change Management (3 credit hours)

Trauma Services Concentration

- IP 692 Trauma Services (Field Exp. III) (3 credit hours)(course fee)
- IP 850 Assessment of Psychosocial and Mental Health Reactions to Traumatic Stress (3 credit hours)

Choose two courses:

- IP 852 Terrorism and Mass Violence: Impacts on Mental Health (2 credit hours)
- IP 898 Psychosocial Considerations of Domestic and International Terrorism (2 credit hours)
- IP 899 Refugee Issues and Trauma (2 credit hours)
- IP 900 Trauma-based Program Development: Spirituality and Indigenous Healing (2 credit hours)

Optional Crisis-Informed Care Track

Ph.D. students who have successfully completed the courses below may petition for conferral of the Crisis-Informed Care for a Diverse, Globalized World Certificate through the office of the registrar, provided they meet the following requirements:

- Student meets Financial/Financial Aid Good Standing.
- Student meets Academic Good Standing at the time the requirements for the certificate (or degree) were completed.
- Student's cumulative GPA for the coursework required for the certificate must meet the graduation requirements of the certificate.
- The petition for Degree Conferral must be submitted within 1 year from the date the final certificate requirement was completed.
- All SAC referrals for behavioral misconduct or issues of professional comportment must be deemed as fully remediated by the SAC committee before the certificate can be conferred.

Selection of the Optional Crisis-Informed Care Track will add 3 credit hours to students' program total.

- IP 802 Psychological, Socio-Cultural and Political Dimensions of Organizations (3 credit hours)
- IP 844 Theoretical Perspectives of Acculturation and Assimilation (3 credit hours)
 Students choose either
- IN 551 Crisis Response Trauma and Crisis Intervention (3 credit hours) or
- IN 552 Building Community Resilience and Healing (3 credit hours)

Extension Courses

On-Ground

- IP 950A-F Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) auto half-time
- IP 951A Dissertation 1: Data Collection Extension (1 credit hour) auto-full time
- IP 951B Dissertation 2: Data Reporting and Analysis Extension (1 credit hour)- auto-full time
- IP 951C Dissertation 3: Final Draft Preparation and Defense Extension (1 credit hour)- auto-full time
- IP 951D-F Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) auto full-time
- IP 952 Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) Not F.A. eligible
- IP 953 Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- IP 954 Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto half-time Online
- IP 955A-L Dissertation Extension (.5 credit hours) auto half-time

- IP 956A-B Dissertation 1: Data Collection Extension (0.5 credit hours)-auto-full time
- IP 956C-D Dissertation 2: Data Reporting and Analysis Extension (0.5 credit hours)-auto-full time
- IP 956E-F Dissertation 3: Final Draft Preparation and Defense Extension (0.5 credit hours)-autofull time
- IP 956G-L Dissertation Extension (.5 credit hours) auto full-time
- IP 957A Dissertation Extension (.5 credit hours) Not F.A. eligible.
- IP 957B Dissertation Extension (.5 credit hours) Not F.A. eligible.
- IP 958A Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto half-time
- IP 958B Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto half-time
- IP 959A Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- IP 959B Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time

PhD Organizational Leadership

Anaheim - Chicago - Los Angeles - Dallas - Washington D.C. - Online

Program Overview

Businesses large and small increasingly recognize the critical distinction between a manager and a leader-between someone who merely assigns tasks, and someone who paints a vision and then inspires employees to work effectively toward achieving it. Organizational leadership professionals work in both for-profit and nonprofit settings, helping to clearly define and communicate organizational objectives and strategy. They ensure that business processes are as effective and efficient as possible, build trust, bolster morale, and help each employee grow professionally and contribute meaningfully to advancing an organization's mission. Curriculum includes coursework in leadership, research, ethics, interpersonal dynamics, and a range of electives to support each student's unique career goals-preparing graduates to apply the principles of psychology and leadership theory in a broad range of settings, to more effectively lead individuals and organizations to success. Graduates are able to select, implement, and manage appropriate leadership methodologies to meet individual, group and organizational needs in non-profit and for-profit settings.

Program Philosophy

The Chicago School offers a PhD degree in Organizational Leadership. This program examines field of psychology from an organizational leadership perspective. It is intended to develop professionals who can apply knowledge about principles of psychology and leadership to work more effectively with specific populations. The program includes coursework in leadership, research, ethics, interpersonal dynamics, and a range of electives to support each student's unique career goals preparing graduates to apply the principles of psychology and leadership theory in a broad range of settings, to more effectively lead individuals and organizations to success. Graduates are able to select, implement, and manage appropriate leadership methodologies to meet individual, group and organizational needs in non-profit and forprofit settings.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Produce written documents that are well researched, cited, and organized for easy reading and understanding.
 Students will be able to deliver presentations targeted to business and academic audiences.
- Describe and apply effective practices within the field of Business Psychology or Organizational Leadership.

Diversity

• Explain and build upon the role that individual and group differences play in the workplace (e.g., race, gender, age, national culture, cognitive style, socio-economic status, job title/power and etc.). Students will be able to demonstrate cross-cultural competence and operate within a framework of global diversity.

Professional Behavior

- Demonstrate personal integrity and ethical behavior in professional practice.
- Form effective professional relationships based on attitudes and communication skills that foster trust, open dialogue, and collaboration, regardless of differences in background, education, position in the organization, points of view or other personal characteristics

Scholarship

- Cite the theoretical knowledge and research integral to their fields of study. Students will be able to describe
 the philosophies of science underpinning their field's theoretical knowledge and research. Students will be
 able to apply published research to the development of new areas for scholarly study. Students will be able to
 design and conduct research studies. Students will be able to analyze and interpret the data produced by
 research.
- Analyze and evaluate the work of others, including probing for more information, searching for logic flaws, and creating alternative solutions to problems.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's Organizational Leadership doctoral program is open to any person who has earned a master's degree from a regionally accredited institution in psychology, the behavioral sciences, organizational discipline or other related field, and who meets other entrance requirements. If prior coursework does not include at least one course in undergraduate statistics and one psychology course, applicants should refer to the progression requirement policy section below.

It is preferred that candidates have had three or more years of work experience prior to admission. The Graduate Record Examination is not required for admission. Applicants are also required to write a 500-word statement on leadership and what leadership means from both a personal and a professional perspective, as well as a statement of their research interests. Additionally, applicants will be required to submit a current Résumé/curriculum vita, highlighting relevant work, volunteer, and research experiences.

Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications.

For Distance Learning Students: In additional to the admission criteria, it is recommended that students have access to a computer that is less than three years old, a broadband or Internet connection, and the Microsoft Office Suite including Word, Excel, and Outlook and, at minimum, the following computing skills:

- A basic level of comfort with Internet technology
- The ability to open and attach files from and to email
- The ability to send and receive email
- The ability to save documents

Based on meeting these requirements, selected candidates will be invited to interview for further consideration of their application. Please see the application for detailed instructions and information regarding application requirements. Applications must be submitted with the \$50.00 (USD) application fee in order to be evaluated.

PhD Organizational Leadership Progression Requirements

This program requires applicants to have successfully completed at least one (1) foundational course in statistics, and one (1) foundational course in psychology or organizational behavior with a grade earned of 'C' or better by the end of their first semester (second online term) of study. Students who have not done so through previous coursework must successfully meet this progression requirement through one of the following options:

- A grade of "C" or higher in TCS 390 Introduction to Statistics and TCS 380 Introduction to Psychology
- A grade of "C" or higher in a comparable course at The Chicago School
- A grade of "C" or higher in a comparable course at another regionally accredited institution

Applicants accepted who have not successfully completed one (1) foundational course in statistics and one (1) course in psychology or organizational behavior will be required to register for applicable TCS courses in their first ground semester or online term. All students must meet this progression requirement by the end of their first semester (second online term) of study. Students who do not successfully fulfill this requirement will not be allowed to register in any future coursework in the program of study until this requirement is met. Extensions can be granted by the Program Chair or designee when extenuating circumstances prevent completion of the requirement in the specified timeframe. Requests for an extension must be submitted in writing to the Program Chair for consideration.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Articulation Agreements

The Chicago School has established agreements between The MA Psychology and the PhD Organizational Leadership program to allow qualified students to enroll in doctoral level courses while completing thier master's degree that will then count toward the doctoral degree. Click on this link for details.

Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of 60 credit hours of coursework
- Successful completion of dissertation
- Successful completion of Competency Examination
- Attendance at two residences that are three and a half day each (online students only)

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Residency Requirements (Online Students Only)

Online students are engaged in two brief residencies (roughly three and a half days each) at one of our campuses-providing an opportunity for face-to-face interaction and networking with fellow students from around the globe who bring a wealth of diverse leadership experiences and perspectives. At the first residency, students meet with their cohorts and faculty members and engage in focused seminars. At the second residency, students participate in their competency exam.

Field Experience Requirements

Students must have access to an organizational environment that will be available for use in research and reference for course work.

Ethical Guidelines

Students are expected to engage in all graduate work, including but not limited to course work, research, and scholarship, with a high degree of integrity and professionalism. It is essential that students approach professional working relationships, collegial relationships, and client/partner-contact with respect. Further, students are expected to adhere to the American Psychological Association's (APA) *Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct* as well as the "evolving universal code of ethics" (Gauthier, 2005). Students who choose to seek employment in the field of psychology shall not work beyond their level of competence and shall not use titles governed by credentialing statutes and/or regulations unless authorized by the relevant jurisdictional authority. Students who fail to comply with ethical and professional behavior guidelines are subject to department remediation and/or referral to the Student Affairs Committee for disciplinary action and possible dismissal.

Competency Examination

Every student is required to pass a Competency Examination (CE). The aim of this assessment exercise is to evaluate the student's knowledge of theory, research, and practice. This is also an opportunity to assess the student's ability to demonstrate this knowledge and skill in simulations in order to judge his or her abilities as a future organizational leader. The Comprehensive Examination is taken at the end of the student's second year in the doctoral program

Dissertation

Completion of the dissertation is an essential aspect of a students' academic experience and professional education. It provides the school the opportunity to evaluate the student's ability to apply Organizational Leadership theory and research and to think critically and creatively about an issue in the field.

The dissertation should clearly and concisely demonstrate the student's command of the research in a specific area of Organizational Leadership. In the dissertation, the student will critically evaluate and synthesize relevant research and theory in the topic chosen for study. The student's dissertation Committee is responsible for determining the appropriateness and acceptability of the dissertation proposal and for final approval of the dissertation.

The Curriculum

Intensive course work that balances theory and practice culminates in completion of the competency exam and the dissertation. Students entering post-master's must complete 60 graduate semester hours of study:

Required Core: 54 credit hours

Electives: 6 credit hours

Program Total

Ph.D. Organizational Leadership: 60 credit hours

Required Core

- IO 519 Statistics and Lab (4 credit hours)
- PB 400 Professional Development Seminar (3 credit hours)
- PB 455 Research Methods (3 credit hours)
- OL 539 Personality and Life Span in the Workplace (3 credit hours)
- OL 549 Systems Theory (3 credit hours)
- OL 551 Group and Team Leadership (3 credit hours)
- OL 554 Management Philosophy and Practice (3 credit hours)
- OL 556 Emerging Theories of Leadership (3 credit hours)
- OL 560 Ethical and Cultural Considerations (3 credit hours)
- OL 573 Organizational Diagnosis and Cultural Dynamics (3 credit hours)
- OL 576 Strategic Change Management (3 credit hours)
- OL 580 Residency I (auto half time) (0 credit hours)
- OL 620 Competency Examination (3 credit hours)(course fee \$12)
- OL 621 Qualitative Research Methods (3 credit hours)
- OL 631 Dissertation Maintenance I (3 credit hours)(auto full time)
- OL 632 Dissertation Maintenance II (3 credit hours)(auto full time)
- OL 633 Dissertation Maintenance III (3 credit hours)(auto full time)
- OL 705 Leadership Self-Development (2 credit hours)(course fee \$105)
 Students choose one of the following:
- OL 623 Advanced Qualitative Research Methods (3 credit hours)
- PB 528 Advanced Statistics (3 credit hours)

Electives

Choose six hours of elective courses:

- OL 634 Virtual and Global Leadership (3 credit hours)
- OL 637 Team Interventions (3 credit hours)
- OL 640 Governance in Non-profit (3 credit hours)
- OL 641 Supervising and Coaching Employees (3 credit hours)
- OL 642 Strategic Human Resources Effectiveness (3 credit hours)
- OL 643 Social Entrepreneurship (3 credit hours)
- OL 644 Leadership Ethics (3 credit hours)
- OL 645 Diversity (3 credit hours)

- OL 646 The Role of Technology in Organizations (3 credit hours)
- OL 647 Public Policy Leadership (3 credit hours)
- OL 650 Envisioning the New Health and Human Service Organization (3 credit hours)
- OL 651 Community Building and Social Transformation in Health and Human Service Organization (3 credit hours)
- OL 652 Ethical, Practical, and Economic Challenges in Health and Human Service Organization (3 credit hours)
- OL 653 Advanced Consulting Skills (3 credit hours)
- OL 654 Business Development for Consulting Psychologists (3 credit hours)
- OL 655 Large Group Methods (3 credit hours)
- OL 657 Professional Coaching (3 credit hours)
- OL 658 Group Facilitation (3 credit hours)
- OL 670 Special Topics I (1 credit hour)
- OL 671 Special Topics II (2 credit hours)
- OL 672 Special Topics III (3 credit hours)(course fee)
- OL 675 Independent Study I (1 credit hour)
- OL 676 Independent Study II (2 credit hours)
- OL 677 Independent Study III (3 credit hours)
 Students may also select elective courses from the Ph.D. Business Psychology elective pool.

Extension Courses

On-Ground

- OL 950A-F Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) auto half-time
- OL 951A-F Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) auto full-time
- OL 952 Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) Not F.A. eligible
- OL 953 Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- OL 954 Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto half-time Online
- OL 955A-L Dissertation Extension (.5 credit hours) auto half-time
- OL 956A-L Dissertation Extension (.5 credit hours) auto full-time
- OL 957A Dissertation Extension (.5 credit hours) Not F.A. eligible.
- OL 957B Dissertation Extension (.5 credit hours) Not F.A. eligible.
- OL 958A Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto half-time
- OL 958B Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto half-time
- OL 959A Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- OL 959B Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time

Doctor of Psychology

PsyD Applied Clinical Psychology

Anaheim - Los Angeles - San Diego

Program Overview

The PsyD Applied Clinical Psychology Post Master's program is based upon the practitioner-scholar model of education, integrating eight core competencies developed by the educational model of the National Council of Schools and Programs of Professional Psychology (NCSPP). Applied Clinical Psychology Department faculty are actively engaged in practice and scholarship, and incorporate a wide variety of clinical examples into classroom activities. Students learn through rigorous coursework, challenging practica, an integrative Internship and an innovative, applicable dissertation. The Doctor of Applied Clinical Psychology program is recognized for its excellent training in culturally competent service provision and offers students a remarkably wide variety of training opportunities.

Program Philosophy

The Applied Clinical Psychology Department has adopted the practitioner-scholar model and the NCSPP Core Competency model of training. These models are predicated on the belief that competent practitioners must have both a broad knowledge of scientific and theoretical principles at the core of psychology, which includes a solid understanding of a variety of scholarly work, as well as the ability to apply their knowledge to specific clinical situations. The doctoral department does not advocate any single theoretical orientation. Rather, students learn conceptualization and technique across four general theory areas, and then choose a theoretical orientation in which to specialize. Students are continually challenged to reflect on the art and craft of professional practice, as well as on its scientific basis.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Deliver effective and ethical diagnostic and assessment services to a diverse set of clients.
- Provide a wide range of effective and ethical psychotherapeutic interventions to a diverse group of clients.

Diversity

- Identify and understand issues of racial and cultural diversity and awareness of the richness of human differences in ideas and beliefs.
- Demonstrate insight into personal attitudes and beliefs as they conduct clinical interviewing of clients, will
 demonstrate competence in preparation of individual treatment plans, and of setting appropriate
 psychotherapeutic goals.

Professional Behavior

- Develop the ability to apply ethical and professional standards to interactions with clients and others (i.e.,
 peers, supervisors, faculty, professionals in other disciplines); be socialized into the profession through
 advisement, modeling and education; an understanding of legal obligations that may or may not conflict with
 ethical guidelines; will develop skills in reflective practice and quality control; will demonstrate effective
 functioning in multiple professional roles; and will hold a commitment to life-long learning.
- Demonstrate an understanding of the business aspects of psychological practice and the laws, standards, and
 regulations that effect practice; effective use of and openness to supervision and professional review; the
 development of supervisory skills or skills in mental health administration; effective case management of
 clients; awareness of contemporary professional issues related to the regulation and practice of the field; and
 incorporation of scholarship into quality control procedures for professional practice.

Scholarship

- Demonstrate preparedness to become practitioners of professional psychology who are able to utilize the scientific method for critical evaluation of research examining the practice of clinical psychology.
- Demonstrate effectiveness in the communication of critical information in the field of clinical psychology to a wide range of individuals and groups.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's PsyD Applied Clinical Psychology program is open to any person who has earned a master's degree in a mental health field from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. The school admits students whom it judges to possess sufficient academic aptitude, as well as the emotional and social maturity to function effectively as professional psychologists. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work.

Factors considered in admission are: GPA from undergraduate and graduate schools, successful work history after completion of the baccalaureate and master's degree, essays, and letters of recommendation from academic professors or supervisors, and professional or volunteer experiences. Generally an undergraduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission to the Department. Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications.

The PsyD Applied Clinical Psychology program requires specific pre-requisite courses that must be completed in a student's Master's program or completed as part of the elective options while enrolled in the doctorate program at The Chicago School. Graduate coursework used to meet pre-requisite requirements will be considered for transfer or waver on a case-by-case basis. Based upon the evaluation of these materials selected candidates may be invited to interview for further consideration of their application. Please see the application for detailed instructions and information regarding application requirements, application deadlines, and letters of recommendation. Applications must be submitted with a \$50 (US) fee in order to be evaluated.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of 66 credit hour of coursework
- Successful completion of 800 hour practicum
- Successful completion of Comprehensive Exam
- Successful completion of dissertation
- Successful completion of a 1,500 hour internship

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Ethical Guidelines

The Chicago School expects that all Applied Clinical Psychology Department students will be knowledgeable of and adhere to the APA Ethical Guidelines as published by the American Psychological Association. Sound ethical reasoning and accountability to the larger community for adherence to guidelines for ethical behavior are the two things that mark a profession as distinct from a career or job. As a result, several expectations of students are derived from the ethical code.

First, no student shall obtain part-time or full-time employment that is beyond the scope of their cumulative training in the field of psychology.

In accordance with California state law, no student may serve under the title of "psychologist," "clinical psychologist," or any closely related title or job function until granted an appropriate license by the state after the awarding of the doctoral degree. Students may, however, work as psychological assistants, researchers, or psychometricians under the supervision of a professional psychologist who is duly licensed or certified by the appropriate state agency.

A student shall not perform any function that exceeds his/her level of training. Students shall ensure that the appropriate malpractice insurance is in effect prior to their commencement of any clinical practice. In addition, a student may not establish or continue psychotherapy with any department or affiliate faculty member under any circumstances or with any adjunct faculty member while registered in his or her course or while under his or her supervision. A student who fails to adhere to this policy or otherwise fails to demonstrate the appropriate ethics required for practice in the field of professional psychology is subject to discipline.

A second derivation of the ethical code is that of integrity. The Chicago School expects that all students demonstrate the highest form of academic integrity. This applies to all of their graduate work and studies ranging from coursework, to general scholarship, to interactions with faculty, staff, and students. Further, given that graduate students as part of their training gain access to extremely sensitive clinical information, The Chicago School expects that students show the highest form of professional integrity in their training settings. These expectations range from client contact, to professional communications, to representation as a student of the school. Integrity is taken very seriously and a violation of academic and professional standards is grounds for remediation, suspension, or expulsion.

A final derivation of the ethical code is that of professional suitability. As a field, our primary responsibility is to the public we serve. As a result, should a student show signs that he or she is likely to cause harm to those we serve, swift action will be taken to mitigate that risk for harm. Such action could range from requiring additional education and remediation for the student to disciplinary action such as suspension or expulsion. Should a student demonstrate, over time and despite efforts to remediate, that he or she is not able to assume the responsibilities of the profession, he or she may be dismissed from the school. Professional suitability is defined in part by the school, in part by the field of psychology and in part by the larger society. Should a student's ability to engage in professional practice change, for example through conviction of a crime that prevents licensure, the department may determine that completion of the program is not possible for the student.

Independent Practice

Consistent with training department goals and the focus on ethical behavior, it is deemed inappropriate for Applied Clinical Psychology Department students to engage in professional activities that may infringe upon a primary commitment to training, negatively affect quality of consumer mental health services, or are inconsistent with ethical and legal standards. Students' participation in outside work activities should be secondary to training and should also uphold and be consistent with the ethical and legal standards of the profession. Engaging in independent practice in psychology prior to appropriate licensure, as a result, is viewed as inconsistent with these training objectives, and unethical for doctoral-level students.

The California Board of Psychology prohibits independent practice in clinical psychology by non-licensed individuals. Regardless of previous credentials, participation in a psychology training program indicates that the student is committed to developing a professional identity as a psychologist and to developing professional skills within a psychological framework. The development of this identity occurs throughout the course of graduate-level training. It is appropriate for graduate students, whatever their previous experience, to view themselves as psychologists-intraining.

A student may hold a valid license in another profession (e.g., Licensed Clinical Professional Counselor or Licensed Clinical Social Worker) or may obtain such a license during her/his training at The Chicago School. Such students may practice within the scope of their license consistent with the following:

- The demands of the practice in time or other resources must not jeopardize the student's primary commitment to training in the department.
- The manner in which students represent themselves to colleagues, clients and the public (e.g. marketing
 materials and reports of service) should not create a belief that the practice is under the auspices of or
 sanctioned by The Chicago School, that the practice is part of the school's training, or that the practice is that
 of a trained and licensed clinical psychologist.
- A student who fails to comply with the requirements of this section will be referred to the department chair
 for intervention, remediation, or disciplinary action, or for referral to the Student Affairs Committee for
 disciplinary action and possible dismissal.

Self Disclosure of Personal Information

Self-reflection, introspection, and an ability to examine personal reactions to clinical material are considered critical skills in student development. Students will be required to examine their personal reactions and the impact of their personal histories on the clinical services they are training to provide. Students will not be required to disclose personal information related to sexual history, history of abuse or neglect, personal psychotherapy or in-depth information regarding intimate relationships in course or department related activities. However, students are expected to actively reflect upon and effectively manage their personal reactions to people who are different from themselves along these and other dimensions, especially when such personal reactions negatively impact clinical work, professional interactions, and ethical responsibilities. Such reflection may be required within the context of an advising relationship at School, or a supervising relationship on practicum.

Practicum

The practicum is an integral component of clinical training. It provides a closely supervised clinical experience in which students use the knowledge obtained in the classroom to understand their clients and to develop skills in assessment, psychotherapy, and other discipline related areas. As such, the practicum serves to integrate the theoretical and practical aspects of the education of the professional psychologist. It allows students to become familiar with professional collaboration and consultation in a clinical setting.

Students in the PsyD Applied Clinical Psychology program are required to complete 800 hours in the Practicum. Those students who completed a practicum in their master's program will be able to apply for a waiver of 200 hours from the current 800-practicum hour requirement. Students who wish to apply for a waiver must do so by the end of their first semester or the deadline for applying to practicum sites, whichever comes first. Students must have been in a practicum experience that lasted at least 600 hours during their master's program. They must have provided psychotherapy during the practicum. Their psychotherapy work must have been supervised by a licensed professional (MFT, LCSW, or Psychologist). They must offer proof that they met the above requirements to the Applied Clinical Psychology Director of Training who will make the final determination, and process the waiver.

Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

Comprehensive Exam

The ACP Comprehensive Exam will focus on the 8 areas of professional psychological practice identified by ASPPB:

- 1. Biological Bases of Behavior
- 2. Cognitive-Affective Bases of Behavior
- 3. Social and Cultural Bases of Behavior
- 4. Growth and Lifespan Development
- 5. Assessment and Diagnosis
- 6. Treatment, Intervention, and Prevention and Supervision
- 7. Research Methods and Statistics
- Ethical/Legal/Professional Issues

The Comprehensive Exam will be modeled after the EPPP to evaluate the student's knowledge of the above domains as well as competency to practice at an internship level in an ethical and culturally sensitive manner. Ultimately, the Comprehensive Exam allows the department to assess the student's abilities as a future clinical psychologist.

Dissertation

The dissertation is an essential aspect of a student's academic experience and clinical education at the school. The dissertation provides the school with the opportunity to formally evaluate the student's ability to contribute to the field by applying theory and research to areas of clinical psychology, thinking critically and creatively about professional psychology, and demonstrating self-direction and professional/scholarly writing. The dissertation should clearly and concisely demonstrate the student's command of the body of knowledge in a chosen area, as well as ability to critically evaluate and synthesize this knowledge. The student's Dissertation Committee is responsible for assessing the student's abilities and critical thinking, determining the professional standards the dissertation must meet, and giving final approval to the dissertation.

Internship

All students are required to complete a 1,500 hour Internship following the completion of all coursework, practicum, and dissertation requirements. During their internship, students integrate academic knowledge with clinical skills and demonstrate the effective and ethical use of these skills in clinical practice. Through intensive supervised training, students gain direct experience in applying their knowledge with a clinical population.

The Curriculum

Required Core: 60 credit hours

Electives: 6 credit hours

Program Total

Psy.D. Applied Clinical Psychology: 66 credit hours

Required Core

- PP 501 Advanced Professional Development (2 credit hours)
- PP 506 Advanced Intervention: Psychodynamic Theories (3 credit hours)
- PP 507 Advanced Intervention: Cognitive-Behavioral Theories (3 credit hours)
- PP 508 Advanced Intervention: Family Theories (3 credit hours)
- PP 511 Diagnostic and Clinical Interviewing (2 credit hours)
- PP 516 Child and Adolescent Psychology (3 credit hours)
- PP 513 Intellectual Assessment (3 credit hours)
- PP 514 Advanced Psychological Assessment (3 credit hours)
- PP 515 Advanced Legal and Ethical Principles (3 credit hours)
- PP 517 Diversity (3 credit hours)
- PP 518 Psychopathology (3 credit hours)
- PP 519 Trauma & Crisis Intervention (3 credit hours)
- PP 521 Training in Alcoholism and Chemical Dependency Detection and Treatment (2 credit hours)
- PP 635 Advanced Clinical Psychopharmacology (2 credit hours)
- PP 642 Advanced Group Therapy (2 credit hours)
- PP 461 Clinical Practicum Seminar I (3 credit hours)
- PP 462 Clinical Practicum Seminar II (3 credit hours)
- PP 560 Dissertation I: Advanced Statistics and Research Design (3 credit hours)(auto full time)
- PP 566 Dissertation II: Literature Review (1 credit hour) (auto full-time)
- PP 567 Dissertation III: Proposal (1 credit hour) (auto full-time)
- PP 568 Dissertation IV: Data Collection (1 credit hour) (auto full-time)
- PP 569 Dissertation V: Data Analysis (1 credit hour) (auto full-time)
- PP 570 Dissertation VI: Dissertation Defense (1 credit hour) (auto full-time)
- PP 581 Internship I (1 credit hour)(auto full time)
- PP 582 Internship II (1 credit hour)(auto full time)
- PP 583 Internship III (1 credit hour)(auto full time)
- PP 595 ACP Comprehensive Exam (3 credit hours)(course fee \$100)

These term-based dissertation courses are offered only during the summer semester and replace corresponding dissertation courses as indicated in the course descriptions. Both the A and the B term-based courses must be taken to replace a semester-based course.

- PP 535 Dissertation II: Literature Review A (.5 credit hour) (auto full-time)
- PP 536 Dissertation II: Literature Review B (.5 credit hour) (auto full-time)
- PP 537 Dissertation III: Proposal A (.5 credit hour) (auto full-time)
- PP 538 Dissertation III: Proposal B (.5 credit hour) (auto full-time)
- PP 539 Dissertation IV: Data Collection A (.5 credit hour) (auto full-time)
- PP 540 Dissertation IV: Data Collection B (.5 credit hour) (auto full-time)
- PP 541 Dissertation V: Data Analysis A (.5 credit hour) (auto full-time)
- PP 542 Dissertation V: Data Analysis B (.5 credit hour) (auto full-time)
- PP 543 Dissertation VI: Dissertation Defense A (.5 credit hour) (auto-full time)
- PP 544 Dissertation VI: Dissertation Defense B (.5 credit hour) (auto full-time)

Electives

- PP 525 Neuropsychological Assessment (3 credit hours)
- PP 622 Diversity and Special Populations (2 credit hours)(course fee)
- PP 644 Sport Psychology (2 credit hours)
- PP 627 Geropsychology (2 credit hours)
- PP 640 Principles of Forensic Psychology (2 credit hours)
- PP 607 Advanced Psychoanalytic Theories (3 credit hours)
- PP 608 Existential-Humanistic Psychology (2 credit hours)
- PP 645 Erikson's Theory of Human Development (2 credit hours)
- PP 609 Advanced Play Therapy (3 credit hours)
- PP 610 Death and Dying (2 credit hours)
- PP 612 Health Psychology (2 credit hours)
- PP 613 Human Sexuality (2 credit hours)
- PP 618 Perspectives in African American Mental Health (2 credit hours)
- PP 619 Perspectives in Asian and Pacific Islander Mental Health (2 credit hours)
- PP 620 Perspectives in LGBTQ+ Mental Health (2 credit hours)
- PP 643 Perspectives in Middle Eastern and Arab Mental Health (2 credit hours)
- PP 629 Perspectives in Latino Mental Health (2 credit hours)
- PP 646 Perspectives in Women's Mental Health (2 credit hours)
- PP 650 Special Topics I (1 credit hour)
- PP 651 Special Topics II (2 credit hours)
- PP 652 Special Topics III (3 credit hours)
- PP 655 Independent Study I (1 credit hour)
- PP 656 Independent Study II (2 credit hours)
- PP 657 Independent Study III (3 credit hours)

Students in the Psy.D. Applied Clinical Psychology program will be allowed to take a maximum of two military psychology courses as part of their elective options.

- MI 610 Professional Military Ethics and Culture (2 credit hours)
- MI 620 Diversity and Disabilities in the Military (2 credit hours)
- MI 630 Military Decision-Making Support Systems (2 credit hours)
- MI 640 Military Education and Training (2 credit hours)
- MI 650 Military Psychological Assessment (2 credit hours)
- MI 660 Military Psychological Interventions (2 credit hours)

Extension Courses

- PP698 Practicum Extension (0 credit hours) (auto half-time)
- PP699 Internship Extension (0 credit hours) (auto full-time)
- PP584 Internship I Extension (0.5 credit hours) (auto half-time)
- PP585 Internship II Extension (0.5 credit hours) (auto half-time)
- PP586 Internship III Extension (0.5 credit hours) (auto half-time)
- PP587 Internship IV Extension (0.5 credit hours) (auto half-time)
- PP588 Internship V Extension (0.5 credit hours) (auto half-time)
- PP589 Internship VI Extension (0.5 credit hours) (auto half-time)
- PP 467 Clinical Practicum Seminar III (0 credit hours) (auto half time)

- PP 950A-F Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) (auto half-time)
- PP 951A-F Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) (auto full-time)
- PP 952 Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) Not F.A. eligible
- PP 953 Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- PP 954 Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto half-time
 These term-based dissertation extension courses are offered only during the summer semester and replace corresponding dissertation extension courses as indicated in the course descriptions. Both term-based courses (designated U1 and U2) must be taken to replace a semester-based course.
- PP 575 Dissertation Extension U1 (.5 credit hour) (auto full-time)
- PP 576 Dissertation Extension U2 (.5 credit hour) (auto full-time)

PsyD Clinical Forensic Psychology

Los Angeles - Anaheim

Program Overview

The field of Forensic Psychology focuses on the application of the scientific, technical, or specialized knowledge of psychology to the law and the legal system. The PsyD Clinical Forensic Psychology program bases its training on the practitioner-scholar model of education, integrating eight core competencies informed by the educational model of the National Council of Schools and Programs of Professional Psychology (NCSPP). The program is designed so that students will gain a mastery of clinical forensic psychology, enabling them to bring broad and general concepts of clinical psychology into the legal and public policy arenas in an ethical, academically informed, and research-based manner.

Program Philosophy

The program operates under the practitioner-scholar model and the National Council of Schools and Programs of Professional Psychology (NCSPP) Core Competency model of training in clinical psychology. These models are predicated on the belief that competent practitioners must have both a broad knowledge of scientific and theoretical principles in the clinical practice of psychology and the ability to apply that knowledge to specific clinical situations. Furthermore, the program reflects the educational goals and competencies adopted by the National Invitational Conference on Education and Training in Law and Psychology: the Villanova Conference. The curriculum exposes students to the theoretical principles, scientific research, and clinical practice skills that enable students to assume professional responsibilities in a variety of forensic settings. The doctoral program endeavors to be flexible in order to adapt course content to reflect developments in the field and to emphasize critical thinking, sensitivity to ethical principles, the role of personal values, and cultural diversity.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be to:

Professional Practice

 Demonstrate a comprehensive knowledge of psychometric theory, assessment techniques, and forensic literature to evaluate various dimensions of human experience, outcomes of interventions, and the application of forensic assessment to psycholegal issues.

- Develop and maintain effective professional relationships with clients, peers, supervisors, faculty, and other professionals.
- Integrate an advanced knowledge of theory, research, and professional literature to guide interventions and promote optimal mental health and well-being.

Diversity

· Recognize and respect individual and group differences as well as practice with culture competence

Professional Behavior

- Organize professional activities by ethical and professional codes, standards, and guidelines; statutes, rules, and regulations; and relevant case law.
- Develop and maintain effective professional relationships with clients, peers, supervisors, faculty, and other professionals.

Scholarship

 Demonstrate an understanding of the research methods in the social and behavioral sciences, the benefits and limitations of research, and the scientific and professional literature relevant to the field of forensic psychology.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/.

Application to The Chicago School's PsyD Clinical Forensic Psychology program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements.

Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors that are considered in admission are:

- \$50 application fee
- Undergraduate and any graduate coursework
- GPA from undergraduate and any graduate schools; generally an undergraduate or graduate GPA of 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission
- Successful work history after completion of the baccalaureate degree
- The admission essay
- Three letters of recommendation from academic professors or supervisors from professional or volunteer experiences, and
- The admission interview.

The Graduate Record Examinations (GRE) are not required; however, an applicant may submit scores (GRE School Code 1119) if they wish to have them considered in the application process.

Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their application. Please see the

application for detailed instructions and information regarding application requirements, application deadlines, and letters of recommendation.

The program requires applicants to have successfully completed an undergraduate or graduate course in Statistics with a grade earned of 'C' or better in the course. If needed, the course in Statistics must be completed in accordance with the policies outlined in the Progression Requirements section below.

The program also requires applicants to have successfully completed at least 15 semester hours of psychology (or related field) credit at the undergraduate or graduate level, including a course in Abnormal Psychology with a grade earned of 'C' or better in the course. The course in Abnormal Psychology can be completed in accordance with the policies outlined in the Preparatory Coursework section below.

The remaining semester hours of psychology (or related field) credits must be completed prior to enrollment.

PsyD Clinical Forensic Psychology Preparatory Coursework Requirements

Applicants who otherwise meet the admissions requirements of the program, but who have not previously successfully completed at least one (1) course in Abnormal Psychology, will be required to fulfill this requirement prior to enrolling in this program through the completion of Preparatory Coursework.

Applicants should review the Preparatory Coursework policy for additional details. Applicants who are required to complete Preparatory Coursework must satisfy the following course requirement prior to enrolling in this program:

MP 529 Psychopathology and Behavior Disorders

PsyD Clinical Forensic Psychology Progression Requirements

This program requires applicants to have successfully completed (with a grade earned of 'C' or better) at least one (1) undergraduate or graduate level course in Statistics by the end of their first semester (two terms) of study. Students must successfully meet this progression requirement through one of the following options:

- A grade of "C" or higher in TCS 390
- A grade of "C" or higher in a comparable course at the Chicago School
- A grade of "C" or higher in a comparable course at another regionally accredited institution

All students must meet this progression requirement by the end of their first semester (two terms) of study. Students who do not successfully fulfill this requirement will not be allowed to register in any future coursework in the program of study until this requirement is met. Extensions can be granted by the Program Chair or designee when extenuating circumstances prevent completion of the requirement in the specified timeframe. Requests for an extension must be submitted in writing to the Program Chair for consideration.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and students will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission, in order to secure a place in the incoming class, an intent to enroll form and a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$500 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Degree Completion Requirements

• Successful completion of 105 credit hours of coursework

- Successful completion 1,200 hours of supervised practicum; 600 hours accrued each academic year during two (2) consecutive semesters; over at least a nine (9) month period; and with at least 40-60% direct service hours
- Successful completion of 2,000 hours of supervised internship at a site, and with supervision, that is
 acceptable for licensure by the California Board of Psychology.
- Successful completion of at least eight (8) Comprehensive Psychological Test Batteries, completed at Practicum and/or Internship
- Successful completion of Dissertation
- Successful completion of Clinical Forensic Competency Examinations (CFCE)

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Ethical Guidelines

Students are expected to adhere to the American Psychological Association's (APA) *Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct*, as well as the *Specialty Guidelines for Forensic Psychologists* (American Psychological Association, 2013). Acceptable student conduct is derived in large part from these sources of information.

All students are expected to demonstrate the highest form of academic integrity. This applies to all graduate work, including, but not limited to, course work, field placement, and scholarship. It is equally important that all students approach professional working relationships, collegial relationships, and client-contact with the highest level of professional integrity and respect.

As mental health practitioners, our primary responsibility is to the public we serve. Therefore, students are expected to be professionally suited for the field of psychology. Professional suitability is defined in part by the school, the field of psychology, and society at large. At any time, should a student show signs that he or she is likely to cause harm to those we serve, swift action will be taken to mitigate said risk of harm. Such action could range from requiring additional education and remediation to disciplinary action. Similarly, should a student demonstrate over time, and despite efforts to remediate, that he or she is not able to assume the responsibilities of the profession, he or she may be referred to the Student Affairs Committee with a departmental recommendation for dismissal from the school. Likewise, should a student's ability to engage in professional practice change, for example through conviction of a crime that prevents licensure, the department may determine that completion of the program is not possible and refer the student to the Student Affairs Committee with a departmental recommendation for dismissal from the school.

No student shall obtain part-time or full-time employment that is beyond the scope of their cumulative training in the field of psychology. In accordance with state law, no student may serve under the title of "psychologist," "forensic psychologist," "clinical psychologist," or any closely related title or job function until granted an appropriate license by the state. Students may work as a psychological assistant or psychometrician under the supervision of a professional psychologist who is duly licensed or certified by the appropriate state agency. However, a student shall not perform any function that exceeds his/her level of training. Prior to commencing in any professional psychology practice, students shall ensure that the appropriate malpractice insurance is in effect.

Students who fail to comply with ethical and professional behavior guidelines or otherwise fail to demonstrate the appropriate ethics required for practice in the field of professional psychology are subject to department remediation and/or referral to the Student Affairs Committee for disciplinary action up to and including dismissal from the school.

Independent Practice

Consistent with training department goals and the focus on ethical behavior, it is deemed inappropriate for Clinical Forensic Psychology doctoral students to engage in professional activities that may infringe upon a primary commitment to training, negatively affect the quality of consumer mental health services, or be inconsistent with ethical and legal standards. Students' participation in outside work activities should be secondary to training and consistent with the ethical and legal standards of the profession. Engaging in independent practice in psychology prior to appropriate licensure is inconsistent with these training objectives and unethical conduct.

The California Board of Professional Psychology prohibit independent practice in clinical psychology by non-licensed individuals. Regardless of previous credentials, participation in a psychology training program indicates that the student is committed to developing a professional identity as a psychologist and professional skills within a psychological framework. The development of this identity occurs throughout the course of graduate-level training. It is appropriate for graduate students, whatever their previous experience, to view themselves as psychologists-in-training.

A student may hold a valid license in another profession (e.g., Licensed Clinical Professional Counselor, Licensed Clinical Social Worker, or Marriage and Family Therapist) or may obtain such a license during his/her training at The Chicago School. Such students may practice within the scope of their license. However, the time demands of the practice as well as the resources required should not jeopardize the student's primary commitment to training in the department. Furthermore, the manner in which the student represents herself or himself to colleagues, clients, and the public (e.g., via marketing materials and reports of service) should not create a belief that the practice is under the auspices of or sanctioned by The Chicago School, that the practice is part of the school's training, or that the practice is that of a trained and licensed clinical psychologist.

A student who fails to comply with the requirements of this section will be subject to department remediation and/or referral to the Student Affairs Committee for disciplinary action up to and including dismissal from the school.

Practicum

The practicum is an integral component of clinical psychology training. It provides a closely supervised clinical experience in which students use the knowledge obtained in the classroom to understand their clients and to develop skills in assessment, psychotherapy, and other discipline related areas. As such, the practicum serves to integrate the theoretical and practical aspects of the education of the professional psychologist. It allows students to become familiar with professional collaboration and consultation in a clinical setting. All students are required to complete at least six semester hours each of Assessment and Therapy practicum. Additional Advanced and Supplemental practicum experiences are available. Practicum requires successful completion of at least 1,200 hours of supervised clinical training; at least 600 hours accrued each academic year during two (2) consecutive semesters; over at least a nine (9) month period; and with at least 40-60% direct service hours. Some or all Comprehensive Psychological Test Batteries may be completed at Practicum.

Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

Clinical Forensic Competency Examinations (CFCE)

Students completing the Clinical Forensic Psychology PsyD program at the Los Angeles and Irvine campus are required to complete the Assessment and Therapy Clinical Forensic Competency Examinations (CFCE), respectively. The aim of the Assessment CFCE is to evaluate the student's knowledge regarding psychological testing and psychometric theory, as well as her or his ability to assess the various dimensions of human experience in an ethical,

culturally sensitive, and professional manner. The goal of the Therapy CFCE is to examine the student's ability to apply the theory, research, and practice of a chosen theory of intervention, as well as her or his ability to practice that theory competently and in an ethical, culturally sensitive, and professional manner. Ultimately, the CFCEs are both formative capstones used to measure student learning, and evaluative tools that allow the department to assess the student's abilities as a future clinical forensic psychologist.

The CFCE cases are presented during practicum seminar courses and scheduled by the seminar leader. Students formally present their CFCE cases within the spring semester of the Assessment and Therapy Practicum Seminars, respectively. The seminar leaders will provide additional information about specific guidelines and requirements in the course syllabus.

Dissertation

The dissertation is an essential aspect of a student's academic experience and clinical training. The purpose of the dissertation is two-fold: 1) to provide evidence of a student's mastery of the program's required research and content competencies; and 2) to provide faculty with a measurement of program effectiveness. The student uses the dissertation to demonstrate mastery of four critical research objectives: 1) professionalism, 2) methodological rigor, 3) conceptual rigor, and 4) contribution to the field of clinical forensic psychology. These objectives form a summative rubric for dissertation evaluation. The student's dissertation committee is responsible for assessing the student's abilities and giving final approval to the dissertation.

Internship

All students are required to complete an approved internship following the completion of all course work, practicum, and dissertation requirements. At internship, students integrate academic knowledge with clinical skills and demonstrate the effective and ethical use of these skills in clinical practice. Through intensive supervised training, students gain direct experience in applying their knowledge with a clinical or clinical forensic population. Internship requires successful completion of at least 2,000 hours of supervised clinical training at a site, and with supervision, that is acceptable for licensure by the California Board of Psychology. Some or all Comprehensive Psychological Test Batteries may be completed at Internship.

The Curriculum

Required Core: 101 credit hours

Electives: 4 credit hours

Program Total

Psy.D. Clinical Forensic Psychology: 105 credit hours

Required Core

- PF 610 Introduction to Forensic Psychology (2 credit hours)
- PF 612 Psychology of the Life Span: Infancy to Old Age (3 credit hours
- PF 613 Psychopathology (3 credit hours)
- PF 619 Clinical and Diagnostic Interviewing (3 credit hours)
- PF 621 Mental Health Law (2 credit hours)
- PF 626 Alcoholism and Chemical Substance Abuse Dependency (3 credit hours)

- PF 635 Group Processes of Therapy (3 credit hours)
- PF 636 Family Systems and Family Treatment (3 credit hours)
- PF 647 Diversity in Forensic Psychology (3 credit hours)(course fee \$895)
- PF 702 Professional Development Group (1 credit hour)
- PF 705 History and Systems of Psychology (2 credit hours)
- PF 707 Professional Ethics and Standards (3 credit hours)
- PF 710 Intellectual and Achievement Assessment (3 credit hours)(course fee \$20)
- PF 711 Personality Assessment (3 credit hours)(course fee \$24)
- PF 714 Advanced Assessment (3 credit hours)
- PF 715 Projective Methods of Assessment (2 credit hours)(course fee \$7)
- PF 717 Forensic Assessment (2 credit hours)
- PF 720 Cognitive and Affective Bases of Behavior (3 credit hours)
- PF 721 Social Bases of Behavior (3 credit hours)
- PF 722 Biological Bases of Behavior (3 credit hours)
- PF 723 Psychopharmacology (2 credit hours)
- PF 730 Introduction to Theories of Treatment and Intervention (3 credit hours)
- PF 732 Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy (3 credit hours)
- PF 744 Statistics I (3 credit hours)
- PF 745 Research Methods (3 credit hours)
- PF 747 Statistics II (3 credit hours)
- PF 756 Trauma, Crisis, and Interventions (2 credit hours)
- PF 763 Family/Partner Violence (2 credit hours)
- PF 768 Human Sexuality and Sexual Deviance (2 credit hours)
- PF 798 Psychometric Theory (3 credits)
- PF 773 Assessment Practicum I (3 credit hours)
- PF 774 Assessment Practicum II (3 credits hours)
- PF 777 Therapy Practicum I (3 credit hours)
- PF 778 Therapy Practicum II (3 credit hours)
- PF 781 Dissertation I (1 credit hour)
- PF 782 Dissertation II (1 credit hour)
- PF 783 Dissertation III (1 credit hour)
- PF 784 Dissertation IV (1 credit hour)
- PF 785 Dissertation V (1 credit hour)
- PF 786 Dissertation VI (1 credit hour)
- PF 787 Dissertation VII (1 credit hour)

Students must complete 3 credit hours of intership. Students may combine full time internship courses with part-time internship courses but the total for graduation must equal three credit hours. Advising with the Clinical Training Director is required before registering in part-time internship courses.

- PF 795 Internship I (1 credit) (auto full time)
- PF 796 Internship II (1 credit) (auto full time) (course fee \$475)
- PF 797 Internship III (1 credit) (auto full time)
- PF 800 Internship I (Part Time) (.5 credit hours) (auto half-time)
- PF 801 Internship II (Part Time) (.5 credit hours) (auto half-time)
- PF 802 Internship III (Part Time) (.5 credit hours) (auto half-time)
- PF 803 Internship IV (Part Time) (.5 credit hours) (auto half-time) (Course Fee: \$475)
- PF 804 Internship V (Part Time) (.5 credit hours) (auto half-time)
- PF 805 Internship VI (Part Time) (.5 credit hours) (auto half-time)
- PF 810 Psy.D. Clinical Forensic Competency Examination I (auto half time) (0 credit hours)

PF 811 - Psy.D. Clinical Forensic Competency Examination II (auto half time) (0 credit hours)

Electives

PF 618 is a requirement for students wishing to Petition for the M.A. Forensic Psychology (Non-Licensure) along the way.

- PF 618 Violence and Risk Assessment (2 credit hours)
- PF 633 Evaluating and Treating the Sex Offender (2 credit hours)
- PF 750 Theories of Criminology (2 credit hours)
- PF 765 Child Forensic Assessment and Interviewing (2 credit hours)
- PF 776 Assessment Practicum III (0 credit hours) (auto full-time)
- PF 780 Therapy Practicum III (0 credit hours) (auto full-time)
- PF 791 Advanced Practicum I (2 credit hours)(auto full time)
- PF 792 Advanced Practicum II (1 credit hour) (credit/no credit)(auto full time)
- PF 799 Advanced Practicum III (0 credit hour) (credit/no credit) (auto full-time)

Extension Courses

- PF 806A-F Internship Extension (0 credit hours) (auto full-time)
- PF 950A-F Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) auto half-time
- PF 951A-F Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) auto full-time
- PF 952 Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) Not F.A. eligible
- PF 953 Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours)
- PF 954 Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours)
- PF 766 Practicum Extension (0 credit hours)(auto full time)

Earning a Master of Arts Degree in Forensic Psychology

Students in the PsyD Clinical Forensic Psychology program may be awarded an MA in Forensic Psychology - Non-Licensure Track degree following the successful completion of required coursework and specific program requirements. At the beginning of the semester in which a student expects to be eligible for the master's degree, he or she is required to submit a Petition for Degree Conferral to the Office of the Registrar. The petition is a request to conduct an audit to determine eligibility for the degree. Students who meet the requirements are eligible to participate in the next scheduled commencement. Eligibility guidelines are contained in the catalogue under which the student was admitted. All students who file a Petition for Degree Conferral will be charged a fee.

The specific requirements for award of a Master of Arts in Forensic Psychology - Non-Licensure Track degree are as follows:

- Good academic and professional standing
- Successful completion of the required coursework:
- PF 610 Introduction to Forensic Psychology (2 credit hours)
- PF 612 Psychology of the Life Span: Infancy to Old Age (3 credit hours
- PF 613 Psychopathology (3 credit hours)
- PF 618 Violence and Risk Assessment (2 credit hours)
- PF 619 Clinical and Diagnostic Interviewing (3 credit hours)
- PF 621 Mental Health Law (2 credit hours)

- PF 626 Alcoholism and Chemical Substance Abuse Dependency (3 credit hours)
- PF 647 Diversity in Forensic Psychology (3 credit hours)(course fee \$895)
- PF 707 Professional Ethics and Standards (3 credit hours)
- PF 756 Trauma, Crisis, and Interventions (2 credit hours)
- PF 781 Dissertation I (1 credit hour)
- PF 782 Dissertation II (1 credit hour)
- PF 783 Dissertation III (1 credit hour)

PsyD Clinical Psychology - Anaheim

Program Overview

The primary purpose of the PsyD Clinical Psychology degree program is to educate and train students in the major aspects of clinical practice. To help to ensure that students are prepared adequately, the curriculum integrates theory, training, research, and practice, preparing students to work with a wide range of populations in need of psychological services and in a broad range of roles. Students who complete the clinical psychology program earn a Doctor of Psychology (PsyD) degree. The awarding of this degree indicates that the recipient has mastered the fundamental academic and experiential elements of clinical psychology.

In contrast to the Doctor of Philosophy (Ph.D.) degree, which is primarily a research degree attainable in a variety of academic disciplines, the Doctor of Psychology (PsyD) degree program combines relevant research, applied theory, and field experience and is designed to prepare the graduate to apply psychological knowledge in a variety of settings and roles.

The program accepts students who have a minimum of a bachelor's degree. Although prior degrees need not be in psychology, some psychology courses are required (as foundation courses), and some experience in psychological services is desirable.

The program employs the practitioner-scholar model for training and evaluation. In addition to the prescribed coursework, the required curriculum for all students includes practicum field experiences and an internship. To complete the doctoral program successfully, students must demonstrate competency in a number of specific clinical and conceptual skills, and must complete a dissertation in the area of applied clinical psychology.

Graduates are trained in the science and practice of psychology, and are able to apply the clinical skills of observation, assessment, intervention, and evaluation to help different segments of our ever-changing society. The areas of competency are modeled, in part, after those specified by the National Council of Schools and Programs of Professional Psychology and the standards of the American Psychological Association.

Included among the basic objectives of the program are the following:

Preparing practitioners to deliver basic diagnostic and therapeutic services to diverse populations, whether on an individual, family, or group basis

Enabling practitioners to integrate biological, psychological, and sociocultural aspects of human functioning into their clinical approach

Assisting practitioners to assume leadership positions within the healthcare delivery system

Training psychologists to work with professionals from other disciplines as part of an effectively functioning healthcare team

Preparing practitioners to evaluate and use clinical research applications of psychology

Accreditation

The Clinical PsyD Program at Anaheim Campus is accredited by the American Psychological Association (APA).

Questions related to the program's accredited status should be directed to the Commission on Accreditation:

The American Psychological Association Office of Program Consultation and Accreditation 750 First Street, NE Washington, D.C. 20002-4242 202.336.5979

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's PsyD Clinical Psychology program, in Anaheim, is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. The program admits students whom it judges to possess sufficient academic aptitude, as well as the emotional and social maturity to function effectively as future professional psychologists. Applicants will be evaluated on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors considered are: undergraduate performance, relevant work history (i.e., volunteer and professional experience, including, but not limited to, clinical, research, teaching and related experience), the content of essays describing applicants rationale for wanting to become a clinical psychologist and what the applicant would contribute to interactions with people form diverse backgrounds, writing skills, admission interviews, and recommendations from academic professors or supervisors from professional or volunteer experiences. . An undergraduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale or a graduate GPA of 3.25 or higher on a 4.0 scale where a degree has been earned is required for admission to the Program. Applicants not meeting this requirement will not be considered. Applicants must submit the following:

- Personal/professional goal statement with a self-appraisal of qualifications for the profession
- Current Curriculum Vitae or résumé
- Three letters of recommendation
- Official transcripts from all post-secondary schools attended where transfer credit is being requested
- Essay:

Please answer the following question within three double spaced typed pages (approximately 750 words). Discuss your rationale for applying to graduate school to become a Clinical Psychologist. Please include the following in your response:

- (i) your reason for selecting the PsyD in Clinical Psychology training model,
- (ii) how your educational/training background <u>and</u> life experience prepared and lead you to select a career in Clinical Psychology,

- (iii) how your professional goals align with the university's mission to commit to service that embraces diverse communities of our society, and
- (iv) your career aspirations.

Your personal statement should provide information that allows the program to determine your preparation and aptitude (academic and personal) for graduate level study and a career in Clinical Psychology.

The Clinical Psychology Doctoral Program, Anaheim Campus, requires 15 semester hours of psychology credit, including three specific courses (at the undergraduate or graduate level) that must be completed with a grade earned of 'C' or better prior to enrollment:

- Introduction to Psychology or General Psychology (waived if the applicant has an undergraduate or graduate degree in Psychology)
- Abnormal Psychology, Psychopathology, or Maladaptive Behavior
- Statistics
- Two additional psychology courses

Based on the evaluation of these materials, selected candidates may be invited to interview for further consideration of their application. Please see the application for detailed instructions and information regarding application requirements, application deadlines, and letters of recommendation. Applications must be submitted with a \$50 (US) non-refundable fee in order to be evaluated. This fee may be waived for The Chicago School alumni, McNair Scholars and military personnel.

Applicant Notification

If, after initial review of all application materials the Admission Committee so recommends, the applicant will be invited for an interview day with members of the Department faculty. Interviews are by invitation only and mandatory for full consideration.

Post interview, the applicant will be notified of the Admission Committee's decision regarding his or her application. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Program Aims

The PsyD Clinical Psychology program's aim is to educate and train students employing a practitioner-scholar model so that they will be able to function effectively as clinical psychologists. This model provides an integration of psychological theory, scientific inquiry, and evidence-based practice into the core clinical practice domains of assessment, diagnostics, intervention, supervision, and consultation; with awareness of multicultural and diversity factors. The program emphasizes the acquisition of knowledge, skills, and attitudes essential in the development of independently functioning professional health service psychologists. Considerable focus is also given to the ethical and legal parameters of practice.

Program Competencies

The program competencies are consistent with the APA Standards of Accreditation, the clinical psychology doctoral program prepares students to acquire the necessary discipline-specific knowledge and profession-wide competencies as follows:

- 1. Students will demonstrate competency in (i) the application of research and statistical methods in psychology to generate knowledge and to evaluate the effectiveness of research methods, and (ii) in psychometric science.
 - a. Students will demonstrate knowledge and application of research methods.
 - b. Students will demonstrate knowledge and application of quantitative/qualitative methods.
 - c. Students will demonstrate knowledge and application of psychometrics.
 - d. Students will demonstrate the ability to independently formulate, conduct, and disseminate scholarship.
- 2. Students will understand and apply ethical principles and professional legal standards that guide the practice of clinical psychology.
 - a. Students will demonstrate knowledge and application of the current APA Code of Ethics and the general ethical principles that serve as the foundation for this code.
 - b. Students will demonstrate knowledge and application of a model of ethical decision-making to resolve ethical issues or dilemmas.
 - c. Students will demonstrate knowledge and application of the general legal parameters that govern professional practice.
- 3. Students will demonstrate competency in individual and cultural diversity by demonstrating knowledge of the major theoretical models and empirical findings, and will apply knowledge about human diversity to clinical practice.
 - a. Students will demonstrate knowledge of the major theoretical models and empirical findings, including an awareness of social, political, economic, and cultural factors that impact individuals, institutions, systems, and communities.
 - b. Students will demonstrate an awareness of their own personal values, biases, and cultural identities that inform perceptions of self, others, and engagement with others.
 - c. Students will utilize cross-cultural skills and appropriate APA multicultural guidelines to provide services to persons with diverse cultural values and lifestyles.
- 4. Students will demonstrate knowledge of the requisite values, attitudes, and behaviors that exemplify their identities as professional psychologists.
 - a. Students will demonstrate self-reflection, and openness to supervision and feedback.
 - b. Students are encouraged to engage in life-long learning by attending educational and professional meetings, life-long learning events, subscribing to professional journals, or presenting scholarly work.
- 5. Students will demonstrate effective communication competencies and interpersonal skills.
 - a. Students will demonstrate clear, articulate, and integrative written communication skills.
 - b. Students will demonstrate clear, articulate, and integrative oral communication skills.
 - c. Students will demonstrate effective interpersonal skills in professional interactions.
- 6. Students will demonstrate competency in using assessment instruments and incorporating knowledge of psychopathology in the assessment process.

- a. Students will demonstrate competency in selecting, administering, scoring, interpreting, and reporting psychological tests and measures.
- b. Students will demonstrate competency in integrating interview data, psychological testing results, behavioral observations, and information from other sources to formulate an understanding of presenting concerns and to make recommendations.
- c. Students will demonstrate competency in identifying relevant DSM criteria and utilizing other clinical information to generate diagnostic formulations.
- d. Students will demonstrate competency in applying knowledge of psychopathology to case formulation and treatment planning.
- 7. Students will demonstrate competency in clinical interventions that are grounded in conceptual models of treatment and evidence-based practices.
 - a. Students will demonstrate knowledge of and apply evidence based clinical practices.
 - b. Students will demonstrate an ability to establish and maintain an effective working relationship and/or treatment alliance.
 - c. Students will demonstrate knowledge and competency in evaluating the effectiveness of interventions.
- 8. Students will demonstrate knowledge of the models and processes of supervision.
 - a. Students will evidence knowledge of supervision models and practices.
- 9. Students will demonstrate knowledge of consultation models and practices, and demonstrate interprofessional/interdisciplinary skills.
 - a. Students will evidence knowledge of consultation models and the role of a consultant.
 - b. Students will demonstrate competency in applying consultation practices—assessment and intervention—to specific referral questions from other professionals.
- 10. Students will demonstrate foundational knowledge underlying the science of psychology in the following areas: biological, cognitive-affective, and social bases of human behavior; and lifespan development and history and systems of psychology.
- 11. Students will demonstrate advanced skills in integrating knowledge in scientific psychology.

Clinical Training Overview

Clinical training is the supervised out-of-class contact of students with a clinical population. Through this contact, students have the opportunity to apply their theoretical knowledge, implement clinical techniques based on this knowledge, and develop the professional and personal attitudes important to the identity of a professional psychologist. By the end of clinical training, students should possess effective assessment and intervention skills, and practice in an ethical manner.

During clinical training, students advance through progressively more challenging levels of training. At each level, multiple faculty members and field supervisors assess a student's progress in multiple ways. In order to advance to the next level of clinical training, the student must complete practicum and internship, and demonstrate competency in specific clinical tasks.

Foundation Courses

The Chicago School requires applicants to successfully complete, with a "C" or better, five undergraduate courses that serve as a basic foundation for course work in clinical psychology. Several of these courses serve as direct prerequisites to the PsyD Clinical Psychology courses. The following three courses are required:

- *Introduction to psychology or general psychology
- Abnormal psychology, psychopathology, or maladaptive behavior
- Statistics

Two additional courses in the field of psychology must also be completed.

Students must complete foundation courses before they matriculate in the PsyD in Clinical Psychology degree program

* This course may be waived if the applicant has completed a Bachelors or Masters degree in Psychology.

Enrollment Requirement

In order to complete the training segment of the program in a timely fashion, fall-entering students are expected to maintain a full-time course load (13 credit hours for fall and spring semesters, and 6 credit hours for summer session I) during the first full academic year. Students unable to do so must petition the department chair for a reduced course load in either semester. Subsequent academic years in the five-year program require no more than 25 credit hours.

Additional Requirements for Academic Progress

Students must make satisfactory progress toward a degree by maintaining a grade point average (GPA) of 3.0 on a scale of 4.0, and completing the program within seven years after matriculation. All coursework and practicum (for clinical psychology programs) must be completed by the end of the fifth year after matriculation. Comprehensive Examinations must be completed successfully no later than the end of the fifth year after matriculation. Students who have temporarily withdrawn from The Chicago School will have seven years plus the length of time that they were not enrolled, not to exceed one year, to complete the program. Exceptions to this policy require departmental approval.

Graduation Requirements

Students who are admitted into the program will be responsible for completing the program requirements that are in effect at the time of their admission. The school retains the right to modify these requirements in accordance with the demands of the profession of psychology. The courses will be completed in the order recommended by the PsyD Clinical Psychology program.

To be eligible for graduation in the PsyD in Clinical Psychology degree program, students must meet the following requirements:

- 98 credit hours, all of which must be completed by the end of the seventh year of matriculation. The total credit hours must include:
 - o 69 credit hours of core course requirements*
 - 9 credit hours of elective course requirements
 - o 2 credit hours of professionalization group requirements

- o 15 credit hours of practicum and practicum seminar requirements
- 3 credit hours of clinical dissertation requirements
- Successful completion of the Clinical and Research Comprehensive Examination and Basic Science Comprehensive Examination
- Successful completion of all sections of the Clinical Competency Evaluation (CCE)
- Successful completion of a one year, full-time internship or its equivalent
- Successful completion of the dissertation, including final signatures of the department chair, dissertation chair, and committee member
- Grade Point Average (GPA) of at least "B" (3.0 on a 4.0 scale), with no grades lower than "B-" or better in all courses
- Completion of Professionalization Group I and Professionalization Group II
- Completion of these requirements within seven years of matriculation into the program
- A completed Petition to Graduate submitted to campus administration

Program Requirements

Students enrolled in the PsyD Clinical Psychology program at Anaheim are required to successfully complete 98 credit hours distributed as follows: scientific foundations requirements, 21 credit hours; statistics and research methodology requirements, 6 credit hours; ethics requirements, 3 credit hours; psychopathology requirements, 9 credit hours; diversity requirements, 3 credit hours; consultation and supervision requirements, 3 credit hours; assessment requirements, 9 credit hours; interventions requirements, 15 credit hours; professionalization group requirements, 2 credit hours; practicum requirements, 15 credit hours; elective requirements, 9 credit hours; dissertation requirements, 3 credit hours; internship requirements, 0 credit hours. Students who receive a grade below "B-" in any course must retake the course during the next academic year or sooner.

Professionalization Group Requirements

These discussion groups for first-year students are led by a full-time faculty member and meet once a week for one hour. Students discuss topics related to professional psychology and the development of a professional identity. The faculty member leading the group will help students with academic and field training planning, general consultation on the PsyD in Clinical Psychology degree program, and questions emerging during the student's first-year academic experience. The Professionalization Group carries 1 academic credit hour for each semester (PP7110 and PP7111).

The objectives for these two courses are as follows:

- To assist and support students in developing identities as clinical psychology trainees and evolving clinical psychology professionals through readings, discussion, role play and classroom presentation.
- To introduce students to the ethical practice of psychology and contemporary issues in clinical psychology
- To orient students to the roles, norms, and expectations of graduate studies and professional practice
- To provide academic advisement and student advocacy

Practicum and Practicum Seminar Requirements

The practicum is the first opportunity provided to The Chicago School students for clinical field training. Within the series of practicum courses, the PsyD Clinical Psychology program provides students with the opportunity of working under supervision with a clinical population within a mental health delivery system. The practicum is an essential part of clinical training and all students are required to participate in the practicum experience. Liability insurance is included in the cost of the practicum.

Full-time students will normally be placed in a Diagnostic Practicum and Seminar during their second year of study, in a Therapy Practicum and Seminar during their third year of study, and an Advanced Practicum during their fourth year of study. For registration purposes, the practicum and seminar are treated like a course. The practicum/seminar carries 3 credit hours per semester and 6 credit hours per academic year. Advanced Practicum (PP8310 and PP8311) carries 1.5 credit hours per semester over two semesters for 3 credit hours per academic year. Practicum usually begins in September and concludes in June. However, a limited number of practicum programs may begin in July or August, and finish in June. For each of the Diagnostic, Therapy, and Advanced Practicum years, the student will be required to spend a minimum of 600 hours in the practicum training experience.

A practicum may not be done in a student's place of employment, nor is any student transferred from the practicum requirements. Students who come to the PsyD Clinical Psychology program with extensive clinical backgrounds are placed in practicum sites in areas where they have an interest and do not have previous experience.

Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

Practicum Eligibility

All students who enter the practicum application process must be in good academic standing, and have a minimum grade point average of 3.0 (on a scale of 4.0). Students must have completed the academic planning which will allow for all the practicum prerequisite courses to be completed prior to the beginning of the practicum. No student may begin a practicum without being in attendance for a minimum of two and one-half semesters.

Diagnostic Practicum

To be eligible for a Practicum, a student must have successfully completed or transferred the following courses:

Diagnostic Practicum Prerequisites

```
PP7110 - Professionalization Group I (1)

PP7111 - Professionalization Group II (1)

PP7230 - Psychometric Theory (3)

PP7300 - Psychopathology I (3)

PP7301 - Psychopathology II (3)

PP7330 - Child and Adolescent Psychopathology (3)

PP7365 - Clinical Interviewing (3)

PP7370 - Cognitive Assessment (3)

PP7373 - Integrative Assessment (2)

PP7520 - Personality Assessment (4)

PP8039 - Interventions II (3)
```

Therapy Practicum

Requirements for the Therapy Practicum include:

- Successful completion of the Diagnostic Practicum and Diagnostic CCE
- Good academic standing
- Successful completion of courses designated as Diagnostic Practicum prerequisites
- Successful completion of courses designated as Therapy practicum prerequisites

To be eligible for Therapy Practicum, in addition to the Diagnostic Practicum prerequisites, a student must have successfully completed the following courses:

Therapy Practicum Prerequisites

```
PP7100 - Professional Issues: Ethics, Conduct, and Law (3)

PP7340 - Issues in the Assessment and Treatment of Diverse Populations (3)

PP8010 - Cognitive Behavioral Theory and Therapy (3)

PP8040 - Psychoanalytic Theory and Therapy (3)

PP8050 - Family and Couples Therapy (3)

PP8201 - Practicum I (3)

PP8202 - Practicum II (3)
```

The director of Clinical Training also has the discretion to make decisions on any probationary student who is beyond the first year of attendance. This would include both looking for practicum and participating in practicum.

If a first-year student is placed on probation based on fall semester grades, the student may not look for a practicum during the spring semester. If the student has achieved a GPA of 3.0 when the spring grades are available, the student may, at the discretion of the director of Clinical Training, look for a practicum.

If a first-year student who has accepted a practicum is placed on probation after spring grades are received, the student may not attend the practicum if the GPA is below a 3.0 after the spring grades are received. The Training Committee may make exceptions only after a thorough review of the student's academic and clinical suitability. If the GPA is at or above 3.0 after the spring grades are received, the student may, at the discretion of the director of Clinical Training, begin the practicum.

Advanced Practicum Prerequisites

Requirements for the Advanced Practicum include:

- Successful completion of the Diagnostic Practicum and Diagnostic CCE
- Successful completion of the Therapy Practicum and Therapy CCE
- Good academic standing

Practicum Seminar Requirements

All students enrolled in a practicum must also concurrently enroll in a practicum seminar. The seminar meets weekly throughout the fall (15 weeks) and spring (15 weeks) semesters. These meetings allow the student to reflect on practicum experiences and to acquire additional skills and attitudes useful in field training. The specific content and emphasis of the seminar varies according to the practicum setting and focus of the enrolled students and the professional expertise of the faculty member.

Types of Practicum

Diagnostic Practicum

Emphasizes the clinical observation and diagnostic interviewing of clients and provides gradual exposure to psychological testing procedures.

Therapy Practicum

Emphasizes therapeutic intervention. Time is allocated to direct therapeutic contact, seminars and meetings, and supervision.

Advanced Practicum

Provides the opportunity for students to gain further experience in either testing, therapy, or a combination of both.

Clinical Competency Examination Requirements

The Clinical Competency Examination (CCE) is a series of competency-based examinations, which are designed to evaluate students' mastery of major clinical assessment and therapeutic skills.

Students should be prepared to demonstrate clinical competence both conceptually and in application. It is also expected that students, having learned theoretical and applied bases in classroom courses, will have made use of out-of-class clinical contacts (i.e., practicum, seminar groups, supplementary supervision, visiting lecturers) to refine and extend the skills to be evaluated by the CCE. Therefore successful completion of coursework and practicum do not guarantee passing the CCE.

Comprehensive Examinations Requirements

All doctoral degree program students are required to successfully complete Comprehensive Examinations. The material covered in the Comprehensive Examinations covers the courses and material required of students during the first three years of study in the Psy. D. Clinical Psychology program. The examinations require students to be able to integrate the material from those years into a form demonstrating both mastery of the material and ability to organize what they have learned in a coherent and logical manner.

Students who are unable to pass the Comprehensive Examinations will receive information concerning their performance on the examinations and assistance in constructing additional experiences and instruction aimed at enabling them to pass these program requirements.

Comprehensive Examination Prerequisites: Clinical and Research Exam

To be able to sit for the Comprehensive Examination, the student must have completed successfully all first and second-year courses, excluding the practicum. Courses that are transferred are considered successfully completed.

Comprehensive Examination Prerequisites: Scientific Foundations Exam

To be able to sit for the Comprehensive Examination (Scientific Foundations Exam), the student must have successfully completed all first, second, and third-year courses. Courses that are transferred are considered successfully completed.

Dissertation Requirements

The student should consult their dissertation chair as the primary resource for information about the process from start to finish. The *APA Publication Manual* (6th edition, revised, 2009) should be used as the guide to editorial style and typing instructions.

Dissertation Overview

The Dissertation is a training experience designed to provide students with a guided opportunity for producing a scholarly paper in which students build upon and consolidate research skills learned in the statistics and research methods course sequence and prior empirical observations and components of courses in the basic curriculum. A broad range of quantitative and qualitative methods of inquiry is permitted in the dissertation.

Internship Requirements

Internship Application Requirements

All students are required to complete a one-year (12-month) internship, or a two-year (24-month) half-time internship (see course listing above) as a condition for graduation. This intensive and supervised contact with clients is essential for giving greater breadth and depth to the student's overall academic experience. Typically, full-time students will begin the internship during their fourth or fifth year of enrollment.

In order to be eligible to apply for internships, the student must have completed the following requirements:

- Be in good academic standing (i.e. must not be on academic/financial aid probation)
- Successfully pass the doctoral Comprehensive Examination (Part One and Part Two)
- Successfully pass the entire set of CCE tasks
- Resolved all grades of incomplete by October 1 of the year they apply
- Obtain dissertation proposal approval from all committee members, and the Institutional Review Board (if applicable)

Any student who does not meet one or more of these requirements, must petition the Training Committee in order to obtain permission to apply for internships.

The Curriculum

Required Core (89 Credit Hours)

- PP 7000 History and Systems (3 credit hours)
- PP 7010 Lifespan Development (3 credit hours)
- PP 7040 Cognition and Affective Processes (3 credit hours)
- PP 7050 Physiological Psychology (3 credit hours)
- PP 7060 Social Psychology (3 credit hours)
- PP 7230 Psychometric Theory (3 credit hours)
- PP 7360 Clinical Psychopharmacology (3 credit hours)
- PP 7200 Statistics and Research I (3 credit hours)
- PP 7201 Statistics and Research II (3 credit hours)
- PP 7100 Professional Issues: Ethics, Conduct, and Law (3 credit hours)
- PP 7300 Psychopathology I (3 credit hours)
- PP 7301 Psychopathology II (3 credit hours)
- PP 7330 Child and Adolescent Psychopathology (3 credit hours)
- PP 7340 Issues in the Assessment and Treatment of Diverse Populations (3 credit hours)
- PP 7350 Consultation and Supervision (3 credit hours)
- PP 7370 Cognitive Assessment (3 credit hours)
- PP 7373 Integrative Assessment (2 credit hours)
- PP 7520 Personality Assessment (4 credit hours)
- PP 7365 Clinical Interviewing (3 credit hours)
- PP 8010 Cognitive Behavioral Theory and Therapy (3 credit hours)
- PP 8039 Interventions II (3 credit hours)
- PP 8040 Psychoanalytic Theory and Therapy (3 credit hours)
- PP 8050 Families and Couples Therapy (3 credit hours)
- PP 7110 Professionalization Group I (1 credit hour)
- PP 7111 Professionalization Group II (1 credit hour)
- PP 8201 Practicum I (3 credit hours)
- PP 8202 Practicum II (3 credit hours)
- PP 8203 Practicum III (3 credit hours)
- PP 8204 Practicum IV (3 credit hours)
- PP 8310 Advanced Practicum and Seminar I (1.5 credit hours)
- PP 8311 Advanced Practicum and Seminar II (1.5 credit hours)
- PP 8400 Dissertation Seminar (1 credit hour) (auto full-time)
- PP 8401 Dissertation I (1 credit hour)(auto full-time)
- PP 8402 Dissertation II (1 credit hour) (auto full-time)
- PP 8900 Internship I (0 credit hours)(auto full time)
- PP 8901 Internship II (0 credit hours)(auto full time)
- PP 8902 Internship III (0 credit hours)(auto full time)
- PP 8205 Internship Preparation I (0 credit hours)
- PP 8206 Internship Preparation II (0 credit hours)
- PP 8207 Internship Preparation III (0 credit hours)

These term-based dissertation courses are offered only during the summer semester and replace corresponding dissertation courses as indicated in the course descriptions. Both the A and the B term-based courses must be taken to replace a semester-based course.

- PP 8406 Dissertation IA (.5 credit hour) (auto full-time)
- PP 8407 Dissertation IB (.5 credit hour) (auto full-time)
- PP 8408 Dissertation IIA (.5 credit hour) (auto full-time)
- PP 8409 Dissertation IIB (.5 credit hour) (auto full-time)
- PP 8404 Dissertation Seminar A (.5 credit hour) (auto full-time)
- PP 8405 Dissertation Seminar B (.5 credit hour) (auto full-time)

Electives (9 Credit Hours)

Students are required to complete 9 credit hours of electives. Students choose courses in consultation with their advisor. Students may complete one of the optional concentrations to fulfill the elective requirements.

- PP 7600 Countertransference Experience (3 credit hours)
- PP 7615 Health Psychology: Prevention, Stress, and Serious Illness (3 credit hours)
- PP 8032 Advanced Psychoanalytic Psychotherapy and Supervision (3 credit hours)
- PP 8625 Child & Family Forensics (3 credit hours)
- PP 8646 Introduction to Neuropsychological Assessment (3 credit hours)
- PP 8670 Human Sexuality (3 credit hours)
- PP 8011 Advanced Cognitive Behavioral Psychotherapy (3 credit hours)
- PP 8990 Special Topics (3 credit hours)
- PP 8950A Group Therapy (3 credit hours)
- PP 8950B Advanced Play Therapy (3 credit hours)
- PP 8950C Brief Therapy (3 credit hours)
- PP 8950D Substance Abuse Treatment (3 credit hours)
- PP 8950E Development of a Private Practice (3 credit hours)
- PP 8501 Independent Study I (1 credit hour)
- PP 8502 Independent Study II (2 credit hours)
- PP 8503 Independent Study III (3 credit hours)

Concentrations in Psy.D. Clinical Psychology Program

Students may choose a concentration in Child & Adolescent Psychology or Forensic Psychology

Child & Adolescent Psychology Required Courses (9 Credit Hours)

The Child & Adolescent Psychology concentration is designed to acquaint doctoral program students with basic intervention and assessment approaches to a range of child and adolescent populations.

Students graduating with the PsyD in Clinical Psychology and with the Child & Adolescent Psychology concentration will be eligible for licensure as clinical psychologists. For this reason, the Psy.D. Clinical Psychology program at Irvine has retained the elements of the curriculum that are essential to educating and training future psychologists.

Graduates who choose this concentration will have the opportunity to understand basic principles of assessment and intervention as they are applied to clinically and culturally diverse child and adolescent populations.

Child & Adolescent Psychology Practicum Requirements

Students selecting the Child & Adolescent Psychology concentration are recommended to enroll in the Advanced Practicum (see course listing above) year in an agency, school, hospital, clinic, or selected and approved practice group which are primarily engaged in work with children and adolescents.

Child & Adolescent Psychology Internship Requirements

Students who choose this concentration are encouraged to intern at a site with a primary focus on intervention and assessment with child and adolescent populations.

Child & Adolescent Psychology Dissertation Requirements

Students who choose this concentration are encouraged to investigate a topic related to child and adolescent psychology.

Course Requirements

Students must satisfy all electives options with the following courses required for the concentration:

- PP 8710 Child Therapy (3 credit hours)
- PP 8712 Adolescent Psychotherapy (3 credit hours)
- PP 7387 Psychological Assessment of Children and Adolescents (3 credit hours)

Forensic Psychology Required Courses (9 Credit Hours)

Forensic Psychology Concentration Requirements

The Forensic Psychology concentration is designed to acquaint students with major areas in which law and psychology interact. The goal of the concentration is to familiarize students with the application of child and adult assessment techniques to both criminal and civil cases, as well as to the emerging area of testing for the hiring of police and governmental law enforcement personnel.

Students graduating with the PsyD in Clinical Psychology degree program and with the Forensic Psychology concentration will be eligible for licensure as clinical psychologists. For this reason, the Chicago School of Professional Psychology, Irvine Psy.D. in Clinical Psychology degree program has retained the elements of the curriculum that are essential to educating and training future psychologists.

Students who choose this concentration should understand selected fundamental principles in assessment of individuals involved in both criminal justice and civil legal proceedings.

Students will be familiar with topics of emerging significance in the areas of suitability assessments of police and governmental personnel.

Graduates will be conversant with the role of diverse background factors in the assessment of forensic related populations.

Practicum Requirements

Students who select the Forensic Psychology concentration will be encouraged to enroll in practica that are in forensic settings such as jails, juvenile detention centers, and selected practice groups which are primarily engaged in forensic work.

Internship Requirements

Students who select the Forensic Psychology concentration are encouraged to intern at a site with a primary forensic focus in terms of population served, and intervention and assessment techniques.

Dissertation Requirements

Students who select the Forensic Psychology concentration are encouraged to investigate a topic related to forensic psychology.

Course Requirements

Qualified students who elect to take the Forensic Psychology concentration must complete specified courses currently in the curriculum for the clinical psychology doctoral degree program.

Students must satisfy all electives options with the following courses required for the concentration

- PP 8622 Survey of Forensic Psychology (3 credit hours)
- PP 8624 Criminal Psychology (3 credit hours)
- PP 8626 Civil Psychology and Law (3 credit hours)

Extension Courses

- PP 8504 Dissertation Extension A-F (1 credit hour) (auto full-time)
- PP 7660 Practicum Extension (0 credit hours)(auto full time)
- PP 7670 Internship Extension (0 credit hours)(auto full time)

 These term-based dissertation extension courses are offered only during the summer semester and replace corresponding dissertation extension courses as indicated in the course descriptions. Both term-based courses (designated U1 and U2) must be taken to replace a semester-based course.
- PP 8505 Dissertation Extension U1 (.5 credit hour) (auto full-time)
- PP 8506 Dissertation Extension U2 (.5 credit hour) (auto full-time)

Optional Advanced Practicum

The Optional Advanced Practicum Sequence allows students who have completed the program's required practicum sequence to pursue additional supervised clinical training hours. For students who require additional time to complete dissertation work or who need to extend their progress through the program by one year, this elective training experience can serve as an opportunity to increase one's clinical hours, to pursue additional specialized training, or to continue active practice of one's clinical skills during the year prior to internship. This optional sequence is only open to students who have successfully completed of Practicum I-IV, and Advanced Practicum I-II with a grade of "Credit". Students must obtain approval from the program's Director of Clinical Training in order to participate in this

optional training sequence. This Optional Advanced Practicum Sequence sits under the Doctoral stage of education and training in the APA Taxonomy and may be part of an Emphasis or Major Area of Study in the pursuit of specialty training.

- PP 8312 Advanced Practicum III (1 credit hour)(auto full time)
- PP 8313 Advanced Practicum IV (1 credit hour)(auto full time)
- PP 8314 Advanced Practicum V (0 credit hours))(auto full time)

Earning a Master of Arts Degree in Clinical Psychology

Upon successful completion of the first two years of coursework, outlined below, in the PsyD in Clinical Psychology degree program, the Diagnostic Practicum in year two, and the Clinical and Research Comprehensive Examination, students may petition to be granted the Master of Arts (MA) degree in Clinical Psychology.

- PP 7010 Lifespan Development (3 credit hours)
- PP 7040 Cognition and Affective Processes (3 credit hours)
- PP 7060 Social Psychology (3 credit hours)
- PP 7100 Professional Issues: Ethics, Conduct, and Law (3 credit hours)
- PP 7110 Professionalization Group I (1 credit hour)
- PP 7111 Professionalization Group II (1 credit hour)
- PP 7200 Statistics and Research I (3 credit hours)
- PP 7201 Statistics and Research II (3 credit hours)
- PP 7230 Psychometric Theory (3 credit hours)
- PP 7300 Psychopathology I (3 credit hours)
- PP 7301 Psychopathology II (3 credit hours)
- PP 7330 Child and Adolescent Psychopathology (3 credit hours)
- PP 7340 Issues in the Assessment and Treatment of Diverse Populations (3 credit hours)
- PP 7365 Clinical Interviewing (3 credit hours)
- PP 7370 Cognitive Assessment (3 credit hours)
- PP 7373 Integrative Assessment (2 credit hours)
- PP 7520 Personality Assessment (4 credit hours)
- PP 8010 Cognitive Behavioral Theory and Therapy (3 credit hours)
- PP 8039 Interventions II (3 credit hours)
- PP 8040 Psychoanalytic Theory and Therapy (3 credit hours)
- PP 8050 Families and Couples Therapy (3 credit hours)
- PP 8201 Practicum I (3 credit hours)
- PP 8202 Practicum II (3 credit hours)

PsyD Clinical Psychology - Chicago

Chicago

Program Overview

The PsyD Clinical Psychology program bases its training on the practitioner-scholar model of education, integrating core competencies informed by the educational model of the National Council of Schools and Programs of Professional Psychology (NCSPP) and the American Psychological Association Standards of Accreditation. Program faculty

members actively engage in practice and scholarship, and incorporate a wide variety of clinical examples into classroom activities. Students learn through rigorous course work, challenging practicums, an integrative Internship, and a dissertation. The PsyD Clinical Psychology program is recognized for its excellent training in the provision of culturally competent services and offers students a wide variety of training opportunities.

Program Accreditation

The PsyD Clinical Psychology program at the Chicago Campus is accredited by the American Psychological Association.

Questions related to the program's accredited status should be directed to the Commission on Accreditation:

The American Psychological Association Office of Program Consultation and Accreditation 750 First Street, NE Washington, D.C. 20002-4242 202.336.5979

Vision

To inspire and transform students into engaged practitioner scholars who value diversity, professional competence & innovation, and serve those entrusted in their care with dignity and respect.

Mission

Students will engage in transformative personal and professional development, cultivating a commitment to lifelong learning, ethically guided professional practice, and an integrated appreciation for the value of diversity. Graduates will possess a demonstrated investment in providing expert psychological care, social advocacy in the profession and the various communities in which they live and serve.

Aim

The Program aim is to produce ethical, culturally sensitive, and competent health service psychologists.

Program Competencies:

The Clinical Psychology Doctoral Program (PsyD) has the following program learning outcomes. These learning outcomes are aligned with the institutional mission and learning goals of the Chicago School, the standards established by the Commission on Accreditation of the American Psychological Association and the mission of the Program:

• Professional Practice

- Assessment: Students will demonstrate competency in conducting evidence-based assessment consistent with the scope of Health Service Psychology.
- Intervention: Students will provide effective interventions derived from a variety of theoretical
 orientations or approaches. The level of intervention includes those directed at an individual, a
 family, a group, an organization, a community, a population or other systems.

- Consultation and Interprofessional/Interdiscipinary Skills: Students will intentionally
 collaborate with other individuals or groups to address a problem, seek or share knowledge, or
 promote effectiveness in professional activities.
- Supervision: Students will understand how to act as role models, provide mentoring and
 monitoring of trainees and others in the development of competence and skill in professional
 practice, provide effective evaluation of those skills, and maintain responsibility for the activities
 they oversee.

Diversity:

O Individual and Cultural Diversity: Students will demonstrate the ability to conduct all professional activities with sensitivity to human diversity, including the ability to deliver high quality services to an increasingly diverse population. Students will demonstrate knowledge, awareness, sensitivity, and skills when working with diverse individuals and communities who embody a variety of cultural and personal background and characteristics.

• Professional Behavior

- Ethics and Legal Standards: Students will understand principles of ethical and legal behavior; integrate and adhere to the APA Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct, as well as relevant laws, regulations, rules and policies through the application of sound ethical reasoning.
- Communication and Interpersonal Skills: Students will develop and maintain effective
 relationships with a wide range of individuals, demonstrate proficiency at expressive and receptive
 communication, and demonstrate effective interpersonal skills.
- Professional Values, attitudes, and behaviors: Students will behave in ways that reflect the
 values and attitudes of psychology, engage in self-reflection regarding their personal and
 professional functioning, actively seek and demonstrate openness and responsiveness to feedback,
 and progressively respond professionally in increasingly complex situations with a greater degree
 of independence.

• Scholarship

Research: Students will demonstrate knowledge, skills, and competence sufficient to produce new knowledge, to critically evaluate and use existing knowledge to solve problems, and to disseminate research.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's Clinical Psychology program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements.

At the Chicago School, we take great pride that our students represent a wide range of ethnic and cultural backgrounds as well as academic and professional experiences. We admit individuals with a record of academic achievement and personal maturity appropriate to doctoral study, as well as a commitment to service in the larger community.

Applicants for admission to the PsyD Clinical Psychology program at the Chicago Campus must meet the following requirements:

- Submission of all required application materials by the application deadline.
- A baccalaureate degree from a college or university that is regionally accredited or an equivalent academic degree from a foreign college or university, earned by the official start of the applicant's intended term.
- An academic record that demonstrates the ability to fulfill the academic demands of a doctoral program.
 Successful applicants typically have an undergraduate grade point average of 3.2 or higher on a 4.0 scale.
- Completion of at least 18 credit hours of psychology, including one course in each of the following with a "B-" or better: Abnormal psychology; Lifespan (human development); Statistics. (An offer of admissions may be extended with coursework pending however all required courses must be successfully completed prior to the start of the intended term and verified through the submission of an official transcript.)
- Completion of the Graduate Record Exam (GRE) general test within the past five years.
- Interview with faculty. Interviews are by invitation only. Applicants will be notified by the Office of Admission should an interview be granted.
- Demonstration, through written statements and interview, interest in and the basic interpersonal skills needed to begin training for the work of a clinical psychologist.

Details about the application process including deadlines and fees can be found on the Admissions website. Admission to the PsyD Clinical Psychology program is competitive and possession of the minimum requirements does not ensure admission.

The Admissions Committee evaluates applicants in a holistic manner, considering the following:

- Prior academic performance & GRE scores (verbal, quantitative, writing)
- Content and clarity of written and verbal communication
- Strength of recommendation letters
- Personal and professional presentation throughout the admission process
- Community service interest and/or experience
- Research experience
- Prior sustained professional work experience and/or substantial volunteer experience in a human services field
- Evidence of integrity, motivation, and personal ethics
- Motivation and fit with the profession and The Chicago School mission

Applicant Notification

If, after initial review of all application materials the Admission Committee so recommends, the applicant will be invited for an interview day with members of the Department faculty. Interviews are by invitation only and mandatory for full consideration.

Post interview, the applicant will be notified of the Admission Committee's decision regarding his or her application. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Articulation Agreements

The Chicago School has also established agreements between the PsyD Clinical Psychology program and the programs listed below to allow qualified students to receive transfer credit for courses taken in other The Chicago School programs that can be counted toward degree completion requirements for both programs. Click on the link of the program that interests you for details.

Psy.D Clinical Psychology and MS Clinical Psychopharmacology

PsyD Clinical Psychology and MA Forensic Psychology (Licensure Track)

Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of 106 credit hours of coursework
- Successful completion of Year 2 600-hour basic practicum
- Successful completion of Year 3 600-hour intermediate practicum
- Successful completion of Year 4 600-hour advanced practicum
- Successful completion of Clinical Competency Evaluation
- Successful completion of Assessment Competency Examination
- Successful completion of Dissertation
- Successful completion of 2,000 hour internship

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Ethical Guidelines

The Chicago School expects that all PsyD Clinical Psychology students will be knowledgeable of and adhere to the *APA Ethical Guidelines* as published by the American Psychological Association. Sound ethical reasoning and accountability to the larger community for adherence to guidelines for ethical behavior are the two characteristics that mark a profession as distinct from a career or job. As a result, several expectations of students are derived from the ethical code.

First, no student shall obtain part-time or full-time employment that is beyond the scope of their cumulative training in the field of psychology. In accordance with Illinois state law, no student may serve under the title of "psychologist," "clinical psychologist," or any closely related title or job function until granted an appropriate license by the state after the awarding of the doctoral degree. Students may, however, work as psychological assistants, researchers, or psychometricians under the supervision of a professional psychologist who is duly licensed or certified by the appropriate state agency.

A student shall not perform any function that exceeds his/her level of training. Students shall ensure that the appropriate malpractice insurance is in effect prior to their commencement of any clinical practice. In addition, a student may not establish or continue psychotherapy with any department or affiliate faculty member under any circumstances or with any adjunct faculty member while registered in his or her course or while under his or her supervision. A student who fails to adhere to this policy or otherwise fails to demonstrate the appropriate ethics required for practice in the field of professional psychology is subject to discipline.

A second derivation of the ethical code is that of integrity. The Chicago School expects that all students demonstrate the highest form of academic integrity. This applies to all of their graduate work and studies ranging from course work, to general scholarship, to interactions with faculty, staff, and students. Further, given that graduate students as part of their training gain access to extremely sensitive clinical information, The Chicago School expects that students show the highest form of professional integrity in their training settings. These expectations range from client contact, to

professional communications, to representation as a student of the school. Integrity is taken very seriously and a violation of academic and professional standards is grounds for remediation, suspension, or expulsion.

A final derivation of the ethical code is that of professional suitability. As a field, our primary responsibility is to the public we serve. As a result, should a student show signs that he or she is likely to cause harm to those we serve, swift action will be taken to mitigate that risk for harm. Such action could range from requiring additional education and remediation for the student to disciplinary action such as suspension or expulsion. Should a student demonstrate, over time and despite efforts to remediate, that he or she is not able to assume the responsibilities of the profession, he or she may be dismissed from the school. Professional suitability is defined in part by the school, in part by the field of psychology, and in part by the larger society. Should a student's ability to engage in professional practice change, for example through conviction of a crime that prevents licensure, the department may determine that completion of the program is not possible for the student.

Independent Practice

Consistent with training goals and ethical behavior, it is deemed inappropriate for PsyD Clinical Psychology students to engage in professional activities that may infringe upon a primary commitment to training, negatively affect quality of consumer mental health services, or be inconsistent with ethical and legal standards. Students' participation in outside work activities should be secondary to training and should also uphold and be consistent with the ethical and legal standards of the profession. Engaging in independent practice in psychology prior to appropriate licensure is viewed as inconsistent with training objectives and unethical for students enrolled in a doctoral program.

The Illinois Clinical Psychology Licensing Act and BOP prohibits independent practice in clinical psychology by non-licensed individuals. Regardless of previous credentials, participation in a psychology training program indicates that the student is committed to developing a professional identity as a psychologist and to developing professional skills within a psychological framework. The development of this identity occurs throughout the course of graduate-level training. It is appropriate for graduate students, whatever their previous experience, to view themselves as psychologists-in-training.

A student may hold a valid license in another profession (e.g., Licensed Clinical Professional Counselor, Licensed Clinical Social Worker, or Marriage and Family Therapist) or may obtain such a license during her/his training at The Chicago School. Such students may practice within the scope of their license consistent with the following:

- The demands of the practice in time or other resources must not jeopardize the student's primary commitment to training in the department.
- The manner in which students represent themselves to colleagues, clients and the public (e.g. marketing materials and reports of service) should not create a belief that the practice is under the auspices of or sanctioned by The Chicago School, that the practice is part of the school's training, or that the practice is that of a trained and licensed clinical psychologist.
- A student who fails to comply with the requirements of this section will be referred to the department chair for intervention, remediation, or referral for disciplinary action including possible dismissal.

Professional Development Group and Academic Advisor Assignment

All students are required to enroll in PY 678 Foundations in Professional Practice and Research I and PY 679 Foundations in Professional Practice and Research II during their first two semesters in the program. The group's instructor serves as academic advisor for those enrollees. Students maintain the same academic advisor during the fall of their second year in the program, but may request a new academic advisor after that time. Generally, during the second year, the student's Dissertation Chair becomes his/her academic advisor, unless the student requests otherwise.

Applied Professional Practice

Students in the PsyD Clinical Psychology program are assisted in placement for training (practicum and internship) by the professionals in the Office of Placement and Training (OPT) in the Program and at The Chicago School. Students are expected to adhere to guidelines and procedures of OPT related to seeking training, resolving concerns related to training, and submission of documentation related to training. Violation of OPT requirements and guidelines may be grounds for remediation, disciplinary review or expulsion.

Student Disclosure of Personal Information

Self-reflection, introspection, and an ability to examine personal reactions to clinical material are considered critical skills in student development. Students will be required to examine their personal reactions and the impact of their personal histories on the clinical services they are training to provide. Students will not be required to disclose personal information related to sexual history, history of abuse or neglect, personal psychotherapy or in-depth information regarding intimate relationships in course or department related activities. Students are expected to actively reflect upon and effectively manage their personal reactions, including to people who are different from themselves along these and other dimensions, especially when such personal reactions negatively impact clinical work, professional interactions, and ethical responsibilities. Such reflection may be required within the context of an advising relationship, some course assignments, or a supervising relationship on practicum. Students who demonstrate substantial difficulty or delay in the development of these foundational skills may be reviewed for suitability for clinical practice.

Practicum

The practicum is an integral component of clinical training. It provides a closely supervised clinical experience in which students use the knowledge obtained in the classroom to understand their clients and to develop skills in assessment, psychotherapy, and other discipline related areas. As such, the practicum serves to integrate the theoretical and practical aspects of the education of the professional psychologist. It allows students to become familiar with professional collaboration and consultation in a clinical setting.

All students enrolled since fall 2012 are required to take sixteen semester hours of Practicum. (six Basic, six Intermediate and four Advanced, see below). Basic practicum is primarily devoted to training in psychological assessment. Intermediate and Advanced practicums may be devoted to training in evidence-based models of intervention or advanced assessment training, or a combination of these activities. All practicums require two hours of supervision weekly offered by the practicum site, as well as small group seminars offered by the school. A minimum of 600 hours are completed by each student at each practicum level.

Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

Clinical Competency Evaluation (CCE)

Every Program student is required to pass a Clinical Competency Examination (CCE). The aim of the CCE, broadly stated, is to evaluate the student's knowledge of the theory, research, and practice of an intervention, as well as competency to practice in an evidence-based, ethical, and culturally sensitive manner. The program evaluates student performance on the CCE to inform the programs assessment of a student's clinical competencies in intervention and assessment.

Statistics

All students are required to take the Department Proficiency Exam in Statistics which is offered each year on multiple occasions. A passing grade on the Proficiency Exam in Statistics is a prerequisite to PY428 Statistics II, a required course in the program. If a student does not pass the exam by the end of their second year in the Program they may enroll in PY427 Statistics I, the final exam of which includes the Proficiency Exam in Statistics. This final exam must be passed to fulfill the prerequisite for PY428. PY427 Statistics I is a remedial course and is not part of the program curriculum.

Dissertation

All students are required to complete a dissertation. The dissertation is an essential aspect of a student's academic experience and clinical education at the school. The dissertation provides the school with the opportunity to formally evaluate the student's ability to contribute to the field by applying theory and research to areas of clinical psychology, thinking critically and creatively about the profession, and demonstrating self-direction and professional/scholarly writing. The dissertation should clearly and concisely demonstrate the student's command of the body of knowledge in a chosen area, as well as ability to critically evaluate and synthesize this knowledge.

Internship

All students are required to complete an Internship following the successful completion of all course work, practicum, and dissertation requirements. On internship, students integrate academic knowledge with clinical skills and demonstrate the effective and ethical use of these skills in clinical practice. Through intensive supervised training, students gain direct experience in applying their knowledge with a clinical population.

The internship experience consists of a minimum of 2,000 hours of training over 12-24 months (full or part time, respectively). Appropriate sites for internship training include programs that are approved by the American Psychological Association (APA) and programs that are members of the Association of Psychology Pre-doctoral and Post-doctoral Internship Centers (APPIC). The program requires students to apply to APA accredited sites only in Phase I and II of the APPIC match. The internship is a vital component of the educational requirements and is never waived or transferred. Students are required to register for Internship during each semester they are on internship. Registration for Internship automatically assigns full-time student status.

The Curriculum

The PsyD Clinical Psychology program is a 106 credit program that includes four years of intensive course work, and three years of required practica focused on both clinical assessment and clinical intervention. The program also requires a dissertation and a year of clinical internship. Students are able to individualize their clinical training to address their own professional and developmental interests, through the choices they make in elective areas, examples of which are described below.

On average, a student who progresses successfully through the academic program should expect to complete the Doctor of Psychology in Clinical Psychology degree in five academic years. The recommended plan is for four years of coursework followed by a full-time, APA-accredited internship. A student must complete all degree requirements within seven academic years. Exceptions to this policy require departmental approval.

Required Core: 94 credit hours

Advanced Intervention: 3 credit hours

Advanced Assessment: 3 credit hours

Electives: 6 credit hours

Program Total

PsyD Clinical Psychology - Chicago: 106 credit hours

Required Core

- PY 248 Group Processes in Therapy (3 credit hours)
- PY 411 Basic Practicum Seminar III (0 credit hours)
- PY 413 Basic Practicum Seminar I (3 credit hours)
- PY 414 Basic Practicum Seminar II (3 credit hours)
- PY 422 Clinical and Diagnostic Interviewing (3 credit hours)
- PY 426 History and Systems of Psychology (2 credit hours)
- PY 428 Statistics II (3 credit hours)
- PY 432 Psychopathology (3 credit hours)
- PY 434 Intellectual Assessment (3 credit hours)
- PY 436 Personality Assessment (3 credit hours)
- PY 443 Diversity in Clinical Psychology I (2 credit hours)
- PY 446 Diversity in Clinical Psychology II (2 credit hours)
- PY 447 Cognitive-Affective Bases of Behavior (3 credit hours)
- PY 448 Lifespan (3 credit hours)
- PY 449 Biological Bases of Behavior (3 credit hours)
- PY 450 Professional Issues and Ethics (3 credits)
- PY 451 Social Bases of Behavior (3 credit hours)
- PY 454 Quantitative Methods (3 credit hours)
- PY 458 Research Methods: Qualitative (3 credit hours)
- PY 472 Assessment Competency Examination (0 credit hours) (credit/no credit)
- PY 479 Introduction to Human Neuropsychology (2 credit hours)
- PY 481 Introduction to Clinical Psychopharmacology (2 credit hours)
- PY 500 Supervision, Consultation & Professional Practice (2 credit hours)
- PY 501 Intermediate Practicum Seminar I (3 credit hours)
- PY 502 Intermediate Practicum Seminar II (3 credit hours)
- PY 503 Intermediate Practicum Seminar III (0 credit hours)
- PY 604 Advanced Practicum Seminar I (2 credit hours)(auto half time)
- PY 607 Advanced Practicum Seminar II (2 credit hours)(auto half time)
- PY 608 Advanced Practicum Seminar III (0 credit hours)(auto half time)
- PY 618 Trauma: Theory and Treatment (2 credit hours)
- PY 638 Psychometrics (2 credit hours)
- PY 646 Substance Use Disorders (3 credit hours)
- PY 647 Interdisciplinary Systems (1 credit hour)
- PY 650 Internship I (0 credit hours)(auto full time)
- PY 651 Internship II (0 credit hours)(auto full time)
- PY 652 Internship III (0 credit hours)(auto full time)
- PY 654 Dissertation Maintenance I (1 credit hour)(auto full time)
- PY 655 Dissertation Maintenance II (1 credit hour)(auto full time)
- PY 656 Dissertation Maintenance III (1 credit hour)(auto full time)
- PY 657 Dissertation Maintenance IV (1 credit hour)(auto full time)

- PY 658 Dissertation Maintenance V (1 credit hour)(auto full time)
- PY 666 Proposal Development Seminar I (1 credit hour) (credit/no credit)
- PY 667 Proposal Development Seminar II (1 credit hour) (credit/no credit)
- PY 668 Proposal Development Seminar III (1 credit hour) (credit/no credit)
- PY 671 Basic Intervention: Psychodynamic (2 credit hours)
- PY 672 Basic Intervention: Cognitive-Behavioral (2 credit hours)
- PY 673 Basic Intervention: Existential-Humanistic (2 credit hours)
- PY 674 Basic Intervention: Systems (2 credit hours)
- PY 678 Foundations in Professional Practice and Research I (2 credit hours)
- PY 679 Foundations in Professional Practice and Research II (1 credit hour)
- PY 750 Clinical Competency Exam (auto half time) (0 credit hours)

Advanced Assessment

Students choose one Advanced Assessment Elective

- PY 396 Integrative Assessment: Introduction to Child and Adolescent Assessment (3 credit hours)
- PY 397 Integrative Assessment: Introduction to Forensic Assessment (3 credit hours)
- PY 398 Integrative Assessment: Introduction to Neuropsychological Assessment (3 credit hours)
- PY 694 Integrative Assessment (3 credit hours)

Advanced Intervention Courses

All students are required to take an advanced intervention course. These courses provide for more in depth study of a specific approach to intervention. Students may take additional advanced intervention courses as electives. The Clinical Psy.D. Department does not advocate any single theoretical intervention approach. Rather, all Clinical Psy.D. students receive an excellent base in theory, conceptualization and technique by completing a Basic Intervention course in each of the four Intervention Orientations offered by the program and then complete Advanced Intervention Courses.

Advanced intervention courses prepare students for the Clinical Competency Examination which requires students to select a case from their training and demonstrate a thorough understanding of a client's presenting condition within a theoretical framework and the biological and social context of the presenting condition. Advanced Intervention courses prepare students to demonstrate an understanding of change using both basic and advanced theory and technique in the context of evidence-based practice.

• Students who receive a grade of "C" or "F" in any Advanced Intervention course may retake the same Advanced intervention course or another Advanced intervention course to replace the grade

To sit for the Clinical Competency Exam and to meet graduation requirements, the student must have received passing grades in Advanced Intervention.

- PY 690 Advanced Intervention: Humanistic-Existential (3 credit hours)
- PY 691 Advanced Intervention: Psychodynamic (3 credit hours)
- PY 692 Advanced Intervention: Systems (3 credit hours)
- PY 693 Advanced Intervention: Cognitive Behavioral Intervention (3 credit hours)

Clusters of related courses within the curriculum

Some students choose to take program electives that complement one another and that are organized around a particular topic. Students are not required to select courses within a cluster to meet program requirements.

Program elective courses are subject to change from year to year. Their offering is based on identified student interest (as determined by periodic surveys). Additional courses related to a topic area may be developed in addition to or to replace previously offered courses Special topics (elective) courses including Study Abroad courses may also be offered.

Child, Adolescent, and Family courses:

The following courses enhance the preparation of students interested in serving the mental health needs of children, adolescents, and their parents. Courses introduce students to conceptual and practical skills in working with children, adolescents and families across the lifespan, including assessment, diagnosis, and interventions. Special topics (elective) courses in this area may also be offered.

- PY 480 Child and Adolescent Neuropsychological Assessment (2 credits)
- PY 482 Seminar in Pediatric Psychopharmacology (2 credits)
- PY 539 Introduction to Child and Adolescent Treatment (2 credits)
- PY 549 Divorce in Clinical Practice (2 credits)
- PY 695 Chicago Youth Gangs & Violence Prevention (2 credit hours)
- PY 718 Advanced Play Therapy (2 credit hours)
- PY 719 Child Trauma (2 credit hours)
- PY 725 Pediatric Neuropsychology (2 credit hours)
- PY 726 Pediatric Health Psychology (2 credit hours)

Forensic courses:

Forensic Psychology is a field that focuses on the application of the science and professional competencies of psychology to questions and issues relating to law and the legal system. The following courses provide students with basic knowledge regarding psychologists' roles in the legal system, including, mental health law and the treatment and evaluation of offenders. Students will also be introduced to testifying as an expert witness and forensic report writing. Special topics (elective) courses in this area may also be offered.

- PY 519 Violence and Risk Assessment (2 credits)
- PY 520 Evaluation and Treatment of the Offender (2 credits)
- PY 523 Mental Health Law (2 credits)
- PY 537 Forensic Documentation, Report Writing and Testifying (2 credits)
- PY 757 Forensic Neuropsychology (2 credits)

Health Psychology courses:

Health Psychology involves in the application of psychological principles and techniques to the problems of health, including working with people whose behaviors and difficulties impact health status. Health psychologists use the skills of Clinical Psychology to assess the impact of psychosocial factors in the origin and course of physical conditions, illnesses, and disabilities. Health Psychologists use a variety of interventions aimed at helping people prevent illness, recover quickly, or live with chronic conditions in a way that maximizes their functional capacities and quality of life. Coursework in Health Psychology is part of the preparation for students who wish to work in Primary Care and other interprofessional settings.

Students taking program electives in the area of Health Psychology gain an overall awareness of the role of professional psychologists as researchers, consultants, clinicians, patient-educators, and members of inter-professional teams. Students with coursework and experience in this area enhance their preparation to enter into an advanced

practicum or internship opportunities in healthcare settings including primary care. Special topics (elective) courses in this area may also be offered.

- PY 482 Seminar in Pediatric Psychopharmacology (2 credits)
- PY 564 Applied Stress Management (2 credits)
- PY 571 Psychology of Aging (2 credits)
- PY 705 Primary Care Psychology (2 credit hours)
- PY 706 Introduction to Health Psychology (2 credit hours)

International Psychology and Human Rights courses:

The following International Psychology and Human Rights elective offerings introduce students to the emerging field of international psychology with a particular focus on human rights. Utilizing an interdisciplinary and global perspective, students are introduced to sociocultural, political, and human rights issues of concern domestically and internationally. Students become familiar with the literature and empirical research in clinical responsiveness related to psychological and spiritual issues of concern to domestic international populations, refugees and internationally displaced persons, and clinical issues in international relief/crisis work. Special topics (elective) courses in this area may also be offered.

- PY 715 Refugee and IDP Trauma (2 credits)
- PY 4961 Advanced Intervention: Community Psychology (2 credits)

Human Sexuality, Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity (SOGI) courses:

The following Human Sexuality, Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity courses introduce students to culturally competent behavioral health care for lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender individuals and their families across the lifespan. Culturally competent clinicians foster and promote psychological and emotional care, as well as behavioral interventions, that recognize and respect the intersection of sex, sexuality, sexual orientation, gender, gender identity, and gender expression for individuals, families and communities. They aspire to understand how issues of stigma and discrimination intersect, particularly for individuals who experience multiple forms of oppression. These clinicians also strive to understand and respect the historical and cultural context within which sexual orientations and gender identities are created.

The Human Sexuality, Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity courses provide a clinical foundation for students who are committed to expanding access to high-quality culturally competent mental health care for sexual minority individuals and their families across the lifespan. Special topics (elective) courses in this area may also be offered.

- PY 708 Human Sexuality in Clinical Psychology (2 credit hours)
- PY 761 Gender Identity: Development, Expression and Clinical Considerations (2 credits)
- PY 763 Relational Lives of Sexual Minorities (2 credits)

Optional Advanced Practicum

The Optional Advanced Practicum Sequence allows students who have completed the program's required practicum sequence to pursue additional supervised clinical training hours. For students who require additional time to complete dissertation work or who need to extend their progress through the program by one year, this elective training experience can serve as an opportunity to increase one's clinical hours, to pursue additional specialized training, or to continue active practice of one's clinical skills during the year prior to internship. This optional sequence is only open to students who have successfully completed of Beginning Practicum I-III, Intermediate Practicum I-III, and Advanced

Practicum I-III with a grade of "Credit". Students must obtain approval from the program's Director of Clinical Training in order to participate in this optional training sequence. This Optional Advanced Practicum Sequence sits under the Doctoral stage of education and training in the APA Taxonomy and may be part of an Emphasis in the pursuit of specialty training. The two credits earned in completing the optional advanced practicum sequence may be applied to the elective credit requirement.

- PY 683 Advanced Practicum IV (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- PY 684 Advanced Practicum V (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- PY 685 Advanced Practicum VI (0 credit hours)(auto full time)

Electives

The following is a list of courses that may be offered for elective credit in the program. Special topics courses that meet elective requirements may also be offered.

- PY 482 Seminar in Pediatric Psychopharmacology (2 credits)
- PY 511 Independent Study I (1 credit)
- PY 512 Independent Study II (2 credits)
- PY 513 Independent Study III (3 credits)
- PY 519 Violence and Risk Assessment (2 credits)
- PY 520 Evaluation and Treatment of the Offender (2 credits)
- PY 523 Mental Health Law (2 credits)
- PY 533 Psychology of Women (2 credits)
- PY 537 Forensic Documentation, Report Writing and Testifying (2 credits)
- PY 549 Divorce in Clinical Practice (2 credits)
- PY 564 Applied Stress Management (2 credits)
- PY 565 Psychotherapy and Spirituality (2 credits)
- PY 571 Psychology of Aging (2 credits)
- PY 588 Learning to Teach (2 credits)(auto half time)
- PY 704 Working with Transference Countertransference (2 credits)
- PY 715 Refugee and IDP Trauma (2 credits)
- PY 757 Forensic Neuropsychology (2 credits)
- PY 758 Neuroanatomy and Neuropathology for Neuropsychologists (2 credits)
- PY 761 Gender Identity: Development, Expression and Clinical Considerations (2 credits)
- PY 763 Relational Lives of Sexual Minorities (2 credits)
- PY 695 Chicago Youth Gangs & Violence Prevention (2 credit hours)
- PY 696 Social Justice Advocacy in Psychology (2 credit hours)
- PY 697 Feminist Therapy (2 credit hours)
- PY 698 Dialectical Behavior Therapy Foundations (2 credit hours)
- PY 699 Culturally Responsive Interventions (2 credit hours)
- PY 705 Primary Care Psychology (2 credit hours)
- PY 706 Introduction to Health Psychology (2 credit hours)
- PY 708 Human Sexuality in Clinical Psychology (2 credit hours)
- PY 709 Loss and Mourning (2 credit hours)
- PY 716 Suffering, Meaning, and Practices of Care (2 credit hours)
- PY 718 Advanced Play Therapy (2 credit hours)
- PY 719 Child Trauma (2 credit hours)
- PY 725 Pediatric Neuropsychology (2 credit hours)

PY 726 - Pediatric Health Psychology (2 credit hours)

Extension Courses

- PY 950A-F Dissertation Extension (0 credit hours) auto half-time
- PY 951A-F Dissertation Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- PY 952 Dissertation Extension (0 credit hours) Not F.A. eligible.
- PY 953 Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- PY 954 Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto half-time
- PY 766 Practicum Extension (0 credit hours)(auto full time)
- PY 767 Internship Extension (0 credit hours)(auto full time)

Earning a Master of Arts Degree in Clinical Psychology

A student in the PsyD in Clinical Psychology program may earn a MA in Clinical Psychology following the successful completion of required coursework and specific program requirements. At the beginning of the semester in which a student expects to be eligible for the master's degree, they are required to submit Petition for Degree Conferral to the Office of the Registrar. The petition is a request to conduct an audit to determine eligibility for the degree. A student who meets the requirements is eligible to participate in the next scheduled commencement. Eligibility guidelines are contained in the catalog under which the student was admitted. A student who files a Petition for Degree Conferral is charged a fee.

The specific requirements for award of a Master of Arts degree for the general Program student are as follows:

- Academic and Financial Aid Good Standing
- Successful completion of Basic Practicum I, II, and III
- Successful completion of the following courses:
- PY 411 Basic Practicum Seminar III (0 credit hours)
- PY 413 Basic Practicum Seminar I (3 credit hours)
- PY 414 Basic Practicum Seminar II (3 credit hours)
- PY 422 Clinical and Diagnostic Interviewing (3 credit hours)
- PY 426 History and Systems of Psychology (2 credit hours)
- PY 434 Intellectual Assessment (3 credit hours)
- PY 436 Personality Assessment (3 credit hours)
- PY 443 Diversity in Clinical Psychology I (2 credit hours)
- PY 446 Diversity in Clinical Psychology II (2 credit hours)
- PY 448 Lifespan (3 credit hours)
- PY 450 Professional Issues and Ethics (3 credits)
- PY 638 Psychometrics (2 credit hours)
- PY 671 Basic Intervention: Psychodynamic (2 credit hours)
- PY 672 Basic Intervention: Cognitive-Behavioral (2 credit hours)
- PY 673 Basic Intervention: Existential-Humanistic (2 credit hours)
- PY 674 Basic Intervention: Systems (2 credit hours)

PsyD Clinical Psychology - Dallas

Dallas

Program Overview

The PsyD Clinical Psychology program bases its training on the practitioner-scholar model of education, integrating core competencies informed by the educational model of the National Council of Schools and Programs of Professional Psychology (NCSPP). Department faculty are actively engaged in practice and scholarship, and incorporate a wide variety of clinical examples into classroom activities. Students learn through rigorous course work, challenging practica, an integrative Internship and an innovative, applicable dissertation. The PsyD Clinical Psychology program is recognized for its excellent training in culturally competent service provision and offers students a remarkably wide variety of training opportunities.

Program Accreditation

The PsyD Clinical Psychology program at the Dallas Campus not currently accredited by the American Psychological Association.

Questions related to the program's accredited status should be directed to the Commission on Accreditation:

The American Psychological Association Office of Program Consultation and Accreditation 750 First Street, NE Washington, D.C. 20002-4242 202.336.5979

Program Philosophy

The PsyD Clinical Psychology program has adopted the practitioner-scholar model and the NCSPP Core Competency model of training. These models are predicated on the belief that competent practitioners must have both a broad knowledge of scientific and theoretical principles at the core of psychology, which includes a solid understanding of a variety of scholarly work, as well as the ability to apply their knowledge to specific clinical situations. The doctoral department does not advocate any single theoretical orientation. Rather, students learn conceptualization and technique across several theories, and then choose a theoretical orientation in which to specialize. Students are continually challenged to reflect on the art and craft of professional practice, as well as on its scientific basis.

Program Mission

Through curricular and extra-curricular learning and training, students in the PsyD Clinical Psychology program at The Chicago School will experience a transformation in personal and professional identity manifested in a commitment to life-long learning and scholarship, sophisticated cultural awareness and competence, integrity and personal responsibility, psychological-mindedness, and a demonstrated investment in both the profession and the various communities in which they are engaged through their practices and lives.

Program Aim

The Program aims to prepare graduates for entry-level practice in health service psychology.

Program Learning Outcomes

Program Learning Outcomes (PLOs) address the Foundational and Functional Competency Domains expected of graduates of professional education and training programs in psychology proposed by the American Psychological Association.

Research: Students will demonstrate knowledge, skills, and competence sufficient to produce new knowledge, to critically evaluate and use existing knowledge to solve problems, and to disseminate research.

Individual and Cultural Diversity: Students will demonstrate the ability to conduct all professional activities with sensitivity to human diversity, including the ability to deliver high quality services to an increasingly diverse population. Students will demonstrate knowledge, awareness, sensitivity, and skills when working with diverse individuals and communities who embody a variety of cultural and personal background and characteristics.

Ethical and Legal Standards: Students will understand principles of ethical and legal behavior; integrate and adhere to the APA Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct, as well as relevant laws, regulations, rules and policies through the application of sound ethical reasoning.

Professional Values, Attitudes, and Behaviors: Students will behave in ways that reflect the values and attitudes of psychology, engage in self-reflection regarding their personal and professional functioning, actively seek and demonstrate openness and responsiveness to feedback, and progressively respond professionally in increasingly complex situations with a greater degree of independence.

Communication and Interpersonal Skills: Students will develop and maintain effective relationships with a wide range of individuals, demonstrate proficiency at expressive and receptive communication, and demonstrate effective interpersonal skills.

Assessment: Students will demonstrate competency in conducting evidence-based assessment consistent with the scope of Health Service Psychology.

Intervention: Students will provide effective interventions derived from a variety of theoretical orientations or approaches. The level of intervention includes those directed at an individual, a family, a group, an organization, a community, a population or other systems.

Supervision: Students will understand how to act as role models, provide mentoring and monitoring of trainees and others in the development of competence and skill in professional practice, provide effective evaluation of those skills, and maintain responsibility for the activities they oversee.

Consultation and Interprofessional/ Interdisciplinary Skills: Students will intentionally collaborate with other individuals or groups to address a problem, seek or share knowledge, or promote effectiveness in professional activities.

Licensure

The The Chicago School PsyD Clinical Psychology program on the Dallas Campus was designed to meet the educational requirements for the psychologist licensure in the State of Texas. For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's PsyD Clinical Psychology program, on the Dallas Campus, is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. The program admits students whom it judges to possess sufficient academic aptitude, as well as the emotional and social maturity to function effectively as future professional psychologists. Applicants will be evaluated on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors considered are: undergraduate performance, relevant work history (i.e., volunteer and professional experience, including, but not limited to, clinical, research, teaching and related experience), the content of essays, writing skills, admission interviews, and recommendations from academic professors or supervisors from professional or volunteer experiences. An undergraduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale or a graduate degree in a related discipline with a GPA of 3.3 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission to the Program. Applicants not meeting this requirement will not be considered.

Applicants must submit the following:

- Official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned or credits were taken,
- Curriculum vitae or resume.
- Three letters of recommendation, and
- Two essays
 - Describe your rationale for wanting to become a clinical psychologist.
 - Describe your goals for contributing to the communities you will serve upon becoming a clinical psychologist.

The program faculty score each of the above items, along with the interview. The Clinical Psychology Doctoral Program requires 18 undergraduate or graduate semester hours of psychology credit, including three specific courses (Statistics, Abnormal Psychology, and Child/Human Development) that must be completed with a grade earned of 'C' or better prior to enrollment (please see the application for admission for detailed requirements).

Please see the application for detailed instructions and information regarding application requirements, application deadlines, and letters of recommendation. Applications must be submitted with a \$50 (US) non-refundable fee in order to be evaluated. This fee may be waived for The Chicago School alumni, McNair Scholars and military personnel.

Applicant Notification

If, after initial review of all application materials the Admission Committee so recommends, the applicant will be invited for an interview day with members of the Department faculty. Interviews are by invitation only and mandatory for full consideration.

Post interview, the applicant will be notified of the Admission Committee's decision regarding his or her application. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission to secure a place in the incoming class. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of 106 credit hours of coursework
- Successful completion of 600-hour basic practicum in Year 2
- Successful completion of 600-hour intermediate practicum in Year 3
- Successful completion of 600-hour advanced practicum in Year 4
- Successful completion of Pre-Practicum Qualifying Examination (PPQE)

- Successful completion of Pre-Dissertation Research Competency Examination (PDRCE)
- Successful completion of Scientific Psychology Competency Examination (SPCE)
- Successful completion of Clinical Comprehensive Examination-Oral/Written (CCE)
- Successful completion of dissertation
- Successful completion of 2,000-hour pre-doctoral internship
- Cumulative grade point average (GPA) of 3.00 or higher

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver.

Ethical and Professional Behavior

The Chicago School expects that all PsyD Clinical Psychology students will be knowledgeable of and adhere to the *APA Ethical Guidelines* as published by the American Psychological Association. Sound ethical reasoning and accountability to the larger community for adherence to guidelines for ethical behavior are the two characteristics that mark a profession as distinct from a career or job. As a result, several expectations of students are derived from the ethical code.

First, no student shall obtain part-time or full-time employment that is beyond the scope of their cumulative training in the field of psychology. In accordance with Texas state law, no student may serve under the title of "psychologist," "clinical psychologist," or any closely related title or job function until granted an appropriate license by the state after the awarding of the doctoral degree.

A student shall not perform any function that exceeds his/her level of training. Students shall ensure that the appropriate malpractice insurance is in effect prior to their commencement of any clinical practice. In addition, a student may not participate in psychotherapy with any department or affiliate faculty member under any circumstances or with any adjunct faculty member while registered in his or her course or while under his or her supervision. A student who fails to adhere to this policy or otherwise fails to demonstrate the appropriate ethics required for practice in the field of professional psychology is subject to discipline.

A second derivation of the ethical code is that of integrity. The Chicago School expects that all students demonstrate the highest form of academic integrity. This applies to all of their graduate work and studies ranging from course work, to general scholarship, to interactions with faculty, staff, and students. Further, given that graduate students as part of their training gain access to extremely sensitive clinical information, The Chicago School expects that students show the highest form of professional integrity in their training settings. These expectations range from client contact, to professional communications, to representation as a student of the school. Integrity is taken very seriously and a violation of academic and professional standards is grounds for remediation, suspension, or expulsion.

A final derivation of the ethical code is that of professional suitability. As a field, our primary responsibility is to the public we serve. As a result, should a student show signs that he or she is likely to cause harm to those we serve, swift action will be taken to mitigate that risk for harm. Such action could range from requiring additional education and remediation for the student to disciplinary action such as suspension or expulsion. Should a student demonstrate, over time and despite efforts to remediate, that he or she is not able to assume the responsibilities of the profession, he or she may be dismissed from the school. Professional suitability is defined in part by the school, in part by the field of psychology, and in part by the larger society. Should a student's ability to engage in professional practice change, for example through conviction of a crime that prevents licensure, the department may determine that completion of the program is not possible for the student.

Independent Practice

Consistent with training department goals and the focus on ethical behavior, it is deemed inappropriate for PsyD Clinical Psychology students to engage in professional activities that may infringe upon a primary commitment to training, negatively affect quality of consumer mental health services, or are inconsistent with ethical and legal standards. Students' participation in outside work activities should be secondary to training and should also uphold and be consistent with the ethical and legal standards of the profession. Engaging in independent practice in psychology prior to appropriate licensure, as a result, is viewed as inconsistent with these training objectives, and unethical for doctoral-level students.

A student may hold a valid license in another profession (e.g., Licensed Clinical Professional Counselor, Licensed Clinical Social Worker, or Marriage and Family Therapist) or may obtain such a license during her/his training at The Chicago School. Such students may practice within the scope of their license consistent with the following:

- The demands of the practice in time or other resources must not jeopardize the student's primary commitment to training in the department.
- The manner in which students represent themselves to colleagues, clients and the public (e.g. marketing
 materials and reports of service) should not create a belief that the practice is under the auspices of or
 sanctioned by The Chicago School, that the practice is part of the school's training, or that the practice is that
 of a trained and licensed clinical psychologist.

A student who fails to comply with the requirements of this section will be referred to the department chair for intervention, remediation, or disciplinary action, or for referral to the Student Affairs Committee for disciplinary action and possible dismissal.

Professional Performance Evaluation (PPE) Requirements

Professional Performance Evaluations (PPEs) are completed at the end of each Spring semester for all students as a part of their annual performance review in the Clinical PsyD Program. The PPE provides students with feedback regarding their interpersonal skills, communication skills, comportment, openness to feedback, and professional functioning. In addition, the PPE is used as a tool to assist students with engaging in the process of self-reflection.

A PPE may also be assigned to any student for whom a faculty member has grade/performance-related concerns, including attainment of competencies and comportment issues that should be addressed in a student advising meeting and during their annual performance review. The completion and review of PPEs is an important way for faculty and others to assist in the comprehensive evaluation of students' progress toward degree requirements. PPEs also provide essential feedback to students and advisors about areas for attention and focus in advising and remediation.

Professional Development Group and Academic Advisor Assignment

All students are required to enroll in a Professional Development Group during their first two semesters in the program to learn about their program of study and the requirements associated with completing their degree. Students are also assigned an Academic Advisor during their first year in the program, but may request a new Academic Advisor after that time. Generally, the student's Dissertation Chair becomes their Academic Advisor at the end of Year 2, unless the student requests otherwise.

Student Disclosure of Personal Information

Self-reflection, introspection, and an ability to examine personal reactions to clinical material are considered critical skills in student development. Students will be required to examine their personal reactions and the impact of their personal histories on the clinical services they are training to provide. Students will not be required to disclose personal information related to sexual history, history of abuse or neglect, personal psychotherapy or in-depth information regarding intimate relationships in course or department related activities. However, students are expected to actively reflect upon and effectively manage their personal reactions to people who are different from themselves along these and other dimensions, especially when such reactions negatively impact clinical work, professional interactions, and ethical responsibilities. Such reflection may be required within the context of an advising relationship or some course assignments at The Chicago School, or a supervising relationship on practicum.

Practicum

The practicum is an integral component of clinical training. It provides a closely supervised clinical experience in which students use the knowledge obtained in the classroom to understand their clients and to develop skills in assessment, psychotherapy, and other discipline related areas. As such, the practicum serves to integrate the theoretical and practical aspects of the education of the professional psychologist. It allows students to become familiar with professional collaboration and consultation in a clinical setting.

All students are required to take six semester hours each of Basic and Intermediate Practica, and four semester hours of Advanced Practicum (see below). The first two-semester (Basic) practicum sequence is focused on developing rapport with clients, developing proficiency with diagnostic interviewing, differential diagnoses, developing case formulations and beginning to understand how to implement treatment and evaluate its outcome. The second practica (Intermediate) sequence is primarily focused on strengthening case formulation skills, understanding how to identify, implement, and appropriately modify evidence-based interventions, administer, interpret, and integrate assessment data, understanding how to evaluate treatment outcomes, and implementing relapse-prevention strategies. The third practica (Advanced) sequence enables students to work with specialized populations and begin to develop an area of emphasis. All practica require individual and group supervision offered by the practicum site, as well as small group seminars offered by the school.

Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

Examinations

Pre-Practicum Qualifying Examination (PPQE)

At the end of the first year, students will take a Pre-Practicum Qualifying Examination (PPQE) to assess their readiness for practicum by demonstrating competency in assessment and intervention, individual and cultural diversity, ethical/legal standards, professional values/attitudes, and communication/interpersonal skills. Students will be provided with a clinical vignette to review before they respond to questions to address their understanding of issues that are presented.

Pre-Dissertation Research Competency Examination (PDRCE)

At the end of Statistics II and Lab, students will take the Pre-Dissertation Research Competency Examination (PDRCE) to assess their readiness to begin their doctoral dissertation. Students will respond by demonstrating competency in research methodology, knowledge of psychometric theory, techniques of data analysis, the ethical principles of research, and basic knowledge of the impact of individual and cultural diversity on research. Students will create a

research proposal in response to a question that they are asked to answer. In their proposal, students will demonstrate their understanding of research ethics, method and design, statistical analysis, and communication of results.

Scientific Psychology Competency Examination (SPCE)

Each student is required to take the Scientific Psychology Competency Examination (SPCE) at the end of Year Two. The purposes of the SPCE is to assess the student's basic knowledge in scientific psychology. The exam will cover the content areas of Biological Bases of Behavior, Social Bases of Behavior, Cognitive-Affective Bases of Behavior, Growth and Lifespan Development, and History and Systems of Psychology.

Clinical Comprehensive Exam (CCE-Written and Oral)

Every student is required to pass a Clinical Comprehensive Examination (CCE). The CCE has written and oral components and is given in the summer of Year Three, following the completion of Intermediate Practicum Seminar II. The CCE consists of a written paper and an oral presentation using a case vignette. The objectives of the CCE are to assess the student's functional competencies related to case conceptualization, basic clinical intervention and relationship-building skills, diagnosis, and assessment. Students must also demonstrate the ability to reflect upon and critique their own clinical work and effectiveness, as well as their understanding of diversity and difference variables upon rapport, case conceptualization, treatment planning, therapeutic intervention, and therapeutic effectiveness.

Dissertation

All students are required to complete a dissertation. The dissertation is an essential aspect of a student's academic experience and clinical education at the school. The dissertation should clearly and concisely demonstrate the student's command of the body of knowledge in a chosen area, as well as ability to critically evaluate and synthesize this knowledge.

Internship

All students are required to complete an Internship following the completion of all course work, practicum, dissertation requirements, and after passing their comprehensive examinations. On internship, students integrate academic knowledge with clinical skills and demonstrate the effective and ethical use of these skills in clinical practice. Through intensive supervised training, students gain direct experience in applying their knowledge with a clinical population.

The internship experience consists of a minimum of 2,000 hours of training over a 12-month period. Appropriate sites for internship training include programs that are approved by the American Psychological Association (APA) and programs that are members of the Association of Psychology Pre-doctoral and Post-doctoral Internship Centers (APPIC). The internship is a vital component of the program of study and is never waived or transferred. Students are required to register for Internship during each semester they are on internship. Registration for Internship automatically assigns full-time student status.

The Curriculum

Required Core: 92 credit hours

Advanced Intervention Elective: 2 credit hours

Electives/Major Area of Study: 12 credit hours

Program Total: 106 credit hours

Required Core (92 credit hours)

- PY 415TX Professional Development Group I (1 credit hour)
- PY 416TX Professional Development Group II (1 credit hour)
- PY 420TX Psychopathology I: Child and Adolescent (2 credit hours)
- PY 421TX Psychopathology II: Adult (2 credit hours)
- PY 425TX Intellectual Assessment (3 credit hours)
- PY 426TX History and Systems of Psychology (2 credit hours)
- PY 427TX Statistics I and Lab (3 credit hours)
- PY 429TX Clinical and Diagnostic Interviewing (2 credit hours)
- PY 430TX Statistics II + Lab (3 credit hours)
- PY 437TX Human Development Across the Lifespan (3 credit hours)
- PY 442TX Personality Assessment (3 credit hours)
- PY 443TX Diversity in Clinical Psychology I (2 credit hours)
- PY 446TX Diversity in Clinical Psychology II (2 credit hours)
- PY 447TX Cognitive-Affective Bases of Behavior (3 credit hours)
- PY 449TX Biological Bases of Behavior (3 credit hours)
- PY 450TX Professional Issues and Ethics (3 credit hours)
- PY 451TX Social Bases of Behavior (3 credit hours)
- PY 452TX Psychometrics (3 credit hours)
- PY 453TX Advanced Assessment (3 credit hours)
- PY 455TX Research Methods (3 credit hours)
- PY 464TX Basic Intervention: Cognitive-Behavioral (3 credit hours)
- PY 468TX Basic Intervention: Systems (3 credit hours)
- PY 479TX Introduction to Human Neuropsychology (3 credit hours)
- PY 481TX Introduction of Clinical Psychopharmacology (2 credit hours)
- PY 490TX Social-Organizational Psychology (3 credit hours)
- PY 509TX Motivation and Learning (3 credit hours)
- PY 500TX Supervision, Consultation, & Professional Practice (3 credit hours)
- PY 508TX Comprehensive Exam (auto half time) (0 credit hours) (Course Fee \$475)
- PY 640TX Proposal Development Seminar (1 credit hour)
- PY 413TX Basic Practicum Seminar I (3 credit hours)
- PY 414TX Basic Practicum Seminar II (3 credit hours)
- PY 504TX Intermediate Practicum Seminar I (3 credit hours)
- PY 502TX Intermediate Practicum Seminar II (3 credit hours)
- PY 607TX Advanced Practicum Seminar I (2 credit hours)
- PY 608TX Advanced Practicum Seminar II (2 credit hours)
- PY 641TX Dissertation Maintenance I (1 credit hour)
- PY 642TX Dissertation Maintenance II (1 credit hour)
- PY 643TX Dissertation Maintenance III (1 credit hour)
- PY 644TX Dissertation Maintenance IV (1 credit hour)
- PY 645TX Dissertation Maintenance V (1 credit hour)
- PY 650TX Internship I (0 credit hours)(auto full time)
- PY 651TX Internship II (0 credit hours)(auto full time)
- PY 652TX Internship III (0 credit hours)(auto full time)

Advanced Intervention (2 credit hours)

All students are required to take one advanced intervention course. This course provides more in-depth study of a specific approach to intervention. Students who are interested in a focus on a specific theoretical approach to intervention are able to select from courses grounded in a specific theory. The Clinical Psy.D. Department does not advocate any single theoretical intervention approach. Rather, all Clinical Psy.D. students receive an excellent base in theory, conceptualization and technique by completing Basic and Advanced Intervention Courses. Advanced Intervention courses prepare students for the Clinical Comprehensive Examination (CCE) which consists of a written paper and an oral presentation using a case vignette. The objectives of the CCE are to assess the student's functional competencies related to case conceptualization, basic clinical intervention, relationship-building skills, diagnosis, and assessment.

Advanced Intervention courses prepare students to demonstrate an understanding of change using both basic and advanced theory and technique in the context of evidence-based practice.

Students who receive a grade of "C" or "F" in any Advanced Intervention course may retake the same Advanced Intervention course or another Advanced Intervention course to fulfill their Advanced Intervention course requirement.

- PY 470TX Advanced Intervention: Systems Approaches to Individual Therapy (2 credit hours)
- PY 492TX Advanced Intervention: Cognitive (2 credit hours)
- PY 493TX Advanced Intervention: Behavioral (2 credit hours)
- PY 4931TX Advanced Intervention: CBT Behavioral Approaches for Children (2 credit hours)
- PY 497TX Advanced Intervention: Family (2 credit hours)
- PY 498TX Advanced Intervention: Couples (2 credit hours)

Major Areas of Study

The Dallas Campus offers two Major Areas of Study for students who would like to complete advanced coursework, clinical work, and scholarship in Behavioral Medicine/Health Psychology or Clinical Child/Pediatric Psychology. Students who choose to participate will take all program electives in their specified area, complete supervised practicum experiences in a related setting, and complete their dissertation on a topic relevant to the field. Students who do not wish to specialize may take any electives offered in the program (including those in a Major Area of Study) to meet degree completion requirements.

Health Psychology/Behavioral Medicine (12 credit hours)

- PY 510TX Biopsychological Aspects of Medical Disorders (3 credit hours)
- PY 511TX Health Psychology/Behavioral Medicine (3 credit hours)
- PY 512TX Epidemiology and Public Health Psychology (3 credit hours)
- PY 513TX Integrated Primary Care (3 credit hours)

Clinical Child/Pediatric Psychology (12 credit hours)

- PY 489TX Pediatric Health Psychology (3 credit hours)
- PY 520TX Psychological Assessment of Children and Adolescents (3 credit hours)
- PY 521TX Advanced Child and Adolescent Psychopathlogy (3 credit hours)
- PY 522TX Evidence-Based Child and Adolescent Treatment (3 credit hours)

Electives (12 credit hours)

Students who do not wish to engage in a Major Area of Study may choose from any of the elective courses below to meet graduation requirements.

- PY 249TX Group Therapy (3 credit hours)
- PY 250TX Theories, Evaluations and Treatment of Addictions (3 credit hours)
- PY 588TX Learning to Teach (3 credit hours)
- PY 573TX Child Trauma (3 credit hours)
- PY 510TX Biopsychological Aspects of Medical Disorders (3 credit hours)
- PY 511TX Health Psychology/Behavioral Medicine (3 credit hours)
- PY 512TX Epidemiology and Public Health Psychology (3 credit hours)
- PY 513TX Integrated Primary Care (3 credit hours)
- PY 489TX Pediatric Health Psychology (3 credit hours)
- PY 520TX Psychological Assessment of Children and Adolescents (3 credit hours)
- PY 521TX Advanced Child and Adolescent Psychopathlogy (3 credit hours)
- PY 522TX Evidence-Based Child and Adolescent Treatment (3 credit hours)

Extension Courses

- PY 411TX Basic Practicum Seminar III (0 credit hours)
- PY 503TX Intermediate Practicum Seminar III (0 credit hours)
- PY 609TX Advanced Practicum Seminar III (0 credit hours)
- PY 950TX A-F Dissertation Extension (0 credit hours)(auto half time)
- PY 951TX A-F Dissertation Extension (0 credit hours)(auto full time)
- PY 952TX Dissertation Extension (0 credit hours)(not F.A. eligible)
- PY 953TX Manuscript Preparation Extension (0 credit hours)(auto full time)
- PY 954TX Manuscript Preparation Extension (0 credit hours)(not F.A. eligible)
- PY 766TX Practicum Extension (0 credit hours)(auto full time)
- PY 767TX Internship Extension (0 credit hours)(auto full time)

Earning a Master of Arts Degree in Clinical Psychology

A student on the PsyD Clinical Psychology program may earn a Master of Arts Degree (MA) in Clinical Psychology following the successful completion of required coursework. At the beginning of the semester in which a student expects to be eligible for the master's degree, they are required to submit a Petition for Degree Conferral to the Office of the Registrar. The petition is a request to conduct an audit to determine eligibility for the degree. A student who meet the requirements is eligible to participate in the next scheduled commencement. A student who files a Petition for Degree Conferral is charged a fee.

The specific requirements for award of the MA Clinical Psychology degree for are as follows:

Good academic and professional standing

Successful completion of Basic Practicum Seminar I and II

Successful completion of the following courses:

- PY 411TX Basic Practicum Seminar III (0 credit hours)
 If needed to complete hours.
- PY 413TX Basic Practicum Seminar I (3 credit hours)
- PY 414TX Basic Practicum Seminar II (3 credit hours)
- PY 415TX Professional Development Group I (1 credit hour)
- PY 416TX Professional Development Group II (1 credit hour)

- PY 420TX Psychopathology I: Child and Adolescent (2 credit hours)
- PY 421TX Psychopathology II: Adult (2 credit hours)
- PY 425TX Intellectual Assessment (3 credit hours)
- PY 426TX History and Systems of Psychology (2 credit hours)
- PY 429TX Clinical and Diagnostic Interviewing (2 credit hours)
- PY 437TX Human Development Across the Lifespan (3 credit hours)
- PY 442TX Personality Assessment (3 credit hours)
- PY 443TX Diversity in Clinical Psychology I (2 credit hours)
- PY 446TX Diversity in Clinical Psychology II (2 credit hours)
- PY 450TX Professional Issues and Ethics (3 credit hours)
- PY 453TX Advanced Assessment (3 credit hours)
- PY 464TX Basic Intervention: Cognitive-Behavioral (3 credit hours)
- PY 468TX Basic Intervention: Systems (3 credit hours)

PsyD Clinical Psychology - Los Angeles

Los Angeles

Program Overview

The PsyD Clinical Psychology program bases its training on the practitioner-scholar model of education, integrating core competencies informed by the educational model of the National Council of Schools and Programs of Professional Psychology (NCSPP). Department faculty are actively engaged in practice and scholarship, and incorporate a wide variety of clinical examples into classroom activities. Students learn through rigorous course work, challenging practica, an integrative Internship and an innovative, applicable dissertation. The PsyD Clinical Psychology program is recognized for its excellent training in culturally competent service provision and offers students a remarkably wide variety of training opportunities.

Program Accreditation

The PsyD Clinical Psychology program at the Los Angeles Campus is accredited by the American Psychological Association.

Questions related to the program's accredited status should be directed to the Commission on Accreditation:

The American Psychological Association Office of Program Consultation and Accreditation 750 First Street, NE Washington, D.C. 20002-4242 202.336.5979

Program Philosophy

The PsyD Clinical Psychology program has adopted the practitioner-scholar model and the NCSPP Core Competency model of training. These models are predicated on the belief that competent practitioners must have both a broad knowledge of scientific and theoretical principles at the core of psychology, which includes a solid understanding of a

variety of scholarly work, as well as the ability to apply their knowledge to specific clinical situations. The doctoral department does not advocate any single theoretical orientation. Rather, students learn conceptualization and technique across four general theory areas, and then choose a theoretical orientation in which to specialize. Students are continually challenged to reflect on the art and craft of professional practice, as well as on its scientific basis.

Program Mission

Through curricular and extra-curricular learning and training, students in the PsyD Clinical Psychology program at The Chicago School will experience a transformation in personal and professional identity manifested in a commitment to life-long learning and scholarship, sophisticated cultural awareness and competence, integrity and personal responsibility, psychological-mindedness, and a demonstrated investment in both the profession and the various communities in which they are engaged through their practices and lives.

Program Aim

The Program aims to prepare graduates for entry-level practice in health service psychology.

Program Learning Outcomes

Scholarship:

Research: Students will demonstrate knowledge, skills, and competence sufficient to produce new
knowledge, to critically evaluate and use existing knowledge to solve problems, and to disseminate research.

Diversity:

• Individual and Cultural Diversity: Students will demonstrate the ability to conduct all professional activities with sensitivity to human diversity, including the ability to deliver high quality services to an increasingly diverse population. Students will demonstrate knowledge, awareness, sensitivity, and skills when working with diverse individuals and communities who embody a variety of cultural and personal background and characteristics.

Professional Behavior:

- Ethical and Legal Standards: Students will understand principles of ethical and legal behavior; integrate
 and adhere to the APA Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct, as well as relevant laws,
 regulations, rules and policies through the application of sound ethical reasoning.
- Professional Values, Attitudes, and Behaviors: Students will behave in ways that reflect the values and
 attitudes of psychology, engage in self-reflection regarding their personal and professional functioning,
 actively seek and demonstrate openness and responsiveness to feedback, and progressively respond
 professionally in increasingly complex situations with a greater degree of independence.
- Communication and Interpersonal Skills: Students will develop and maintain effective relationships with a
 wide range of individuals, demonstrate proficiency at expressive and receptive communication, and
 demonstrate effective interpersonal skills.

Professional Practice:

- **Assessment:** Students will demonstrate competency in conducting evidence-based assessment consistent with the scope of Health Service Psychology.
- **Intervention**: Students will provide effective interventions derived from a variety of theoretical orientations or approaches. The level of intervention includes those directed at an individual, a family, a group, an organization, a community, a population or other systems.

- Supervision: Students will understand how to act as role models, provide mentoring and monitoring of
 trainees and others in the development of competence and skill in professional practice, provide effective
 evaluation of those skills, and maintain responsibility for the activities they oversee.
- Consultation and Interprofessional/ Interdisciplinary Skills: Students will intentionally collaborate with
 other individuals or groups to address a problem, seek or share knowledge, or promote effectiveness in
 professional activities.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's PsyD Clinical Psychology program, in Los Angeles, is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. The program admits students whom it judges to possess sufficient academic aptitude, as well as the emotional and social maturity to function effectively as future professional psychologists. Applicants will be evaluated on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors considered are: undergraduate performance, relevant work history (i.e., volunteer and professional experience, including, but not limited to, clinical, research, teaching and related experience), the content of essays describing applicants rationale for wanting to become a clinical psychologist and what the applicant would contribute to interactions with people form diverse backgrounds, writing skills, admission interviews, and recommendations from academic professors or supervisors from professional or volunteer experiences. An undergraduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission to the Program. Applicants not meeting this requirement will not be considered.

Applicants must submit the following:

- official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned,
- curriculum vitae or resume.
- · three letters of recommendation, and
- two essays.

The program faculty scores each of the above items, along with the interview. The Clinical Psychology Doctoral Program requires 18 semester hours of psychology credit, including three specific courses (e.g., Statistics, Abnormal Psychology, and Child/Human Development) that must be completed with a grade earned of 'C' or better prior to enrollment (please see the application for admission for detailed requirements). An applicant missing the required undergraduate coursework or hours may substitute graduate coursework or hours, provided a grade of 'C' or better was earned in the course(s). Graduate coursework used to meet prerequisites will be considered for transfer on a case-by-case basis.

Based on the evaluation of these materials, selected candidates may be invited to interview for further consideration of their application. Please see the application for detailed instructions and information regarding application requirements, application deadlines, and letters of recommendation. Applications must be submitted with a \$50 (US) non-refundable fee in order to be evaluated. This fee may be waived for The Chicago School alumni, McNair Scholars and military personnel.

Applicant Notification

If, after initial review of all application materials the Admission Committee so recommends, the applicant will be invited for an interview day with members of the Department faculty. Interviews are by invitation only and mandatory for full consideration.

Post interview, the applicant will be notified of the Admission Committee's decision regarding his or her application. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of 106 credit hours of coursework
- Successful completion of Year 2 600-hour basic practicum
- Successful completion of Year 3 600-hour intermediate practicum
- Successful completion of Year 4 600-hour advanced practicum
- Successful completion of Comprehensive Examination
- Successful completion of dissertation
- Successful completion of 2,000 hour internship
- Successful completion of eight assessment batteries and reports
- Cumulative grade point average (GPA) of 3.00 or higher

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver.

Ethical and Professional Behavior

The Chicago School expects that all PsyD Clinical Psychology students will be knowledgeable of and adhere to the *APA Ethical Guidelines* as published by the American Psychological Association. Sound ethical reasoning and accountability to the larger community for adherence to guidelines for ethical behavior are the two characteristics that mark a profession as distinct from a career or job. As a result, several expectations of students are derived from the ethical code.

First, no student shall obtain part-time or full-time employment that is beyond the scope of their cumulative training in the field of psychology. In accordance with Illinois and California state law, no student may serve under the title of "psychologist," "clinical psychologist," or any closely related title or job function until granted an appropriate license by the state after the awarding of the doctoral degree. Students may, however, work as psychological assistants, researchers, or psychometricians under the supervision of a professional psychologist who is duly licensed or certified by the appropriate state agency.

A student shall not perform any function that exceeds his/her level of training. Students shall ensure that the appropriate malpractice insurance is in effect prior to their commencement of any clinical practice. In addition, a student may not establish or continue psychotherapy with any department or affiliate faculty member under any circumstances or with any adjunct faculty member while registered in his or her course or while under his or her supervision. A student who fails to adhere to this policy or otherwise fails to demonstrate the appropriate ethics required for practice in the field of professional psychology is subject to discipline.

A second derivation of the ethical code is that of integrity. The Chicago School expects that all students demonstrate the highest form of academic integrity. This applies to all of their graduate work and studies ranging from course work, to general scholarship, to interactions with faculty, staff, and students. Further, given that graduate students as part of their training gain access to extremely sensitive clinical information, The Chicago School expects that students show the highest form of professional integrity in their training settings. These expectations range from client contact, to professional communications, to representation as a student of the school. Integrity is taken very seriously and a violation of academic and professional standards is grounds for remediation, suspension, or expulsion.

A final derivation of the ethical code is that of professional suitability. As a field, our primary responsibility is to the public we serve. As a result, should a student show signs that he or she is likely to cause harm to those we serve, swift action will be taken to mitigate that risk for harm. Such action could range from requiring additional education and remediation for the student to disciplinary action such as suspension or expulsion. Should a student demonstrate, over time and despite efforts to remediate, that he or she is not able to assume the responsibilities of the profession, he or she may be dismissed from the school. Professional suitability is defined in part by the school, in part by the field of psychology, and in part by the larger society. Should a student's ability to engage in professional practice change, for example through conviction of a crime that prevents licensure, the department may determine that completion of the program is not possible for the student.

Independent Practice

Consistent with training department goals and the focus on ethical behavior, it is deemed inappropriate for PsyD Clinical Psychology students to engage in professional activities that may infringe upon a primary commitment to training, negatively affect quality of consumer mental health services, or are inconsistent with ethical and legal standards. Students' participation in outside work activities should be secondary to training and should also uphold and be consistent with the ethical and legal standards of the profession. Engaging in independent practice in psychology prior to appropriate licensure, as a result, is viewed as inconsistent with these training objectives, and unethical for doctoral-level students.

A student may hold a valid license in another profession (e.g., Licensed Clinical Professional Counselor, Licensed Clinical Social Worker, or Marriage and Family Therapist) or may obtain such a license during her/his training at The Chicago School. Such students may practice within the scope of their license consistent with the following:

- The demands of the practice in time or other resources must not jeopardize the student's primary commitment to training in the department.
- The manner in which students represent themselves to colleagues, clients and the public (e.g. marketing materials and reports of service) should not create a belief that the practice is under the auspices of or sanctioned by The Chicago School, that the practice is part of the school's training, or that the practice is that of a trained and licensed clinical psychologist.

A student who fails to comply with the requirements of this section will be referred to the department chair for intervention, remediation, or disciplinary action, or for referral to the Student Affairs Committee for disciplinary action and possible dismissal.

Professional Performance Evaluation (PPE) Requirements

PPEs are completed at the end of the Summer semester for all first-year students, reflecting the faculty's consensus regarding each student's performance throughout their first year in the Clinical PsyD Program. It may also be completed for any students for whom a faculty member has grade/performance related comments related to attainment of competencies, progress and comportment that should be included in the academic file for consideration in student advising and review. PPEs may be submitted at any time concerns arise. The recording of PPEs is an important way

that faculty and others assist in the comprehensive evaluation of the students' progress towards the degree requirements. PPEs also provide essential feedback to students and advisors about areas for attention and focus in advising and remediation. Any PPE score below 3 is cause for concern and may result in action up to and including a referral to the Student Affairs Committee, placement on academic warning/probation, or dismissal. The department chair and Academic Advisor will be notified when students receive a PPE score below 3.

Professional Development Group and Academic Advisor Assignment

All students are required to enroll in a Professional Development Group during their first two semesters in the program. A student's Professional Development Group instructor automatically becomes her/his academic advisor. Students maintain the same academic advisor during their first year in the program, but may request a new academic advisor after that time. Generally, the student's Dissertation Chair becomes their academic advisor, unless the student requests otherwise.

Student Disclosure of Personal Information

Self-reflection, introspection, and an ability to examine personal reactions to clinical material are considered critical skills in student development. Students will be required to examine their personal reactions and the impact of their personal histories on the clinical services they are training to provide. Students will not be required to disclose personal information related to sexual history, history of abuse or neglect, personal psychotherapy or in-depth information regarding intimate relationships in course or department related activities. However, students are expected to actively reflect upon and effectively manage their personal reactions to people who are different from themselves along these and other dimensions, especially when such personal reactions negatively impact clinical work, professional interactions, and ethical responsibilities. Such reflection may be required within the context of an advising relationship or some course assignments at The Chicago School, or a supervising relationship on practicum.

Practicum

The practicum is an integral component of clinical training. It provides a closely supervised clinical experience in which students use the knowledge obtained in the classroom to understand their clients and to develop skills in assessment, psychotherapy, and other discipline related areas. As such, the practicum serves to integrate the theoretical and practical aspects of the education of the professional psychologist. It allows students to become familiar with professional collaboration and consultation in a clinical setting.

All students are required to take four semester hours each of Basic and Advanced Practica, and six semester hours of Intermediate Practicum (see below). The first three-semester (Basic) practicum sequence is focused on developing rapport with clients, developing proficiency with diagnostic interviewing, differential diagnoses, developing case formulations and beginning to understand how to implement treatment and evaluate its outcome. The second three-semester (Intermediate) sequence is primarily focused on strengthening case formulation skills, understanding how to identify, implement, and appropriately modify evidence-based interventions, understanding how to evaluate treatment outcome and implementing relapse-prevention strategies. The third three-semester (Advanced) sequence enables students to work with specialized populations and begin to develop a specialization. All practica require individual and group supervision offered by the practicum site, as well as small group seminars offered by the school.

Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

Comprehensive Examination (CE)

Every student is required to pass a comprehensive exam. The aim of the comprehensive exam, broadly stated, is to evaluate the student's knowledge of the theory, research, and practice of a chosen theory of intervention, as well as competency to practice that theory in an ethical and culturally sensitive manner. Ultimately, the comprehensive exam allows the department to assess the student's abilities as a future clinical psychologist.

Dissertation

All students are required to complete a dissertation. The dissertation is an essential aspect of a student's academic experience and clinical education at the school. The dissertation should clearly and concisely demonstrate the student's command of the body of knowledge in a chosen area, as well as ability to critically evaluate and synthesize this knowledge.

Internship

All students are required to complete an Internship following the completion of all course work, practicum, and dissertation requirements. On internship, students integrate academic knowledge with clinical skills and demonstrate the effective and ethical use of these skills in clinical practice. Through intensive supervised training, students gain direct experience in applying their knowledge with a clinical population.

The internship experience consists of a minimum of 2,000 hours of training over a 12-24 month (full or part time, respectively) period. Appropriate sites for internship training include programs that are approved by the American Psychological Association (APA) and programs that are members of the Association of Psychology Pre-doctoral and Post-doctoral Internship Centers (APPIC) or The California Psychology Internship Council (CAPIC). The internship is a vital component of the educational department and is never waived or transferred. Students are required to register for Internship during each semester they are on internship. Registration for Internship automatically assigns full-time student status.

The Curriculum

On average, a student who progresses successfully through the academic program should expect to complete the Doctor of Psychology in Clinical Psychology degree in five academic years. The recommended plan is for four years of coursework followed by a full-time internship. A student must complete all degree requirements within seven academic years. Exceptions to this policy require departmental approval.

Required Core: 80 credit hours

Clinical Practica: 14 credit hours

Intervention Orientation: 4 credit hours

Elective/Concentration (Emphasis): 8 credit hours

Program Total

Psy.D. Clinical Psychology - Los Angeles: 106 credit hours

Required Core

- PY 415L Professional Development Group (1 credit)
- PY 423L Psychopathology I (2 credits)
- PY 424L Psychopathology II (2 credits)
- PY 426L History and Systems of Psychology (2 credits)
- PY 427L Statistics I (2 credits)
- PY 429L Clinical and Diagnostic Interviewing (2 credits)
- PY 430L Statistics II Lab (0 credit)
- PY 432L Cognitive Assessment (3 credit hours)
- PY 438L Statistics II (3 credits)
- PY 442L Personality Assessment (3 credits)
- PY 443L Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion in Clinical Psychology I (2 credits)
- PY 446L Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion in Clinical Psychology II (2 credits)
- PY 447L Cognitive-Affective Bases of Behavior (3 credits)
- PY 449L Biological Bases of Behavior (3 credits)
- PY 450L Professional Issues and Ethics (3 credits)
- PY 451L Social Bases of Behavior (3 credits)
- PY 452L Psychometrics (3 credits)
- PY 453L Advanced Assessment (3 credits)
- PY 456L Research Methods I: Quantitative Approaches (2 credit hours)
- PY 462L Basic Intervention: Psychodynamic (3 credits)
- PY 464L Basic Intervention: Cognitive-Behavioral (3 credits)
- PY 466L Basic Intervention: Existential-Humanistic (3 credits)
- PY 468L Basic Intervention: Systems (3 credits)
- PY 478L Introduction to Human Neuropsychology (3 credit hours)
- PY 481L Introduction to Clinical Psychopharmacology (2 credits)
- PY 496L Advanced Intervention: Group (2 credits)
- PY 500L Supervision, Consultation, & Professional Practice (2 credits)
- PY 508L Comprehensive Exam (auto half time) (0 credits)
- PY 617L Research Methods II: Qualitative Methods and Program Evaluation (2 Credit Hours)
- PY 637L Human Development Across the Lifespan (3 credit hours)
- PY 641L Dissertation Maintenance I (1 credit) (auto full time)
- PY 642L Dissertation Maintenance II (1 credit) (auto full time)
- PY 643L Dissertation Maintenance III (1 credit) (auto full time)
- PY 644L Dissertation Maintenance IV (1 credit) (auto full time)
- PY 645L Dissertation Maintenance V (1 credit) (auto full time)
- PY 650L Internship I (0 credits) (auto full time)
- PY 651L Internship II (0 credits) (auto full time)
- PY 652L Internship III (0 credits) (auto full time)
 - Students may enroll in Half-Time Internship courses (PY660L PY665L; see Elective Courses below) in lieu of PY650L-652L if the student has received permission from the Program to complete a two-year half-time internship instead of a one-year full-time internship. Permission to complete a two-year half-time internship to meet the Program's internship requirements is only granted under extenuating circumstances.
- PY 670L Proposal Development Seminar I (1 credit hour)
- PY 671L Proposal Development Seminar II (2 Credit Hours)
- PY 701L Alcohol and Chemical Substance Abuse and Dependency (2 credits)

Clinical Practica

Basic Practicum Sequence

- PY 409L Basic Practicum Seminar I (2 credits for Fall, 2 credits for Spring, 0 credit for Summer) -(2 credits)
- PY 485L Basic Practicum Seminar II (2 credits)(auto half time)
- PY 411L Basic Practicum Seminar III (0 credits) (auto half time)

Intermediate Practicum Sequence

- PY 504L Intermediate Practicum Seminar I (3 credits)
- PY 502L Intermediate Practicum Seminar II (3 credits)
- PY 503L Intermediate Practicum Seminar III (0 credits)(auto half time)

Advanced Practicum Sequence

- PY 607L Advanced Practicum Seminar I: Supervision (2 credits)
- PY 608L Advanced Practicum Seminar II: Supervision (2 credits)
- PY 609L Advanced Practicum Seminar III (0 credit hours) (auto half time)

Intervention Orientation

Students can individualize their training by choosing an intervention orientation. The Clinical Psy.D. Department does not advocate any single theoretical intervention or orientation. All Clinical Psy.D. students receive an excellent generalist base in theory, conceptualization and technique by completing a Basic Intervention course in each of the following major theoretical orientations: cognitive-behavioral, humanistic-existential, psychodynamic, and systems.

Once students have completed the required Basic Intervention courses, they have the opportunity to select two Advanced Intervention courses, choosing these two courses from either the cognitive-behavioral intervention orientation, the psychodynamic intervention orientation, or the systems intervention orientation. The department assists students in identifying the intervention theory that most closely aligns with their own beliefs regarding what creates, maintains, and alters psychological distress and health. Department faculty believe that it is through this alignment with one's own beliefs that a student's potential as a future professional psychologist is best actualized.

The Psychodynamic Intervention Orientation

Students who choose this intervention begin in the Basic Intervention course studying the development of major psychodynamic theories from historical, clinical, and conceptual perspectives. Through readings and case studies, students learn about the nature of the psychotherapeutic relationship, and the connection between theory and practice. They then progress to Advanced Intervention: Intrapsychic and study contemporary versions of intervention models that focus on intrapsychic dynamics in psychopathology and treatment process, and the role of culture, race, and gender in therapy. They then progress to Advanced Intervention: Interpersonal and study contemporary models of interpersonal dynamics in psychopathology and treatment.

- PY 490L Advanced Intervention: Intrapsychic (2 credits)
- PY 491L Advanced Intervention: Interpersonal (2 credits)

The Cognitive-Behavioral Intervention Orientation

Students who choose this intervention begin in the Basic Intervention course studying the basic assumptions of cognitive-behavioral theory, the major theorists, and the basics of treatment planning, case conceptualization, and evaluation of treatment efficacy. They then progress to Advanced Intervention: Behavioral and study contemporary behavioral models of assessment and intervention, as well as their theoretical and research foundations. They then progress to Advanced Intervention: Cognitive and develop skills in contemporary cognitive therapy models and techniques, as well as study their theoretical and research foundations.

- PY 492L Advanced Intervention: Cognitive (2 credits)
- PY 493L Advanced Intervention: Behavioral (2 credits)

The Systems Intervention Orientation

Students who choose this Intervention begin in the Basic Intervention course studying basic conceptualization and intervention skills to recognize and counter forces in a system, differentiate problematic and normal functioning in a context, and deliver culturally sensitive treatment. They then take Advanced Intervention: Couples in which students learn concepts, assumptions, and techniques of four major models of couples therapy, and the ethical and culturally sensitive application of these theories. They complete the series with Advanced Intervention: Family in which students learn concepts, assumptions and techniques of four major models of family therapy in ethical and culturally sensitive work with diverse families, in part through personal study of their own family of origin structure.

- PY 497L Advanced Intervention: Family (2 credits)
- PY 498L Advanced Intervention: Couples (2 credits)

Elective Courses - Generalist

- PY 480L Child and Adolescent Neuropsychological Assessment (2 credits)
- PY 490L Advanced Intervention: Intrapsychic (2 credits)
- PY 491L Advanced Intervention: Interpersonal (2 credits)
- PY 492L Advanced Intervention: Cognitive (2 credits)
- PY 4921L Advanced Intervention: Cognitive-Children (2 credits)
- PY 493L Advanced Intervention: Behavioral (2 credits)
- PY 497L Advanced Intervention: Family (2 credits)
- PY 498L Advanced Intervention: Couples (2 credits)
- PY 539L Introduction to Child and Adolescent Treatment (2 credits)
- PY 540L Wellness, Health and Prevention (2 credits)
- PY 546L Biopsychosocial Aspects of Medical Disorders (2 credits)
- PY 564L Applied Stress Management (2 credits)
- PY 570L Applied Neuropsychology (2 credits)
- PY 577L Assessment of Children and Adolescents (2 credits)
- PY 587L Advanced Child and Adolescent Treatment (2 credits)
- PY 591L Pediatric Behavioral Health Seminar (2 credits)
- PY 592L Seminar in Prevention Strategies and Crisis Intervention in School Settings (2 credits)
- PY 593L Cognitive Rehabilitation (2 credits)
- PY 603L Functional Neuroanatomy (2 credits)
- PY 613L Seminar in Expressive Therapies with Children and Adolescents (2 credits)
- PY 614L Seminar in Treatment of Child and Adolescent Trauma (2 credits)
 These Practicum Maintenance courses (PY627L PY629L) are designed to give students the opportunity to gain additional supervised clinical experience beyond the Program's required practicum experiences. Students may enroll in Practicum Maintenance courses (PY627L PY629L) after receiving permission from the

Director of Clinical Training to secure an additional practicum experience outside of the required Beginning, Intermediate, and Advanced practicum experiences.

- PY 627L Practicum Maintenance I (1 credit hour) (auto half time)
- PY 628L Practicum Maintenance II (1 credit hour) (auto half time)
- PY 629L Practicum Maintenance III (1 credit hour) (auto half time) Students may enroll in Half-Time Internship courses (PY660L - PY665L; see Elective Courses below) in lieu of PY650L-652L if the student has received permission from the Program to complete a two-year half-time internship instead of a one-year full-time internship. Permission to complete a two-year half-time internship to meet the Program's internship requirements is only granted under extenuating circumstances.
- PY 660L Half-Time Internship I (0 credits)(auto half time)
- PY 661L Half-Time Internship II (0 credits)(auto half time)
- PY 662L Half-Time Internship III (0 credits)(auto half time)
- PY 663L Half-Time Internship IV (0 credits)(auto half time)
- PY 664L Half-Time Internship V (0 credits)(auto half time)
- PY 665L Half-Time Internship VI (0 credits)(auto half time)

Elective Courses - Areas of Emphasis

Child and Adolescent Emphasis (8 credits)

The following are required:

- PY 539L Introduction to Child and Adolescent Treatment (2 credits)
- PY 577L Assessment of Children and Adolescents (2 credits)

Students choose two from the following courses:

- PY 480L Child and Adolescent Neuropsychological Assessment (2 credits)
- PY 4921L Advanced Intervention: Cognitive-Children (2 credits)
- PY 587L Advanced Child and Adolescent Treatment (2 credits)
- PY 591L Pediatric Behavioral Health Seminar (2 credits)
- PY 592L Seminar in Prevention Strategies and Crisis Intervention in School Settings (2 credits)
- PY 613L Seminar in Expressive Therapies with Children and Adolescents (2 credits)
- PY 614L Seminar in Treatment of Child and Adolescent Trauma (2 credits)

Health Psychology Emphasis (8 credits)

The following are required:

- PY 540L Wellness, Health and Prevention (2 credits)
- PY 546L Biopsychosocial Aspects of Medical Disorders (2 credits)
- PY 564L Applied Stress Management (2 credits)
- PY 591L Pediatric Behavioral Health Seminar (2 credits)

Neuropsychology Emphasis (8 credits)

The following are required:

- PY 480L Child and Adolescent Neuropsychological Assessment (2 credits)
- PY 570L Applied Neuropsychology (2 credits)
- PY 593L Cognitive Rehabilitation (2 credits)
- PY 603L Functional Neuroanatomy (2 credits)

Extension Courses

- PY 950L A-F Dissertation Extension (0 credit hours) auto half-time
- PY 951L A-F Dissertation Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- PY 952L Dissertation Extension (0 credit hours) Not F.A. eligible
- PY 953L Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- PY 954L Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto half-time
- PY 766L Practicum Extension (0 credit hours)(auto full time)
- PY 767L Internship Extension (0 credit hours)(auto full time)
- PY 627L Practicum Maintenance I (1 credit hour) (auto half time)
- PY 628L Practicum Maintenance II (1 credit hour) (auto half time)
- PY 629L Practicum Maintenance III (1 credit hour) (auto half time)
- PY 660L Half-Time Internship I (0 credits)(auto half time)
- PY 661L Half-Time Internship II (0 credits)(auto half time)
- PY 662L Half-Time Internship III (0 credits)(auto half time)
- PY 663L Half-Time Internship IV (0 credits)(auto half time)
- PY 664L Half-Time Internship V (0 credits)(auto half time)
- PY 665L Half-Time Internship VI (0 credits)(auto half time)

Earning a Master of Arts Degree in Clinical Psychology

A student on the PsyD Clinical Psychology program may earn an MA Clinical Psychology degree following the successful completion of required coursework. At the beginning of the semester in which a student expects to be eligible for the master's degree, they are required to submit a Petition for Degree Conferral to the Office of the Registrar.. The petition is a request to conduct an audit to determine eligibility for the degree. A student who meet the requirements are eligible to participate in the next scheduled commencement. A student who files a Petition for Degree Conferral is charged a fee.

The specific requirements for award of a MA Clinical Psychology degree for the general program student are as follows:

- Good academic and professional standing
- Successful completion of basic practicum
- Successful completion of the following courses (57 credit hours):
- PY 409L Basic Practicum Seminar I (2 credits for Fall, 2 credits for Spring, 0 credit for Summer) -(2 credits)
- PY 411L Basic Practicum Seminar III (0 credits) (auto half time)
- PY 415L Professional Development Group (1 credit)
- PY 423L Psychopathology I (2 credits)

- PY 424L Psychopathology II (2 credits)
- PY 426L History and Systems of Psychology (2 credits)
- PY 427L Statistics I (2 credits)
- PY 429L Clinical and Diagnostic Interviewing (2 credits)
- PY 432L Cognitive Assessment (3 credit hours)
- PY 442L Personality Assessment (3 credits)
- PY 443L Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion in Clinical Psychology I (2 credits)
- PY 446L Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion in Clinical Psychology II (2 credits)
- PY 447L Cognitive-Affective Bases of Behavior (3 credits)
- PY 449L Biological Bases of Behavior (3 credits)
- PY 450L Professional Issues and Ethics (3 credits)
- PY 451L Social Bases of Behavior (3 credits)
- PY 453L Advanced Assessment (3 credits)
- PY 456L Research Methods I: Quantitative Approaches (2 credit hours)
- PY 462L Basic Intervention: Psychodynamic (3 credits)
- PY 464L Basic Intervention: Cognitive-Behavioral (3 credits)
- PY 466L Basic Intervention: Existential-Humanistic (3 credits)
- PY 468L Basic Intervention: Systems (3 credits)
- PY 485L Basic Practicum Seminar II (2 credits)(auto half time)
- PY 637L Human Development Across the Lifespan (3 credit hours)

PsyD Clinical Psychology - Washington D.C.

Washington D.C.

Program Overview

The PsyD Clinical Psychology program is based on the practitioner-scholar model of education and training, integrating core competencies informed by the educational model of the National Council of Schools and Programs of Professional Psychology (NCSPP) and the Cube model (Rodolfa et al., 2005). It is a progressive approach to graduate education in psychology, which also includes social engagement, multicultural training, and service to the community. Department faculty are actively engaged in practice and scholarship, and incorporate a wide variety of clinical examples into classroom activities. Students learn through rigorous course work, challenging practica, an integrative internship, and an innovative, applicable dissertation. The Clinical Psychology Doctoral Program strives to provide excellence in training and culturally competent service provision while offering students wide variety of remarkable training opportunities.

Program Accreditation

The PsyD Clinical Psychology program at the Washington DC Campus is accredited by the American Psychological Association (APA).

Questions related to the program's accredited status should be directed to the Commission on Accreditation:

Office of Program Consultation and Accreditation

American Psychological Association

750 First Street, NE, Washington, DC 20002

Phone: (202) 336-5979 / E-mail: apaaccred@apa.org

Web: www.apa.org/ed/accreditation

Philosophy

The PsyD Clinical Psychology program has adopted the practitioner-scholar model, which is informed by the NCSPP Core Competency model and the Cube model (Rodolfa et al., 2005). These models are predicated on the belief that competent practitioners must have both a broad knowledge of scientific and theoretical principles at the core of psychology, which includes a solid understanding of a variety of scholarly work, as well as the ability to apply their knowledge to specific clinical situations. The doctoral department does not advocate any single theoretical orientation. Rather, students learn conceptualization and technique across four general theory areas, and then have the opportunity to take advanced therapy courses in a theoretical orientation in which to specialize. Students are continually challenged to reflect on the art and skills of professional practice, as well as on its scientific basis.

Aim

The PsyD Clinical Psychology program at The Chicago School, Washington, D.C. campus is committed to the preparation of health service psychologists, who are competent and effective in the field of clinical psychology and who are trained to ethically provide a broad range of psychological services to diverse and underserved populations. Following a practitioner-scholar model of training, the program's curriculum and training experiences promote the integration of psychological theory, science, and practice. Through the guidance of supportive mentoring relationships, students will be able to effectively utilize research, deliver evidence-based practices, and promote social justice in their practice of clinical psychology.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

• Professional Practice

- Profession Wide Competency: Assessment. Graduates demonstrate competence in selecting, conducting, interpreting, and communicating evidence-based assessment results sensitively both orally and in written documents. They demonstrate understanding of psychometric properties, psychopathology/diagnosis, and human behavior within its context drawing on multiple sources and methods, consistent with the scope of Health Service Psychology.
- Profession Wide Competency: Intervention. Graduates demonstrate competence in evidence-based, culturally-informed interventions consistent with the scope of Health Service Psychology. Intervention is being defined broadly to include but not be limited to psychotherapy. Interventions may be derived from a variety of theoretical orientations or approaches. The level of intervention includes those directed at an individual, a family, a group, an organization, a community, a population or other systems. Additionally, graduates establish and maintain effective relationships with the recipients of psychological services and evaluate intervention effectiveness utilizing ongoing evaluation and adapt intervention goals as needed.
- Profession Wide Competency: Supervision. Graduates demonstrate knowledge of supervision roles and practices.

Profession Wide Competency: Consultation and Interprofessional/Interdisciplinary Skills.
 Graduates demonstrate knowledge and respect for the roles and perspectives of other professions and consultation roles and practices.

• Diversity

- O Profession Wide Competency: Individual and Cultural Diversity. Graduates demonstrate the ability to conduct all professional activities with sensitivity to human diversity, including the ability to deliver high quality services to an increasingly diverse population. They must demonstrate knowledge, awareness, sensitivity, and skills when working with diverse individuals and communities who embody a variety of cultural and personal background and characteristics across all professional activities as well as also have an understanding of how their own personal/cultural history, attitudes, and biases may affect how they understand and interact with people different from themselves.
- Social Justice. Graduates understand psychology through broader views of societal concerns, equality, oppression, fairness, interdependence and social responsibility, and appreciate the role that psychologists can play as social change agents.

• Professional Behavior

- Profession Wide Competency: Ethical and Legal Standards. Gradates demonstrate knowledge
 of the APA Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct and other relevant laws and
 regulations, recognizing ethical dilemmas and engage in ethical decision-making and conduct self
 ethically.
- O Profession Wide Competency: Professional Values and Attitudes. Graduates behave in ways that reflect the values and attitudes of psychology, these professional values include integrity, deportment, professional identity, accountability, lifelong learning, and concern for the welfare of others. Additionally, they engage in self-reflection regarding one's personal and professional functioning; engage in activities to maintain and improve performance, well-being, and professional effectiveness as well as actively seek and demonstrate openness and responsiveness to feedback and supervision.
- O Profession Wide Competency: Communication and Interpersonal Skills. Graduates develop and maintain effective relationships with a wide range of individuals, including colleagues, communities, organizations, supervisors, and those receiving professional services. They produce and comprehend oral, nonverbal, and written communications that are informative and wellintegrated; demonstrate a thorough grasp of professional language and concepts. Additionally, they demonstrate effective interpersonal skills and the ability to manage difficult communication well.

Scholarship

Profession Wide Competency: Research. Graduates are able to integration of science and
practice and demonstrate knowledge, skills, and competence sufficient to produce new knowledge,
to critically evaluate and use existing knowledge to solve problems, and to disseminate research.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's Psy.D Clinical Psychology program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. The school

admits students whom it judges to possess sufficient academic aptitude, as well as the emotional and social maturity to function effectively as professional psychologists. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work.

Factors considered in admission are:

- GPA from undergraduate and any graduate schools
- Successful work history after completion of the baccalaureate degree
- Essays:
 - In your role as a clinical psychology student, you are likely to work and study with people from many backgrounds. Tell us what will be some of the challenges for you studying with people different from yourself, and what you would contribute in your interactions with them.
 - Many people choose Clinical Psychology as a career because they are interested in helping other people. Please tell us additional reasons, other than helping people, why you would like to be a clinical psychologist.
- 3 Letters of recommendation from academic professors or supervisors from professional or volunteer experiences.

An undergraduate or graduate GPA of a 3.2 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission to the Program. Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. Applicants are encouraged to submit transcripts from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications.

The PsyD Clinical Psychology program requires 18 semester hours of psychology credit, including three specific courses (Statistics, Abnormal Psychology, and Child/Human Development) that must be completed prior to enrollment with a grade earned of 'C' or better (please see the application for admission for detailed requirements). Where an applicant is missing the required undergraduate coursework or hours, graduate coursework or hours may be substituted, provided that the student earned a grade of 'B' or better in the course. Graduate coursework used to meet prerequisites will be considered for transfer on a case-by-case basis. Based on the evaluation of these materials selected candidates may be invited to interview for further consideration of their application. Please see the application for detailed instructions and information regarding application requirements, application deadlines, and letters of recommendation. Applications must be submitted with a \$50 (US) fee in order to be evaluated.

Applicant Notification

If, after initial review of all application materials the Admission Committee so recommends, the applicant will be invited for an interview day with members of the Department faculty. Interviews are by invitation only and mandatory for full consideration.

Post interview, the applicant will be notified of the Admission Committee's decision regarding his or her application. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment

Articulation Agreements

The Chicago School has also established agreements between the PsyD Clinical Psychology program and the programs listed below to allow qualified students to receive transfer credit for courses taken in other The Chicago School programs that can be counted toward degree completion requirements for both programs. Click the link below for details.

MA Forensic Psychology and PsyD Clinical Psychology Washington D.C.

MA Counseling Psychology and PsyD Clinical Psychology Washington D.C.

MA Clinical Mental Health Counseling and PsyD Clinical Psychology Washington D.C.

Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of 104 credit hours of coursework
- Successful completion of Year 2 600-hour (expected) basic practicum
- Successful completion of Year 3 600-hour (expected) intermediate practicum
- Successful completion of Year 4 600-hour (expected) advanced practicum
- Successful completion of Clinical Competency Evaluation
- Successful completion of Dissertation
- Successful completion of 2,000-hour doctoral internship

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Ethical Guidelines

The Chicago School expects that all PsyD Clinical Psychology students will be knowledgeable of and adhere to the *APA Ethical Guidelines* as published by the American Psychological Association. Sound ethical reasoning and accountability to the larger community for adherence to guidelines for ethical behavior are the two characteristics that mark a profession as distinct from a career or job. As a result, several expectations of students are derived from the ethical code.

First, no student shall obtain part-time or full-time employment that is beyond the scope of their cumulative training in the field of psychology. In accordance with state laws, no student may serve under the title of "psychologist," "clinical psychologist," or any closely related title or job function until granted an appropriate license by the state after the awarding of the doctoral degree. Students may, however, work as psychological assistants, researchers, or psychometricians under the supervision of a professional psychologist who is duly licensed or certified by the appropriate state agency.

Students shall not perform any function that exceed their level of training. Students shall ensure that the appropriate malpractice insurance is in effect prior to their commencement of any clinical practice. In addition, students may not establish or continue psychotherapy with any department or affiliate faculty member under any circumstances or with any adjunct faculty member while registered in his or her course or while under his or her supervision. A student who fails to adhere to this policy or otherwise fails to demonstrate the appropriate ethics required for practice in the field of professional psychology is subject to discipline.

A second derivation of the ethical code is that of integrity. The Chicago School expects that all students demonstrate the highest form of academic integrity. This applies to all of their graduate work and studies ranging from course work, to general scholarship, to interactions with faculty, staff, and students. Further, given that graduate students as part of their training gain access to extremely sensitive clinical information, The Chicago School expects that students show the highest form of professional integrity in their training settings. These expectations range from client contact, to professional communications, to representation as a student of the school. Integrity is taken very seriously and a violation of academic and professional standards is grounds for remediation, suspension, or expulsion.

A final derivation of the ethical code is that of professional suitability. As a field, our primary responsibility is to the public we serve. As a result, should a student show signs that he or she is likely to cause harm to those we serve, swift action will be taken to mitigate that risk for harm. Such action could range from requiring additional education and remediation for the student to disciplinary action such as suspension or expulsion. Should a student demonstrate, over time and despite efforts to remediate, that he or she is not able to assume the responsibilities of the profession, he or she may be dismissed from the school. Professional suitability is defined in part by the school, in part by the field of psychology, and in part by the larger society. Should a student's ability to engage in professional practice change, for example through conviction of a crime that prevents licensure, the department may determine that completion of the program is not possible for the student.

Independent Practice

Consistent with the training department goals and the focus on ethical behavior, it is deemed inappropriate for PsyD Clinical Psychology program students to engage in professional activities that may infringe upon a primary commitment to training, negatively affect quality of consumer mental health services, or are inconsistent with ethical and legal standards. Students' participation in outside work activities should be secondary to training and should also uphold and be consistent with the ethical and legal standards of the profession. Engaging in independent practice in psychology prior to appropriate licensure, as a result, is viewed as inconsistent with these training objectives and unethical for doctoral-level students.

Students may hold a valid license in another profession (e.g., Licensed Clinical Professional Counselor, Licensed Clinical Social Worker, or Marriage and Family Therapist) or may obtain such a license during their training at The Chicago School. Such students may practice within the scope of their license consistent with the following:

The demands of the practice in time or other resources must not jeopardize the student's primary commitment to training in the department.

The manner in which students represent themselves to colleagues, clients and the public (e.g. marketing materials and reports of service) should not create a belief that the practice is under the auspices of or sanctioned by The Chicago School, that the practice is part of the school's training, or that the practice is that of a trained and licensed clinical psychologist.

A student who fails to comply with the requirements of this section will be referred to the Department Chair for intervention, remediation, or disciplinary action, or for referral to the Student Affairs Committee for disciplinary action and possible dismissal.

Professional Development Group and Academic Advisor Assignment

All students are required to enroll in a Professional Development Group during their first two semesters in the program and will be assigned an academic advisor in their first year. Students are expected to meet with their advisor at least once in the Fall and Spring semesters. After their first year, students may request a new academic advisor. Generally, the student's Dissertation Chair becomes their academic advisor, unless the student requests otherwise.

Student Disclosure of Personal Information

In accordance with the American Psychological Association (APA, 2002) Ethical Principles and Code of Conduct Standard 7.04, students should be aware that some Clinical PsyD courses may require disclosure of certain personal information related to the student's ability to understand the purposes of these courses and their application to the

effective practice of clinical psychology. Students may be required to participate in learning activities that involve different levels of self-disclosure. Students may be evaluated in areas that include, but are not limited to, demonstration of sufficient: a) interpersonal and professional competence; b) self-awareness, self-reflection and self-evaluation; c) openness to processes of supervision; and d) resolution of problems or issues that interfere with professional development or functioning in a satisfactory manner. Such reflection may be also required within the context of an advising relationship or a supervising relationship on practicum.

Practicum

Students participate in three years of organized, sequential, and well-supervised practicum experiences that increasingly expose them to the range of roles and responsibilities of a clinical psychologist. All practicum experiences are an extension of the students' academic coursework, and are defined by an annual training agreement that details such things as supervisory contact information, duration of training experience, available clinical activities, and methods of evaluating the students' performance and the site's training program.

Situated in the nation's capital, students in the Program have access to a diverse selection of practicum sites that offer experiences consistent with the Program's values and training goals. Sample placement sites include hospitals, community mental health clinics, college counseling centers, and forensic settings. The Practicum requirements include:

- Year 2: 600-hour (expected) basic practicum
- Year 3: 600-hour (expected) intermediate practicum
- Year 4: 600-hour (expected) advanced practicum

The first three-semester practicum sequence is primarily devoted to training in psychological assessment. The second three-semester sequence is primarily devoted to training in psychotherapy. The Advanced Practicum is designed to offer students advanced experience in a particular area of interest (e.g., neuropsychology) or help them secure additional experience in assessment or treatment. Advanced Practicum also has an emphasis on consultation and supervision. All practica require individual supervision offered by the practicum site, which can be complimented with group supervision. Students must be simultaneously enrolled in small group seminars offered by the school.

Competency Presentation Exams (CPEs) and Clinical Competency Evaluation (CCE)

Embedded within three of the assessment courses (Cognitive Assessment, Projective Assessment, and Advanced Assessment); Diversity in Clinical Psychology II; and Supervision, Consultation, and Professional Practice are Competency Presentation Exams (CPEs). These exams allow the faculty to assess students' attainment of specific competencies. Students must demonstrate proficiency to progress in the program.

Every student is required to pass a Clinical Competency Examination (CCE). The aim of the CCE, broadly stated, is to evaluate the student's knowledge of the theory, research, and practice of a chosen theory of intervention, as well as competency to practice that theory in an ethical and culturally sensitive manner. Ultimately, the CCE allows the department to assess the student's abilities as a future clinical psychologist.

Dissertation

All students are required to complete a dissertation. The dissertation is an essential aspect of a student's academic experience and clinical education at the school. The dissertation should clearly and concisely demonstrate the student's

command of the body of knowledge in a chosen area, as well as ability to critically evaluate and synthesize this knowledge.

Internship

All students are required to complete an internship following the completion of all course work, practica, and dissertation requirements. On internship, students integrate academic knowledge with clinical skills and demonstrate the effective and ethical use of these skills in clinical practice. Through intensive supervised training, students gain direct experience in applying their knowledge with a clinical population.

The internship experience consists of a minimum of 2,000 hours of training over a 12-24 month (full- or part-time, respectively) period. Appropriate sites for internship training include programs that are approved by the American Psychological Association (APA) and programs that are members of the Association of Psychology Pre-doctoral and Post-doctoral Internship Centers (APPIC). Students interested in the Mid Atlantic Internship Consortium should review the program website. Students are required to register for Internship during each semester they are on internship. Registration for Internship automatically assigns full-time student status.

The Curriculum

On average, a student who progresses successfully through the academic program should expect to complete the Doctor of Psychology in Clinical Psychology degree in five academic years. The recommended plan is for four years of coursework followed by a full-time internship. A student must complete all degree requirements within seven academic years. Exceptions to this policy require departmental approval.

Required Core: 90 credit hours

Intervention Orientation: 4 credit hours

Electives: 10 credit hours

Program Total

Psy.D. Clinical Psychology, Washington D.C.: 104 credit hours

Required Core

- PY 245D Projective Personality Assessment (3 credit hours)
- PY 246D Objective Personality Assessment (3 credit hours)
- PY 247D Adult Psychopathology (3 credit hours)
- PY 415D Professional Development Group (1 credit hour)
- PY 416D Professional Development Group II (1 credit hour)
- PY 422D Clinical and Diagnostic Interviewing (3 credits)
- PY 428D Statistics II (3 credits)
- PY 430D Statistics II Lab (0 credits)
- PY 431D History and Systems of Psychology (3 credits)
- PY 432D Cognitive Assessment (3 credits)
- PY 433D Cognitive Assessment Lab (0 credits)
- PY 4361D Personality Assessment Lab (0 credits)
- PY 443D Diversity in Clinical Psychology I (2 credits)
- PY 446D Diversity in Clinical Psychology II (2 credits)

- PY 447D Cognitive-Affective Bases of Behavior (3 credits)
- PY 448D Lifespan (3 credit hours)
- PY 449D Biological Bases of Behavior (3 credits)
- PY 450D Professional Issues and Ethics (3 credit hours)
- PY 451D Social Bases of Behavior (3 credits)
- PY 453D Advanced Assessment (3 credits)
- PY 455D Research Methods (3 credits)
- PY 462D Basic Intervention: Psychodynamic (3 credits)
- PY 464D Basic Intervention: Cognitive-Behavioral (3 credits)
- PY 466D Basic Intervention: Existential-Humanistic (3 credits)
- PY 468D Basic Intervention: Systems (3 credits)
- PY 478D Basic Practicum Seminar I (2 credit hours)(auto half time)
- PY 485D Basic Practicum Seminar II (Pass/Fail)(2 credits)(auto half time)
- PY 488D Basic Practicum Seminar III (Pass/Fail)(0 credits)(auto half time)
- PY 500D Supervision, Consultation & Professional Practice (3 credit hours)
- PY 504D Intermediate Practicum Seminar I (Pass/Fail)(3 credits)
- PY 507D Intermediate Practicum Seminar II (Pass/Fail)(3 credits)
- PY 508D Intermediate Practicum Seminar III (0 credits)(auto half time)
- PY 575D Child and Adolescent Psychopathology (3 credit hours)
- PY 604D Advanced Practicum Seminar I (2 credits)(auto half time)
- PY 607D Advanced Practicum Seminar II (2 credits)(auto half time)
- PY 608D Advanced Practicum Seminar III (0 credits)(auto half time)
- PY 631D Proposal Development Seminar (1 credit hour)(auto half time)
- PY 641D Dissertation Maintenance I (1 credit hour)(auto full time)
- PY 642D Dissertation Maintenance II (1 credit hour)(auto full time)
- PY 643D Dissertation Maintenance III (1 credit hour)(auto full time)
- PY 644D Dissertation Maintenance IV (1 credit hour)(auto full time)
- PY 650D Internship I (credit/no credit)(0 credit hours)(auto full time)
- PY 651D Internship II (Pass/Fail)(0 credits)(auto full time)
- PY 652D Internship III (0 credits)(auto full time)
- PY 669D Introduction to Clinical Psychopharmacology (3 credit hours)
- PY 689D Psychometrics (2 credit hours)

Intervention Orientation

The Clinical PsyD Department recognizes the strong evidence bases of the primary four theoretical orientations within the program: existential humanism, cognitive behavior, psychodynamic, and family systems. All clinical PsyD students receive a broad generalist base in theory, conceptualization and technique within these theoretical orientations by completing a basic intervention course in four intervention orientations. They then take advanced intervention course work in their third year of the program. The basic intervention courses combined with the advanced intervention courses and the intermediate practicum seminar all help prepare students for the Clinical Competency Examination (CCE; explained above). The CCE requires a thorough understanding of a client's presenting condition, the choice of treatment approach, and the understanding of change using both basic and advanced theory and technique.

Students may choose from the following (or other approved advanced intervention) courses based on interest and availability. Not all courses are offered every term.

- PY 490D Advanced Intervention: Intrapsychic (2 credits)
- PY 491D Advanced Intervention: Interpersonal (2 credits)

- PY 492D Advanced Intervention: Cognitive (2 credits)
- PY 493D Advanced Intervention: Behavioral (2 credits)
- PY 497D Advanced Intervention: Family (2 credits)
- PY 498D Advanced Intervention: Couples (2 credits)

Electives

The Psy.D. program offers a variety of electives that allow students to advance their knowledge beyond the coverage from required courses in the curriculum (e.g., Seminar in Pediatric Psychopharmacology), or learn about specific client populations (e.g., Evaluation and Treatment of the Juvenile Offender) or specific interventions or assessment techniques (e.g. Dialectical Behavior Therapy). The listed below are examples of elective courses offered in recent years, but it is not all inclusive and other topic areas are also offered based upon faculty expertise and student interest.

- PY 479D Introduction to Human Neuropsychology (2 credits)
- PY 480D Child and Adolescent Neuropsychological Assessment (2 credits)
- PY 482D Seminar in Pediatric Psychopharmacology (2 credits)
- PY 521D Evaluation and Treatment of the Juvenile Offender (2 credits)
- PY 525D Dialectical Behavior Therapy (2 credits)
- PY 527D Integrative Psychotherapy (2 credits)
- PY 530D Qualitative Research Methods (2 credits)
- PY 539D Introduction to Child and Adolescent Treatment (2 credits)
- PY 549D Divorce and Child Custody (2 credits)
- PY 550D International Perspectives on Mental Health I (2 credits)
- PY 552D Development Disabilities (2 credits)
- PY 561D Special Topics I (1 credit)
- PY 562D Special Topics II (2 credits)
- PY 563D Special Topics III (3 credits)
- PY 565D Introduction to Forensic Psychology (2 Credit Hours)

Forensic Practice Area (8 credit hours)

Students may choose electives within the forensic practice area of study. Students must complete at least 8 credit hours for the practice area, and it is recommended that they pursue at least one practicum placement in a forensic setting and complete their dissertation on a forensic psychology-related area. Students are required to take Introduction to Forensic Psychology or PY520D or PY521D, and the other three electives should be forensic-designated electives by the program.

Students are required to choose at least 1 of the following 3 courses:

- PY 520D Evaluation and Treatment of the Offender (2 credits)
- PY 521D Evaluation and Treatment of the Juvenile Offender (2 credits)
- PY 565D Introduction to Forensic Psychology (2 Credit Hours)
 Students must choose at least 3 additional courses, which may include these courses, for a total of 8 credit hours:
- PY 519D Violence and Risk Assessment (2 credits)
- PY 523D Mental Health Law (2 credits)

PY 537D - Forensic Documentation, Report Writing and Testifying (2 credits)

Extension Courses

- PY 950D A-F Dissertation Extension (0 credit hours) auto half-time
- PY 951D A-F Dissertation Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- PY 952D Dissertation Extension (0 credit hours) Not F.A. eligible
- PY 953D Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- PY 954D Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto half-time
- PY 766D Practicum Extension (0 credit hours)(auto full time)
- PY 767D Internship Extension (0 credit hours)(auto full time)

Earning a Master of Arts Degree in Clinical Psychology

A student in the PsyD Clinical Psychology program can earn an MA Clinical Psychology following the successful completion of required coursework and specific program requirements. At the beginning of the semester in which a student expects to be eligible for the master's degree, they are required to submit a Petition for Degree Conferral to the Office of the Registrar. The petition is a request to conduct an audit to determine eligibility for the degree. A student who meets the requirements is eligible to participate in the next scheduled commencement. A student who files a Petition for Degree Conferral is charged a fee.

The specific requirements for award of a Master of Arts degree for the general Program student are as follows:

Academic and Financial Aid Good Standing

Successful completion of practicum

- PY 478D Basic Practicum Seminar I (credit/no credit)(2 credit hours)(auto half time)
- PY 485D Basic Practicum Seminar II (Pass/Fail)(2 credits)(auto half time)
- PY 488D Basic Practicum Seminar III (Pass/Fail)(0 credits)(auto half time) Successful completion of the following courses:
- PY 245D Projective Personality Assessment (3 credit hours)
- PY 246D Objective Personality Assessment (3 credit hours)
- PY 247D Adult Psychopathology (3 credit hours)
- PY 415D Professional Development Group (1 credit hour)
- PY 416D Professional Development Group II (1 credit hour)
- PY 422D Clinical and Diagnostic Interviewing (3 credits)
- PY 432D Cognitive Assessment (3 credits)
- PY 443D Diversity in Clinical Psychology I (2 credits)
- PY 446D Diversity in Clinical Psychology II (2 credits)
- PY 448D Lifespan (3 credit hours)
- PY 450D Professional Issues and Ethics (3 credit hours)
- PY 453D Advanced Assessment (3 credits)
- PY 462D Basic Intervention: Psychodynamic (3 credits)
- PY 464D Basic Intervention: Cognitive-Behavioral (3 credits)
- PY 466D Basic Intervention: Existential-Humanistic (3 credits)
- PY 468D Basic Intervention: Systems (3 credits)
- PY 575D Child and Adolescent Psychopathology (3 credit hours)

PsyD Clinical Psychology - XULA

At Xavier University of New Orleans (XULA)

Program Overview

The Doctor of Clinical Psychology Program of The Chicago School at Xavier University of Louisiana (XULA) (the "Program") offers rigorous training in culturally competent service provision and exposes students to a wide variety of health service training opportunities. The Program follows a practitioner-scholar model. The Doctor of Psychology (PsyD) in Clinical Psychology is the highest degree for practitioners in the field who wish to apply their knowledge as practicing clinicians. The Program provides broad and general training in scientific psychology and in the foundations of practice in health service psychology. Students will experience extensive clinical training with community partners, including clinics, hospitals, mental health centers, and governmental agencies. The Clinical PsyD Program at The Chicago School-XULA is accredited on contingency by the American Psychological Association (APA). Additionally, The Chicago School has received the designated status "accredited, inactive" for this program, which applies only to The Chicago School at Xavier University/Argosy Teach-Out program. Students included in this group are those who have been admitted to The Chicago School at Xavier University/Argosy Teach-Out program and who were previously enrolled in an APA Accredited PsyD in Clinical Psychology Program at any Argosy University campus. This status does not apply to any other students who are accepted into, matriculated in, or successfully complete (i.e., graduate from) the Clinical PsyD program at The Chicago School at Xavier University of Louisiana who did not transfer from an APA accredited program at Argosy University.

Questions related to the program's accredited status should be directed to the Commission on Accreditation:

The American Psychological Association Office of Program Consultation and Accreditation 750 First Street, NE Washington, D.C. 20002-4242 202.336.5979

The Program aim is to produce ethical, culturally sensitive, and competent health service psychologists.

Based on a task analysis, the Program has mapped, these profession wide competencies onto the following 13 task competency categories to support acquisition and evaluation of student skills in a graded and developmental fashion.

- 1. Professional Values and Attitudes
- 2. Individual and Cultural Differences
- 3. Ethical Legal Standards and Policy
- 4. Reflective Practice/Self-Assessment/Self-Care
- 5. Relationships
- 6. Scientific Knowledge and Methods
- 7. Research and Evaluation
- 8. Evidence-Based Practice
- 9. Assessment
- 10. Intervention
- 11. Consultation
- 12. Supervision
- 13. Interdisciplinary Systems

The Program considers task competencies 1 - 5 foundational and expects students to meet specified expectations in these five areas even at initial enrollment, then throughout each learning experience, and specifically in certain classes, evaluation points, and training experiences.

Program Philosophy

The Program has adopted the practitioner-scholar model. This model is predicated on the belief that competent practitioner-scholars must have both a broad knowledge of scientific and theoretical principles at the core of psychology, which includes a solid understanding of a variety of scholarly work, as well as the ability to apply their knowledge to specific clinical situations. Scholarly productivity should reflect on this integration of science, theory, clinical applicability. The Program does not advocate any single theoretical orientation. Rather, students learn conceptualization and technique across four general theory areas, and then choose either the Cognitive-Behavioral or Systems theoretical orientation in which to specialize. Students are continually challenged to reflect on the art and craft of health service practice, as well as on its theoretical and scientific bases.

Program Mission

Based on respect for and understanding of their personal identities, through curricular and extra-curricular learning and training, students in the Program will develop a professional identity as a health services psychologist manifested by a commitment to life-long learning and scholarship, sophisticated cultural awareness and competence, integrity and personal responsibility, psychological-mindedness, and a demonstrated investment in both the profession and the various communities in which they are engaged through their practices and lives.

Profession Wide Competencies

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

Assessment:

- Select and apply assessment methods that draw from the best available empirical literature and that reflect the
 science of measurement and psychometrics; collect relevant data using multiple sources and methods
 appropriate to the identified goals and questions of the assessment as well as relevant diversity characteristics
 of the service recipient.
- Interpret assessment results, following current research and professional standards and guidelines, to inform
 case conceptualization, classification, and recommendations, while guarding against decision-making biases,
 distinguishing the aspects of assessment that are subjective from those that are objective.
- Communicate orally and in written documents the findings and implications of the assessment in an accurate and effective manner sensitive to a range of audiences.

Intervention:

- Establish and maintain effective relationships with the recipients of psychological services .
- Develop evidence-based intervention plans specific to the service delivery goals.
- Implement interventions informed by the current scientific literature, assessment findings, diversity characteristics, and contextual variables.
- Demonstrate the ability to apply the relevant research literature to clinical decision making.
- Modify and adapt evidence-based approaches effectively when a clear evidence-base is lacking.
- Evaluate intervention effectiveness, and adapt intervention goals and methods consistent with ongoing evaluation.

Supervision:

Demonstrate knowledge of supervision models and practices.

• Demonstrate skills in supervisory practices

Consultation and interprofessional/interdisciplinary skills:

- Demonstrate knowledge and respect for the roles and perspectives of other professions.
- Demonstrates knowledge of consultation models and practices.

Diversity

Individual and cultural diversity:

- An understanding of how their own personal/cultural history, attitudes, and biases may affect how they
 understand and interact with people different from themselves.
- Knowledge of the current theoretical and empirical knowledge base as it relates to addressing diversity in all
 professional activities including research, training, supervision/consultation, and service.
- The ability to integrate awareness and knowledge of individual and cultural differences in the conduct of professional roles (e.g., research, services, and other professional activities). This includes the ability apply a framework for working effectively with areas of individual and cultural diversity not previously encountered over the course of their careers. Also included is the ability to work effectively with individuals whose group membership, demographic characteristics, or worldviews create conflict with their own.
- Demonstrate the requisite knowledge base, ability to articulate an approach to working effectively with diverse individuals and groups, and apply this approach effectively in their professional work.

Professional Behavior

Ethical and legal standards:

- Be knowledgeable of and act in accordance with each of the following:
 - O The current version of the APA Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct;
 - Relevant laws, regulations, rules, and policies governing health service psychology at the organizational, local, state, regional, and federal levels; and
 - Relevant professional standards and guidelines.
- Recognize ethical dilemmas as they arise, and apply ethical decision-making processes in order to resolve the dilemmas.
- Conduct self in an ethical manner in all professional activities.

Professional values, attitudes, and behaviors:

- Behave in ways that reflect the values and attitudes of psychology, including integrity, deportment, professional identity, accountability, lifelong learning, and concern for the welfare of others
- Engage in self-reflection regarding one's personal and professional functioning; engage in activities to maintain and improve performance, well-being, and professional effectiveness.
- Actively seek and demonstrate openness and responsiveness to feedback and supervision.
- Respond professionally in increasingly complex situations with a greater degree of independence as they
 progress across levels of training.

Communications and interpersonal skills:

- Develop and maintain effective relationships with a wide range of individuals, including colleagues, communities, organizations, supervisors, supervisees, and those receiving professional services.
- Produce and comprehend oral, nonverbal, and written communications that are informative and wellintegrated; demonstrate a thorough grasp of professional language and concepts.
- Demonstrate effective interpersonal skills and the ability to manage difficult communication well.

Scholarship

Research:

- Demonstrate the substantially independent ability to formulate research or other scholarly activities (e.g., critical literature reviews, dissertation, efficacy studies, clinical case studies, theoretical papers, program evaluation projects, program development projects) that are of sufficient quality and rigor to have the potential to contribute to the scientific, psychological, or professional knowledge base.
- Conduct research or other scholarly activities.
- Critically evaluate and disseminate research or other scholarly activity via professional publication and presentation at the local (including the host institution), regional, or national level.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's Doctor of Psychology in Clinical Psychology Program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements. Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors that are considered in admission include GPA from undergraduate schools. Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale in social science and liberal arts courses OR a graduate degree in a related discipline with a GPA of 3.5 or higher on a 4.0 scale. Students must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned. It is recommended that transcripts are submitted from all schools where credit was received to enhance their applications. Additional factors that are considering in admission include the following:

- Completion of 18 credit hours of psychology prerequisite coursework. Of those hours, students must have completed at least one course in Abnormal psychology, Lifespan (human development), and Statistics. The remaining prerequisite credits may include courses like Theories of Personality, Biopsychology, Tests and Measurements, and Research Methods. All coursework must have been completed earning a grade of 'C' or better prior to matriculation in the program.
- Completion of the Graduate Record Exam (GRE) general test within the past five years.
- Interview with faculty.(Interviews are by invitation only and applicants will be notified by the Office of Admissions should an interview be granted.)
- Have demonstrated through written statements and interview sufficient foundational competencies needed to begin training for health service psychology.

Applicant Notification

If, after initial review of all application materials the Admission Committee so recommends, the applicant will be invited for an interview day with members of the Department faculty. Interviews are by invitation only and mandatory for full consideration.

Post interview, the applicant will be notified of the Admission Committee's decision regarding his or her application. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of 106 credit hours of coursework
- Successful completion of Year 2 600-hour basic practicum
- Successful completion of Year 3 600-hour intermediate practicum
- Successful completion of Year 4 600-hour advanced practicum
- Successful completion of Clinical Competency Evaluation
- Successful completion of Dissertation
- Successful completion of 2,000 hour internship

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver.

Ethical Guidelines

The Chicago School at XULA considers competency in Ethical Legal Standards and Policy a foundational competency and expects that all Program students will be knowledgeable of and adhere to the APA Ethical Guidelines as published by the American Psychological Association. Sound ethical reasoning and accountability to the larger community for adherence to guidelines for ethical behavior are the two characteristics that mark a profession as distinct from a career or job. As a result, several expectations of students are derived from the ethical code.

First, no student shall obtain part-time or full-time employment that is beyond the scope of their cumulative training in the field of psychology. In accordance with state laws, no student may serve under the title of "psychologist," "clinical psychologist," or any closely related title or job function until granted an appropriate license by the state after the awarding of the doctoral degree. Students may, however, work as psychological assistants, researchers, or psychometricians under the supervision of a professional health service psychologist who is duly licensed or certified by the appropriate state agency.

A student shall not perform any function that exceeds his/her level of training. Students shall ensure that the appropriate malpractice insurance is in effect prior to their commencement of any clinical practice. In addition, a student may not establish or continue psychotherapy with any department or affiliate faculty member under any circumstances or with any adjunct faculty member while registered in his or her course or while under his or her supervision. A student who fails to adhere to this policy or otherwise fails to demonstrate the appropriate ethics required for practice in the field of professional health service psychology is subject to discipline.

A second derivation of the ethical code is that of integrity. The Chicago School at XULA expects that all students demonstrate the highest form of academic integrity. This applies to all of their graduate work and studies ranging from course work, to general scholarship, to interactions with faculty, staff, and students. Further, given that graduate students as part of their training gain access to extremely sensitive clinical information, The Chicago School at XULA expects that students show the highest form of professional integrity in their training settings. These expectations range from client contact, to professional communications, to representation as a student of the school. Integrity is taken very seriously and a violation of academic, professional and health service standards is grounds for remediation, suspension, or expulsion.

A final derivation of the ethical code is that of suitability for health services work. As a field, our primary responsibility is to the public we serve. As a result, should a student show signs that he or she is likely to cause harm to those we serve, swift action will be taken to mitigate that risk for harm. Such action could range from requiring additional

education and remediation for the student to disciplinary action such as suspension or expulsion. Should a student demonstrate, over time and despite efforts to remediate, that he or she is not able to assume the responsibilities of the profession, he or she may be dismissed from the school. Suitability is defined in part by the school, in part by the field of psychology, and in part by the larger society. Should a student's ability to engage in professional health service practice change, for example through conviction of a crime that prevents licensure, the department may determine that completion of the program is not possible for the student.

Independent Practice

Consistent with training department goals and the focus on ethical behavior, it is deemed inappropriate for Program students to engage in health service activities that may infringe upon a primary commitment to training, negatively affect quality of consumer mental health services, or are inconsistent with ethical and legal standards. Students' participation in outside work activities should be secondary to training and should also uphold and be consistent with the ethical and legal standards of the profession. Engaging in independent practice in psychology prior to appropriate licensure, as a result, is viewed as inconsistent with these training objectives, and unethical for doctoral-level students.

A student may hold a valid license in another profession (e.g., Licensed Clinical Professional Counselor, Licensed Clinical Social Worker, or Marriage and Family Therapist) or may obtain such a license during her/his training at The Chicago School at XULA. Such students may practice within the scope of their license consistent with the following:

- The demands of the practice in time or other resources must not jeopardize the student's primary commitment to training in the department.
- The manner in which students represent themselves to colleagues, clients and the public (e.g. marketing materials and reports of service) should not create a belief that the practice is under the auspices of or sanctioned by The Chicago School, that the practice is part of the school's training, or that the practice is that of a trained and licensed clinical psychologist.

A student who fails to comply with the requirements of this section will be referred to for intervention, remediation, or disciplinary action, or for referral to the Student Affairs Committee for disciplinary action and possible dismissal.

Professional Performance Evaluation (PPE) Requirements

The Program evaluates students' performance in foundational competencies in all courses and experiential activities using Professional Performance Evaluations (PPEs). The Program considers task competencies 1 - 5 foundational (see above). Failure to perform foundational competencies at the expected level may result in remedial and/or disciplinary action such as meetings with the advisor, being placed on an Academic Development Plan, or additional disciplinary action.

Professional Development Group and Academic Advisor Assignment

All students are required to enroll in a Professional Development Group during their first two semesters in the program. A student's Professional Development Group instructor automatically becomes her/his academic advisor Students usually retain their advisor for the duration of their second year in the program but have the option of changing advisors should the student wish to do so. Students have no less than two face-to-face meetings per semester with their advisor during their second year in the program. Generally, the student's Dissertation Chair becomes the academic advisor as of the third year of study, unless the student requests otherwise. Any change in advisors requires a three way meeting

between the old advisor, the new advisor, and the student. In case the old advisor is not available, the Department Chair will instead participate in the three-way meeting with the new advisor and the student.

Student Disclosure of Personal Information

Self-reflection, introspection, and an ability to examine personal reactions to clinical material are considered critical skills in student development. Students will be required to examine their personal reactions and the impact of their personal histories on the clinical services they are training to provide. Students will not be required to disclose personal information related to sexual history, history of abuse or neglect, personal psychotherapy or in-depth information regarding intimate relationships in course or department related activities. However, students are expected to actively reflect upon and effectively manage their personal reactions to people who are different from or similar to themselves along these and other dimensions, especially when such personal reactions negatively impact clinical health service work, professional interactions, and ethical responsibilities. Such reflection may be required within the context of an advising relationship, certain course assignments in the Program, or a supervising relationship on practicum.

Practicum and Internship

The three year-long practicum experiences are an integral component of clinical training. They provide a closely supervised clinical experience in health service settings in which students apply knowledge from the classroom and combine it with individual independent clinical knowledge seeking as they develop the skills, knowledge, and attitudes to assess and diagnose client and systemic problems and to intervene in helpful ways. As such, practicum serves to integrate the theoretical and practical aspects of the education of the health service psychologist-in-training. Finally, practicum affords students the opportunity to become familiar with case management, multidisciplinary collaboration, and consultation and supervision in a clinical health services setting.

All students are required to take six semester hours each of Basic and Intermediate Practicum. The first three-semester practicum sequence is primarily devoted to training in psychological assessment. The second three-semester sequence is primarily devoted to psychotherapy. Both practica require individual supervision and some may offer additional supervision at the practicum site, as well as small group seminars offered by the Program.

Advanced Practicum gives students the chance to focus more deeply on an area or population of particular interest, such as neuropsychology, children, or incarcerated persons. Advanced Practicum students again receive site supervision but are often given more responsibility for cases and at times begin to serve as consultants and supervisors at their practicum sites. The accompanying small group seminars also help develop skills in consultation and supervision as students near the end of their residency in the Program. Advanced practicum is four semester hours.

Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

Clinical Qualifying Examination (CQE)

Every student is required to pass the Clinical Qualifying Examination (CQE) to progress to Intermediate Practicum. The aim of the CQE is to evaluate the student's foundational competencies, competencies related to interviewing, psychopathology and assessment, and the ethical and cultural issues involved in diagnosing and assessing in an interprofessional health service setting. The CQE is given during the Beginning Practicum Seminar at the end of the spring semester in year two.

Clinical Competency Examination (CCE)

Every student is required to pass a Clinical Competency Examination (CCE). The CCE has written and oral components and is given in Intermediate Practicum Seminar at the end of the spring semester in year three. The aim of the CCE, is to evaluate the student's foundational competencies and competencies related to theory, research, and practice in their chosen theory of intervention as practiced in an ethical and culturally sensitive manner. The CCE evaluation must be based in part on direct observation of the practicum student and his/her developing skills. Passing of the CCE is required for progressing to Advanced Practicum.

Dissertation

All students are required to complete a dissertation. Under guidance of an experienced faculty member and with additional help from a second faculty member, the dissertation affords student's the opportunity to spend two years to independently research an issue of professional interest they feel personally passionate about. As part of their dissertation, students conduct an exhaustive literature review, formulate hypotheses or questions to be answered, and create and execute a method to investigate, and finally combine empirically derived data with conceptual knowledge to reach conclusions about their hypotheses and answers to their questions. Communication of findings to the community of scholars is integral to this process and helps the student grow into a productive member of the profession and the field at large.

Internship

All students are required to complete an Internship following the completion of all course work, practicum, and dissertation requirements. On internship, students integrate academic knowledge, with clinical skills and demonstrate the effective and ethical, and culturally sensitive use of these skills in clinical practice. Through intensive supervised training, students gain direct experience in applying their knowledge with clinical populations and systems.

Internship consists of a minimum of 2,000 hours of training over 12-24 month (full or part time, respectively). Appropriate sites for internship are approved by the American Psychological Association (APA), members of the Association of Psychology Pre-doctoral and Post-doctoral Internship Centers (APPIC), the California Psychology Internship Council (CAPIC), or are programs that offer equivalent training. Students are required to register for Internship during each semester they are on internship. Registration for Internship automatically assigns full-time student status.

The Curriculum

On average, a student who progresses successfully through the academic program should expect to complete the Doctor of Psychology in Clinical Psychology degree in five academic years. The recommended plan is for four years of coursework followed by a full-time internship. A student must complete all degree requirements within seven academic years. Exceptions to this policy require departmental approval.

Required Core: 94 credit hours

Intervention Orientation: 4 credit hours

Elective: 8 credit hours

Program Total

Psy.D. Clinical Psychology - The Chicago School@XULA: 106 credit hours

Required Core

- PY 210X Research Clerkship I (1 credit; Credit/No Credit)
- PY 211X Research Clerkship II (1 credit; Credit/No Credit)
- PY 400X Cultural Impact Experience (0 credits)
- PY 417X Professional Development Group I (1 credit)
- PY 418X Professional Development Group II (1 credit)
- PY 420X Basic Psychopathology (3 credits)
- PY 421X Advanced Psychopathology (3 credits)
- PY 422X Clinical and Diagnostic Interviewing (3 credits)
- PY 426X History and Systems of Psychology (3 credits)
- PY 428X Statistics II (3 credits)
- PY 434X Intellectual Assessment (3 credits plus lab fee)
- PY 436X Personality Assessment (3 credits)
- PY 440X Psychology of the Life Span I (2 credits)
- PY 443X Diversity in Clinical Psychology I (2 credits)
- PY 445X Psychology of the LifeSpan II (2 credits)
- PY 446X Diversity in Clinical Psychology II (2 credits)
- PY 447X Cognitive-Affective Bases of Behavior (3 credits)
- PY 449X Biological Bases of Behavior (3 credits)
- PY 450X Professional Issues and Ethics (3 credits)
- PY 451X Social Bases of Behavior (3 credits)
- PY 452X Psychometrics Theory and Quantitative Methods (3 credits)
- PY 455X Research Methods (3 credits)
- PY 462X Basic Intervention: Psychodynamic (3 credits)
- PY 464X Basic Intervention: Cognitive-Behavioral (3 credits)
- PY 466X Basic Intervention: Existential-Humanistic (3 credits)
- PY 468X Basic Intervention: Systems (3 credits)
- PY 479X Introduction to Human Neuropsychology (2 credits)
- PY 481X Introduction to Clinical Psychopharmacology (2 credits)
- PY 484X Beginning Practicum I (Diagnostic) (2 credits hours) (auto half time)
- PY 485X Beginning Practicum II (Diagnostic) (2 credits)(auto half time)
- PY 486X Beginning Practicum III (Diagnostic) (0 credits)(auto half time)
- PY 500X Supervision, Consultation & Professional Practice (3 credits)
- PY 501X Interprofessional Consultation (1 credit)
- PY 504X Intermediate Practicum Seminar I (Diagnostic) (3 credits)
- PY 505X Intermediate Practicum Seminar II (Diagnostic) (3 credits)(auto half time)
- PY 506X Intermediate Practicum Seminar III (Diagnostic) (0 credits)(auto half time)
- PY 543X Advanced Assessment (3 credits)
- PY 604X Advanced Practicum Seminar I (Supervision and Consultation) (2 credits)(auto half time)
- PY 607X Advanced Practicum Seminar II (Supervision and Consultation) (2 credits)(auto half time)
- PY 608X Advanced Practicum Seminar III (Supervision and Consultation) (0 credits)(auto half time)
- PY 640X Proposal Development Seminar (1 credit hour) (auto half time)
- PY 641X Dissertation Maintenance I (1 credit)(auto full time)
- PY 642X Dissertation Maintenance II (1 credit)(auto full time)
- PY 643X Dissertation Maintenance III (1 credit)(auto full time)
- PY 644X Dissertation Maintenance IV (1 credit)(auto full time)
- PY 645X Dissertation Maintenance V (1 credit)(auto full time)

- PY 650X Internship I (0 credit hours) (auto half time)
- PY 651X Internship II (0 credit hours) (auto half time)
- PY 652X Internship III (0 credit hours) (auto half time)

Intervention Orientation Electives

One way students can individualize their training is through their choice of Intervention Orientation. The Clinical Psy.D. Department does not advocate any single theoretical intervention. Rather, all Clinical Psy.D. students receive a base in theory, conceptualization, technique and the related evidence base by completing a Basic Intervention course in each of the four Intervention Orientations. They then select either the Cognitive-Behavioral or Systems Intervention Orientation for further in-depth and take Advanced Intervention course work in that theory.

The Cognitive-Behavioral Intervention Orientation

Students who choose this intervention begin in the Basic Intervention course studying the basic building blocks of cognitive-behavioral theory, its evidence base, and the basics of treatment planning, case conceptualization, and evaluation of treatment efficacy. They then take two of the Advanced Intervention courses from among the CBT courses below.

The Systems Intervention Orientation

Students who choose this Intervention begin in the Basic Intervention course studying basic conceptualization, intervention skills, and their evidence base to recognize and counter forces in a system, differentiate problematic and normal functioning in a context, and deliver culturally sensitive evidence based treatment. They then take two Advanced Intervention courses from among the Systems courses below.

- PY 492X Advanced Intervention: Cognitive (2 credits)
- PY 4932X Advanced Intervention: CBT Group (2 credits)
- PY 493X Advanced Intervention: Behavioral (2 credits)
- PY 4931X Advanced Intervention: CBT- Behavioral Approaches for Children (2 credits)
- PY 4961X Advanced Intervention: Community Psychology (2 credits)
- PY 497X Advanced Intervention: Family (2 credits)
- PY 498X Advanced Intervention: Couples (2 credits)

Focus Area and General Electives:

Another way students can individualize their training is through their choice of Elective Courses. Each student takes 8 semester hours of electives. Students can freely choose from among all the electives offered including taking additional intervention electives from the list above both from within and outside their Intervention Orientation Area. Students who wish to complete the requirements for one of the two Focus Areas (Behavioral Medicine/Health Psychology and Psychology in a Diverse and Multicultural context) take all electives in their Focus Area.

- PY 251X Career Counseling in Clinical Practice (3 credits)
- PY 427X Statistics I (2 credits)
- PY 478X Infant Mental Health (2 credits)
- PY 480X Child and Adolescent Neuropsychological Assessment (2 credits)
- PY 482X Seminar in Pediatric Psychopharmacology (2 credits)
- PY 511X Independent Study I (1 credit)
- PY 519X Violence and Risk Assessment (2 credits)
- PY 520X Evaluation and Treatment of the Offender (2 credits)
- PY 523X Mental Health Law (2 credits)

PY 588X - Learning to Teach (2 credits)

Behavioral Medicine / Health Psychology Focus Area

- PY 250X Theories, Evaluations, and Treatment of Addictions (2 credits)
- PY 489X Pediatric Health Psychology (2 credits)
- PY 540X Wellness, Health and Prevention (2 credits)
- PY 546X Biopsychosocial Aspects of Medical Disorders (2 credits)
- PY 564X Applied Stress Management (2 credits)
- PY 571X Psychology of Aging (2 credits)
- PY 591X Hypnotherapy (2 credits)
- PY 742X Biofeedback I (2 credits)
- PY 744X Disabilities (2 credits)
- PY 745X Advanced Psychopharmacology and Therapeutics (2 credits)

Psychology in a Diverse and Multicultural Context Focus Area

- PY 714X International Psychology and Human Rights (2 credits)
- PY 710X Gender and Global Human Rights (2 credits)
- PY 715X Refugee and IDP Trauma (2 credits)
- PY 712X Psychosocial Perspectives of Genocide, Democide, and Politicide (2 credits)
- PY 4961X Advanced Intervention: Community Psychology (2 credits)
- PY 511X Independent Study I (1 credit)
- PY 760X Sexual Minority Clients: Cultural Considerations (2 credits)
- PY 761X Gender Identity: Development, Expression and Clinical Considerations (2 credits)
- PY 763X Relational Lives of Sexual Minorities (2 credits)

Optional Advanced Practicum

The Optional Advanced Practicum Sequence allows students who have completed the program's required practicum sequence to pursue additional supervised clinical training hours. For students who require additional time to complete dissertation work or who need to extend their progress through the program by one year, this elective training experience can serve as an opportunity to increase one's clinical hours, to pursue additional specialized training, or to continue active practice of one's clinical skills during the year prior to internship. This optional sequence is only open to students who have successfully completed of Beginning Practicum I-III, Intermediate Practicum I-III, and Advanced Practicum I-III with a grade of "Credit". Students must obtain approval from the program's Director of Clinical Training in order to participate in this optional training sequence. This Optional Advanced Practicum Sequence sits under the Doctoral stage of education and training in the APA Taxonomy and may be part of an Emphasis or Major Area of Study in the pursuit of specialty training.

- PY 683X Advanced Practicum IV (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- PY 684X Advanced Practicum V (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- PY 685X Advanced Practicum VI (0 credit hours)(auto full time)

Extension Courses

PY 950X A-F - Dissertation Extension (0 credit hours) - auto half-time

- PY 951X A-F Dissertation Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- PY 952X Dissertation Extension (0 credit hours) Not F.A. eligible
- PY 953X Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- PY 954X Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto half-time
- PY 766X Practicum Extension (0 credit hours)(auto full time)
- PY 767X Internship Extension (0 credit hours)(auto full time)

Earning a Master of Arts Degree in Clinical Psychology

A student in the Program may earn a MA in Clinical Psychology following the successful completion of required coursework and specific Program requirements. At the beginning of the semester in which a student expects to be eligible for the master's degree, they are required to submit a Petition for Degree Conferral to the Office of the Registrar. The petition is a request to conduct an audit to determine eligibility for the degree. A student who meets the requirements are eligible to participate in the next scheduled commencement. All students who file a Petition for Degree Conferral will be charged a fee.

The specific requirements for award of a Master of Arts degree for the general Program student are as follows:

- Academic and Financial Good Standing
- Successful completion of Beginning Practicum (Diagnostic)
- Successful completion of the following courses:
- PY 417X Professional Development Group I (1 credit)
- PY 418X Professional Development Group II (1 credit)
- PY 420X Basic Psychopathology (3 credits)
- PY 421X Advanced Psychopathology (3 credits)
- PY 422X Clinical and Diagnostic Interviewing (3 credits)
- PY 426X History and Systems of Psychology (3 credits)
- PY 434X Intellectual Assessment (3 credits plus lab fee)
- PY 440X Psychology of the Life Span I (2 credits)
- PY 443X Diversity in Clinical Psychology I (2 credits)
- PY 446X Diversity in Clinical Psychology II (2 credits)
- PY 450X Professional Issues and Ethics (3 credits)
- PY 466X Basic Intervention: Existential-Humanistic (3 credits)
- PY 462X Basic Intervention: Psychodynamic (3 credits)
- PY 464X Basic Intervention: Cognitive-Behavioral (3 credits)
- PY 468X Basic Intervention: Systems (3 credits)
- PY 543X Advanced Assessment (3 credits)

PsyD Marital and Family Therapy

Los Angeles - Anaheim

Program Overview

The PsyD Marital and Family Therapy (MFT) program is based on the practitioner-scholar model of education, integrating core competencies informed by the educational model of the National Council of Schools and Programs of Professional Psychology (NCSPP) and the American Association of Marriage and Family Therapy (AAMFT). MFT

Department faculty are actively engaged in practice and scholarship, and incorporate a wide variety of clinical examples into classroom activities. Students learn through rigorous coursework and completion of a dissertation. The PsyD Marital in Family Therapy program strives to provide excellent training in culturally competent service provision and to offer students a wide variety of training opportunities.

Program Philosophy

The PsyD Marital and Family Therapy program has adopted the practitioner-scholar model and the NCSPP/AAMFT Core Competency model of training. These models are predicated on the belief that competent practitioners must have both a broad knowledge of scientific and theoretical principles at the core of MFT, which includes a solid understanding of a variety of scholarly work, as well as the ability to apply their knowledge to specific clinical situations. The doctoral department does not advocate any single theoretical orientation. Rather, students learn conceptualization and technique across four general theory areas, and then choose a theoretical orientation in which to specialize. Students are continually challenged to reflect on the art and craft of professional practice, as well as on its scientific basis. Completion of the PsyD Marital and Family Therapy program does not qualify students for license.

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Assessment: Students will demonstrate effective and ethical diagnostic and assessment services to a diverse
 set of clients. Students will examine techniques/methods to achieve the successful gathering together of those
 people relevant to the problem and its solution. Students will analyze guidelines for a successful integration
 of family therapy approach into social work agencies drawn from the experience of practitioners. Students
 will review models of family therapy and their implications for practitioners.
- Consultation: Students will demonstrate historical perspective of clinical supervision and consultation, including various evidence-based models of supervision. Students will examine ways of enhancing practice through facilitating reflection and critical thinking methods.
- Intervention: Students will provide a wide range of effective and ethical psychotherapeutic interventions to a
 diverse group of clients. Students Will examine common problems of infancy and early childhood. Students
 will examine common problem in adolescence. Students will show the influences on the problem
 development process. Student will Interpret clinical interviews for assessment and intervention purposes.

Diversity

• Students recognize that culture is best understood from a broad perspective and includes, but is not limited to, identities related to race, ethnicity, gender, sexual orientation, socioeconomic status, age, religious belief, and ability. It is evidenced by the ability to articulate one's personal culture and its impact on held values, relationships and worldview; an understanding of worldview, and the psychological impact of privilege, prejudice, oppression, culture and sociopolitical structures; the ability to differentiate between individual variation, characteristic variation across culture and human dysfunction in development, attitudes and reactions; and appreciation for the impact of culture on the historical and philosophical foundations of psychology.

Professional Behavior

Ethics: Students will demonstrate the ability to apply ethical and professional standards to relationships with
clients and with others (peers, supervisors, faculty, professionals in other disciplines, etc.); socialization into
the profession through advisement, modeling and education and membership in professional organizations;
an understanding of legal obligations that may or may not conflict with ethical guidelines; the development of

- skills in self-awareness, reflective practice and quality control; effective functioning in multiple professional roles; and commitment to life-long learning.
- Relationships: Students will demonstrate insight into personal attitudes and beliefs as they conduct clinical
 interviewing of clients, prepare individual treatment plans, and set appropriate psychotherapeutic goals.

Scholarship

Students will demonstrate the ability to organize, synthesize and interpret scholarly information; the ability to
design and critique approaches to systematic inquiry; the awareness of limits of certainty in different types of
clinical inquiry; the understanding of foundational scientific knowledge in the field; and the recognition of
scholarly knowledge production as a social, cultural and political process. Finally, scholarly findings should
guide/direct clinical practice/interventions.

Licensure

Students who enroll in the post-master's PsyD Marital and Family Therapy program are required to have completed a license-eligible master's degree in a mental health field from a regionally accredited institution. The post-master's PsyD Marriage and Family Therapy program does <u>not</u> meet the coursework or supervised experience requirements for eligibility for licensure as a Marriage and Family Therapist (LMFT) in California.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to The Chicago School's PsyD Marital and Family Therapy program is open to any person who has earned a license-eligible master's degree in a mental health field from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements.

Applicants will be judged on their overall ability to do graduate work. Factors considered in admission are:

- GPA from undergraduate and graduate schools;
- Successful work history;
- Admission essay(s);
- Three letters of recommendation from academic professors or professional or volunteer experience supervisors.
- Generally, graduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission to the school's PsyD Marital and Family Therapy program.
- Admission interview.

Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned, must be submitted with the \$50.00 (USD) application fee in order to be evaluated.

The PsyD Marital and Family (Post-Master's) program requires specific pre-requisite qualifying courses that must be completed in a student's master's program or completed as part of the elective options while enrolled in the doctoral program at The Chicago School. Graduate coursework used to meet prerequisites will be considered for graduate waiver on a case-by-case basis. Based upon the evaluation of these materials, selected candidates may be invited to interview for further consideration of their application.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and the student is quickly notified of the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Professional Performance Evaluation (PPE) Requirements

PPEs are completed at the end of the Summer semester for all students in the first year of their doctoral coursework (courses with PM prefix), reflecting the faculty's consensus regarding each student's performance throughout their first year in the doctoral curriculum of the PsyD, Marital and Family Therapy Program. It may also be completed for any students for whom a faculty member has grade/performance related comments related to attainment of competencies, progress and comportment that should be included in the academic file for consideration in student advising and review. PPEs may be submitted at any time concerns arise. The recording of PPEs is an important way that faculty and others assist in the comprehensive evaluation of the students' progress towards the degree requirements. PPEs also provide essential feedback to students and advisors about areas for attention and focus in advising and remediation. Any PPE score below 3 is cause for concern and may result in action up to and including a referral to the Student Affairs Committee, placement on academic warning/probation, or dismissal. The department chair and Academic Advisor will be notified when students receive a PPE score below 3.

Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of 60 credit hours of coursework
- Successful completion of the Written Competency Exam
- Successful completion of Dissertation

Ethical Guidelines

The Chicago School expects that all Psy.D Marital and Family Therapy students will be knowledgeable of and adhere to the CAMFT/APA/AAMFT Ethical Guidelines as published by the American Psychological Association and the American Association of Marriage and Family Therapists. Sound ethical reasoning and accountability to the larger community for adherence to guidelines for ethical behavior are the two things that mark a profession as distinct from a career or job. As a result, several expectations of students are derived from the ethical code.

In accordance with California state law, no student may serve under the title of "marital and family therapist" or any closely related title or job function until granted an appropriate license by the state after the awarding of the doctoral degree. Students may, however, work as MFT trainees or interns under the supervision of a professional psychologist,

marital and family therapist, social worker or psychiatrist who is duly licensed or certified by the appropriate state agency.

A student shall not perform any function that exceeds his/her level of training. Students shall ensure that the appropriate malpractice insurance is in effect prior to their commencement of any clinical practice. In addition, a student may not establish or continue psychotherapy with any department or affiliate faculty member under any circumstances or with any adjunct faculty member while registered in his or her course or while under his or her supervision. A student who fails to adhere to this policy or otherwise fails to demonstrate the appropriate ethics required for practice in the field of marital and family therapy is subject to discipline.

A second derivation of the ethical code is that of integrity. The Chicago School expects that all students demonstrate the highest form of academic integrity. This applies to all of their graduate work and studies ranging from coursework, to general scholarship, to interactions with faculty, staff, and students. Further, given that graduate students as part of their training gain access to extremely sensitive clinical information, The Chicago School expects that students show the highest form of professional integrity in their training settings. These expectations range from client contact, to professional communications, to representation as a student of the school. Integrity is taken very seriously and a violation of academic and professional standards is grounds for remediation, suspension, or expulsion.

A final derivation of the ethical code is that of professional suitability. As a field, our primary responsibility is to the public we serve. As a result, should a student show signs that he or she is likely to cause harm to those we serve, swift action will be taken to mitigate that risk for harm. Such action could range from requiring additional education and remediation for the student to disciplinary action such as suspension or expulsion. Should a student demonstrate, over time and despite efforts to remediate, that he or she is not able to assume the responsibilities of the profession, he or she may be dismissed from the school. Professional suitability is defined in part by the school, in part by the field of psychology and in part by the larger society. Should a student's ability to engage in professional practice change, for example through conviction of a crime that prevents licensure, the department may determine that completion of the program is not possible for the student.

Independent Practice

Consistent with training department goals and the focus on ethical behavior, it is deemed inappropriate for PsyD Marital and Family Therapy students to engage in professional activities that may infringe upon a primary commitment to training, negatively affect quality of consumer mental health services, or are inconsistent with ethical and legal standards. Students' participation in outside work activities should be secondary to training and should also uphold and be consistent with the ethical and legal standards of the profession. Engaging in independent practice in MFT prior to appropriate licensure, as a result, is viewed as inconsistent with these training objectives.

A student may hold a valid license in another profession (e.g., Licensed Clinical Professional Counselor or Licensed Clinical Social Worker) or may obtain such a license during her/his training at The Chicago School. Such students may practice within the scope of their license consistent with the following:

- The demands of the practice in time or other resources must not jeopardize the student's primary commitment to training in the department.
- The manner in which students represent themselves to colleagues, clients and the public (e.g. marketing materials and reports of service) should not create a belief that the practice is under the auspices of or sanctioned by The Chicago School, that the practice is part of the school's training, or that the practice is that of a trained and licensed clinical psychologist.

A student who fails to comply with the requirements of this section will be referred to the department chair for intervention, remediation, or disciplinary action, or for referral to the Student Affairs Committee for disciplinary action and possible dismissal.

Student Disclosure of Personal Information

Self-reflection, introspection, and an ability to examine personal reactions to clinical material are considered critical skills in student development. Students will be required to examine their personal reactions and the impact of their personal histories on the clinical services they are training to provide. Students will not be required to disclose personal information related to sexual history, history of abuse or neglect, personal psychotherapy or in-depth information regarding intimate relationships in course or department related activities. However, students are expected to actively reflect upon and effectively manage their personal reactions to people who are different from themselves along these and other dimensions, especially when such personal reactions negatively impact clinical work, professional interactions, and ethical responsibilities. Such reflection may be required within the context of an advising relationship at School, or a supervising relationship on internship or practicum.

Dissertation

The dissertation is an essential aspect of a student's academic experience and clinical education at the school. The dissertation provides the school with the opportunity to formally evaluate the student's ability to contribute to the field by applying theory and research to areas of clinical psychology, thinking critically and creatively about professional psychology, and demonstrating self-direction and professional/scholarly writing. The dissertation should clearly and concisely demonstrate the student's command of the body of knowledge in a chosen area, as well as ability to critically evaluate and synthesize this knowledge. The student's Dissertation Committee is responsible for assessing the student's abilities and critical thinking, determining the professional standards the dissertation must meet, and giving final approval to the dissertation.

Comprehensive Examination

All students are required to successfully complete the PsyD Comprehensive Exam. The information tested by the exam covers the program competencies. The comprehensive examination is generally administered twice a year and taken during the final year of enrollment in academic coursework. Students must be in good academic standing to be eligible to take the Comprehensive Examination. Additional information regarding registering, qualifying, format and dates of the exam can be obtained from the Department Chair of the program. Students who are unable to pass the Comprehensive Examination will be allowed to retake the exam a maximum of two additional times. The exam may be retaken during the next scheduled administration of the exam. Students will receive information from their faculty advisor concerning their performance on the examination. Assistance from faculty in constructing additional experiences and instruction aimed at enabling them to pass this program requirement can be offered. Any student who fails the Comprehensive Examination a third time is automatically referred to the Student Affairs Committee (SAC).

The Curriculum

Program Total

Post-Master's Psy.D. Marital and Family Therapy: 60 credit hours

Required Core

- PM 601 Etiology and Diagnostic Conceptualization of Mental Illness (3 credit hours)
- PM 602 Clinical Consultation and Supervision (3 credit hours)
- PM 610 Advanced Academic Writing (3 credit hours)
- PM 612 Psychotherapy and Spirituality (1 credit hour)
- PM 615 Existential Humanistic Approaches (2 credit hours)

- PM 621 Clinical Psychopharmacology (2 credit hours)
- PM 611 Advanced Application of Theories in Systemic Therapy (3 credit hours)
- PM 617 History and Application of Systems Theories (3 credit hours)
- PM 619 Evidence-Based Treatment Planning in Systemic Therapy (2 credit hours)
- PM 622 Research Design & Program Development (3 credit hours)
- PM 623 Recovery, Trauma, and Crisis Counseling within the Community (3 credit hours)
- PM 624 Assessment in Systemic Therapy (3 credits)
- PM 632 Qualitative Analysis (3 credit hours)
- PM 656 Teaching and Technology in Higher Education Instruction (3 credit hours)
- PM 701 Contemporary Approaches & Applications in Systemic Therapy Seminar I (3 credit hours)
- PM 702 Contemporary Approaches & Applications in Systemic Therapy Seminar II (2 credit hours)
- PM 706 Statistical Methods & Quantitative Analysis (3 credit hours)
- PM 715 Community Clinical and Agency Management (3 credit hours)
- PM 724 Grant Writing and Publication (2 credit hours)
- PM 741 Private Practice Management (2 credit hours)
- PM 707 Proposal Development (3 credit hours)
- PM 756 Dissertation I: Proposal (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- PM 757 Dissertation II: IRB Submisison (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- PM 758 Dissertation III: Data Collection (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- PM 759 Dissertation IV: Data Analysis (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- PM 760 Dissertation V: Defense (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- PM 800 Comprehensive Examination (0 credit hours) (auto half time)

Extension Courses

- PM 950A-F Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) auto half-time
- PM 951A-F Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) auto full-time
- PM 952 Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) Not F.A. eligible
- PM 953 Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- PM 954 Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto half-time

PsyD School Psychology

Chicago

Program Overview

The PsyD School Psychology degree is a 94 credit hour applied doctoral program that prepares students for licensure as School Psychologists and as Clinical Psychologists in the State of Illinois. It combines our NASP approved EdS curriculum with additional coursework, internship, and dissertation requirements to prepare graduates for clinical practice at the doctoral level.

Program Accreditation

The PsyD School Psychology program at the Chicago Campus is accredited on contingency by the American Psychological Association.

Questions related to the program's accredited status should be directed to the Commission on Accreditation:

The American Psychological Association Office of Program Consultation and Accreditation 750 First Street, NE Washington, D.C. 20002-4242 202.336.5979

Program Learning Outcomes

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Use psychological and educational assessment measures in a nondiscriminatory, valid, and reliable manner to make data based decisions.
- Select, design, implement, and evaluate effective multi-tiered evidence-based preventative and responsive academic, social and life skills practices and interventions for children and adolescents.
- Demonstrate knowledge of supervision models and demonstrate effective supervision practices.
- Demonstrate knowledge of consultation and change models and will demonstrate effective consultations
 practices with families, schools, and systems, while respecting and collaborating with other roles and
 professions.
- Use positive and clear communication to develop and maintain effective relationships with a wide range of individuals, including children, families, peers, professionals and community members.

Diversity

• Apply an understanding of individual and cultural differences effectively in multicultural and pluralistic social contexts.

Professional Behavior

- Demonstrate a commitment to professional ethics and standards for School and Clinical Psychologists as
 defined by the National Association of School Psychologists and the American Psychological Association.
- Students will behave in ways that reflect the values and attitudes of psychology, demonstrate integrity, develop a professional identity, engage in self-reflection, and demonstrate openness and responsiveness to feedback and supervision

Scholarship

• Plan, conduct, and evaluate applied psychological and educational research.

Licensure

For information on where The Chicago School meets, does not meet, or has not determined if the program meets licensure eligibility requirements for the state in which you wish to be licensed, please visit: https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/admissions/licensure-disclosures/.

Admission Requirements

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Post Baccalaureate Admission Requirements

Application to The Chicago School's PsyD School Psychology program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements:

- Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 3.2 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission.
- Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned.
- Resume or Curriculum Vitae.
- An admission essay.
- Three letters of recommendation from academic professors or professional or volunteer supervisors.
- An admission interview.
- Work experience recommended but not required for admission.
- Prerequisites: undergraduate courses (a course in psychology and a course in either statistics or research methods) that must be completed prior to enrollment, with a grade earned of "C" or better.
- The Graduate Record Examination (GRE). Scores should be sent directly to the school (GRE School Code: 1119).
- \$50.00 (USD) application fee.

Post Specialist/Equivalent Degree Admission Requirements

Application to The Chicago School's Psy.D. School Psychology (completion) program is open to any person who has earned a specialist level certificate or degree in School Psychology or equivalent degree or credential from an institutionally accredited institution that is also NASP approved or accredited, who is currently credentialed or eligible to be credentialed as a National Certified School Psychologist (NCSP) (credential to be completed prior to completion of first year of instruction), and who meets other entrance requirements:

- Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 3.2 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission.
- Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned.
- Resume or Curriculum Vitae.
- An admission essay.
- Three letters of recommendation from academic professors or professional or volunteer supervisors.
- Work experience recommended but not required for admission.
- \$50.00 (USD) application fee.

Progression Requirement: Post-Specialist Level entry point applicants must have completed graduate-level coursework in psychometrics and statistics with a grade of "B" or better, or they will be required to complete SP 550 Principles of Psychometrics and/or SP 565 Statistics Statistics prior to or concurrent with enrollment in the program.

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and the student is quickly notified of the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission, in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$500 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Degree Completion Requirements

Post Baccalaureate Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of 94 hours of coursework
- Successful completion of 1260 hours of practicum:
 - O Beginning Practicum: 160 hours minimum
 - o Intermediate practicum: 550 hours minimum
 - O Advanced practicum: 550 hours minimum
- Successful completion of a minimum of 1750 clock hours over 12 months minimum of supervised internship
- Successful completion of dissertation
- A student must complete all degree requirements within seven academic years. Exceptions to this policy require departmental approval.

Post Specialist/Equivalent Degree Completion Requirements

- Successful completion of 36 hours of coursework
- Successful completion of a minimum 550 hours of advanced practicum
- Successful completion of a minimum of 1750 clock hours over 12 months minimum of supervised internship
- Successful completion of dissertation
- A student must complete all degree requirements within six academic years. Exceptions to this policy require
 departmental approval.

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Articulation Agreements

The Chicago School has established agreements between the PsyD School Psychology program and the programs listed below to allow qualified students to associate courses taken in other The Chicago School programs so they can be counted toward degree completion requirements for both programs. Click on the link of the program that interests you for details.

EdS School Psychology and PsyD School Psychology

Ethical Guidelines

Graduates will demonstrate commitment to the ethical guidelines adopted by the National Association of School Psychologists' *Professional Conduct Manual*, which contains "Principles for Professional Ethics" and the "Standards for the Provision of School Psychological Services" and those adopted by the American Psychological Association's (APA) *Ethical Principles of Psychologists*. For example, students shall not engage in employment beyond the scope of their training and may not use titles governed by certification and licensure statutes. Students that fail to adhere to ethical and legal guidelines appropriate for the practice of School Psychology are subject to discipline.

Practicum

The practicum is an integral component of clinical training. Students receive closely supervised experience in order to apply assessment, intervention, and consultation skills learned in the classroom in a professional setting. All students take 12 credits of practicum courses over a two-year period. Upon completion of the program, all students will have completed 1200 clock hours of supervised field experience training.

Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

Internship

All students are required to complete an internship following the successful completion of all course work and practicum requirements. Students integrate academic knowledge with clinical skills and demonstrate the effective and ethical use of these skills in clinical practice.

The internship consists of a minimum of 1750 clock hours of supervised internship. Appropriate sites should meet the requirements for approval by the American Psychological Association (APA) and the Association of Psychology Predoctoral and Post-doctoral Internship Centers (APPIC). Registration for internship automatically assigns full-time student status.

Dissertation

Students must complete a dissertation that has been approved by the School Psychology Department, as well as the The Chicago School National Center Academic and Dissertation Excellence (NCADE).

Comprehensive Exam

Students must take and pass the Illinois School Psychologist Exam and obtain a passing score as indicated by the Illinois State Board of Education. Students must also take and pass the Praxis II School Psychologist Exam and obtain a passing score necessary to obtain the Nationally Certified School Psychology (NCSP) credential.

The Curriculum

Post Baccalaureate Required Core

Post Baccalaureate Required Core: 94 credit hours

- SP 501 Behavioral Assessment (3 credit hours)
- SP 522 Crisis Prevention, Intervention and Trauma Informed Practice in Schools (3 credit hours)(course fee \$100)
- SP 509 Educational Assessment (3 credit hours)
- SP 410 Consulting in Schools (3 credit hours)
- SP 415 Professional Development and Beginning Practicum I (1 credit hour)
- SP 416 Professional Development and Beginning Practicum II (1 credit hour)
- SP 417 Professional Development III (2 credit hours)
- SP 517 Neurodiversity, Psychopathology & Intervention I (3 credit hours)
- SP 532 Psycho-educational Assessment I (3 credit hours)
- SP 430 Clinical and Diagnostic Interviewing (3 credit hours)
- SP 524 School Based Interventions (3 credit hours)

- SP 528 Diversity in Clinical Practice (3 credit hours)
- SP 446 Ethics and Law in School Psychology (2 credit hours)
- SP 449 Biological and Cognitive Bases of Behavior (3 credit hours)
- SP 565 Statistics (3 credit hours)
- SP 536 Systems Theory and Practice (3 credit hours)
- SP 540 Intermediate Practicum and Seminar in School Psychology I (3 credit hours)
- SP 544 Intermediate Practicum and Seminar in School Psychology II (3 credit hours)
- SP 548 Applied Group and Individual Processes of Therapy (3 credit hours)
- SP 504 Affective & Social Bases of Behavior: Functioning and Assessment (3 credit hours)
- SP 572 Infant to Preschool Assessment (2 credit hours)
- SP 556 Psycho-educational Assessment II (3 credit hours)
- SP 557 Neurodiversity, Psychopathology and Intervention II (3 credit hours)
- SP 550 Principles of Psychometrics (2 credit hours)
- SP 700 Advanced Doctoral Therapy and Practicum I (3 credit hours)
- SP 701 Advanced Doctoral Therapy and Practicum II (3 credit hours)
- SP 714 Advanced Psychology of Learning Seminar (3 credit hours)
- SP 720 Developmental Psychology in a Multicultural World (3 credit hours)
- SP 730 Dissertation Seminar I (3 credit hours)
- SP 731 Dissertation Seminar II (3 credit hours)
- SP 743 Doctoral Internship I (0 credit hours)(auto full time)
- SP 744 Doctoral Internship II (0 credit hours)(auto full time)
- SP 745 Doctoral Internship III (0 credit hours)(auto full time) (Course fee \$475)
- SP 750 History and Systems of Psychology (3 credit hours)
- SP 760 Professional Practice in Doctoral School Psychology (3 credit hours)
- SP 770 Research Methodology for Professional Practice (3 credit hours)
- SP 780 Social and Community Psychology (3 credit hours)

Post Specialist/Equivalent Degree

Post Specialist/Equivalent Degree Core: 36 credit hours

- SP 449 Biological and Cognitive Bases of Behavior (3 credit hours)
- SP 504 Affective & Social Bases of Behavior: Functioning and Assessment (3 credit hours)
- SP 700 Advanced Doctoral Therapy and Practicum I (3 credit hours)
- SP 701 Advanced Doctoral Therapy and Practicum II (3 credit hours)
- SP 714 Advanced Psychology of Learning Seminar (3 credit hours)
- SP 720 Developmental Psychology in a Multicultural World (3 credit hours)
- SP 730 Dissertation Seminar I (3 credit hours)
- SP 731 Dissertation Seminar II (3 credit hours)
- SP 743 Doctoral Internship I (0 credit hours)(auto full time)
- SP 744 Doctoral Internship II (0 credit hours)(auto full time)
- SP 745 Doctoral Internship III (0 credit hours)(auto full time) (Course fee \$475)
- SP 750 History and Systems of Psychology (3 credit hours)
- SP 760 Professional Practice in Doctoral School Psychology (3 credit hours)
- SP 770 Research Methodology for Professional Practice (3 credit hours)
- SP 780 Social and Community Psychology (3 credit hours)

Optional Advanced Doctoral Therapy and Practicum

The Optional Advanced Doctoral Therapy and Practicum Sequence allows students who have completed the program's required practicum sequence to pursue additional supervised clinical training hours. For students who require additional time to complete dissertation work or who need to extend their progress through the program by one year, this elective training experience can serve as an opportunity to increase one's clinical hours, to pursue additional specialized training, or to continue active practice of one's clinical skills during the year prior to internship. This optional sequence is only open to students who have successfully completed of Beginning Practicum I-II, Intermediate Practicum I-II, and Advanced Doctoral Therapy and Practicum I-II. Students must obtain approval from the program's Director of Clinical Training in order to participate in this optional training sequence. This Optional Advanced Doctoral Therapy and Practicum Sequence sits under the Doctoral stage of education and training in the APA Taxonomy and may be part of an Emphasis or Major Area of Study in the pursuit of specialty training.

- SP 710 Advanced Doctoral Therapy and Practicum III (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- SP 711 Advanced Doctoral Therapy and Practicum IV (1 credit hour) (auto full time)
- SP 712 Advanced Doctoral Therapy and Practicum V (1 credit hour) (auto full time)

Extension Courses

- SPD 950A-F Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) auto half-time
- SPD 951A-F Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) auto full-time
- SPD 952 Dissertation Extension (1 credit hour) Not F.A. eligible
- SPD 953 Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto full-time
- SPD 954 Manuscript Preparation (MP) Extension (0 credit hours) auto half-time
- SP 626 Doctoral Therapy Practicum Extension (0 credit hours)(auto full time)
- SP 627 Doctoral Internship Extension (0 credit hours)(auto full time)

Earning an MEd Psychology Degree

A student in the EdS in School Psychology program may earn an MEd Psychology following the successful completion of required coursework and specific program requirements. At the beginning of the semester in which a student expects to be eligible for the degree, they are required to submit Petition for Degree Conferral to the Office of the Registrar. The petition is a request to conduct an audit to determine eligibility for the degree. A student who meets the requirements is eligible to participate in the next scheduled commencement. Eligibility guidelines are contained in the catalog under which the student was admitted. A student who files a Petition for Degree Conferral is charged a fee.

The specific requirements for award of an M.Ed. Psychology degree are as follows:

- Academic and Financial Aid Good Standing
- Successful Completion of the following courses:
- SP 415 Professional Development and Beginning Practicum I (1 credit hour)
- SP 416 Professional Development and Beginning Practicum II (1 credit hour)
- SP 417 Professional Development III (2 credit hours)
- SP 430 Clinical and Diagnostic Interviewing (3 credit hours)
- SP 449 Biological and Cognitive Bases of Behavior (3 credit hours)
- SP 501 Behavioral Assessment (3 credit hours)
- SP 509 Educational Assessment (3 credit hours)
- SP 528 Diversity in Clinical Practice (3 credit hours)
- SP 532 Psycho-educational Assessment I (3 credit hours)

- SP 550 Principles of Psychometrics (2 credit hours)
- SP 556 Psycho-educational Assessment II (3 credit hours)
- SP 565 Statistics (3 credit hours)

Earning an EdS in School Psychology

A student in the PsyD in School Psychology program may earn an EdS School Psychology following the successful completion of required coursework and specific program requirements. At the beginning of the semester in which a student expects to be eligible for the degree, they are required to submit Petition for Degree Conferral to the Office of the Registrar. The petition is a request to conduct an audit to determine eligibility for the degree. A student who meets the requirements is eligible to participate in the next scheduled commencement. Eligibility guidelines are contained in the catalog under which the student was admitted. A student who files a Petition for Degree Conferral is charged a fee.

The specific requirements for award of an EdS School degree are as follows:

- Academic and Financial Aid Good Standing
- Successful completion of the following courses:
- SP 410 Consulting in Schools (3 credit hours)
- SP 415 Professional Development and Beginning Practicum I (1 credit hour)
- SP 416 Professional Development and Beginning Practicum II (1 credit hour)
- SP 417 Professional Development III (2 credit hours)
- SP 430 Clinical and Diagnostic Interviewing (3 credit hours)
- SP 446 Ethics and Law in School Psychology (2 credit hours)
- SP 449 Biological and Cognitive Bases of Behavior (3 credit hours)
- SP 501 Behavioral Assessment (3 credit hours)
- SP 504 Affective & Social Bases of Behavior: Functioning and Assessment (3 credit hours)
- SP 509 Educational Assessment (3 credit hours)
- SP 522 Crisis Prevention, Intervention and Trauma Informed Practice in Schools (3 credit hours)(course fee \$100)
- SP 524 School Based Interventions (3 credit hours)
- SP 528 Diversity in Clinical Practice (3 credit hours)
- SP 532 Psycho-educational Assessment I (3 credit hours)
- SP 536 Systems Theory and Practice (3 credit hours)
- SP 540 Intermediate Practicum and Seminar in School Psychology I (3 credit hours)
- SP 544 Intermediate Practicum and Seminar in School Psychology II (3 credit hours)
- SP 550 Principles of Psychometrics (2 credit hours)
- SP 556 Psycho-educational Assessment II (3 credit hours)
- SP 557 Neurodiversity, Psychopathology and Intervention II (3 credit hours)
- SP 565 Statistics (3 credit hours)
- SP 572 Infant to Preschool Assessment (2 credit hours)
- SP 620 Internship I (2 credit hours)(auto full time)
- SP 621 Internship II (2 credit hours)(auto full time)

Dual Enrollment

Dual Enrollment: Master of Health Services Administration and Master of Public Health

Online

Program Overview

The Chicago School offers a unique dual enrollment program for students who are interested in both health administration and public health. This program takes advantage of the many areas of overlap between each programs curriculum and allows students to receive both degrees upon completion of 69 credit hours.

The student will receive a Master of Health Services Administration (MHSA) and a Master in Public Health (MPH).

The MHSA/MPH dual enrollment program offers a distinctive educational experience. The program provides students with the opportunity to learn organizational and analytical skills and strategies to provide solutions to the complex issues surrounding health care and public health sectors through a diverse, interprofessional, and ethical approach.

Program Learning Outcomes

Master of Health Services Administration

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Have knowledge of the healthcare system and administrative/management roles in in health services.
- Successfully negotiate the challenges between business practices and evidence based findings in health services administration.
- Combine leadership skills, logic, initiative, and innovation to prepare for organizational transformation.

Diversity

 Evaluate the impact of diversity issues on individuals and society and demonstrate awareness and competence while working with diverse populations.

Professional Behavior

- Apply oral and written communication skills through collaboration and relationship management.
- Recognize and assess self-development, problem solving skills, and self-reflection in service.
- Operate with integrity, accountability and achievement orientation by practicing from a code of ethics and professional values and beliefs.

Scholarship

- Select and use statistical and financial data to monitor and drive organizational success, financial health, payment processes, and to support decision making.
- Analyze and design organizational processes, develop solutions and best practices.

Master of Public Health

Upon successful completion of this program students will be able to:

Professional Practice

- Compare and contrast the structure, function, and organization of public health and healthcare systems in the United States and globally; and apply systems thinking tools to understand public health issues.
- Identify public health needs, design and execute interventions to promote, preserve and protect the communities' health.
- Assess the impact of public health programs, ensuring community partnerships are built and sustained in the process.
- Apply principles and practices of ethics, leadership, and management to empower stakeholders as they
 collaborate throughout the process of evidence based decision making to improve health behaviors and
 outcomes.

Diversity

- Drawing from the literature on the social determinants of health, students will create culturally competent
 solutions for public health concerns keeping in mind the cultural norms, values and practices of diverse
 populations, as well as the inequities experienced by those groups.
- Advocate for policies, and programs whose goals include improving health outcomes and health equity among diverse communities.

Professional Behavior

- Determine appropriate communication strategies and modalities to communicate public health content based on need of the audience and environment.
- Public health professionals will engage ethically and professionally with the communities they serve and on interprofessional teams.

Scholarship

- Apply epidemiological methods that use both quantitative and qualitative research methods to examine public
 health challenges and utilize tools and techniques of biostatistics, informatics, computer programming to
 interpret findings that inform further research, policy and practice.
- Evaluate the public health impact of policy and understand the process associated with policy-making.

Admission Requirements

The Chicago School is not currently enrolling new students in this program.

For information on where The Chicago School is currently authorized, licensed, registered, exempt or not subject to approval, please visit https://www.thechicagoschool.edu/why-us/state-authorization/

Application to the MHSA/MPH Dual Enrollment Program is open to any person who has earned a bachelor's degree from a regionally accredited institution and who meets other entrance requirements.

Factors that are considered in admission to the MHSA/MPH Dual Enrollment Program are:

Generally, an undergraduate GPA of a 3.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale is required for admission. Applicants must submit official transcripts from all schools where a degree was earned.

- Application fee: \$50
- Resume or Curriculum Vitae
- Candidate interview
- Two-page personal statement/essay answering the following questions:
- 1. How will your personal and professional accomplishments, academic background, and experience contribute to your success in the MHSA/MPH Dual Enrollment Program?
- How will the successful completion of the MHSA/MPH Dual Enrollment Program support your professional career goals

Applicant Notification

The Chicago School reviews applications on a rolling basis. Once review begins, complete applications will be considered by the Admission Committee and applicants will be notified regarding the admission decision. The Chicago School does not share information or provide any feedback regarding admission decisions.

If a student is offered admission and in order to secure a place in the incoming class, a non-refundable tuition deposit of \$250 will be required by the deposit deadline indicated in the offer of admission. The non-refundable deposit will be applied in full toward the student's tuition upon enrollment.

Policies

The following policies are located under Academic Policies and Procedures: Academic Calendar, Admissions Requirements, Attendance, Satisfactory Academic Progress, Service Learning, and Transfer Credit/Course Waiver. Click the link above for detailed information.

Fieldwork Requirements

Students will complete a minimum of 100 hours of fieldwork over a 15-week semester within the MPH curriculum. Through supervised field experience, students apply public health principles to real-world challenges.

Additionally, students will participate in two Practical Capstone courses within the MHSA curriculum, with each seminar course occurring over an eight-week term schedule. The first, two-credit seminar course, requires a minimum 80 hours of fieldwork; the second one-credit seminar course requires a minimum of 20 hours of fieldwork. In each seminar students conduct their fieldwork and also complete online course requirements related to fieldwork challenges and achievements, focusing specifically on the application of MHSA program principles to a health-services related work environment. Students registered in this program incur a one-time \$195 Experiential Learning Technology Fee.

Degree Conferral

A student in the Dual Enrollment: Master of Health Services Administration and Master of Public Health program may earn a Master of Health Services Administration or a Master of Public Health following the successful completion of required coursework and specific program requirements. At the beginning of the semester in which a student expects to be eligible for the master's degree, they are required to submit Petition for Degree Conferral to the Office of the Registrar. The petition is a request to conduct an audit to determine eligibility for the degree. A student who meets the requirements is eligible to participate in the next scheduled commencement. Eligibility guidelines are contained in the catalog under which the student was admitted. A student who files a Petition for Degree Conferral is charged a fee.

The Curriculum

Master of Health Services Administration: 27 credit hours

Master of Public Health: 33 credit hours

Shared coursework: 9 credit hours

Program Total

Dual Enrollment: Master of Health Services Administration and Master of Public Health: 69 credit hours

Master of Health Services Administration Course Requirements

- HS 500 Health Services Administration (3 credit hours)
- HS 515 Evidence-Based Practice (3 credit hours)
- HS 530 Leadership and Communication in Health Services (3 credit hours)
- HS 535 Principles in Healthcare Finance and Accounting (3 credit hours)
- HS 540 Personnel and Human Resource Management (3 credit hours)
- HS 545 Quality and Process Improvement (3 credit hours)
- HS 550 Business and Technology in Health Services (3 credit hours)
- HS 555 Strategic Management & Marketing (3 credit hours)
- HS 560 Capstone/ Practicum I (2 credit hours)
- HS 561 Capstone/Practicum II (1 credit hour)

Master of Public Health Course Requirements

- PH 500 Foundations of Public Health and Public Health Policy (3 credit hours)
- PH 516 Research Methods in Public Health (3 credit hours)
- PH 521 Fundamentals of Epidemiology (3 credit hours)
- PH 529 Global Issues of Culture, Health and Wellness (3 credit hours)(course fee)
- PH 535 Dimensions of Community Assessment, Environmental, and Occupational Health (3 credit hours)
- PH 557 Public Health Assessment, Program Design, and Evaluation (3 credit hours)
- PH 677 Applied Practice Experience (3 credit hours)
- PH 684 Integrative Learning Experience (3 credit hours)

Concentration Options (Students choose one)

Mental Health and Behavioral Aspects of Public Health

- PH 690 Psychological Context of Health and Healthy Behaviors (3 credit hours)
- PH 691 Essentials of Risk Management (3 credit hours)
- PH 692 Holistic Wellness: Populations and Community (3 credit hours)

Public Policy Development and Advocacy

- PH 700 Health Policy Analysis: Overview to Implementation (3 credit hours)
- PH 701 Seminar in Legislation Advocacy and Public Policy Development (3 credit hours)
- PH 702 International Healthcare Policy (3 credit hours)

Shared Courses

- HS 505 Healthcare Law and Ethics (or PH507) (3 credit hours)
- HS 525 Healthcare Access and Payment Systems (3 credit hours)
- PH 543 Public Policy Development: Essentials of Communication, Collaboration, Advocacy (3 credit hours)

Definitions

- "The Chicago School", "Chicago School", "the school", or "institution" refers to The Chicago School, including its main campus, branch campuses, additional sites, and delivery modalities.
- "The Chicago School@XULA" refers to The Chicago School at Xavier University of Louisiana.
- "Regionally Accredited" refers to the list of approved institutional accrediting agencies, "regional accreditors", for institutions of higher education. They are: Middle States Commission on Higher Education (MSCHE), Higher Learning Commission (HLC), New England Association of Schools and Colleges (NEASC-CIHE) Commission on Institutions of Higher Education, Northwest Commission on Colleges and Universities (NWCCU), Southern Association of Colleges and Schools Commission on Colleges (SACSCOC), Accrediting Commission for Community and Junior Colleges (ACCJC), and Western Association of Schools and Colleges (WASC) Senior College and University Commission (WSCUC).
- "School premises" includes all buildings and/or grounds owned, leased, operated, controlled, or supervised by the institution (including adjacent streets and sidewalks).
- "Student" includes all persons taking courses from The Chicago School, both full-time and part-time. Persons
 who are not officially enrolled for a particular term/semester but who have a continuing relationship with the
 school are considered "students" under this definition.
 - "Active" is used to define a student who is in Academic and Financial Aid Good Standing,
 Academic and Financial Aid Warning, Academic and Financial Aid Probation, Pending Probation,
 or Pending Graduate status.
 - O "Semester-based" describes a student enrolled in a course(s) that runs 15-weeks in the fall and spring semester and courses that run 8, 12, or 15 weeks in the summer semester.
 - "Term-based" describes a student enrolled in a course(s) that runs 8-weeks in the fall, spring, and summer semesters.
- "School Official" is any administrator, faculty member, staff member, or other authorized individual of the school.
- "Policies" are defined as the written regulations of the institution as found in, but not limited to, the Academic Catalog and Student Handbook and on official school websites.
- Each Chicago School campus has a "Responsible Leader". The Responsible Leader by campus information is available here.

Course Section Codes

- Remote (REM). A remote course is a course that delivers 100% of instruction using distance learning technology.
- Executive (EXE). An executive course is a course in an on-ground/blended academic program that delivers 50% to 99% of instruction using distance learning technology.
- On-Ground/Blended (OGB). An on-ground/blended course is a course that delivers 50% or more of instruction in a physical classroom.

- High Flex (HIFL). High Flex is a delivery modality option that may be available to students in an OGB program. A student enrolled in the High Flex modality option for an individual course will be permitted to regularly attend class through electronic mediation.
- Service Learning (SL). Service Learning is a course that contains elements of learning outside of the classroom and in the community.